
AGENDA

Pwyllgor CABINET

Dyddiad ac amser 
y cyfarfod

DYDD IAU, 15 MAWRTH 2018, 2.00 PM

Lleoliad NEUADD Y SIR

Aelodaeth Cynghorydd 
Cynghorwyr Huw Thomas, Merry, Bradbury, Elsmore, Goodway, 
Hinchey, Michael, Lynda Thorne, Weaver a/ac Wild

1  Cofnodion y cyfarfod cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 15 Chwefror 2018  
(Tudalennau 1 - 10)

Arweinydd  

2  Cynllun Corfforaethol 2018-2021  (Tudalennau 11 - 100)

3  Cynllun Llesiant Lleol Caerdydd  (Tudalennau 101 - 238)

4  Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd – Cynllun Busnes Cytundeb Gweithio ar y 
Cyd  (Tudalennau 239 - 502)

Strydoedd Glân, Ailgylchu a'r Amgylchedd  

5  Man Claddu Newydd  (Tudalennau 503 - 516)

6  Rhaglen Rheoli Risg Arfordirol  (Tudalennau 517 - 526)

Addysg, Cyflogaeth a Sgiliau  

7  Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20  (Tudalennau 527 - 714)

Cyllid, Moderneiddio a Pherfformiad  

8  Datganiad Polisi Tâl 2018/19  (Tudalennau 715 - 748)

9  Ardrethi Annomestig Cenedlaethol – Dilëwyd  (Tudalennau 749 - 754)

Tai a Chymunedau  



10  Cynllun Busnes Cyfrif Refeniw Tai (CRT) 2018-19  (Tudalennau 755 - 842)

11  Rhaglen Buddsoddi Adfywio Wedi ei Dargedu  (Tudalennau 843 - 852)

Buddsoddi a Datblygu  

12  Caffael Tir Pentref Chwaraeon Rhyngwladol Caerdydd  (Tudalennau 853 - 
864)

Gofal Cymdeithasol, Iechyd a Lles / Plant a Theuluoedd  

13  Cynllun Ardal Caerdydd a Bro Morgannwg ar gyfer Anghenion Gofal a 
Chymorth 2018-2023  (Tudalennau 865 - 982)



CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD
       
MINUTES

CABINET MEETING:  15 FEBRUARY 2018

Cabinet Members Present: Councillor Huw Thomas (Leader)
Councillor Peter Bradbury
Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Councillor Russell Goodway  
Councillor Graham Hinchey
Councillor Sarah Merry
Councillor Michael Michael
Councillor Lynda Thorne
Councillor Chris Weaver
Councillor Caro Wild

Observers: Councillor Joe Boyle
Councillor Neil McEvoy
Councillor Adrian Robson

Officers: Paul Orders, Chief Executive
Christine Salter, Section 151 Officer
Davina Fiore, Monitoring Officer 
Claire Deguara, Cabinet Office

74 MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 18 JANUARY 2018 

RESOLVED:  that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 January 2018 be approved.

75 APPLICATION FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE INCREASE 

Following the report considered by Cabinet on 14 December 2017 in relation to an 
application put forward by Dragon Taxis to vary the current hackney carriage fares in 
Cardiff, Cabinet received a further report outlining the objections received during the 
statutory public notice period.  It was noted that 3 objections were received.  

RESOLVED:  that

1. the contents of the report and representations received in Appendix B in 
consideration of the decision taken by Cabinet on the 14 December 2017 to 
amend the table of fares be noted.

2. the application submitted by Dragon Taxis with an implementation date of 12 
March 2018 be approved.

Page 1

Eitem Agenda 1



76 REVIEW OF HOUSEHOLD WASTE RECYCLING CENTRE PROVISION 

Cllr Merry declared a personal interest in this item as Wedal Road is located within 
her ward.

Cllr Weaver declared a personal interest in this item as Wedal Road is located within 
his ward.

Cabinet considered a report seeking authority to explore the business case for the 
provision of additional Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC).  The report 
outlined the need to review provision in the context of the future growth of the city.

RESOLVED:  that

1. the preparation of a business case relating to the potential future requirement 
for additional HWRC services in Cardiff be authorised and that the findings of 
the business case be presented to a future Cabinet meeting for consideration.

2. a site options appraisal commence to identify a preferred location for potential 
future provision of additional HWRC facilities and the findings be presented to 
a future Cabinet meeting for consideration.  

77 BUDGET 2018/19 

Appendix 11(d) is exempt from publication because it contains information of 
the kind described in paragraphs 14 and 21 of parts 4 and 5 of Schedule 12A to 

the Local Government Act 1972

Cllr Bradbury declared a personal interest in this item as he is a member of the Ely 
and Caerau Sports Trust.

The Cabinet considered the budget proposals for 2018/19 prior to recommending 
them to full Council.

RESOLVED: that having taken account of the comments of the Corporate Director 
Resources in respect of the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves 
as required under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, and having 
considered the responses received to the Budget Consultation Council be 
recommended to:

1.0 Approve the Revenue, Capital and Housing Revenue Account budgets 
including all proposals and increasing the Council Tax by 5.0% as set out in 
this report and that the Council resolve the following terms.

2.0 Note that at its meeting on 14 December 2017 the Council calculated the 
following amounts for the year 2018/19 in accordance with the regulations 
made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:-

a) 143,453 being the amount calculated in accordance with Regulation 3 of 
the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (Wales) 
Regulations 1995, as amended, as its Council Tax base for the year.

Page 2



b) Lisvane 2,350
Pentyrch 3,263
Radyr 3,709
St. Fagans 1,311
Old St. Mellons 1,543
Tongwynlais 823

being the amounts calculated in accordance with Regulation 6 of the 
Regulations as the amounts of its Council Tax base for the year for dwellings 
in those parts of its area to which special items relate.

2.1 Agree that the following amounts be now calculated by the County Council of 
the City and County of Cardiff for the year 2018/19 in accordance with 
Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992:-

a) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for the items set out 
in Section 32(2)(a) to (d) (including Community Council precepts totalling 
£366,815).      £1,007,699,815

b) Aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for items set out in 
Section 32(3)(a) and (c).

£401,119,579

c) Amount by which the aggregate at 2.1(a) above exceeds the aggregate at 
2.1(b) above calculated in accordance with Section 32(4) as the budget 
requirement for the year.             £606,580,236

d) Aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be payable for the 
year into its Council Fund in respect of Revenue Support Grant, its 
council tax reduction scheme, redistributed Non-Domestic Rates.

£440,946,781

e) The amount at 2.1(c) above less the amount at 2.1(d) (net of the amount 
for discretionary relief of £350,000), all divided by the amount at 2.0(a) 
above, calculated in accordance with Section 33(1) as the basic amount 
of Council Tax for the year.

£1,157.06

f) Aggregate amount of all special items referred to in Section 34(1).
£366,815

g) Amount at 2.1(e) above less the result given by dividing the amount at 
2.1(f) above by the amount at 2.0(a) above, in accordance with Section 
34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of Council Tax for the year for 
dwellings in those parts of the area to which no special items relate.

£1,154.50

h) The amounts given by adding to the amount at 2.1(g) above the amounts 
of special items relating to dwellings in those parts of the Council's area 
mentioned below, divided in each case by the amount at 2.0(b) above, 
calculated in accordance with Section 34(3) as the basic amounts of 

Page 3



Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of the area to which 
special items relate.

£
Lisvane 1,168.97
Pentyrch 1,198.32
Radyr 1,187.37
St. Fagans 1,168.23
Old St. Mellons 1,173.88
Tongwynlais 1,178.80

i) The amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 2.1(g) and 2.1(h) above 
by the number which in the proportion set out in the Council Tax 
(Valuation Bands) (Wales) Order 2003 is applicable to dwellings listed in 
a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion 
is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D calculated in 
accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act as the amounts to be taken into 
account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different 
valuation bands.

2.2 Note that for the year 2018/19, the Police and Crime Commissioner for South 
Wales has stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in 
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 for 
each of the categories of dwelling shown below:-

VALUATION BANDS
A B C D E F G H I

A B C D E F G H I
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Area

Lisvane 779.31 909.19 1,039.
08

1,168.
97

1,428.
73

1,688.
51

1,948.
27

2,337.
93

2,727.
58

Pentyrch 798.88 932.03 1,065.
18

1,198.
32

1,464.
61

1,730.
91

1,997.
20

2,396.
64

2,796.
08

Radyr 791.57 923.51 1,055.
44

1,187.
37

1,451.
22

1,715.
09

1,978.
94

2,374.
73

2,770.
52

St. Fagans 778.81 908.62 1,038.
42

1,168.
23

1,427.
83

1,687.
44

1,947.
04

2,336.
45

2,725.
86

Old St. 
Mellons 782.58 913.01 1,043.

44
1,173.

88
1,434.

73
1,695.

60
1,956.

46
2,347.

75
2,739.

03

Tongwynlais 785.86 916.84 1,047.
82

1,178.
80

1,440.
75

1,702.
71

1,964.
66

2,357.
59

2,750.
52

All other parts 
of the 
Council’s 
Area

769.66 897.94 1,026.
22

1,154.
50

1,411.
05

1,667.
61

1,924.
16

2,308.
99

2,693.
82

Page 4



£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
155.68 181.63 207.57 233.52 285.41 337.31 389.20 467.04 544.88

2.3 Having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 2.1(i) and 2.2 
above, the County Council of the City and County of Cardiff in accordance 
with Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 hereby sets the 
following amounts as the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2018/19 for 
each of the categories of dwellings shown below:-

Part of Council's Area
VALUATION BANDS
A B C D E F G H I
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Area

Lisvane
934.99 1,090.8

2
1,246.6

5
1,402.4

9
1,714.1

4
2,025.8

2
2,337.4

7
2,804.9

7
3,272.4

6

Pentyrch
954.56 1,113.6

6
1,272.7

5
1,431.8

4
1,750.0

2
2,068.2

2
2,386.4

0
2,863.6

8
3,340.9

6

Radyr
947.25 1,105.1

4
1,263.0

1
1,420.8

9
1,736.6

3
2,052.4

0
2,368.1

4
2,841.7

7
3,315.4

0

St. Fagans
934.49 1,090.2

5
1,245.9

9
1,401.7

5
1,713.2

4
2,024.7

5
2,336.2

4
2,803.4

9
3,270.7

4
Old St. 
Mellons

938.26 1,094.6
4

1,251.0
1

1,407.4
0

1,720.1
4

2,032.9
1

2,345.6
6

2,814.7
9

3,283.9
1

Tongwynlais
941.54 1,098.4

7
1,255.3

9
1,412.3

2
1,726.1

6
2,040.0

2
2,353.8

6
2,824.6

3
3,295.4

0
All other 
parts of the 
Council’s
Area

925.34 1,079.5
7

1,233.7
9

1,388.0
2

1,696.4
6

2,004.9
2

2,313.3
6

2,776.0
3

3,238.7
0

2.4 Authorise the Corporate Director Resources to make payments under Section 
38 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994 from the Council Fund by equal 
instalments on the last working day of each month from April 2018 to March 
2019 in respect of the precept levied by the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for South Wales in the sum of £33,499,401.

2.5 Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to the said Council Tax.

2.6 Agree that the Common Seal be affixed to precepts for Port Health Expenses 
for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019 namely

    £
County Council of the City and County of Cardiff 113,773
Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council 12,827

Page 5



2.7 Agree that notices of the making of the said Council Taxes signed by the Chief 
Executive be given by advertisement in the local press under Section 38(2) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

3.0 Approve the Prudential Indictors for 2018/19, 2019/20 & 2020/21 delegating to 
the Section 151 Officer the authority to effect movement between the limits for 
borrowing and long term liabilities within the limit for any year.

4.0 Approve the Treasury Management Strategy for 2018/19 in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 2013 and the Local Authority (Capital Finance & 
Accountancy) (Wales) Regulations 2003 and subsequent amendments.

5.0 Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy for 2018/19.

6.0 Authorise the Section 151 Officer to raise such funds as may be required to 
finance capital expenditure by temporary or long term borrowing within the 
limits outlined in the strategy above and to bring forward or delay schemes 
within the Capital Programme. 

7.0 Maintain the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme as set out in the report.

8.0 Delegate authority to the Director of Education & Lifelong Learning, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Members for Education, Employment & Skills 
and Finance, Modernisation & Performance, the Corporate Director Resources 
and Director of Governance & Legal Services, to determine all aspects of the 
procurement process, including, for the avoidance of doubt, development of all 
procurement documentation and selection and award criteria, commencement 
of procurement through to award of contracts, for specific 21st Century Schools 
Band B proposals in line with the thresholds set out in this report.

RESOLVED:  that having taken account of the comments of the Section 151 Officer 
in respect of the budget and the adequacy of reserves as required under Section 25 
of the Local Government Act 2003 and having considered the responses to the 
Budget Consultation is recommended to:

9.0 the changes to fees and charges as set out in Appendix 11(a), 11(c) & 11(d) to 
this report be approved.

10.0 Authority be delegated to the appropriate Director in consultation with the 
relevant Cabinet Member, S151 Officer and the Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Modernisation & Performance to amend or introduce new fees and charges 
during the year.

11.0 that the rents of all Housing Revenue Account dwellings (including hostels and 
garages) be increased having taken account of WG guidance.

12.0 all service charges and the management fee for leaseholders as set out in 
Appendix 11(b).

13.0 all Housing Revenue Account rent increases take effect from 2 April 2018.

Page 6



14.0 the work undertaken to raise awareness of the financial resilience of the 
Council be recognised and the steps taken within the budget to improve this 
position be approved.

15.0 the financial challenges facing the Council as set out in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan be recognised and note the opportunities for savings over the 
medium term. 

78 BUDGET MONITORING - MONTH 9 REPORT 

The Cabinet received an update on the financial monitoring position for the authority 
based on the first nine months of the financial year.   It was reported that the month 
nine revenue monitoring for the Council shows a balanced position which is in line 
with the position reported at month six.  There have however been changes within 
the overall position including an increase in the overspend on directorate budgets as 
a result of further pressures on the Children’s Services budgets within Social 
Services, an increase in the projection for capital financing costs and a reduced 
surplus on Council Tax collection. These have been offset by a further increase in 
NDR refunds on Council properties and by an increase in the projected saving on 
insurance budgets in the current year.

RESOLVED: that

1. the potential outturn position based on the first nine months of the financial 
year be noted.

2. the requirement for all directorates currently reporting overspends as identified 
in this report to take actions to reduce their projected overspends be 
reinforced. 

79 QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The Cabinet received the Council’s performance report for Quarter 3 (October to 
December) of the 17-18 financial year.  The report included an analysis of 
performance by directorate together with an overview of corporate performance 
including sickness absence rates, personal review compliance, Freedom of 
Information requests and Customer satisfaction.  It was noted that 59% of Corporate 
Plan commitments are Green..

RESOLVED: that the current position regarding performance, the delivery of key 
commitments and priorities as at Quarter 3, and the action being taken to the 
challenges facing the Council be noted.  

80 SOCIALLY RESPONSIBLE PROCUREMENT POLICY 

Cabinet considered a report outlining a proposal for a Socially Responsible 
Procurement Policy.  The policy aims to provide an over-arching framework for the 
delivery of three Welsh Government Initiatives; Community Benefits, Code of 
Practice Ethical Employment in Supply Chains and the Chart for SME Friendly 
procurement and also delivers one of the Council’s own commitments as set out in 
the Capital Ambition.  

Page 7



The policy seeks to ensure that local people and local communities benefit when the 
Council spends money on goods and services and demonstrate the Council’s 
commitment to ethical employment and ensuring that it maximises the economic, 
social, environmental and cultural well-being that it delivers through its procurement.

RESOLVED: that

1. Socially Responsible Procurement Policy be approved.

2. the Socially Responsible Procurement Policy also acts as the Council’s Ethical 
Employment Policy for the Council’s supply chains. 

81 CORPORATE LAND & PROPERTY MANAGEMENT PLAN 2018/19 

Cabinet received the Corporate Land & Property Management Plan (CLPMP) for 
2018/19.  The CLPMP is an annual document which serves as the implementation for 
the Corporate Property Strategy.  The annual targets within the CLPMP contribute 
towards the five year targets in the Property Strategy and sets out objectives for the 
operational estate.  Its sets out key data, reinforces overarching principles for the 
strategy of the estate, outlines what is planned for the year ahead, and provides 
explicit targets relating to the reduction in the size and cost of the estate.

RESOLVED: that the 2018/19 Corporate Land & Property Management Plan 
attached at Appendix 1 to the report be approved.

82 INDOOR ARENA 

Appendices 1, 3 and 4 are not for publication as they contain exempt 
information of the description contained in paragraphs 14 and 21 of Schedule 

12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

The press and public were excluded from the meeting during a discussion 
around this item

Cabinet considered a report detailing the results of a site appraisal exercise to 
identify the preferred location for the delivery of the indoor arena project.  It was 
noted that feasibility work on the preferred location including detailed financial 
appraisal and due diligence was required and that this will inform the development of 
a delivery strategy which will be presented back to Cabinet for consideration in the 
spring/summer of this year.  

RESOLVED: that

the preferred location for the indoor arena project as set out in this report be 
approved and authority be delegated to the Director of Economic Development in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Investment & Development and the Section 
151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer to:

(i) Develop a detailed delivery strategy for the indoor arena project including 
detailed financial implications for the Council and to return to Cabinet for 
authority to proceed.

Page 8



 
(ii) As part of (i) above, negotiate terms for the acquisition of land not currently in 

Council ownership shaded red on the site plan attached at Appendix 5 and to 
return to Cabinet for authority to proceed to purchase the site.

83 LAND ADJACENT TO JUNCTION 30 OF THE M4 

Appendices 3 and 4 of this report are not for publication as they contain 
exempt information of the description contained in paragraphs 14 of part 4 and 

paragraph 21 of part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Cabinet considered a report detailing proposals to purchase land located adjacent to 
Junction 30 of the M4.  It was noted that it is intended that the site would be used to 
future proof the provision of a number of key Council services as the city’s population 
continues to grow through the development of the strategic housing sites in north 
Cardiff.

RESOLVED that the purchase of the site adjacent to Junction 30 of the M4 as 
outlined at Appendix 1 be agreed.

84 PASSENGER TRANSPORT PROVISION 

Appendix 2 of this report is exempt from publication pursuant to paragraph 16 
of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972

Cabinet considered a report detailing a strategy to tender new contracts related to 
Passenger Transport Services.  Passenger Transport Services provides a transport 
service for a number of service areas in the Council including Education, Adult 
Services and Children Services.  It was noted that the Council has a statutory duty to 
provide services that include but are not limited to Home to School Transport, 
Dedicated School Bus Services and Additional Learning Needs Transport.

RESOLVED that
 

1. the proposed overarching strategy to procure Passenger Transport Contracts for 
7 years valued at £49M via a Dynamic Purchasing System be authorised. 

2. authority be delegated to the Director Planning, Transport and Environment in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and Transport, the 
Section 151 Officer and the Director of Law and Governance to carry out all 
aspects of the procurement, without limitation to include: 

i. approving the establishment of a new Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS)
ii. approve the tender evaluation criteria to establish the new DPS
iii. appointing new providers to the newly established DPS subsequent to them 

meeting the selection criteria as stated by the Council
iv. further delegate authority to award contracts that are required during the life of 

the newly established DPS, such further delegations to be in accordance 
with the Council’s Scheme of Delegations

v. to deal with all associated matters which pertain to the making of any short 
term extensions of individual contracts that may be required until new 
contracts are procured under the newly established DPS

Page 9



The delegation sought is wide and includes, but is not limited to, the 
following aspects of the procurement process:

(a) Approving commencement of a new DPS using the rules of a 
Modified Restricted Tendering Procedure. 

(b) Agree the use of a combination of mileage based and reverse e-
auctions to allocate specific routes to the most competitive price 
offered through the DPS. 

(c) Appoint new service providers onto the DPS, subsequent to them 
meeting the selection criteria as stated by the Council in the tender 
documentation, as and when required.

(d) Thereafter, for the Director to further delegate the authority to award 
contracts that are required during the life of the DPS, such further 
delegations to be in accordance in the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation.

(e) If, for any technical reason, it is not possible to use a fully electronic 
system (DPS), to carry out the procurement by any other means 
(non E-procurement approach) and manage the contractual 
arrangements put in place.

Page 10



Page 1 of 8

CYNGOR CAERDYDD
CARDIFF COUNCIL

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

CORPORATE PLAN 2018-21

LEADER (COUNCILLOR HUW THOMAS)
AGENDA ITEM: 2  

REPORT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reason for this Report

1. To enable the Cabinet to consider the draft Corporate Plan 2018-21 and 
recommend it to Council for approval.

Background

2. The Corporate Plan forms part of the strategic policy framework set out in 
the Council's Constitution and is considered annually by the Council. The 
document outlines the organisation’s strategic policy priorities and forms 
part of the required statutory improvement framework as it discharges the 
Council’s obligations under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
to publish a stage one plan, which sets out how the Council plans to 
achieve its priorities for improvement. The Plan also discharges the 
Council’s responsibilities under the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015.

3. In July 2017, the Cabinet approved a new policy programme for the next 
five years, entitled ‘Capital Ambition’, which sets out the Administration’s 
principles, priorities and ambitions for the city. This includes the following 
four priorities, each of which contains a series of ‘commitments for 
Cardiff’ covering a wide-range of Council services:

 Working for Cardiff – Making sure that all our citizens can 
contribute to, and benefit from, the city’s success.

 Working for Wales – A successful Wales needs a successful 
capital city.

 Working for the Future – Managing the city’s growth in a 
sustainable way.

 Working for Public Services – Making sure our public services 
are delivered efficiently, effectively and sustainably in the face of 
the rising demand and reducing budgets.

Page 11

Eitem Agenda 2



Page 2 of 8

4. On 14 December 2017, the Cabinet approved the establishment of a 4-
year Capital Ambition Delivery Programme, with corresponding corporate 
governance and performance management arrangements, to support the 
implementation of the Administration’s agenda and to refocus services to 
meet the challenges faced by the Council and the city’s wider public 
services. This sets out how the Administration’s priorities for Cardiff will 
be achieved, providing clarity on what will be delivered, and by when. 
The Corporate Plan usually covers a 3-year period and is subject to an 
annual refresh.

Issues

Corporate Priorities

5. To ensure that the Council’s resources support the delivery of the 
Administration’s new priorities, a new Corporate Plan for 2018-21 has 
been developed in tandem with the process for developing and setting 
the Council’s budget for 2018/19. A copy of the Corporate Plan 2018-21 
is attached as Appendix A to this report.

6. This has taken place in the context of sustained and severe financial 
pressures within public services. The Council has agreed to make 
£14.3m in budget savings in 2018/19 to help plug a budget gap of £25m. 
This is in addition to a projected budget gap of £91m over the three years 
from 2019/20 to 2021/22 and £145m in budget savings which have 
already been achieved over the past five years.

7. The Corporate Plan 2018-21 will be supported by Directorate Delivery 
Plans, which will set out in greater detail how well-being objectives will be 
delivered, as well as how directorate business will be taken forward. 
These key business planning documents will be supported by a 
significantly strengthened Performance Management Framework.

Well-being Objectives

8. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty on 
public bodies to carry out sustainable development which means that the 
Authority must set and publish well-being objectives, supported by a well-
being statement, which make progress towards meeting the seven 
national well-being goals that are set out below:

 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language
 A globally responsible Wales

Page 12



Page 3 of 8

9. The Council must also act in accordance with the ‘sustainable 
development principle’ by embedding the following five ways of working:

 Long Term
 Prevention
 Integration
 Collaboration
 Involvement

10. The Corporate Plan 2018-21 has been developed in accordance with the 
statutory requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act 2015 and the sustainable development principle. It also takes 
account of the draft Well-being Plan for Cardiff that has been developed 
by the Cardiff Public Services Board in accordance with the statutory 
requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
The two strategic policy documents will also be considered at the same 
meetings by both the Cabinet and Council during March 2018.

11. The Corporate Plan and the Well-being Plan are key documents in 
delivering Capital Ambition and translating the Administration’s priorities 
into deliverable organisational objectives. The Corporate Plan focuses on 
the issues and services that the Council has prioritised and the Well-
being Plan focuses on areas of collaborative advantage in the delivery of 
public services in the city.

12. The Council must agree and publish well-being objectives that are 
designed to maximise the Council’s contribution to achieving each of the 
seven national well-being goals. In accordance with the development of 
the draft Well-being Plan, Cardiff Council has adopted the same seven 
well-being objectives as the Cardiff Public Services Board:

 A Capital City that works for Wales
 Cardiff grows in a resilient way
 Safe, confident and empowered communities
 Cardiff is a great place to grow up
 Supporting people out of poverty
 Cardiff is a great place to grow older
 Modernising and integrating our public services

13. These well-being objectives demonstrate what public services in Cardiff 
want to achieve, reflect their shared aspirations and the common 
understanding of the challenges facing the city. 

14. In defining these draft well-being objectives, an integrated corporate 
approach has been developed in order to combine the Council’s well-
being and improvement objectives. This has been based on a 
comprehensive audit and self-assessment by directorates, which was 
undertaken to explore the extent to which the directorates contribute to 
each of the well-being goals, what more could be done and what further 
action could be taken to make progress towards the goals.

Page 13



Page 4 of 8

15. Following on from this exercise, a number of steps or actions have been 
developed, supported by appropriate performance indicators, in order to 
measure progress.

16. Both the Council and the Cardiff Public Services Board will measure 
progress towards achieving the well-being objectives using the same 
indicators of city performance. This will enable partners in Cardiff to keep 
track of how the city is performing and help demonstrate Cardiff’s 
contribution towards achieving the Welsh Government’s aims to improve 
well-being nationally.

17. The Council must publish a ‘statement’ about its well-being objectives at 
the same time as the objectives are published. Both requirements should 
be contained in the Corporate Plan, explaining:

 Why the Council considers that its well-being objectives will 
contribute to the achievement of the well-being goals;

 Why the Council considers that its well-being objectives have been 
set in accordance with the sustainable development principle, 
including an explanation of how the Council will involve people with 
an interest in achieving the well-being goals. Those people must also 
reflect the diversity of Cardiff’s population;

 The steps to be taken to meet the well-being objectives in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle;

 How the Council will govern itself to meet its well-being objectives;

 How the Council will keep the steps it takes to meet its well-being 
objectives under review;

 How the Council will ensure that resources, including financial, are 
allocated annually for the purpose of taking steps to meet its 
objectives;

 When the Council expects to meet its well-being objectives;

 Any other information about the well-being objectives that is 
considered to be relevant.

Consultation and Engagement

18. The development of the Corporate Plan 2018-21 has been informed by 
the findings of the annual Ask Cardiff survey and the budget consultation 
process for 2018/19.

19. The Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee has been 
involved throughout the development of the Corporate Plan 2018-21. On 
6 December 2017, the Committee considered the proposed 
arrangements to deliver the Administration’s Capital Ambition policy 

Page 14



Page 5 of 8

statement and was briefed on the planned approach and draft structure 
for developing the Corporate Plan 2018-21. The Committee then 
considered an early draft of the Corporate Plan on 17 January 2018, 
which included the proposed objectives and performance measures.

20. The Key Performance Indicators contained in the draft Corporate Plan 
2018-21 were also considered by the Policy Review and Performance 
Scrutiny Committee’s Performance Panel on 31 January 2018. This 
session provided an opportunity for the proposed targets to be 
challenged and cross-scrutiny committee observations to be fed into the 
target setting process ahead of formal pre-decision scrutiny of the draft 
Corporate Plan 2018-21 in February 2018. It was also considered by the 
Committee’s Chair to be ‘a significant step forward in facilitating scrutiny 
impact on the Council’s strategic planning processes’ with an 
“unprecedented” level of engagement.

21. A copy of the draft version of the Corporate Plan 2018-21 and/or extracts 
detailing various steps and performance indicators relevant to each 
committee were considered formally by the Council’s five Scrutiny 
Committees at meetings held between the 12th and 14th February 2018. 
This enabled consideration of the draft Corporate Plan 2018-21 
alongside the Cabinet’s draft budget proposals for 2018/19. Copies of the 
letters received from each of the Scrutiny Committee Chairs following 
those meetings are compiled within Appendix B to this report.

22. The Corporate Plan 2018-21 includes a basket of performance measures 
with clear targets, which consist of a mixture of (statutory) National 
Strategic Indicators (NSIs) and Public Accountability Measures (PAMs), 
as well as “Local” indicators selected for their particular relevance to 
directorates. The Council continues to recognise the importance of 
statutory indicators and respond to the demands of the external 
performance landscape; however, an emphasis is also placed on 
selecting measures of success which are relevant for Cardiff.

23. A copy of the Corporate Plan 2018-21 will be published on the Council’s 
website by 1 April 2018 and, as in previous years, an interactive and 
more accessible version of the Corporate Plan that communicates the 
Council’s priorities and objectives will also be provided.

Directorate Delivery Plans

24. The “business as usual” and more service focused commitments will be 
included in Directorate Delivery Plans to be prepared by Q1 2018. The 
Directorate Delivery Plans will continue to provide an important link 
between the Corporate Plan, the work of directorates and the objectives 
set for individual employees. Directorate Delivery Plans will also further 
integrate financial and service planning, more detailed action about 
progressing Corporate Plan well-being and improvement objectives, as 
well as details of other important activities not included in the Corporate 
Plan. A Balanced Scorecard approach is also intended to provide a 
sharper focus on the key issues.

Page 15



Page 6 of 8

25. In addition, Directorate Delivery Plans will provide clear lines of 
responsibility, increased accountability and be subject to effective 
management challenge and scrutiny. This will ensure that team and 
individual employee objectives are aligned with Council’s key strategic 
priorities. This will support the Council’s continued drive to improve 
compliance with organisational performance management requirements, 
including Personal Reviews. In this way, the Council will maintain an 
overview and manage the key organisational functions of:

 identification and delivery of priorities;
 service and financial planning;
 timely performance management integrating financial and service 

performance; and
 objective setting for, and performance of, individual members of staff.

Reason for Recommendations

26. To enable the draft Corporate Plan 2018-21 to be considered by the 
Council on 22 March 2018 and published thereafter by 1 April 2018, 
subject to any consequential amendments that may be required.

Financial Implications

27. This report sets out the Council’s Corporate Plan for the period up until 
2021. Implementing these strategic priorities and improvement objectives 
will need to be in accordance with the amounts set out in the 22 February 
2018 Budget Report which included both revenue and capital budgets for 
2018/19, the indicative Medium Term Financial Plan for the period up to 
2021/22 and the indicative Capital Programme for the period up until 
2022/23.

28. Some of the objectives contained in this report will be subject to further 
detailed reports which will be accompanied by a robust business case. 
The plan clearly identifies the demand and financial pressures within 
which the Council is operating in terms of both revenue and capital 
budgets with associated impact on the level of borrowing. These will 
include sufficient financial detail in order to set out the full and robust 
financial implications as well as be fully informed of associated risks. This 
is particularly the case for proposals, which have yet to be developed to 
be included in the current budget proposals. These proposals will need to 
be fully appraised for the financial impact, affordability and considered as 
part of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan for future years. 

Legal Implications

29. As noted in the body of the report, the Corporate Plan outlines the 
Council’s strategic policy priorities and its plans to achieve its priorities 
for improvement (in discharge of the statutory improvement duties set out 
under Part 1 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009).  The Plan 
also fulfils the Council’s statutory duties under the Wellbeing of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WBFG Act) with regard to the publication 
of Well-Being Objectives and a Well-Being Statement, as detailed in the 

Page 16



Page 7 of 8

body of the report. Decision makers must be satisfied that the Well-Being 
Objectives, as set out in the Corporate Plan, will contribute towards 
achievement of the statutory Well-Being Goals (listed in paragraph 8 of 
the report); and note that once the Well-Being Objectives have been set, 
decision makers must have regard to the same, and must be satisfied 
that all reasonable steps have been taken to meet those Objectives.

30. The duties imposed on the Council under the WBFG Act include a duty to 
act in accordance with the ‘sustainable development principle’, which is 
defined as meaning that the Council must act in a manner which seeks to 
ensure that the needs of the present are met without compromising the 
ability of future generations to meet their own needs. Put simply, this 
means that Council decision makers must take into account the impact of 
their decisions on people living their lives in Wales in the future. There 
are a number of factors which the Council must take into account in this 
regard, specifically, decision makers must:

 Look to the long term;
 Focus on prevention by understanding the root causes of problems;
 Deliver an integrated approach to achieving the seven well-being 

goals;
 Work in collaboration with others to find shared sustainable solutions; 

and
 Involve people from all sections of the community in the decisions 

which affect them.

31. Decision makers must be satisfied that the Council’s formulation of the 
Corporate Plan is compliant with the sustainable development principle, 
having regard to the factors above.  In considering the requirements of 
the WBFG, due regard must be given to the Statutory Guidance issued 
by the Welsh Ministers, which is accessible using the link below: 
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-
communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang

32. Effective consultation is required for lawful decision making on policy 
matters, and the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and the 
WBFG Act impose express consultation requirements. The report sets 
out the consultation undertaken in fulfilment of the Council’s duties in this 
regard.

33. In considering this matter, the Council must also have regard to its public 
sector duties under the Equality Act 2010. The Council’s decisions must 
have due regard to the need to: (a) eliminate unlawful discrimination; (b) 
advance equality of opportunity; and (c) foster good relations on the 
basis of the protected characteristics defined in the Act. The protected 
characteristics are:

 Age
 Gender reassignment
 Sex
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality

Page 17

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/futuregenerations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang


Page 8 of 8

 Disability
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Marriage and civil partnership
 Sexual orientation
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief

34. The Corporate Plan is part of the Policy Framework, which is comprised 
of the key policies and strategies listed in Article 4.2 of the Constitution.  
The Cabinet is responsible for recommending any policy, plan or strategy 
which forms part of the Policy Framework, to full Council. The decision 
on whether to adopt the draft Corporate Plan is a matter for full Council.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. approve the Corporate Plan 2018-21 for consideration by Council on 22 
March 2018; and

2. recommend to Council that authority be delegated to the Chief Executive, 
in consultation with the Leader of the Council, to make any consequential 
amendments to the Corporate Plan 2018-21 following consideration by 
Council on 22 March 2018 and prior to publication by 1 April 2018.

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive
9 March 2018

The following Appendices are attached:

Appendix A: Corporate Plan 2018-21

Appendix B: Letters received from Chair of Policy Review and Planning 
Committee following consideration of the draft Corporate Plan 
2018-21

Page 18



Delivering Capital Ambition
Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 2018-21

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg hefyd / 
This document is also available in Welsh

WORKING FOR CARDIFF,
WORKING FOR YOU

Appendix A

Page 19



Page 20



03 CAPITAL AMBITION 3

Cardiff is now a true economic, cultural and political capital city.  It’s a city of strong and safe 
communities, great schools and universities, and creative, talented, welcoming people.  

The city economy is growing, jobs and businesses are being created and unemployment is at its 
lowest level this decade.  The city’s profile has never been higher, and visitor numbers are growing 
every year.  It’s a far cry from the city that was grappling with the challenges of deindustrialisation 
only a generation ago.  Undeniably, Cardiff is Wales’ strongest economic asset and the nation’s best 
opportunity to secure sustainable economic success.  

But there are major challenges too. For too long, the gap between rich and poor has been allowed to 
grow and many of Cardiff’s communities are amongst the poorest in Wales.  Indeed, if the ‘Southern 
Arc’ of Cardiff, from Ely in the West to Trowbridge in the East was considered a single local authority, it 
would be far and away the poorest in Wales.  Too many people in Cardiff – many from working families 
– are struggling to meet their basic needs.  Rates of child poverty in Cardiff are the highest in Wales.  
Almost one in every three children in our city now live in poverty.  In some wards, it’s higher than one 
in two. 

One city, two worlds.  Of prosperity and poverty.   Our Capital Ambition is all about bringing these two 
worlds closer together.  

This document sets out a programme of action, with commitments and targets, for how we intend 
to do this, in the face of what remain severe budget challenges faced by all public services.  It sets 
out how we will continue to invest in and improve our schools, our plans for building more affordable 
housing and tackling homelessness, and how we will protect the city’s most vulnerable people.  It 
contains bold plans for tackling congestion and air pollution; improving recycling rates and keeping our 
streets clean.  

In total, it contains a series of commitments which will help change the lives of many, many people 
in this city for the better.  It’s a plan that is ambitious for the future of our local public services, for the 
people and communities we serve and for the people of Wales.  

Cllr Huw Thomas
Leader of Cardiff Council

Leader’s 
Introduction

Page 21



CAPITAL AMBITION 4

Capital Ambition
Following the local government elections on 4 May 2017, 
a new Council Administration was formed. To outline its 
ambitions for the city, the Administration set out a new policy 
programme for the next five years, entitled ‘Capital Ambition’.

Capital Ambition identifies four priorities:
• Working for Cardiff: Making sure that all our citizens 

can contribute to, and benefit from, the city’s success.
• Working for Wales: A successful Wales needs a 

successful capital city.
• Working for the Future: Managing the city’s growth in a 

sustainable way.
• Working for Public Services: Making sure our public 

services are delivered efficiently, effectively and 
sustainably in the face of the rising demand and 
reducing budgets.

Delivering Capital Ambition
Delivering Capital Ambition sets out how the 
Administration’s priorities for Cardiff will be achieved, 
providing clarity on what will be delivered, and by when.

Supporting Future Generations
In accordance with the requirements of the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act, Delivering Capital 
Ambition sets out Cardiff’s Well-being Objectives, the steps 
it will take to achieve them and how we measure progress.  

Glossary of Terms
• Well-being Objective: sets out what the Council wants 

to achieve
• Outcome Indicator: a measure of city-wide 

performance
• Steps: what the Council will do, and by when, to help 

achieve each Well-being Objective
• Key Performance Measures: measures of operational 

performance that indicate if the steps the Council are 
taking are effective

• Target: sets out a numerical value on Key Performance 
Measures to be achieved

• Budget Setting Process: how each public body will 
ensure that resources are allocated annually for the 
purpose of taking steps to meet its objectives

• Self-Assessment: a process that directorates undertake 
to help shape Well-being Objectives and identify 
the commitments for inclusion in Delivering Capital 
Ambition 

Setting Well-being Objectives
The Well-being Objectives were set following a self-
assessment process undertaken by each directorate.  This 
process was designed to ensure that each directorate had 
due regard to the sustainable development principle by 
encouraging a consideration of the five ways of working.  

Long term: The objectives and steps in this plan were 
informed by the Wellbeing Assessment 2017, the 
Population Needs Assessment and work on Future Trends 
undertaken by the Cardiff PSB. 

Prevention: Drawing on the evidence, our objectives and 
steps are designed to tackle both the immediate demand 
pressures on public services and the root causes of these 
pressures, most importantly through tackling poverty and 
inequality.  

Collaboration: The Wellbeing Objectives in this plan were 
developed in close collaboration with our public service 
partners, and the Public Services Board in Cardiff has 
adopted the same seven Well-being Objectives, reflecting 
their shared aspirations and the common understanding 
of challenges facing the city.

Integration: The Wellbeing Objectives cut across 
departmental siloes, focussing on what all Council services 
can do to improve the wellbeing of the people of Cardiff, 
and contribute to the 7 national wellbeing goals.  

Engagement: In developing the Wellbeing Objectives we 
have drawn on the results of the Ask Cardiff citizen survey 
– which received over 5600 responses – and on focus 
groups with ‘seldom heard’ groups.

The Council’s Policy Framework
Capital Ambition sets out the Administration’s policy 
agenda, focused on four priorities.

The Corporate Plan and the Well-being Plan are key 
documents in delivering Capital Ambition, as they 
translate the Administration’s priorities into deliverable 
organisational objectives.
• Corporate Plan: focuses on the issues and services 

which the Council has prioritised
• Well-being Plan: focuses on areas of collaborative 

advantage in the delivery of public services

The Public Services Board in Cardiff has adopted the same 
seven Well-being Objectives which they want to achieve, 
reflecting their shared aspirations and the common 
understanding of challenges facing the city:

Both the Council and the Public Services Board will 
measure progress towards achieving the Well-being 
Objectives using the same indicators of city performance. 
Not only will this enable partners in Cardiff to keep track 
of how the city is performing, it will also help demonstrate 
Cardiff’s contribution towards achieving the Welsh 
Government’s aim to improve well-being nationally.Page 22



05 CAPITAL AMBITION 5

Contribution to National Well-being Goals
The Welsh Government has set out national 
well-being goals. Cardiff Council and the Cardiff 
Public Service Board have agreed local Well-being 
Objectives, which are complimentary with the 
national Well-Being Goals.

In order to measure Cardiff’s progress towards 
achieving the 7 Well-being Objectives, a series 
of high level outcome indicators were selected 
which provided objective measures of the city’s 
performance. Outcome indicators are high-level 
indicators which measure long-term trends.  They 
provide an overview of the city’s performance, 
both over time and relative to other cities and 
local authorities.  The trends they measure are 
difficult to influence directly and no single body or 
organisation can be held accountable for delivering 
them.  Because both Cardiff Council and the Cardiff 
Public Service Board are working towards the same 7 
Well-being Objective, it was agreed that the Council 
and the PSB should adopt a complimentary set of 
indicators when measuring progress against the 
Well-being Objectives.  

Whilst Cardiff Council and the PSB have recognise 
the same set of outcome indicators for measuring 
progress, the Council’s Corporate Plan focuses on 
those most relevant to the Council. A selection of the 
outcome indicators are included in the Corporate 
Plan, with most of the data sets allowing Cardiff’s 
contribution to national performance to be tracked 
and measured.

LOCAL 
Well-being 
 Objectives

NATIONAL
Well-being  Goals

CARDIFF

WALES

Page 23



CAPITAL AMBITION 6

City Context: Cardiff Today

Growth and demographic change

Between 2005 and 2015, Cardiff’s population grew by 11%. 
This growth trend is set to continue with a projected growth of 
just over 20% between 2017 and 2037 - or an additional 73,000 
people - making Cardiff one of the fastest growing UK Core 
Cities. This also means that, over the next 20 years, population 
growth in Cardiff is expected to outgrow the combined 
population growth of every other local authority in Wales.

Strong economy but persistent inequality

Cardiff is one of the fastest-growing and most highly-skilled 
cities in Britain. The city economy is growing, jobs and businesses 
are being created and unemployment is at its lowest level this 
decade. The city’s profile has never been higher, and visitor 
numbers are among the highest they’ve ever been. Undeniably, 
Cardiff is Wales’ strongest economic asset and the nation’s best 
opportunity to secure sustainable economic success.

That said, Cardiff’s total economic output (GVA) - although 
much higher than other parts of Wales - compares relatively 
poorly to the top performing major British cities.  After 10 years 
of continual growth the city’s economy is not becoming more 
productive.  This has meant that the gap between rich and poor 
has grown with many of Cardiff’s communities amongst the 
poorest in Wales. Indeed, if the ‘Southern Arc’ of Cardiff, from 
Ely in the West to Trowbridge in the East, was considered a single 
local authority, it would be far and away the poorest in Wales. 
Too many people in Cardiff - many from working families - are 
struggling to meet their basic needs.  Poverty is damaging for 
our economy and our society, it places major pressures on public 
services, and casts a long shadow over too many lives.

Population Growth 2017-2037

Austerity

The Council’s priorities must be delivered in the context 
of a budgetary position that continues to deteriorate 
rapidly.  The Council is approaching a £¼bn in cumulative 
savings made over the past 10 years, including over £105m 
from 2014/15 to 2016/17.  With funding for schools and 
social services broadly maintained, this has necessitated a 
significant reduction in the proportion of Council spending 
on other services, from 39% of the budget in 2005/06 to 
24% in 2017/18.  Alongside funding reductions, the Council 
has lost a number of staff, with a reduction of over 20% in 
non-school staff numbers since 2012/13.

Looking ahead, the Council anticipates that it will have to 
make savings of £91m over the next three years, with other 
public services organisations facing similar pressures.  The 
Council, along with its public service partners, is therefore 
facing a continued period of severe budget constraints 
at a time when demand for services is projected to rise 
significantly and citizen expectations of excellent quality 
services remains high.

Implications for local public services

The reality is that public services must focus on a smaller 
number of key priorities, and Capital Ambition makes clear 
those priorities for the Council.  Moving forward, both the 
Council and all its delivery partners must ensure that our 
services are as streamlined and as joined up as possible if 
lasting solutions are to be delivered to complex problems.  
Removing the barriers that prevent people from getting a 
job, delivering the best outcomes for children in our care and 
helping people to live independently all require services to 
be delivered without boundaries.  This will mean a relentless 
focus on service integration to deliver the outcomes that 
we want to achieve, whilst re-focusing investment into 
prevention and early intervention in order to tackle issues 
before they escalate.

Cardiff

73,400

Rest of Wales

63,300

80,000 

70,000 

60,000 

50,000

40,000

30,000

20,000

10,000

0

Page 24



07 CAPITAL AMBITION 7

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for Cardiff

•  Cardiff is a great place to grow up    pg 7
•  Cardiff is a great place to grow older    pg 14
•  Supporting people out of poverty    pg 18
•  Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities  pg 23

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for Wales
•  A Capital City that Works for Wales    pg 31

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for the Future
•  Cardiff Grows in a Resilient Way    pg 37

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for Public Services
•  Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services  pg 45

Page 25



CAPITAL AMBITION 8

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for Cardiff

CAPITAL AMBITION 08
Page 26



09 CAPITAL AMBITION 9

Well-being Objective: 
Cardiff is a great place to grow up
For many children and young people in our city, Cardiff is a 
great place in which to grow up.  Education provision and 
the achievements of learners are both improving.  The city 
offers a wealth of opportunities in sports, leisure and culture.  
And as the economy develops, there are a widening range 
of job opportunities within reach.  However, currently not all 
of our young people are benefitting, and we know that we 
need to do more to address this inequality in achievement, 
participation and progression in the working world.  

Becoming a Child Friendly City

Cardiff is one of the five cities in the UK to be developing, in 
partnership with UNICEF UK, as a ‘Child Friendly City’.  This 
means we place the rights of children and young people at 
the heart of our policies and strategies; we involve young 
people in decision making and commit to addressing barriers 
which limit their lives. 

Every School in Cardiff is a Great School 

Education remains the top priority for young people in 
Cardiff, the most vital investment into the city’s economy 
and the surest route out of poverty for individuals.  That is 
why the city is committed to building on the progress of 
recent years to make sure that every school in Cardiff is a 
good or excellent school, and that the gap in educational 
outcomes, particularly for vulnerable young people and those 
from more deprived communities, is reduced.  Projections 
indicate an increase of 5,700 (18%) in the number of 
primary school age pupils, and an increase of over 9,000 
(37%) in the number of secondary school age pupils by 
2036.  With Cardiff’s existing school system operating at 
or near full capacity, significant investment will be needed 
to build new schools and to refurbish and improve existing 
accommodation.  Given the scale of the investment and 
importance of schools in communities, they must be at the 
heart of the city’s approach to community life, with strong 
links to other public services to local people and community 
groups.   Our vision is that all children and young people in 
Cardiff attend a great school and develop the knowledge, 

skills and characteristics that lead them to become personally 
successful, economically productive and actively engaged 
citizens.  To make ‘every school a great school’, we will 
continue to drive forward the strategic priorities included in 
Cardiff 2020.

Supporting Vulnerable Children and Families

Parents have the most significant influence on children and 
on their future lives.  Outcomes for children are best when 
they are supported to grow and achieve within their own 
families, as they know them best.  In all cases, we will adopt a 
‘Think Family’ approach which looks at the family as a whole 
and co-ordinates support across the public services, tailored 
to each family’s needs and strengths.  Public and third sector 
partners including teachers, health practitioners, social 
workers, youth workers, third sector practitioners, early years 
practitioners and play workers will work together to deliver 
a joined-up approach to enable the right conversations 
to take place at the right time, between the right people 
and for solutions to be found at the earliest possible stage, 
particularly for the most vulnerable children and families.

The identification and protection of vulnerable children 
needs to be everybody’s business.  Within our local 
communities we want individuals to feel empowered to 
identify where they feel a child is at risk, raising concerns 
that may not be picked up through the provision of universal 
services for families.  This will be supported by a Children’s 
Services approach which places an emphasis on prevention 
and early intervention to give children the best possible 
outcomes and better manage the pressure on public services. 

Page 27



CAPITAL AMBITION 10

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Achievement in Primary Schools

Improving City Performance: Achievement in Secondary Schools

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Percentage of Key Stage 4 Pupils Achieving the Level 2+ Threshold 
(5 GCSEs A* - C, including English/Welsh & Mathematics) 2016/17

M
onm

outhshire

Ceredigion

Pow
ys

Vale of G
lam

organ

CARD
IFF

G
w

ynedd

Sw
ansea

Carm
arthenshire

Flintshire

N
ew

port

Pem
brokeshire

W
ales

Conw
y

Bridgend

N
eath Port Talbot

Torfaen

Isle of Anglesey

D
enbighshire

Caerphilly

Rhondda Cynon Taf

W
rexham

M
erthyr Tydfil

Blaenau G
w

ent

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Percentage of Key Stage 2 Pupils Achieving the Expected Level (L4+) in the Core Subject Indicator, 2012-2017

Cardiff Wales

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

92

90

88

86

84

82

80

78

76
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Source: 
Welsh 
Government

Source: 
Welsh 
Government

Page 28



011 CAPITAL AMBITION 11

Closing the Inequality Gap: The attainment gap at the end of Primary School for those eligible for Free School Meals (FSM) 
and those not.

Closing the Inequality Gap: 16 year olds not in education, employment or training.  (2017 data for Cardiff is provisional; data 
for Wales is not yet available.)

Percentage of Pupils in Cardiff who achieve the Core Subject Indicator at KS2: FSM v Non-FSM, 2010-2016

Cardiff (FSM) Cardiff (Non-FSM)

%
 o

f P
up

ils

100.0

80.0

60.0

40.0

20.0

0.0

2010        2011                 2012   2013          2014                 2015    2016

Percentage of Year 11 School Leavers Known Not to be in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), 2004-2017

12.0

10.0

8.0

6.0

4.0

2.0

0.0

Cardiff Wales

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

2004    2005    2006     2007    2008     2009    2010    2011    2012    2013    2014    2015     2016     2107

Source: 
Welsh 
Government

Source: 
Careers 
Wales

Page 29



CAPITAL AMBITION 12

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Promote and fulfil Children’s rights by building a Child Friendly City in partnership 
with UNICEF UK, over the three years to 2021.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Continue to raise standards achieved by learners in Cardiff schools and support 
schools in developing the ‘Successful Futures’ curriculum to be in operation by 
September 2022.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Improve the educational attainment of pupils eligible for free school meals by:
    •  Highlighting and transferring best practice in schools which are effective in 

ensuring   that economic disadvantage does not limit educational achievement.
    •  Increasing the level of challenge and support to schools where pupils eligible for 

free school meals are underperforming.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Deliver a strengthened programme of academic and vocational provision for 
learners educated outside of mainstream settings, to improve learner outcomes 
during the academic year 2017/18 and beyond.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Reshape and enhance specialist provision and services for pupils with additional 
learning needs to ensure sufficient, high quality places are available to meet the 
current and projected need from 2017 - 2022.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Complete the remaining schemes within the £164m ‘Band A’ programme of 
investment in schools, which will result in the opening of:
        •  Five new primary schools, including two welsh medium schools by Autumn 2018
        •  One new secondary school by Spring 2019.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Deliver the new schemes within the £284m ‘Band B’ programme of school 
investment from April 2019 to 2024 to:
    •  Increase the number of school places available.
    •  Improve the condition of school buildings.
    •  Improve the teaching and learning environment. 

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Address the maintenance backlog in schools, as part of a wider programme of 
Asset and Estate management, targeting increased investment in schools that 
require priority action by March 2019.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry & 
Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Education & 
Lifelong Learning, 
and Economic 
Development

What we will do to make Cardiff 
a great place to grow up

Page 30



013 CAPITAL AMBITION 13

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Support young people into education, employment or training by delivering the Cardiff 
Commitment, which will  include:
    •  Engaging city businesses to open up careers and enterprise opportunities to schools;
    •  Implementing a digital platform to empower schools, young people and business to 

connect;
    •  Introducing programmes of support to enable vulnerable young people to progress into 

employment;
    •  Transforming information management processes to identify, track and support young 

people pre and post 16.

Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Education 
& Lifelong 
Learning

Ensure the best outcomes for children and young people for whom the Council becomes 
responsible by:
    •  Embedding the Corporate Parenting Strategy across the Council and partners by 

March 2019 to promote the achievement of the same positive outcomes for children 
in care that every good parent would want for their own children.

    •  Improving the Council’s capacity to commission and provide high-quality, cost-
effective placements within the Cardiff area, reducing the need for Looked After 
Children to be placed out of area by March 2023.

    •  Improving the reach and effectiveness of support to care leavers  by strengthening 
the Bright Starts Traineeship Scheme during 2018/19.

Cllr Graham 
Hinchey

Social Services

Embed the Disability Futures Programme by March 2023 to develop and implement 
remodelled services for disabled children, young people and young adults aged 0-25 
across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan to improve effectiveness and efficiency of 
services and outcomes for disabled young people and their families.

Cllr Graham 
Hinchey & Cllr 
Susan Elsmore

Social Services

Enhance Early Help by March 2022 to support children and families before their needs 
escalate to the point that they require statutory interventions by:
    •  Agreeing a refreshed Early Help / Preventative Strategy
    •  Piloting a ‘Children First’ approach during 2018/19 to join up multi-agency 

preventative services and funding in order to improve early help to children and 
families in Ely and Caerau.

    •  Identifying opportunities to deploy grant streams more effectively under new 
“Funding Flexibilities” arrangements.

Cllr Graham 
Hinchey

People & 
Communities, 
Social Services 
and Education 
& Lifelong 
Learning

Commission an independent review of the effectiveness of the Multi Agency 
Safeguarding Hub in consultation with the Regional Safeguarding Board and consider 
recommendations for change / improvement with a view to implementing changes by 
March 2020.

Cllr Graham 
Hinchey & Cllr 
Susan Elsmore

Social Services

Page 31



CAPITAL AMBITION 14

Measure Target

The percentage of schools categorised as ‘Green’ 
    •  Primary
    •  Secondary 
    •  Special

58%
44%
71%

The average Capped Nine Points Score achieved by Key Stage 4 pupils (This calculation is based on a pupil’s 
results from nine of the qualifications available in Wales.)

370

The percentage of pupils achieving the Level 2+ threshold at the end of Key Stage 4 (pupils achieving 5 
GCSEs A*-C including English or Welsh and Mathematics)

65%

The percentage of pupils achieving the Level 1 threshold at the end of Key Stage 4 (5 GCSEs A*-G) 95.4%

The percentage of pupils achieving the Core Subject Indicator at the end of Key Stage 2 90.2%

The attainment gap in the Core Subject Indicator at the end of Key Stage 2 for those eligible for Free 
School Meals (FSM) and those not.

12

The attainment gap in the Level 2+ threshold at the end of Key Stage 4 for those eligible for Free School 
Meals (FSM) and those not.

30

The percentage of children securing one of their first three choices of school placement 
• Primary
• Secondary

95%
82%

The percentage of Year 11 leavers making a successful transition from compulsory schooling to education, 
employment or training

98.5%

The percentage attendance
• Primary
• Secondary

95.2%
94.5%

The percentage of Children Looked After by Cardiff Council that achieve the Level 2+ threshold at the end 
of Key Stage 4

25%

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Page 32



015 CAPITAL AMBITION 15

Measure Target

The percentage of schools categorised as ‘Green’ 
    •  Primary
    •  Secondary 
    •  Special

58%
44%
71%

The average Capped Nine Points Score achieved by Key Stage 4 pupils (This calculation is based on a pupil’s 
results from nine of the qualifications available in Wales.)

370

The percentage of pupils achieving the Level 2+ threshold at the end of Key Stage 4 (pupils achieving 5 
GCSEs A*-C including English or Welsh and Mathematics)

65%

The percentage of pupils achieving the Level 1 threshold at the end of Key Stage 4 (5 GCSEs A*-G) 95.4%

The percentage of pupils achieving the Core Subject Indicator at the end of Key Stage 2 90.2%

The attainment gap in the Core Subject Indicator at the end of Key Stage 2 for those eligible for Free 
School Meals (FSM) and those not.

12

The attainment gap in the Level 2+ threshold at the end of Key Stage 4 for those eligible for Free School 
Meals (FSM) and those not.

30

The percentage of children securing one of their first three choices of school placement 
• Primary
• Secondary

95%
82%

The percentage of Year 11 leavers making a successful transition from compulsory schooling to education, 
employment or training

98.5%

The percentage attendance
• Primary
• Secondary

95.2%
94.5%

The percentage of Children Looked After by Cardiff Council that achieve the Level 2+ threshold at the end 
of Key Stage 4

25%

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target

The percentage of Children Looked After by Cardiff Council that achieve the Core Subject Indicator at the 
end of Key Stage 2

77%

The percentage of children in regulated placements who are placed in Cardiff 63%

The percentage of schools designated as Rights Respecting Schools in Cardiff 22%

The percentage of children receiving support from the Adolescent Resource Centre (edge of care) who are 
receiving 12 or more hours of education provision

New 
Indicator, 
Baseline 
being set

The percentage attendance of looked after pupils whilst in care in secondary schools 95%

The percentage of all care leavers in education, training or employment 12 months after leaving care 62%

The percentage of referrals to the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub that meet the intervention threshold. New 
Indicator, 
Baseline 
being set

Page 33



CAPITAL AMBITION 16

Well-being Objective: 
Cardiff is a great place to grow older
As the city grows, and life expectancy continues to increase, 
the number of older people living in Cardiff aged between 
65 and 84 is expected to rise significantly; over 44% in the 
next 20 years.  The number of people aged 85 and older is 
also expected to nearly double by 2030.  At the same time, 
older people will increasingly become an important asset to 
the city, making a significant contribution to the economy 
and our local communities.

These demographic changes will place additional and 
significant pressures on public service delivery in Cardiff, 
particularly in terms of health and social care provision.  
The cost of delivering social care is already increasing, with 
a 50% rise in costs for delivering services for older people 
between 2011 and 2016 (£21.3m to £31.9m). There is no 
sign of these pressures relenting.

Joining up Social Care, Health and Housing

There is a need to find working solutions to both immediate 
social care pressures and longer-term challenges.  Working 
in ever-closer partnership with the Health Service and the 
third sector, joining up our services at a community level, 
working closely with partners – including voluntary groups, 
unpaid carers and volunteers – will be crucial to ensuring 
that as many people as possible are supported to live 
fulfilled and independent lives in their communities.

To reduce demand and cost pressures on public services 
at a time of reducing budgets, there is a need to re-focus 
investment on prevention and promoting independent 
living. This is not only a more sustainable approach to 
meeting an individual’s needs in later life, but will also 
deliver better health outcomes.

The adoption of a preventative approach within social 
care, health and housing services will be of central 
importance. This will require the accelerated integration 
of public services for older people that are delivered in 
Cardiff, including joining up our resources and services 
at a community level. It will also underpin the continued 
development of a full range of preventative services that 
are geared towards reducing the demand pressures of 
an ageing population and can empower people to live 
independently in their home.

Age Friendly and Dementia Friendly City

The city’s ageing population, especially those with long-
term medical conditions or chronic health issues such as 
dementia, will place increasing demands on health and 
social care services. For example, by 2035, it is predicted 
that over 6,000 people in Cardiff will be living with 
dementia, up from 3,400 people today.

Cardiff’s status as an age-friendly and dementia friendly 
city will require structures to be adapted and services to be 
accessible to, and inclusive of, older people with varying 
needs and capacities. Additional community and primary 
care services will be required to meet the needs of those 
older people with specific medical conditions or more 
complex care needs. This means ensuring that policies 
and programmes of work that focus on the needs of older 
citizens, particularly those who are most disadvantaged, 
are central to the work of service providers. Assessment, 
diagnosis and care planning practices will require genuine 
collaboration with older people, their carers and their 
families, so that their care plan reflects what is important to 
them and achieves the outcomes they value.

In order to help meet the health and social care needs of an 
ageing population in Cardiff, it will be important that new 
communities are designed in a way that accommodates 
the needs of older people, including the development 
of new housing that supports extra care provision and 
promotes independent living. This will need joint planning 
and provision of a range of future accommodation 
options to meet the demand for housing and enable 
people to remain at home. There is also a need to tackle 
social isolation and loneliness within local communities 
through the development of accessible, local and strong 
community networks to support the needs of older people 
where they live. Enabling older people to play a role in their 
communities, developing inter-generational services and 
improving access to community activities can dramatically 
improve physical and mental health, reducing the risk of 
falls and helping older people enjoy independent lives for 
longer.

Page 34



017 CAPITAL AMBITION 17

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Health in Older People

Improving City Performance: Quality of Local Social Care Services

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Vale of G
lam

organ

Caerphilly

Flintshire

Blaenau G
w

ent

Conw
y

Ceredigion

G
w

ynedd

W
rexham

M
erthyr Tydfil

Pem
brokeshire

D
enbighshire

W
ales

Isle of Anglesey

Pow
ys

N
eath Port Talbot

Carm
arthenshire

Torfaen

N
ew

port

Sw
ansea

Rhondda Cynon Taf

M
onm

outhshire

CARD
IFF

Bridgend

Conwy 
Vale of Glamorgan

Flintshire 
Gwynedd 

Powys
Isle of Anglesey 
Monmouthshire 

Ceredigion 
Denbighshire 

CARDIFF
Swansea
Newport

Pembrokeshire
Wrexham
Bridgend 

Carmarthenshire
Torfaen

Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Caerphilly 

Neath Port Talbot
Merthyr Tydfil 

Blaenau Gwent

Area Percentage

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0.0

Source: National 
Survey for Wales, Welsh 
Government

Source: Public 
Health Wales

Percentage of people aged 65+ who reported their general health as being very good or good

Percentage of People that Agree Good Social Care Services are Available in the Area, 2016-17

Page 35



CAPITAL AMBITION 18

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Empower people to remain independent at home and reduce reliance on 
intensive interventions by preventing hospital admissions, accelerating safe hospital 
discharge and supporting assisted living. Key activities will include:
• Promoting the First Point of Contact Service to prevent unnecessary hospital 

admissions;
• Developing a First Point of Contact (hospitals) to integrate more effectively 

hospital discharge;
• Extending the scope of services to the Independent Living Services;
• Extending Direct Payments to more people;
• Establishing re-ablement as the unifying model for the provision of community 

based domiciliary care.

Cllr Susan 
Elsmore

People & 
Communities, and
Social Services

Deliver the older person’s strategy to support independent living,  including 
fully understanding their housing needs and aligning work between People & 
Communities, Health and Social Services.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities

Consolidate Cardiff’s status as a recognised Dementia Friendly City during 
2018/19 to support those affected by dementia, enabling them to contribute to, and 
participate in, mainstream society.  This will include:
• Phase 1: Refurbishing existing day centres to provide dementia support;
• Phase 2: Establishing a specialist dementia day service in partnership with the 

University Health Board.

Cllr Susan 
Elsmore

Social Services

Address social isolation and enhance quality of life of older people by developing 
inter-generational working within schools, community groups, leisure centres and 
private sector partners.

Cllr Susan 
Elsmore

People & 
Communities

What we will do to make Cardiff a great place 
to grow older

Page 36



019 CAPITAL AMBITION 19

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target

Adults who are satisfied with the care and support they received. New indicator, 
baseline being set

Adults reporting that they felt involved in any decisions made about their care and support. New indicator, 
baseline being set

The percentage of clients who felt able to live independently in their homes following support 
from the Independent Living Services.

95%

The percentage of adults who completed a period of re-ablement and have a reduced 
package of care and support 6 months later. 

New indicator, 
baseline being set

The percentage of new cases dealt with directly at First Point of Contact (FPOC) with no 
onward referral to Adult Services.

72%

The average number of calendar days taken to deliver a Disabled Facilities Grant (from first 
contact to payment date).

190

The percentage of Telecare calls resulting in an ambulance being called out. 10%

The percentage of people who feel reconnected into their community through intervention 
from day opportunities.

70%

Page 37



CAPITAL AMBITION 20

Well-being Objective: 
Supporting people out of poverty
Despite Cardiff’s economic growth and success during the 
last 30 years, poverty and inequality persist within local 
communities. Over 60,000 people in Cardiff live in some of 
the most deprived communities in Wales. In addition, if the 
‘Southern Arc’ of Cardiff from Ely in the West to Trowbridge 
in the East, which has a population of over 150,000, was 
considered as a local authority area in its own right, it would 
be by far the most deprived in Wales.

Socially Responsible Employers

An economy which creates more and better jobs, paying at 
or above the Living Wage, is vital to tackling poverty. Cardiff 
Council proudly pays staff the Real Living Wage, providing 
an honest day’s pay for an honest day’s work. The Living 
Wage Foundation also named Cardiff Council its Living 
Wage for Wales Champion for 2017-18 in recognition of 
the Council’s ‘outstanding contribution to the development 
of the Living Wage in Wales, above and beyond the 
requirements of accreditation.’ The Council will continue to 
actively encourage other employers in the city to pay the 
Real Living Wage.

Public services in Cardiff employ nearly 46,000 people and 
contribute over £1bn of spend to the local economy. In 
addition to delivering vital public services, public bodies such 
as the Council are major employers who have the potential 
to make a real impact on tackling poverty in the city. This 
includes adapting procurement policies to deliver a greater 
amount of community benefits and increase spend in 
the local economy. It also includes promoting the Cardiff 
Commitment and creating employment opportunities, 
including apprenticeships and work placements, for local 
people, particularly young people, from Cardiff’s most 
deprived communities.

Tackling Poverty

Tackling poverty is vital to creating a strong economy. A 
focus on creating more and better-paid jobs in Cardiff must 
therefore go hand-in-hand with effectively removing the 
barriers to work – whatever they may be for all citizens. This 
will require continued support for those affected by Welfare 
Reform as the transition to Universal Credit is rolled out, 
while providing effective, joined-up employment support 
services across the city. In the same way, the Council must 
help ensure that regeneration schemes, major projects and 
fast growing sectors are supported by appropriate skills and 
training programmes. Cardiff’s emerging locality approach, 
which joins-up public services at a local level in a way that 
makes sense for each particular community, building on the 
success of the Community and Well-being Hub Model, will 
be the heart of the city’s approach to tackling poverty. The 
reform of the Welsh Government’s flagship anti-poverty 
programmes also provides an opportunity to simplify and 
target funding, with the flexibility to respond to individual 
families’ and communities’ strengths and challenges.

Tackling Homelessness and Rough Sleeping

There is no more striking instance of poverty and inequality 
than the sight of people sleeping rough on the streets 
of the nation’s capital. What is more, the solution is not 
as straightforward as offering a roof and a warm bed. 
With nearly half of service users reporting experience of 
institutional care, substance misuse and other complex 
needs, delivering lasting solutions will require intensive 
collaboration. An integrated response across social care, 
health and housing will be needed, working with the city’s 
regional partners to intervene early, as well as addressing 
the complex dependency issues faced by each individual.

Page 38



021 CAPITAL AMBITION 21

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Levels of Unemployement

Closing the Inequality Gap: Levels of Poverty

Percentage of Households in Material Deprivation, 2016-17

Source: Annual 
Population Survey, ONS

Source: National 
Survey for Wales, Welsh 
Government

Unemployment Rate (model-based), Jul 16 - Jun 17

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t R

at
e 

(m
od

el
-b

as
ed

)

N
ottingham

Birm
ingham

N
ew

castle upon Tyne

M
anchester

Liverpool

G
lasgow

Sheffield

CARD
IFF

W
ales

G
reat Britain

Leeds

Bristol

Edinburgh

9.0

8.0

7.0

6.0

5.0

4.0

3.0

2.0

1.0

0

M
erthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Blaenau G
w

ent

Sw
ansea 

N
eath Port Talbot

D
enbighshire

CARD
IFF

Isle of Anglesey

Carm
arthenshire

Flintshire

W
ales

Caerphilly

Torfaen

N
ew

port

G
w

ynedd

Conw
y

W
rexham

Pem
brokeshire

Ceredigion

Vale of G
lam

organ

Pow
ys

M
onm

outhshire

Bridgend

25

20

15

10

5

0

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f H
ou

se
ho

ld
s

Page 39



CAPITAL AMBITION 22

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Closing the Inequality Gap: Levels of Rough Sleeping

Ra
te

 p
er

 1
0,

00
0 

pe
rs

on
s

W
rexham

 

M
erthyr Tydfil

CARD
IFF

G
w

ynedd

Caerphilly

Conw
y

N
ew

port

W
ales

Sw
ansea

Ceredigion

Bridgend

D
enbighshire

N
eath Port Talbot

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Pem
brokeshire

Flintshire

Carm
arthenshire

Vale of G
lam

organ

Isle of Anglesey 

M
onm

outhshire

Torfaen

Blaenau G
w

ent

Pow
ys

5.0

4.5

4.0

3.5

3.0

2.5

2.0

1.5

1.0

0.5

0

Source: 
Welsh Government

Estimated No. People Sleeping Rough over 2 week period (10th-23rd Oct 2016)

Page 40



023 CAPITAL AMBITION 23

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Act as an advocate for the Real Living Wage initiative and promote its adoption by 
the city’s employers.

Cllr Huw 
Thomas

Resources

Better support people into work by integrating employment support services. This 
will include:
• Developing a new gateway into employment and mentoring services accessible 

across the city;
• Ensuring that Into Work Advice Services and Adult Community Learning fully 

align with the new employability service;
• Providing effective employer engagement and assistance into self-employment; 
• Promoting and extending volunteering opportunities. 

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities

Ensure support is available to mitigate potentially negative consequences 
associated with the roll-out of Universal Credit by
• Providing digital access and assistance across the city; 
• Working with private landlords to identify how the Council can help them with the 

change; 
• Working with Jobcentre Plus, Registered Social Landlords and other partners to 

ensure that vulnerable individuals get the budgeting support they need; 
• Developing a telephone advice line for customers.  

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities

Create more paid apprenticeships and trainee opportunities within the Council by 
March 2019.

Cllr Huw 
Thomas & 
Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Launch a Social Responsibility policy to ensure that local people and local 
communities benefit from the money the Council spends on goods and services by 
March 2019.

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Use the new opportunities provided by Funding Flexibilities to work across 
directorates and funding streams, reviewing and realigning services.

Cllr Huw 
Thomas

People & 
Communities, 
and Education & 
Lifelong Learning

Deliver the Rough Sleeper Strategy to address rough sleeping in the city by: 
• Implementing a ‘No First Night Out’ policy;
• Piloting new approaches, including a ‘Housing First’ model which moves rough 

sleepers straight from the streets into a home;
• Delivering the Give DIFFerently campaign.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities

What we will do to support people out of poverty

Page 41



CAPITAL AMBITION 24

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target

The number of people receiving into work advice through the Gateway. 43,000

The number of clients that have been supported into employment having received tailored support through 
the Gateway.

623

The number of employers that have been assisted by the Council’s employment support service. 80

The number of opportunities created for paid apprenticeships and trainees within the Council. 100

The number of customers supported and assisted with their claims for Universal Credit. 1,500

Additional weekly benefit awarded to clients of the City Centre Advice Team. £13 million

The number of rough sleepers assisted into accommodation. 168

The percentage of households threatened with homelessness successfully prevented from becoming 
homeless.

60%

The percentage of people who experienced successful outcomes through the Homelessness Reconnection 
Service.

70%

The percentage of clients utilising Housing First for whom the cycle of homelessness was broken. 50%

Page 42



025 CAPITAL AMBITION 25

Well-being Objective: 
Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities
Communities are at the heart of well-being. They play a 
vital role in connecting people with the social networks and 
the day to day services we all depend on. The Council will 
therefore prioritise activities to make sure that communities 
in Cardiff are safe, that people in Cardiff feel safe and that 
they have easy access to the services that they need. We will 
also continue to deliver services, at the local level, in a well-
planned, connected and integrated way. 

Safeguarding and Supporting Vulnerable People

One of the Council’s first duties is to safeguard people in 
Cardiff – particularly vulnerable children and adults – from 
harm, abuse or other types of exploitation.  An important 
part of this agenda involves supporting individuals in 
maintaining control over their lives and in making informed 
choices.  Helping those who need care and support will 
remain a clear priority.  The Council will continue to 
collaborate with partners, playing a lead role in protecting 
and safeguarding individuals who need care and support 
from abuse, neglect or any other kinds of harm.

Safe and Inclusive Communities

Cardiff is a safe city.  Cardiff citizens are a third less likely 
to be the victim of crime than a decade ago.  However the 
perception is very different and the fear of crime has not 
decreased.  Citizens do not have the confidence that they, 
their families and their communities are safe. And while 
Cardiff is safe for the overwhelming majority, a small number 
of people – particularly children and women – are subject 
to abuse, violence and exploitation.  The Council will work 
with partners to develop new and integrated approaches 
to protect individuals at risk, as well as tackling community 
safety issues in our local communities.

More broadly, cities must be vigilant against the threat 
posed by the tiny minority who do not share our values. 
It is recognised that countering the threat of all forms 
of radicalisation and extremism can only be achieved 
by working in close partnership with organisations and 
communities.  The Council will nurture community cohesion 
– the sense of belonging felt by communities, and the strong 
and positive relationships within them – and understanding, 
where individuals have the opportunity to connect and 
become engaged with their community.

Regenerating Local Communities and Citizen Centred 
Services

The Council will seek to empower communities by aligning 
community services, making sure that developments and 
investments in local communities are well-planned and 
maximising the impact of public investment through a new 
approach to ‘locality working’, building on the success of the 
Community Hub programme.

Work will be undertaken to promote relationships within 
communities with a strong focus on civic engagement.  
Just over a quarter of people in Cardiff are participating 
in some form of volunteering through charities, youth 
groups, environmental and faith groups.  Volunteering 
makes communities more resilient, and helps people gain 
confidence, learn new skills and give back to those around 
them, benefiting community cohesion.  

We know that more people want to volunteer than currently 
do and the Council has a role to play in helping people 
support the city they live in.  This forms an important part 
of the New Deal approach, with Cardiff residents and the 
Council working together to address the issues affecting the 
city and realise our shared ambitions.

Supporting Sports, Leisure, Culture and Green Spaces

Healthy communities require access to a range of leisure 
facilities, including parks, green spaces as well as sports 
and leisure facilities. The Council will work to increase 
participation in sport and physical activities, unlocking 
continued support for sporting, play and physical 
activity facilities, particularly in the city’s most deprived 
communities.

Culture in Cardiff is one of the main reasons why people love 
living here.  Our theatres, music venues, and museums are 
at the heart of what the city has to offer.  Learning about 
the city’s heritage boosts community pride and strengthens 
a sense of place.  By working in partnership with Cardiff’s 
cultural communities we can encourage public engagement 
with art and culture whilst nurturing and promoting the wealth 
of artistic talent and activity already present in Cardiff.

Supporting the Welsh language is a key step towards creating 
a truly bilingual capital city and the Council will continue to 
deliver on its commitments to making this a reality.

Page 43



CAPITAL AMBITION 26

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance:  Community Cohesion

Improving City Performance: People who feel they have a voice in shaping Council services

I am able to have a say on local issues or how public services are run in my community

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Strongly agree      Agree Neither Disagree Strongly disagree

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Ceredigion 

Pow
ys

D
enbighshire

G
w

ynedd

Pem
brokeshire

Conw
y

Vale of G
lam

organ

M
onm

outhshire

CARD
IFF

Isle of Anglesey

Bridgend

W
ales

Flintshire

Carm
arthenshire

Sw
ansea

Torfaen

M
erthyr Tydfil

N
eath Port Talbot

Caerphilly

Rhondda Cynon Taf

W
rexham

 

Blaenau G
w

ent

N
ew

port

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Source: 
National Survey for 
Wales, 
Welsh Government

Source: 
Ask Cardiff 2017

Percentage of People Agreeing that they Belong to the Area; That People from Different Backgrounds Get on 
Well Together; and that People Treat Each Other with Respect, 2016-17

2.6 32.5 30.2 25.0 9.7

Page 44



027 CAPITAL AMBITION 27

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Adults Who Feel They Can Influence Local Decisions

To what extent do you agree or disagree that people in Cardiff are safe and feel safe?

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Strongly agree      Agree Neither Disagree Strongly disagree

Improving City Performance: Community Safety

Source: 
Ask Cardiff 2017

Percentage of Adults (Aged 16+) that Agree they Can Influence Decisions Affecting their Local Area, 2016-17

Source: National 
Survey for Wales, Welsh 
Government

Conw
y

CARD
IFF

D
enbighshire 

Bridgend 

M
onm

outhshire

M
erthyr Tydfil

Flintshire

Caerphilly

Ceredigion

Pow
ys

W
ales

Torfaen

Vale of G
lam

organ

Carm
arthenshire

Sw
ansea

Pem
brokeshire

N
ew

port

Isle of Anglesey 

W
rexham

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf

G
w

ynedd

N
eath Port Talbot

Blaenau G
w

ent

30

25

20

15

10

5

0.0

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

3.8 50.4 23.4 18.0 4.4

Page 45



CAPITAL AMBITION 28

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Closing the Inequality Gap: Increase the Confidence of Victims to Report Hate Crime - to Get a Sense of the Scale of Hate-
Related Discrimination in Cardiff

Closing the Inequality Gap: Number of Volunteers in Cardiff

Hate incidents monthly trends chart

160

140

120

100

80

60

40

20

0

2016/17 2017/18

Apr May  Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Percentage of Adults (Aged 16+) who volunteer, 2016-17

Pow
ys 

M
onm

outhshire

Carm
arthenshire

Ceredigion

Isle of Anglesey

G
w

ynedd

Sw
ansea

Vale of G
lam

organ

CARD
IFF

Pem
brokeshire

Conw
y

Torfaen

W
ales

Bridgend 

N
ew

port

N
eath Port Talbot

D
enbighshire

W
rexham

Flintshire

Caerphilly

Blaenau G
w

ent

Rhondda Cynon Taf

M
erthyr Tydfil

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0.0

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
N

um
be

r o
f I

nc
id

en
ts

Source: 
South Wales Police

Source: 
National Survey 
for Wales, Welsh 
Government

Page 46



029 CAPITAL AMBITION 29

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Ensure children and adults are protected from risk of harm and abuse by:
• Revising the Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy by March 2019 to encompass 

new and emerging themes of child and adult exploitation;
• Raising awareness among public and professionals safeguarding issues for the 

duration of the plan;
• Continuing implementation with key partners of the ‘Signs of Safety’ model, 

a strength-based, whole-service methodology for working with children and 
families in need of care and support for completion by 2022;

• Designing and implement a parallel model in Adult Services by 2022.

Cllr Susan Elsmore 
& Cllr Graham 
Hinchey

Social Services

Respond to the Parliamentary Review of Health and Social Care in Wales, which 
makes the case for reforming Wales’ health and care system, particularly the way 
care and support is provided.

Cllr Susan Elsmore 
& Cllr Graham 
Hinchey

Social Services, 
and People & 
Communities

Ensure that the Council’s Corporate Safeguarding Strategy is implemented. Cllr Chris Weaver All

Continue to develop and support the workforce by implementing the requirements 
of the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) Act 2016 and ensuring that 
all relevant professionals are appropriately qualified by 2020.

Cllr Susan Elsmore 
& Cllr Hinchey

Social Services

Continue to implement a sustainable finance and service delivery strategy across 
Children’s and Adult Services throughout 2018/19, where the commissioning and 
delivery of services is evidence-based, outcome-focussed and commercially sound. 

Cllr Graham 
Hinchey & Cllr 
Susan Elsmore

Social Services

Empower people with a learning disability to be more independent by developing a 
Regional Learning Disabilities Strategy by March 2019.

Cllr Susan Elsmore Social Services

Help prevent violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence by 
developing a regional strategy, implementing the newly-commissioned services for 
female victims and exploring a regional service for male victims by summer 2018.

Cllr Susan Elsmore People & 
Communities

Prevent children entering the criminal justice system and work with those 
already in the criminal justice system to reduce their reoffending through the 
interventions delivered by the Cardiff Youth Offending Service.

Cllr Graham 
Hinchey

Social Services

Implement the National Community Cohesion Action Plan 2017/2020, and 
undertake a review of the Local Delivery Plan in April 2018.  Activities will include:
• Working collaboratively with the Welsh Government to support engagement with 

communities experiencing exclusion or prejudice;
• Supporting the National Hate Crime Report and Support Centre by encouraging 

victims of hate crime to report incidents to the police or third-party reporting 
centres. 

Cllr Lynda Thorne Resources

Review and reform the Community Safety Partnership governance and delivery 
arrangements to focus on shared priorities by October 2018.

Cllr Lynda Thorne Resources

Tackle substance misuse in the city by undertaking a review of the risk factors with a 
focus on supporting young people. 

Cllr Lynda Thorne Resources

What we will do to create safe, confident and 
empowered communities

Page 47



CAPITAL AMBITION 30

Steps Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Deliver the Night Time Economy Strategy – working with Public Services Board 
partners.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

Resources

Invest in the regeneration of local communities by:  
• Completing the further development of the Butetown Pavilion Scheme;
• Completing a new retail parade of 9 shop units as part of the Maelfa redevelopment 

by Spring 2019; 
• Launching a further round of the Neighbourhood Renewal Schemes programme by 

Autumn 2018;
• Exploring opportunities for further long-term investment through the Targeted 

Regeneration Investment Programme.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities

Drive up standards in the private rented housing sector by taking enforcement action 
against rogue agents and landlords letting and managing properties.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Continue to develop the Community Hub and Well-being programme in collaboration 
with the University Health Board and other partners.  Activities include:
• Completing the extended St Mellons Community Hub by Summer 2018; 
• Working with partners to investigate other Hub projects such as:

- Developing additional library-based Hub facilities;
- Developing a network of youth service Hubs.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne & 
Cllr Susan 
Elsmore

People & 
Communities

Deliver Phase 2 of the neighbourhood partnership scheme to:
• Give people a voice in shaping Council services; 
• Better connect people with local service providers and activities in their 

neighbourhoods.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities, 
and Resources

Promote and support the growth of the Welsh Language to help meet the Welsh 
Government’s ‘Cymraeg 2050: A million Welsh speakers’ strategy by:
• Delivering Cardiff Council’s commitments in the city-wide Bilingual Cardiff Strategy 

2017-2022;
• Expanding the provision of Welsh medium education and promoting Welsh in English 

medium education.

Cllr Huw 
Thomas & 
Cllr Sarah 
Merry

Governance & 
Legal Services, 
and Education 
& Lifelong 
Learning

Establish a more strategic approach and develop a programme for allocating capital 
contributions designed to deliver improvements to our parks and green spaces.

Cllr Peter 
Bradbury

Economic 
Development

Work with partners to develop a strategic plan for the development of sport in the city 
that secures an increase in participation and attracts investment in our facilities.

Cllr Peter 
Bradbury

Economic 
Development

Work with our network of ‘Friends of’ and volunteer groups to engender a sense of 
ownership within local communities in the management and development of our parks 
and green spaces, and to secure improvements in local environmental quality.

Cllr Peter 
Bradbury

Economic 
Development

Develop a new major events strategy by 2019 to deliver events in the city for the next 5 years. Cllr Peter 
Bradbury

Economic 
Development

Support the development of the creative sector and help unlock investment opportunities 
by working with partners from the Universities and the Creative Economy on bids to the 
Arts, Humanities and Research Council.

Cllr Peter 
Bradbury

Economic 
Development

Page 48



031 CAPITAL AMBITION 31

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target

The percentage of Council Staff completing Safeguarding Awareness Training. 50%

The percentage of Council staff completing the Level 1 online module of the National Training Framework on 
violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence as a percentage of all staff.

100%

The total number of children and adults in need of care and support using the Direct Payments Scheme (local). 910

The percentage of Children's Services Social Work Vacancies. 18%

The percentage of children entering the criminal justice system. 5% reduction

The percentage of customers satisfied with completed regeneration projects. 70%

The number of visitors to libraries and Hubs across the city. 3,300,000

The percentage of customers who agreed with the statement ‘Overall the Hub met my requirements/I got 
what I needed’.

95%

The number of visits (hits) to the volunteer portal. 50,000

The number of Council employees who have undertaken Welsh Language Awareness training. Increase 
current levels

The number of Council employees who have undertaken Welsh Language training. Increase 
current levels

The number of Green Flag Parks and Open Spaces. 12

The number of volunteer hours committed to parks and green spaces.               18,000

The number of individuals participating in parks/ outdoor sport. 170,000

Total number of children aged 7-16 engaged in Sport Cardiff-led activities. 30,000

The number of attendances at our leisure facilities. 1,499,369

Attendance at Commercial Venues. 879,800

Page 49



CAPITAL AMBITION 32

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for Wales

CAPITAL AMBITION 32
Page 50



CAPITAL AMBITION 33

Well-being Objective: 
A Capital City that Works for Wales
Cardiff’s regeneration story is a significant one. It 
has been transformed from a city weighed down by 
de-industrialisation in the 1970s to one of the most 
competitive in the UK. It is a young and talented city with 
a growing business base, a start-up culture and a thriving 
visitor economy. If we are to continue to deliver for the 
people of Cardiff and Wales however, we cannot stand still. 
We will therefore have a relentless focus on delivering more, 
and better, jobs for the people of Cardiff. The momentum 
seen in both the Central Square development and in Cardiff 
University’s Innovation System demonstrates that we are 
well placed to respond to the challenge. 

We will therefore build a more Connected Capital, securing 
investment in the physical and digital infrastructure that 
unleashes the potential of our city’s people. We need to 
upgrade our city infrastructure to support the development 
of more home-grown business and attract more inward 
investment. Moving beyond City Deal, our role as the 
driver of the city-region economy must be promoted and 
exploited. Cardiff must also continue to be an outward 
looking, international city, acting as the connecting point 
between Wales and the world.

We will build on our success as a Business Capital, with 
a relentless focus on creating new jobs and opportunities 
for people in Cardiff and across the city-region, raising 
productivity for the city and for the nation. We know 
that whilst Cardiff has been successful in developing and 
attracting jobs we need to continue to climb the value 
chain. We also know that if we are to raise income levels we 
will need to become more productive. 

We will develop a more Inclusive Capital by providing a 
range and choice of jobs across the city so that everyone 
can access an opportunity to reach their full potential. 
We must ensure big city projects translate into economic 
prosperity, and the benefits need to be felt in all of the city’s 
communities.

We will build a Smarter Capital, working with partners 
to leverage the investment potential of key high-value 
sectors: the creative and digital industries, and financial and 
professional services - sectors in which Cardiff already has 
companies with international significance. Our universities 
need to become central to our ambitions in the way that 
they have not been in the past. The Council also needs to 
engage more with business and embrace the full potential 
of public private partnerships which have served the city so 
well in the past.

Cardiff has developed a deserved reputation as a sporting 
and cultural Capital City. From the Champions League 
to local park-runs, sport and leisure has an impact on all 
aspects of city life. Investment in sporting infrastructure 
has focussed on the west of the city, and opportunities 
remain to build on this to cement the city’s position not 
only as a place where major sporting events take place, but 
also one with world class facilities for use by elite athletes 
through to those in the local community. We will continue 
to invest in the city’s sporting infrastructure and ensure a 
full programme of international events.

Page 51



CAPITAL AMBITION 34

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Gross Value Added Per Person

Improving City Performance: Employment Growth

Provisional GVA per head (£), 2015

G
VA

 p
er

 h
ea

d 
(£

)

Workplace Employment Growth
(% change) Oct 2014 - Sep 2015 to Oct 2016 - Sep 2017

Edinburgh

G
lasgow

M
anchester

Bristol

N
ottingham

Leeds

N
ew

castle upon Tyne

U
K

CARD
IFF

Liverpool

Birm
ingham

Sheffield

W
ales

N
ottingham

 

Bristol

G
lasgow

N
ew

castle upon Tyne

Birm
ingham

Leeds

Sheffield 

M
anchester

CARID
FF 

Liverpool

40,000

35,000

30,000

25,000

20,000

15,000

10,000

5,000

0

14%

12%

10%

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

-2%

-4%

-6%

-8%

Source: 
Nomis, ONS

Source: 
Nomis, ONS

Page 52



CAPITAL AMBITION 35

35

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Visitor Numbers

Closing the Inequality Gap: Jobs Paid Less than the Real Living Wage

Visitor Numbers (millions) 2015 Visitor Numbers Per Annum (millions) 2005-16

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

New
ca

stl
e 

up
on

 Ty
ne

 
Not

tin
gh

am

Liv
er

po
ol

Bi
rm

in
gh

am

CA
RD

IF
F

50.0

40.0

30.0

20.0

10.0

0

25.0

20.0

15.0

10.0

5.0

0

Percentage of Employee Jobs with Hourly Pay Below the Real Living Wage in Wales, 2017

Blaenau G
w

ent 

Pem
brokeshire

G
w

ynedd

Isle of Anglesey

Conw
y

W
rexham

Vale of G
lam

organ

M
erthyr Tydfil

Flintshire

D
enbighshire 

Pow
ys 

Bridgend

W
ales

Sw
ansea

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Carm
arthenshire

M
onm

outhshire

U
K

Ceredigion

Torfaen 

N
ew

port

N
eath Port Talbot

CARD
IFF

Caerphilly

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

%
 o

f E
m

pl
oy

ee
 Jo

bs
%

 o
f E

m
pl

oy
ee

 Jo
bs

Percentage of Employee Jobs with Hourly Pay Below the Real Living Wage in major British Cities, 2017

N
ottingham

Liverpool

U
K

W
ales 

Sheffield

Birm
ingham

Edinburgh

CARD
IFF

Leeds

N
ew

castle upon Tyne

M
anchester

G
lasgow

Bristol

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

Source: 
STEAM

Source: 
ONS

Source: 
ONS

Page 53



CAPITAL AMBITION 36

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Bring forward a new Economic Vision for the future development of Cardiff by 
launching a White Paper in 2018.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Begin work on a new Bus Station in 2018 as part of an Integrated Transport Hub. Cllr Russell 
Goodway & Cllr 
Huw Thomas

Economic 
Development

Prioritise the delivery of a new Multi-Purpose Indoor Arena in the best possible 
location to ensure it can attract premier national and international events. 

Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Grow the city centre as a location for businesses and investment by completing a 
new business district delivering an additional 300,000ft2 of ‘Grade A’ office space at 
Metro Central by 2020.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Agree the business plan for the regeneration of Central Station by 2018 and begin 
construction by 2019.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway & Cllr 
Huw Thomas

Economic 
Development

Develop a plan for a new mixed-use development at Dumballs Road by 2019. Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Launch a new Industrial Strategy for East Cardiff by 2019, aligned to the 
completion of the Eastern Bay Link.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Develop a new vision and masterplan for Cardiff Bay including the next phase of 
development of the International Sports Village by the end of 2018.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway & Cllr 
Peter Bradbury

Economic 
Development

Work with Cardiff Capital Region partners to ensure that City Deal investment 
supports the economic development opportunities of the city-region.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway & Cllr 
Huw Thomas

Economic 
Development, 
and Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Develop a business plan to protect the city's historic assets by the end of 2018. Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Develop a Music Strategy to promote the city as a music destination by October 
2018.

Cllr Peter 
Bradbury

Economic 
Development

What we will do to make Cardiff a capital city that 
works for Wales

Page 54



CAPITAL AMBITION 37

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target

New and safeguarded jobs in businesses supported by the Council, financially or otherwise 500

The amount of ‘Grade A’ office space committed to in Cardiff (sq. ft.) 150,000

Number of staying visitors 2% Increase 
(Approx. 
40,000) 

Total visitor numbers 3% Increase 
(Approx. 
630,000)

Page 55



CAPITAL AMBITION 38CAPITAL AMBITION 38

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for the Future

Page 56



CAPITAL AMBITION 39

Well-being Objective: 
Cardiff Grows in a Resilient Way
Cardiff’s growth will create major economic and 
cultural opportunities.  It will also put pressures on city 
infrastructures and public services.  Capitalising on the 
opportunity of growth and ensuring that its benefits are 
widely felt, whilst mitigating its effects, will define Cardiff’s 
development over the next 20 years.

Housing

Cardiff’s Local Development Plan sets out that 41,000 
new homes will need to be built by 2026.  Whole new 
communities will soon be created that do not currently exist 
and making sure that these communities are well-planned 
and well-connected, with easy access to public services, 
community facilities and green and blue spaces, will be a 
strategic priority.  

Transport

A shift to more sustainable forms of transport will be 
needed.  Given the projected increase in population, 
a shift to more sustainable forms of transport will be 
needed. With 20% more people expected to commute 
to work and a 32% net increase in traffic, all this will put 
a strain on already congested roads.  As a consequence, 
journey times are expected to increase by approximately 
41%. The Council has therefore set a target for a ’50:50 
modal split by 2021 with 50% of journeys to be made by 
sustainable transport. Meeting these ambitious targets will 
require investment into public transport systems, cycling 
infrastructure and cleaner vehicles and promoting behaviour 
change, all of which must be supported by major employers 
and public service partners.  Getting this right will provide 
a boost to the city economy, to quality of life overall and 
can be expected to bring major health benefits through 
increased levels of cycling and walking, and improved air 
quality.

Waste and Recycling

As the city grows, it will create more waste.  Cardiff 
has a good track record for recycling and composting, 
with recycling increasing from 4% in 2001 to 58% 
in 2016/2017.  These improvements will need to be 
continued if Cardiff is to meet the Welsh Government 
targets of recycling 64% of waste by 2020, rising to 70% 
by 2025. Focus will need to be placed on minimising the 
waste produced in the first place, encouraging increased 
household and business recycling, and optimising our re-use 
and household recycling centre performance. 

Clean Streets

It is recognised that clean streets are a priority for the 
city’s residents. Frontline services will focus on tackling all 
forms of littering, a zero tolerance approach will be adopted 
and communities will be empowered to help deliver a city 
environment that befits the nation’s capital and which local 
people can be proud of.

Page 57



CAPITAL AMBITION 40

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Commuting by Sustainable Transport

Improving City Performance: Satisfaction with Local Area

Mode of Travel to Work by Sustainable Transport (%), 2014/15-2016/17

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

50

45

40

35

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Ceredigion

Conw
y 

M
onm

outhshire

Pem
brokeshire

Pow
ys

D
enbighshire

Carm
arthenshire

CARD
IFF

Vale of G
lam

organ

G
w

ynedd

Isle of Anglesey

Sw
ansea

Bridgend

W
ales

Torfaen

Flintshire

W
rexham

N
eath Port Talbot

M
erthyr Tydfil

N
ew

port

Caerphilly

Rhondda Cynon Taf

Blaenau G
w

ent

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Percentage of People Satisfied with Local Area as a Place to Live, 2016-17

Source: 
Cardiff Council

Source: 
National Survey 
for Wales. Welsh 
Government

Page 58



CAPITAL AMBITION 41

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Air Quality

City Wide Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Hot Spot Measures

Air Quality 
Management Area 

Avg NO2 µg/m3

City Centre 39.6

Stephenson Court 36.7

Llandaff 32.5

Ely Bridge 43.2

Total Carbon Dioxide (CO2) Emissions Per Capita in Tonnes (t) 2015

Pe
r C

ap
ita

 E
m

iss
io

ns
 (t

)

W
ales 

U
K

Leeds

CARD
IFF

Edinburgh

N
ew

castle upon Tyne

G
lasgow

Sheffield

M
anchester

Liverpool

Birm
ingham

N
ottingham

Bristol

10.0

9.0

8.0

7.0

6.0

5.0

4.0

3.0

2.0

1.0

0.0

Source: 
Department of 
Business, Energy 
and Industrial 
Strategy

Source: 
Shared Regulatory 
Services

Page 59



CAPITAL AMBITION 42

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving City Performance: Air Quality (cont)

Improving City Performance: Recycling Figures

To what extent would you agree that the air quality in Cardiff is good?

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Strongly agree      Agree Neither Disagree Strongly disagree

Source: 
Ask Cardiff 2017

Source: 
Welsh Government

3.2 34.3 28.1 24.7 9.7

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Ceredigion

W
rexham

M
onm

outhshire

Flintshire

Carm
arthenshire

Isle of Anglesey

Caerphilly

Vale of G
lam

organ

Pem
brokeshire

M
erthyr Tydfil

Pow
ys

D
enbighshire

Rhondda Cynon Taf

W
ales

Sw
ansea

Torfaen

N
eath Port Talbot

Conw
y

N
ew

port

G
w

ynedd

CARD
IFF

Bridgend

Blaenau G
w

ent

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Percentage of Municipal Waste Reused/Recycled/Composted, 2016-17

Page 60



CAPITAL AMBITION 43

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Develop options for long-term regional partnership recycling infrastructure 
arrangements by March 2019.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Consult on amendments to Recycling Waste Strategy and collections – including 
introducing wheelie bins into new areas of the city and asking households to separate 
glass from their recycling and implementing the new approach in order to meet the new 
Welsh Government blueprint for increasing recycling.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Explore opportunities for a New Household Waste Recycling Centre by reviewing all site 
options within Local Development Plan-allocated areas as well as established communities.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Undertake targeted education campaigns in communities where recycling rates are low. Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Continue to build on the partnership with British Heart Foundation to support re-use in 
the city by expanding the usage of re-use centres. 

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Develop a ‘Total Street’ delivery Plan by September 2018 to keep streets and public 
spaces clean and well-maintained through:
• Joining-up Council services and aligning resources;
• Delivering added value services such as deep cleansing, blitzes, patching and local 

active travel improvements.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Tackle fly-tipping, littering and highway licensing by:
• Enhancing the ‘Love Where You Live’ campaign - in partnership with Keep Wales Tidy - 

to encourage local volunteering;
• Undertaking education and citizen engagement campaigns;
• Developing and implementing Ward Action Plans;
• Using new enforcement powers and adopting new technology (Cabinet Report April 2018).

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Improve the productivity and performance of Street Scene Services by reviewing a 
range of customer-focused APSE benchmark indicators to establish relative performance 
and identify opportunities for further improvement.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Explore and develop a commercial and collaboration strategy for key services by 
looking at how Cardiff can work in partnership to deliver services providing positive 
outcomes by December 2018.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Develop a City Food Strategy - supporting local food growth, sustainable use and street 
food - by July 2018.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Progress a 5 Megawatt Solar Farm at Lamby Way by submitting a bid for planning 
consent by July 2018 in order to generate clean renewable energy and help Cardiff 
Council become Carbon Neutral.

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Develop and launch a new Transport & Clean Air Vision for the city by September 2018 
- following the Green Paper consultation which includes a consideration of Clean Air 
Strategy & Active Travel Solutions.

Cllr Caro Wild Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Undertake a scoping assessment for a Clean Air Zone in Cardiff by December 2019. Cllr Caro Wild Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

What we will do to make sure that Cardiff grows in 
a resilient way

Page 61



CAPITAL AMBITION 44

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Improve the condition of the highways and address issues such as potholes by delivering 
active programmes of work from minor road repairs through to full-scale resurfacing works.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Develop an electric vehicles strategy by December 2019. Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Develop a spatial masterplan to create new high-quality, shared space for pedestrians, 
cyclists and vehicles throughout the city centre and key neighbourhoods by 2018/19.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Support the delivery of the Council’s Active Travel agenda by working with the Active 
Travel Advisory Groups.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Make Cardiff roads safer by implementing 20mph speed limits through a phased 
programme delivery, focusing on Gabalfa, Butetown and Grangetown during 2018/19. 

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Improve the cycling and walking network in Cardiff by delivering prioritised routes within the 
Active Travel Integrated Network Map, including phase 1 of the Cycle Super Highway by 2021.
• Phase 1: Connecting the Heath Hospital, City Centre (Dumfries Place) and Newport Road/

Broadway.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Deliver the Annual Parking Report by August 2018 that includes enforcement activity 
and progress on the parking strategy as well as an Assessment of Pavement Parking by 
December 2018

Cllr Michael 
Michael

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Launch the On-Street Bike Hire Scheme in May 2018. Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Ensure every school in Cardiff has developed an Active Travel plan - including training 
and/or infrastructure improvements - by 2020.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Support the delivery of high-quality and well-connected communities - as described by 
the Council’s Master Planning Principles – by using the Planning, Transport & Place-making 
services to secure Section 106 Agreements on Local Development Plan strategic sites.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Increase the delivery of new houses to meet housing need through the development of 
Local Development Plan strategic sites including 6,500 new affordable homes by 2026.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, Transport 
& Environment

Deliver at least 2,000 new Council homes, of which at least 1,000 will be delivered by May 
2022.

Cllr Lynda 
Thorne

People & 
Communities

Develop an outline business case for the District Heat Network proposal, subject to 
National Government Capital Grant award and Capital Budget approval, by Spring 2018.

Cllr 
Michael 
Michael

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Convene regular Design Review Meetings to consider and make recommendations to 
development proposals submitted to the Local Planning Authority, and publish an annual 
Design Review Monitoring document by January 2019.

Cllr Caro 
Wild

Planning, 
Transport & 
Environment

Develop a Climate Change Investment Policy for consideration by the Pensions Committee 
by December 2018, in consultation with the Pension Fund’s independent advisers and the 
other LGPS funds in Wales

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Page 62



CAPITAL AMBITION 45

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target
The percentage of municipal waste collected and prepared for re-use and / or recycled 62%

The maximum permissible tonnage of biodegradable municipal waste sent to landfill <33,557 tonnes

Number of investigations and enforcement actions per month 250

Number of education and engagement actions per month 250

Modal Split for All Journeys by 2026: Proportion of People Travelling to Work by Sustainable Transport 
Modes

46.3%

Percentage reduction in carbon dioxide emissions from Council buildings 2%

The level of NO2 across the city 35µg/m3

Percentage of principal (A) roads that are in overall poor condition 5%

Percentage of non-principal/classified (B) roads that are in overall poor condition. 7%

Percentage of non-principal/classified (C) roads that are in overall poor condition 7%

Total number of new Council homes completed and provided 200

Percentage of householder planning applications determined within agreed time periods 80%

The percentage of major planning applications determined within agreed time periods 25%

The percentage of affordable housing at completion stage provided in a development on greenfield sites. 30% (LDP)

The percentage of affordable housing at completion stage provided in a development on brownfield sites. 20% (LDP)

The percentage of highways inspected of a high or acceptable standard of cleanliness 90%

The percentage of reported fly tipping incidents cleared within 5 working days 90%

The percentage of reported fly tipping incidents which lead to enforcement activity 70%

Page 63



CAPITAL AMBITION 46 CAPITAL AMBITION 46

Capital Ambition Priority: 
Working for Public Services

Page 64



CAPITAL AMBITION 47

Well-being Objective: 
Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services
The Council recognises the need to modernise its systems 
and processes to support service delivery. This will mean 
streamlining and simplifying the way the Council does 
business, making better use of the Council’s asset base and 
finding new and better ways of working to take advantage 
of new technology. Equally important is the need for the 
Council to work across the public services in order to deliver 
lasting solutions to complex problems. Typically this will 
require change across services, often working in partnership 
with other organisations, with local communities and with 
those who receive the service. Traditional organisational 
and service boundaries will need to be broken down, and 
services will need to be redesigned, with stakeholders, assets 
and resources brought together around the particular needs 
of people and local communities. 

Delivering Strategic Change

Delivering the priorities outlined in this Plan will therefore 
require a significant refocusing of the Council’s change 
management capacity. In particular, a small number of key 
priorities will require a mobilisation of corporate leadership 
and resources including dedicated project teams with 
corresponding governance and performance management 
arrangements.  The Capital Ambition Delivery Programme 
focuses on two discrete components: Modernisation 
and Resilient Services. Modernisation will focus on the 
transformation of corporate systems and processes that 
support service delivery, whilst Resilient Services will focus on 
the transformation of front-line services.

Modernising Council services will mean using technology 
to help the Council better manage increasing demand for 
services whilst increasingly providing digital access to services 
indistinguishable from that available to citizens in every 
other aspect of their lives. Equally, being more inventive 
and creative with our assets means that running costs can 
be reduced whilst at the same time better supporting when 
and where we deliver services. It is also acknowledged that 
delivering this change will require continued investment in 
the workforce, with the Cardiff Manager Programme and 
the work of the Cardiff Academy important pointers to the 
Council’s commitment in this area. 

Sustainable Services and Organisational Performance

Despite having to achieve budget savings of over £145m 
during the last 5 years and losing 22% of non-school 
Council staff, Cardiff Council has continued its journey of 
improvement. In 2016/17, Cardiff’s performance improved 
to 13th position out of the 22 Local Authorities in Wales, 
increasing from 17th in the previous year. Education 
performance remains significantly better than the all-Wales 
position and, overall, 60% of Cardiff Council indicators were 
ranked 1st to 11th out of the 22 Local Authorities.

Cardiff was also ranked third for the level of citizen 
satisfaction with Council services and emerged as one of the 
most trusted public service providers in Wales according to 
one of the Welsh Government’s most wide-reaching opinion 
surveys. The Council’s Annual Complaints report also shows 
a decrease in complaints for the fifth year running whilst 
noting an increase in compliments received. 

In terms of customer service, the Council has areas of 
consistent good practice, such as our network of Community 
Hubs, our First Point of Contact providers, park rangers, 
event stewards and library staff. Service delivery across a 
number of visible services is also good, despite dealing with 
a high volume of demand on a regular basis. For example, 
Waste Management make over 24 million collections with 
a less than 1% failure rate. Good customer engagement 
is clearly evident within front line service delivery teams 
and the Council will continue to work to ensure that 
customer management is characterised by the same level of 
excellence throughout the organisation.  

Maintaining this journey of improvement will therefore 
require a focus on the Council’s priorities, but also on 
the successful delivery of the Capital Ambition Delivery 
Programme, which seeks to improve efficiency and service 
performance whilst ensuring the long-term sustainability of 
key frontline services.

Page 65



CAPITAL AMBITION 48

Measuring Progress against the 
Well-being Objective (Outcome Indicators)

Improving Council Performance: People who agree that ‘the Council Provides High Quality Services’

Improving Council Performance: Cumulative Budget Savings v Percentage Satisfied with Council Services

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge

Conw
y

Ceredigion

CARD
IFF

Caerphilly

Vale of G
lam

organ

D
enbighshire

Flintshire

Carm
arthenshire

M
onm

outhshire

Pem
brokeshire

N
ew

port

W
ales

Torfaen

Sw
ansea

Rhondda Cynon Taf

G
w

ynedd

Bridgend

W
rexham

N
eath Port Talbot

M
erthyr Tydfil

Pow
ys

Isle of Anglesey

Blaenau G
w

ent

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Agree that Council Provides High Quality Services (%), 2016/17

Cumulative Budget Savings (£m) v % Satisfied with Council Services

Source: 
Welsh 
Government 
Survey

Source: 
Ask Cardiff 2017/ 
Cardiff Council 
Budget Report

£180

£160

£140

£120

£100

£80

£60

£40

£20

£0

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Cumulative budget savings% satisfied with Council services

Cu
m

ul
at

iv
e 

Bu
dg

et
 S

av
in

gs
 (£

m
)

%
 o

f R
es

po
nd

en
ts

 S
at

is
ife

d 
w

ith
 C

ou
nc

il 
Se

rv
ic

es

2013/14  2014/15    2015/16    2016/17    2017/18  2018/19

Page 66



CAPITAL AMBITION 49

Steps
Lead 
Member

Lead 
Directorate

Progress the Council’s Digital First Agenda by undertaking a service review of ICT by 
December 2018.  This will include:
• Assessing the Council’s ICT infrastructure to identify opportunities for Cloud-Based 

solutions.
• Mapping business processes to identify opportunities for simplification, integration 

and automation.

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Assets and Property: Modernise the management and operation of the Council’s estate 
to achieve fewer but better buildings by:
• Completing the comprehensive review of the Council’s estate by the end of 2018; 
• Fully establishing the new Corporate Landlord delivery model and ensure all of the 

Council’s estate is compliant by the end of 2018/19.

Cllr Russell 
Goodway

Economic 
Development

Improve the health and well-being of our employees by reducing sickness absence by 
March 2019 through continued monitoring, compliance and support for employees and 
managers.

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Support staff development by further improving the Personal Review scheme by March 
2019 so that every employee has the opportunity to have a conversation about their 
development and performance.

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Get people and communities more involved in decisions. Cllr Huw 
Thomas & Cllr 
Chris Weaver

Governance & 
Legal Services

Ensure that the Council’s consultation and engagement work is as representative 
as possible through reviewing and refreshing the Council’s citizen engagement tools, 
including the Citizen Panel, by June 2018.

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Resources

Champion equality and diversity, making sure that citizens’ rights are protected 
in any changes to our public services, by implementing year three of the Council’s 
Strategic Equality Plan 2016-2020.

Cllr Chris 
Weaver

Governance & 
Legal Services

What we will do to Modernise and Integrate our 
Public Services

Page 67



CAPITAL AMBITION 50

Key Performance Measures 
Measures which tell us if the Council is delivering effectively

Measure Target

Reduce the gross internal area (GIA) of buildings in operational use 4%

Reduce the total running cost of occupied operational buildings 3.1%

Reduce the maintenance backlog 5.4% 
reduction

Capital income generated £15,190,000

The number of customer contacts to the Council using digital channels 10% increase

Percentage of staff that have completed a Personal Review (excluding school staff) 100%

The number of working days/shifts per full-time equivalent (FTE) local authority employee lost due to sickness 
absence 

9.5

Maintaining customer/citizen satisfaction with Council Services 75%

The percentage of draft committee minutes published on the Council website within 10 working days of the 
meeting being held.

80%

The number of external contributors to Scrutiny Meetings 140

The total number of webcast hits: Full Council 2,500

The total number of webcast hits: Planning Committee 2,000

The total number of webcast hits: Scrutiny 500

The percentage of voter registration 90%

Page 68



Appendix B

Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 1 of 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

CARDIFF’S LOCAL WELL-BEING PLAN

LEADER (COUNCILLOR HUW THOMAS)   
AGENDA ITEM: 3 

 
REPORT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reason for this Report

1. To enable the Cabinet to approve Cardiff’s Local Well-being Plan 
(attached at Appendix A) for consideration by Council on 22 March 
2018, noting that publication will be subject to approval by all statutory 
members of the Cardiff Public Services Board.

Background 

2. On 6 July 2017, Cabinet approved Capital Ambition as a statement of the 
new administration’s priorities with the document also discussed and 
noted at the subsequent meeting of the Council.  Capital Ambition spells 
out an urgent need to change public services, with a focus on partnership 
working and service integration and that the Council must work
“across the public services in order to deliver lasting solutions to complex
problems”.

3. The Delivering Capital Ambition report, approved by Cabinet on 14 
December 2017 set out how the Council’s Corporate Policy and 
Performance Framework would be reshaped to ensure the delivery of the 
administration’s priorities, including the development of the Corporate 
Plan and Departmental Delivery Plans.  The report also makes clear that 
delivering Capital Ambition will require coordinated action by the Council 
and its partners. 

The Cardiff Public Services Board

4. Established in April 2016, the Cardiff Public Services Board (PSB) 
replaced the existing Cardiff Partnership Board.  The PSB is a statutory 
board, required under the Well-being of Future Generations Act (2015), 
and is chaired by the Leader of Cardiff Council, with membership drawn 
from the city’s public and third sector leadership.  The Cardiff PSB’s 
membership can be found at Appendix B.  The Cardiff PSB is supported 
by the PSB Delivery Board, chaired by the Council’s Chief Executive.  
The PSB Delivery Board also functions as Cardiff’s statutory Community 
Safety Partnership (CSP). 

Page 101

Eitem Agenda 3



Page 2 of 6

5. Under the Well-being of Future Generations Act the Cardiff PSB is 
statutorily required to:

i. Undertake a Well-being Assessment, to assess the state of 
economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in its area.  
This must be undertaken every 5 years, and be published in 
advance of local elections.
 

ii. Set Well-being Objectives that are designed to maximise the 
PSB’s contribution to the national well-being goals, as defined by 
the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 

iii. Publish a Local Well-being Plan which sets out the areas of 
‘collaborative advantage’ in which the board members will work in 
partnership to improve well-being in the city, particularly through 
greater alignment or integration public and community services.

iv. Carry out and publish an annual review of their plan showing 
progress.

6. The Local Well-being Plan is statutorily required to:

i. set out local objectives and the steps proposed to meet them

ii. explain why the PSB considers that meeting the local objectives 
will contribute to achieving the national well-being goals

iii. explain how the local objectives and steps have been set in 
response to the local well-being assessment

iv. specify time periods within which the PSB expects to meet the 
objectives

v. explain how steps are taken in accordance with the sustainable 
development principal.

7. In producing the Local Well-being Plan the PSB is required to consult 
widely.  This includes:

i. 14 week consultation with the Well-being of Future Generation’s 
Commissioner on how to take steps to meet the local objectives to 
be included in the plan.  This must take place prior to public 
consultation on the draft plan.

ii. 12 week statutory consultation on the draft Well-being Plan.

8. The Local Well-being Plan must be approved by the decision making 
body of each of the board’s statutory members, and finally by the PSB, 
no later than one year after the local elections.

Page 102



Page 3 of 6

Development of Cardiff’s Well-being Plan

9. In March 2017, the Cardiff PSB approved the Cardiff Well-being 
Assessment.  The Assessment provided a comprehensive analysis of 
Cardiff’s social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being, 
identifying the key opportunities and challenges facing the city.  The data 
used to inform this Assessment included the 46 National Indicators for 
well-being, Ask Cardiff survey indicators; and additional indicators 
recommended by Public Services Board partners and other stakeholders.  
An assessment by Neighbourhood Partnership was also undertaken to 
highlight the differences in outcomes across the city.  The Cardiff 
Liveable City Report provides a summary of the Well-being Assessment, 
and the full assessment can be accessed on the Cardiff Public Services 
Board website (https://goo.gl/1E9mBU).

10. In June 2017, the Cardiff PSB recommended that the vision for Cardiff 
Well-being Plan focus on ‘inclusive growth’ and on ensuring that the 
benefits of Cardiff’s growth are felt across all the city’s communities, and 
developed seven draft Well-being Objectives that maximised the PSB’s 
contribution to achieving this ambition.  On 26 June 2017, Cardiff PSB 
submitted seven draft well-being objectives to the Future Generations 
Commissioner for advice on how these objectives could be best 
delivered, as required by statute. The response from the Commissioner 
was received on 2 October 2017 – attached at Appendix C. 

11. On 29 September, the Cardiff PSB approved a draft of the Well-being 
Plan for public consultation.  A 12 week statutory consultation on 
Cardiff’s Draft Well-being Plan ran from 13 October 2017 - 5 January 
2018.  Engagement activities included an online survey and a series of 
engagement events and focus groups with seldom heard groups and 
communities, including:

 20 locality and partner events covering each Neighbourhood Area
 Cardiff Youth Council Grand Council
 50 + Forum focus group
 2 BAME focus groups
 Cardiff Deaf Club meeting
 Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health
 Friends and Neighbours Group (Butetown)

12. Alongside this, the annual Ask Cardiff citizen survey 2017 contained for 
the first time a series of questions on citizen well-being and citizen 
satisfaction with life in Cardiff. The findings of these consultation 
exercises can be found as an appendix to the Well-being Plan (see 
Appendix 2 to Appendix A).

13. Cardiff Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee (PRAP) has 
the statutory responsibility for scrutiny of Cardiff’s PSB. Cardiff’s Well-
being Plan has been considered by PRAP on 18 July 2017 (to consider 
the draft Well-being Objectives) and 15 November (to consider the draft 
Well-being Plan).  Responses from PRAP can be found at Appendix D.

Page 103

https://goo.gl/1E9mBU


Page 4 of 6

14. In response to the feedback from the Future Generations Commissioner, 
the public engagement exercise, formal submissions from stakeholders 
and the views of Scrutiny, the draft Well-being Plan was revised and 
approved in principle by Cardiff PSB on 27 February 2018.   

15. Prior to the Well-being Plan being approved for publication by the Cardiff 
PSB it must be approved individually by each statutory member of the 
Public Services Board; namely Cardiff Council, Cardiff & Vale University 
Health Board, South Wales Fire & Rescue Service and National 
Resources Wales.  The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 
will also be considering the plan for approval. The timetable of approval 
meetings is attached as Appendix E.  

Cardiff’s Well-being Plan

16. Cardiff Public Services Board’s Well-being Plan (Appendix A) contains 
the following seven Well-being Objectives: 

1: A Capital that works for Wales 
2: Cardiff grows in a resilient way 
3: Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities 
4: Cardiff is a great place to grow up 
5: Supporting people out of poverty 
6: Cardiff is a great place to grow older 
7: Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services 

17. These are consistent with the Council’s Well-being Objectives, as 
contained in the Corporate Plan.

18. For each Well-being Objective the plan lists the ‘steps’ or actions that the 
city’s public services will do, together, to achieve them. The steps 
therefore focus on areas of ‘collaborative advantage’, areas of public 
service delivery which fundamentally require partnership working 
between the city’s public and community services. The partnership 
governance and delivery arrangements are currently being reviewed to 
ensure that they are able to deliver the steps identified in the plan.  

19. A small number of city-level outcome indicators have been identified to 
measure progress against each Well-being Objective over the course of 
the Well-being Plan.  The indicators will be reported on annually as part 
of Cardiff PSB’s (statutory) annual report.  

20. As noted above, the Well-being Plan has been developed in tandem with 
the Council’s Corporate Plan.  The Plan has also been aligned to the 
Cardiff & Vale Area Plan for Care and Support Needs 2018-2023, 
required under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014), notably in 
relation to care and support for Older People (Well-being Objective 6: 
Cardiff is a Great Place to grow older) and for other vulnerable population 
groups defined in the Social Services and Wellbeing Act (2014).  

Page 104



Page 5 of 6

21. As required under the Well-being of Future Generations Act, an annual 
progress report will be published on progress against the city level 
indicators and steps in the plan.  

Reason for Recommendation

22. To enable the Cabinet to approve Cardiff Well-being Plan for 
consideration by Council on 22 March 2018, noting that publication will 
be subject to approval by all statutory members of the Cardiff Public 
Services Board.

Financial Implications

23. The Corporate Plan and Capital Ambition Document set out delivery 
outcomes that are in alignment with the delivery of the Cardiff Well-being 
Plan and the Council’s 2018/19 Financial Budget.  Implementing these 
strategic priorities and improvement objectives will need to be in 
accordance with the amounts set out in the 22 February 2018 Budget 
Report which included both revenue and capital budgets for 2018/19, the 
indicative Medium Term Financial Plan for the period up to 2021/22 and 
the indicative Capital Programme for the period up until 2022/23. 

24. Where objectives contained in the appendices will be subject to further 
detailed reports these will be accompanied by a robust business case. 
These reports will include sufficient financial detail in order to set out the 
full and robust financial implications as well as be fully informed of 
associated risks.  

Legal Implications 

25. The Public Services Board is required to prepare and publish a local well-
being plan, which sets out the local well-being objectives and the steps 
that it proposes to take to meet them.  These must be designed to 
maximise the Board’s contribution to delivering the well-being goals 
within its area.  The Plan must be published within one year of the 2017 
local government elections, i.e. the first well-being plan must be 
published by 3 May 2018 and will cover a five-year period. Further detail 
of the Board’s obligations is to be found in paragraphs 5 – 7 of this 
Report. The Plan must be approved by each of the Board’s statutory 
members, of which the Council is one.

Impact assessments

26. An Equalities Impact Assessment [EIA] is attached at Appendix F 
Findings from this assessment have informed the proposals set out in 
this Cabinet report.  Further EIAs will be completed for any additional 
specific areas of risk identified following this Cabinet decision.

HR Implications

27. There are no direct HR implications arising from this report.  However, 
the Council’s directorates will all have a key part to play in the 

Page 105



Page 6 of 6

achievement of the objectives set out in the Well-being Plan.  Workforce 
planning and employee development will be key requirements to ensure 
that the Council has in place the right roles and employees with the 
necessary skills, to deliver. Initiatives such as the Council’s 
Apprenticeship and Trainee Schemes and the support for employees to 
become Welsh speakers are part of this.

 
RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is recommended to approve the Well-being Plan for consideration by 
Council on 22 March 2018.

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive
9 March 2018

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix A: Cardiff Well-being Plan 
Appendix B: Cardiff Public Services Board Membership
Appendix C: Future Generations Commissioner’s Advice 
Appendix D: Cardiff PRAP Scrutiny Committee Letters 
Appendix E: Well-being Plan Approval Timetable
Appendix F: Equality Impact Assessment

Page 106



This document is available in Welsh  
Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

 Cardiff 
  Well-Being 
    Plan

Appendix A

Page 107



Foreword
Cardiff is now a true economic, cultural and 
political capital city.  It’s a city of strong and safe 
communities, great schools and universities, and 
creative, talented, welcoming people.  No wonder 
Cardiff is now consistently ranked by our own 
residents as one of the best cities in which to live in 
Europe.  It’s a far cry from the city that was grappling 
with the challenges of deindustrialisation only a 
generation ago.  

Our ambition is to make sure that for the generations 
to come Cardiff is an even better place to live and 
work, where the benefits of growth are felt by all our 
citizens, our region and our nation. 

We recognise that there are serious challenges to 
overcome.  Foremost among these is inequality.  The 
gap between rich and poor in the city is too wide, 
and it is growing.  This poverty casts a long shadow 
over too many lives, it places pressure on public 
services and it breaks the bonds that help to create 
a strong society.   Making sure that as many people 
as possible can benefit from the city’s growth will 
therefore be at the heart of the work of the Cardiff 
Public Services Board.

So too will making sure that Cardiff grows in a 
sustainable way.  That so many people are choosing 
to live and work in Cardiff is good news, but growth 
will strain our city’s infrastructures and put new 
demands on our public services.  We will work 
together to make sure that they are fit for the future.
As public service leaders we know that many of the 
most complex issues we face cannot be dealt with 
by a single organisation acting alone.   Whether it 
be protecting our most vulnerable children, helping 
those who are homeless, tackling radicalisation or 
supporting older people to stay happy and healthy 
in their own homes, we know that we have neither all 
the answers, nor all the means to solve the challenges 
we face.  These we must work on, together.

Together we can make Cardiff a great place to live 
for all our residents.  A city in which every citizen, 
regardless of background, has the chance to fulfil 
their potential and can contribute to, and benefit 
from, the city’s success.  

This plan sets out how we will make this happen. 
 

Together we can make Cardiff a great 
place to live for all our residents

Huw Thomas 
Chair, Cardiff Public Services Board

Leader of Cardiff Council 

Maria Battle
Vice Chair, Cardiff Public Services Board

Chair, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board

2 3

Contents

No one public service 
can respond to these 
challenges alone

Foreword

Context

Cardiff Today and Tomorrow

The Public Service Challenge

Cardiff’s Well-being Objectives

 1 - A Capital City that Works for Wales
 2 - Cardiff grows in a resilient way  
 3 - Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities
 4 - Cardiff is a great place to grow up
 5 - Supporting people out of poverty
 6 - Cardiff is a great place to grow older
 7 - Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services

Measuring Progress - Well-being Indicators

3

4

7

10

13

13
19
25
31
37
43
49

54

2

P
age 108



What is Cardiff’s Public Services Board?

Cardiff’s Public Services Board (Cardiff PSB) brings 
together the city’s public service leadership and 
decision-makers, including those from the Local 
Authority, Health Board, Natural Resources Wales, 
Welsh Government, the Third Sector and the Fire, 
Police and Probation services. The purpose of the PSB 
is to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Cardiff by strengthening joint 
working across the city’s public services.

What is a Well-being Plan?

The Well-being Plan sets out the Cardiff PSB’s 
priorities for action over the next 5 years, and beyond. 
The plan focusses on the areas of public service 
delivery which fundamentally require partnership 
working between the city’s public and community 
services, and with the citizens of Cardiff. 

The Plan contains Well-being Objectives, high-level 
priorities that the Cardiff PSB have identified as being 
most important. It also contains ‘Commitments,’ 
or practical steps that the city’s public services, 
together, will deliver over the next 5 years.

The Well-being Plan should therefore be seen as a 
complementary document to the strategic plans of 
each PSB member (see Appendix 1), focusing on 
delivering ‘collaborative advantage’ in areas of city 
life and public services which cut across all public and 
communities services.  

The Plan responds to a wide ranging evidence base 
on the quality of life and public services in Cardiff, 
and how these might change over the years to come.  
This includes:

• The Well-being Assessment: a comprehensive 
study of the quality of life in Cardiff undertaken 
in 2017

• The views of the people of Cardiff: a programme of 
engagement on the development of the plan 

 (see Appendix 2)

• The Cardiff Future Trends report: a report for the 
PSB that sets out the long term trends facing 
Cardiff and the impact these will have on the city’s 
public services. 

Well-being of Future Generations Act

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act is 
about improving the social, economic, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales. It requires public 
services to work together through Public Services 
Boards to improve the well-being of each Local 
Authority area and contribute to the 7 national 
well-being goals. The contribution of this Plan and its 
Commitments against the National well-being goals 
can be found in Appendix 3.

It is designed to help make local communities 
better and public services more sustainable, and 
will make the public bodies listed in the Act think 
more about the long-term, work better with people 
and communities and each other, look to prevent 
problems and take a more joined-up approach 
(known as ‘the 5 ways of working’).

For each well-being objective identified by Cardiff’s 
PSB, the plan illustrates which of the national well-
being goals it contributes to. Similarly, the Well-
being Objectives contained in the plan should not 
be viewed in isolation, but as a mutually reinforcing 
programme of change which, collectively, will help 
public services in Cardiff respond to the pressures 
they are under and improve the lives of the people 
of Cardiff, particularly the city’s most vulnerable 
citizens.

Context

4 5

Why do we need a Well-being Plan?

Cardiff is going through a period of rapid change.  
The city is facing a series of critical challenges, like 
how to make sure that city’s rapid population growth 
and economic success help all citizens; how the gap 
between the city’s most and least deprived can be 
reduced; how to make sure the city’s public services 
and infrastructures are resilient to this growth; and how 
to deliver excellent public services, particularly for the 
city’s most vulnerable people, at a time of austerity.  

No one public service can respond to these challenges 
alone.  It will require close partnership working between 
Cardiff PSB members and other organisations in the 
public, private and third sectors, and most importantly 
of all, with the citizens of Cardiff.  

How did we develop the Well-being Plan?

By looking at Cardiff today and the Cardiff of 
tomorrow, the Well-being Assessment identified 
the key challenges and opportunities facing the 
city.  These findings, consultation feedback and the 
priorities for its member organisations provided the 
context for the Cardiff PSB to develop its well-being 
objectives and ‘Commitments’.   

A draft Well-Being Plan was produced for 
consultation, which ran from 13 October 2017 to 5 
January 2018. Engagement activities included an 
online survey and a series of engagement events 
and focus groups with seldom heard groups and 
communities, including BAME groups, disability 
groups and the Youth Council. Additionally, the 
annual Ask Cardiff citizen survey contained, for the 
first time, a series of questions on citizen well-being 
and citizen satisfaction with life in Cardiff, aligned to 
the questions of the National Survey for Wales.

The draft Well-being plan was reviewed and 
amended, reflecting on the findings of these 
engagement activities and the formal consultation 
responses received from the Future Generations 
Commissioner, Welsh Government and stakeholder 
organisations across the city.

Measuring progress

To measure progress in improving the well-being of 
Cardiff, progress against each well-being objective 
will be measured against a combination of national, 
regional and local indicators. 

In addition, the Cardiff PSB will also measure the 
reported well-being of the people of Cardiff in the 
annual Ask Cardiff survey across the following areas:
• Life satisfaction
• Worthwhile
• Happiness
• Anxiety

These indicators will be reported on annually with 
updates on progress against individual indicators 
published as data becomes available.

The technical document at Appendix 4 provides 
an indication of whether or not data can be 
disaggregated according to local area, equality 
group and other contextual information that will aid 
analysis.

P
age 109



Cardiff Today and 
Tomorrow

6 7

P
age 110



Cardiff Today
Cardiff has a population of 361,500 and is one of 
the fastest growing major British cities.   It is at the 
heart of the Cardiff Capital Region of 1.5 million 
people and makes up nearly a quarter (24%) of this 
population.  

Cardiff today is a relatively wealthy, safe, green and 
healthy city.  The capital city of Wales consistently 
sits near the top of polls, surveys and reviews of 
quality of life in cities in the UK and Europe.  Cardiff’s 
culture, sport, shopping and its public and green 
spaces are ranked by its own citizens as amongst the 
best in Europe and residents are also consistently 
happy with the quality and efficiency of public 
services in the city, particularly compared to other 
European cities. 

The city economy is growing.  Jobs and businesses 
are being created, unemployment is at its lowest 
level this decade, visitor numbers are growing each 
year and skills levels across all levels of attainment 
are high. The capital city plays a vital role in creating 
jobs for the wider city-region, with 2 out of 3 new jobs 
created in the Capital Region over the last 10 years 
having been created in Cardiff.  

Cardiff has a long history of being an open, 
welcoming and multi-cultural city.  With 15.3% 
of the city’s population coming from a non-white 
background, and over 100 languages spoken in the 
city, Cardiff is by far the most ethnically diverse local 
authority area in Wales.  It is also a safe city. Over 
the last decade, crime has fallen dramatically with 
fewer burglaries, incidents of criminal damage and 
antisocial behaviour. 

People in Cardiff today could be described as being 
healthier than ever before. Levels of general health 
are high with life expectancy for men and women 
continuing to rise, and women in Cardiff projected 
to live longer than those in the majority of the 
‘Core Cities’, though more than half the population 
are underweight, overweight or obese and rates of 
smoking and drinking remain high.  

Yet while Cardiff performs strongly across a number 
of city-wide indicators of well-being, large inequalities 
exist within the city. Some of the poorest wards 
in Wales are to be found within walking distance 
of some of the most affluent and wards with the 
highest unemployment rates are within a few miles 
of Wales’ major commercial centre.  Almost a third of 
households and over a quarter of children under the 
age of 20 are living in poverty.   

Large disparities in levels of unemployment, 
household poverty and workless households exist 
across the city, and these economic inequalities 
closely align with health, crime and educational 
inequalities, with for example a healthy life 
expectancy gap of 22 to 24 years between the 
most and least deprived communities.  These 
trends predate the economic crisis and subsequent 
recession, being evident throughout the period of 
economic growth the city experienced in the years 
preceding the ‘credit crunch’.

Cardiff Tomorrow: 
Trends, Opportunities 
and Challenges
Cardiff’s population is projected to grow by over 
20% in the next 20 years, faster than any other 
major British city apart of London.  This increase 
in population (73,000 people) will be greater than 
all other 21 local authorities in Wales combined 
(69,000).  

This growth will provide major economic, social 
and cultural opportunities for Cardiff and the wider 
region.  A young and highly skilled population points 
to a period of strength for the city economy, and can 
support a shift to a more innovative, productive and 
low carbon economy that will be needed if the city 
is to respond to a complex and uncertain economic 
environment characterised by Brexit and ongoing 
globalisation, public sector austerity and rapid and 
disruptive technological change. 

Ensuring that the benefits of growth are widely felt 
will be a major challenge.  Too many people in Cardiff 
are struggling to make ends meet and this poverty 
casts a long shadow over people’s lives.  For example, 
though life expectancy is expected to rise for the 
poorest men in Cardiff, healthy life-expectancy 
is projected to decrease. Without a shift towards 

a more inclusive economy and society, where all 
citizens feel able to contribute to and benefit from 
the city’s success and the gap between the richest 
and poorest being reduced, these trends are unlikely 
to improve.  

Population growth will lead to increasing pressures on 
the city’s public services, physical infrastructure and 
the environment. 40,000 homes are projected to be 
built, and whole new communities will exist in 2036 
that don’t exist today. All the city’s communities – 
new and old – will need to be well-planned and well-
connected, with access to employment, great public 
services, retail and green spaces. Growth will bring 
increasing pressure on the city’s transport, energy and 
water infrastructures and investment, innovation and 
changing behaviours will be needed to ensure that its 
impact can be managed in a resilient way.

Deprivation and growth will put pressure on the city’s 
public services.  Living in poverty leads to poorer 
health, lower pay, higher crime and greater pressures 
on public services at a time of reducing budgets.  The 
city’s growth will not be evenly spread across ages 
and demographics, with the number of young people 
and older people expected to rise significantly, two 
groups who rely more than others on public services.  
Responding to these pressures at a time of continued 
financial austerity has been, and will continue to be, a 
major challenge for the city’s public and community 
services.  

8 9

P
age 111



The Public Service 
Challenge
Over the years ahead, public services will need to 
adapt and respond to the rapid growth in population, 
the demands and changing expectations of citizens, 
the consequences of poverty and significant and 
ongoing resource constraints.  To make sure that 
the city’s public services are fit for the future they 
will need to be characterised by the following five 
principles or ways of working:

Delivering today, looking to tomorrow: Public 
services are already being reformed in response to 
the long term challenges facing the city and they 
will need to continue to change over the years 
ahead, sometimes radically. Cardiff PSB will oversee 
crucial areas of public service reform today, whilst 
making sure its eyes are on the horizon, leading the 
changes that will ensure that public services are fit 
for the future.  

Preventing problems before they happen: Across a 
range of services we will place a focus on intervening 
early, addressing the root causes and aiming to, 
wherever possible, prevent problems before they 
happen.  This will mean identifying and working 
with vulnerable children and families to put in place 
the support they need at the earliest possible stage, 
way before crisis point is reached; it will mean 
working to keep people independent and healthy 
in their own homes and communities for as long as 
possible; and it will mean working to tackle poverty 
and create a more inclusive city, where all citizens 
feel able to contribute to and benefit from the city’s 
success.  

Joining-up our public services: No public service 
can meet the challenges they face alone.  Whether 
it be through delivering efficiencies through sharing 
buildings and back-office functions or supporting 
some of the city’s most vulnerable people, public 
services will need to work in ever closer partnership.  
This will mean accelerating community based 
collaboration through Community and Well-being 
hubs, bringing together public and third sector 
services under one roof in the communities that 
are in greatest need, and joining-up our services so 
that public and third sector employees are working 
together as one team to ensure the right support is 
provided in the right way, at the right time.  

People Power: Keeping our communities safe, 
hitting our sustainable transport targets or looking 
after our most vulnerable people cannot be 
achieved by the public services alone.  We will look 
to strike a new deal with citizens and communities 
so that local solutions are developed in partnership 
with local people involving people and communities 
in the decisions that affect them.

One Cardiff: PSB members are committed to 
working towards the common goals and objectives 
set out in this plan, complemented by our respective 
strategic plans and our work with Cardiff’s 
communities. In everything that we do, the PSB will 
work to make Cardiff a more prosperous, resilient, 
healthy, just and inclusive city.  A capital city that 
works for Wales.  

10 11

P
age 112



A Capital City that 
Works for Wales

Well-being Objective 1

12 13

P
age 113



Introduction
Cardiff is the economic, political and cultural capital of Wales. 
As well as playing a vital role in creating jobs and attracting 
investment into Wales, it is the home of Welsh sport, politics, 
music and the arts, hosting major international sporting and 
cultural events, and provides specialist public services for the 
people of the wider Capital Region.  

A successful Wales needs a successful capital city.  Looking 
to the future we will work together to make sure that Cardiff 
continues to attract and deliver major sporting and cultural 
events, tourists, investment, businesses and students in to 
Wales and to position Cardiff as a capital city of international 
significance in a post-Brexit global economy. 

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
Resilient

Wales

A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A 
healthier 

Wales

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Cardiff is the economic powerhouse of Wales, playing 
a vital role in creating jobs and attracting investment, 
providing cultural and leisure opportunities and 
‘national’ public services to the people of the Capital 
Region and Wales.  

It has not always been this way.  Cardiff has been 
reinvented over the past quarter of a century.  In 
response to deindustrialisation, a programme of 
major urban regeneration projects from Cardiff Bay 
to the redevelopment of Central Square, have helped 
raise Cardiff’s international profile and reposition 
the city as a great place to visit and an even better 
place to live and study. The 2017 UEFA Champions 
League Final underlined the extent to which Cardiff 
is now positioned as a front ranking European Capital 
City.  The city economy is also demonstrating strong 
performance across a number of headline indicators, 
with jobs growth up, unemployment down, visitor 
numbers up and growth in the number of new 
companies created.  

That said, Cardiff’s total economic output (GVA) – 
what we could think of as the city’s ‘GDP’ – although 
much higher than other parts of Wales, compares 
relatively poorly to the top performing major 

British cities and is significantly behind European 
comparators.  Furthermore, while jobs are being 
created in the city economy – over 20,000 in recent 
years alone - there are not enough ‘high value’, well 
paid jobs being created.  

Furthermore, after 10 years of continual growth in 
the years preceding the economic crash of 2008, 
economic output per capita – GVA per head - is only 
now returning to pre-crisis levels, and 25% of the 
city’s workforce currently earn less than the National 
Living Wage.  Together, these figures suggest 
that Cardiff, like other UK Core Cities, has its own 
‘productivity puzzle’ to solve.   

Cardiff is at the heart of the Cardiff Capital Region 
of 1.5 million people and makes up nearly a quarter 
(24%) of the city-region population.  The capital 
city is the economic engine of the city-region, with 
nearly two out of three net jobs created in South 
East Wales over the last ten years created in the city. 
Each day 90,000 people – or over 40% of the city’s 
200,000-strong workforce – commute into Cardiff.   
Across all aspects of life – from work, travel, leisure 
and public services - Cardiff’s impact can be felt way 
beyond the administrative boundaries of the local 
authority area.

14 15

Unemployment rate of the economically active population aged 16+ (model-based)

GVA per head

Gross Disposable Household Income per head (National Indicator 10)

Employee jobs with hourly pay below the living wage

Percentage of population aged 16-64 qualified NVQ4+ (degree level or equivalent)

Have you attended an arts event in the last year? Have visited an historic place in the last year? Have you visited 
a museum in the last year? (National Survey: 3 separate questions)

People who can speak Welsh (National Indicator 37)

City level outcome indicators that the PSB will seek to impact

P
age 114



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Strengthen Cardiff’s role as the economic, cultural capital city of Wales, supporting the development of the 
Capital Region and ensuring that the City Deal and the Cardiff Metro deliver for the people of Cardiff and Wales.

Seek to make sure that Cardiff has the funding and fiscal powers it needs to lead the Welsh economy and deliver 
capital city infrastructure and services on behalf of the people of Cardiff, the Capital Region and Wales.

Understand the impact of Brexit on Cardiff’s economy, public services and communities and develop the city’s 
response, including the shape of any successor programmes for European Funding streams in Wales.

Continue to deliver major events in the city, building on the success of the Champions League Final, in partnership 
with Welsh Government and the private sector.

Aim to double the number of Welsh speakers in Cardiff by 2050 through supporting the delivery of the Bilingual 
Cardiff Strategy.

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
Global trends indicate that cities will be where the 
majority of population and economic growth can be 
expected to take place in the 21st Century, and where 
new jobs, smart businesses and highly educated and 
skilled people will be increasingly concentrated. These 
trends are also evident in Wales, with the majority of 
the growth in new jobs and businesses in the Cardiff 
Capital Region taking place in the capital city.   Looking 
to the future, the capital city represents Wales’ 
strongest economic asset and best opportunity to 
secure economic success. In short, a successful Wales 
needs a successful capital city.

Cardiff’s development has over the last twenty 
years focused on improving quality of life, attracting 
talented people to live and work in the city, alongside 
a series of major investments in sports stadia and 
cultural venues, and the hosting of major national and 
international sporting and cultural events.  The city 
must continue to make the most of these economic 
assets, building on the success of the UEFA Champions 
League Final 2017 to attract more international events 
and visitors, while also promoting locally organised 
events which reflect Cardiff’s character and Wales’ 
cultural distinctiveness, and seeking to minimise 
the negative impact of major events on some local 
communities, businesses and the environment.

The city economy now needs to move up another 
gear.  In order to increase productivity, and to meet 
the long-term challenge of technological change and 
automation, this will mean a shift towards attracting 
and creating higher value businesses. Given the high 
skill levels and the presence of three universities in the 
city, the raw materials for making progress are there. 
The momentum seen in both the Central Square 
development and in Cardiff University’s Innovation 
System indicate that this shift is beginning to take 
place.   

Cardiff’s role as the economic power of the city-
region and its relationship with the surrounding 
local authorities, partners and populations must also 
continue to broaden and deepen in order to drive 
prosperity and tackle poverty in the capital city, the 
Valleys and Wales.  The Cardiff Capital Region City 
Deal, the associated delivery of the Cardiff Metro 
and the establishment of effective city-regional 
governance will be fundamentally important in 
delivering sustainable, inclusive economic growth, 
helping to create job opportunities, tackle congestion, 
reduce the city-region’s carbon footprint and address 
air pollution issues.  

For the last 200 years Cardiff has been the connecting 
point between Wales and the world.  Brexit has been 
projected to hit Cardiff harder than other UK cities 
and every other part of Wales.  In a post-Brexit Britain, 
Cardiff must continue to be the inclusive outward 
looking international city it always has been, bringing 
the best of the world to Wales, and taking the best 
Welsh industry and culture to the world.  

16 17

P
age 115



Cardiff grows in a 
resilient way 

Well-being Objective 2

18 19

P
age 116



Introduction
Cardiff is one of Britain’s fastest growing cities, and is by far 
the fastest growing local authority area in Wales.  Successful 
cities are those in which people want to live and this growth 
is welcomed and a sure sign of strength for the city. However, 
this growth will bring challenges too, putting pressure on 
both the city’s physical infrastructures, community cohesion, 
its natural environment and public services.  Managing the 
impacts of this population growth and of climate change in 
a resilient and sustainable fashion will be a major long term 
challenge for Cardiff. 

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
Resilient 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
Resilient 

Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
Resilient 

Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Over the last 10 years Cardiff’s population grew by 
12%, making it one of the fastest growing major 
British cities. This is set to continue. Over the next 20 
years, Cardiff is projected to grow significantly faster 
than any other Welsh local authority area and faster 
than all major cities apart from London.

This will put pressures on the city’s transport, energy 
and water infrastructures. Transport in Cardiff is 
currently dominated by private car journeys, with 
a relatively small percentage of commuters using 
public transport and lower levels of cycling and 
walking compared to a number of other core cities.

Furthermore, over 90,000 people travel in and out of 
Cardiff every day from neighbouring local authority 
areas, 80% of whom do so by car.

Travel within the city is one of the most important 
issues for Cardiff’s citizens, with 74% feeling that 
travel and transport problems in Cardiff are serious 
or very serious. The city’s reliance on cars also 
contributes to Cardiff’s carbon emissions being high 
compared to many other British cities, and some city 
centre wards – notably in some of the city’s most 
deprived communities – are particularly vulnerable to 
high levels of Nitrogen Dioxide pollution.

Cardiff’s green spaces are amongst its most 
important assets. Cardiff was awarded a record 11 
green flags for its parks in 2017 and nearly 80% of 
people are satisfied with our parks and open spaces, 
though access to green space varies across the city.

Access to the outdoors is one of the biggest factors 
which citizens identify as contributing to their well-
being. As well as providing a safe space for children to 
play and be active from an early age with long term 
benefits for physical and mental health, the natural 
environment contributes to strong and cohesive 
communities, providing a space for interaction and 
engagement and joint community activities such as 
gardening and growing food.

Cardiff’s ‘blue space’ – its waterways, rivers and 
drainage, and Cardiff Bay - is also a huge asset to 
the city, but as a city located on the banks of rivers 
and on the coast, Cardiff is inherently at future risk 
from flooding. Although a small percentage of houses 
in Cardiff are deemed to be at high risk of flooding, 
some communities are at risk and many of these in 
the city’s more deprived ‘Southern Arc.’

20 21

Per capita CO2 emissions (BEIS)

Sustainable transport modal split

Levels of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10, PM2.5) pollution levels in the air

Use of/proximity to accessible natural space:    
• Quality: Number of sites meeting Green Flag Award and Green Flag Community Award criteria.
• Accessibility: Percentage of people who live within walking distance of high quality green space.

No. of properties in Cardiff registered to NRW’s Flood Warning Service

Municipal waste reuse/recycling/composting rates

City level outcome indicators that the PSB will seek to impact

P
age 117



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Adopt an integrated approach to the planning and delivery of public services in the city’s new communities.  

Aim for 50% of all journeys in Cardiff to be by sustainable travel by supporting the development and delivery of 
the Cardiff Sustainable Transport Strategy.

Take a city-wide response to air pollution through supporting the development and delivery of a Cardiff Clean 
Air Strategy. 

Ensure that the city is prepared for extreme weather events associated with Climate Change, including raising 
awareness and encouraging behavioural change amongst residents, businesses and visitors to the city.

Seek to reduce the carbon footprint of the city’s public services by working to ensure that all public buildings are 
energy and waste efficient.

Explore the potential for divesting public investments from fossil fuel companies.

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
Cardiff’s growth will create major economic and 
cultural opportunities.  It will also put pressures on 
city infrastructures and public services.  Capitalising 
on the opportunity of growth and ensuring that its 
benefits are widely felt, whilst mitigating its effects, 
will define Cardiff’s development over the next 20 
years.

Cardiff’s Local Development Plan sets out that 
41,000 new homes will need to be built and 40,000 
new jobs created by 2026.  Whole new communities 
will soon be created that do not currently exist.  
Making sure that these communities are well-planned 
and well-connected, with easy access to public 
services, community facilities and green and blue 
spaces, will be a strategic priority.  

A shift to more sustainable forms of transport will be 
needed.  With growth, a 32% net increase in traffic, a 
20% increase in the numbers of people commuting 
to work is projected and an associated increase in 
journey times of approximately 41%, will put strain 
on already congested roads. A ’50:50 modal split’ 
will be needed by 2021 (50% of journeys to be by 
sustainable transport) and an even more challenging 
60:40 modal split by 2026.  Meeting these ambitious 
targets will require investment in public transport 
systems, cycling infrastructure and cleaner vehicles, 
alongside support for behaviour change, supported 
by major employers and public services.  Getting this 
right will provide a boost to the city economy, to 
quality of life overall and can be expected to bring 
major health benefits through increased levels of 
cycling and walking and improved air quality.

The consequences of climate change and extreme 
weather events, such as flooding and heatwaves, 
will need to be built in to all aspects of managing 
Cardiff’s future growth.  The risk of flooding, 
including both river and surface water flooding, 
for the city’s new communities and some of its 

most at risk and most deprived, will need to be 
mitigated, ensuring that buildings, infrastructure 
and key transport links are protected. Pressures, 
including degraded habitat and pressure on water 
quality from sewage, combined sewer overflows, 
misconnections and industrial estates, must also be 
managed as Cardiff grows.  With demand on energy 
infrastructures projected to outstrip all other major 
British cities, options for increasing localised energy 
production will need to be explored.

As the city grows it will create more waste.  Cardiff 
has a good track record for recycling and composting, 
with recycling increasing from 4% in 2001 to 58% in 
2017.  These improvements will need to be continued 
if Cardiff is to meet the Welsh Government targets 
of recycling 64% of waste by 2020, rising to 70% 
by 2025. Focus will need to be placed on minimising 
the waste produced in the first place, encouraging 
increased household and business recycling, and on 
the procurement of sustainable goods and services. 

Growth will also put pressure on the city’s social 
infrastructures, including schools, hospitals and GP 
practices. For example, the growth in the number of 
school age children will mean significant additional 
investment will be needed to build new schools and 
to refurbish and improve existing schools. Though 
Cardiff is a relatively young city, perhaps the most 
significant change will be the 75% growth in the 
number of people over 75.  Adopting an integrated, 
long term approach to planning and delivery of 
public services in the city’s new communities will 
therefore be a priority.

22 23

P
age 118



Safe, Confident 
and Empowered 
Communities 

Well-being Objective 3

24 25

P
age 119



Introduction
Safe, confident and empowered communities are at the heart 
of well-being. They have a unique role to play when it comes to 
much of what we most value – our environment, safety, welfare, 
health and happiness. Moreover, communities often possess 
the knowledge, skills, passion, creativity and an understanding 
of the local area that service providers simply do not have. 
Ensuring that local communities are safe and empowered is 
therefore a fundamental component of a successful city.

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Cardiff has a long history of being an open city with 
strong and diverse communities. With 15% of the 
city’s population from a non-white background and 
over 100 languages spoken in the city, it is already 
by far the most diverse local authority area in Wales, 
and with a third of the city’s school population 
now coming from a non-white British background, 
it will be even more diverse in the future.  These 
changing demographics will add to the city’s cultural 
diversity and vibrancy, but a continued focus on 
community cohesion - the sense of belonging 
felt by communities, and the strong and positive 
relationships within them – will become more 
and more important as major international issues 
like Brexit, climate change, global migration and 
terrorism have a local impact.  

Cardiff has a strong foundation to build on in 
terms of civic engagement with just over a quarter 
of people in Cardiff participating in some form 
of volunteering, through charities, youth groups, 
environmental and faith groups. Volunteering makes 
communities more resilient, helping people gain 
confidence, learn skills and give back to those around 
them, benefiting community cohesion.  It also 
improves people’s ability to cope with ill-health and 
encourages healthy lifestyles.

There are also high levels of interest in influencing 
key decisions that affect the city as a whole. Although 
Cardiff saw an average turnout of 43.6% across its 
wards at the 2017 Welsh Local Elections, there was a 
70.4% turnout for the UK General Election a month 
later and a 69.7% turnout for the EU Referendum 

in 2016. In the context of austerity and decisions 
such as Brexit and local government reform, it is 
increasingly important that people have their say and 
at the local level have the opportunities to play a role 
in their communities.    

Cardiff is a safe city.  Taking into account population 
growth, overall crime has fallen by 29% over the last 
10 years.  Put simply, Cardiff residents are a third 
less likely to be the victim of crime than a decade 
ago.  There has not, however, been an equivalent 
fall in fear of crime. Residents do not feel confident 
that they, their families and their communities 
are safe. Women are less likely to feel safe in their 
communities compared to men, and residents in 
Cardiff East and disabled people are amongst those 
least likely to believe Cardiff is a safe city.  And while 
Cardiff is safe for the overwhelming majority, a small 
number of people – particularly children and women 
– are subject to abuse, violence and exploitation, 
with, for example, a significantly higher number of 
domestic related offences recorded in Cardiff South 
West and Cardiff South East.  

Cardiff is home to one of Wales’ five prisons and 
around half of all crime across the UK is committed 
by people who have already been through the 
Criminal Justice System.  Cardiff’s reoffending rate 
of 32.8% in 2015 stands higher than the Welsh 
average, and that of most other ‘Core Cities’.   The 
cost of this reoffending to the public is estimated to 
be between £9.5 and £13 billion per year across the 
UK. The impact of reoffending can be destructive and 
long-term, affecting not only victims of crime and 
their families as well as the wider community, but 
also the offender and their family. 

Safe, confident and empowered communities 
are at the heart of well-being

26 27

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A 
Resilient

Wales

People agreeing that they belong to the area; that people from different backgrounds get on well together; and 
that people treat each other with respect  (National Indicator 27)

Percentage able to influence decisions affecting their local area (National Survey)

People feeling safe (at home, walking in the local area, and travelling) (National Survey)

Proportion of offenders who reoffend (adults and juveniles) overall in previous 12 months  

Percentage of clients accessing substance misuse services who reported an improvement in their quality of life

Rates of volunteering

City level outcome indicators that the PSB will seek to impact

P
age 120



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Invest in and involve communities in the delivery of integrated, locally-based public and third sector services in 
Community and Wellbeing Hubs.

Give people a greater voice in shaping public services through developing and delivering co-created Community 
Development and Involvement Plan/s.

Promote volunteering and social action, including development of a city volunteering portal.

Protect our most vulnerable citizens, adopting integrated approaches to tackling trafficking, child sexual 
exploitation and domestic abuse. 

Tackle radicalisation in our communities by building cohesion and trust, and promoting an environment where 
people have the confidence to report extremist behaviour.

Reduce offending and improve life opportunities for the 18-25 age group by developing an integrated, locally-
focussed, approach to offender management.

Reduce levels of drug use and substance misuse and levels of reoffending,  and improve levels of sustained, long-
term recovery, through delivering a jointly commissioned substance misuse and recovery support network of 
services.

Make sure that newcomers from the UK and overseas are welcomed and can build new lives in Cardiff, including 
delivering the ‘Inclusive Cities’ project.

Deliver a safe and vibrant night time economy, working in partnership with the Business Improvement District. 

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
Early intervention and prompt, positive action is at 
the heart of building safe, confident and resilient 
communities, and is crucial to reducing demand 
on all our public services.  Local communities often 
possess the knowledge, skills, energy and creativity 
– alongside an understanding of the local areas - 
that service providers simply do not have.  It is vital 
therefore that public services listen to, understand, 
and respond to each community’s story.  

Empowering communities and making public services 
resilient will require a new approach to ‘locality 
working’. The new approach will be centred on 
joining-up community services, coordinating spatial 
development and maximising the impact of public 
investment. This will mean increasingly joining up 
public services ‘on the ground’, with the co-location 
of statutory and third sector teams and the creation 
of joint systems and cultures. This will need to be  
backed up by the pooling of available resources, 
so that all public and third sector employees, from 
teachers and police officers to health practitioners, 
community and youth workers are operating as part 
of one team to make sure that the right service is 
delivered at the right time, in the right way, with 
solutions found well before the point of crisis is 
reached, or emergency services are needed. 

Every community has differing demographics, 
strengths and weaknesses and so public services will 
need to be designed so that they reflect and respond 
to these differences guided by the best evidence.  
It will mean being more focused about when and 
where services are delivered, dependent on the 
specific needs of each area,  and pursuing prevention 
wherever possible, with local solutions developed in 
partnership with local people and between public, 
third and private sectors.  It will also involve engaging 
communities on health improvement approaches 
to address health inequality and working with the 
Third Sector to provide increased volunteering 
opportunities and support for social enterprise 
through community involvement plans. 

This will not only support the delivery of community 
services but will also empower individuals to 
take steps to play a role in the well-being of their 
communities.  

The foundations for this approach are already 
in place, with community based collaboration 
exemplified by the community and wellbeing hubs.  
The hubs bring together public and third sector 
advice and support services so that they are all under 
one roof in the heart of some of the city’s most 
deprived communities.  

In order to protect the city’s most vulnerable citizens 
and communities a joined-up approach, across the 
public and third sectors, and with communities and 
families, will be needed. Tackling human trafficking, 
child sexual exploitation, domestic abuse and the 
illegal trading of drugs will require early intervention 
and prompt positive action, across public and 
community services, to give people the support they 
need, when they need it. Similarly, countering the 
threat of all forms of radicalisation and extremism 
can only be achieved by working in close partnership 
with organisations and communities, building trust 
and promoting an environment where people have 
the confidence to report extremist behaviour. Cardiff 
will nurture community cohesion and understanding, 
where individuals have the opportunity to connect 
and become engaged with its diverse communities.

Significant progress has been made in reducing the 
number of first-time entrants into the criminal justice 
system.  However, the success of the prevention 
programmes and the reduction in custody rates 
means that there is a much more complex, but 
smaller, cohort of young people being managed 
in the community, who require the most intensive 
interventions.  If their offending and re-offending 
is to be addressed and their safeguarding is to be 
achieved, a coordinated and effective  response to 
emerging issues across the city, such as Child Sexual 
Exploitation, organised crime and exploitation,  knife 
crime and anti-social behaviour will be needed.

28 29

P
age 121



Cardiff is a great 
place to grow up 

Well-being Objective 4

30 31

P
age 122



Introduction
Cardiff is already a good place for many of its children 
and young people to grow up, with a fast improving school 
system alongside the advantages that a capital city can bring 
such as an extensive range of leisure, sporting and cultural 
opportunities.  However, the inequality evident in Cardiff can 
have a profound effect on the lives of children and young 
people and their families, and children who are disadvantaged 
- whether through disability, poverty, family circumstances, 
illness, neglect or abuse - will require particular help and support 
from across the public and third sector services and from within 
their communities.

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Cardiff is already a good place for many of its 
children and young people to grow up.  In particular, 
young people identify the city’s good health services, 
its low crime, strong inclusive communities and the 
access to green spaces, sports, leisure and culture as 
some of the great things about living in the capital 
city.  

Education is consistently ranked as the top priority 
for the city’s young people, and a child’s experience 
of education is one of the most important factors 
that impacts on their life chances and future well-
being.  Performance in the city’s school system is now 
improving after years of underperformance.  GCSE 
performance continues to improve with 62.5% of 
pupils in Cardiff in 2015/16 achieving at least five A* 
to C grades, including mathematics and English or 
Welsh, an increase of 12.6 percentage points over the 
last four academic years.  

Although Cardiff is the commercial heart of the 
Welsh economy and contains many of the nation’s 
most prosperous communities, over a quarter of 
dependent children under the age of 20 in the city 
are living in poverty, ranging from just 5.2% in 
Rhiwbina to almost half of those in Ely.  Growing 
up in poverty can have a detrimental impact on a 
child’s future prospects and well-being; and a child’s 
experiences at an early age, prior to entering school, 
can lead to delayed development in language, 
emotional and social skills and poor general health.  

As is the case nationally, there is a significant gap 
in educational outcomes between pupils from 
low-income families and those from more affluent 
backgrounds in Cardiff.  Children living in the most 
deprived communities are also more likely to suffer 
poorer health outcomes today and demonstrate 
symptoms which point towards poor health in the 
future, such as obesity, low immunisation rates or 
poor dental health.  They are also more likely to 
have feelings of isolation, be drawn into anti-social 
behaviour, young offending or suffer the effects of 
crime.  Evidence suggests that children from low-
income families are also more likely to be at risk 
of Adverse Childhood Experiences and the rates 
of children considered to be at risk, being placed 
on the child protection register, or taken into care, 
are significantly higher in the city’s most deprived 
communities.

32 33

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A 
Resilient

Wales

Percentage of children in low-income families

Percentage of children aged 4 to 5 who are a healthy weight

Uptake of MMR2 by age 4 (second dose Mumps, Measles, Rubella vaccine)

Mental well-being: children & young adults and adults (National Indicator 29)

Key Stage 2 Pupils Achieving the Expected Level (L4+) in the Core Subject Indicator 
[including FSM v non-FSM attainment gap at LA level]

Key Stage 4 Pupils Achieving the Level 2+ Threshold including English/Welsh & Maths 
[including FSM v non-FSM attainment gap at LA level]

Year 11 and Year 13 school leavers that are not in education, employment or training (Careers Wales)

Percentage of children cycling/walking to school

City level outcome indicators that the PSB will seek to impact

P
age 123



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Place the voice and experience of young people at the heart of public services in Cardiff through adopting a 
Child’s Rights approach and becoming a UNICEF ‘Child Friendly City.’

Adopt a ‘Think Family’ approach, making sure that public services are joined up and that children and families are 
given the right support, in the right way, at the right time in the first 1000 days of a child’s life.  

Develop placed-based approaches to integrating public services for children and families in the city’s most 
deprived communities through a ‘Children First’ pilot in Ely and Caerau.

Develop innovative approaches to identifying those at risk of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), putting in 
place multi-agency response to support children and families before they reach crisis point.

Work with communities and across partners in the public and private sector to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation.

Improve mental health and emotional well-being for young people by delivering an integrated approach to 
Children and Young People Emotional and Mental Health Support.

Support young disabled people and their families through the delivery of the Disabilities Future programme.

Make sure young people are prepared for and given opportunities to participate in the world of work through delivery 
of the ‘Cardiff Commitment’, in partnership with the private and third sector. 

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
The number of young people (under 18s) in Cardiff is 
projected to increase by 25% over the next 20 years, 
compared to an all-Wales increase of 0.8%.   It will 
therefore be increasingly important to make sure that 
young people feel able to influence decisions about 
where they live and the services that they receive.  
That is why Cardiff is committed to becoming a 
UNICEF Child Friendly City and to embedding a Child 
Rights approach across all aspects of city life.   

Education remains the top priority for young people 
in Cardiff, the most vital investment into the city’s 
economy and the surest route out of poverty for 
individuals. That is why the city is committed to 
building on the progress of recent years to make sure 
that every school in Cardiff is a good or excellent 
school, and that the gap in educational outcomes, 
particularly for vulnerable young people and those 
from more deprived communities, is reduced.   

Projections indicate an increase of 5,700 (18%) 
in the number of primary school age pupils, and 
an increase of over 9,000 (37%) in the number 
of secondary school age pupils by 2036. With 
Cardiff’s existing school system operating at or 
near full capacity, significant investment will be 
needed to build new schools and to refurbish and 
improve existing accommodation. Given the scale 
of the investment and importance of schools in 
communities, they must be at the heart of the city’s 
approach to community life, with strong links to 
other public services to local people and community 
groups. And as the economy changes - 65% of 
children entering schools today will end up working 
in new job types that do not exist yet - links to local 
businesses will become increasingly important to 
making sure that young people are equipped with 
flexible and transferrable skills and the experience 
they need to find a good job, develop a good career 
and succeed in life.

Young people tell us that mental health support is 
one of their top priorities.  The stresses of doing well 
at school, securing employment and the influence 
that social media can have on their self-esteem 
are key concerns.  Supporting young people to fulfil 
their potential and to be resilient to the pressures 
of modern life will play a central role in maintaining 
their sense of well-being.

Parents have the most significant influence on 
children and for their future lives. Outcomes for 
children are best when they are supported to grow 
and achieve within their own families, as they know 
them best.  In all cases, we will adopt a ‘Think Family’ 
approach which looks at the family as a whole and 
co-ordinates support across the public services, 
tailored to each families’ needs and strengths. Public 
and Third Sector partners including teachers, health 
practitioners, Social Workers, Youth Workers, Third 
Sector practitioners, early years practitioners and 
play workers will work together to deliver joined up 
approaches to enable the right conversations to take 
place at the right time, between the right people 
and for solutions to be found at the earliest possible 
stage, particularly for the most vulnerable children 
and families.

The identification and protection of vulnerable 
children needs to be everybody’s business.  Within 
our local communities we want individuals to feel 
empowered to identify where they feel a child is at 
risk – this may be a shop keeper asked to serve a child 
cigarettes for their parents, or refuse collectors who 
identify broken bottles and rubbish next to well used 
children’s toys – raising concerns that may not be 
picked up through the provision of universal services 
for families.

34 35

P
age 124



Supporting people 
out of poverty 

Well-being Objective 5

36 37

P
age 125



Introduction
Cardiff’s strong performance across a range of well-being 
indicators, disguises deep and entrenched inequalities across 
the city.  Over 60,000 people in Cardiff live in the 10% most 
deprived communities in Wales.  If the ‘Southern Arc’ of Cardiff, 
from Ely in the West to Trowbridge in the East, was considered 
a single local authority area it would be the most deprived in 
Wales by a considerable margin.  

Living in poverty can cast a long shadow over people’s lives 
– life expectancy and other health indicators are lower in the 
more deprived wards of Cardiff, air quality is poorer, there is 
less access to green space and crime in the city is concentrated 
in these areas.  How to ensure that all citizens benefit from the 
capital city’s economic growth is one of the most complex and 
challenging issues facing Cardiff over the years to come.

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A 
Resilient

Wales

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Cardiff has been reinvented over the past 20 years.  
Despite the jobs created and the investment attracted, 
the proceeds of economic growth have not been 
felt by all of the city’s residents and many of the 
poorest communities in Wales can be found in its 
capital city.  Almost a third of Cardiff households are 
living in poverty, with a high proportion of children 
living in workless and low-income households and 
concentrations of unemployment and in-work 
poverty closely aligning with poor health, crime and 
educational inequalities across the city.

In-work poverty is a growing problem in the city.  
Around a quarter of people in employment earn 
less than the National Living Wage, and casual 
employment, enforced self-employment, zero-hours 
contracts and other forms of insecure work mean 
constant stress and worry for an increasing number of 
people.   

Childcare issues (low availability and affordability), lack 
of skills (especially digital skills) and the inflexibility of 
the welfare system all create barriers to work, while 
Welfare Reform can have a disproportionate impact on 
more vulnerable sectors of the population, with 72% of 
households affected by the benefit cap in Cardiff being 
lone parents and an average of 3.3 children in affected 
households.  

Over 50% of respondents to the 2016 Ask Cardiff 
Survey reported being concerned with being able to 
afford a decent standard of living.  Rising housing, 
food and fuel prices have increased the cost of living, 
particularly for people living in the poorer wards in the 
city.   Fuel poverty is a growing issue as is food poverty, 
and residents including older people affected by these 
issues often have to make the choice between ‘heat 
or eat’.  The social impacts of this are evident from the 
Ask Cardiff survey where over 13% of respondents did 
not feel they were able to invite a friend or a child’s 
friend over for a meal due to money worries. Rising 
levels of Foodbank usage also highlight the frequency 
with which individuals and families are falling into 

financial crisis affecting their ability to maintain a 
healthy diet for themselves and their families.  The 
school holidays are a particular crunch point for low-
income families.  Cardiff’s School Holiday Enrichment 
Programme ‘Food and Fun’, which has been rolled out 
across Wales, now provides free meals to children from 
21 local schools.    

Housing, a central component of quality of life, remains 
relatively unaffordable compared to other major British 
cities with the average house costing around eight 
times the average salary.  Furthermore, there is a close 
correlation between wards containing high levels of 
deprivation and high levels of social housing.  Along 
with the rise in the number of people living in poverty, 
the rise in those facing destitution and homelessness 
is one of the most pressing issues in Cardiff, with the 
number of those recorded sleeping rough having 
doubled since 2014.   Sleeping rough is dangerous and 
can damage people’s lives permanently - the average 
life expectancy of a rough sleeper is just 47 years 
of age, which is 30 years younger than the general 
population.  Furthermore, the longer an individual 
remains on the streets, the more likely that secondary 
issues such as begging, drugs or alcohol misuse can 
become an issue.  

The 2017 Ask Cardiff survey revealed disparities 
between the most and least deprived areas of the 
city across a range of questions in terms of well-being, 
including: 

• 51.3% of respondents from the most deprived areas 
reported being satisfied with their local community as 
a place to live compared with 91.3% of respondents 
from the least deprived areas.

• Over a quarter of respondents from deprived 
communities reported they were dissatisfied with 
their mental and emotional health compared with 
under a tenth of respondents from the least deprived 
areas.

• People living in the most deprived areas of the city 
scored below the Cardiff average against all the 
personal well-being indicators measured (levels 
of happiness, satisfaction, anxiety and feeling 
worthwhile).

38 39

Percentage of households in poverty (i.e. below 60% of median income) by MSOA  (after housing costs)

Long-term (i.e. over 12 months) JSA Claimants

Healthy life expectancy at birth (male & female) including the gap between the least and most deprived (National 
Indicator 2)

Percentage of low birth weight babies (National Indicator 1)

Percentage of adults eating 5 or more portions of fruit and vegetables a day

Percentage of adults active for less than 30 minutes in a week

Percentage of adults who are current smokers

Housing Affordability: Ratio of house price to median gross annual salary (ONS)

Rough sleepers per 10,000 persons

Food poverty (indicator to be defined)

Fuel poverty (indicator to be defined)

City level outcome indicators that the PSB will seek to impact

P
age 126



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Aim to provide more well-paid jobs in Cardiff through acting as an advocate for the Real Living Wage initiative 
across the public, private and third sector employers, and including its consideration in commissioning and 
funding decisions.

Support people who are adversely affected by welfare reform by providing an integrated approach, locally 
delivered in Community and Well-being Hubs.

Develop an integrated approach to employment services in Cardiff, helping people to find work, stay in work and 
progress at work, working in partnership with Welsh Government, DWP and training providers.

Ensure that the Welsh Government’s flagship anti-poverty programmes (Communities First Exit Plans, Families 
First, Flying Start and Supporting People) are designed and delivered in a co-ordinated way. 

Seek to end rough sleeping in the city and tackle the causes of homelessness. 

Seek to increase the impact of public services as anchor employers on tackling poverty and promoting ‘fair work’ 
practices by developing cross-public service approaches to ‘Social Responsibility’, ‘Community Benefits’ and 
‘Ethical Employment’.

Support a city wide Food Partnership to ensure citizens have access to sustainable, healthy and affordable food, 
including the continued roll out of the school holiday enrichment programme.

Undertake additional research on how best to tackle health inequalities and reduce the healthy life expectancy gap.

Work to support delivery of Cardiff’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy to increase participation of current and 
future generations in sport and physical activities, particularly in our city’s most deprived communities.

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
An economy which creates good jobs, paying at or 
above the Living Wage, is vital to tackling poverty.  
Equally, tackling poverty is vital to creating a strong 
economy.  A recent study by Core Cities has shown 
that while around 60% of the ‘productivity gap’ 
between the Core Cities and the UK average is due 
to ‘in-work’ factors, which can be addressed by 
investment in transport infrastructure, broadband, 
research and innovation and business support, 
around 40% of this gap is due to deprivation, low 
skills’ levels, and people being disengaged from the 
labour market.  

A focus on creating good jobs must therefore go 
hand in hand with effectively removing the barriers 
to work – whatever they may be and for all citizens.   
Supporting adults into employment will also help 
future generations; children who see their parents in 
employment have an increased chance of working 
themselves, reducing the likelihood of poverty 
affecting multiple generations within a family.  This 
will require continuing to support those affected 
by Welfare Reform as the transition to Universal 
Credit is rolled out, while joining-up a currently 
fragmented approach to employability across the 
city, and ensuring that regeneration schemes, major 
projects and fast growing sectors are supported by 
appropriate skills and training programmes.  

Tackling entrenched disadvantage, physical and 
mental health inequality and narrowing the gap 
in life chances across the city will mean adopting 
targeted approaches to tackling poverty, integrating 
public services at a local level and working 
closely with residents in the city’s most deprived 
communities. Cardiff’s emerging locality approach, 
which joins-up public services at a local level in a way 
that makes sense for each particular community, 
building on the success of the Community and 

Wellbeing Hub Model, will be the heart of the city’s 
approach to tackling poverty. Allied to this, the 
reform of the Welsh Government’s flagship anti-
poverty programmes provides an opportunity to 
remove unnecessary barriers and reimagine them in 
a coordinated and cohesive way, with the flexibility 
to respond to individual families and communities 
strengths and challenges.

Developing a joined up approach to those who have 
fallen into destitution will require close partnership 
working.  There is a strong overlap between more 
extreme forms of homelessness and other support 
needs, with nearly half of service users reporting 
experience of institutional care, substance misuse 
and street activities such as begging.  Furthermore, 
people with complex needs are at serious risk of 
falling through the cracks in service provision.  An 
integrated response across health, housing and social 
care will be needed, working with the city’s regional 
partners towards an approach that intervenes early in 
response to the needs and challenges faced by each 
individual.

Public services in Cardiff employ nearly 46,000 
people and contribute over £1bn of spend in the 
local economy. In addition to delivering vital public 
services, as major employers they also have the 
potential to make an impact on tackling poverty by 
creating opportunities for people, particularly young 
people, from Cardiff’s most deprived communities 
(for example, via the Cardiff Commitment) or 
through adapting procurement policies to deliver a 
greater amount of community benefits and increase 
spend in the local economy.

40 41

P
age 127



Cardiff is a great 
place to grow older 

Well-being Objective 6

42 43

P
age 128



Introduction
How a society treats people as they get older reflects its 
values and principles, and sends an important message to 
future generations.  Cardiff’s ambition is for the city to be 
a great place to grow older, where older people are more 
empowered, healthy and happy, supported by excellent public 
and community services and integrated within all areas of 
community life. 

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
Resilient 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
Resilient 

Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
Resilient 

Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Although Cardiff is a young city, over 50,000 citizens 
are over the age of 65 years old and life expectancy 
and healthy life expectancy has increased steadily 
over the last 20 years.  Looking across Cardiff, a 
greater number of older people live in the North and 
West of the city.  For example, in Cardiff North, 19% 
of the population are over the age of 65 and 3% 
over the age of 85, compared to only 6.3% over 65 
and 0.9% over 85 in Cardiff South East.  

The majority of older people in Cardiff (68%) report 
being in good, very good or excellent health, higher 
than the Welsh average.   That said, increased life 
expectancy has meant a greater number of people 
suffering from ill health in later life and relying ever 
more on public services.  Older people are more likely 
to require longer and more frequent stays in hospital, 
with nearly two thirds of people currently admitted 
to hospital over the age of 65.  Frailty is commonly 
associated with aging.  People who are frail, often 
have complex medical conditions, have a lower ability 
for independent living and require assistance with 
everyday tasks.  In particular, falls leading to hip 
fractures place considerable pressures on health and 
social care services.   

Increased life expectancy has also meant that 
more older people are vulnerable to social isolation 
and living in poverty in older age.  The creation of 
the Independent Living Service has been crucial 
in helping older people to access the financial 
support to which they are entitled (equivalent 
to an additional £4.9 million in welfare benefits 
since October 2015) and facilitating preventative 
interventions to reduce slips, trips and falls. Important 
support services and advice are also being provided 
through third sector organisations across Cardiff, 
such as Age Connects and Care & Repair.

Current demand pressures and costs associated with 
an aging population are significant, and show no sign 
of reducing.  Finding solutions to these long-term 
challenges will mean public services working in ever 
closer partnership to help older people stay safe, as 
healthy and independent as possible, and to lead 
lives that have value, meaning and purpose. 

Cardiff’s ambition … where older people 
are more empowered, healthy and happy

44 45

Percentage of people aged 65+ who reported their general health as being very good or good

Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they felt involved in any decisions made about their care and support

Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they received the right information or advice when they needed it

Percentage  of people aged 65+ reporting they live in the right home for them

Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting loneliness

Life satisfaction among older people

City level outcome indicators that the PSB will seek to impact

P
age 129



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Building on the First Point of Contact and Single Point of Access services, further develop digital services along 
with easily accessible telephone, online and face-to-face access points for the region, for both professionals and 
the public.

Develop resilient communities with local services, infrastructure and strong community networks to meet local 
needs where older people live.

Develop and provide a range of future accommodation options to meet demand and enable people to remain at 
home for as long as possible.

Develop improved assessment, diagnosis and care planning practices which are built upon genuine collaboration 
with older people and their carers and families, so that their plan reflects what is important to them and achieves 
the outcomes they seek.

Develop Cardiff as a dementia friendly city.

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
As the city grows, and life expectancy continues to 
increase, the number of older people living in Cardiff 
is projected to rise significantly, with the number of 
citizens between 65 and 84 projected to rise by 44% 
over the next 20 years, and the number over 85 years 
old expected to nearly double.  

Older people will increasingly become an important 
asset to the city, making a significant contribution to 
the economy, the life of the city and its communities.  
As the city grows, it will also be important that 
new communities are designed in a way that 
accommodates the needs of older people. This will 
need joint planning and provision of a range of 
future accommodation options to meet the demand 
for housing and enable people to remain at home.

In order to tackle social isolation and loneliness, 
local communities need to have accessible, local 
and strong community networks to support the 
needs of older people where they live. This will be a 
prominent feature in Cardiff’s approach to ‘locality 
working’ and, as the city grows, in designing and 
delivering new communities.  Enabling older people 
to play a role in their communities, developing 
intergenerational services and improving access 
to community activities can dramatically improve 
physical and mental health, reducing the risk of falls 
and helping more people enjoy independent lives for 
longer. 

A growing older population will also have increased 
health and care needs, placing pressure on budgets 
and resources.  As well as demands on services due to 
frailty in older age and long-term medical conditions, 
an increasing number of older people will suffer from 
chronic health issues, such as dementia.  The number 
of people with dementia aged over 75 years old is 
predicted to rise significantly.  By 2035 it is predicted 
that over 6000 people in Cardiff will be living with the 
condition, up from 3400 today.

To reduce the pressure on public services at a time 
of reducing budgets, adopting a preventative 
approach will be of central importance. Accelerating 
the integration of services for older people, joining 
up our resources and services at a community level, 
will make sure that as many people as possible 
are able to receive care in their communities 
whilst investment is focused into prevention and 
promoting independent living. This is not only a more 
sustainable approach to meeting an individual’s 
needs in later life, reducing pressures and costs on 
the city’s health and care services, it will also deliver 
better health outcomes.

Being an age-friendly and dementia friendly city 
will mean adapting its structures and services to 
be accessible to and inclusive of older people with 
varying needs and capacities. This means ensuring 
that policies and programmes of work that focus on 
the needs of older citizens, particularly those who 
are most disadvantaged, are central to the work of 
service providers.  Assessment, diagnosis and care 
planning practices will require genuine collaboration 
with older people, their carers and their families, so 
that their plan reflects what is important to them and 
achieves the outcomes they value.

P
age 130



Modernising and 
Integrating Our 
Public Services 

Well-being Objective 7

48 49

P
age 131



Introduction
Public services in Cardiff are undergoing a period of rapid 
change.  Over the years ahead they will need to continue 
to adapt in response to the rapid growth in population, the 
changing expectations of citizens, the consequences of poverty 
and significant and ongoing resource constraints. 

No single service can meet the challenges they face alone. 
New, integrated approaches to service delivery will be 
needed, characterised by a drive to break down and reshape 
organisational boundaries, systems and cultures around the 
needs of those receiving the service and the communities in 
which they live. Service providers in Cardiff have a strong track 
record of working together, but this now needs to go up a gear 
to create a culture of one public service with one purpose - to 
deliver for the people of Cardiff.

A globally 
responsible 

Wales

A 
prosperous 

Wales

A 
healthier 

Wales
A more 
equal 
Wales

A Wales of 
cohesive 

communi�es

A 
Resilient

Wales

A Wales of 
vibrant culture 

and thriving 
Welsh 

Language

Measuring Progress:

Cardiff Today
Public services in Cardiff are experiencing a period of 
unprecedented challenge.

The city’s public services have faced a period of 
continued and severe budget reductions.  For 
example, over the past 10 years, Cardiff Council alone 
has made a quarter of a billion pounds in cumulative 
savings, reduced the number of non-school staff by 
22% and anticipates having to make a further £81m 
in savings by 2021. This is a situation mirrored across 
public services, with the health service, police and 
fire all having made substantial savings and facing 
ongoing budget reductions. Aligned with this, third 
sector organisations across the city have dealt with 
financial cutbacks as the available grant funding has 
reduced and eligibility criteria tighten. 

At the same time, the city’s services are facing a 
period of rapid and sustained increases in demand. 
In response, public services in the city have been 
changing.  Recent years have seen a shift towards 
increased collaboration and integration of services 
at a community level, including the co-location of 
services within community facilities or Hubs and 
introducing multi-agency teams to make sure that 
the right service is provided at the right time, by the 
most appropriate organisation and in the right way. 

Similarly, many of the issues facing Cardiff and its 
services – from transport to homelessness - reach 
across geographical boundaries.  Increasingly 
projects and initiatives are undertaken on a cross-
boundary basis, for example the Shared Regulatory 
Service Partnerships between Cardiff, Bridgend and 
the Vale, the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal which 
encompasses 10 local authorities or the Project 
Gwyrdd collaboration on waste services. As public 
services move to modernise and drive efficiency, 
the need for regional collaboration will become 
increasingly important in delivering economies 
of scale, particularly for ‘back office’ and shared 
services. 

Citizen expectations, allied to rapid changes in digital 
technology, are already transforming the delivery 
models for local public services. People now expect 
digital public services that are indistinguishable from 
other services they access, and so this digitalisation 
will need to accelerate over the years ahead. All 
public services are already seeking to automate 
processes, shift customer transactions and services 
into online channels of communication and use 
‘smart’ technologies to manage services and 
infrastructure more efficiently, while ensuring that 
‘digital exclusion’ does not occur for residents unable 
to access services in this way.

50 51

To what extent do you agree that the quality of public services in Cardiff is good overall?

Objective 7 - Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services

P
age 132



Our Commitments for Cardiff:

Adopt a cross-public services approach to the management of public property and assets.

Develop and appropriately skill the city’s public service workforce to meet changing needs and demands.

Develop a joined up approach to consultation and engagement 

Pilot a new City Innovation Hub to develop new solutions to big city challenges, working with all service partners.

Seek to deliver public and third sector services and workforce that are representative of the city and its 
communities, especially Black, Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities.

We Will:

Cardiff Tomorrow
Over the years ahead, services will need to adapt and 
respond to the twin challenges of increasing demand 
and reducing resources.

Increasingly, service providers will work together to 
align strategies, pool resources and focus on where 
collective planning and delivery can produce the best 
for citizens and communities across the city.  This will 
mean the co-location of different parts of the public 
services alongside community services, in the same 
building.  In many cases, the formation of single 
multi-agency teams, with pooled funding, jointly 
agreed outcomes, common processes, technologies 
and cultures will become increasingly common.  To 
support this integration, a cross-partner approach to 
the strategic planning of the public sector estate in 
the city will be developed.  

Services will be designed and delivered at the spatial 
scale which makes the most sense.  Cardiff, as the 
capital city, will have the capacity to deliver some 
national services; the Capital Region is seen as the 
right level for managing spatial development in 
housing, transport and economic development; 
health and social care will increasingly be managed 
across Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan; and 
at ‘locality’ or ‘neighbourhood’ level, aligning 
public and third sector assets and services at the 
local and hyper-local level will also be pursued.  As 
organisational siloes are broken down and cross 
service teams become the norm, the ability to work 

across boundaries and cultures will become more 
and more valuable.  Allied to this, a joint approach 
to management and development of the city’s 
public sector estate, staff development and improved 
interconnectivity of information systems across 
sectors will enable integrated working and will help 
change the way services are delivered.

Alongside a more integrated public service, an 
‘asset-based’ approach to community engagement 
which listens to and involves those receiving the 
service in the design of and the decisions taken 
about their service will be needed.  Allied to a better 
understanding of the experience of those who use 
our services, cross partner approaches to data-
sharing and analysis will be strengthened so that the 
Public Services Board members are using the best 
intelligence when taking decisions on how services 
should be planned and delivered in the future, with 
a particular focus on designing and investing in 
preventative services which seek to get to the root 
cause of an issue, or intervene early before bigger, 
more damaging issues can emerge.

Working together … to create a culture 
of one public service with one purpose

52 53

P
age 133



Measuring Progress - 
Well-being Indicators
Setting measurements against each well-being 
objective will assist Cardiff PSB in evaluating the level 
of success in raising the well-being of the city, and 
identify areas that require additional focus or revised 
commitments. These will be reported annually.

The measures chosen below are a combination of 
national, regional and local indicators, selected to 
clearly demonstrate progress against each objective. 

It is recognised that while reporting annually, and the 
need to demonstrate short term impact, many of the 
progress measures chosen will require a long-term 
view in order to achieve the desired target. 

Additional indicators have been included to measure 
the reported well-being of the people of Cardiff, 
taking a holistic view of well-being rather than being 
aligned to a particular Objective within the Plan.

Life satisfaction

 Worthwhile

Happiness

Anxiety

Percentage of people moderately or very satisfied with their jobs 

Well-being Indicators

Per capita CO2 emissions (BEIS)

Sustainable transport modal split

Levels of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10, PM2.5) pollution levels in the air

Use of/proximity to accessible natural space:    
• Quality: Number of sites meeting Green Flag Award and Green Flag Community Award criteria.
• Accessibility: Percentage of people who live within walking distance of high quality green space.

No. of properties in Cardiff registered to NRW’s Flood Warning Service

Municipal waste reuse/recycling/composting rates

Objective 2 - Cardiff grows in a resilient way

People agreeing that they belong to the area; that people from different backgrounds get on well together; and 
that people treat each other with respect  (National Indicator 27)

Percentage able to influence decisions affecting their local area (National Survey)

People feeling safe (at home, walking in the local area, and travelling) (National Survey)

Proportion of offenders who reoffend (adults and juveniles) overall in previous 12 months  

Percentage of clients accessing substance misuse services who reported an improvement in their quality of life

Rates of volunteering

Objective 3 - Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities

54 55

Unemployment rate of the economically active population aged 16+ (model-based)

GVA per head

Gross Disposable Household Income per head (National Indicator 10)

Employee jobs with hourly pay below the living wage

Percentage of population aged 16-64 qualified NVQ4+ (degree level or equivalent)

Have you attended an arts event in the last year? Have visited an historic place in the last year? Have you visited 
a museum in the last year? (National Survey: 3 separate questions)

People who can speak Welsh (National Indicator 37)

Objective 1 - A Capital City that Works for Wales

Percentage of children in low-income families

Percentage of children aged 4 to 5 who are a healthy weight

Uptake of MMR2 by age 4 (second dose Mumps, Measles, Rubella vaccine)

Mental well-being: children & young adults and adults (National Indicator 29)

Key Stage 2 Pupils Achieving the Expected Level (L4+) in the Core Subject Indicator 
[including FSM v non-FSM attainment gap at LA level]

Key Stage 4 Pupils Achieving the Level 2+ Threshold including English/Welsh & Maths 
[including FSM v non-FSM attainment gap at LA level]

Year 11 and Year 13 school leavers that are not in education, employment or training (Careers Wales)

Percentage of children cycling/walking to school

Objective 4 - Cardiff is a great place to grow up

P
age 134



Percentage of households in poverty (i.e. below 60% of median income) by MSOA  (after housing costs)

Long-term (i.e. over 12 months) JSA Claimants

Healthy life expectancy at birth (male & female) including the gap between the least and most deprived (National 
Indicator 2)

Percentage of low birth weight babies (National Indicator 1)

Percentage of adults eating 5 or more portions of fruit and vegetables a day

Percentage of adults active for less than 30 minutes in a week

Percentage of adults who are current smokers

Housing Affordability: Ratio of house price to median gross annual salary (ONS)

Rough sleepers per 10,000 persons

Food poverty (indicator to be defined)

Fuel poverty (indicator to be defined)

Objective 5 - Supporting People out of poverty

Percentage of people aged 65+ who reported their general health as being very good or good

Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they felt involved in any decisions made about their care and support

Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they received the right information or advice when they needed it

Percentage  of people aged 65+ reporting they live in the right home for them

Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting loneliness.

Life satisfaction among older people

Objective 6 - Cardiff is a great place to grow older

To what extent do you agree that the quality of public services in Cardiff is good overall?

Objective 7 - Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services

56 57

Glossary
BAME - Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic 
(communities) 

Carbon Footprint - The amount of carbon dioxide 
released into the atmosphere as a result of the 
activities of a particular individual, organization, or 
community.

Cardiff Capital Region - The Cardiff Capital Region is 
made up of an area of South East Wales, consisting 
of the ten local authorities (Bridgend, Vale of 
Glamorgan, Rhondda Cynon Taff, Merthyr Tydfil, 
Caerphilly, Monmouthshire, Blaenau Gwent, Torfaen, 
Newport and Cardiff).

Economic Growth - An increase in the amount 
of goods and services produced per head of the 
population over a period of time.

Food Poverty - The inability to afford, or to have 
access to, food to make up a healthy diet. It is about 
the quality of food as well as quantity.

Fuel Poverty – The inability to afford to keep one’s 
home adequately heated.  In Wales fuel poverty is 
defined as a household spending more than 10% 
of household income on fuel, and the household is 
deemed to be in severe fuel poverty if spending more 
than 20%.

Fiscal Powers - The ability to adjust spending levels 
and tax rates to monitor and influence an economy.

Healthy Life Expectancy - An estimate of how many 
years a person might live in a ‘healthy’ state.

Indicators - Performance indicators are ways of 
measuring progress towards achieving our objectives.  
The indicators used in this report have been agreed 
by the Cardiff Public Services Board.

Living Wage - A theoretical wage level that allows 
the earner to afford adequate shelter, food and the 
other necessities of life. Currently this is set at £7.85 
per hour (£9.15 in London).

Life Expectancy - The estimated amount of years 
that a person may expect to live.

Population Growth - The increase in the number of 
individuals in a population.

Poverty - Living below the poverty threshold which 
is defined as under 60% of the average household 
income (before housing costs). In-work poverty is 
living in a household where the household income is
below the poverty threshold despite one member of
the household working either full or part time.

Public Services Board – Public sector bodies 
acting jointly to improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of the Local 
Authority area. Statutory membership includes the 
Local Authority, Health Board, Fire and Rescue Service 
and Natural Resources Wales.

Social Isolation - A state of complete or near-
complete lack of contact between an individual and 
society. It differs from loneliness, which reflects a 
temporary lack of contact with other humans.

Trafficking - Human trafficking is the trade of 
humans, most commonly for the purpose of 
forced labour, sexual slavery, or commercial sexual 
exploitation for the trafficker or others.

UK Core Cities – The ’Core Cities’ are a group of 
10 major cities, including the eight largest city 
economies in England (not including London) as well 
as Cardiff and Glasgow. Comparisons to these cities 
are included throughout this document.

Well-being - Put simply well-being is about ‘how 
we are doing’ as individuals, communities and as 
a nation and how sustainable this is for the future.  
Well-being can be described as having 10 broad 
dimensions,” the natural environment, personal well-
being, our relationships, health, what we do, where 
we live, personal finance, the economy, education 
and skills and governance” (Office of National 
Statistics, 2013).

P
age 135



Page 136



Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – Shaping Our 
Future Well-being Strategy, (2015-2025)

For Our Population - we will:
• Reduce health inequalities;
• Deliver outcomes that matter to people; and
• All take responsibility for improving our health and wellbeing.

Our Service Priorities - we will:
• Offer services that deliver the population health our citizens are entitled 

to expect.

Sustainability - we will:
• Have an unplanned (emergency) care system that provides the right 

care, in the right place, first time;
• Have a planned care system where demand and capacity are in 

balance; and
• Reduce harm, waste and variation sustainably making best use of the 

resources available to us.

Culture - we will:
• Be a great place to work and learn;
• Work better together with partners to deliver care and support across 

care sectors, making best use of our people and technology; and excel 
at teaching, research, innovation and improvement and provide an 
environment where innovation thrives

APPENDIX 1

Cardiff Public Services Board Members
- Strategic Plans
(Cardiff’s Local Well-being Plan is a complementary document to the strategic plans of each PSB member)

Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Plan for Care and 
Support Needs (2018-2023)

13 Key Regional Priorities:

1. Older People, including People with Dementia
2. Children and Young People, including Children with Complex Needs
3. Learning Disability and Autism
4. Integrated Family Support Services
5. Adult and Young Carers
6. Health and Physical Disabilities
7. Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment
8. Sensory Loss and Impairment
9. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
10. Asylum Seekers and Refugees
11. Offenders
12. Veterans
13. Substance Misuse

Page 137



Natural Resources Wales – Well-being Statement 2017/18

Seven Well-being Objectives
• Champion the Welsh environment and the sustainable management of 

Wales’ natural resources 
• Ensure land and water in Wales is managed sustainably and in an 

integrated way 
• Improve the resilience and quality of our ecosystems 
• Reduce the risk to people and communities from environmental hazards 

like flooding and pollution 
• Help people live healthier and more fulfilled lives 
• Promote successful and responsible business, using natural resources 

without damaging them
• Develop NRW into an excellent organisation, delivering first-class 

customer service

Delivering ‘Capital Ambition’ - Cardiff’s Corporate Plan 
2018-21

‘Capital Ambition’:
Priority 1: Working for Cardiff - Making sure that all our citizens can 
contribute to, and benefit from the city’s success.

Priority 2: Working for Wales - A successful Wales needs a successful 
capital city.

Priority 3: Working for the Future - Managing the city’s growth in a 
sustainable way.

Priority 4: Working for Public Services - Making sure our public services 
are delivered efficiently, effectively and sustainably in the face of the 
rising demand and reducing budgets

Corporate Plan 2018-21:
Cardiff Council has adopted the same 7 Well-being Objectives as those in 
Cardiff Public Services Board’s Local Well-being Plan.  

South Wales Fire and Rescue Service Strategic Plan 
(2017-2022)

Our vision is “To make South Wales safer by reducing risk” by:
• Serving our communities needs
• Working with others
• Facing challenges through innovation and improvement
• Reducing risk through education, enforcement response, and
• Succeeding in making South Wales safer

We will:
• Reduce risk
• Engage and Communicate
• Nurture Sustainable Resources
• Embrace Technology
• Strengthen Partnerships

Page 138



Wales National Probation Service (NPS)

Protecting the public through effective rehabilitation of high risk 
offenders, tackling the causes of offending and enabling offenders to turn 
their lives around.

Cardiff Third Sector Council (C3SC)

C3SC aims to provide an effective and sustainable third sector which 
can respond to some of the major challenges facing the city’s diverse 
communities. It is a key partner in the delivery of Cardiff’s Corporate Plan, 
Capital Ambition which includes the following commitments:

• Work with Public Services Board partners to join-up public services, 
tackle poverty and reduce inequality.  This will involve commissioned 
work to examine the links between place, housing, poverty and barriers 
to employment.

• Work at the community level to break down barriers between the 
Council and other public services and to forge stronger links with 
residents and communities. 

South Wales Police & Crime Plan (2018-2021)

Our Service Priorities 

• We will reduce the level of crime, disorder and antisocial behaviour
• We will enable our communities to be safe, confident and resilient
• We will better meet the needs of vulnerable people, increasing their 

confidence to report and reducing repeat offences
• We will improve how effectively our resources are used
• We will ensure that South Wales Police is more representative of the 

communities it serves
• We will strengthen our partnership work, applying the principles of co-

operation to our work locally and through the Criminal Justice System

Page 139



Welsh Government

Prosperity for All – the national strategy - taking Wales forward by 
working together to meet the needs of the current population, without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

Well-being Objectives (by theme):

Prosperous and Secure 
1. Support people and businesses to drive prosperity 
2. Tackle regional inequality and promote fair work 
3. Drive sustainable growth and combat climate change 

Healthy and Active 
4. Deliver quality health and care services fit for the future 
5. Promote good health and well-being for everyone 
6. Build healthier communities and better environments 

Ambitious and Learning 
7. Support young people to make the most of their potential 
8. Build ambition and encourage learning for life 
9. Equip everyone with the right skills for a changing world 

United and Connected 
10. Build resilient communities, culture, and language 
11. Deliver modern and connected infrastructure 
12. Promote and protect Wales’ place in the world 

Wales Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC)

Managing low and medium-risk offenders and assisting the National 
Probation Service with rehabilitation interventions for some high-risk 
offenders.

For both the NPS and CRC, working in collaboration with partners and 
stakeholders to reduce reoffending is a core objective.

Page 140



1 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 
 Page 141



2 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

Contents 
 

Introduction         3 

 

Methodology         4 

 

City Life and Public Services       7   

 

Well-being         10 

 

A Capital City that Works for Wales      16 

 

Cardiff grows in a resilient way      18 

 

Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities    24 

 

Cardiff is a great place to grow up      30 

 

Supporting people out of poverty      33 

 

Cardiff is a great place to grow older     36 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



3 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 
This report has been produced by the Cardiff Research Centre on behalf of the Cardiff Public 

Services Board. 

 

It summarises the results of a range of consultation and engagement activity with the 

citizens of Cardiff which took place in Summer/Autumn of 2017, bringing together findings 

from:  

 

• The Ask Cardiff Residents and Visitor Survey 

• Engagement on the Draft Well-being Plan 

• Cardiff Annual Transport Survey 

• Consultation on the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Plan 

 

Considered together these findings will help the PSB to better understand how the people 

of Cardiff experience the city and our public services, and ensure that the city’s Well-being 

Plan is appropriately addressing the most important issues and concerns of residents. 

 

 

Page 143



 

4 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

2. METHODOLOGY 
 

The results contained within this report have been drawn from a range of engagement 

activities that took place in late 2017.  These included online survey work, locality based 

events and focus groups with ‘seldom heard’ population groups.  

 

2.1 Ask Cardiff  
 

Ask Cardiff is the annual citizen survey undertaken by Cardiff Council on resident satisfaction 

with life in Cardiff and public services.   

 

Ask Cardiff 2017 included 50 questions on life in Cardiff, the quality of public services, and 

for the first time a series of Well-being questions.  It was an online only survey and ran from 

9
th

 August 2017 until 25
th

 September. 

 

Response 

 

Ask Cardiff 2017 received 5598 responses, exceeding the previous record of 4,431 achieved 

in 2015 by 1,167. 

 

Table 1 - Ask Cardiff Response 

 

 Ask Cardiff 2014 Ask Cardiff 2015 Ask Cardiff 2016 Ask Cardiff 2017 

Total responses  2972 4431 4024 5598 

 

Sample size 

 

The significant increase in the overall number of responses across all groups has enabled a 

far more robust analysis to be undertaken when looking at specific groups in isolation. 

 

Results have been disaggregated by spatial area, using the city’s 6 Neighbourhood 

Partnership Areas, and by sub-population grouping, including ‘deprivation’ to indicate the 

results received from those living in the 20% most deprived areas of the city.  

 

Table 2 below indicates that a sample size big enough to give Confidence Intervals less than 

5% plus or minus, was achieved in five of the six Neighbourhood Partnership Areas, 

matching that of the 2016 Ask Cardiff survey.   

 

The response from City & Cardiff South has been traditionally low but was significantly 

higher for the 2016 and 2017, potentially due to the additional dissemination and 

promotion carried out by Cardiff Research Centre. 

 

The traditionally low response rate from residents in Cardiff East has continued, although 

the number of responses shows a marked increase compared to earlier surveys.  The 

Confidence Interval achieved remains above 5%, so whilst analysis within this area remains 

relevant, the Confidence Interval should be taken into account when considering the results. 

 

Page 144



 

5 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

Table 2 - Ask Cardiff 2017: Confidence Intervals for a 95% Confidence Level 

 

NMA Sample Size 

Achieved 
Population 

16 Plus (2015 

MYE) 

Sample Size 

Required For A 

CI Less Than 5% +/- 

Confidence 

Interval 

Achieved +/- 
Cardiff East 333 36,700 379 5.35 
Cardiff North 1,780 95,100 382 2.30 

Cardiff South East 699 68,500 382 3.69 

Cardiff South West 789 55,900 381 3.46 

Cardiff West 1,219 61,600 381 2.78 

Cardiff City & South 459 39,300 380 4.55 

Cardiff Total 5,598 357,200 384 1.30 

 

Weighted Data 

 

Weighted Data refers to when the data collected from survey respondents are adjusted to 

represent the population from which the sample was drawn.  In the case of the data 

collected as part of the Ask Cardiff survey for 2017, the overall data was weighted for some 

of the questions to ensure its representativeness in terms of age, gender and 

neighbourhood partnership area. 

 

Within this report reference is made at times to the ‘weighted’ i.e. adjusted response and 

the ‘observed’ data i.e. the actual response received.   

 

The difference within these figures is typically no more than one or two percentage points, 

something that could be explained by standard deviation and should not be cause for 

concern.  The strong similarity between the observed and the weighted data indicated a 

high level of robustness in the data collection. 

 

2.2 Focus Groups and Community Engagement  
 

To ensure consultation invited views from across the city, the opportunity was taken to 

engage with residents at a series of community engagement events that had been planned 

across the city.  20 ‘locality’ events were held during November and December 2017.   

  

Focus group work was also undertaken with the following groups: 

 

• Race Equality First, Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME) women’s group  

• Members of the Deaf community 

• 50+ Forum 

• Diverse Cymru young person’s BAME group 

• Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health 

• Grand Council Event of the Youth Council 

• Friends and Neighbours Group (Butetown) 

 

119 people took part in these focus group sessions. 

 

Page 145



 

6 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

 

2.3 Cardiff’s Well-being Plan Online Survey  
 

The online survey asked for views on Cardiff PSB’s proposed priorities or Well-Being 

Objectives (WBOs) for addressing the main challenges the city is facing now and in the 

future (i.e. meeting the needs of a rapidly growing population, making sure the city’s public 

infrastructure and services are resilient to this growth and reducing inequality). 

 

116 survey responses were received. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 146



 

7 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 3: CITY LIFE AND PUBLIC SERVICES 
 

3.1  Overall how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with Cardiff as a 

 place to live? 
 

 Approximately six out of seven respondents (84.8%) were satisfied with Cardiff as a 

 place to live.  This shows a slight decline of 4.9% from data collected in 2016. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 This closely correlates with the National Survey for Wales’s results, undertaken in 

 2016, which reported satisfaction with Cardiff as a place to live at 88%, 8th highest in 

 Wales and the highest urban area in Wales.  

 

 Overall satisfaction was lowest amongst respondents identifying as disabled (75.9%) 

 and those living in the most deprived areas of the city (79.4%). 

 

Focus group work  typically found the things that people like most about the city are 

its parks and green spaces, access to culture, leisure and shopping and its size  i.e. 

large enough to provide all of the benefits of a major city but small enough that you 

do not feel lost amongst it.  Recurring themes in what caused the most 

dissatisfaction to people were transport and litter, particularly in their local 

neighbourhood. 

Page 147



 

8 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

3.2 The Quality of Public Services  
 

 Two-thirds (65.5%) agreed that the quality of public services in Cardiff is good 

 overall.  This is a slight reduction compared to 73% in the 2016 survey. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Respondents identifying as disabled, and those living in the most deprived areas of 

 the city were least likely to rate the quality of public services as good overall (48.2% 

 and 50.9% respectively). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

65.5 67.5
73.0

65.5

0.0

20.0

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

2014 2015 2016 2017

%
Public Services

Page 148



 

9 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

3.3 Priorities for the city 
 

 Consultation on Cardiff’s Draft Well-being Plan asked residents whether they agreed 

 with its 7 well-being objectives and steps for improving quality of life and addressing 

 the main challenges facing the city’s public services.   

 

 Respondents were asked to identify their top three priorities for the city and for 

 themselves and their family.  The table below shows that the top three objectives 

 identified for the city differ from those which were priorities for people individually: 

 

 Face to Face Online Combined 

Well-being Objective  City 

priority 

Personal 

priority 

City 

priority 

Personal 

priority 

City 

priority 

Personal 

priority 

1. A Capital that works for 

Wales 

 

5 6 4 7 4 7 

2. Cardiff’s population 

growth is managed in a 

resilient way 

5 7 3 5 5 6 

3. Safe, confident and 

empowered communities 

 

2 1 1 1 2 1 

4. Cardiff is a great place to 

grow up 

 

4 2 6 3 6 3 

5. Supporting people out of 

poverty 

 

1 4 2 5 1 5 

6. Cardiff is a great place to 

grow older 

 

7 3 7 2 7 2 

7. Modernising and 

Integrating Our Public 

Services 

3 5 5 4 3 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



 

10 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 4: WELL-BEING 
 

4.1 How do you feel about yourself? 
 

 Respondents were given four statements, and asked to indicate using a 0-10 scale 

 how satisfied they felt with their life, how happy and anxious they felt the day before 

 completing the survey and the extent to which they felt the things they did in their 

 life are worthwhile.   

 

 Mean scores were calculated for each of the questions posed.  Where scores are 

 better than the mean by more than 0.2 (higher for satisfaction, happiness and 

 feeling worthwhile, and lower for anxiety) cells are highlighted in green; those which 

 are worse by 0.2 or more are in red.  Those scoring up to 0.2+/- of the mean are 

 marked as amber.   

 

 Respondents aged 55+ and living in Cardiff North scored above average against each 

 of the measures.  Under 35s, those from a minority ethnicity, people living in the 

 most deprived areas of the city, and respondents who identify as disabled, all 

 scored below the average against the well-being indicators.  

 

 Satisfied Happy Anxious Worthwhile 

All respondents 7.1 7.0 3.6 7.0 
     

Under 35 6.9 6.7 3.9 6.6 

55+ 7.4 7.4 3.4 7.3 

Female 7.1 7.0 3.7 7.1 

Male 7.2 7.1 3.5 7.0 

Minority ethnicity 6.8 6.8 4.0 6.9 

Deprivation 6.5 6.5 3.9 6.5 

Identify as disabled 5.8 5.8 4.0 5.7 

Welsh speaker 7.3 7.3 3.9 7.3 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 150



 

11 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

At ward level, the following maps show a north/south divide with lower levels of  happiness, 

feeling worthwhile and life satisfaction and higher levels of anxiety, more  likely to be found 

in the south of the city. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 151



 

12 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

4.2 Over the last seven days how would you describe your sense 

 of well-being? 
 

 Just under three-quarters of respondents (72.9%) felt their sense of well-being had 

 been ‘good’ or ‘very good’ over the preceding week. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base size excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

  

 The sense of well-being was lowest amongst respondents who identified as disabled 

 (45.0%) and those living in the most deprived areas of the city (62.4%). 

 

4.3 Over the last 12 months my sense of well-being has: 
 

 Three out of five respondents (60.2%) stated that their sense of well-being had 

 remained unchanged over the past year; almost a quarter (23.0%) felt it had 

 declined. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses 

 

Almost half (46.7%) of those who identify as disabled and 30.1% of those living in  

the most deprived areas of the city reported their sense of well-being had declined 

over the last 12 months. 

 
 

Page 152



 

13 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

4.4 To what extent are you satisfied / dissatisfied with your 

 physical and mental health? 
 

 Around three quarters of respondents were satisfied with both their physical and 

 their mental and emotional health (72.7% & 73.4% respectively). 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

Satisfaction with physical health for those living in deprived communities  dips  

to 63%, and for those who identify as disabled to 37% (with 50% dissatisfied).  

 

 Similar patterns are seen with respect to mental health, with 62% of those living in 

 deprived communities expressing satisfaction, and only 48% of those who identify as 

 disabled (against a city average of 73%). 

 

4.5 Access to Mental Health Services 
 

 Focus group research with current users of mental health services in the city 

 highlighted the importance of having ‘somewhere to go’ in the management of 

 mental health.   

 

 The 4 Winds open access centre is the only resource of its kind in the city with users 

 calling for similar resources to be provided in other parts of the city and naming it as 

 ‘invaluable in offering support’ particularly when the process of diagnosis via a GP 

 ‘may take several months’. 

 

 Social isolation was identified as a significant issue for those battling mental health 

 problems, comments provided included: 

 

 “People left on their own trying deal with things end up drinking, taking drugs, self-

 medicating.  These are the people that then end up homeless, on the streets and it 

 may be too late to bring them back.” 

 

 “I worry that when I’m older I’m going to be isolated.” 

 

 “For 25 years I lived alone in a bedsit, I had to get physically unwell before I got help 

 for my mental health.” 

25.3

17.7

48.1

55.0

10.1

9.1

11.7

13.6

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Your mental and emotional health (5391)

Your physical health (5411)

To what extent are you satisfied / dissatisfied with the following?

Very satisfied Fairly satisfied Neither Fairly dissatisfied Very dissatisfied

Page 153



 

14 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

 Service users highlighted the benefit of community groups in combating both mental 

 health and social isolation: 

 

 “Any time you actually get groups of people together, ideas start to flow, that’s how 

 answers to problems are found.” 

 

  “I’ve started going to ‘Eating Well for Life’ – it was nice to meet people with different 

 problems.” 

 

 Concern regarding mental health services and adequate provision was a recurring 

 theme in conversations and engagement with younger people.  

 

4.6 Access to GP’s & Health Services 
 

 The time taken to access GP appointments was raised as a concern across all focus 

 group discussions with up to four weeks reported as a waiting time.  Difficulties were 

 reported even in instances when pre-existing conditions such as diabetes were 

 listed. 
 

 A number of knock-on effects were recounted in discussions arising from difficulties 

 in accessing timely GP appointments, these included: 

 

• Incidents of wrongful or ineffectual self-medication; 

• Reliance on out of hours service; 

• Non-emergency trips to A&E; 

• Cases where serious symptoms had not been identified leading to greater health 

problems. 

 

 The current telephone system was not felt to work well with callers experiencing 

 busy lines, too few appointments, a lack of consistency in the doctor seen and gate-

 keeping from reception staff leaving patients feeling ‘fobbed off’.  Some respondents 

 including younger people suggested an online booking process for GP appointments 

 as a way to free up some time and make the process easier. 

  

 Both Black, Asian, Minority Ethnic (BAME) and deaf participants of focus groups 

 expressed concern over the  availability and quality of interpretation services both 

 in GP surgeries and hospital settings.  

 

4.7 Access to physical activity 

 
 The importance of exercise in relation to improving both physical and mental health 

 was raised across all focus group activities. 

 

 However, BAME women highlighted the need for more gender specific exercise 

 sessions with many reporting to feel unable or uncomfortable participating in mixed 

 male/female activities. 

 

Page 154



 

15 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 Simple exercise was considered to help with a wide range of issues e.g. weight 

 control, diabetes, mental health, social cohesion. 

 

 “Everything works hand in hand, if you exercise then you are more likely to eat well, 

 feel well and look better.” 

 

 Young people were keen to see a greater emphasis placed on exercise and sport in 

 school.  Young BAME males commented that there are lots of opportunities to play 

 sports but they are sometimes inaccessible due to demand and are offered to those 

 who pay first so good times are all taken.  

 

4.8 Food and Diet 
 

 Conversations with younger people in particular raised concern with regard to 

 healthy diets.  Menu choices in schools and colleges were considered generally poor 

 with options typically consisting of fast food such as burgers, pizza and chips with 

 healthier option more difficult to find. 

 

 “School food is good but it isn’t healthy – every day is pizza day, there is salad but it is 

 covered in mayo which kind of defeats the object.” 

 

  “Good food can affect your mood and health.” 

 

The popularity of caffeine drinks in school and colleges was also highlighted as a 

concern.  Whilst some schools were reported to have banned the sale of such drinks 

on-site, consumption continues with the effects “making people hyper” and 

“messing with their brains”. Many of the young people consulted with felt that 

stronger restrictions on these types of drinks in school would be appropriate. 

 

 Participants considered that the ability to eat healthily might also be influenced by 

 location and income. To eat healthily was widely considered to be more expensive.  

 The disappearance of grocers, butchers etc. from local communities means that 

 those without the ability to travel to superstores are increasingly restricted in the 

 produce they are able to purchase locally.  Low-income families, BAME, and the 

 elderly were identified as most likely to be affected in finding it increasingly difficult 

 to shop healthily locally.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



 

16 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 5: A CAPITAL CITY THAT WORKS FOR WALES  
 

5.1 Cardiff’s economy 
  

 Almost two-thirds of respondents (64.2%) agreed that “Cardiff has a thriving and 

 prosperous economy”, compared to 13.5% disagreeing with this statement.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base: 5,095. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Respondents identifying as disabled (19.3%), those living in the most deprived areas 

 of the city (17.0%) and those from a minority ethnicity (16.7%) were most likely to 

 disagree that “Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy”. 

 

 Respondents living in Cardiff North were far more likely to agree with this statement 

 (88.2%) with agreement in other areas of the city ranging from 57.5% in Cardiff 

 South East and 66.8% in Cardiff West. 

  

5.2 My employment situation 
 

 Most respondents (82.3%) reported that their employment situation had not 

 changed over the past year. Slightly more felt their situation had declined compared 

 to those who felt it had improved (9.3% and 8.4% respectively). 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base:5,102. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 
 

8.5 55.7 22.3 11.0

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy

(Base: 5,095)

Strongly agree Agree Neither Disagree Strongly disagree

Page 156



 

17 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 Respondents under the age of 35 were most likely to have seen an improvement in 

 their employment situation (24.1%), followed by those from a minority ethnicity 

 (13.9%) and those living in the most deprived areas of the city (13.6%).   

 

 Respondents who identify as disabled (17.4%) and those from a minority ethnicity 

 (16.6%) were most likely to report a decline.  Those residents in Cardiff East, Cardiff 

 South West and Cardiff West were more likely to report a decline than an 

 improvement in their employment situation. 

 

5.3 Future job/career prospects in Cardiff 
 

 Around three in five respondents (61.4%) described themselves as ‘very’ or 

 ‘somewhat’ confident about their future job/career prospects in Cardiff. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base: 3646. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 People aged under 35 (67.8%), Welsh speakers (65.0%) and women (63.5%) were 

 most confident regarding future job/career prospects.  By contrast, those identifying 

 as disabled (37.5%) and people from an ethnic minority background (51.3%) were 

 amongst the least confident. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 157



 

18 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

SECTION 6: CARDIFF GROWS IN A RESILIENT WAY  
 

6.1 Air Quality 
 

 Opinion was divided amongst respondents overall, regarding the quality of the air in 

 Cardiff with 37.5% agreeing that the quality is good, compared to 34.4% who 

 disagree. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Respondents from a minority ethnicity (44.9%) those aged under 35 (41.7%) and 

 residents in Cardiff North (41.7%) or Cardiff West (39.4%) were most likely to agree 

 that the quality of the air in Cardiff is good. 

 

 Welsh speakers (41.5%), those living in the most deprived areas of the city (37.7%), 

 respondents identifying as disabled (37.3%) and those resident in Southern areas of 

 the city were most likely to disagree that air quality in the city is good. 

 

 Engagement with young BAME citizens revealed some concerns amongst the group 

 with regard to air quality and the fear that this may present a disproportionate 

 impact on communities, particularly in Cardiff City & South which has a high 

 proportion of ethnic minority residents. 
 

 
6.2 TRANSPORT AND GETTING AROUND 
 

 This year, a separate survey to understand usage of and satisfaction with, travel and 

 transport in Cardiff was launched.   

 

 A total of 4,802 responses were received – 88.7% were Cardiff residents, 10.2% living 

 elsewhere in Wales, and the remainder either living elsewhere or not specifying their 

 home location.  

 

 A full report on this survey will be available on www.cardiff.gov.uk/haveyoursay. 

 

Page 158



 

19 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

6.3 How serious do you think travel and transport problems are in 

 Cardiff? 

 

 Almost three-quarters (73.8%) of respondents deemed travel and transport 

 problems in Cardiff to be either serious (49.1%) or very serious (24.7%). In contrast, 

 just 1.7% felt there were no problems. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Two-thirds of respondents in employment reported they travelled to work alone in 

 their car/van at least once a week – this figure fell to 15.8% for a driver with 

 passengers, and 9.8% as a passenger. 

 

 Respondents to the well-being plan survey emphasised the need to look at Cardiff’s 

 transport infrastructure as a whole (cycling, car, bus and train routes), the cost of 

 public transport, and to invest in the wider region to increase use of sustainable 

 modes of travel and reduce road congestion. 

 

6.4 How satisfied are you with the following facilities in Cardiff? 
 

 Three in five respondents (59.4%) were ‘satisfied’ with walking facilities and around 

 half (54.8%) with public transport in the city.  Just one in five (22.5%) were satisfied 

 with cycling facilities in Cardiff. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

Page 159



 

20 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 Cycling provision was thought to be good in the centre but described as ‘patchy’ the 

 further out you go.  Additional complaints were made of existing cycle lanes often 

 coming to an abrupt stop which can make re-joining the flow of traffic dangerous. 

 

6.5 Cardiff has a clean and attractive environment 
 

 Almost half of those surveyed (47.6%, down from 53.3% in 2016) agreed that Cardiff 

 has a clean, attractive and sustainable environment, while 30.0% disagreed. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base: 5357. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

  

 Respondents living in the most deprived areas of the city and those identifying as 

 disabled were least likely to agree with this statement (38.7% and 39.6% 

 respectively).  Geographically, agreement with the statement was lowest amongst 

 residents of Cardiff South East (39.8%). 

 

 The parks and green spaces of the city were one of the most highly regarded aspects 

 of the city with Bute Park viewed as the ‘jewel in the crown’.  However, levels of 

 satisfaction with parks and green spaces varied across the city, with a gap of 22% 

 between Cardiff North and Cardiff East.     

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Participants were clear that they want to see the city’s green spaces preserved. 

 

  "We don't want to see all of the city's green spaces turned over to buildings" 

Page 160



 

21 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

 Some concern was raised over the management of some green spaces with paths 

 and parkland around Colchester Ave and Forest Fawr reported to have become 

 inaccessible due to lack of maintenance - "there's a difference between managing it 

 for wildlife and letting it become overrun and rotting," 

 

 Generally Cardiff was described as having many 'lovely walks' although these are not 

 well promoted or sign posted.  Rumney wetlands was given as a specific example of 

 an area that could benefit from more people knowing about it. 

 

6.6 Cleanliness in my local area 
 

 Almost two out of five respondents (38.3%) felt that cleanliness in their local area 

 had declined over the previous 12 months. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base size: 5411 Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Amongst respondents living in the 20% most deprived areas of Cardiff this figure 

 rose to almost half (47.6%).  Similarly, 48.7% of respondents living in City & Cardiff 

 South believed cleanliness in  their local area to have declined over the last twelve 

 months.  

 

 Waste collection services were generally reported to be good with collections 

 coming regularly and on time.  However, respondents believed some residents in 

 their local areas lacked knowledge about how to dispose of waste and separate it 

 correctly leading to problems with cleanliness in the area. Additional support and 

 education was suggested, to include migrants that may be new to the city and 

 vulnerable adults who may have mental health issues. 

 

 Private landlords, specifically in the Riverside/Canton areas were identified as 

 contributing to untidiness in the area with participants commenting: 

   

 “When the properties are being emptied ready for the next tenant they are really 

 careless throwing things out… there is always broken glass left lying around for 

 weeks.   

 

 Leaf mulch was also identified as a problem, blocking drains and resulting in serious 

 falls particularly amongst the elderly with Pontcanna highlighted as a particular 

 problem area.   

 

Page 161



 

22 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 The introduction of alley gating measures were viewed as a significant success.  

 Garages situated at the back of Home Bargains in Canton were described as once 

 being a frequent target for arson attacks and fly tipping, something that the 

 measures had resolved. 

 

 Dog fouling was identified as a problem in several areas with Claude Road in Roath 

 specified as having a serious problem.  Respondents were in favour of 

 prosecuting dog owners but recognised that it was difficult to catch a perpetrator.   

 

6.7  Accessing Nature 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Analysis by demographic and geographic groups revealed: 

 

• Respondents who identify as disabled and those from the most deprived areas of 

Cardiff were the least likely to have visited any of the places listed. 

 

• With the exception of ‘local parks’, those living in Cardiff West were most likely 

to have visited all of the outside spaces listed.  Conversely, respondents in Cardiff 

East were least likely to have visited all outside spaces with the exception of 

Woodland/Forest Farmland. 

 

• Almost 9 in 10 (87.0%) of all respondents had visited a park or other local space 

in the previous four weeks compared to just three quarters (76.9%) of residents 

in Cardiff East. 

 

Page 162



 

23 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

6.8 How concerned are you about Climate Change, which is 

 sometimes referred to as 'Global Warming'? 

 

 More than three-quarters of those surveyed (77.1%) were either ‘fairly’ or ‘very 

 concerned’ about Climate Change. 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base: 5,355 . Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Under 35’s (82.8%) expressed greater concern for Climate Change than those aged 

 55+ (73.2%), Females (82.3%) more so than Males (71.7%) and those living in the 

 southern half of the city compared to those living in the north. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 163



 

24 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 7: SAFE, CONFIDENT AND EMPOWERED 

COMMUNITIES 
 

7.1 How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with your local 

 community as a place to live? 
 

 Over three quarters (77.3%) of respondents described themselves as ‘satisfied’ with 

 their local community as a place to live.
1
 

 

 Respondents living in Cardiff North (86.5%) and Cardiff West (85.2%) were most 

 satisfied with their local community, contrasting with residents of Cardiff South East 

 (60.9%), City & Cardiff South (63.5%) and Cardiff East (65.2%).   

 

 Those living in the most deprived areas of Cardiff were notably less satisfied (35.3%) 

 with their local community as a place to live. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 Base sizes shown in brackets excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 The things that people liked and disliked about their local community differed 

 significantly across the city.  Areas in the north of the city residents liked the 

 attractiveness and peacefulness of the area but bemoaned its isolation and lack of 

 amenities.  In comparison, residents in City & Cardiff South enjoyed the access to 

 shops, transport and local amenities but disliked the litter and prevalence of fly 

 tipping.   

 

  

                                                           
1
 There is no trend data for this question.  Previous surveys asked “Overall, how satisfied or dissatisfied are you 

with Cardiff as a place to live?” rather than specifically “Your local community”.  No significant difference was 

found between the weighted and the observed data. 

Page 164



 

25 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

 Issues relating to drugs and drug dealing were received from residents in both the 

 east and the south of the city.  A resident in Grangetown commented: 

 

 “You see them doing their exchanges even on a morning taking the kids to school, 

 they zoom in, in their cars to do their deals and zoom off again, we know what they 

 are doing.”  

 

 In the east of the city, numerous comments were made regarding the increased use 

 of laughing gas on the streets of the neighbourhood.  Young people were reported to 

 be the primary users of the drug with empty gas canisters often seen littering the 

 streets.   

 

7.2 Over the last 12 months my level of community involvement 

 has: 
 

 Approximately four in five respondents (81.4%) stated their level of community 

 involvement had not changed over the last 12 months.  Equal proportions reported 

 either an increase or a decline in community involvement over that time. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base size: 5079. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 Respondents from a minority ethnicity were most likely to report a change in the 

 level of their involvement - one in six (16.7%) reported their involvement had 

 increased, whilst around one in seven (14.8%) stated it had declined. 

 

 Almost a fifth of respondents identifying as disabled (18.4%) had reportedly reduced 

 their level of community involvement over the last twelve months. 

 

 Participants that were also mental health service users were particularly enthusiastic 

 about opportunities for volunteering.  It was felt that there are many people in the 

 community who would benefit from getting involved and accepted that the 

 “traditional image of the relationship between the Council and the public as 

 them and us needs to change”. 

 

 Difficulties however were explained in the way that mental health illness ‘fluctuates’ 

 meaning that some days volunteers might be able to do something but another day 

Page 165



 

26 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 maybe not.  This can lead to problems making long-term commitments to a project 

 whilst more drop in/out projects may work better. 

  

There was also concern raised over the relationship between volunteering and 

 benefit claims.  Whilst volunteering is non-paid and therefore should not impact on 

 payments, the group gave examples of where volunteering had impacted on their 

 assessment – i.e. ability to work.  The related stress involved in trying to resolve 

 issues had meant that some service users were cautious of volunteering in the 

 future.  Participants described a lack of education amongst those in the benefits 

 agency surrounding mental health and volunteering.   

 

7.3 To what extent do you agree or disagree that people in Cardiff 

 are safe and feel safe?  
 

 Just over half of all respondents, 54.2%, agreed that People in Cardiff are safe and 

 feel safe - a notable decline from the 74.4% who agreed with this statement in the 

 2016 Ask Cardiff survey. 
 

  
 Base sizes shown in brackets 

 

 Respondents under the age of 35 were most likely to agree that ‘People in Cardiff 

 are safe and feel safe’ (61.8%). 
 

 However, there has been a decline in the percentage of respondents agreeing the 

 ‘People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe’ across each of the comparable demographic 

 groups, and each of the six Neighbourhood Partnership Areas. 

 

 Disagreement with the statement was highest amongst residents in Cardiff East 

 (36.5%), those identifying as disabled (38.5%), and those from the 20% most 

 deprived areas of the city (37.7%). 

 

 Further research is required to fully understand the story behind the data.  Possible 

 influencing factors may go beyond the actual risk of crime and include perceived 

 fears, possibly fuelled by major incidents or reporting within the wider media.   

 

 

Page 166



 

27 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

7.4 How safe or unsafe do you feel in the following situations?  
 

 Respondents to the latest Ask Cardiff Survey were found to feel less safe in all 

 situations listed than was reported in 2016.   

 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. 

 

 The most significant declines were found in the following areas: 

 

• Walking in the city centre after dark – A fall of 11.8%  

• Cycling in the day – A fall of 13.0% 

• Cycling after dark – A fall of 10.6% 

 

 Respondent’s feelings of safety in their own neighbourhoods after dark also fell by 

 7.4% from the 2016 figures. 

 

 Analysis by local area and demographic group reveals that: 

 

• People in Cardiff East, feel less safe than those in other areas of the city, in a 

variety of scenarios. 

 

• In Cardiff West 83.9% of respondents reported feeling either ‘very’ or ‘fairly safe’ 

when walking in their neighbourhood after dark compared to just 55.6% of those 

from Cardiff East.  Additionally, just over one in ten respondents (11.1%) in 

Cardiff East reported that they would feel ‘very unsafe’ in this circumstance. 

 

• Almost half (45.8%) of those resident in Cardiff East felt unsafe travelling by bus 

after dark compared to just over a third of respondents from all other areas 

(between 33.7% and 35.9%), and for the sample overall (36.2%). 

 

Page 167



 

28 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

• Over half (52.6%) of respondents living in Cardiff East reported feeling ‘unsafe’ 

when walking in the city centre after dark compared to around a third (34.1%) of 

respondents from City & Cardiff South. 

 

• More than half of respondents in each of the Neighbourhood Partnership Areas 

felt unsafe when cycling after dark (ranging from 52.4% of residents in City & 

Cardiff South, rising to 63.1% of residents in Cardiff North).  

 

• Almost all respondents felt safe in their home during the day.  After dark, this 

figure drops slightly ranging from 90.0% in Cardiff South East to 96.6% in Cardiff 

West. 

 

• In the scenarios presented, those identifying as disabled typically reported 

feeling less safe than other demographic groups whilst women generally felt less 

safe than men. 

 

 A third (33.2%) of all respondents believed anti-social behaviour to have increased in 

 their local area in the past twelve months compared to just 4.5% who believed it to 

 have decreased.  Amongst respondents living in the 20% most deprived areas in 

 Cardiff the proportion believing anti-social behaviour in their local area had 

 increased over the past year rose to half (50.5%). 

 

 Many of the specific problems detailed related to groups of young people ‘hanging 

 out’ in neighbourhoods, particularly after dark, causing people to feel unsafe. 

 

 “Where I live (Fairwater) overlooks school playing fields, I love it. It almost feels like 

 the country with the stream and trees.  In the night-time it is different, there are a lot 

 of teenagers in gangs of about 10-15.  They make the place feel unsafe and eerie so 

 that is not so good at all.” 

 

 “Sometimes around the area (Gabalfa) there are groups of teenagers who come and 

 smash everything up, garage doors, shops and cars. Nobody stops them, people are 

 afraid of them, I don’t think that they are from the area, they come as a group and 

 sometimes smell of drugs.”   

 

 “In the school holidays especially we have problems with groups of youths on the 

 streets which can be quite intimidating on times.” (Tremorfa) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



 

29 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

7.5 My neighbourhood is a place where people get on well 

 together and help each other. 
 

 In 2017 three in five respondents (59.5%) agreed that their neighbourhood is a place 

 where people get on well together and help each other.  This shows a slight decline 

 from 2016 when 64.5% agreed with this statement, no significant difference was 

 found between the observed and the weighted data. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 Base sizes shown in brackets. 

 

Welsh speakers (68.4%) and respondents aged 55+ (65.2%) were most likely to agree 

that their neighbourhoods are places where people get on well together and help 

one another.   Disagreement with this statement was strongest amongst 

respondents classified as living in the 20% most deprived areas of the city (29.9%) 

and those identifying as disabled (23.6%). 

 

 Geographically, agreement with this statement was shown to be lowest in Southern 

 and Eastern areas of the city. 

 

 Interviews and discussions revealed a handful of examples of both very good and 

 very poor relationships with neighbours.  Most striking however was the number of 

 people who had no discernible relationship at all with their neighbours.  Numerous 

 participants referred to knowing their neighbours “by face but not by name.” 

 

 “My neighbours don’t really mix, everyone is just living their own lives”. 

 

 “I know my neighbours by faces but not names, we just say hi/hello”. 

 

 Where neighbour relations were better, people reported sharing chores such as 

 grass cutting, exchanging food (particularly where neighbours were of different 

 ethnicities) and showing general consideration for one another.  Communication and 

 education were described as ‘key’ to good neighbourly relationships: 

 

 “It all starts with communication and talking, then you realise that you have so much 

 in common.  Education in all aspects is the name of the game.”   

 

 The importance of education in schools and in families with regard to religion was 

 also stressed to increase understanding and community cohesion. 

Page 169



 

30 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 8: CARDIFF IS A GREAT PLACE TO GROW UP 
 

Response rates from young people (under 18) are very low to the online survey 

work.  The priorities below are drawn from the focus group work undertaken, 

including: 

• A day long ‘Grand Council’ of the Cardiff Youth Council to consider the Well-

being Plan 
• Focus group with BAME young people 

 

8.1  Routes into employment 

 

Engagement with young people in the city highlighted their concerns with regard to 

leaving education and joining the workforce.  Pupils widely reported feeling 

insufficiently supported in finding work with the focus in school firmly placed on 

exam results as opposed to preparation for the world of work. 

 

There was widespread demand from young people for more work experience 

opportunities.  Existing opportunities were said to be poor, with the responsibility of 

arranging placements lying with pupils and their families rather than through an 

official  schools system.  As such, opportunities are biased by a range of factors 

including family support, personal connections and the school you come from, with 

some employers unwilling to take pupils from schools with a poorer reputation.  

 

It was felt that an increase in real work opportunities prior to leaving full time 

education would better prepare young people for the world of work and enable 

them to better understand the requirements of potential employers when making 

applications. 

 

Young people considered that at present their time in the education system is 

primarily driven by academic results rather than preparing them for the next steps in 

life.  Participants in the Youth Grand Council delivered a clear message for an 

increased focus on Personal, social, health and economic (PSHE) lessons delivered by 

specifically trained teaching staff.  Pupils were keen for these lessons to be utilised 

to prepare them for life i.e. practical guidance on things like paying bills, looking for 

work, opening bank accounts and teaching values such as equality and diversity.   

 

Young Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME) participants raised concern over the GCSE 

attainment gap between BAME and white pupils and questioned what was being 

done to address the divide.  Participants reported making use of the ‘Into Work’ 

team and receiving help with cover letters, CV’s etc.  Despite the assistance, it was 

reportedly still difficult to find a part time job, leading to feelings of possible 

discrimination. 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



 

31 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

8.2  Mental Health and Young People 
 

Mental health services for young people were identified as one of the top priorities 

for change.  Poor mental health amongst young people was described as a “health 

epidemic that is being ignored”.  Current services were deemed difficult to access, 

with a crisis needing to be reached before a referral is made.  Excessive waiting 

times, lack of early interventions and support systems were believed to exacerbate 

problems, including stress in preparing for exams, social pressures including those 

arising from social media and home life pressures. 

 

As well as providing different routes into the world of work (e.g. non-academic 

options, apprenticeships and opportunities to work with voluntary organisations), a 

stronger focus on building the confidence of young people was emphasised. In 

particular, investment in extra-curricular provision and cultural experiences at 

weekends and school holidays would help to re-engage children and give them the 

interpersonal skills needed to lead happy and successful lives. 

 

8.3  Youth Facilities / Services in the Community 
 

The need for more youth facilities was also highlighted.  The Ask Cardiff Survey 

revealed that levels of satisfaction for youth services are relatively low across the 

city, particularly in the most deprived 20% of communities.  Direct engagement with 

young people (under 18) frequently raised the problem of a lack of places to “hang 

out and meet with friends”. 

 

8.4  Transport 
 

Particularly amongst younger people, the cost of Cardiff Bus services was reported as 

‘too expensive’.  Rival local firms were described as cheaper, but less reliable.  The 

cost of travel from the valleys and surrounding areas into Cardiff to access culture 

and jobs was thought to be prohibitive to many people.  To help combat the 

problems raised young people suggest a scheme that would allow tickets to be used 

across services. 

 

The cost of journeys by bus, especially when weighed against convenience and 

comparative costs for taking a car made this an unviable option for many of the 

people spoken to. 

 

“It only costs £3 to park for 2 hrs in town”.   

  

It was felt that either bus routes need to be faster and more direct to justify costs, or 

prices reduced considerably as compensation with one participant explaining:  

 

“You don’t mind travelling on Megabus and it taking ages because it’s only £1!”  

Right now a short journey from Butetown to Canton takes 45mins making it an 

unattractive option.” 

Page 171



 

32 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

The ‘iff’ card, available to 16-18 year olds for discounted travel, was used by many of 

the young people spoken to.  Whilst they were in favour of the scheme they also 

reported significant delays in the application process and difficulties in using the 

online application system, with several reports made of failed applications. 

 

Over-crowding on services, particularly at peak times was also rated as a significant 

cause of dissatisfaction.  Services were described as ‘packed’ and ‘rammed’ with 

services frequently missed due to a lack of space available.  Additional services were 

suggested on specific routes e.g. school routes at times of known peak demand.  

Pupils at St. David’s relayed how they had successfully campaigned to get a larger 

capacity bus provided for their school, something that others were keen to replicate. 

 

Young people reported that whilst they had received encouragement from teachers 

to walk and cycle whilst in primary school this backing had dissipated since joining 

high school.  Pupils shared a reluctance to wearing protective headwear, labelling 

this as ‘geeky’.  Further deterrents included a lack of suitable storage space available 

at the school and an unwillingness to use the available bike sheds, an area which 

tended to be frequented by older male pupils, something younger girls felt 

intimidated by. 

 

It was generally felt that a more active role could be played by schools in 

encouraging the take up of cycling.  The provision of a free cycle helmet as part of 

your school uniform was suggested as a step that would send a clear message in 

support of this as a means of travel to and from school. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

33 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 9: SUPPORTING PEOPLE OUT OF POVERTY 
 

9.1 Over the last 12 months my personal financial situation has… 
 

 Approximately one in four (26.6%) reported their personal financial situation has 

 declined over the past year.  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base size: 5396. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 

 This rose to one in three (33.9%) of those living in Cardiff’s 20% most deprived areas 

 and almost two in five (37.9%) of those identifying as disabled.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Base sizes shown in brackets. Excludes ‘Don’t Know’ responses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 173



 

34 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

9.2 Access to good quality housing 
 

 Overall 63.1% of respondents agreed they have access to good quality housing.   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Respondents living in the 20% most deprived areas of the city were least likely to 

 agree with the statement (45.1%).  Geographically the level of agreement was lowest 

 in the East of the city i.e. Trowbridge, Llanrumney and Rumney (51.5%). 

 

 Access to good quality housing was widely regarded as one of the most important 

 criteria in addressing well-being.   

 

 All focus groups were conscious of a visible rise of homelessness on the city's 

 streets.  There was some frustration that buildings in the city lie empty whilst there 

 are people without a home on the streets. Developers, it was felt, should be 

 prevented from allowing this to happen, furthermore it was suggested that empty 

 buildings could be acquired and changed to hostel accommodation, to look after 

 both the homeless and their dogs.   

 

 Members of the 50+ Forum suggested that when building new developments the 

 properties within should be ‘adaptable’ i.e. partitions able to be added and removed 

 to change the purpose of the building depending on need e.g. families, one room 

 accommodation. 

 

 More than once focus group participants highlighted instances of makeshift and 

 potentially illegal migrant accommodation springing up in local areas.  Participants 

 questioned the safety and legality of this accommodation and probed whether 

 public services were aware of the situation. 

 

As well as providing affordable housing, the need to help people at risk of poverty 

manage their finances and take the steps to be ready to find work was highlighted.   

Peer mentoring and participation in cultural, physical and social activities to help 

raise confidence were also seen as important as well as providing those on benefits 

more temporary job placement opportunities to gain work experience. 

 

 

 

 

Page 174



 

35 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

9.3 Over the last 12 months my housing situation has: 
 

 Most respondents (87.2%) stated their housing situation was unchanged over the 

 last 12 months, with almost equal proportions reporting it to have improved (6.6%) 

 or declined (6.2%). 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Respondents under the age of 35, and those living in City & Cardiff South were most 

 likely to report an improvement in their housing situation (17.7% and 11.5% 

 respectively). 

 

 Focus group participants raised concerns about private sector housing standards 

 with comments including:  

 

 “I have been in 4 rental properties in 3 years and do not feel that private landlords 

 are adhering to the rules.  I don’t think that they have even heard of Rent Smart 

 Wales, many of the properties are over-priced and nasty.”  

 

 “Where flats are being let above commercial properties and houses are being split 

 there seems to be zero implementation of planning permission.”   

 

 “On what basis is a home allowed to be let. Many are overcrowded, damp, no sound 

 proofing or ventilation, who is checking on this? This all makes me feel very unsafe.”  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



 

36 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

 

SECTION 10: CARDIFF IS A GREAT PLACE TO GROW 

OLDER 
 

The majority of older people who responded to the Ask Cardiff survey were satisfied 

with Cardiff as a place to live (85.6%) and reported their sense of well-being 

remaining good or very good in the previous 12 months. 

 

The following issues were emphasised throughout the engagement work: 

 

10.1 Living at home, in their community  
 

The need to value and respect the older generation by involving them in the future 

of their communities was raised, as was the need for improved support and facilities 

in the home to enable older people to live independently in their own homes for 

longer. 

 “You have a better recovery following a hospital stay if you are in your own 

 environment; you also prevent bed blocking and have a speedier turnover.” 

 

 On providing appropriate support: “…10 minutes a day, what can someone really  do 

 in that time?” 

 

Specific proposal include providing access to befriending services, the arts and 

physical and social activities to tackle social isolation and ward off chronic illnesses 

such as dementia; and that plans for all new houses should be required to have a 

toilet both upstairs and downstairs to help make homes suitable ‘for a lifetime’. 

10.2 Accessing Services  

Information on the full range of services for older people needs to be embedded into 

the health care system so that older people can make informed decisions. 

It is perceived by some that opportunities for accessing services and improved 

facilities in the home are a postcode lottery, with perceived lack of equality in the 

costs that the elderly are expected to cover for services.  Many elderly in the city 

were described as ‘asset rich but financially poor’ and it was felt they were unfairly 

discriminated against for owning their own home.   

“Not fair that some people have to pay but others don’t”. 

 

 “Better off being poor – if you have money, you won’t get anything from the 

 Council.”  

 

Frustration was expressed with the apparent lack of communication between 

services when having to provide the same information to different agencies.   

Page 176



 

37 

Prepared by Cardiff Research Centre 

The increasing need to use electronic means of communication to access and 

interact with services is also of significant concern for older people and their well-

being.  Reasons for not being able to and not wanting to use technology included 

lack of knowledge, IT literacy, security concerns and loss of social interaction.  

“To have money or a cheque in my hand and visit a post-office – that to me feels 

safer.” 
 

 “Perhaps a weekly trip to the post office or bank is the main outing for an elderly 

 person on their own.  A natter in the queue actually has a huge impact on their well-

 being.” 

 

It was felt that the means in which the public communicate with services needs to 

remain a matter of choice and the ability to access local community services for face 

to face interaction should be maintained. 

 

10.3 Getting Around  

Although there was general support for the pedestrianisation of the city centre it has 

made it more difficult for the more elderly or infirm to get around and could present 

a barrier to some.  The reintroduction of the hop on hop off bus that could circle the 

city centre was suggested.      

The importance of safe environments and access to services when walking in the 

local community and the city centre are also key issues for older people, especially in 

terms of tackling social isolation.  Poor maintenance of pavements and street 

lighting, blocked drains and speeding cyclists were all mentioned as particular safety 

hazards.  A lack of public toilets was also raised as a potential barrier to older people 

being able to leave the house to access services, meet up with friends or go 

shopping. 

Safety at night time in the city centre is also a particular concern for older people. It 

is felt that the night time economy is not ‘for their generation’ and aimed instead at 

younger age groups, particularly at weekends.  The fear of being knocked over or 

falling was sufficient to deter many elderly from venturing into the city centre at 

night.  It was felt that older people had to make the most of mid-week opportunities 

to enjoy the city centre i.e. theatre, restaurants etc. 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 177



        APPENDIX 3 

 

Cardiff Well-being Objectives - Contribution to the National Well-being Goals and Timescales 

Goal 1 Goal 2 Goal 3 Goal 4 Goal 5 Goal 6 Goal 7 

A Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

 

 Primary Contribution to the National Well-being Goals  

 

* Opportunities to contribute 

       

  

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

1. A Capital City that works for Wales 

  *     01 

Strengthen Cardiff’s role as the economic and cultural capital city of 

Wales, supporting the development of the Capital Region and ensuring 

that the City Deal and the Cardiff Metro deliver for the people of Cardiff 

and Wales. 

      

  *   *  02 

Seek to make sure that Cardiff has the funding and fiscal powers it needs 

to lead the Welsh economy and deliver capital city infrastructure and 

services on behalf of the people of Cardiff, the Capital Region and Wales. 

      

 * *     03 

Understand the impact of Brexit on Cardiff’s economy, public services and 

communities and develop the city’s response, including the shape of any 

successor programmes for European Funding streams in Wales. 

      

 * * * *   04 

Continue to deliver major events in the city, building on the success of the 

Champions League Final, in partnership with Welsh Government and the 

private sector. 

      

 * *     05 
Aim to double the number of Welsh speakers in Cardiff by 2050 through 

supporting the delivery of the Bilingual Cardiff Strategy. 

      

       

 

P
age 178



        APPENDIX 3 

 

A Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

 

       

  

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

2. Cardiff Grows in a Resilient Way 

       01 
Adopt an integrated approach to the planning and delivery of public 

services in the city’s new communities.   

      

     *  02 

Aim for 50% of all journeys in Cardiff to be by sustainable travel by 

supporting the development and delivery of the Cardiff Sustainable 

Transport Strategy. 

      

*   *  *  03 
Take a city-wide response to air pollution through supporting the 

development and delivery of a Cardiff Clean Air Strategy. 

      

*  * * * *  04 

Ensure that the city is prepared for extreme weather events associated 

with Climate Change, including raising awareness and encouraging 

behavioural change amongst residents, businesses and visitors to the city. 

      

*   * * *  05 
Seek to reduce the carbon footprint of the city’s public services by 

working to ensure that all public buildings are energy and waste efficient. 

      

*   * * *  06 
Explore the potential for divesting public investments from fossil fuel 

companies. 

      

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 179



        APPENDIX 3 

 

A Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

       

  

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

3. Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities 

 *    * * 01 
Invest in and involve communities in the delivery of integrated, locally-

based public and third sector services in Community and Wellbeing Hubs. 

      

 *    * * 02 

Give people a greater voice in shaping public services through developing 

and delivering co-created Community Development and Involvement 

Plan/s. 

      

 *    *  03 
Promote volunteering and social action, including development of a city 

volunteering portal. 

      

* *    *  04 
Protect our most vulnerable citizens, adopting integrated approaches to 

tackling trafficking, child sexual exploitation and domestic abuse.  

      

* *    *  05 

Tackle radicalisation in our communities by building cohesion and trust, 

and promoting an environment where people have the confidence to 

report extremist behaviour. 

      

 *    * * 06 

Reduce offending and improve life opportunities for the 18-25 age group 

by developing an integrated, locally-focussed, approach to offender 

management. 

      

 *    * * 07 

Reduce levels of drug use and substance misuse, and levels of 

reoffending, and improve levels of sustained, long-term recovery, through 

delivering a jointly commissioned substance misuse and recovery support 

network of services. 

      

 * *    * 08 

Make sure that newcomers from the UK and overseas are welcomed and 

can build new lives in Cardiff, including delivering the ‘Inclusive Cities’ 

project. 

      

 *      09 
Deliver a safe and vibrant night time economy, working in 

partnership with the Business Improvement District.   

      

 

P
age 180



        APPENDIX 3 

 

A Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

 

         

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

4. Cardiff is a great place to grow up 

 *   * *  01 

Place the voice and experience of young people at the heart of public 

services in Cardiff through adopting a Child’s Rights approach and 

becoming a UNICEF ‘Child Friendly City.’ 

      

 *    * * 02 

Adopt a ‘Think Family’ approach, making sure that public services are 

joined up and that children and families are given the right support, in the 

right way, at the right time in the first 1000 days of a child’s life. 

      

 *    * * 03 

Develop placed-based approaches to integrating public services for 

children and families in the city’s most deprived communities through a 

‘Children First’ pilot in Ely and Caerau. 

      

* *    * * 04 

Develop innovative approaches to identifying those at risk of Adverse 

Childhood Experiences (ACEs), putting in place multi-agency response to 

support children and families before they reach crisis point. 

      

* *    *  05 
Work with communities and across partners in the public and private 

sector to tackle Child Sexual Exploitation. 

      

* *    * * 06 

Improve mental health and emotional well-being for young people by 

delivering an integrated approach to Children and Young People 

Emotional and Mental Health Support. 

      

 *   * * * 07 
Support young disabled people and their families through the delivery of 

the Disabilities Future programme. 

      

 *      08 

Make sure young people are prepared for and given opportunities to 

participate in the world of work through delivery of the ‘Cardiff 

Commitment’, in partnership with the private and third sector.  

   

 

 

   

  

P
age 181



        APPENDIX 3 

 

 Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

       
 

 
 

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

5. Supporting People out of poverty 

 *   * *  01 

Aim to provide more well-paid jobs in Cardiff through acting as an 

advocate for the Real Living Wage initiative across the public, private and 

third sector employers, and including its consideration in commissioning 

and funding decisions. 

      

 *   * * * 02 

Support people who are adversely affected by welfare reform by 

providing an integrated approach, locally delivered in Community and 

Wellbeing Hubs. 

      

 *   * * * 03 

Develop an integrated approach to employment services in Cardiff, 

helping people to find work, stay in work and progress at work, working 

in partnership with Welsh Government, DWP and training providers. 

      

 *    * * 04 

Ensure that the Welsh Government’s flagship anti-poverty programmes 

(Communities First Exit Plans, Families First, Flying Start and Supporting 

People) are designed and delivered in a co-ordinated way.  

      

 *    * * 05 
Seek to end rough sleeping in the city and tackle the causes of 

homelessness.  

      

 * *  * * * 06 

Seek to increase the impact of public services as anchor employers on 

tackling poverty and promoting ‘fair work’ practices by developing cross-

public service approaches to ‘Social Responsibility’, ‘Community Benefits’ 

and ‘Ethical Employment’. 

      

* *   * *  07 

Support a city wide Food Partnership to ensure citizens have access to 

sustainable, healthy and affordable food, including the continued roll out 

of the school holiday enrichment programme. 

      

* *   *  * 08 
Undertake additional research on how best to tackle health inequalities 

and reduce the healthy life expectancy gap. 

      

* *     * 09 

Work to support delivery of Cardiff’s Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 

to increase participation of current and future generations in sport and 

physical activities, particularly in our city’s most deprived communities. 

      

P
age 182



        APPENDIX 3 

 

A Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

 

         

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

6. Cardiff is a great place to grow older 

* *   * * * 01 

Building on the First Point of Contact and Single Point of Access services, 

further develop digital services along with easily accessible telephone, 

online and face-to-face access points for the region, for both 

professionals and the public. 

      

 *    * * 02 
Develop resilient communities with local services, infrastructure and 

strong community networks to meet local needs where older people live. 

      

 *    * * 03 
Develop and provide a range of future accommodation options to meet 

demand and enable people to remain at home for as long as possible. 

      

* *   * * * 04 

Develop improved assessment, diagnosis and care planning practices 

which are built upon genuine collaboration with older people and their 

carers and families, so that their plan reflects what is important to them 

and achieves the outcomes they seek. 

      

* *   * * * 05 
Develop Cardiff as a dementia friendly city. 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 183



        APPENDIX 3 

 

A Prosperous Wales A Resilient Wales A Healthier Wales A More Equal Wales 
A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities 

A Wales of Vibrant 

Culture and Thriving 

Welsh Language 

A Globally 

Responsible Wales 

 

         

2
0

1
9

 

2
0

2
0

 

2
0

2
1

 

2
0

2
2

 

2
0

2
3

 

2
0

2
4

+
 

7. Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services 

 * * * * *  01 
Adopt a cross-public services approach to the management of public 

property and assets. 

      

 * *  * * * 02 
Develop and appropriately skill the city’s public service workforce to meet 

changing needs and demands. 

      

* *    * * 03 
Develop a joined up approach to consultation, engagement and research. 

 

      

 * * * * *  04 
Pilot a new City Innovation Hub to develop new solutions to big city 

challenges, working with all service partners. 

      

 * *   *  05 

Seek to deliver public and third sector services and workforce that are 

representative of the city and its communities, especially Black, Asian, 

and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities. 

      

 

P
age 184



APPENDIX 4 
 

MEASURING PROGRESS - WELL-BEING INDICATOR TECHNICAL DOCUMENT 
 

Personal Well-being Indicators 

Ref Indicator Source 

  

Supplementary Indicator Geography 

 

Characteristic 

A.01 Life satisfaction ONS/Ask 

Cardiff 

Core cities (ONS) Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) 

- 

A.02 Worthwhile ONS/Ask 

Cardiff 

Core cities (ONS) Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) 

- 

A.03 Happiness ONS/Ask 

Cardiff 

Core cities (ONS) Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) 

- 

A.04 Anxiety ONS/Ask 

Cardiff 

Core cities (ONS) Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) 

- 

A.05 Percentage of people moderately or very 

satisfied with their jobs  

National 

Survey 

Welsh LAs Gender - 

 

Objective 1 - A Capital City that Works for Wales 

Ref Indicator Source Geography Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

1.01 Unemployment rate of the economically active 

population aged 16+ (model-based)  

 

 

Annual 

Population 

Survey (LA)/ 

Claimant 

Count (sub-

LA) 

Core Cities  

(& Welsh LAs) 

(APS model-

based 

unemployment) 

Deprivation Fifth 

using claimant 

count data 

(feasibility of this 

to be checked) or 

MSOA map 

Supported by claimant count as a proxy for unemployment 

for sub-local authority analysis 

1.02 GVA per head  ONS/Nomis Core Cities  

(& Welsh LAs) 

- - 

1.03 Gross Disposable Household Income per head  

(National Indicator 10) 

ONS/Nomis Core Cities  

(& Welsh LAs) 

- - 

1.04 Employee jobs with hourly pay below the living 

wage  

ONS (User 

requested 

data) 

Core Cities  

(& Welsh LAs) 

- - 

P
age 185



APPENDIX 4 
 

Ref Indicator Source Geography Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

1.05 Percentage of population aged 16-64 qualified 

NVQ4+ (degree level or equivalent) 

Annual 

Population 

Survey 

Core Cities  

(& Welsh LAs) 

- - 

1.06 Have you attended an arts event in the last 

year? 

Have visited an historic place in the last year? 

Have you visited a museum in the last year?  

(National Survey: 3 separate questions) 

 

 

National 

Survey for 

Wales/Ask 

Cardiff Survey 

Welsh LAs 

(National Survey) 

Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) - 

although the 

categories may 

not match those 

used in the 

National Survey 

Supported by:  

 

In the last 12 months have you been to any of the 

following in Cardiff? Theatre/ Live music or 

Concert/Museum/Art Gallery/Cinema/Other cultural 

activity?  (Ask Cardiff: 6 separate questions)) 

1.07 People who can speak Welsh  

(National Indicator 37) 

National 

Survey for 

Wales 

Welsh LAs - - 

 

  

P
age 186



APPENDIX 4 
 

Objective 2 - Cardiff grows in a resilient way 

Ref Indicator Source 

 

Geography 

 

Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

  

2.01 Per capita CO2 emissions (BEIS) BEIS Core cities Main emission 

types 

- 

2.02 Sustainable transport modal split  Cardiff Council 

(Strategic 

Planning) 

Cardiff Deprivation Fifth 

may be possible 

in the future 

- 

 

2.03 Levels of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and particulate 

matter (PM10, PM2.5) pollution levels in the air 

Welsh Govt/ 

DEFRA 

Welsh LAs & 

map across 

Cardiff by 1km 

squares 

- - 

2.04 Use of/proximity to accessible natural space:     

• Quality: Number of sites meeting Green Flag 

Award and Green Flag Community Award 

criteria. 

• Accessibility: Percentage of people who live 

within walking distance of high quality green 

space.  

NRW NRW currently working on this. 

2.05 No. of properties in Cardiff registered to NRW’s 

Flood Warning Service 

NRW/ 

Infobasecymru 

Cardiff - Potential to be superseded by: 

Number of community flood plans being produced by local 

communities  

2.06 Municipal waste reuse/recycling/composting 

rates 

Welsh Govt Welsh LAs + 

disaggregate by 

area (where 

possible) 

- - 

  

  

P
age 187



APPENDIX 4 
 

Objective 3 - Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities  

Ref Indicator Source 

 

Geography 

 

Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

  

3.01 People agreeing that they belong to the area; 

that people from different backgrounds get on 

well together; and that people treat each other 

with respect (National Indicator 27) 

 

National 

Survey for 

Wales/Ask 

Cardiff Survey 

Welsh LAs 

(National Survey) 

Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) - 

although the 

question is slightly 

different 

Supported by: 

Community cohesion: to what extent do you agree or 

disagree that your neighbourhood is a place where 

people get on well together and help each other?  (Ask 

Cardiff) 

3.02 Percentage able to influence decisions affecting 

their local area (National Survey) 

National 

Survey for 

Wales 

Welsh LAs 

(National Survey) 

None at present. In 

the future look to 

analyse by 

Deprivation Fifth 

using Ask Cardiff 

data  

- 

3.03 People feeling safe (at home, walking in the 

local area, and travelling) (National Survey) 

 

 

National 

Survey for 

Wales/Ask 

Cardiff Survey 

Welsh LAs 

(National Survey) 

Deprivation Fifth 

(Ask Cardiff) - 

although the 

question is slightly 

different 

Supported by:  

To what extent do you agree or disagree that people in 

Cardiff are safe and feel safe?  (Ask Cardiff) 

3.04 Proportion of offenders who reoffend (adults 

and juveniles) overall in previous 12 months   

Ministry of 

Justice 

Core cities - - 

3.05 Percentage of clients accessing substance 

misuse services who reported an improvement 

in their quality of life 

Cardiff & Vale 

APB 

Welsh LAs - - 

3.06 Rates of volunteering National 

Survey for 

Wales/Ask 

Cardiff Survey 

Welsh LAs 

(National Survey) 

None at present. In 

the future look to 

analyse by 

Deprivation Fifth 

using Ask Cardiff 

data (the question 

was not included in 

the latest survey) 

Put question back into Ask Cardiff (matching National 

Survey question). 

 

P
age 188



APPENDIX 4 
 

Objective 4 - Cardiff is a great place to grow up 

Ref Indicator Source 

 

Geography 

 

Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

  

4.01 Percentage of children in low-income families HMRC Core cities & 

LSOA map  

- - 

4.02 Percentage of children aged 4 to 5 who are a 

healthy weight  

Public Health 

Wales/NHS 

(England) 

Welsh LAs (but 

available down 

to MSOA) 

Difference between 

most & least 

deprived fifth 

- 

4.03 Uptake of MMR2 by age 4 (second dose Mumps, 

Measles, Rubella vaccine) 

Public Health 

Wales 

Welsh LAs  

[Target 95% 

(herd immunity 

rate)] 

Difference in 

uptake between 

highest & lowest 

clusters 

- 

4.04 Mental well-being: children & young adults and 

adults (National Indicator 29) 

Public Health 

Wales 

Welsh LAs - - 

4.05 Key Stage 2 Pupils Achieving the Expected Level 

(L4+) in the Core Subject Indicator 

[including FSM v non-FSM attainment gap at LA 

level] 

Welsh Govt Welsh LAs FSM v non-FSM gap - 

4.06 Key Stage 4 Pupils Achieving the Level 2+ 

Threshold including English/Welsh & Maths 

[including FSM v non-FSM attainment gap at LA 

level] 

Welsh Govt Welsh LAs & 

LSOA map 

FSM v non-FSM gap - 

4.07 Year 11 and Year 13 school leavers that are not 

in education, employment or training 

 

 

Careers 

Wales/ 

Claimant 

Count 

Welsh LAs Deprivation Fifth 

(from claimant 

count aged 18-24) - 

need to check 

feasibility but 

should be possible 

Supported by: 

Claimant count aged 18-24 

4.08 Percentage of children cycling/walking to school Cardiff 

Council? 

Potential additional indicator - to be looked into further. 

 

  

P
age 189



APPENDIX 4 
 

Objective 5 - Supporting People out of poverty  

Ref Indicator Source 

 

Geography 

 

Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

  

5.01 Percentage of households in poverty (i.e. below 

60% of median income) by MSOA  (after housing 

costs) 

ONS/ National 

Survey 

 

MSOA (ONS)/ 

Welsh LAs 

(National Survey) 

- Supported by: 

Percentage of people living in households in material 

deprivation (National Indicator 19, National Survey) 

5.02 Long-term (i.e. over 12 months) JSA Claimants Nomis Core cities  

(& Cardiff MSOA 

map if deprivation 

fifths not feasible) 

Deprivation Fifth - 

need to check 

feasibility but 

should be possible 

- 

5.03 Healthy life expectancy at birth (male & female) 

including the gap between the least and most 

deprived (National Indicator 2) 

Public Health 

Wales/ONS 

Welsh LAs (male 

& female). 

Core cities? 

Gap in HLE 

between those 

living in least & 

most deprived 

fifth: male & 

female 

- 

5.04 Percentage of low birth weight babies  

(National Indicator 1) 

Public Health 

Wales 

Welsh LAs (but 

available down to 

LSOA) 

Difference 

between most & 

least deprived fifth 

- 

5.05 Percentage of adults eating 5 or more portions 

of fruit and vegetables a day 

Public Health 

Wales/ 

National 

Survey for 

Wales 

Welsh LAs - - 

5.06 Percentage of adults active for less than 30 

minutes in a week 

Public Health 

Wales/ 

National 

Survey for 

Wales 

 

 

 

 

Welsh LAs - - 

P
age 190



APPENDIX 4 
 

Ref Indicator Source 

 

Geography 

 

 

Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

5.07 Percentage of adults who are current smokers  Public Health 

Wales/ 

National 

Survey for 

Wales 

Welsh LAs Possibly at cluster 

level (potential 

being explored by 

PHW) 

- 

5.08 Housing Affordability: Ratio of house price to 

median gross annual salary (ONS) 

ONS Core Cities & map 

by MSOA 

- - 

5.09 Rough sleepers per 10,000 persons Welsh Govt Welsh LAs - - 

5.10 Food poverty  

(indicator to be defined) 

NHS/ Cardiff 

Food Bank/ 

Trussell Trust/ 

National 

Survey? 

No current agreement on what data will be used. Needs to be looked into further.  

 

5.11 Fuel poverty 

(indicator to be defined) 

Welsh 

Govt/Ask 

Cardiff Survey 

(when 

available) 

Suggested as a potential additional indicator although data may not currently be available. Welsh 

Government was looking to produce a fuel poverty indicator although this is not currently 

available. 

 

  

P
age 191



APPENDIX 4 
 

Objective 6 - Cardiff is a great place to grow older 

Ref Indicator Source 

  

Supplementary Indicator Geography 

 

Characteristic 

6.01 Percentage of people aged 65+ who reported 

their general health as being very good or good 

Public Health 

Wales 

Welsh LAs - - 

6.02 Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they 

felt involved in any decisions made about their 

care and support  

Cardiff 

Council (Adult 

Services) 

Cardiff Deprivation Fifth 

(depending on 

respondent 

numbers) 

[NB. other potential indicators from the Social Services & 

Wellbeing Act can be seen at: 

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/170331technical-

guidanceen.pdf 

6.03 Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they 

received the right information or advice when 

they needed it 

Cardiff 

Council (Adult 

Services) 

Cardiff Deprivation Fifth 

(depending on 

respondent 

numbers) 

[NB. other potential indicators from the Social Services & 

Wellbeing Act can be seen at: 

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/170331technical-

guidanceen.pdf 

6.04 Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting they 

live in the right home for them  

Cardiff 

Council (Adult 

Services) 

Cardiff Deprivation Fifth 

(depending on 

respondent 

numbers) 

[NB. other potential indicators from the Social Services & 

Wellbeing Act can be seen at: 

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/170331technical-

guidanceen.pdf 

6.05 Percentage of people aged 65+ reporting 

loneliness  

Cardiff 

Council (Adult 

Services) 

Cardiff Deprivation Fifth 

(depending on 

respondent 

numbers - proxy 

question will 

need to be used) 

[NB. other potential indicators from the Social Services & 

Wellbeing Act can be seen at: 

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/170331technical-

guidanceen.pdf 

P
age 192



APPENDIX 4 
 

Ref Indicator Source   Supplementary Indicator 

6.06 Life satisfaction among older people  Public Health 

Wales/Ask 

Cardiff 

Welsh LAs Deprivation fifth 

(dependent on 

respondent 

numbers) or Age 

(aged 65+ 

compared with 

rest of 

population) 

- 

 

Objective 7 - Modernising and Integrating Our Public Services 

Ref Indicator Source 

 

Geography 

 

 

Characteristic Supplementary Indicator 

7.01 To what extent do you agree that the quality of 

public services in Cardiff is good overall?  

Ask Cardiff 

Survey 

Cardiff Deprivation Fifth - 

 

 

P
age 193



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Cardiff Public Services Board Membership 

Statutory Members 

Member Deputy Organisation 

Councillor Huw Thomas, Leader 

(Chair) 

Councillor Sarah Merry, 

Deputy Leader 

Cardiff Council 

Paul Orders, Chief Executive Sarah McGill, Director of 

Communities, Housing & 

Customer Services 

Cardiff Council 

Maria Battle (Vice Chair) Abigail Harris, Director of 

Planning 

Fiona Kinghorn, Deputy 

Director of Public Health 

Cardiff & Vale University 

Health Board Len Richards, Chief Executive 

Officer 

Sharon Hopkins, Deputy Chief 

Executive 

Cardiff & Vale University 

Health Board 

Huw Jakeway, Chief Fire Officer David Bents, Group Manager 

Operations 

South Wales Fire & 

Rescue  

Gareth O’Shea, Executive Director 

for Operations, South Wales 

Nadia De Longhi, Operations 

Manager 

Natural Resources Wales 

Invited Participants 

Member Deputy Organisation 

Sheila Hendrickson Brown, Chief 

Executive Officer  

N/A C3SC 

Stephen Jones, Chief 

Superintendent  

N/A Representing Chief 

Constable, South Wales 

Police 

Mark Brace, Assistant Police and 

Crime Commissioner 

N/A Police and Crime 

Commissioner for South 

Wales 

Jo Salway, Head of Cabinet Office N/A Welsh Government 

Peter Greenhill, Head of Local 

Delivery Unit 

N/A Wales National 

Probation Service 

Victoria Harris, Head of Local 

Delivery Unit for Cardiff and Vale 

of Glamorgan 

N/A Wales Community 

Rehabilitation Company 

January 2018 

Appendix B

Page 195



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



02/10/2017 

Advice from the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales: Cardiff PSB 

Dear Cardiff Public Services Board and supporting officers, 

Thank you for seeking my advice on how you might take steps to meet your draft well-being objectives, which 

currently are: 

• A Capital City that works for Wales.

• Cardiff’s population growth is managed in a resilient way.

• Safe, confident and empowered communities.

• Cardiff is a great place to grow up.

• Supporting people out of poverty.

• Cardiff is a great place to grow older.

• Modernising and integrating our public services.

My team have found that talking to you regularly and seeing your work as it progresses has given them a valuable 

understanding of how you work together. I hope you have also found these regular touch-points helpful in giving 

you advice along the way. I was keen that my advice would be useful to you and the context within which you 

work. I am building an understanding of this now across Wales, seeking to share my learning of different 

approaches and what seems to work well or not.  

I would encourage you to read this letter in conjunction with my response to your well-being assessment. My 

reviews of the assessments should be seen as 'feed-forward', rather than 'feedback', helping you to consider how 

to approach continuous assessment and well-being planning. As you know, I have also recently published 'Well-

being in Wales: Planning today for a better tomorrow', which highlights key findings and recommendations for all 

PSBs and public bodies on the key areas of change needed to make better decisions for future generations. Both 

resources are also intended as advice to you. 

The purpose of this advice is not to give you my opinion on your well-being objectives or your draft plan. These 

are determined and owned by you, as a collective PSB. Instead, this advice is intended to help you challenge the 

way things are done and demonstrate how you are doing so through your well-being plan. Therefore, the first 

part of my advice is about how you might work together differently, apply the sustainable development principle 

and use the five ways of working to challenge business as usual in taking steps to meet your objectives. The 

second part of my advice is based on your draft objectives and provides prompts, resources and contacts to help 

you demonstrate through your well-being plan that you have used the five ways of working and seven well-being 

goals to shape your steps.  

Appendix C

Page 197

https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/well-wales-planning-today-better-tomorrow/
https://futuregenerations.wales/documents/well-wales-planning-today-better-tomorrow/


 

 

 

Adopting different ways of working to take steps to meet your draft objectives: 

 

I have said to every PSB that, in setting their steps and publishing a well-being plan, I would like to understand 

what this means for their area specifically and how this is different to what has been done before. By this, I mean 

what services will be affected, what commitments you have made and how things are changing for Cardiff. 

Achieving the ambitions of this Act is about the 'what' and the 'how' i.e. what are you doing to contribute to our 

shared vision of the seven national well-being goals? The goals acknowledge that sustainable development 

connects the environment in which we live, the economy in which we work, the society in which we enjoy and the 

cultures in which we share, to people and their quality of life, so what are you going to do differently together to 

meet these? And, how you are applying the sustainable development principle to shape your actions for Cardiff? 

 

As I have said to PSBs, I know you don't have all of the answers yet as you are developing your approach to 

working together differently and consulting on your draft plans. It is really encouraging to see that you are 

relating the draft objectives and steps to the context of Cardiff and attempting to explain your contributions to 

the seven goals. I hope this advice helps you to do this in the best possible way and I would advise that you will 

need to demonstrate how your PSB has considered the following in relation to each of your objectives:  

 
• Long-term: As I said in my response to your well-being assessment, talking about the 'Cardiff Today and 

Cardiff Tomorrow' is to be commended. I can see you have thought about the long term trends in your 
draft plan. Your focus is understandably on Cardiff and public services, so I would advise that you build on 
this from a perspective outside of Cardiff as you think about the steps you could take. What do you 
understand about what's happening in the rest of Wales and how this is going to impact on Cardiff? What 
are the global long-term trends, opportunities, risks and likely scenarios for this issue? Have you explored 
their impact on your steps? Are there current gaps in your data or understanding? What fore-sighting or 
future trends information do you need to understand this issue better? What capacity, confidence and 
expertise do you need to fill gaps in knowledge? To inform the action you take, you will need to 
adequately map and consider the future trends for each of your objectives. My office is working with 
others to build capacity in this area and, as your support team are aware, Welsh Government have been 
adding to the 'Future Trends' report resources, which you should make most use of by accessing available 
through Objective Connect or by contacting David Thomas. The Oxford Martin 'Now for the long-term' 
report shows global and national future trends that we all need to react to in carrying out sustainable 
development. 

 
• Prevention: In considering this issue, do you have an understanding of what you are trying to prevent? 

What are the root causes of the issue and when would be the best point to intervene? Are you clear on 
whether it is primary prevention i.e. seeking to prevent something before it has even occurred; secondary 
prevention i.e. preventing something from getting worse; or tertiary prevention i.e. softening the impact 
of something that has ongoing effects; that is needed?  

Page 198

http://www.oxfordmartin.ox.ac.uk/downloads/commission/Oxford_Martin_Now_for_the_Long_Term.pdf


 

 

This is the difference between encouraging someone to wear a bicycle helmet (primary prevention of 
head-injury); putting someone in the recovery position if they have fallen from their bike (secondary 
prevention of the injury worsening) and counselling after the accident (tertiary prevention to help 
ongoing injuries from worsening). Many PSBs haven't used their assessments to fully understand both the 
current situation and the scale and nature of the response required. At the moment, your high level steps 
are encouraging but it is not clear how services and resourcing will change in Cardiff to be more 
preventative. I appreciate you might not know the full picture yet, but I want to see all PSBs exploring 
how they break cycles and dig deeper into data to see the implicit messages in the data to better 
understand the causes and effects of key issues and trends to inform your steps. 
 

• Collaboration: It is important that the people who sit around the PSB table can bring the best range of 

insights, constructive challenge, data and solutions to the PSB. Have you got the right people around the 

table, at the right level to make decisions around this issue? Who else might you need to be collaborating 

with to better understand this? As recommended in my report on the Well-being Assessments, now is a 

timely opportunity to review the invited membership of the PSB and consider who are the 'unusual' 

suspects that you may need to work with to take steps to meet this objective? 

In delivering the steps, how might your organisations collaborate? You will need to demonstrate how 

your PSB is considering the steps that need to be taken together and across organisational boundaries in 

order to effectively meet your objectives. This could include jointly funding support, co-locating staff, 

breaking down traditional structures, arranging job-swaps and secondments and, importantly, pooling 

resources. I will want to see how you have considered these benefits and how the steps you will take 

move you towards achieving this collaboration.  

 

• Integration: For each of your objectives, you must demonstrate that you are seeking to maximise your 

contribution to each of the statutory definitions of the well-being goals. How are you going to stop just 

doing something that meets the objective, and instead, demonstrate that you are taking steps which 

maximise your contribution to each of the goals? Instead of looking at this issue in a traditional and 

general sense, have you looked at the definition for each of the goals to widen your understanding of 

well-being for this issue and the opportunities which might exist for meeting these goals through each of 

your objectives?  How well do you understand the contribution your organisation makes at the moment 

to this objective? And do you understand how different is the contribution you will need to make going 

forward for this objective?  

How can you plot what's going on elsewhere in your organisations, the strategies and plans at a regional 

or a national level, to connect and lead with others on achieving this objective? Have you yet 

acknowledged the barriers or tensions that have arisen and what steps can you (or others) take to 

remove them? Who else is needed around the PSB table to help you interconnect decision-making and 

improve well-being for this issue? 

 

Page 199



 

 

• Involvement: I can see you have started to think about how you meaningfully involve people in shaping 

and delivering your objectives and steps. I want to see a demonstrated continued focus on this for all 

PSBs. In fulfilling this, how are you taking steps to understand the lived experiences of people in your area 

and how is this shaping your actions? How are you actively seeking better ways of involving people in 

decision-making? How can you collaborate with members of the community in meeting these steps? As 

with the Social Care Wales Board, what options are there for involving people with lived experience on 

Boards and partnership groups? 

I am reiterating to all PSB members that setting objectives and steps is not business as usual. In the past, we have 

drawn out themes and priorities and written plans that show what we are doing anyway. Even now, despite the 

evidence in the assessments showing a range of alarming trends, it seems PSBs are only engaging in safe and non-

contentious territory. To adapt your ways of working requires a fundamentally different approach and you need 

to give yourselves the time and space as a PSB to question whether current approaches to public service delivery 

are fit for the future. It is time to explore key pressures and tensions in policy and delivery that you are dealing 

with every day as leaders of your own organisations.  

 

Your approach to holding workshop sessions as part of your PSB meetings and getting out of civic centre meeting 

rooms to discuss what actions you are going to collectively take is something I am recommending to all PSBs. I 

have made the recommendation in 'Well-being in Wales: Planning today for a better tomorrow' that we move 

away from seeing PSBs as a local authority-led committee meeting, with PSBs building a mutual understanding 

and respect of each other's professions. The PSB should be about a new way of working, not driven by any one 

organisation's culture. The Chair of the PSB, how and where meetings are held and how the PSB is supported can 

all shift mindsets and allow for healthier challenge to 'business as usual'. 

 

As leaders in the capital city of Wales, I know you sit in many meetings, partnership structures and have 

involvement in many initiatives. See the PSB as an opportunity to wear those different hats, to raise challenges 

and as an opportunity to integrate and collaborate at your influential level. For your draft plan to be delivered, 

your leadership needs to permeate throughout your organisations. Communicating why the work of the PSB 

matters to your own senior management teams and using the well-being plan to challenge current practices 

within your own departments is crucial to creating the culture change your draft plan advocates. How can you 

empower your staff to attend partnership meetings, be tasked with the work of the PSB and make things happen? 

Across Wales, I have been hearing that this particularly applies to middle management, who are perhaps 

struggling to compromise current frameworks with the Act. I have a role to recognise and mitigate barriers, but so 

do you – as senior leaders, in challenging your managers to work differently and be 'safe to fail'. 

 

You will need to demonstrate how each of the public bodies represented at your PSB are taking all reasonable 

steps in the exercising of their functions to meet the PSB’s objectives. I appreciate that during the first phases of 

implementation of the Act this may be challenging, as the objectives of individual public bodies have been set.  

But, whilst I am sympathetic to the needs of PSBs and public bodies to have time to work towards alignment I will 

Page 200



 

 

want to see that the work of the PSB is not seen as something separate to the priorities of its member bodies. 

Over the next few months, I want to see PSBs demonstrating how all members can maximise their contribution 

to, for example, a low carbon society, healthy functioning ecosystems, safe and well-connected communities or 

protecting the Welsh language, through the objectives and steps they have set.  

 

I am seeing models of co-ordination and PSB support that differ across the country. Where it is a commitment of 

more than one PSB member organisation, there is an underlying recognition that people are signed up to this 

challenge. I would advise all PSBs to at least move to closer working arrangements across your organisations, a 

multi-agency virtual team with a senior leader or more formal secondments and co-location. There are several 

resources that may be of use, such as Designing Multi-Agency Partnerships; Leading Culture Change and 

Stepping up: a framework for public sector leadership on sustainability.  Taking a different approach is 

challenging and requires you, not your supporting officers but people in positions of leadership, to play your part 

and be brave in driving the changes needed. I hope you continue to lead an intelligence-based approach to 

finding different solutions to how things have been previously done. 

 

Advice on how you might take steps to meet your draft objectives: 

 

From the regular conversations you have had with my team, I know your supporting officers have worked hard 

over the summer to draw on your assessment findings, gather professional knowledge and draft your objectives 

and steps. In general, as you go about holding workshops to explore each of your objectives, I think seeking to 

understand the differences across the city will help to inform the steps you decide to take. Consistently using the 

five ways of working to challenge your usual approach and seeking to maximise your contribution to the seven 

well-being goals in each of your objectives will give you a framework for planning and delivery.  

 

You should be considering what local services will be impacted if you redirect investment? Are there long-term 

trends for particular communities that you believe will get worse if you don't take action? Which communities 

would benefit and how? What can you do things differently that contributes to each of the seven goals? I know 

you will be continuing to work on this throughout the next year or so and have engaged with Y Lab to run a City 

Innovation Hub to help you consider new solutions. I will be really interested to see this learning shared and I 

want to see how you're demonstrating this thinking in your published well-being plan, even if this is stating that 

you don't have the answers yet and explaining what you’re going to do about it! 

 

• A capital city that works for Wales. 

Cardiff's growth and reinvention are a good example of how rapidly things can change in a generation. As you 

have acknowledged, the city is enjoying a raised international profile, positive economic outputs and a thriving 

cultural scene. Meeting this objective certainly relies on celebrating and building up these positive factors, but in 

doing so, you must consider how your actions can cause rapid change for the next generation and for future 

generations to come.  

Page 201

http://www.mspguide.org/sites/default/files/case/msp_guide-2016-digital.pdf
https://www.cipd.co.uk/Images/leading-culture-change-employee-engagement-and-public-service-transformation_2012_tcm18-14116.pdf
https://www.forumforthefuture.org/sites/default/files/project/downloads/steppinguppub-sector-leadership.pdf


 

 

 

You are clearly thinking about the risks and opportunities facing Cardiff in the medium term, such as Brexit, 

attracting investment and delivering major events for the city. I would suggest that these are short term steps 

with long term consequences, and you need to further consider scenarios for Cardiff and take steps to either 

prevent or encourage these to occur. For instance, understanding the impact of Brexit is something that needs to 

be undertaken rapidly as part of your continuous well-being assessment of Cardiff. This information can then give 

you evidence to set out clear longer-term steps on what your, as a PSB, intend to do to manage, mitigate and 

resolve issues that arise. Seeking to attract more major events to the city is also a medium-term action. How can 

you do this in a way that maximises your contribution to the seven well-being goals? Could profit from these 

major events be invested in initiatives that seek to reduce carbon emissions, given that so many will travel to be 

at events like the Champions League Final? 

 

Cardiff is also experiencing a rise in tourism and, attracting more major events to the city will only increase this in 

coming years. How can you encourage sustainable tourism; active travel routes; creating small and local business 

opportunities across the city? Other PSBs are also seeking to increase tourist numbers and grow their economy. 

Cardiff will be a destination for many, so how can you work together to encourage people to sustainably explore 

other corners of Wales? Encouraging a focus around the culture and language of the city, the cohesion and 

attractiveness of communities, and the beautiful natural environment surrounding Cardiff can also help you 

maximise your contribution to all of the goals. Could this also involve people undertaking apprenticeships or 

training to support people out of poverty? 

 

The Cardiff Capital Region is an exciting opportunity for South Wales, but I have previously expressed concern 

that the deal is being progressed with those involved seeing the Well-being of Future Generations Act as 

something you assess your actions against, rather than shaping how things are planned and agreed. You play a 

central role in steering these opportunities as the economic centre of the region. I would advise that, as people in 

positions of leadership, you need to influence the current negotiations with the economic, environmental, social 

and cultural well-being of people across the region in mind. The Joseph Rowntree Foundation estimates that 

poverty costs the whole region £2.2 billion per year. Increasing GDP has little impact on reducing inequalities, and 

in eight out of the ten Local Authority areas in the region, child poverty is above the Welsh average. So, 

interpreting the value of the City Region as purely economic would be misplaced. Yes, this is a positive economic 

opportunity but how can we balance our responsibilities to develop a city region that is sustainable and puts 

people at the centre. My letter to those involved in December 2016 hopefully provides you with some advice on 

the matter and I also recently commented in response to Dr Mark Lang and Professor Terry Marsden's recent 

report "Re-thinking Growth: Toward the Well-being Economy." 

 

My team have also been working with Transport for Wales on proposals for the Metro and rail franchise. This has 

been a positive dialogue to date and I have shared with them our 'Future Generations Framework', developed in 

partnership with the New Economics Foundation, which has also been shared with your support team. The 

purpose of this framework (originally intended for projects concerning infrastructure) is to help public bodies use 

Page 202

https://futuregenerations.wales/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/20161212-City-deal-FinalEng.pdf
http://www.cardiff.ac.uk/news/view/923006-rethinking-growth


 

 

the Well-being of Future Generations Act as a framework for thinking when developing projects; it can also be 

used to review progress as the project develops. We are working on ensuring the framework is applicable to a 

wider range of projects including policy/programme development. In the meantime, I would advise you use it as a 

PSB in your workshop sessions and we would be interested to hear any feedback on its usefulness to your work.  

 

I am encouraged to see you appreciating the influence and reach you have as a PSB. I would advise that, as public 

service leaders, you continue to consider what actions you can take or influence to meet this objective. Do your 

organisational policies currently seek to help sustainable local businesses? How can your procurement procedures 

maximise what you can do to be a globally responsible city by cutting down on transporting goods, investing in 

local trade and placing value on long-term usability rather than focussing on cost alone? How can you integrate 

your support for these businesses and link with policy and service delivery opportunities at a national and 

regional level? In return, what social responsibilities do businesses have to their communities? Can you better 

integrate your work so this contributes to a more equal Wales and your objective to support people out of 

poverty? Forum for the Future have published reports on this and my office are working with Value Wales to 

pilot new approaches to procurement in the context of the Act with Local Authorities and other public bodies. 

 

Your draft plan discusses that the ambition is to attract more high quality and high value businesses. I suggest this 

will need to be balanced with your duty to improve the social, cultural and environmental well-being of the city 

also. As you have said, congestion, air pollution issues and the city's carbon emissions are already an issue, which 

would only be exacerbated by certain kinds of business. In contributing to a prosperous Wales, you must 

demonstrate you're working to "an innovative, productive and low carbon society which recognises the limits of 

the global environment and therefore uses resources efficiently and proportionately...". In considering growth, 

you need to put a low carbon economy at the centre of your objective. This also links to the steps of your second 

draft objective in improving air quality; as 40% of the workforce currently commute into Cardiff and 80% of 

inbound commuters are by car. This poses a problem for people commuting to these potential new businesses 

with your assessment identifying that the road traffic is the major cause for high levels of nitrogen oxide in the 

city. I would suggest that this needs careful thought and modelling over the long term; and should be central to 

delivering a sustainable capital city. 

 

As you have recognised, however, the future of work and patterns of employment is changing, which will 

inevitably have an impact on how we interact with work. The Future of Work report predicts that 65 percent of 

the children who are now starting school will find themselves working jobs as adults that don't even exist yet. 

And, according to McKinsey, technology could automate 45 percent of the tasks people are currently paid to do. 

Have you modelled how this could impact on the local economy? How can you act for the long-term now and 

seek to instill skills in young people that are fit for the future? What opportunities are there to take advantage of 

likely automation? What action can you take now, as public service providers, to encourage learning and jobs in 

the foundational economy, around local care, retail and food industries, which are jobs less likely to be 

automated in future and good for the local economy? A recent report by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation 

highlights the value of the social economy in creating jobs, strengthening skills and employability. How can you 

Page 203

https://www.forumforthefuture.org/sites/default/files/project/downloads/buying-better-world.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/improvingservices/bettervfm/?lang=en
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/talent/future-of-work/journey-to-2022.html
https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/issues/talent/future-of-work/journey-to-2022.html
http://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/digital-mckinsey/our-insights/four-fundamentals-of-workplace-automation
https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/cities-social-economy-and-inclusive-growth


 

 

encourage equality through initiatives? Cardiff is a diverse city and there are persistent pay gaps across the UK 

between white males and other groups. How can you encourage people to gain more meaning from their work? 

In the future, work / life balance will become more important and a recent World Economic Forum blog asks 

‘What is the meaning of work?’ and quotes: "I believe in a future where the point of education is not to prepare 

you for another useless job, but for a life well lived." These are the kinds of long-term trends I want to see PSBs 

exploring in setting their steps. 

 

The further and higher education institutions in Cardiff, across Wales and in England should be engaged in this 

conversation, given that Cardiff attracts so many young people for work. Is there an equality of opportunity 

across the city? Children and young people have pointed out that teamwork, communication and confidence are 

as valuable as good grades when entering the workplace (in the Prince's Trust recent Results for Life report), so, 

linked to supporting people out of poverty, how are young people across the capital having the opportunity to 

gain these skills? 

 

You should be maximising your contribution to a Wales that has a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language in 

every draft objective. Given the ambition to double the number of Welsh speakers in Cardiff and the Welsh 

Government's target of one million Welsh speakers by 2050, as set out in 'Cymraeg 2050', how are you actively 

growing Welsh in the city? How can you encourage businesses to place value on recruiting Welsh speakers? Alun 

Davies AM announced funding for growing bilingual small businesses recently to increase visibility of Welsh in 

our communities. Can you adopt a business support system based on businesses maximising their contribution to 

the seven well-being goals? The Welsh Language Commissioner's team have been working with my office, 

considering how they best help PSBs to consider the role they can play; please let my team know if you would like 

to discuss this. 

 

Several other PSBs are drafting similar objectives and steps including Powys; Ceredigion; Newport; 

Pembrokeshire; and Caerphilly. 

 

• Cardiff’s population growth is managed in a resilient way. 
 

As I have already advised, achievement of this objective is interconnected with a capital city that works for Wales 

– this is the sustainable development principle in practice, where you will need to balance economic growth and 

positive inward migration with improving environmental, social and cultural well-being. I am encouraged to see 

you thinking about the impact of more people in Cardiff over the next ten years and I would encourage you to 

think even further ahead than this in your planning and delivery. Most of the homes that we live in are around a 

century old, the street infrastructure a couple of centuries old in some areas and our transport is certainly last 

century. This is an opportunity to think about new and existing infrastructure that is fit for the future, that will last 

our children and their children, and even their children's children.  

 

Page 204

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/pay-gaps
https://www.princes-trust.org.uk/about-the-trust/research-policies-reports/education-report-2017
http://gov.wales/topics/welshlanguage/welsh-language-strategy-and-policies/cymraeg-2050-welsh-language-strategy/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/newsroom/welshlanguage/2017/support-use-of-welsh-within-small-businesses/?lang=en


 

 

Cardiff's Local Development Plan has set out new communities to be created by 2026. In considering the 

development of these areas, and those beyond 2026 now, I advise that the seven well-being goals are used as a 

frame to shape the thinking of planning and development. Housing is the cornerstone of well-being; how it is 

built, affordability, where it is located and how suitable it is to the needs of its inhabitants now and for the future 

can have a massive impact on health, equality, community cohesion, the environment. Most of the older housing 

in Wales fall short of energy efficiency, homes are being built for families and without flexibility of use, and we are 

consistently seeing large estates being built with little appreciation for active travel, far from walking distance to 

shops, pubs, green or blue space, or public services.   

 

The Resolution Foundation finds that across the country, millennials are spending three times as much as their 

grandparents on housing, with today's 30-year olds half as likely to own a home as their parents - a long term 

trend now worsening for future generations. As well as developing housing that meets demographic change, 

Wales also has an opportunity to develop housing that better meets modern conceptions of what it means to live 

well, adopting technology to allow people to live low-carbon lives. This, of course, links to several of your other 

objectives on growing older, growing up in Cardiff, supporting people out of poverty and modernising public 

services. There is no question that if we are to change people's travel habits and reduce our carbon emissions, we 

need homes in communities that are fit for the future. The Welsh Government has launched a £20 million 

innovative housing fund and over the next two years, it will support both the supply of affordable housing and the 

improvement of the quality of housing that is delivered. PSBs should be seeking to influence how this fund is 

utilised and understand the impact it has on Wales to inform their long-term steps on housing.  

 

Infrastructure goes beyond housing and how you plan, design and locate future developments, buildings, 

infrastructure and other public and community spaces as part of your Local Development Plan is critical to 

creating a prosperous and environmentally resilient city. The Closing the Circle report on the circular economy 

and the Welsh Environment is a useful report by Constructing Excellence in Wales, giving practical examples of 

where the public sector can look to minimise waste and resources in future projects. You can also take inspiration 

from some of the projects mentioned in the recent Constructing Excellence Awards, such as the Active 

Classroom. Having a consideration of how 'green' these buildings are, both in terms of energy efficiency and 

sustainable construction, is a quick win for you as a PSB. The Wildlife Trust in Wales report into green 

infrastructure outlines how green infrastructure delivers a wide range of proven, tangible, and cost-effective 

economic, social and environmental benefits. The Design Commission for Wales also has case studies and 

resources on design that focuses on users, maximises energy efficiency and has been shown to significantly 

improve patient recovery in health.   

 

Clearly, an influx of people and the logistics of getting people from one place to another is a vital consideration. I 

am encouraged by the targets you are setting yourselves to shift transportation modes over the next ten years. 

Clearly the Metro and improved rail links will be part of this, but how are you looking longer term to popular 

ownership of electric vehicles? Some PSBs are already installing electric charging points around their areas and 

encouraging staff to purchase electric vehicles through use of an electric pool car. Have you modelled what 

Page 205

http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/sep/20/millennials-spend-three-times-more-of-income-on-housing-than-grandparents
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/sep/20/millennials-spend-three-times-more-of-income-on-housing-than-grandparents
http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/4214/9372/0980/Closing_the_circle_Circular_economy_Opportunity_for_the_welsh_built_environment_Report.pdf
http://www.cewales.org.uk/files/8915/0227/7838/CEW_Awards_2017_winners_brochure_-_July_2017.pdf
http://www.wtwales.org/greeninfrastructure
http://www.wtwales.org/greeninfrastructure
https://dcfw.org/about/


 

 

impact driverless cars could have on the city and of future housing developments? Some predict that car 

ownership will drop significantly and that there may be an increase in people moving out of cities, due to being 

able to work and travel. There is an opportunity to create more sustainable transport solutions for the growth of 

population and economy in Cardiff and I advise you collaborate with some 'unusual suspects' to understand the 

implications of planning this for the long term. 

 

With population growth comes threat to our natural environment. Cardiff is a celebrated green city with 

parkland, green spaces, rivers and coastline. Although urban, as your well-being assessment states, it is home to 

many natural habitats and the connectivity of green space around the city means different species thrive. The 

people of Cardiff experience enhanced health and well-being because of the natural green and blue space on 

offer. You have a duty to "maintain and enhance a biodiverse natural environment with healthy functioning 

ecosystems that support social, economic and ecological resilience and the capacity to adapt to change" within 

the Act and I would advise that you consider the place-based approaches to doing so. You have stated that access 

to green space is not the same across the city and that different parts of the city face different risks for the 

environment. Understanding this and integrating it with your other objectives could provide multiple benefits of 

involving the communities in creating green space, that also serves the purpose of mitigating risks. How can you 

also contribute to a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language? The definition for this goal is "a society 

that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and which encourages people to 

participate in the arts, and sports and recreation." Getting people outdoors, participating in sport, celebrating 

their culture and heritage through the green spaces of Cardiff should be encouraged.  I am impressed by the 

'Greener Grangetown' and Dwr Cymru Rainscape project in this respect and I would encourage more like this. 

How can other members of the PSB be collaborating on this? In taking a place-based approach and involving the 

community, what other benefits can be realised in relation to cohesion, education and health? 

 

Climate change is a huge global challenge, but we all have a responsibility; Zero Carbon Britain's recent 'Making it 

Happen' report sets out what we can do for future generations to act on climate change now. I would like to see 

the PSB considering the specific effects for Cardiff more in their short, medium and long-term actions. In the 

future, the effects of climate change are likely to cause droughts in the summer, meaning a shortage of water, 

declining bio-diversity and a knock-on effect for agriculture. Much of Wales is reliant on agriculture for the 

economy and we all rely on the environment for food, water and recreation. You have recognised that Cardiff is at 

risk of flooding, so I would suggest you need to look at critical infrastructure at risk. Are current approaches 

adequate to cope? How can you use scenarios to imagine what preventative action you could take to protect 

water supplies and transportation in the event of extreme weather? 

 

Your own responsibilities as organisations needs to be clear in the steps you take to meet this objective. How can 

you, as senior officers, create organisations that are more globally responsible and contributing to a resilient 

Cardiff? Although the public sector only accounts for a relatively small amount of Wales’ emissions, you are 

uniquely placed to influence emissions far more widely in areas such as transport of goods and people, use and 

investment in energy, land use and procurement.  The Welsh Government recently published carbon emission 

Page 206

https://www.thetimes.co.uk/article/driverless-cars-will-lead-exodus-to-the-suburbs-says-timothy-hodgetts-from-oxford-university-v9wg5q06x
https://greenergrangetown.wordpress.com/
http://www.dwrcymru.com/en/My-Wastewater/RainScape/Next-Steps.aspx
http://zerocarbonbritain.com/images/pdfs/ZeroCarbonBritain-MakingItHappen.pdf
http://zerocarbonbritain.com/images/pdfs/ZeroCarbonBritain-MakingItHappen.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/welsh-emissions/?lang=en


 

 

levels subdivided by Local Authority and a Call for Evidence to explore the most effective mechanisms for 

achieving a carbon neutral public sector by 2030. I will be hosting an event on the 9th November, in partnership 

with Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales to: explore how the public service in Wales can involve 

people in collaborating and integrating their work, to take greater account of the long-term carbon implications of 

their activities, and help prevent the effects of climate change becoming even worse.   

 

The WWF environmental footprint calculator serves a sharp reminder to us all of our potential to impact change 

and the impact communities can have on carbon emissions. NESTA has a guide to working with communities to 

tackle climate change, including the 'Big Green Challenge', where participants changed their lifestyles to reduce 

their carbon footprint and an extreme example includes the Isle of Eigg in Scotland, where the community are 

having a positive impact on their environment by introducing renewable community energy schemes, building 

sustainable businesses and improving biodiversity. We have clear commitments to meet in terms of carbon 

reduction, the UK has pledged to have zero emissions by 2050 and every Welsh Government has pledged for 

more green jobs. But despite Wales being a place of great potential in providing natural energy, only 10% of 

Wales' electricity in 2013 was provided through renewable energy. Last year, the National Assembly for Wales 

Environment and Sustainability Committee produced 'A Smarter Energy Future for Wales', with 19 

recommendations for how Wales could transform its approach to energy. More recently, Smart Energy GB have 

produced a report on 'A Smart Energy Future for Rural Areas', giving examples and case studies of rural areas 

across the UK who are making that transition.  

 

Other PSBs seeking to protect their environment and undertake further work to understand the risks for their 

communities include Blaenau Gwent; the Vale of Glamorgan; Carmarthenshire; Pembrokeshire and Caerphilly. 

 

• Safe, confident and empowered communities.  

 

Cardiff's diversity and inclusivity are to be welcomed and celebrated. As you have recognised, this diversity is 

growing and it is important that feel welcome, a sense of belonging and ownership over their new communities. 

This applies to both the large numbers of people arriving in Cardiff and those who already live here. "Attractive, 

safe, viable and well-connected communities" improves every aspect of well-being. A lack of these things can 

create tensions, poor well-being and, in extreme cases, criminal behaviour. It is encouraging that you are 

considering how best to prevent this and encourage involvement of people in the solutions.  

 

Only by understanding the differences across communities in Cardiff through listening to people and spending 

time there can you begin to see where the PSB can add value. Involving people is central to achieving this 

objective and I would advise each of your organisations to commit to the National Participation Standards. You 

may wish to contact Participation Cymru, who can support your officers in gaining the skills vital for effective and 

meaningful involvement. Co-production Network Wales could help you consider time banking schemes, provide 

examples of good coproduction and help you to identify and engage community leaders. I know you already have 

locality and neighbourhood structures in place; this is a good start but how often are they truly empowered to 

Page 207

http://gov.wales/topics/environmentcountryside/climatechange/public-sector-decarbonisation/?lang=en
http://footprint.wwf.org.uk/
https://www.nesta.org.uk/sites/default/files/working_with_communities_to_tackle_climate_change.pdf
http://theconversation.com/what-other-communities-can-learn-from-this-islander-buy-out-in-scotlands-hebrides-75896
http://www.assembly.wales/laid%20documents/cr-ld10610/cr-ld10610-e.pdf
https://www.smartenergygb.org/en/resources/press-centre/press-releases-folder/future-rural-energy
http://participation.cymru/en/
https://coproductionnetworkwales.wordpress.com/


 

 

take a decision, tweak a service or solve a problem that makes a big difference for that area? This work should 

also be taking an asset based approach, helping people across Cardiff to recognise their strengths, see the 

positives about their communities and build upon them. For instance, your assessment states that there is an 

issue of inequality when it comes to feelings of safety in the city, particularly for women and disabled people, who 

have a perception that some areas are unsafe. How can breaking down barriers between geographical and 

demographic communities help to alter preconceptions?  

 

Deepening your understanding of communities is best learnt from the lived experiences of people who live there. 

Involving your staff, getting out and about to speak to people and collaborating with them to deliver projects is a 

way of winning the trust of communities and seeing positive results. Similar work is already being done in 

Trowbridge and St Mellons through the Big Lottery funded Building Communities Trust.  You may not know who 

the potential community leaders and connectors are in some areas, so if you are committed to this, re-purpose 

your resources to do more work in communities, to begin to know a place as the people who live there know it. 

No doubt that doing this will help you in understanding how tackling population change might be approached on 

a place-basis and give you an understanding of the environment in that locality too. Again, involving 'unusual 

suspects' in the work of the PSB, schools, colleges, the Community Councils and the third sector play an important 

role in connecting people.  

 

Bringing people together with their different cultures, cooking, art and performance creates cohesion and a sense 

of belonging. Many people will only get involved in something if it's fun and of benefit to them. How can you use 

sport, heritage, language, traditions and natural environment to enable people to participate? There is a real 

opportunity here for you to think about how you maximise your contribution to the national goals. As we know, 

sport knows no language limits and can be extremely powerful in bringing people from all walks of life together. 

Sport Wales are keen to work with PSBs on how they can maximise their contribution to the seven well-being 

goals. The Arts Council for Wales' strategy, which outlines some of the benefits involvement in creative activity 

can have on the health, cohesion and skills of the population could help you recognize how projects can have 

multiple benefits for your organisations. How can the National Museum and National Library for Wales help to 

create a new story for the communities of Cardiff? The Cultural Commissioning Programme, funded by Arts 

Council England seeks to help commissioners of public services understand how they can improve outcomes by 

integrating arts and cultural activities into a range of services, including mental health and well-being, older 

people and place-based commissioning. Truly putting the power in the hands of people who know their area best 

often has unexpected positive results, shown by the work that 'Nurture Development' do around Asset Based 

Community Development; and the Centre for Regeneration Excellence Wales' 'Deep Place' study in Tredegar 

showing how an understanding of place can have multiple benefits on well-being. 

  

Digitilisation means the world is now a different place and this is only set to continue over the long term. This 

recent report on Digital Childhoods from Barnados shows the pace at which technology is moving and the way 

children now consume information. How are your organisations harnessing the power of technology to help you 

meet this objective? Clearly, there are implications of how safe the web is for the people of Cardiff. How can it be 

Page 208

http://www.arts.wales/about-us/plans-and-strategies/inspire
http://neweconomics.org/2016/05/the-art-of-commissioning/
http://neweconomics.org/2016/05/the-art-of-commissioning/
http://www.nurturedevelopment.org/reports/
http://www.nurturedevelopment.org/reports/
http://www.regenwales.org/upload/pdf/042814110151CREW%20Deep%20Place%20Study%20April%202014.pdf
http://www.barnardos.org.uk/get_involved/campaign/digitalchildhoods.htm


 

 

used in a positive way? What changes might you have to make to your organisational systems and policies to 

enable people to get more involved in communities and shape local services? How can you use technology to 

gather community intelligence and involve people? I see public services in Wales stuck in the early 2000s in the 

way they call residents to a community hall for 'engagement'. Currently, research shows that children aged 

between five and 16 years spend an average of six and a half hours a day in front of a screen; 28% of young 

people use social media as their primary news source; and 43% of 'millennials' are driven to make financial 

donations through social channels. There is a real opportunity to engage with people that is most convenient to 

them and is part of their daily life, not an additional chore. "Monmouthshire Made Open" is an example of an 

online platform that has anticipated how people might contribute to improving their area in the future, with 

opportunities to share ideas, ask the community, start a project and seek volunteers or resources. Matthew 

Gatehouse, working with Monmouthshire PSB, would be able to share their learning with you on establishing this 

website. 

 

As leaders of local agencies, you have a key role to play in promoting and supporting community cohesiveness, 

given your role in community leadership and support, and role in community capacity building through, for 

example, facilitating networking and coordination, and providing training for community groups and employees. 

The research documented in ‘What Works in Community Cohesion’ provides a useful reference for PSBs on the 

different dimensions of community cohesion. Ask yourselves if current provision is appropriate to manage these 

issues? Are these issues currently managed adequately and in what areas might they need more collective or 

preventative action? What is the impact of inaccessibility? `What impact does perceptions of safety have on 

people’s ability to access services or play an active role in their communities? How do levels of volunteering differ 

across the county? How involved are the many volunteers in the work of the PSB?  

 

As public services, we often deal with the symptoms of adversity; crime, substance misuse, housing issues, 

domestic violence, anti-social behaviour rather than the root causes. Tackling crime is a complex task, but the five 

ways of working in the Act provide a blueprint for looking at problems and can provide a focus for you, as a PSB. 

Getting better at prevention by integrating family services, listening to where the family needs support or has 

concerns and preventing issues from escalating will be crucial, linked to your objective on Cardiff being a great 

place to grow up.  You have already innovated in this area, with the work of Professor John Shepherd around the 

night time economy. This involved looking at the problem from a number of perspectives, collaborating with 

different partners and finding quite simple solutions by redesigning services. We are so often dealing with the 

crisis issue that impacts on our service, we forget to look around us and recognise that there should be another 

preventative way to the problem. Information sharing and evidence based work is hugely important in preventing 

criminal and extremist behaviour which, of course, relies on community knowledge, trust and confidence. Nesta 

and the Alliance for Useful Evidence have published 'Using Research Evidence' as a guide to public bodies to 

encourage a confidence in taking new approaches. short, sharp interventions by empowered individuals.   

 

You will not be surprised to note that other Public Services Boards are also considering setting objectives around 

engagement, developing / sustaining strong social networks, fostering belonging and shaping services. In 

Page 209

http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-36528256
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-36528256
https://monmouthshire.madeopen.co.uk/
http://www.tedcantle.co.uk/publications/025%20What%20works%20in%20community%20cohesion%20Commission%20on%20Integrati.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/business/2015/jan/11/cutting-crime-surgeon-research-cardiff-violence
https://www.theguardian.com/business/2015/jan/11/cutting-crime-surgeon-research-cardiff-violence
http://www.alliance4usefulevidence.org/assets/Using-Research-Evidence-for-Success-A-Practice-Guide-new-brand-Welsh_English-FINAL-1.pdf
http://www.alliance4usefulevidence.org/assets/Using-Research-Evidence-for-Success-A-Practice-Guide-new-brand-Welsh_English-FINAL-1.pdf


 

 

particular, you may wish to share ideas with Vale of Glamorgan; Ceredigion; Newport and Powys PSBs, who have 

supplied me with similar draft objectives.  

 
• Cardiff is a great place to grow up. 

 
I have been working closely with the Children's Commissioner for Wales, to produce advice on taking a child's 
rights approach to maximising contribution to the seven national well-being goals. It is encouraging to see you 
have identified that involving children and young people in the Cardiff of tomorrow is good for them and good for 
you as public services. The Well-being of Future Generations Act upholds the spirit of the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) and it is important to recognise children’s rights across each of the 
well-being goals and how they should inform Wales’ approach to implementing the five ways of working. 
 
As you have identified, poverty, abuse, discrimination and other forms of disadvantage can have long-lasting 
effects on children and young people’s well-being and can severely impact their prospects of securing a 
prosperous, healthy, safe and socially active future.  Childhood is a key window of opportunity and the positive 
interventions Wales puts in place now to protect and provide for children will help to secure a more prosperous, 
healthy and cohesive future for Wales. Consideration should be given to how well public bodies and PSBs factor 
children’s rights into processes for consultation, decision-making and programme-planning. This will include 
developing in a children’s rights policy focus, enabling children to learn about their rights and empowering them 
to play an active role in their communities. To support this work, a toolkit is being tested and will be available 
before the end of the year. The Children’s Commissioner's office would be happy to advise on engaging with 
children and young people and taking a child-rights approach to securing well-being for future generations. 
 

I would advise you to be clear about what this means for Cardiff in your well-being planning. What local evidence 

have you used (or will you use) to understand the specific areas of successful preventative interventions? What 

local services will be impacted if you redirect investment to the first 1000 days of a child's life? How might putting 

in place a multi-agency response to adverse childhood experience (ACE) play out in reality for your organisations? 

As I said above, we often treat the symptoms of things that have happened to people in childhood, rather than 

taking a preventative approach. The complex socio-economic situations in many communities in Wales would 

suggest that families are not receiving the right support at the right time, and cycles are continuing to the next 

generation. This costs public services and individuals greatly – late intervention services for young people are 

estimated to cost England and Wales £17bn per year (£6bn on child protection and safeguarding, £5.2bn on crime 

and anti-social behaviour, £3.7bn on youth economic inactivity, £680m on school absence and exclusion, £610m 

on child injuries and mental health problems, and £450m on youth substance misuse). Prevention is at the core of 

this objective and I would advise that your organisations recognise it is part of all of their responsibilities to 

prevent poor outcomes. 

  

Dealing with ACEs is as much about having an ACE aware public service and identifying where ACEs have 

happened, as making sure that services families access are integrated. In the steps you take, it is important to not 

just focus on childhood but to review initiatives that focus on mental health, substance misuse, criminal justice, 

Page 210

http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/SPENDING-ON-LATE-INTERVENTION.pdf
http://www.eif.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/SPENDING-ON-LATE-INTERVENTION.pdf


 

 

housing services and others to ensure they are preventative, joined up and actively seeking to better situations 

for families and for future parents to stop the cycle continuing to the next generation. I don't doubt that this 

means fundamentally challenging the way we currently do things, the 'thresholds' we apply to helping people and 

the relationship we have with citizens. Alyson Francis, Director of the ACE Support Hub, has recently worked with 

my office to write to you outlining that ACEs are not another thing to do, but an opportunity to reconsider how 

we deliver services together that make sense for the families receiving them. The ACE Support Hub could also act 

as a central place for PSBs to share practice, as almost all of the PSBs in Wales have discussed early years, children 

and ACEs in their draft objectives and steps. 

 

I advise that understanding the lived experiences of people who have been through trauma in their lives also give 

a fresh perspective on shaping preventative services. Currently, our services are often not set up in a way that 

would deliver this objective. We deal with people in neat 'service-user' categories, such as 'homeless', 'domestic 

abuse victim', 'anti-social behaviour perpetrator', 'substance misuser', 'problem tenant', which often create 

barriers for people to receive the help they most need. This way of working means we fail to join up the dots, to 

integrate and to spot signs of a worsening situation. Involving people is central to challenging the system because 

only by understanding the lived experiences of people can we design services that are fit for current and future 

generations. This example 'Why poor people don't plan long-term' provides an insight into the barriers people 

face in overcoming inequality and the case studies contained in this report by Locality demonstrate the financial 

and social costs of not taking this holistic and preventative approach to people's lives.  

 

Many things impact on the life chances of children and young people and this objective links to your others in 

involving communities in understanding the barriers for children and young people's ambitions. I said in my 

feedback to your assessment that truly understanding the root causes of issues was important before we impose 

our ideas of 'what's right' on to people. For example, Social Finance were commissioned by Newcastle City Council 

to do some deeper digging for them to help them address the problem with NEETs (those Not in Education, 

Employment and Training). Whilst traditional focus looks at GCSE attainment, what this analysis shows in reality is 

that academic achievement is not the most significant factor at all, instead showing that 67% of 17-19 year olds 

who were NEET had come from the 25% of 17-19 year olds who had multiple contacts with social services during 

their childhood. The research showed that those who had had as little as six interactions with social services spent 

almost three times longer out of education or training. This study demonstrates that looking at the issue in a 

more holistic way clarifies the steps you can take as a PSB to achieve your objectives. 

 

A 2013 review carried out by the London School of Economics for the Joseph Rowntree Foundation found that 

children in lower-income families have worse cognitive, social-behavioural and health outcomes. Crucially, this 

study demonstrated that it was in part because they are poorer, not just because low income is correlated with 

other household and parental characteristics. This is echoed within your draft plan on the attainment gap 

between pupils from lower and higher income households. How can the PSB collaborate with others to improve 

the economic well-being of families across the region? This links to your aspirations around the City Region and 

supporting people out of poverty. How can these communities, in particular, be focused on? If we know that by 

Page 211

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/sep/21/linda-tirado-poverty-hand-to-mouth-extract
http://locality.org.uk/resources/saving-money-local-default-replace-diseconomies-scale/
http://www.lse.ac.uk/News/Latest-news-from-LSE/2017/07-July-2017/Income-directly-affects-childrens-outcomes


 

 

the time children in some areas reach reception class in school, the circumstances of where they live already 

affects their well-being, then we need to be intervening at a much earlier stage in responding to these trends. The 

New Economics Foundation work on investing in children might be helpful, which highlights the need to address 

both material wellbeing and external circumstances – such as housing, poverty, and schooling – as well as 

psychosocial well-being and inner resources.  

 

As well as income, we know that maternal and familial health has a big impact on a child's life. Between 10% and 

20% of women develop mental health problems during pregnancy of within a year of giving birth. These illnesses 

are one of the leading causes of death for mothers during pregnancy and the year after birth. Despite this, 

women in around half of the UK have no access to specialist perinatal mental health services and in other 

geographical areas, services are inadequate. Considering the impact of services like this on young families is 

important if you are to take a cross-sector approach. The 'Mums and Babies in Mind' project in England has given 

a focus to local leaders to create a pathway across sectors that provide expectant and new mothers with the right 

support at the right time. I would also advise you to use the related knowledge gathered by Public Health Wales 

on the First 1000 days of a child's life and the benefits that can be realised from investing in the early years to 

determine what steps you can take now to improve the well-being of our future generations. Public Health Wales 

have established a national 'Health and Sustainability Hub' to co-ordinate their own work around the Act and, 

through your PSB representative, you might find it useful to link with the national team for further evidence and 

knowledge. 

 

Most PSBs have identified draft objectives connected to early years, giving children a good start in life and 

preventing ACEs including Cwm Taf, Wrexham, Bridgend, Blaenau Gwent, Newport and Conwy / Denbighshire. 

Alyson Francis and I are also on the panel of the Good Practice Exchange Wales webinar on understanding ACEs 

on the 7th November, which may be helpful to you in considering your steps for this objective. 
 

• Supporting people out of poverty.  
 
Your assessment recognises that, as with many cities in the UK, there is a widening gap between wealth and 
poverty; with a third of people in Cardiff currently living in poverty. Poverty affects every part of well-being and it 
is stark in Cardiff with a healthy life expectancy gap of 22 years for women and 24 years for men between the 
least and most deprived areas. Although there will be multiple reasons for the deprivation experienced in some 
parts of the city and no easy solutions, there are steps you could take as a PSB to strengthen the resilience of 
these areas and prevent the adverse impacts of poverty. As with all of your draft plan, this is interconnected to 
your other draft objectives, as supporting people out of poverty is not just about economic well-being, but about 
seeing the value of people in a different way. I am encouraged that you have started to consider what role you 
can play as leaders of the public and voluntary sector in Cardiff and you should appreciate the influence you can 
have other partnership arrangements and organisations in Wales. 
 
This objective demands strong leadership, as I have advised above, that permeates throughout each of your 
organisations. To take steps to meet this objective, you will need to be brave in pooling resources, changing 

Page 212

http://neweconomics.org/2009/09/backing-the-future/
http://maternalmentalhealthalliance.org/mumsandbabiesinmind/about/
http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/page/88523
https://www.wao.gov.uk/events/how-understanding-adverse-childhood-experiences-aces-can-help-integrated-service-delivery


 

 

policies and taking risks by trying different approaches. You will need to communicate these changes within each 
of your organisations. The seven areas of change in the Act: corporate planning, financial planning, workforce 
planning, procurement, assets, performance management and risk are the core organisational activities where 
applying the five ways of working would ensure the sustainable development principle frames how you work.  
 
As you have stated, public services in Cardiff employ 46,000 people and contribute over £1bn to the economy. I 
would advise you to look at the economic impact you can have as public sector providers in these areas across the 
seven national well-being goals. For example, how can a collective commitment to sustainable, local procurement 
benefit your local economy? What employment opportunities can you offer, such as collaborative apprenticeship 
schemes, to local people far removed from the job market? How can you encourage jobs in the foundational 
economy, around local care, retail and food industries? Your surrounding PSBs are rich in farmland and, as 
farming is the cornerstone of the £6.1billion Welsh food and drink supply chain industry, what can you do to 
create links and help businesses to thrive in the city?  
 
Your assessment identifies that Cardiff is one of the most skilled cities, with hardly any people with no 
qualifications at all. Unlike other parts of Wales, the poverty experienced by some in Cardiff is probably not due 
to lack of aspiration. Here, understanding this issue is so important for you as a PSB before you take action. What 
are the barriers to reliable and well-paid work? How have people fallen into hard times? What impact does 
community factors like housing, safety and facilities have on people's outcomes? What is having an impact on 
people's lives that you, as public services, can seek to prevent? Re-purposing resources to truly listen to and 
involve the people who live in the more deprived areas of Cardiff is important to gain an understanding of how 
they perceive the assets and deficits of their community. In many of the well-being assessments, I read that 
communities branded as 'deprived' or 'in poverty' by statistics rarely define themselves like that and many people 
took pride in their local natural environment, community buildings and the way people get along together. 
Identifying the assets of these areas and involving people in how you build upon them will help in coming up with 
solutions to reduce inequality together. 
 

For such a complex issue, integration across the seven well-being goals is particularly important in how you take 

steps to meet this draft objective. Taking a different approach and building on some of the advice I have provided 

above to bring people together around culture, language, heritage could be the engagement you need to make a 

difference. What opportunities are there around community food growing in the city, for example? I am pleased 

to see that you have looked beyond the economic aspect of reducing inequality and deprivation, in considering 

the issue that those living in poverty are also most at risk of environmental impacts, including being away from 

green spaces. You have identified that air emission scores are higher in deprived areas and, although there will be 

many reasons, respiratory disease is much more common in deprived areas. What steps can you take to reverse 

some of these effects or prevent future generations from having to deal with the situation worsening?  

 

Housing quality is consistently an issue that arises out of deprivation, which has an impact on health, social 

cohesion and personal finances. Homelessness is a particular issue for Cardiff at the moment; I have already 

stated that integrating services and truly understanding the issue is critical to solving it. As your assessment also 

Page 213



 

 

found, older people are more vulnerable to fuel poverty and the health risks associated with cold and damp 

conditions; and your assessment highlights the high number of older people living alone. Recent statistics from 

Fuel Poverty Coalition Wales show that 1 in 3 households in Wales live in fuel poverty, with an estimated cost of 

cold-related admissions amounting to over £100 million and causing 475 deaths per year. Fuel poverty is currently 

a bigger killer than alcohol related deaths in Wales. Taking steps to ease fuel poverty and generally improving 

housing quality will have benefits elsewhere in the public sector. So, collaborating with registered social landlords 

and private landlords to take action on how new and existing homes could become more energy efficient might 

be a step the PSB wish to explore.  The Passivhaus Standard is one such way of building and refitting homes for 

the future (www.passivhaus.org.uk).  

 

Again, draft objectives around reducing inequality are common across Wales, including Caerphilly, Blaenau 

Gwent, Monmouthshire, Powys and your neighbouring Vale of Glamorgan. 
 

• Cardiff is a great place to grow older.  
 

Your wellbeing assessment identifies that with general population growth, the number of older people in Cardiff 

is likely to increase significantly too by over 44% in the next twenty years. Your assessment acknowledged that 

this can create a pressure on health and social services, but with health and life expectancy improving, I advise 

you recognise how much of an asset the older population are in terms of caring, volunteering and contributing to 

the economy. The work of the Older People's Commissioner is particularly helpful in exploring the steps you could 

take to meet this objective and includes her recent guidance to PSBs.   

 

Now that you have draft objectives and are considering your response, I would advise that you dig deeper into 

the data. Your first draft step is based on community infrastructure, networks and services. Ask yourselves if 

current provision is appropriate to manage this growing issue? Are these issues currently managed adequately 

and in what areas might they need more collective action? How fit for the future is IT provision? What are the 

limitations on public transport provision? How do levels of volunteering differ across the county? How involved 

are volunteers in the work of the PSB? Understanding the lived experiences of people could give you an important 

insight into how different communities are functioning and where your services would be most helpful. For 

instance, are there ways the PSB could encourage and reward community activism in ways that would help you 

meet your objectives in particular areas? The Royal Town Planning Institute's report on 'Poverty, Place and 

Inequality', includes several recommendations around why place-based approaches are key to tackling inequality 

between and within communities.  

 

Research by Ageing Well Wales has shown this and suggests that loneliness in older people is both about how 

connected people are to their communities physically and about feeling purposeful in society, affecting their 

mental and physical health.  Although technology is not going to provide all of the answers to isolation, think 

about the long-term impact it could have on our population. The older people of tomorrow are the younger 

people of today, who have far more technological skills at their fingertips. In our sharing economy, could there be 

Page 214

http://www.passivhaus.org.uk/
http://www.olderpeoplewales.com/en/publications.aspx
http://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/1811222/poverty_place_and_inequality.pdf
http://www.rtpi.org.uk/media/1811222/poverty_place_and_inequality.pdf
http://www.ageingwellinwales.com/en/themes/loneliness-and-isolation


 

 

solutions around carpooling or community transport connected to social media? Plus, there are already examples 

of drones delivering medical supplies, video calling instead of GP appointments and virtual classrooms happening 

now. The 'Hypervillage' concept developed by FutureScape imagines villages connected by their assets, 

encouraging people in rural communities to capitalise on technology. How have you thought about the long-term 

possibilities of employing technological solutions for this issue?  

 

How are you considering your own roles in responding to the challenges of demographic change?  I am keen to 

see PSBs looking at preventative and asset-based approaches to their draft objectives. Currently, social services 

and health are barely dealing with the current demand and, unfortunately, many are looking at traditional models 

of resourcing 'crisis' intervention to deal with this.  One of your steps is very much around working differently to 

involve people and their families in their care. This is where the five ways of working should be challenging your 

thinking and I will be interested in seeing how you influence and task the Social Services and Well-being Regional 

Partnership Board in delivering your response to your objectives. This report by the Young Foundation provides 

inspiration on 'Innovating better ways of living late in life', challenging the traditional siloes we are working in. 

Creating flexible and age friendly communities and environments can prevent people from needing social care, 

from becoming isolated, from suffering ill-health or having an accident at home.  

 

You have a role in planning, housing and transportation of creating places that are adaptable and able to change 

for at least the next two generations. Wales has an opportunity to develop housing that better meets 

demographic change, adopting technology to allow people to live independently for longer. It is encouraging to 

see that you want Cardiff to be age and dementia friendly as a city. Programmes like the World Health 

Organisation’s Age Friendly Cities initiative have encouraged and recognised those cities that have made 

themselves more age-friendly adapting buildings, transport and planning rules, which enable older people to stay 

healthy and connected to things that matter to them for longer; Laguna woods, the first city exclusively for older 

people in the US and the Marjala suburbs in Finland are examples of design suited to multiple abilities. As well as 

responsibilities around planning and designing infrastructure, there are numerous innovative global projects 

encouraging co-housing, supported housing and homeshares. Students are living rent free in nursing homes in 

exchange for socialising and providing basic care to the older residents; Australia and New Zealand have 

introduced 'HomeShare' schemes, and, as part of their national government's demography strategy, Germany has 

introduced intergenerational housing for older people and young families in need. In Singapore, young people are 

given a $50,000 grant if they move within 1km of their aged grandparents. These are all innovations that are 

proving to have an impact. 

 

This demonstrates the intrinsic link between your community environment and your well-being. As the Ageing 

Well in Wales research states, isolation is as much about being physically alone as feeling a part of something. 

Some research suggests that just 5% of those over 65 years old have any form of structured contact with younger 

people. Intergenerational projects are shown to have benefits for young and old, with both older and younger 

people taking on the role of mentor. How can you collaborate to create more opportunities for people to come 

together? How can increased involvement improve the health of older people in your area? The recent report 

Page 215

http://www.lookupproject.org/hypervillage-concept
https://www.theguardian.com/sustainable-business/technology-rural-areas-thriving-sustainable
https://youngfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/Innovating-better-ways-of-living-in-later-life-context-examples-and-opportunities-May-2010.pdf
http://www.who.int/ageing/age-friendly-world/en/
http://www.who.int/ageing/age-friendly-world/en/
http://www.ocregister.com/2014/05/02/laguna-woods-isnt-what-you-think-younger-livelier-involved/
http://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/health-and-families/why-some-dutch-university-students-are-living-in-nursing-homes-demential-a7451486.html
http://homeshare.org/about/
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2014/oct/23/german-centres-bring-older-people-children-together
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/health/8637156/Full-circle-the-social-network-for-older-people.html
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/lifestyle/wellbeing/11812307/Mixing-young-and-old-people-can-extend-lives.html


 

 

'Health and Wellbeing in Rural Areas' produced by Public Health England and the Local Government Association 

highlights issues of rurality in England, but also includes several useful case studies, such as the Fish Well 

Improvement project in Norfolk, that aims to improve health and well-being in these local areas. Solva 

Community Council in Pembrokeshire are an interesting example of how volunteers and older residents have 

benefited from a scheme to reduce isolation and improve well-being. In some parts of Wales, the third sector are 

acting as community connectors (funded through the Intermediate Care Fund) to help vulnerable people of all 

ages access things in their community and prevent the need for statutory services. There are many good 

examples of projects that seek to bring people together to learn new skills, socialise and build their resilience in 

later life, like Men's Sheds Cymru, happening across Wales that the PSB could encourage and support.  

 

Continuing to learn through life has been proven to have benefits for people's mental and physical well-being, as 

well as social well-being. There is a real opportunity here for you to consider how you maximise your contribution 

to the well-being goals. How can you encourage activities that promote art, culture, learning the Welsh language, 

caring for natural habitats, creating community food growing initiatives, for instance, that help with people's well-

being? Looking to the long term, how can these activities prevent some of the preventable ill-health people are 

suffering that compromises their independence?  

 

In some areas, community organisations have been funded to act as community coordinators for older people 

through the Social Services and Well-being Act – linking them with local activities and services in their area and 

helping them to stay active and well. If proved successful, how can similar initiatives be jointly resourced and 

recognised by the PSB? The third sector have a wealth of knowledge and experience in this respect. WCVA 

produced wider information on how the third sector play a role in contributing to the Act including resources on 

the seven well-being goals. 

 

Other PSBs with similar objectives include Monmouthshire, Conwy / Denbighshire, Neath Port Talbot, Ynys Mon 

and Gwynedd and Newport. 
 

• Modernising and integrating our public services. 

 

The backdrop that public services are working to at the moment is incredibly challenging and I am aware that the 

Well-being of Future Generations Act is seen as another 'thing' public sector workers have to do. However, I 

would encourage you to see this Act, and communicate to your colleagues about it, as an enabler. It is a way of 

challenging the method we have always taken to organising ourselves, making decisions and providing people 

with services. This draft objective is encouraging that you are taking steps to change how public services operate 

in the city, to make far more sense to the citizens of Cardiff. The five ways of working and seven national well-

being goals are intended to help you to do this by prompting you to think of how things can be more integrated, 

by collaborating with others, have multiple benefits across quite disparate services but things that matter in 

people's lives, which you can only understand by better involving 'real people' in the day-to-day work of your 

organisations. 

Page 216

https://www.local.gov.uk/health-and-wellbeing-rural-areas
http://solvacare.co.uk/
http://solvacare.co.uk/
http://www.mensshedscymru.co.uk/


 

 

 

As public bodies, you have many statutory responsibilities and deliver a multitude of services on a daily basis. The 

duties of the Act are not intended to be an additional burden, but a way of maximising the benefit of these 

activities. My team have told me about how this is already being realised in some areas of business in Cardiff like, 

for example, City Innovation Hub and your collaborations with lots of organisations in the city. I will be interested 

to see how the Act is being applied in practice by all members of the PSB over the coming year across the seven 

corporate functions of the Act. How your own objectives reflect the work of the PSB and how you use the PSB as a 

charge to other departments, partnership groups and organisations for meeting these objectives.  

 

I have given lots of advice in this letter and in my recent 'Well-being in Wales' report on this very theme. I would 

suggest you now need to be brave in taking steps to lead Wales in doing this; share your mistakes and your 

successes with my office, and with others; and hope to create a better Cardiff for future generations. 

 

Other PSBs seeking to create organisational change through their objectives include Torfaen, who are looking at 

organisational development in the context of the Act, Pembrokeshire, Caerphilly and Carmarthenshire. Again, my 

office is happy to connect you if this is helpful. 

 

I hope you have found this advice helpful in moving forward towards publishing a well-being plan for formal 

consultation. Please get in touch with my team if you want further contact details for any of the organisations 

and reports mentioned in this letter. 

 

I am also learning the best ways to advise, support and monitor how public bodies are seeking to apply the five 

ways of working and maximise their contribution to the seven well-being goals, so I would welcome any feedback 

from you, supporting officers and the Cardiff PSB Scrutiny Committee on how I have chosen to approach this 

statutory duty and the advice I have given. 

 

I look forward to receiving your draft well-being plan for consultation and please keep in touch with me and my 

team. 

 

Kind regards, 

 
 

Sophie Howe 
 
 

Page 217



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

My Ref: T: Scrutiny/PRAP/Comm Papers/Correspondence 

Date: 25 July 2017

Councillor Huw Thomas, 
Leader,  
Cardiff Council,  
County Hall, 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 

Dear Councillor Thomas, 

Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee:  18 July 2017 

Thank you for attending the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee last 

week, to share Cardiff Public Services Board (CPSB) progress, and the Board’s draft 

Well-being objectives. Your input will assist the Committee to factor its statutory 

scrutiny responsibilities under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

(WFG) into work programming for 2017/18. Following the scrutiny Members agreed 

that I pass on the following observations captured during the Way Forward.  

The Committee wishes to commend Cardiff’s longstanding record of non-statutory 

partnership working. This has clearly proved an excellent basis for taking forward the 

statutory requirements of the WFG Act. We acknowledge that core city leaders 

across the UK consider such statutory requirements on partner organisations to be of 

huge benefit to a local authority. The Committee therefore welcomes your 

discretionary offer for myself, as Chair, to attend the CPSB from time to time to 

ensure the committee’s observations are fed into proceedings. We feel this will 

maintain strong lines of open accountability, and benefit both parties.    

Given the benefit of our statutory remit, the Committee considers its role must be 

greater than simply a statutory process, and, to be more meaningful, we should aim 

to measure progress. Importantly, the Committee considers that to enable such an 

approach it will be looking for measurable targets and outcomes in the final Well-

being Plan. We were therefore pleased to hear that you too consider the Well-being 

Plan will require targets in order to ground the work of the Board.  

Appendix D

Page 219



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

 

We note that there is likely to be a small number of strategic partnership working 

groups supporting the work of the CPSB. Members observed that, whilst the Act itself 

and the seven outcomes for Wales are vague, there is potentially an opportunity for 

greater input from health.  

 

The new Committee is keen to reassure itself of the soundness of the consultation 

undertaken at needs assessment stage, on which the draft objectives have been 

based. I acknowledge that following the Committee’s previous scrutiny you kindly 

provided us with the full list of such consultation activities, to reassure the committee 

that all hard to reach groups had been encouraged to contribute. 

 

The focus of our meeting was to set a firm context and understanding of work 

programming opportunities, and we have identified two occasions on which we will 

plan to consider Cardiff’s Well-being Plan. Firstly during the 12 week consultation 

period (Autumn 2017). Secondly, we would request a pre-decision scrutiny 

opportunity prior to final approval by the Board. (Spring 2018). We are therefore 

proposing, subject to final discussion and approval at our meeting on 20 September 

2017, that our draft work programme includes two partnership scrutiny items.    

 

 

To recap, the Committee: 

 

 Welcomes your offer for myself, as Chair, to attend the CPSB from time to 

time to establish strong lines of open accountability, and benefit both parties.    

 Will be looking for measurable targets and outcomes in the final Well-being 

Plan that enables it to monitor progress over time. 

 Proposes that its draft work programme, to be agreed on 20 September 2017 

includes scrutiny of Cardiff’s Well-being Plan, during the 12-week consultation 

period (Autumn 2017) and prior to final approval by the Board. (Spring 2018).    

 

 

 

 

Page 220



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

Once again, on behalf of the Committee, please pass my sincere thanks to all who 

attended PRAP Scrutiny Committee for consideration of the draft Well-being 

Objectives. On this occasion, a response is not required. Should a matter come to 

your attention that would benefit from the Committee’s involvement we will aim to co-

operate and we look forward to maintaining an ongoing constructive exchange 

between the Board and Committee.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 
COUNCILLOR DAVID WALKER 
CHAIR, POLICY REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
cc     Members of the Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee 
 Paul Orders, Chief Executive  
 Gareth Newell, Partnership & Community Engagement Manager 
 Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Office Manager 

Debbie Said, PA to Leader. 

Page 221



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

My Ref: T: Scrutiny/PRAP/Comm Papers/Correspondence 

 
Date: 22 November 2017 

 
 
Councillor Huw Thomas,  
Leader,  
Cardiff Council,  
County Hall, 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 
 
 
 
Dear Councillor Thomas, 
 
 

Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee:  15 November 2017 
 
On behalf of the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee thank you for 

attending Committee to facilitate scrutiny of Cardiff’s draft Well-being Plan. Members 

were delighted to welcome such broad representation from Cardiff’s PSB. Please 

pass on our sincere thanks to Cardiff & Vale Heath Board, Natural Resources Wales, 

South Wales Fire Service, South Wales Police, and Cardiff Third Sector Council. The 

Members wish to pass on the following comments and observations as statutory 

consultees in the Boards consultation.    

 

The Committee recognises that the Well-being of Future Generations Act signals a 

substantial change in the delivery of public services. We note the Future Generations 

Commissioner’s comment in her letter that it is not intended to be an additional 

burden on public bodies, given current financial pressures. We are therefore 

surprised at the length and timing of the Commissioners advisory letter on Cardiff’s 

draft well-being plan, and note this advice would have been useful in informing the 

consultation. We are heartened that partners consider the requirements of the WBFG 

Act, although a challenge, an opportunity and a necessity that will assist in the 

delivery of sustainable services, rather than a burden on the public sector. Clearly, 

this challenge will benefit from the strong platform of partnership working built up 

over many years in Cardiff, 

  

As Leader, you are clear that there must be a strong correlation between Cardiff’s 

Well-Being Plan and the Council’s Corporate Plan for Delivering Capital Ambition.  

Page 222



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

We too consider it is essential that all partners’ corporate plans align with Cardiff’s 

Well-being Plan, and will be seeking greater assurance of this in future scrutinies. We 

feel both Natural Resources Wales and Cardiff and Vale Health Board were clear this 

would be the case, and we would urge that all partners are able to demonstrate clear 

links. 

 

The Committee’s role is to monitor the progress of the PSB and we consider this is 

made more difficult by an absence of clear targets in the draft Plan. We note you are 

following a statutory timeline to deliver the final Plan. We understand you are not at 

the target setting stage and have some work to do on performance indicators.  

However, we feel it would have been useful if targets had been a part of the 

consultation exercise and urge you to consult on those targets as they emerge.   

 

Members have some concerns about budget arrangements for partnership working. 

Specifically, whether all partner bodies are spending proportionately on supporting 

partnership arrangements and whether the cost of supporting the PSB is factored 

into the Council’s budget setting for 2018/19. We accept there is no centralised 

budget other than a secretariat to support partnership working, and note there will be 

more detail in budget proposals.  We note the alignment of policy objectives, and 

directing existing activities to work more effectively, is critical to better collaborative 

work.  

 

In respect of specific objectives, the Committee observed: 

 

Objective 1 - A Capital City that Works for Wales. We wish to highlight the disparity in 

wealth across the City and endorse the view that everyone should have an equal 

chance to benefit from Cardiff’s success. In terms of the private sector, Cardiff is a 

unique asset, with power centralised to drive the South East Wales economy. 

However, we note Cardiff is one of the lowest funded authorities per capita and 

generates significant business rates for the whole of Wales. We are therefore 

pleased that you acknowledge Cardiff has a leading role to play in ensuring major 

developments assist in reducing inequalities across the City. The committee would 

encourage you to continue to stress these funding imbalances in your future contacts 

with Welsh Government 

  

Page 223



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

Objective 2 - Cardiff’s Population Growth is managed in a Resilient Way. The 

Committee considers the phrasing of this objective suggests managing population 

growth to ensure resources for current and future populations, and could be more 

accurately phrased as The impact of Cardiff’s Population Growth is managed in a 

resilient way.  

 

Objective 3 - Safe, Confident and Empowered Communities. Members  note the 

consultation is online but certain communities require a stronger focus/more 

encouragement to contribute and therefore a series of focus groups are planned with 

hard to reach communities that will talk about community issues not simply the Plan. 

We note the police development work to be more representative and connect with 

communities via their community cohesion programme, and encourage partners to 

share knowledge and experience of work with hard to reach communities. 

 

The Committee urges the Board to use partnership knowledge to effectively integrate 

services. There was clear commitment from partners, and we endorse the approach 

highlighted by Health to ask what is best for the citizen and work backwards to arrive 

at the bodies/partners that should work together to deliver improved service. The 

Multi Agency Support Hub is a particularly good example.  

 

We wish to re-iterate it would be appropriate that the Well-being Plan is Health 

Impact Assessed at the planning stage, in line with the Public Health Act.  

 

Members are concerned that transformation in service delivery should not be isolated 

to the public sector. We consider some ambitions will need to be in tandem with the 

private sector, business, and charities. Therefore, care should be taken to ensure the 

Plan includes reference to communicating with, and involving, the private sector to 

seek their ideas and feedback.  

  

Importantly, during the Way Forward Members commented on the look and feel of 

the Well-being Plan Survey document. They feel statements are generally positive 

and closed, and have some concerns that in taking this approach the consultation 

document does not open up debate. Therefore, we respectfully suggest future 

consultation exercises would have greater credibility if a more open style of 

questioning were adopted. 

Page 224



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: d.walker@cardiff.gov.uk 

- 

 

Finally, the Committee is delighted that partners are welcoming of the scrutiny 

framework, recognising that the joint challenge of partners in holding the Board to 

account re-enforces the benefits of strong relationships between partners. We note 

that you have commissioned a review of partnership governance arrangements that 

will need to be in place in advance of publication of the final Well-being plan in May 

2018, and look forward to oversight of governance arrangements, in line with our 

statutory scrutiny responsibilities.  

 

Once again, on behalf of the Committee, please pass my sincere thanks to all 

partners who attended the PRAP Scrutiny Committee for consideration of the draft 

Well-being Plan. We value the ongoing constructive exchange between the Board 

and the Committee. We are not expecting a response however would ask that you 

factor our comments and observations into the consultation to inform the final Plan. 

We will factor consideration of the final Well-being Plan and governance 

arrangements on our work programme for the New Year.  

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 
COUNCILLOR DAVID WALKER 
CHAIR, POLICY REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
cc     Members of the Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee 
 Paul Orders, Chief Executive  
 Gareth Newell, Partnership & Community Engagement Manager 
 Maria Battle, Chair, Cardiff & Vale Health Board 
 Gareth O’Shea, Natural Resources Wales 

David Bents, South Wales Fire Service 
Superintendent Stephen Jones, South Wales Police 
Sheila Hendrickson-Brown, Chief Executive 

 Joanne Watkins, Cabinet Office Manager 
Debbie Said, PA to Leader. 

Page 225



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 1 

TIMETABLE FOR APPROVING  

CARDIFF’S LOCAL WELL-BEING PLAN 

27 February 2018 PSB assurance of final plan and circulation to partner boards for approval 

27 February 2018 Police and Crime Commissioner endorsement 

14 March 2018 Cardiff Council Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny 

15 March 2018 Natural Resources Wales approval 

15 March 2018 Cardiff Council Cabinet 

22 March 2018 Cardiff Council Full Council 

26 March 2018 South Wales Fire & Rescue Service approval 

29 March 2018 Cardiff and Vale UHB approval 

18 April 2018 PSB  

Formal sign off of Well-Being Plan 

3 May 2018 Latest date to publish Well-being Plan 

8 May 2018 Well-being Plan Launch Event 

Appendix E

Page 227



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 1 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: 

Cardiff Public Services Board Local Well-Being Pan 

New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New 

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function? 

Name: Nathan Swain Job Title: Principal Policy & Partnerships 

Officer 

Service Team: Policy and Partnerships Service Area: Resources 

Assessment Date: 23/10/17 

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/

Service/Function?

Cardiff’s Local Well-being Plan has been developed in accordance with the Well-being 

of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. Having undertaken a local well-being 

assessment for the area in 2016, this plan responds to the challenges facing the city, 

setting out 7 areas for action (well-being objectives) and proposing what the city’s 

public services will do, together, to achieve them (our commitments). 

2. Please provide background information on the Policy/Strategy

/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done [e.g. service

users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done etc.]

In March 2017, Cardiff PSB published a Well-being Assessment - an analysis of Cardiff’s 

social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being and identifies the key 

opportunities and challenges facing Cardiff as the city grows. 

https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/well-being-assessment/ 

This assessment provided the basis for developing a local well-being plan to manage 

Cardiff’s growth and its impacts in a sustainable and resilient way. 

The evidence base used to inform the Cardiff’s Well-being Assessment, includes: 

• The 46 National Indicators for well-being (Welsh Government);

• Ask Cardiff survey indicators; and

• Indicators recommended by Public Services Board partners and other

stakeholders.

Appendix F

Page 229



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 2 

 

The following additional data sources and reviews were also taken into account: 

• Ask Cardiff Survey 2016 

• Climate change risk assessment for Wales 

• Natural Resources Wales (NRW) Area statement 

• Childcare sufficiency assessment 

• Nursery Provision 

• Play Sufficiency Assessment 

• Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 Population Needs Assessment 

• Crime and Disorder Act 1998 – Strategic assessments 

• Local Development Plan 

• Welsh Government Future Trends Report 

• 2015 What Matters Strategic Needs Assessment 

 

The Cardiff Public Services Board’s Draft Well-being Plan was published for 

consultation on 13 October 2017. Engagement activities included an online survey and 

a series of engagement events and focus groups with seldom heard groups and 

communities, including: 

 

• 20 locality and partner events covering each Neighbourhood Area 

• Cardiff Youth Council Grand Council 

• 50 + Forum focus group 

• 2 BME focus groups 

• Cardiff Deaf Club meeting 

• Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health 

• Friends and Neighbours Group (Butetown) 

 

(The results of this consultation can be found in the Well-being Plan’s Engagement 

Feedback Report – Appendix 3 of  the Cabinet Report) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 230



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 3 

 

3. Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics 

 

3.1 Age 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people?  

 

                                                                                                        Yes No N/A 

Up to 18 years x   

18 - 65 years x   

Over 65 years  x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any.  

Sections of the draft well-being plan are specifically focussed on improving outcomes 

from young people, older people, and people of working age. 

 

Cardiff Well-being Plan will drive improvements for children universally (adopting a 

Child Rights Approach and ‘Cardiff Commitment’) and also specifically target the city’s 

more disadvantaged children (adopting a ‘Think Family’ approach, a ‘Children First’ 

pilot, and targeting children at risk of Adverse Childhood Experiences). 

 

For adults within the city, the Well-being Plan will, for example, aim to deliver more 

well paid jobs, improve employment services, seek to end rough sleeping and support 

a city wide Food Partnership. 

 

For older people, the Well-being Plan will drive improvements in accommodation 

options and enable people to remain at home for longer, seek to become a Dementia 

Friendly City, and improve first point of contact services.  

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 231



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 4 

 

3.2 Disability 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on disabled people?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Hearing Impairment  x   

Physical Impairment x   

Visual Impairment x   

Learning Disability x   

Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition x   

Mental Health  x   

Substance Misuse x   

Other  x   

  

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

Specific commitments relate to addressing these issues. For example, reducing levels of 

drug use and substance misuse, the delivery of the disability futures programme, 

making Cardiff a dementia friendly city. 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

As required by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act, actions must meet 

the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to 

meet their own needs. 

 

3.3 Gender Reassignment 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on transgender people?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Transgender People 

(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 

undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 

by changing physiological or other attributes of sex) 

x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

Cardiff Well-being Plan aims to make Cardiff a safer and more inclusive city to live in, 

having a positive impact on individuals with protected characteristics. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

Page 232



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 5 

 

3.4.  Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership? 

 

 Yes No N/A 

Marriage x   

Civil Partnership x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

 

Cardiff Well-being Plan aims to make Cardiff a safer and more inclusive city to live in, 

having a positive impact on individuals with protected characteristics. 

 

 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

 

 

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Pregnancy x   

Maternity x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

 

The well-being plan includes a commitment to adopting a ‘Think Family’ approach, 

making sure that public services are joined up and that children and families are given 

the right support, in the right way, at the right time in the first 1000 days of a child’s 

life.  As a consequence of improving services, adopting a Child Rights Approach and 

commitments to safety and better air quality, the plan is likely to have a positive 

impact on the health and well-being of expectant parents. 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

Page 233



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 6 

 

3.6 Race 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

White x   

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups x   

Asian / Asian British x   

Black / African / Caribbean / Black British x   

Other Ethnic Groups x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

Cardiff Well-being Plan aims to make Cardiff a safer and more inclusive city to live in, 

having a positive impact on individuals with protected characteristics. 

 

The Plan contains a specific commitment to deliver public and third sector services and 

workforce that are representative of the city and its communities, especially Black, 

Asian, and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief  

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Buddhist x   

Christian x   

Hindu x   

Humanist x   

Jewish x   

Muslim x   

Sikh x   

Other x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

Cardiff Well-being Plan aims to make Cardiff a safer and more inclusive city to live in, 

having a positive impact on individuals with protected characteristics. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

Page 234



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 7 

 

3.8 Sex 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Men x   

Women x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

 

Cardiff Well-being Plan aims to make Cardiff a safer and more inclusive city to live in, 

having a positive impact on individuals with protected characteristics. 

 

The Plan contains a specific commitment to protect Cardiff’s most vulnerable citizens, 

adopting integrated approaches to tackling trafficking, child sexual exploitation and 

domestic abuse.  

 

The Plan also contains a commitment to improving the night time economy of Cardiff, 

providing a safer environment for both males and females.  

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

3.9 Sexual Orientation 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on the following groups?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Bisexual  x   

Gay Men x   

Gay Women/Lesbians x   

Heterosexual/Straight x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

Cardiff Well-being Plan aims to make Cardiff a safer and more inclusive city to live in, 

having a positive impact on individuals with protected characteristics. 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

Page 235



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 8 

 

3.10  Welsh Language 

 

Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 

impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language?  

 

 Yes No N/A 

Welsh Language x   

 

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 

evidence, if any. 

 

The Well-being Plan includes the following commitment: 

 

Aim to double the number of Welsh speakers in Cardiff by 2050 through supporting the 

delivery of the Bilingual Cardiff Strategy. 

 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact? 

 

 

4. Consultation and Engagement 

What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 

Groups? 

 

Engagement activities have included an online survey and a series of engagement 

events and focus groups with seldom heard groups and communities, including: 

 

· 20 locality and partner events covering each Neighbourhood Area 

· Cardiff Youth Council Grand Council 

· 50 + Forum focus group 

· 2 BME focus groups 

· Cardiff Deaf Club meeting 

· Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health 

· Friends and Neighbours Group (Butetown) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 236



CARDIFF COUNCIL 

 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Corporate Assessment Template 
 

4.C.400 Issue 1 Nov 11 Process Owner:  Rachel Jones Authorised: Rachel Jones Page 9 

 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above] 

 

Groups  Actions 

Age As required by the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act, actions must meet the needs of the present 

without compromising the ability of future generations to 

meet their own needs. 

Disability as above 

Gender Reassignment as above 

Marriage & Civil 

Partnership 

as above 

Pregnancy & Maternity as above 

Race as above 

Religion/Belief as above 

Sex as above 

Sexual Orientation as above 

Welsh Language as above 

Generic Over-Arching 

[applicable to all the 

above groups] 

as above 

 

6. Further Action 

Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 

Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 

Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis.  

 

7.       Authorisation 

The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 

Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 

Service Area. 

 

Completed By : Nathan Swain Date: 24.01.18 

Designation: Principal Policy & Partnerships Officer  

Approved By: Gareth Newell  

Designation: Policy, Partnerships and Research Manager  

Service Area: Resources  

 

7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 

your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 

Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 

in the Council.   

 

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 

2087 3059 or email citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk 

Page 237



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 17

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018  

CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL JOINT WORKING 
AGREEMENT BUSINESS PLAN

AGENDA ITEM: 4  

 
REPORT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reason for this Report

1. On 26 January 2017 the Council approved a Joint Working Agreement 
(JWA), including the establishment of a Cardiff Capital Region (CCR) Joint 
Committee, to administer the City Deal, which had been agreed with the UK 
and Welsh governments. 

2. The role and responsibilities of the Joint Committee, which comprises 
leaders of the ten constituent local authorities of the Cardiff Capital Region, 
relate specifically and exclusively to the City Deal - enabling the joint 
development and implementation of a programme for investment, linked to 
the City Deal’s Wider Investment Fund. But the Committee’s powers were 
also confined to the first £50 million of funding from HM Treasury (HMT) 
until a ‘reserved matter’ - approval of the JWA Business Plan - was 
discharged by individual councils. 

3. This report seeks approval for the Business Plan - enabling the Cardiff 
Capital Region to unlock the remaining £445 million of the Wider Investment 
Fund. It includes inter alia an in principle commitment to allocate £40 million 
to the modernisation and redevelopment of Cardiff Central Station, subject, 
amongst other things, to approval of a detailed business plan, which will 
result in a strategically critical £160 million project delivered in partnership 
with the Welsh and UK governments, the private sector and Network Rail.

Background

4. As the Council report of 24 March 2016 noted, the City Deal was signed on 
15 March 2016 by the ten local authority leaders of the Cardiff Capital 
Region, the First Minister of Wales, the Welsh Government Minister for 
Finance, the Secretary of State for Wales and the Chief Secretary to HM 
Treasury. The resulting ‘Heads of Terms’ agreement outlined the 
parameters for the detailed development of the City Deal and set out how 
the ten local authorities would work in partnership with the Welsh 
Government and UK Government to support economic growth.

Page 239

Eitem Agenda 4



Page 2 of 17

5. As its core proposition the City Deal provides funding to support investment 
in projects to stimulate economic growth: £734 million is allocated to Metro; 
£495 million makes up the Wider Investment Fund to support additional 
economic development activities. The latter provides the focus for the Joint 
Committee and consists of a local government capital contribution of £120 
million with the remaining £375 million provided by the UK Government over 
a 20 year period. Any expenditure incurred in advance of receipt of the flow 
of UK Government monies also requires borrowing by local authorities. 

6. In effect, councils agreed to work within the framework of a total affordability 
envelope of £210.8 million, with contributions apportioned to individual local 
authorities on the basis of 2015 population data. For Cardiff this means 
responsibility for 23.7% - £50 million - of the total local government cost of 
the City Deal. 

7. Progress is subject to five year ‘Gateway Reviews’ by an independent panel 
established by the UK Government, which will include an assessment of the 
economic impact of investment decisions made by the City Deal Joint 
Committee.

8. Subsequent work focused on developing appropriate governance 
arrangements to underpin this partnership. This resulted in the Joint 
Working Agreement which includes provisions for the following:

 a Joint Committee representing the ten Cardiff Capital Region local 
authorities;

 areas of delegation for the Joint Committee that focus on the 
management of the City Deal fund and project approval; 

 establishment of Cardiff Council as the Accountable Body; 

 financial principles for the Joint Committee;

 matters reserved to individual Councils; and

 the means by which decisions relating to the programme of investment 
(linked to the Assurance Framework) are agreed.

9. The Joint Committee works on a one member, one vote basis and decisions 
are made by simple majority reflecting the position in other city-region 
arrangements. Meetings require a quorum of seven. 

10. In approving the Joint Working Agreement the Council delegated 
responsibility for overseeing the implementation of the City Deal to the Joint 
Committee, with only the ‘reserved matters’ being brought back to the 
Council for approval. The key reserved matters are the approval of the Joint 
Working Agreement Business Plan - the focus of this report - and any 
expenditure in excess of the Affordability Envelope. The Wider Investment 
Fund can only be drawn down once the JWA Business Plan is approved by 
all ten Councils. Furthermore, the individual councils’ contributions to the 
Wider Investment Fund can only be released once the Business Plan is 
approved.

Page 240



Page 3 of 17

11. Finally, in relation to the Joint Working Agreement, councils are committed 
to participation in the Joint Committee for a minimum of five years or, if later, 
the completion of the first Gateway Review. This "lock-in" provision also 
features in other collaborations involving the Council, including the Shared 
Regulatory Service. 

12. As the previous report to the Council made clear - and for the sake of 
completeness only - if the Council sought to withdraw from the joint working 
arrangement during the lock-in period it would be in breach of the provisions 
of the Joint Working Agreement, unless a negotiated arrangement could be 
reached with the other councils. Entering the agreement created a legitimate 
expectation that the Council would remain a party to the City Deal 
arrangements for at least the lock in period.

Assurance Framework, Governance and Resource Structure

13. The Joint Working Agreement also sets out the need for partners to adhere 
to an agreed Assurance Framework covering the systems, processes and 
protocols to ensure an evidence-based and independent assessment of the 
governance, risk management, and control processes of the Wider 
Investment Fund. 

14. The Assurance Framework forms part of the Joint Working Agreement, 
which sets out the decision making processes of the City Deal. The diagram 
above outlines the governance and reporting structure of the Assurance 
Framework with all investment decisions subject to a process of business 
case development and due diligence.

15. The Joint Working Agreement also stipulated that the Joint Committee 
would establish sub-committees and groups (advisory/consultative bodies), 
including the Regional Transport Authority and the Cardiff Capital Region 
Region Skills and Employment Board.

16. Further details on the Joint Working Agreement and Assurance Framework 
are outlined in the Council’s report of 26 January 2017.

Page 241



Page 4 of 17

City Deal Update

17. Since the establishment of the Joint Committee there has been significant 
progress in the development of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. This 
has included the establishment of a number of sub-committees and advisory 
groups, approval of an investment proposal relating to the compound semi-
conductor sector, as well as in principle support for a number of additional 
schemes, including Cardiff’s Metro Central initiative. 

Compound Semiconductor Cluster

18. On 2 May 2017 the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee approved by a 
majority decision a £38.5 million investment to support the purchase and 
initial fit out of industrial space in Newport to deliver the development of a 
Compound Semiconductor Cluster for the city-region. The investment has 
been approved in the form of a loan - as the loan is repaid, it will be recycled 
back into the investment fund.

19. Work has since begun on the cluster development, which has included the 
purchase of a building and the agreement of a lease with a tenant. A lease 
for the building has been signed by a Cardiff-based company, IQE, which is 
a global player in the compound semi-conductor market. It is expected that 
in taking up space in the building, IQE will create over 500 new highly skilled 
jobs, as well as safeguarding over 500 jobs within the sector. 

20. The project is also aimed at supporting a wider cluster within the sector for 
south-east Wales, aiming to address the productivity gap that exists 
between Wales and the rest of the UK.

Regional Economic Growth Partnership

21. The Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee meeting of 20 November 2017 
approved the establishment of the Regional Economic Growth Partnership 
and the appointment process for its board. Mr. Frank Holmes was appointed 
Chair of the Regional Economic Growth Partnership, supported by a board 
that represents public, educational, voluntary, and private sector 
organisations.

22. The Regional Economic Growth Partnership is responsible for:

 reviewing and commenting on the Regional Economic Strategy;

 providing review and challenge to City Deal investment decisions;

 providing an advocacy role for the city-region;

 promoting the uptake of external funding sources;

 providing advice on proposed interventions; and

 acting as a named consultee for the Joint Committee.

Page 242



Page 5 of 17

Regional Business Council 

23. A Regional Business Council has also been established to ensure that the 
city-region has a representative body for businesses in place. The members 
of the Regional Business Council Board encompass a broad range of 
business backgrounds and sectors, including representatives from the FSB, 
IoD, CBI, and South Wales Chamber.

Regional Transport Authority 

24. The Joint Committee agreed to establish, as a sub-committee, the Regional 
Transport Authority (RTA) on 20 November 2017.  The report noted that the 
membership of the RTA would comprise two members of the Joint 
Committee, who will act as Chair and Vice Chair of the sub-committee, 
along with Cabinet Members responsible for transport from each local 
authority of the Cardiff Capital Region.

25. The Regional Transport Authority has been given certain delegated 
decision-making powers which were expressly granted by the Joint 
Committee, and fall within the delegated powers of the Joint Committee. 
Any member of the Authority may request that any matter delegated to the 
sub-committee is referred to the Joint Committee for decision. Expansion of 
the role and responsibilities of the Regional Transport Authority to cover 
non-City Deal matters would require the approval of individual local 
authorities. 

26. The objectives of the RTA, subject to funding, are to facilitate the City Deal 
by:

a) developing and coordinating proposals for an integrated regional 
transport strategy that supports the strategic economic and spatial 
aspirations of the City Deal; and

b) working in partnership with Welsh Government and Transport for 
Wales to define and develop the priorities of the South East Wales 
Metro concept and support its delivery, including the development of 
a single integrated ticketing platform for public transport across the 
region.

Metro Central

27. The Metro Central project aims to deliver a new Central Transport 
Interchange at the heart of Cardiff’s city centre Core Employment Zone. The 
project encompasses a new central bus station, the modernisation of Cardiff 
Central train station, and delivery of a range of other transport infrastructure 
such as a new coach station, a cycle hub, and public realm improvements. 
The aim is to improve the capacity of the Central Interchange to 
accommodate increased frequency of services delivered through the South 
East Wales Metro investment and to provide an infrastructure platform for 
jobs growth in Cardiff’s Core Employment Zone.

Page 243



Page 6 of 17

28. The timing of the Metro Central investment is critical to ensure infrastructure 
is delivered at the same time as construction works in the surrounding area 
to minimise disruption, and to align with the investment in the Metro. The 
regeneration opportunities surrounding the station are primed for delivery 
but require commitments with regards to transport infrastructure, in order to 
build the necessary confidence in the private sector to encourage 
acceleration of investment. It is estimated that Metro Central will help to 
secure 30,000 additional jobs, £2 billion of investment, and £1 billion of 
additional GVA.

29. At the Joint Committee meeting of 15 January 2018, it was agreed in 
principle to allocate £40 million from the Wider Investment Fund towards the 
Metro Central project to assist with securing match-funding from UK 
Government, Welsh Government and the private sector, and ultimately to 
assist with delivery of the project.

30. This allocation is subject to:

a) discharge of the JWA Business Plan reserved matter (which this 
report seeks to address);

b) formal approval of the Full Business Case by the Joint Committee in 
accordance with the Assurance Framework and full consideration by 
the appropriate advisory bodies and sub-committees;

c) completion of necessary GRIP and WelTAG processes; and
d) commitment to match-funding from Welsh Government, UK 

Government and the private sector, as outlined in this report.

Additional Projects

31. The Joint Committee has also agreed in principle to support additional 
projects covering the establishment of a Regional Housing Investment Fund; 
the development of a digital strategy to secure a step-change in digital 
connectivity; and a programme to increase employment and training 
opportunities across the city-region. This addressed Cardiff Council 
concerns that the JWA Business Plan needed to include sufficient detail 
about projects to demonstrate the purpose of City Deal investments across 
the city-region.   

Regional Housing Investment Fund

32. The Regional Housing Investment Fund will seek to support house building, 
ranging from larger builders and developers on stalled housing sites on 
former industrial sites, through to small builders, community builders, 
custom builders, and regeneration specialists, on smaller sites across the 
region. It will also seek to stimulate the SME building sector across the city-
region.

33. It is intended that the Fund will also support the sector through the provision 
of development finance, including loan funding to support the costs of 
building homes for sale or rent; and infrastructure finance to support site 
preparation and the infrastructure needed to enable housing to progress and 
to prepare land for development. It is also proposed to provide a Custom 

Page 244



Page 7 of 17

Build Scheme releasing smaller plots of public sector land with a full 
package of support for SMEs to deliver new homes in local communities.

34. The finalisation of work on the development of the Regional Housing 
Investment Fund proposition will require extensive specialist work to be 
undertaken. As a result, £100,000 has been allocated to develop a detailed 
business plan in accordance with Assurance Framework requirements.

35. It needs to be noted that the JWA Business Plan makes clear that the focus 
of the Housing Investment Fund will be on former industrial areas within the 
Valleys. This does not preclude Cardiff projects but it is anticipated that 
funding will tend to be concentrated in areas of housing market failure. 

Digital Strategy 

36. Work on the development of a digital strategy encompasses a number of 
interconnected proposals to enhance the digital capability and potential of 
the Cardiff Capital Region. The proposals include enhancements of the city-
region’s digital infrastructure, to ensure fast and efficient movement of data 
through a new “dark fibre” network. 

37. Related project proposals seek to strengthen transatlantic digital 
connectivity; capitalize on the existing Cardiff Internet Exchange, based in 
BT Stadium House, which was delivered by Cardiff Council in partnership 
with BT and LINX; and securing better fibre connectivity at a community 
level with steps to address remaining “not spots” in partnership with the 
Welsh Government. Emerging technologies feature through work to explore 
the potential of 5G, and the development of a network of sensors across the 
city-region to support the Internet of Things. An open data proposal is also 
being developed with a view to improving public services, as well as 
assisting regional business development. 

38. The Joint Committee has agreed to allocate £100,000 in 2018/19 for the 
scoping of a digital strategy, as well as an allocation of £30,000 to provide a 
resource to support the project work of the Open Data Working Group.

Skills for the Future

39. The Skills for the Future project aims to provide region-wide school 
engagement with pupils and parents to offer careers advice and guidance, 
support for businesses to address barriers to participation, a skills 
investment fund, and a commitment to support delivery of over 10,000 
additional apprenticeships, graduate internships and upskilling employees in 
the private sector.

40. The Skills for the Future project will use its initial development funding to 
work up proposals relating to:

A regional skills brokerage service - a local authority-led and impartial 
service that works with businesses, projects and investments, in conjunction 
with economic development and business support services, to secure 

Page 245



Page 8 of 17

appropriate and relevant skills support through education, training and other 
providers. 

School engagement - activities to encourage career choices that align with 
future demand whilst promoting parity of esteem between different pathways 
to help young people attain quality and sustained employment.

Access to apprenticeships including shared apprenticeships – employer 
engagement to increase the number and range of apprenticeships available 
in the region and schools engagement to increase the number of young 
people choosing apprenticeship pathways. Delivered in conjunction with 
work-based learning providers and extending access through shared 
apprenticeship programmes.

A graduate internship programme – employer engagement to increase the 
number of graduate opportunities available including placements and 
internships, delivered in conjunction with our Universities. 

Regional SME support – to encourage apprenticeship and graduate take-up 
by SMEs there will be a financial incentive and provision of a human 
resource support service. In the immediate term the service will support 
SMEs to maximise the use of the current Welsh Government 
apprenticeships subsidy of up to £3,500. Through City Deal, it is intended 
that a skills investment fund will be created for SMEs to support business 
development, with a proposed £1,000 subsidy for new graduate 
employment. 

A New Skills Investment Fund – a co-investment fund for SMEs that 
supports the upskilling of existing employees to meet technical, specialist 
and higher level skills needs, that can be accessed in the absence of other 
sources of funding. 

41. No specific budget was allocated for the Skills for the Future project, but a 
further more detailed report is expected to be considered by the Joint 
Committee in April. Much of this agenda aligns well with the Council’s 
Capital Ambition, in particular the Cardiff Commitment, and the project will 
potentially provide some additional support to deliver the Cardiff 
Commitment on a larger scale and in partnership with neighbouring local 
authorities. 

Regional Working 

42. The City Deal is primarily an investment-driven programme but it also 
reinforces a trend towards greater collaboration at the city-region level. 

43. Projects such as Skills for the Future will serve to foster further collaboration 
to ensure that labour market issues are tackled in a way that reflects the 
cross-boundary realities of the city-region economy. The Regional Transport 
Authority seeks to create better links between local transport authorities, 
and initial steps, considering  taking forward a Strategic Development Plan 
for the region, illustrate a generalised move towards stronger regional 
planning arrangements. 

Page 246



Page 9 of 17

44. Such an approach has been a longstanding aim of this Council and is 
welcomed by the administration. For example, a city-regional approach to 
economic development functions such as place promotion and business 
support is expected to create not just operational efficiencies, but also 
efficiencies in terms of co-ordination of activities at a wider level. 

45. This approach also aligns with the Welsh Government’s commitment to join 
up services at the regional level. The new Economic Action Plan - Prosperity 
for All - states that regional working will be a key principle in the future. The 
Welsh Government aims to “deliver a stronger regional voice through a 
regionally-focussed model of economic development, building upon and 
enhancing existing cross-government work with the regions”.

46. However, while the Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee may represent a 
focal-point for further collaboration across a range of policy areas, the Joint 
Working Agreement does not provide it with any further powers other than to 
deal with issues and funding relating to the City Deal. Any further delegation 
of powers would need to be subject to further approval from all participating 
local authorities and subject to the appropriate governance proposals. 

47. In this context, the Council is keen to explore opportunities for greater 
collaboration in the delivery of strategic economic development, skills & 
training, regeneration, transport, planning, and housing functions on a city-
regional basis. The Council  would, however,  need  to assess any proposal 
in the future for extended delegations to any regional decision-making body, 
particularly in terms of the extent to which it safeguards Cardiff’s success as 
the Capital City of Wales and addresses important issues of democratic 
accountability.  

The Joint Working Agreement Business Plan

48. As noted above, the Joint Working Agreement requires the constituent 
councils to take a further decision, as a “Matter Reserved to The Councils”, 
on the approval and adoption of the Joint Working Agreement Business 
Plan prior to unlocking further funding to the Wider Investment Fund. 

49. Subsequently the City Deal Programme Management Office has led the 
development of a Joint Working Agreement Business Plan. The prior in 
principle agreement of the above projects has also informed the 
development of the Joint Working Agreement Business Plan. 

50. It is important to note that if the reserved matter relating to the Joint Working 
Agreement Business Plan is not approved, then the Council would still be 
locked into the Joint Committee for the lock in period. This would serve to 
constrain the Committee since it would not have an agreed plan against 
which to deliver the City Deal investment programme. In practice all parties 
have been actively involved in the preparation of the Joint Working 
Agreement Business Plan and on this basis it is hoped that it will be agreed 
by all councils.

Page 247



Page 10 of 17

51. Clause 7.1.4 of the Joint Working Agreement states that the JWA Business 
Plan shall, amongst other matters, address the following:

a) the updated Affordability Envelope; (see section 9 of the JWA 
Business Plan)

b) the methodology for agreeing the nature, scope and prioritisation of 
projects to be developed for the overall benefit of the Cardiff Capital 
Region (in accordance with the terms of the Implementation Plan); 
(see section 3 of the JWA Business Plan)

c) the methodology and responsibility for any external audits in relation 
to this Agreement; (see section 9 of the JWA Business Plan)

d) the methodology and responsibility of any performance monitoring 
along with any performance indicators to enable the Joint Committee 
to measure progress against the JWA Business Plan (see section 3 
of the JWA Business Plan); and

e) any revenue and capital monitoring reports to be prepared for the 
Joint Committee and the frequency of such reports. (See section 9 of 
the JWA Business Plan)

52. Subsequently a Joint Working Agreement Business Plan document, 
attached as Appendix B, has been produced that covers:

 The Strategic Context which includes:
o Our Vision; and Strategic Objectives 

 Our Approach 
 Spatial Priorities 
 Our Strategic Themes (Programme Themes) which include:

o Skills and Employment; 
o Innovation; 
o Connecting the Region; and
o Regeneration and Infrastructure. 

 Indicative Five Year Spend Profile 
 Additional Opportunities for Regional Funding 

53. The Business Plan also identifies and provides some detail on emerging 
opportunities which will be considered and developed within the life of the 
plan, including:

 Skills for the Future;
 Innovation Portfolio;
 Metro Plus;
 Digital Portfolio;
 Housing Investment Fund; and
 Strategic Sites.

54. In relation to the ‘Metro Plus’ proposal the JWA Business Plan outlines the 
commitment, subject to approval of the Full Business Case, completion of 
necessary GRIP and WelTAG processes and commitment to match-funding 
from Welsh Government, UK Government, and the private sector, to support 
the Metro Central project as a key component of the City Deal. 

Page 248



Page 11 of 17

55. In summary, the JWA Business Plan provides a high level overview of the 
spending priorities of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, subject to 
necessary approvals. It does not, however, commit all of the Wider 
Investment Fund and allows flexibility for further project decisions. The Plan 
(which will take the City Deal past its first Gateway Review, due in 
December 2020) also indicates that other proposals will emerge, within the 
life of the plan, all of which will be rigidly assessed in accordance with the 
Assurance Framework.

56. Final decisions on funding approval will lie with the Cardiff Capital Region 
Joint Committee. In the case of projects such as Metro Central this means 
that the Joint Committee must be satisfied that the necessary conditions 
required by the City Deal Assurance Framework have been met.

57. In approving the Joint Working Agreement Business Plan the Council will 
enable, should the nine other Councils also approve, the Cardiff Capital 
Region Joint Committee to have complete control of City Deal spending. All 
decisions relating to the £495m investment fund will be determined by the 
Cardiff Capital Region Joint Committee, subject to projects passing the 
necessary Assurance Framework requirements. 

58. Table 1 below outlines the required financial commitment to the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal. Over the lifetime of the project Cardiff’s 
contribution will total £50m, 23.7% of the total local authority contribution. 
The proportions have been allocated based on 2015 National Statistics 
population estimates, which will be used as the baseline throughout the 
lifetime of the City Deal and were agreed by councils in January 2017.

Table 1:  Affordability Envelope / Partner Contributions

Constituent
Local Authority % £m

Blaenau Gwent 4.6% 9.7
Bridgend 9.4% 19.9
Caerphilly 12.0% 25.2
Cardiff 23.7% 50.0
Merthyr Tydfil 3.9% 8.3
Monmouthshire 6.1% 12.9
Newport 9.8% 20.7
Rhondda Cynon Taff 15.8% 33.3
Torfaen 6.1% 12.9
Vale of Glamorgan 8.5% 17.9

Total 100% 210.8

Reason for Recommendations

59. To agree the CCR JWA Business Plan in accordance with the requirements 
of the JWA and to discharge the necessary reserved matter that will release 
local authority funding to the City Deal Wider Investment Fund. 

Page 249



Page 12 of 17

Financial Implications

60. The attached report seeks approval of the Joint Working Agreement 
Business Plan (JWA Business Plan), which is attached at Appendix B.  
Section 9 of the JWA Business Plan provides details of the Cardiff Capital 
Region City Deal Wider Investment Fund, which amounts to £495 million.  
This consists of £375 million HM Treasury grant received over a period of 20 
years with the balance (£120 million) met by the ten city deal partnering 
authorities as ‘Council Contributions’ on an agreed basis.   

61. The JWA Business Plan outlines the current position in respect of approvals 
to-date, in-principle commitments and sums available for future revenue and 
capital projects as these are brought forward for consideration and approval.  
For these reasons, the JWA Business Plan is an evolving document, which 
will be updated at least annually to reflect updates in respect of new 
approvals and also to report on the actual performance of approved projects 
i.e. those projects that are in the implementation or operational phases of 
their respective lifecycles.  

62. Therefore, the JWA Business Plan can only provide an indication of the 
financial implications arising from the Wider Investment Fund at this time.  
The actual approvals outlined above have been supplemented by an 
indicative programme of investment along with a range of other financial and 
technical assumptions, details of which are set out below in order to arrive at 
the indicative cost figures.  

63. In line with the Assurance Framework, all investment proposals will be 
subject to business case development and approval.  The business case will 
provide detailed information on matters such as expenditure profile (and 
whether it is revenue and/or capital in nature), and the proposed funding 
streams.  The business case will also need to be clear on the proposed 
delivery mechanism and how risks will be allocated and managed.       

64. The Joint Working Agreement (JWA) defines the Affordability Envelope as:  

“means the overall costs and investment by each Council pursuant to their 
proportion of the Councils' Contribution under this Agreement over the 
evaluation period, which shall not exceed in aggregate £210,800,000 (two 
hundred and ten million eight hundred thousand pounds) and shall include, 
without limitation, all interest, inflation and UK Government cost to carry and 
shall be updated and will be reflected within the terms of the JWA Business 
Plan (as part of its approval by the Councils) to include, amongst other 
matters, the annual spend profile for each Council”

65. The approved affordability envelope has been set at £210.8 million and is 
based on the indicative modelling that was undertaken in January 2017 and 
informed the reports approved by each constituent council in 
January/February 2017. This represented a significant reduction of £63.8 
million against the sum (£274.6 million) approved by councils in March 
2016, when the Heads of Terms were signed. 

Page 250



Page 13 of 17

66. As outlined above, the Joint Working Agreement acknowledges that the 
affordability implications arising from the ‘whole-life cost’ of the Wider 
Investment Fund will change over time, as investment decisions are made.  
Clause 7.1.4.a requires the inclusion of the ‘Updated Affordability Envelope’ 
when the JWA Business Plan is submitted to the constituent councils for 
approval.  Agreeing any increase to the affordability envelope is a matter 
reserved to each council.

67. The affordability model has been updated to reflect the changes made since 
the Joint Working Agreement was approved by councils in January/February 
2017.  The updated modelling suggests that the ‘whole-life cost’ of the 
Wider Investment Fund to the constituent councils remains within the 
approved affordability envelope of £210.8 million.

68. The changes include the assumption that the ‘Reserved Matter’ is 
discharged by 31 March 2018, thereby allowing a ‘switch’ of funding for the 
capital element of the Compound Semi-Conductor project.  This is designed 
to preserve HMT Contribution revenue grant to meet the cost of future 
revenue-based projects that may come forward.

69. The indicative whole-life affordability implications for each partnering 
authority are shown in Table 1 above.  Cardiff’s updated Affordability 
Envelope remains at £50.0 million, over the term of the City Deal.

70. At its meeting of 22 February, Council approved its 2018/19 Capital 
Programme and its Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) as part of the 
budget report.  The approved budget includes appropriate amounts in 
respect of City Deal capital contributions and the resulting annual revenue 
implications, which are shown in Table 2 below. 

Table 2: Approved City Deal Capital Contributions and Revenue 
Implications

Financial Year
Capital 

Contributions
£m

Revenue
Implications

£’000
2018/19 4.20 221.8
2019/20 1.20 342.3
2020/21 1.20 429.0
2021/22 1.89 606.3
2022/23 1.89 847.8

Total 10.38 2,447.2

Technical Assumptions

71. As outlined earlier, the updated affordability envelope is based on an 
indicative programme of investment along with a range of other financial and 
technical assumptions.  Key assumptions include:  

 Indicative investment profile spend:  based on actual approvals to-
date plus the typical spend profile of City Deals results in the following 

Page 251



Page 14 of 17

cumulative profile - Years 1-7 = £195 million, Years 1-11 = £479 million, 
and Years 1-20 = £495 million);

 Repayment Period:  borrowing is assumed to be repaid over 25yrs, but 
in-line with the requirements for Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), the 
actual repayment period will need to reflect the economic life of the 
individual assets being funded;

 Interest Rate:  an average rate of 3% has been assumed.  At the time of 
writing, the current 25yr PWLB rate is 2.62%, which provides headroom 
of 14.5% at this time, however, this is a reduction against the 22.0% 
headroom that existed in January 2017;
     

 Funding Drawdown priority: all revenue expenditure is funded 
exclusively from HMT revenue grant.  Generally capital expenditure will 
be first met from HMT capital grant ‘in-hand’, with the balance being 
funding in accordance with the ‘funding ratio’, i.e. 75.8% temporary 
borrowing in lieu of future capital grant (referred to as the ‘Cost of Carry’) 
and 24.2% from Council Contributions (in the form of local authority 
borrowing);
 

 Inflation: is excluded, i.e. all figures are stated in nominal terms and 
therefore inflation will need to be met from within the overall £495 million 
sum. 

72. The validity of these assumptions will be reviewed on a regular basis and 
updated as appropriate.  In particular, it has been suggested that Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal may wish to revisit the basis (priority) on which 
funding is drawn down and applied to annual expenditure.

73. The current assumption used for indicative modelling purposes is based on 
the overall Wider Investment Fund funding allocations, i.e. once available 
grant has been applied, 75.8% of the annual expenditure is funded through 
temporary borrowing (Cost of Carry), with the remaining 24.2% draw down 
against Council Contributions (£120 million local authority borrowing 
element).

74. However, from a cost management perspective, fully prioritising Council 
Contributions ahead of temporary borrowing will reduce the overall Cost of 
Carry over the life of the fund.  Finally, whilst it is assumed that all Council 
Contributions are borrowed, in practice this will be a matter for each 
individual local authority to decide. 

75. The report also highlights the following requirements of:

Clause 7.1.4.- “the methodology and responsibility for any external audits in 
relation to this Agreement”.

76. This requirement will be addressed through the Annual Audit Plan agreed 
with the relevant external auditors and presented to Regional Joint 
Committee for consideration and approval and;    

Page 252



Page 15 of 17

Clause 7.1.4.e – “any revenue and capital monitoring reports to be prepared 
for the Joint Committee and the frequency of such reports.”

77. Regional Joint Committee will receive regular revenue and capital 
monitoring reports throughout the year advising on matters such as: 
Approved Budget, Actual Positon To-Date, Commitments and Projected 
Out-turn.  These reports will be supplemented by the appropriate Project 
Performance Reports, advising on all aspects of the Wider Investment Fund.  

78. HMT grant funding will be paid to the Accountable Body on behalf of the ten 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal (CCRCD) constituent councils.  The funding 
must be used solely to support the objectives of CCRCD through the 
implementation of projects and schemes agreed by the Regional Joint 
Committee and in accordance with arrangements set out in its Joint Working 
Agreement, Wider Investment Fund, Assurance Framework, and the JWA 
Business Plan.

 
1) Assurance Framework

As projects are presented for approval, it is important that the requirements 
of the Wider Investment Fund Assurance Framework are complied with as 
this is a key requirement of HM Treasury funding terms and conditions, as 
set out by Welsh Government.

2) Gateway Reviews

An outcome-based Gateway Review of Cardiff Capital Region City Deal led 
by HM Treasury will be undertaken in 2020/21. Funding for 2021/22 and 
beyond is conditional on the region successfully passing this Gateway 
Review, whilst any unspent funding up to this point may be subject to 
repayment if the Gateway Review is not passed.  

It has been confirmed that in any year, where funds have been committed 
and/or there is a clear intention to spend, carry forward of funding to future 
years will be permitted.  Carry forward in respect of the final year (2020-21) 
will also be permitted providing that the Gateway Review is passed.

Draft Legal Implications 

79. The body of the report sets out the relevant provisions of the Joint Working 
Agreement (’JWA’) in relation to the JWA Business Plan (‘Plan’). They form 
part of the legal implications, to which regard should be had but to avoid 
duplication are not repeated in this section.

80. Pointing out the obvious, the JWA Business plan is a key document in 
relation to the delivery of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. The content 
of the Plan serving to create a legitimate expectation that the matters 
referred to (proposals, projects and themes) will be progressed as set out in 
the Plan.  Accordingly, it is important that Regional Joint Committee and 
each constituent council is content with the content of the JWA Business 
plan. As regards the progression of individual themes and projects, and as 
stated in the body of the report, matters will need to be considered in 
accordance with the provisions of the Assurance Framework, at which stage 

Page 253



Page 16 of 17

any legal issues raised by a project can be considered and detailed legal 
advice provided.  The Plan refers, in section 10, to a case being made for a 
range of powers to be devolved to the local authorities of the Cardiff Capital 
Region. To the extent that any further powers are sought to be delegated to 
the Regional Joint Committee, then this will be a matter for each of the 
Councils comprising the CCRCD to determine.

81. In considering this matter regard should be had, amongst other matters, to:

(a) the Councils’ duties under the Well –being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015,(The Plan noting at section 3 that, ‘ … we (CCRCD) will 
follow the five ways of working and sustainability principles detailed in the  
Well–being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and reflect and support 
the well-being goals); and (b)  Public sector duties under the Equalities Act 
2010 (including specific Welsh public sector duties). Pursuant to these legal 
duties Councils must in making decisions have due regard to the need to a) 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct that is prohibited by that Act; b) advance equality of opportunity 
between people who share a relevant protected characteristic and those 
who do not; and c) foster good relations between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who do not. Protected characteristics are: 
a. Age; b. Gender reassignment; c. Sex; d. Race – including ethnic or 
national origin, colour or nationality; e. Disability; f. Pregnancy and 
maternity; g. Marriage and civil partnership; h. Sexual orientation; I. Religion 
or belief – including lack of belief.  In Wales, public sector bodies listed are 
required to take certain steps in order to demonstrate that they have due 
regard to the public sector equality duty. These Welsh specific equality 
duties include assessing the impact of policies and procedures on equality 
(often called Equality Impact-Assessment). 

82. A Well-being and Equality Assessment has been undertaken and is included 
in Appendix C. Regards should be had to the same in reaching a decision 
on this matter. 

Well-being and Equalities Assessment

83. A Well-being and Equalities Assessment has been undertaken and is 
attached as Appendix C.

84. The Assessment demonstrates that the detail contained in the draft JWA 
Business Plan demonstrates compliance with the well-being 5 ways of 
working, supports the well-being goals and identifies that the City Deal is 
expected to have a positive impact on all groups and people with protected 
characteristics.

RECOMMENDATION

It is recommended that Cabinet recommends to Council for approval the Cardiff 
Capital Region Joint Working Agreement Business Plan in the form attached as 
Appendix B to this report. 

Page 254



Page 17 of 17

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive 
9 March 2018

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix A: Cardiff Capital Region Joint Working Agreement
Appendix B: Cardiff Capital Region Joint Working Agreement Business Plan
Appendix C: Cardiff Capital Region Well-being and Equalities Assessment

Page 255



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



79942231.1\dd04  

Date: 19.01.17 
 

DATED 2017 

 

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  

(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF 
CARDIFF 

(5) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(6) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

(7) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL 

(8) RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(9) TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(10) THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL 

 

 

JOINT WORKING AGREEMENT 
in relation to the delivery of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A

Page 257



79942231.1\dd04  

 

CONTENTS 

Clause 

 
1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 5 

2 COMMENCEMENT, DURATION AND TERMINATION 10 

3 PRINCIPLES AND KEY OBJECTIVES 11 

4 THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL AS THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY 13 

5 DUTIES OF THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY 13 

6 DUTIES OF THE OTHER COUNCILS 13 

7    BUSINES PLANS AND PROGRESS MONITORING          14 
 
8 CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION WIDER INVESTMENT FUND(S) 16 

9 DECISION MAKING 16 

10 JOINT COMMITTEE 17 

11 PROGRAMME BOARD AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR 20 

12 COMMITMENT OF THE COUNCILS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 20 

13 MITIGATION 25 

14 LIABILITY OF THE COUNCILS 25 

15 WITHDRAWAL 26 

16 CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION 28 

17 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 29 

18 CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 30 

19 CONTRACTS (THIRD PARTY RIGHTS) 30 

20 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 30 

21 DATA PROTECTION 31 

22 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENT INFORMATION 33 

23 NOTICES 34 

24 GOVERNING LAW 34 

25 ASSIGNMENTS 34 

Page 258



79942231.1\dd04  

26 WAIVER 35 

27 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 35 

28 COUNTERPARTS 35 

29 RELATIONSHIP OF COUNCILS 35 

30 STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES 35 

SCHEDULE 1 - DELEGATIONS POLICY 36 

Schedule 2- TERMS OF REFERENCE 39 

PART 1 - JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 39 

PART 2 - PROGRAMME BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 41 

SCHEDULE 3 - COUNCILS' AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR'S DETAILS 42 

SCHEDULE 4 – HEADS OF EXPENDITURE 43 

SCHEDULE 5 – ACCOUNTING PERIODS 44 

SCHEDULE 6 – LIABILITY REPORT 45 

SCHEDULE 7 - CITY DEAL 46 

SCHEDULE 8 - ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 60 

SCHEDULE 9 - IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 92 

SCHEDULE 10 - IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 92 

Page 259



 

79942231.1\dd04 4 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on 2017 

BETWEEN 

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Municipal Offices, Civic 
Centre, Ebbw Vale, Gwent, NP23 6XB ("Blaenau Gwent Council"); 

(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB ("Bridgend Council"); 

(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Penallta House, Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed, CF82 7PG ("Caerphilly Council"); 

(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF of County Hall, 
Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, CF10 4UW (the "City of Cardiff Council"); 

(5) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN ("Merthyr Tydfil Council"); 

(6) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 
1GA ("Monmouthshire Council"); 

(7) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Newport, NP20 4UR ("Newport 
Council");  

(8) RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of The Pavilions, 
Cambrian Park,  Clydach Vale, Tonypandy,  CF40 2XX ("Rhondda Cynon Taff 
Council"); 

(9)  TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Pontypool, NP4 6YB 
("Torfaen Council"); and 

(10) THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL of Civic Offices, Holton Road, Barry, CF63 
4RU ("Vale of Glamorgan"), 

(together referred to as "the Councils" and individually as a "Council") 

BACKGROUND 

(A) The Councils have agreed to work together and enter into this Agreement to formalise 
their respective roles and responsibilities in order to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the South East Wales Metro Scheme is being financed and procured directly by 
the Welsh Government outside of this Agreement and the Councils are not assuming 
any obligations or liabilities whatsoever in respect of the South East Wales Metro 
Scheme.  

(B) The Councils have agreed to create a Joint Committee with a robust governance 
arrangement that will be responsible for overseeing and co-ordinating the discharge of 
the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal. The Joint Committee shall, 
amongst other matters, be responsible for the establishment of and management of 
the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund(s) and delivery of key projects, in 
each case, as determined by the Joint Committee from time to time.  

(C) The Councils have agreed to appoint the City of Cardiff Council to act as the 
Accountable Body for and on behalf of the Councils and to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this 
Agreement.   

Page 260



 

79942231.1\dd04 5 

(D) The Councils wish to enter into this Agreement and deliver the City Deal pursuant to 
the powers conferred on them by Sections 101, 102, 111 and 113 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 1 of the Local Authority (Goods & Services) Act 1970, 
Section 25 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994, Section 2, 19 and 20 of the 
Local Government Act 2000, Section 9 of the Local Government Wales Measure 2009 
and all other enabling powers now vested in the Councils. 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement and the Recitals, unless, the context otherwise requires the 
following terms shall have the meaning given to them below:- 

"Accountable Body" means the Council appointed under Clause 4 
(Accountable Body) who shall be responsible for 
receiving and spending funds for and on behalf of the 
Councils in relation to the City Deal in accordance 
with the funding condition relating thereto and whose 
duties are set out under Clause 5 (Duties of the 
Accountable Body) 

"Accounting Period" means those periods set out in Schedule 6 
(Accounting Periods) as may be amended from time 
to time in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement 

"Affordability Envelope" means the overall costs and investment by each 
Council pursuant to their proportion of the Councils' 
Contribution under this Agreement over the 25 (twenty 
five) year evaluation period, which shall not exceed in 
aggregate £210,800,000 (two hundred and ten million 
eight hundred thousand pounds) and shall include, 
without limitation, all interest, inflation and UK 
Government cost to carry and shall be updated and 
will be reflected within the terms of the JWA Business 
Plan (as part of its approval by the Councils) to 
include, amongst other matters, the annual spend 
profile for each Council 

"Annual Budget" means the approved annual budget of the 
Accountable Body held for and on behalf of the 
Councils and as set out in Clause 12.4 (Annual 
Budget) in relation to the payment of any Joint 
Committee Costs in accordance with this Agreement 

"Annual Business Plan" means each business plan referred to in Clause 7.3 
(Annual Business Plans) in relation to the annual 
spend for approved project(s) to be implemented in 
that Accounting Period in relation to the City Deal (and 
the manner and form of such implementation), as the 
same may be prepared, varied or updated from time 
to time in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement 

"Assurance Framework" means the Councils' systems, processes and 
protocols to assess the governance, risk management 
and control processes of the Councils for the 
discharge of their obligations in relation to the City 
Deal attached at 0 (Assurance Framework) of this 
Agreement   

Page 261



 

79942231.1\dd04 6 

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or a 
public or bank holiday in England and/or Wales 

"Cardiff Capital Region" comprises of the ten administrative areas of Blaenau 
Gwent Council, Bridgend Council, Caerphilly Council, 
the City of Cardiff Council, Merthyr Tydfil Council, 
Monmouthshire Council, Newport Council, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff Council, Torfaen Council and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Council 

"Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund" 

means the fund or funds to be established by the 
Councils from time to time in accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement in pursuance of the City Deal 
objectives  

"CDEL" means capital departmental expenditure limits 

"CEDR" means the Centre for Dispute Resolution 

"City Deal" means the agreement between the Welsh 
Government, the UK Government and the Councils 
dated 15 March 2016 and appended at Schedule 7 
(City Deal) to this Agreement 

"Commencement Date" means the date of this Agreement 

"Conditions Longstop Date" means as defined in Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent) 

"Confidential Information" all know-how and other information whether 
commercial, financial, technical or otherwise relating 
to the business, affairs or methods of all or any 
Council, which is contained in or discernible in any 
form whatsoever (including without limitation software, 
data, drawings, films, documents and 
computer-readable media) whether or not marked or 
designated as confidential or proprietary or which is 
disclosed orally or by demonstration and which is 
described at the time of disclosure as confidential or is 
clearly so from its content or the context of disclosure 

"Council Contribution" means the funding provided by the Councils as set 
out in Clause 12.5.1(b) (Council Contribution) 

"Decision Period" means the period of twenty (20) Business Days from 
the date of the Liability Report or such other time as is 
unanimously agreed by all the Councils 

"DPA" means the Data Protection Act 1998 

"Gateway Review" means the five (5) yearly examination of programmes 
and projects by HMT to assess the progress and 
likelihood of the Councils' successful delivery of the 
City Deal (excluding the South East Wales Metro 
Scheme) 

"HMT" means Her Majesty's Treasury, a ministerial 
department of the UK Government 

Page 262



 

79942231.1\dd04 7 

"HMT Contribution" means the funding provided by HMT as set out in 
Clause 12.5.2 (HMT Contribution) 

"HMT Funding Conditions" means as defined in Clause 12.5.2 (HMT 
Contribution) 

"Implementation Plan" means the agreed implementation plan setting out, 
amongst other things, the process for agreeing and 
prioritising projects to be procured pursuant to the City 
Deal and as attached at 0 (Implementation Plan) to 
this Agreement 

"Intellectual Property" any and all patents, trade marks, trade names, 
copyright, moral rights, rights in design, rights in 
databases, know-how and all or other intellectual 
property rights whether or not registered or capable of 
registration and whether subsisting in the United 
Kingdom or any other part of the world together with 
all or any goodwill relating to them and the right to 
apply for registration of them 

"Internal Costs" means as defined in paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 4 
(Heads of Expenditure) (and shall, for the avoidance 
of doubt, not include any revenue costs or capital 
investment relating to the implementation of any 
project pursuant to an Annual Business Plan) and 
excluding Joint Committee Costs 

"IP Material" the Intellectual Property in the Material 
 

"Joint Committee" means the joint committee set up by the Councils 
pursuant to Clause 10 (Joint Committee) of this 
Agreement 

"Joint Committee Costs" means as defined in paragraph 1.2 of Schedule 4 
(Heads of Expenditure) (and shall, for the 
avoidance of doubt, not include any revenue costs 
or capital investment relating to the implementation 
of any project pursuant to an Annual Business 
Plan) and excluding any Internal Costs (save for 
the Internal Costs of the Accountable Body which 
shall be accounted for as Joint Committee Costs) 
 

"Joint Committee Meeting" means a meeting of the Joint Committee duly 
convened in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint 
Committee) 

Page 263



 

79942231.1\dd04 8 

"JWA Business Plan" means the strategy which defines the regional 
objectives including the high level programme to be 
agreed as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils" which 
shall include, amongst other matters, (i) the indicative 
investment programme for the "Programme Themes" 
(as such Programme Themes are defined under the 
Implementation Plan) and any agreed strategic 
projects together with the indicative spend profile for 
the wider investment fund (comprising of the HMT 
Contribution and the Council Contribution in the 
aggregate sum of £495,000,000 (four hundred and 
ninety-five million) in relation thereto and (ii) the 
matters set out in Clause 7.1.4 (JWA Business Plan), 
in order to discharge the Councils' obligations in 
relation to the City Deal  

"Liability  Report" means a report prepared by the Accountable Body (or 
such other Council nominated under Clause 15.3 
(Withdrawal)) acting reasonably setting out the 
financial and resource commitments of the relevant 
Council under Clause 15 (Withdrawal) or 16 
(Consequences of Termination) including the items 
set out in Schedule 6 (Liability Report) 

"Local Authority" a principal council (as defined in Section 270 of the 
Local Government Act 1972) or any body of 
government in Wales established as a successor of a 
principal councils 
 

"Lock In Period" means the period expiring on the later of: 
 
(a) five (5) years from the Commencement Date; 

and 
 
(b) the completion of HMT's first five (5) year 

Gateway Review 
 

"Material" all data, text, graphics, images and other materials or 
documents created, used or supplied by a Council in 
connection with this Agreement unless before the first 
use or supply, the Council notifies the other Councils 
that the data, text supplied is not to be covered by this 
definition 
 

"Personal Data" means the personal data as defined in the DPA 

"Programme Board" means as defined in Clause 11.1.1 (Programme 
Board and Regional Programme Director) 

"Programme Themes"  shall have the meaning given to it under the 
Implementation Plan  

"Proportionate Basis" means the relevant proportion for each Council by 
reference to their respective percentage contribution 
as set out in Clause 12.5.3 (Councils' Contribution) 

"RDEL" means resource departmental expenditure limits  

Page 264



 

79942231.1\dd04 9 

"Regional Programme 
Director" 

means the person so appointed from time to time by 
the Joint Committee to represent the interests of all 
the Councils in respect of their operational 
requirements for the City Deal and who shall be called 
the "Regional Programme Director" working under the 
direction of the Joint Committee and within the scope 
of delegation set out in Schedule 1 (Delegations 
Policy) (provided that any interim arrangements for 
the recruitment and/or employment of such Regional 
Programme Director agreed prior to the date of this 
Agreement shall continue until such time as the 
Accountable Body is able to effect such appointment) 

"South East Wales Metro 
Scheme" 

means:- 

(a)  the delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification 
Programme; and 

(b)  the wider Metro Scheme, 

both of which are more particularly defined in Section 
4 (South East Wales Metro) of the City Deal 

"Spending Review" means the announcement of the Spring Budget 2017 
by HMT scheduled to be on Wednesday 8 March 
2017 

"Translation Costs" means costs incurred by the Accountable Body in 
complying with any applicable legislation relating to its 
obligations under this Agreement 

1.2 Interpretation 

In this Agreement, except where the context otherwise requires:- 

1.2.1 the singular includes the plural and vice versa; 

1.2.2 a reference to any clause, sub-clause, paragraph, Schedule, recital or annex 
is, except where expressly stated to the contrary, a reference to such clause, 
sub-clause, paragraph, schedule, recital or annex of and to this Agreement; 

1.2.3 any reference to this Agreement or to any other document shall include any 
permitted variation, amendment or supplement to such document; 

1.2.4 any reference to legislation shall be construed as a reference to any 
legislation as amended, replaced, consolidated or re-enacted; 

1.2.5 a reference to a public organisation (to include, for the avoidance of doubt, 
any Council) shall be deemed to include a reference to any successor to 
such public organisation or any organisation or entity which has taken over 
either or both functions and responsibilities of such public organisation; 

1.2.6 a reference to a person includes firms, partnerships and corporations and 
their successors and permitted assignees or transferees; 

1.2.7 the schedule, clause, sub-clause and (where provided) paragraph headings 
and captions in the body of this Agreement do not form part of this 
Agreement and shall not be taken into account in its construction or 
interpretation; 

Page 265



 

79942231.1\dd04 10 

1.2.8 words preceding "include", "includes", "including" and "included" shall be 
construed without limitation by the words which follow those words; and 

1.2.9 any reference to the title of an officer or any of the Councils shall include any 
person holding such office from time to time by the same or any title 
substituted thereafter or such other officer of the relevant Council as that 
Council may from time to time appoint to carry out the duties of the officer 
referred to. 

1.3 Schedules 

The Schedules to this Agreement form part of this Agreement. 

2. COMMENCEMENT, DURATION AND TERMINATION 

2.1 Duration of the Agreement 

This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect from the Commencement Date 
until the earlier of the following dates:- 

2.1.1 the condition subsequent set out in Clause 2.3 (Condition Subsequent) are 
not satisfied or otherwise waived in writing by the Councils as a "Joint 
Committee Matter" with the prior agreement of the Accountable Body (in 
consultation with the other Councils) prior to the Conditions Longstop Date; 

2.1.2 all the Councils agree in writing to its termination; or 

2.1.3 there is only one (1) remaining Council who has not withdrawn from this 
Agreement in accordance with Clause 15 (Withdrawal). 

2.2 Termination 

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies, this Agreement may be terminated 
in relation to any Council ("Defaulter") by the other Councils ("Non-Defaulting 
Councils") acting unanimously in giving written notice to the Defaulter effective on 
receipt where the Defaulter materially breaches any of the provisions of this 
Agreement and in the case of a breach capable of remedy fails to remedy the same 
within thirty (30) Business Days (or such other period as agreed by the Non-Defaulting 
Councils) of being notified of each breach in writing by the Non-Defaulting Councils 
and being required to remedy the same. 

2.3 Conditions Subsequent 

The Councils shall approve the terms of any Welsh Government funding conditions 
relating to the HMT Contribution as a "Joint Committee Matter" within six (6) months of 
the Commencement Date or by such other date as agreed by the Councils (with any 
such extension to be approved as a "Joint Committee Matter") with the prior 
agreement of the Accountable Body (in consultation with the other Councils) 
("Conditions Longstop Date"). 

2.4 Initial Project Investments 

The Parties agree and acknowledge that, notwithstanding Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent) and the requirement for the Councils to agree and adopt the JWA 
Business Plan, the Joint Committee shall with effect from the date of this Agreement 
be authorised to commit up to £50,000,000 (fifty million pounds) of the HMT 
Contribution during the 12 month period following the date of this Agreement (or such 
additional period as agreed by the Councils as a Joint Committee Matter) for and on 
behalf of the Councils on projects approved pursuant to the terms of the Assurance 
Framework and the Annual Business Plan. 

Page 266



 

79942231.1\dd04 11 

3. PRINCIPLES AND KEY OBJECTIVES 

3.1 The Councils intend this Agreement to be legally binding. 

3.2 The Councils agree to work together to discharge the Councils' obligations in relation 
to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this Agreement. 

3.3 Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, the Councils agree that they shall 
conduct their relationship in accordance with the objectives and principles set out 
below and shall agree the number and scope of projects to be developed in order to 
provide an overall regional benefit to the Cardiff Capital Region.    

3.4 Objectives 

Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, the Councils agree that they will 
conduct their relationship in accordance with the following objectives:- 

3.4.1 Connecting the Cardiff Capital Region, its communities, businesses, jobs, 
facilities and services; 

3.4.2 Investing in innovation and the digital network, creating and nurturing 
new high growth businesses, increasing investment in research and 
development, and providing the skills that businesses need now and in the 
future; 

3.4.3 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment, improving 
the co-ordination of skills and employment support, increasing the number of 
people moving into work, increasing the number of people undertaking an 
apprenticeship or other relevant skills provision, and giving people the skills 
they need; 

3.4.4 Supporting enterprise and business growth, improving the co-ordination 
of local and national business support arrangements, identifying barriers to 
growth, supporting spatial and sectoral priorities and targeting emerging 
opportunities for driving economic performance; 

3.4.5 Housing development and regeneration, delivering a strategic approach 
to housing, regeneration, and economic growth to create an accessible, 
liveable, ‘work-life integrated’ and highly connected Cardiff Capital Region; 
and 

3.4.6 Developing greater city-region governance across the Cardiff Capital 
Region, exploring future options for moving to even stronger and effective 
governance. 

3.5 Principles 

Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, the Councils agree that they will 
conduct their relationship in accordance with the following principles:- 

3.5.1 Openness and Trust 

In relation to this Agreement the Councils will be open and trusting in their 
dealings with each other, make information and analysis available to each 
other, discuss and develop ideas openly and contribute fully to all aspects of 
making the joint working successful.  Whilst respecting the mutual need for 
commercial confidentiality, the Councils will willingly embrace a commitment 
to transparency in their dealings and in particular a need to comply with 
statutory access to information requirements including the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and 

Page 267



 

79942231.1\dd04 12 

supporting codes of practice.  The Councils will be aware of the need for and 
respect matters of commercial confidentiality and potential sensitivity; 

3.5.2 Commitment and Drive 

The Councils will be fully committed to working jointly, will seek to fully 
motivate employees and will address the challenges of delivering the  City 
Deal with enthusiasm and a determination to succeed; 

3.5.3 Skills and Creativity 

The Councils recognise that each brings complimentary skills and 
knowledge which they will apply creatively to achieving the Councils' 
objectives, continuity, resolution of difficulties and the development of the 
joint working relationship and the personnel working within it.  It is 
recognised that this will involve the appreciation and adoption of common 
values; 

3.5.4 Effective Relationships 

The roles and responsibilities of each Council will be clear with relationships 
developed at the appropriate levels within each organisation with direct and 
easy access to each other's representatives; 

3.5.5 Developing and Adaptive 

The Councils recognise that they are engaged in what could be a long term 
business relationship which needs to develop and adapt and will use 
reasonable endeavours to develop and maintain an effective joint process to 
ensure that the relationship develops appropriately and in line with these 
principles and objectives; 

3.5.6 Reputation and Standing 

The Councils agree that, in relation to this Agreement and the City Deal 
generally, they shall pay the utmost regard to the standing and reputation of 
one another, and act with regard to each Council's own employer and 
member codes of conduct and shall not do or fail to do anything which may 
bring the standing or reputation of any other Council into disrepute or attract 
adverse publicity to any other Council; 

3.5.7 Reasonableness of Decision Making 

The Councils agree that all decisions made in relation to this Agreement and 
the City Deal generally shall be made by them acting reasonably and in good 
faith; 

3.5.8 Necessary Consents 

Each Council hereby represents to the other Councils that it has obtained all 
necessary consents sufficient to ensure the delegation of functions and 
responsibilities provided for by this Agreement; and 

3.5.9 Members and Officers Commitments  

Each Council shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that their 
respective members and officers who are involved in the City Deal shall at all 
times act in the best interests of the City Deal, and act with regard to each 
Council's own employer and member codes of conduct, devote sufficient 

Page 268



 

79942231.1\dd04 13 

resources to deliver the City Deal and respond in a timely manner to all 
relevant requests from the other Councils. 

4. THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL AS THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY  

4.1 The Councils (acting severally) have agreed, with effect from the Commencement 
Date, the City of Cardiff Council will act as the Accountable Body responsible for 
discharging the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in 
accordance with this Agreement for and on behalf of the Councils and the City of 
Cardiff Council agrees to act in that capacity subject to and in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

4.2 If the Accountable Body defaults and the Agreement is terminated in respect of it 
pursuant to Clause 2.2 (Commencement, Duration and Termination) or the 
Accountable Body withdraws pursuant to Clause 15 (Withdrawal), then the 
replacement Accountable Body will be appointed by the Joint Committee and the 
withdrawing or, as applicable, defaulting Accountable Body will not have the right to 
vote in regard to any such appointment. 

4.3 Where a replacement Accountable Body is appointed pursuant to Clause 4.2 above, 
any reference to the City of Cardiff Council (in its capacity as the initial Accountable 
Body) shall be read with reference to the replacement Accountable Body. 

4.4 The Accountable Body shall act as the Accountable Body and shall receive any HMT 
Contribution from the Welsh Government for and on behalf of the Councils and shall 
hold and manage such HMT Contribution in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement.  

5. DUTIES OF THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

5.1 For the duration of this Agreement, the Accountable Body shall: 

5.1.1 act diligently and in good faith in all its dealings with the other Councils and it 
shall use its reasonable endeavours to discharge the Councils' obligations in 
relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this Agreement 
and all applicable legislation including but not limited to:- 

(a) the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015; 

(b) Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011; and 

(c) the Welsh Language Standards; 

5.1.2 act as the primary interface (on behalf of itself and the other Councils) with 
the Welsh Government, the UK Government and the European Regional 
Development Fund and any other body necessary to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal; and 

5.1.3 act as the Accountable Body to hold any funds received directly from the 
Welsh Government, the UK Government (if any), the European Regional 
Development Fund (if any), the Councils and/or any other sources (if any) in 
relation to the City Deal and only to use and release such funds as agreed in 
accordance with the terms of such funding and this Agreement. 

6. DUTIES OF THE OTHER COUNCILS 

6.1 For the duration of this Agreement, the other Councils shall act diligently and in good 
faith in all their dealings with the Accountable Body and shall use their respective 
reasonable endeavours to assist the Accountable Body to discharge the Councils' 

Page 269



 

79942231.1\dd04 14 

obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this 
Agreement and all applicable legislation.   

6.2 It is acknowledged and agreed that the obligations and liabilities of each Council 
shall bind any successor authority in the event of any local government re-
organisation. 

7. BUSINESS PLANS AND PROGRESS MONITORING 

7.1 JWA Business Plan 

7.1.1 The Joint Committee shall, no later than twelve (12) months after the 
Commencement Date, prepare (or procure the preparation of), finalise 
(acting in the best interests of the Joint Committee) and recommend for 
agreement and adoption by the Councils the draft JWA Business Plan which 
shall comply with the provisions of Clause 7.1.4 below.  The intention is to 
create an overarching five (5) year JWA Business Plan that, amongst other 
matters, shall set out the Councils objectives and priorities for the delivery of 
the City Deal that is updated annually. 

7.1.2 The decision to approve and adopt the JWA Business Plan shall be a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils". 

7.1.3 The Councils shall use their respective reasonable endeavours to seek to 
agree such draft JWA Business Plan (making any amendments they may 
unanimously agree) and to adopt it as the formal JWA Business Plan within 
60 (sixty) Business Days of the date it is first circulated to the Councils or 
such other date as agreed between the Councils.  

7.1.4 The JWA Business Plan shall, amongst other matters, address the following: 

(a) the updated Affordability Envelope; 

(b) the methodology for agreeing the nature, scope and prioritisation of 
projects to be developed for the overall benefit of the Cardiff 
Capital Region (in accordance with the terms of the 
Implementation Plan); 

(c) the methodology and responsibility for any external audits in 
relation to this Agreement; 

(d) the methodology and responsibility of any performance monitoring 
along with any performance indicators to enable the Joint 
Committee to measure progress against the JWA Business Plan; 
and 

(e) any revenue and capital monitoring reports to be prepared for the 
Joint Committee and the frequency of such reports. 

7.2  Updated JWA Business Plan 

7.2.1 The Joint Committee shall, no earlier than three (3) months and no later than 
one (1) month before the end of the relevant Accounting Period, prepare (or 
procure the preparation of), finalise, agree (acting in the best interests of the 
Joint Committee) and recommend for adoption to the Joint Committee a draft 
updated JWA Business Plan for the proceeding five years which shall 
comply with the provisions of Clause 7.1.4 above. 

7.2.2 The decision to approve and adopt any updated JWA Business Plan shall be 
a "Joint Committee Matter" save to the extent that any such update amounts 

Page 270



 

79942231.1\dd04 15 

to a material change to the prevailing JWA Business Plan and, in which 
case, the decision to approve and adopt such updated JWA Business Plan 
shall be a "Matter Reserved To The Councils". 

7.2.3 The Joint Committee or the Councils (as applicable) shall use its reasonable 
endeavours to seek to agree such draft JWA Business Plan (making any 
amendments they may agree by majority) and to adopt it as the formal JWA 
Business Plan within 60 (sixty) Business Days of the date it is first circulated 
to the Joint Committee or such other date as agreed by the Councils. 

7.2.4 The updated JWA Business Plan agreed pursuant to Clause 7.2.3 (with such 
amendments thereto as may be agreed by the Joint Committee or as a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils" (as applicable)) shall replace the then 
current JWA Business Plan as the formal JWA Business Plan upon the later 
of: 

(a) the expiry of the then current JWA Business Plan; and 

(b) the date of the Joint Committee' approval to it in accordance with 
Clause 10 (Joint Committee) or, as applicable, the date the 
updated JWA Business Plan is approved by the Councils as a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils"). 

7.2.5 Subject to Clause 7.5, until such time as it is replaced in accordance with 
Clause 7.2.3, the JWA Business Plan that has most recently been adopted 
as the formal JWA Business Plan shall continue to be the formal binding 
JWA Business Plan. 

7.2.6 Where the draft JWA Business Plan circulated under Clause 7.2.1 has not 
been approved by the Joint Committee or the Councils (as applicable) by the 
date six (6) calendar months following the date it is first circulated to the 
Joint Committee, the matter shall be deemed to be a JC Unresolved Matter 
and Clause 10.13 (Joint Committee) shall apply or where such approval is to 
be granted as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils", the JWA Business Plan 
shall be deemed not to have been approved following such six (6) calendar 
month period.  

7.3  Annual Business Plans 

7.3.1 The Joint Committee anticipates discharging the obligations of the Councils 
in relation to the City Deal through a number of projects and in respect of 
each Accounting Period the Regional Programme Director shall procure the 
preparation of, and (no later than 90 (ninety) Business Days prior to the 
envisaged commencement of the relevant Accounting Period) procure the 
circulation to the Joint Committee of a draft Annual Business Plan in relation 
to the annual spend for approved project(s) to be implemented in that 
Accounting Period in relation to the City Deal.  

7.3.2 Within 30 (thirty) Business Days of the date of circulation of a draft Annual 
Business Plan in relation to an Accounting Period a Joint Committee Meeting 
shall be convened in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint Committee) for the 
consideration of and (if the Joint Committee so agrees) approval of the draft 
Annual Business Plan. 

7.3.3 The Regional Programme Director shall convene a Joint Committee Meeting 
in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint Committee) to discuss the continued 
suitability of an Annual Business Plan and any required amendments thereto 
on or around the date 30 (thirty) Business Days prior to the envisaged date 
of commencement of the relevant Accounting Period.  Any such 

Page 271



 

79942231.1\dd04 16 

amendments must be approved by the Joint Committee pursuant to 
Clause 7.3.2 in order to become effective. 

7.3.4 Where the draft Annual Business Plan circulated under Clause 7.3.1 has not 
been approved by the Joint Committee by the date six (6) calendar months 
following the date it is first circulated to the Joint Committee, the matter shall 
be deemed to be a JC Unresolved Matter and Clause 10.13 (Joint 
Committee) shall apply.  

7.4 Progress Monitoring 

7.4.1 Progress against each JWA Business Plan and Annual Business Plan shall 
be regularly reviewed at the Joint Committee Meetings. 

7.4.2 If, at any Joint Committee Meeting, any of the elected members or deputy 
(as applicable) in their reasonable opinion, believe that there has been a 
material failure of the Councils to comply with a relevant JWA Business Plan 
and/or Annual Business Plan, the Joint Committee shall discuss appropriate 
action to immediately rectify the relevant failure and/or mitigate the effects of 
such failure as far as possible.   

7.4.3 Subject to Clause 7.4.3, any variations to the JWA Business Plan or an 
Annual Business Plan shall be effective only if approved by the Joint 
Committee in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint Committee). 

7.5 Incorporation of Annual Business Plans into the JWA Business Plan 

Upon a draft Annual Business Plan being approved in accordance with this Clause 7, 
or an approved Annual Business Plan being validly varied or updated in accordance 
with this Clause 7, the JWA Business Plan shall be deemed to have been amended 
on and with effect from the date of the same insofar as such amendments to the JWA 
Business Plan are necessary in order to ensure that the JWA Business Plan is fully 
consistent, and does not conflict, with the Annual Business Plan.  The contents of the 
Annual Business Plan shall be deemed to have been consolidated into the JWA 
Business Plan automatically from time to time in accordance with this Clause 7.4.3. 

8. CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION WIDER INVESTMENT FUND(S) 

8.1 The Councils agree that one of the key initial projects to be developed in relation to 
the City Deal is the establishment and management of the Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund(s). 

8.2 The Regional Programme Director shall procure the preparation of an Annual 
Business Plan for the development of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment 
Fund(s), in accordance with Clause 7 (Business Plans and Progress Monitoring), to 
determine, amongst other matters, the following:- 

8.2.1 the legal structure of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund and 
whether it shall comprise of a single or series of funds; 

8.2.2 the investment criteria and investment policy; 

8.2.3 the governance structure for the investment board; 

8.2.4 the approach to performance reporting and the interplay with the Gateway 
Review; and 

8.2.5 the procedure for the appointment of a fund manager. 

9. DECISION MAKING 

Page 272



 

79942231.1\dd04 17 

9.1 In terms of the need for decisions and other actions to be taken and carried out during 
the term of this Agreement, the Councils have identified the following three categories 
together with the means by which they will be taken:- 

9.1.1 "Regional Programme Director Matter" - being a matter which it is 
expected that the Regional Programme Director will be able to make a 
decision upon and have the power to bind the Joint Committee in doing so; 

9.1.2 "Joint Committee Matter" – being a matter which it is expected the elected 
member (or appropriate deputy) of each Council appointed pursuant to 
Clause 10.4 (Joint Committee) will be able to make a decision upon and 
have the power to bind the Council it represents in doing so;  

9.1.3 "Matter Reserved To The Councils" – being a matter which will have to be 
referred to each Council for and, for the avoidance of doubt, that matter 
requiring a decision would not be dealt with by the elected members 
appointed to the Joint Committee until the unanimous decision shall have 
been agreed by all of the Councils,  

and in each case, such matters are identified in Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy). 

10. JOINT COMMITTEE 

10.1 The Councils shall form the joint committee ("Joint Committee") for the purpose of 
overseeing and co-ordinating the discharge of the Councils' obligations in relation to 
the City Deal and to carry out the functions set out in Schedule 2 (Joint Committee 
Terms of Reference) and the Joint Committee shall be known as the "Cardiff Capital 
Region Joint Cabinet", "Joint Cabinet" or "Regional Cabinet" (as the context requires).    

10.2 The Joint Committee may carry out such other functions as the Councils determine 
from time to time and approve as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils". 

10.3 The Joint Committee shall not have power to approve any "Matter Reserved To The 
Councils" pursuant of Clause 9.1.3 ("Matter Reserved To The Councils"). 

10.4 Each Council shall appoint one (1) elected member representative to the Joint 
Committee.  The Chairperson of the Joint Committee shall be an elected member 
representative of a Council appointed to the Joint Committee and shall rotate amongst 
the Councils on an annual basis. 

10.5 Each Council shall be entitled from time to time to appoint a deputy for its 
representative but such deputy (in each case) shall only be entitled to attend meetings 
of the Joint Committee in the absence of his or her corresponding principal. 

10.6 Each Council shall be entitled to invite appropriate third parties to observe Joint 
Committee Meetings and such third parties shall be entitled to take part in such Joint 
Committee Meetings at the discretion of the Chairperson of the Joint Committee.  
Such observers shall not have a vote. 

10.7 The Regional Programme Director shall attend the Joint Committee meetings but shall 
not have the right to vote on any Joint Committee Matters. 

10.8 Each Council may, at their discretion, replace their representatives (and their 
respective deputies) appointed to the Joint Committee, provided that:- 

10.8.1 at all times, they have representatives appointed to the Joint Committee in 
accordance with the roles identified in Schedule 2 (Joint Committee Terms of 
Reference); and 

Page 273



 

79942231.1\dd04 18 

10.8.2 any such replacement shall have no lesser status or authority than that set 
out in Schedule 2 (Joint Committee Terms of Reference) unless otherwise 
agreed by the Councils. 

10.9 The Joint Committee shall meet on at least a quarterly basis during the second 
Accounting Period and thereafter as and when required in accordance with the 
timetable for the City Deal and, in any event, at appropriate times and on reasonable 
notice (to be issued through the Regional Programme Director) to carry out the Joint 
Committee Matters referred to in Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy) and in carrying out 
such activities. 

10.10 The Regional Programme Director shall circulate a meeting agenda and any relevant 
information wherever possible at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Joint 
Committee meeting and any representative may add to the meeting agenda (i) prior to 
the Joint Committee meeting by written request to the Regional Programme Director 
and/or (ii) by request to the Chairperson at the start of the Joint Committee meeting.  

10.11 The quorum necessary for a Joint Committee meeting shall be an elected member or 
appropriate deputy appointed pursuant to Clause 10.5 (Joint Committee) from at least 
seven (7) of the Councils at the relevant time. 

10.12 At meetings of the Joint Committee each elected member or appropriate deputy 
appointed pursuant to Clause 10.5 (Joint Committee) above from each Council shall 
have one vote. The Chairperson shall be granted a casting vote provided always that 
the Councils agree and acknowledge that the Chairperson shall not under any 
circumstances exercise such casting vote.  Decisions at meetings of the Joint 
Committee will be taken by a majority vote of a quorate meeting.  The Regional 
Programme Director shall not have a vote. 

10.13 If, at a meeting of the Joint Committee, a matter is not determined pursuant to Clause 
10.12 above, that matter ("JC Unresolved Matter") shall be deferred for consideration 
at the next Joint Committee meeting which shall be convened within ten (10) Business 
Days of that meeting. If at the reconvened Joint Committee meeting the JC 
Unresolved Matter is not determined, the JC Unresolved Matter shall become a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils" and shall be deferred for consideration by each 
Council.  Each Council shall each use its reasonable endeavours to convene a full 
Council meeting of its councillors as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event 
within three (3) weeks of the Joint Committee Meeting.  Where a JC Unresolved 
Matter is referred to each Council as a "Matter Reserved to each Council" and is not 
approved unanimously by each Council, the JC Unresolved Matter shall not be agreed 
and shall not be implemented by the Joint Committee. 

10.14 Each Council shall provide all information reasonably required upon request by the 
Joint Committee to the Regional Programme Director and shall comply with any 
decisions of the Joint Committee to request such information. 

10.15 Each Council shall consult with the other Councils to ensure the diligent progress of 
the day to day matters relating to the discharge of the Councils' obligations in relation 
to the City Deal.   

10.16 Where a Council wishes to provide any information and/or serve a notice or demand 
on the Joint Committee, this should be served on the Regional Programme Director in 
accordance with Clause 23.3 (Notices). The Regional Programme Director shall keep 
a record of all information, notices and demands received and shall update each 
representative promptly. 

10.17 The Councils agree and acknowledge that the Joint Committee shall adopt the 
Accountable Body's prevailing contract standing orders, financial procedure rules, 
codes of conduct and such other applicable policies and procedures for and behalf of 
the Councils in the discharge of its obligations under this Agreement.   

Page 274



 

79942231.1\dd04 19 

10.18 Joint Committee May Delegate 

10.18.1 The Joint Committee may delegate any of the powers which are conferred 
on them under this Agreement: 

(a) to such person, sub-committee or group; 

(b) to such an extent; 

(c) in relation to such matters; and 

(d) on such terms and conditions, 

as they think fit from time to time. 

10.18.2 The Joint Committee may allow that such delegation shall automatically 
authorise further delegation of the Joint Committee's powers by any person 
to whom they are delegated provided that the Joint Committee specifically 
states this within such delegation authority. 

10.18.3 The Joint Committee may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its 
terms and conditions at any time. 

10.19 Sub-Committees 

10.19.1 The Joint Committee shall establish as soon as reasonably practicable the 
following sub-committees or groups:  

(a) Programme Management Office; 

(b) Programme Board; 

(c) Regional Transport Authority; 

(d) Regional Business Organisation; 

(e) Regional Skills and Employment Board; and 

(f) Regional Economic Growth Partnership. 

10.19.2 The Councils shall work together to create and agree terms of reference for, 
to the extent permissible by law, a Joint Audit Committee and a Joint 
Scrutiny Committee. 

10.19.3 It is acknowledged and agreed by the Councils that the sub-committees or 
groups referred to in Clauses 10.19.1 and 10.19.2: 

(a) shall undertake a number of functions including but not limited to 
audit, scrutiny and/or consultation services pursuant to their terms 
of reference; and 

(b) shall not have any delegated decision making powers (unless 
otherwise expressly granted by the Joint Committee).  

10.19.4 Sub-committees or groups to which the Joint Committee delegates any of its 
powers must follow procedures which are based as far as they are 
applicable on those provisions of this Agreement which govern the taking of 
decisions by the Joint Committee. 

Page 275



 

79942231.1\dd04 20 

10.19.5 The Joint Committee shall establish the membership, rules of procedure or 
terms of reference for all or any such sub-committees or groups to, amongst 
other matters, clarify their respective role and scope of delegation which 
shall be approved by the Joint Committee. 

10.19.6 The Joint Committee may create additional sub-committees or sub-groups 
as it sees fit from time to time. 

11. PROGRAMME BOARD AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR 

11.1 Constitution and Authority of the Programme Board 

11.1.1 The Councils shall form the programme board ("Programme Board") for the 
purpose of implementing the City Deal and the day-to-day management of 
the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal and to carry out the 
functions set out in Schedule 3 (Programme Board Terms of Reference). 

11.1.2 The Programme Board shall not have any decision making powers pursuant 
to this Agreement.  

11.1.3 Each Council shall appoint one senior officer representative (which may 
include the chief executive or equivalent) to the Programme Board and such 
other representatives as the Joint Committee may determine from time to 
time. The chairperson shall be the Regional Programme Director or such 
other representatives as the Joint Committee may determine from time to 
time. 

11.1.4 Each Council shall be entitled from time to time to appoint a deputy for its 
senior officer and such deputy (in each case) shall be entitled to attend 
meetings of the Programme Board in place of its senior officer. 

11.1.5 The Councils shall, at their discretion, replace their representatives (and their 
respective deputies) appointed to the Programme Board provided that such 
replacement shall be on the same basis as the original appointed and 
provided further that no senior officer of the Programme Board shall be 
removed or replaced by any Council without that Council giving prior written 
notice as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within ten (10) 
Business Days of its intention to remove or replace that representative. 

11.1.6 The Programme Board shall meet as and when required in accordance with 
the timetable for the City Deal and, in any event, at appropriate times and on 
reasonable notice (to be issued through the Regional Programme Director). 

11.2 Regional Programme Director 

11.2.1 The Regional Programme Director shall attend the Joint Committee 
meetings but shall not have the right to vote on any Joint Committee Matters. 

11.2.2 The Regional Programme Director shall have decision making powers 
delegated to them personally (and not the Programme Board) pursuant to 
Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy). 

11.2.3 Where the Regional Programme Director exercises any decision making 
powers, the Regional Programme Director shall first consult with the 
Chairperson of the Joint Committee and the relevant Joint Committee 
portfolio lead. 

12. COMMITMENT OF THE COUNCILS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 

Page 276



 

79942231.1\dd04 21 

12.1 General 

Subject to Clause 15.11.3 (Withdrawal), the Councils agree and undertake to commit 
to the City Deal in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and not to commission 
and/or undertake any procurement and/or project that seeks or would procure the 
delivery of all or any part of the City Deal outside the terms of this Agreement. 

12.2 Internal Costs 

12.2.1 Subject to Clauses 12.2.2 and 12.2.3 (Internal Costs), the Internal Costs 
incurred by each Council shall be borne by the Council providing that internal 
resource. 

12.2.2 The Councils hereby agree that if one of the Councils believes it is likely to 
incur disproportionate Internal Costs that matter shall be referred to the Joint 
Committee for a decision as to whether such costs will be disproportionate 
and whether any contributions should be made to this cost by the other 
Councils. 

12.2.3 The Parties agree and acknowledge that Internal Costs incurred by the 
Accountable Body in relation to the City Deal shall be accounted for as Joint 
Committee Costs and shall be allocated amongst the Councils in accordance 
with Clause 12.3.1 (Joint Committee Costs). 

12.3 Joint Committee Costs 

12.3.1 Any Joint Committee Costs incurred by the Joint Committee shall be shared 
on a Proportionate Basis between the Councils pursuant to this Agreement. 

12.3.2 Each Council shall be required to prepare accounts including details of any 
Joint Committee Costs incurred pursuant to Schedule 4 (Heads of 
Expenditure) ("the Accounts") in respect of each Accounting Period and for 
such further and/or other accounting periods as the Joint Committee shall 
determine and which shall be incorporated into Schedule 5 (Accounting 
Periods). For the avoidance of doubt, such Accounts shall not include any 
revenue costs or capital investment requirements in relation to the 
implementation of any project pursuant to an Annual Business Plan and 
shall solely relate to the operational and management costs of the Joint 
Committee. 

12.3.3 Each Council shall:-   

(a) in the Accounts make true and complete entries of all relevant 
payments made by it during the previous Accounting Period; 

(b) within one (1) month of the end of each Accounting Period, each 
Council shall provide to the Accountable Body unaudited Accounts 
for such Accounting Period together with certification that such 
Accounts comply with this Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions); 

(c) nominate an individual to be responsible for ensuring that Council's 
own compliance with this Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions) and the name, address and telephone number 
of each individual nominated pursuant to this Clause 12.3.3(c)  
(Commitment of the Councils and Contributions) shall be notified to 
the other Councils in accordance with Clause 23 (Notices); and 

(d) if an individual nominated by a Council pursuant to Clause 
12.3.3(c) (Commitment of the Councils and Contributions) 

Page 277



 

79942231.1\dd04 22 

changes, that Council shall notify the other Councils forthwith of 
the replacement nominees. 

12.3.4 The Accountable Body shall: 

(a) within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the Accounts submitted 
by the other Councils in accordance with Clause 12.3.3(b) prepare 
a reconciliation statement identifying the payments made by each 
Council and the balance due from or owing to each; and 

(b) within twenty (20) Business Days of the preparation of the 
reconciliation statement send out a copy of the reconciliation 
statement together with either a balancing invoice or, subject to 
Clause 12.3.4(b), credit payments to each Council.   

12.3.5 The Accountable Body shall not be obliged to make any payments due 
under this Agreement until the Accountable Body is in receipt of funds from 
the Joint Committee pursuant to this Clause 12.3. 

12.3.6 A Council receiving an invoice for payment shall pay it in full within twenty 
(20) Business Days.  Any error in a balancing invoice must be notified to the 
Accountable Body within five (5) Business Days of such balancing invoice 
being sent out.  An amended balancing invoice will be issued by the 
Accountable Body and the Council receiving such an invoice shall pay it in 
full within twenty (20) Business Days. 

12.3.7 The Councils hereby agree that if one of the Councils carries out any work or 
incurs any cost or expenses to carry out any work or to incur any cost or 
expense that is not within the budget or scope of work set out in the JWA 
Business Plan, that matter shall be referred by the Regional Programme 
Director to the Joint Committee for a decision as to whether such work, cost 
or expense is part of the City Deal or whether such work, cost or expense 
should be the entire responsibility of the Council so carrying it out or 
requesting it (as the case may be). 

12.4 Annual Budget 

12.4.1 The Annual Budget shall be: 

(a) in the initial period (2017-2018) prior to receipt of any HMT 
Contribution by the Accountable Body, £1,000,000 (one million 
pounds); and 

(b) in all other cases, the Annual Budget approved by the Joint 
Committee for that Accounting Period provided that the Annual 
Budget shall not exceed the previous Annual Budget by more than 
5% (five per cent), 

and the Councils shall each contribute towards the Annual Budget on a 
Proportionate Basis and such contribution shall be in addition to the 
Councils' Contribution. 

12.4.2 Where the actual aggregate Joint Committee Costs are likely to exceed the 
Annual Budget by more than 5% (five per cent) such additional costs shall 
be met through the wider investment fund (comprising of the HMT 
Contribution and the Councils Contribution). 

12.5 Contributions 

Page 278



 

79942231.1\dd04 23 

12.5.1 Total contribution 

It is acknowledged and agreed by the Councils that the discharge of the 
Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be funded as follows: 

(a) up to £375,000,000 (three hundred and seventy five million 
pounds) from HMT ("HMT Contribution"); 

(b) up to £120,000,000 (one hundred and twenty million pounds) in 
aggregate from the Councils ("Councils' Contribution") and the 
Councils agree and acknowledge that such Councils' Contributions 
shall be subject to additional costs up to the Affordability Envelope 
(as such costs are defined therein); and 

(c) each Council's contribution towards the Annual Budget, on a 
Proportionate Basis, pursuant to Clause 12.4 (Annual Budget). 

12.5.2 HMT Contribution 

(a) Subject to Clause 12.5.2(b), it is acknowledged and agreed by the 
Councils that HMT's contribution shall be provided to the Welsh 
Government to transfer to the Accountable Body for and on behalf 
of the Joint Committee in the following tranches:- 

(i) years 2016-17 to 2020-21 in the sum of £10,000,000 (ten 
million pounds) resource (RDEL) funding per year; 

(ii) years 2021-22 to 2030-31 in the sum of £22,000,000 
(twenty two million pounds) capital (CDEL) funding per 
year; 

(iii) years 2031-32 to 2035-36 in the sum of £21,000,000 
(twenty one million pounds) capital (CDEL) funding per 
year. 

(b) It is acknowledged and agreed by the Councils that:  

(i) the South East Wales Metro Scheme is being financed 
and procured directly by the Welsh Government outside 
of this Agreement; 

(ii) the HMT Contribution does not include any contribution 
towards the South East Wales Metro Scheme; 

(iii) this Agreement does not include any obligations or 
liabilities on the Councils in respect of the South East 
Wales Metro Scheme; and 

(iv) the Councils shall agree with HMT, as part of the 
Gateway Reviews, whether it wishes such performance 
assessment to have regard to wider regional benefit of or 
disregard the South East Wales Metro Scheme; and 

(v) the Councils shall agree with HMT before HMT's next 
Spending Review whether a proportion of the 
forthcoming HMT Contribution may be provided as 
resource (RDEL) funding in place of the current capital 
(CDEL) funding allocation and such agreement shall be 

Page 279



 

79942231.1\dd04 24 

approved by the Councils pursuant to this Agreement as 
a "Joint Committee Matter".   

(c) It is acknowledged and understood by the Councils that the HMT 
Contribution is subject to the following funding conditions:- 

(i) approval of the Assurance Framework (which the 
Councils have approved and attached at Schedule 8 
(Assurance Framework) to this Agreement); 

(ii) approval of and entry into this Agreement;  

(iii) satisfying the five (5) yearly Gateway Reviews by HMT 
and it is acknowledged and agreed that the form of the 
Gateway Reviews including, but not limited to, any 
sanctions if key targets are not met shall be agreed with 
HMT and approved by the Councils pursuant to this 
Agreement as a "Joint Committee Matter"; 

(iv) any Welsh Government funding conditions to be 
proposed by the Welsh Government and approved 
pursuant to this Agreement by the Councils as a "Joint 
Committee Matter" pursuant to Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent); and 

(v) approval of the Implementation Plan (which the Councils 
have approved and attached at 0 (Implementation Plan) 
to this Agreement), 

together the "HMT Funding Conditions". 

(d) Each Council acknowledges and agrees that: 

(i) it accepts the HMT Funding Conditions and that it shall 
be bound by those conditions and shall not through any 
act or omission place any other Council including, but not 
limited to, the Accountable Body in breach of any of 
those conditions; and 

(ii) any Welsh Government funding conditions remain to be 
agreed and if and when any such conditions are agreed 
pursuant to Clause 2.3 (Conditions Subsequent), each 
Council shall be bound by those conditions and shall not 
through any act or omission place any other Council 
including, but not limited to the Accountable Body in 
breach of any of those conditions. 

12.5.3 Councils' Contribution 

(a) Subject to Clause 12.5.3(b), each Council shall contribute towards 
the aggregate Councils' Contribution in the following proportion: 

 

Councils Proportion of 
Contribution 

Blaenau Gwent 4.6% 

Page 280



 

79942231.1\dd04 25 

Bridgend 9.4% 

Caerphilly 12.0% 

Cardiff 23.7% 

Merthyr Tydfil 3.9% 

Monmouthshire 6.1% 

Newport 9.8% 

Rhondda Cynon Taff 15.8% 

Torfaen 6.1% 

Vale of Glamorgan 8.5% 

Total 100% 

 

(b) It is acknowledged and agreed that the Affordability Envelope for 
the Councils has been approved by the Councils as at the date of 
this Agreement and that any decision to increase the Affordability 
Envelope shall be a "Matter Reserved To The Councils".   

12.5.4 Audit 

Each Council shall permit all records referred to in this Agreement to be 
examined and copied from time to time by the Accountable Body, or any 
representatives of the Accountable Body or any other representatives who 
reasonably require access to the same in order to undertake any audit of the 
funds received and spent pursuant to this Agreement. 

12.5.5 Retention of Records 

The accounts referred to in this Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils and 
Contributions) shall be retained for a period of at least ten (10) years after 
delivery of the City Deal pursuant to this Agreement. 

13. MITIGATION 

Each Council shall at all time take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any 
loss for which the relevant Council is entitled to bring a claim against the other 
Council(s) pursuant to this Agreement. 

14. LIABILITY OF THE COUNCILS 

14.1 The Accountable Body shall indemnify and keep indemnified each of the other 
Councils to this Agreement against any losses, claims, expenses, actions, demands, 
costs and liability suffered by that Council to the extent arising from any wilful default 
or breach by the Accountable Body of its obligations under this Agreement (and wilful 
in this context shall, for the avoidance of doubt, not include matters which are outside 
the reasonable control of the Accountable Body or matters arising from any negligent 
act or omission in relation to such obligations). 

14.2 No claim shall be made against the Accountable Body to recover any loss or damage 
which may be incurred by reason of or arising out of the carrying out by the 

Page 281



 

79942231.1\dd04 26 

Accountable Body of its obligations under this Agreement unless and to the extent 
such loss or damage arises from a wilful default or breach by the Accountable Body 
under Clause 14.1 (Liability of Councils). 

14.3 Each of the other Councils (acting severally) shall indemnify and keep indemnified the 
Accountable Body against all losses, claims, expenses, actions, demands, costs and 
liabilities which the Accountable Body may incur by reason of or arising out of the 
carrying out by the Accountable Body of its obligations under this Agreement for that 
Council or arising from any wilful default or breach by a Council of its obligations under 
this Agreement (and wilful in this context shall, for the avoidance of doubt, not include 
matters which are outside the reasonable control of that Council or matters arising 
from any negligent act or omission in relation to such obligations) unless and to the 
extent that the same result from any breach by the Accountable Body of any such 
obligations. 

14.4 The Councils agree and acknowledge that the amount to be paid to the Accountable 
Body by any of the other Councils under Clause 14.3 (Liability of Councils) shall be 
borne by each of the Councils to the extent of its responsibility, however in the event 
that the responsibility is a shared one between the Councils (so that it is not 
reasonably practicable to ascertain the exact responsibility between the Councils) then 
the amount to be paid shall be divided between the Councils on a Proportionate Basis.   

14.5 In the event of a claim under this Clause 14 (Liability of Councils) in which it is not 
reasonably practicable to determine the extent of responsibility as between the 
Councils (including the Accountable Body), then the amount shall be divided amongst 
the Councils (including the Accountable Body) on a Proportionate Basis.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, any claim arising otherwise than through the wilful default or 
breach by the Accountable Body or the other Councils shall be divided amongst the 
Councils (including the Accountable Body) on a Proportionate Basis. 

14.6 A Council who receives a claim for losses, expenses, actions, demands, costs and 
liabilities shall notify and provide details of such claim as soon as is reasonably 
practicable the other Councils. 

14.7 No Council shall be indemnified in accordance with this Clause 14 (Liability of 
Councils) unless it has given notice in accordance with Clause 14.6 (Liability of 
Councils) to the other Council against whom it will be enforcing its right to an 
indemnity under this Agreement. 

14.8 Each Council ("Indemnifier") shall not be responsible or be obliged to indemnify the 
other Councils (including the Accountable Body) ("Beneficiary") to the extent that any 
insurances maintained by the Beneficiary at the relevant time provide an indemnity 
against the loss giving rise to such claim and to the extent that the Beneficiary 
recovers under such policy of insurance (save that the Indemnifier shall be 
responsible for the deductible under any such policy of insurance and any amount 
over the maximum amount insured under such policy of insurance). 

15. WITHDRAWAL 

15.1 Subject to Clause 15.2 (Withdrawal), any Council (including the Accountable Body) 
may at any time during this Agreement, withdraw from this Agreement in accordance 
with this Clause 15 (Withdrawal). 

15.2 No Council may withdraw from this Agreement during the Lock In Period and, 
following such Lock In Period, the provisions of this Clause 15 shall apply. 

15.3 Save where Clause 15.6 applies, if an Authority wishes to withdraw from the City Deal 
and this Agreement, it shall provide at least twelve (12) months written notice of its 
intention to withdraw to all the other Councils ("Withdrawal Notice").   

Page 282



 

79942231.1\dd04 27 

15.4 No sooner than nine (9) months after the date of the Withdrawal Notice and no later 
than ten (10) months after the date of the Withdrawal Notice, the Accountable Body 
(or such other Council as nominated by the Joint Committee in the event that the 
Accountable Body issues the Withdrawal Notice) shall provide to all the Councils a 
Liability Report which shall be discussed by the Joint Committee at its next meeting or 
a specially convened meeting if the next meeting falls more than two (2) weeks after 
the issue of the Liability Report. 

15.5 It is acknowledged and agreed that: 

15.5.1 the Liability Report shall contain, as a minimum, the withdrawing Councils 
committed costs and liabilities up to the next Gateway Review and the 
withdrawing Councils committed costs and liabilities on all current projects 
which shall include all drawdowns of the Councils Contribution that the 
withdrawing Council has committed to but not yet withdrawn (whether that 
drawdown occurs before or after the Council formally withdraws from the 
City Deal and this Agreement pursuant to this Clause 15 (Withdrawal)); and 

15.5.2 in relation to row 1 of the Liability Report in Schedule 7 (Liability Report), the 
withdrawing Council shall be liable to pay the higher of its committed 
contribution and liabilities; 

(a) up to the next Gateway Review; or 

(b) on all current projects. 

15.6 Within the Decision Period each Council which has issued a Withdrawal Notice to the 
Regional Programme Director shall indicate either:- 

15.6.1 that it withdraws from the City Deal and this Agreement; or  

15.6.2 that it wishes to continue as a party to the City Deal and this Agreement. 

15.7 Where further Councils (in addition to the Council issuing the Withdrawal Notice) 
indicate their wish to withdraw from the City Deal and this Agreement, then the 
provisions of Clause 15.3 (Withdrawal) shall apply to such Councils and a new Liability 
Report shall be prepared in respect of each of these Councils that have indicated their 
intention to withdraw and the provisions of Clause 15.6 (Withdrawal) shall apply. 

15.8 Where a Council does not indicate its intentions as required by Clause 15.6 
(Withdrawal) then it shall at the expiry of the Decision Period be taken to have 
indicated that they wish to continue as a party to the City Deal and this Agreement. 

15.9 Any Council serving a Withdrawal Notice pursuant to Clause 15.3 or indicates that it 
withdraws from the City Deal and this Agreement pursuant to Clause 15.6 shall have 
the right to retract such Withdrawal Notice or indication that it withdraws at any point 
prior to the date of its withdrawal.  

15.10 Where a Council indicates that it wishes to withdraw from the City Deal and this 
Agreement, then:- 

15.10.1 the Council who shall have indicated its wish to withdraw shall pay all 
amounts due to be paid by it in accordance with the Liability Report and 
comply with its obligations under this Agreement up to the date of its 
withdrawal including making any payments of any expenditure referred to in 
Schedule 5 (Heads of Expenditure) as at that date;  

15.10.2 the Council who shall have indicated its wish to withdraw shall be 
responsible for a proportion of any third party costs (which have been 
substantiated by the Joint Committee); and 

Page 283



 

79942231.1\dd04 28 

15.10.3 if in the event of such a withdrawal the discharge of the Councils' obligations 
in relation to the City Deal is delayed then the Council who shall have 
indicated its wish to withdraw may be responsible for a proportion of the 
costs of delay to the other Councils or any costs or fines which may directly 
result.  Such proportion will be decided by the Joint Committee and the 
withdrawing Council shall not be entitled to vote in this decision.. 

15.11 Where a Council withdraws from the City Deal and this Agreement in accordance with 
this Clause 15 (Withdrawal): 

15.11.1 any capital asset acquired and/or secured and/or owned and provided by 
such withdrawing Council for the purposes of the City Deal will remain in the 
ownership of the withdrawing Council and the withdrawing Council will 
reimburse the remaining Councils their respective contributions (if any) 
together with any reasonable costs incurred as a result of the withdrawal or 
default; 

15.11.2 the other Councils may elect to continue or discontinue with any 
procurement and/or project forming part of the City Deal in the administrative 
area of the withdrawing Council;  

15.11.3 the withdrawing Council may elect to independently pursue the procurement 
of any project within its administrative area which was identified as part of 
the City Deal provided that it does so at its own cost without any access to 
any of the HMT Contribution or Councils' Contribution pursuant to this 
Agreement; 

15.11.4 unless agreed otherwise by the remaining Councils, the Council who shall 
have indicated its wish to withdraw from the City Deal shall not remove its 
appointees to the Joint Committee for a period of not less than three 
(3) months commencing on the date of such Council's withdrawal, provided 
that the costs associated with those appointees to the Joint Committee shall 
be borne by the remaining Councils on a Proportionate Basis; and 

15.11.5 save for the obligations set out in Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions), Clause 14 (Liability of the Councils), this Clause 15 
(Withdrawal) and Clause 18 (Confidentiality and Announcements), the 
withdrawing Council shall be released from its respective obligations 
described in this Agreement from the date of withdrawal. 

16. CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION 

16.1 If the Agreement is terminated in accordance with Clause 2.2 (Termination), save for 
the obligations set out in Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils and Contributions), 
Clause 14 (Liability of the Councils), this Clause 16 (Consequences of Termination) 
and Clause 18 (Confidentiality and Announcements), the Councils shall be released 
from their respective obligations described in this Agreement. 

16.2 Where this Agreement is terminated in respect of that Council in accordance with 
Clause 2.2 (Termination): 

16.2.1 any capital asset acquired and/or secured and/or owned and provided by 
such Defaulter for the purposes of the City Deal will remain in the ownership 
of the Defaulter and the Defaulter will reimburse the remaining Councils their 
respective contributions (if any) together with any reasonable costs incurred 
as a result of the withdrawal or default; 

16.2.2 the other Councils may elect to continue or discontinue with any 
procurement and/or project forming part of the City Deal; and 

Page 284



 

79942231.1\dd04 29 

16.2.3 the Defaulting Council may elect to independently pursue the procurement of 
any project within its administrative area which was identified as part of the 
City Deal provided that it does so at its own cost without any access to any 
of the HMT Contribution or Councils' Contribution pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

16.3 The Councils acknowledge and agree that:- 

16.3.1 the City Deal has been modelled on the basis of participation by all the 
Councils and that there are considerable economic benefits to be achieved 
as a result of such joint working; and 

16.3.2 accordingly, in the event that this Agreement is terminated in relation to any 
Council pursuant to Clause 2.2 (Termination) such Defaulter shall be liable 
to the Non-Defaulting Council or Councils for their reasonable and properly 
incurred costs in relation to the City Deal as set out in Clause 15.5 
(Withdrawal) and Schedule 6 (Liability Report).   

17.  INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

17.1 Each Council will retain all Intellectual Property in its Material. 

17.2 Each Council will grant all of the other Councils a non exclusive, perpetual, 
non-transferable and royalty free licence to use, modify, amend and develop its IP 
Material for the discharge the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal and any 
other purpose resulting from the City Deal whether or not the party granting the 
licence remains a party to this Agreement. 

17.3 Without prejudice to Clause 17.1 (Intellectual Property), if more than one Council owns 
or has a legal or beneficial right or interest in any aspect of the IP Material for any 
reason (including  without limitation that no one Council can demonstrate that it 
independently supplied or created the relevant IP Material without the help of one or 
more of the other Councils), each of the Councils who contributed to the relevant IP 
Material will grant to all other Councils to this Agreement a non-exclusive, perpetual, 
non-transferable and royalty free licence to use and exploit such IP Material as if all 
the other Councils were the sole owner under the Copyright Design and Patents Act 
1988 or any other relevant statute or rule of law. 

17.4 For the avoidance of doubt, any entity or person who is at the date of this Agreement 
a party to this Agreement and who has licensed any Intellectual Property under this 
Agreement will have a non-exclusive, perpetual right to continue to use the licensed 
Intellectual Property. 

17.5 Each Council warrants that it has or will have the necessary rights to grant the 
licences set out in Clause 17.2 (Intellectual Property) and 17.3 (Intellectual Property) 
in respect of the IP Material to be licensed. 

17.6 Each Council agrees to execute such further documents and take such actions or do 
such things as may be reasonably requested by any other Councils (and at the 
expense of the Council(s) making the request) to give full effect to the terms of this 
Agreement. 

Page 285



 

79942231.1\dd04 30 

18. CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 

18.1 Each Council ("Covenanter") shall, both during the currency of this Agreement and at 
all times following its termination or expiry, keep private and confidential and shall not 
use or disclose (whether for its own benefit or that of any third party) any Confidential 
Information about the business of and/or belonging to any other Council or third party 
which has come to its attention as a result of or in connection with this Agreement. 

18.2 The obligation set out in Clause 18.1 (Confidentiality and Announcements) shall not 
relate to information which:- 

18.2.1 comes into the public domain or is subsequently disclosed to the public 
(other than through default on the part of the Covenanter or any other 
person to whom the Covenanter is permitted to disclose such information 
under this Agreement); or 

18.2.2 is required to be disclosed by law; or 

18.2.3 was already in the possession of the Covenanter (without restrictions as to 
its use) on the date of receipt; or 

18.2.4 is required or recommended by the rules of any governmental or regulatory 
authority including any guidance from time to time as to openness and 
disclosure of information by public bodies; or 

18.2.5 is necessary to be disclosed to provide relevant information to any insurer or 
insurance broker in connection with obtaining any insurance required by this 
Agreement. 

18.3 Where disclosure is permitted under Clause 18.2.3 (Confidentiality and 
Announcements) or 18.2.4 (Confidentiality and Announcements), the recipient of the 
information shall be subject to a similar obligation of confidentiality as that contained in 
this Clause 18 (Confidentiality and Announcements) and the disclosing Council shall 
make this known to the recipient of the information. 

18.4 No Council shall make any public statement or issue any press release or publish any 
other public document relating, connected with or arising out of this Agreement or any 
other agreement relating to the City Deal without the prior written consent of the other 
Councils. 

19. CONTRACTS (THIRD PARTY RIGHTS) 

The Councils as parties to this Agreement do not intend that any of its terms will be 
enforceable by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any person 
not a party to it. 

20. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

20.1 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved in 
accordance with this Clause 20 (Dispute Resolution).  The Councils undertake and 
agree to pursue a positive approach towards dispute resolution which seeks (in the 
context of this partnership) to identify a solution which avoids legal proceedings and 
maintains a strong working relationship between the Councils. 

20.2 In the event of any dispute or difference between the Councils relating to this 
Agreement (whether this may be a matter of contractual interpretation or otherwise) 
then save in relation to disputes or disagreements relating to a Matter Reserved To 
The Councils, the matter shall be dealt with as follows by referral in the first instance 
to the Joint Committee who shall meet within ten (10) Business Days of notification of 

Page 286



 

79942231.1\dd04 31 

the occurrence of such dispute and attempt to resolve the disputed matter in good 
faith. 

20.3 In relation to a dispute or disagreement relating to a Matter Reserved To The 
Councils, or if the Joint Committee fails to resolve a dispute or disagreement within 
five (5) Business Days of meeting pursuant to Clause 20.2 (Dispute Resolution), or 
fails to meet in accordance with the timescales set out in Clause 20.2 (Dispute 
Resolution), then the Councils in dispute or the Joint Committee (as the case may be) 
may refer the matter for resolution to:- 

20.3.1 the Chief Executive(a) or Council Leader(s) (as appropriate) of the Councils; 
or 

20.3.2 mediation by such party as the Councils may agree; or 

20.3.3 the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of England and Wales otherwise. 

20.4 Any dispute and/or disagreement to be determined by the Chief Executive(s) or 
Council Leaders (as appropriate), mediation or the Courts of England and Wales or 
such other body as agreed by the Councils (as the case may be) under this 
Agreement shall be promptly referred for determination to them. 

20.5 The Councils shall on request promptly supply to the Chief Executive(s) or Council 
Leaders or mediator or the Courts of England and Wales (as the case may be) all 
such assistance, documents and information as may be required for the purpose of 
determination and the Councils shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure the 
prompt determination of such reference. 

20.6 If a mediator is appointed to determine in dispute pursuant to Clause 20.3 (Dispute 
Resolution), then the mediator shall be deemed to act as an expert and not as an 
arbitrator and his determination shall (in the absence of manifest error) be conclusive 
and binding upon the Councils. 

20.7 The costs of the resolution of any dispute and/or disagreement between the Councils 
under this Agreement shall be borne by the Councils on a Proportionate Basis to the 
dispute in question save as may be otherwise directed by the Chief Executive(s) or 
Council Leaders (as appropriate), the mediator or the Courts of England and Wales 
(as the case may be). 

21. DATA PROTECTION  

21.1 In relation to all Personal Data, each Council shall at all times comply with the DPA,  
(as a data controller if necessary) which includes (but is not limited to) maintaining a 
valid and up to date registration or notification under the DPA covering the data 
processing activities to be performed in connection with the City Deal. 

21.2 Each Council: 

21.2.1 shall process Personal Data belonging to any other Council only on the 
instructions of that Council (subject to compliance with applicable law); 

21.2.2 shall only undertake processing of Personal Data reasonably required in 
connection with the City Deal and shall not transfer any Personal Data to any 
country or territory outside the European Economic Area; and 

21.2.3 shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that all relevant 
sub-contractors and  third parties comply with this Clause 21.2 (Data 
Protection).  For the avoidance of doubt a relevant sub-contractor is one 
which processes Personal Data belonging to the one or any of the Councils. 

Page 287



 

79942231.1\dd04 32 

21.3 The Councils shall not disclose Personal Data to any third parties other than: 

21.3.1 to employees and sub-contractors and third parties to whom such disclosure 
is reasonably necessary in order for the Councils to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal;  or 

21.3.2 to the extent required under a court order or to comply with any applicable 
laws including (but not limited to) any statute, bye law, European Directive or 
regulation. 

provided that any disclosure to any sub-contractor or any third parties under 
Clause 21.3.1 (Data Protection) shall be made subject to written terms substantially 
the same as, and no less stringent than, the terms contained in this Clause 21 (Data 
Protection) and that the Councils shall give notice in writing to all other Councils of any 
disclosure of Personal Data belonging to them which they or a sub-contractor or third 
parties are required to make under Clause 21.3.2 (Data Protection) immediately they 
are aware of such a requirement. 

21.3.3 The Councils shall bring into effect and maintain and shall use its reasonable 
endeavours to ensure that all relevant sub-contractors and any third parties 
have in effect and maintain all reasonable technical and organisational 
measures necessary to prevent unauthorised or unlawful processing of 
Personal Data and accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, Personal 
Data including but not limited to taking reasonable steps to ensure the 
reliability and probity of any employee or agent of a relevant sub contractor 
or any third parties having access to the Personal Data. 

21.3.4 Any Council may, at reasonable intervals, request a written description of the 
technical and organisational methods employed by any other Council and 
the relevant sub-contractors referred to in Clause 21.2.3 (Data Protection) 
Within five (5) Business Days of such a request, the Council requested to do 
so shall supply written particulars of all such measures as it is maintaining 
detailed to a reasonable level such that the requesting Council can 
determine whether or not, in connection with the Personal Data, it is 
compliant with the DPA.  All Councils shall use its reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that the sub-contractors and any third parties also comply with such 
request from any other Council.   

21.4 All Councils shall ensure that any Personal Data they obtain and provide to any other 
Council has been lawfully obtained and complies with the DPA and that the use 
thereof in accordance with this Agreement shall not breach any of the provisions of the 
DPA. 

21.5 If:- 

21.5.1 under the DPA any Council is required to provide information to a data 
subject (as defined in the DPA) in relation to Personal Data when such data 
is in the possession or under control of any other Council; and 

21.5.2 the required Council informs the controlling Council in writing that this is the 
case, 

then the controlling Council shall guarantee reasonable and prompt co-operation to 
the required Council in meeting its obligations under the DPA including making copies 
of the relevant Personal Data to the extent the same are in its possession. 

21.6 Each Council shall provide the other as soon as reasonably practicable, with such 
information in relation to Personal Data  and their processing as the other Council may 
reasonably request in writing and the party asked to provide the relevant data may 
reasonably be able to provide in order for the other Council to:- 

Page 288



 

79942231.1\dd04 33 

21.6.1 comply with its obligations under this Clause and the DPA; and 

21.6.2 assess whether the processing of the relevant Personal Data in connection 
with this Agreement is breaching or may breach the DPA in a manner which 
is material and not effectively sanctioned by any guidance statement issued 
by the Information Commissioner. 

21.7 The Councils shall each take reasonable precautions (having regard to the nature of 
their respective obligations under this Agreement) to preserve the integrity of any 
Personal Data. 

21.8 The Councils shall continually review any existing information sharing protocols being 
used in relation to the City Deal to ensure they remain relevant to the City Deal and to 
identify which Personal Data needs to be processed and on what basis to ensure 
compliance with this Clause 21 (Data Protection). 

22. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENT INFORMATION 

22.1 Each Council acknowledges that the other Councils are subject to the requirements of 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (“FOIA”) and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 (“EIR”) and the Councils shall comply with the Accountable Body's 
policy on FOIA in respect of these information disclosure obligations to the extent they 
relate to the City Deal. 

22.2 Where a Council receives a request for information under either the FOIA or the EIR in 
relation to information which it is holding on behalf of any of the other Councils in 
relation to the City Deal, it shall: 

22.2.1 transfer the request for information to the Accountable Body as soon as  
practicable after receipt and in any event within two (2) Business  Days of 
receiving a request for information; 

22.2.2 provide the Accountable Body with a copy of all information in its possession 
or power in the form the Accountable Body reasonably requires within ten 
(10) Business Days (or such longer period as the Accountable Body may 
specify) of the Accountable Body requesting that information; and 

22.2.3 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the 
Accountable Body to enable the Accountable Body to respond to a request 
for information within the time for compliance set out in the FOIA or the EIR. 

22.3 The Councils agree and acknowledge that the Accountable Body shall be responsible 
for co-ordinating any response on behalf of the relevant Councils to the extent they 
relate to the City Deal and all costs incurred shall be accounted for as Joint Committee 
Costs. 

22.4 The Accountable Body shall be responsible for determining in their absolute discretion 
whether any information requested under the FOIA or the EIR: 

22.4.1 is exempt from disclosure under the FOIA or the EIR;  

22.4.2 is to be disclosed in response to a request for information. 

22.5 Each Council acknowledges that the Accountable Body may be obliged under the 
FOIA or the EIR to disclose information: 

22.5.1 without consulting with the other Councils where it has not been practicable 
to achieve such consultation; or 

Page 289



 

79942231.1\dd04 34 

22.5.2 following consultation with the other Councils and having taken their views 
into account.  

23. NOTICES 

23.1 Any notice or demand in connection with this Agreement to any Council shall be in 
writing and may be delivered by hand, prepaid first class post, special delivery post or 
email, addressed to the recipient at the address as the case may be set out in 
Schedule 3 (Councils' and Regional Programme Director's Details) or such other 
recipient address as may be notified in writing from time to time by any of the parties 
to this Agreement to all the other Councils to this Agreement. 

23.2 Any notice or demand in connection with this Agreement to the Joint Committee shall 
be in writing and may be delivered by hand, prepaid first class post, special delivery 
post or email, addressed to the Regional Programme Director at the address as the 
case may be as set out in Schedule 3 (Councils' and Regional Programme Director's 
Details) or such other recipient address as may be notified in writing from time to time 
by the Regional Programme Director to all the Councils to this Agreement. 

23.3 The notice or demand shall be deemed to have been duly served:- 

23.3.1 if delivered by hand, when left at the proper address for service; 

23.3.2 if given or made by prepaid first class post or special delivery post, forty-
eight (48) hours after being posted (excluding days other than Business 
Days); 

23.3.3 if given or made by email, at the time of transmission, 

provided that, where in the case of delivery by hand or email such delivery or 
transmission occurs either after 4.00pm on a Business Day or on a day other than a 
Business Day service shall be deemed to occur at 9.00am on the next following 
Business Day. 

23.4 For the avoidance of doubt, where proceedings to which the Civil Procedure Rules 
apply have been issued, the provisions of the Civil Procedure Rules must be complied 
with in respect of the service of documents in connection with those proceedings. 

24. GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection 
with it shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws 
of England and Wales.  Subject to Clause 20 (Dispute Resolution), the English and 
Welsh Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise 
out of or in connection with this Agreement. 

25. ASSIGNMENTS 

25.1 The rights and obligations of the Councils under this Agreement shall not be assigned, 
novated or otherwise transferred (whether by virtue of any legislation or any scheme 
pursuant to any legislation or otherwise) to any person other than to any public body 
(being a single entity) acquiring the whole of the Agreement and having the legal 
capacity, power and authority to become a party to and to perform the obligations of 
the relevant Council under this Agreement being: 

25.1.1 a Minister of the Crown pursuant to an Order under the Ministers of the 
Crown Act 1975; or 

Page 290



 

79942231.1\dd04 35 

25.1.2 any Local Authority which has sufficient financial standing or financial 
resources to perform the obligations of the relevant Council under this 
Agreement. 

26. WAIVER 

26.1 No failure or delay by any Council to exercise any right, power or remedy will operate 
as a waiver of it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further exercise of the same 
or some other right, power or remedy unless a waiver is given in writing by that 
Council. 

26.2 Each Council shall pay their own costs incurred in connection with the preparation, 
execution, completion and implementation of this Agreement. 

27. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

This Agreement contains all the terms which the parties have agreed in relation to the 
subject of this Agreement and supersedes any prior written or oral agreements, 
representations or understandings between the Councils relating to such subject 
matter.  No Council has been induced to enter into this Agreement or any of these 
documents by statement or promise which they do not contain, save that this Clause 
shall not exclude any liability which one Council would otherwise have to the other in 
respect of any statements made fraudulently by that Council. 

28. COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which so 
executed shall be an original but together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument. 

29. RELATIONSHIP OF COUNCILS 

Each Council is an independent body and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
be construed to imply that there is any relationship between the Councils of 
partnership or (except as expressly provided in this Agreement) of principal/agent or of 
employer/employee.  No Council shall have the right to act on behalf of another nor to 
bind the other by contract or otherwise except to the extent expressly permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement.  In particular for the avoidance of doubt, none of the 
provisions relating to the principles of working in partnership shall be taken to 
establish any partnership as defined by The Partnership Act 1890. 

30. STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES 

Notwithstanding anything apparently to the contrary in this Agreement, in carrying out 
their statutory duties, the discretion of any Council shall not be fettered or otherwise 
affected by the terms of this Agreement. 

AS WITNESSED the duly authorised representatives of the Councils have signed this 
Agreement as a deed on the date written at the beginning of this Agreement. 

Page 291



 

79942231.1\dd04 36 

 

Schedule 1 

DELEGATIONS POLICY 

 

DECISION 

 

REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR 

MATTER 

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER 

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS 

KEY THEMES                

1. Approval and adoption of the JWA 
Business Plan 

  Yes 

2. Approval and adoption of any 
updated JWA Business Plan save to 
the extent any such update amount to 
a material change to the prevailing 
JWA Business Plan (in which case 
the decision to approve and adopt 
such updated JWA Business Plan 
shall be a "Matter Reserved To The 
Councils") 

 Yes  

3. Approval and adoption of the Annual 
Business Plans and any updated 
Annual Business Plan 

 Yes  

4. Taking action outside of the 
parameters of the JWA Business 
Plan or any Annual Business Plan(s) 
for specific Programme Themes or 
approved projects agreed in the JWA 
Business Plan which shall include the 
number and scope of projects to be 
developed in order to provide an 
overall regional benefit to the Cardiff 
Capital Region    

 Yes  

ESTABLISHMENT OF A FUND    

5. Agreeing the legal structure of the 
Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund (e.g. a separate 
corporate entity established as a 
company or LLP, a Limited 
Partnership or a Block of Finance / 
Accountable Body arrangements) 

 Yes  

6. Agreeing the number of, size of and 
scope of any investment fund(s) 
within the scope of the Annual Budget 
set out in Clause 12.4 (Annual 
Budget) 

 Yes  

7. Agreeing any governance 
documentation  

 Yes  

8. Agreeing the investment criteria and 
investment policy to determine when 

 Yes  

Page 292



 

79942231.1\dd04 37 

DECISION 

 

REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR 

MATTER 

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER 

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS 

investments should be made and 
their prioritisation 

9. Procuring and appointing a fund 
manager 

 Yes  

FUNDING AND EXPENDITURE    

10. Agreeing any increase to the 
Affordability Envelope 

  Yes 

11. Approval of any increase to the 
Council Contribution above the 
£120,000,000 (one hundred and 
twenty million pounds) provided for 
under Clause 12.5.3 (Councils' 
Contribution) 

  Yes 

12. Agreeing any extension of time 
beyond the six (6) month timescale 
set out under Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent) to allow the Councils 
further time to approve any Welsh 
Government Funding conditions 

 Yes  

13. Waiver of any Condition Subsequent 
pursuant to Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent) 

 Yes  

14. Approval of any disproportionate 
Internal Costs pursuant to Clause 
12.2.2 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions) 

 Yes  

15. Approval of expenditure within the 
approved Annual Budget of the 
Accountable Body held on behalf of 
the Councils set out in Clause 12.4 
(Annual Budget) 

Yes   

16. Approval of the Annual Budget 
pursuant to Clause 12.4.1(b) (Annual 
Budget) 

 Yes  

17. Approval of additional expenditure up 
to of 5% (five per cent) of the 
approved Annual Budget of the 
Accountable Body held on behalf of 
the Councils set out in Clause 12.4 
(Annual Budget) 

 Yes  

18. Agreeing the form of the Gateway 
Reviews 

 Yes  

19. Agreeing any Welsh Government 
Funding conditions 

 Yes  

20. Approval of whether some of the 
HMT Contribution capital funding can 
be used as revenue pursuant to 
Clause 12.5.2(b)(v) (HMT 

 Yes  

Page 293



 

79942231.1\dd04 38 

DECISION 

 

REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR 

MATTER 

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER 

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS 

Contribution) 

21. Entering into (or agreeing to enter 
into) any borrowing arrangement on 
behalf of the Joint Committee and/or 
giving any security in respect of any 
such borrowing 

 Yes  

22. Accepting terms and conditions in 
relation to any third party funding for 
the City Deal 

 Yes  

GENERAL    

23. Replacement of the Accountable 
Body pursuant to Clause 4.2  

 Yes  

24. Establishment of a sub-committee 
pursuant to this Agreement and 
determining their terms of reference 
and scope of delegation. 

 Yes  

25. Making any variations to or waiving 
any rights to or terminating any 
contracts signed by Councils / the 
Accountable Body (other than this 
Agreement) which are material to the 
City Deal. 

 Yes  

26. Amendments to the terms of this 
Agreement 

 Yes  

27. The engagement of (and terms of 
engagement of) any individual person 
as a consultant where the value of 
the appointment does not exceed 
£50,000 per Accounting Period 

Yes   

28. Commencing any claim, proceedings 
or other litigation brought by or 
settling or defending any claim, 
proceedings or other litigation brought 
against the Joint Committee or 
individual Council in relation to the 
City Deal, except in relation to debt 
collection in the ordinary course of 
business. 

 Yes  

29. Making any announcements or 
releases of whatever nature in 
relation to the Joint Committee and 
the City Deal 

 Yes  

30. Appointment of Regional Programme 
Director 

 Yes  

31. Any other matters not covered in this 
Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy) 

 Yes  

 

Page 294



 

79942231.1\dd04 39 

 

Schedule 2 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

PART 1 

JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

 
Aims/Purpose 
 
1.  To oversee the progress the City Deal and to give strategic direction. 
 
2. The Joint Committee will be the key body to oversee the City Deal and to represent the 

interests of the Councils and its stakeholders. The Joint Committee will also be 
responsible for monitoring project progress and managing the political dimensions of 
the City Deal. 

 

3. It is recommended that the Joint Committee will carry out the following functions: 
  Determine the form of and number of fund(s) to deliver the City Deal. 
 Agree key projects to deliver the City Deal excluding the South East Wales Metro 

Scheme 
 Provide strategic direction to the Regional Programme Director (to include approval 

of remit for the Regional Programme Director and approval of any resourcing 
issues) 

 Act as a representative for each of the Councils to ensure consistency with 
individual objectives and visions 

 Monitor performance, management and working arrangements (to include the 
necessary audit and assurance checks) 

 Ensure that sufficient resources are committed to the City Deal  
 Arbitrate on any conflicts within the programme or negotiate a solution to any 

problems between the programme and external bodies 
 Communicate and provide progress on strategic issues within the City Deal 
 Promote partnership working between the Councils 
 Publish annual governance statement and Annual Accounts in accordance with the 

Assurance Framework 
 Liaise with other City Deal partners across the United Kingdom to share best 

practice and ensure a co-ordinated strategic approach 
                
Terms 

 
4 At the start of the City Deal, to agree:  

 The project plan to include key themes and funds to be progressed 
 Decision-making process prior to making recommendations to Cabinet 

 
5. During the planning and development stages, to: 
 

 Review project status against the project plan 
 Monitor the management of project budget, risks and quality 
 Promote and support the project among relevant stakeholders and where 

appropriate obtain their consent. 
 Seek to resolve disputes where these cannot be resolved satisfactorily through 

other means 
 Ensure that the proposals are affordable and deliver maximum value for money for 

the public sector. 
 

Page 295



 

79942231.1\dd04 40 

Procurement of contracts for goods, works or services 
 
6. Where the Joint Committee is procuring any goods, works or services, at the start of a 

procurement, the Joint Committee shall agree: 
 

 Measures against which the benefits realisation should be measured 
 Arrangements for quality assurance and risk management 
 Arrangements for communications  
 Arrangements for procurement launch for specific projects (where appropriate) 

 
7. As the procurements progress, to: 
 

 Review the project status against the project plan 
 Monitor the management of procurement budget, risks and quality 
 Agree progression through key stages (eg including but not limited to issue of the 

OJEU, pre-qualification stage and preferred bidder stage) and obtain all associated 
‘sign-offs’. 

 Agree draft procurement documents 
 Agree the process for evaluating bids and the detailed evaluation criteria and 

scoring 
 Report to the Cabinet on the progress of the procurement 
 Act as the ambassadors for the procurement and the project it facilitates 
 

8. At the end of the procurement, to: 
 

 Ensure that the expected products have been delivered satisfactorily 
 Ensure that the pre contract risk review is completed 
 Agree any financial business cases and recommend it to Cabinet 
 Recommend award of contract to Cabinet and obtain all final ‘sign-offs’. 

Page 296



  

41 
  
 

PART 2 

PROGRAMME BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 

 

To be finalised and inserted by agreement of the Councils as a Joint Committee Matter 

Page 297



  

42 
  
 

 

Schedule 3 

COUNCILS' AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR'S DETAILS 

 
RECIPIENT'S NAME ADDRESS EMAIL 

Blaenau Gwent Council: 
Managing Director 

 

Municipal Offices, Civic Centre, 
Ebbw Vale, Gwent, NP23 6XB 

 Stephen.Gillingham@blaenau-
gwent.gov.uk 

Bridgend Council: 
Chief Executive 

 

Civic Offices, Angel Street, 
Bridgend, CF31 4WB 

 darren.mepham@briegend.gov.uk 

Caerphilly Council: 
Chief Executive 

 

Penallta House, Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed, CF82 

7PG 

chrisburns@carerdphilly.gov.uk 

Cardiff Council: 
Chief Executive 

 

County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, 
Cardiff, CF10 4UW 

paul.orders@cardiff.gov.uk 

Merthyr Tydfil Council: 
Chief Executive 

 

Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN 

chief.executive@merthyr.gov.uk 

Monmouthshire Council: 
Chief Executive 

 

Croesyceilrog, Cwmbran, NP4H PaulMatthews@monmouthshire.gov.
uk 

Newport Council: 
Chief Executive  

 

Civic Centre, Newport, NP20 4UR will.gogfrey@newport.gov.uk 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Council: 

Chief Executive 
 

The Pavilions, Cambrian Park,  
Clydach Vale, Tonypandy,  CF40 

2X 

christopher.d.bradshaw@rctcbc.gov.
uk 

Torfaen Council: 
Chief Executive 

 

Civic Centre, Pontypool, NP4 6YB alison.ward@torfaen.gov.uk 

The Vale of Glamorgan 
County Borough Council: 

Managing Director 
 

Civic Offices, Holton Road, Barry, 
CF63 4RU 

drthomas@valeofglamorgan.gov.uk 

Regional Programme 
Director 

 

Civic Offices, Angel Street, 
Bridgend, CF31 4WB 

 Sheila.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk 

 

Page 298

mailto:Sheila.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk


  

43 
  
 

Schedule 4 

HEADS OF EXPENDITURE 

1. The following is a non-exhaustive list of the heads of expenditure that may be incurred by 
the Councils in the City Deal:- 

1.1 "Internal Costs" means the costs associated with each Council providing internal Council 
resources in relation to the City Deal which includes but is not limited to: 

1.1.1 Staffing costs and associated overheads 

1.1.2 Project management / technical & admin support  

1.1.3 Communications  

1.1.4 costs incurred in respect of managing FOIA requests pursuant to Clause 22 
(Freedom of Information and Environmental Information) 

 
1.2 "Joint Committee Costs" means the operational and management costs of the Joint 

Committee which includes but is not limited to 

1.2.1 Staffing costs and associated overheads 

1.2.2 Project management / technical & admin support 

1.2.3 Communications 

1.2.4 Translation Costs 

1.3 For the avoidance of doubt, Internal Costs and Joint Committee Costs do not include any 
revenue costs or capital investment relating to the implementation of any project pursuant 
to an Annual Business Plan.  

 

Page 299



  

44 
  
 

Schedule 5 

ACCOUNTING PERIODS 

The initial Accounting Period shall be the date of this Agreement until 31st March and thereafter shall 
be as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Start of Accounting 
Period 

End of Accounting 
Period 

1 April 30 June 

1 July 30 September 

1 October 31 December 

1 January 31 March 

Page 300



  

45 
  
 

Schedule 6 

LIABILITY REPORT 

The Liability Report shall include (but shall not be limited to) irrecoverable expenditure incurred and 
committed in relation to the following: 

 Amount  (all figures in round pounds) 

Any committed costs including but not 
limited to those set out in Clause 15.5 
(Withdrawal) 

 

Procurement Costs  

Costs associated with delays and having to 
revisit any procurements (including but not 
limited to the cost of legal, financial and 
technical advice) 

 

Land costs – costs associated with 
identifying and procuring land  

 

Staff costs (and associated overheads) in 
progressing the scheme:- 

a) Consultancy / Advisors fees   

b) Internal Project Management and 
monitoring 

c) Internal Professional advice   

 

All other reasonable and properly incurred 
costs and losses (to include the cost of 
preparing the Liability Report) 

 

Any costs, claims and damages arising 
from any third parties in respect of any 
costs relating to any delay or arising from 
the termination 

 

 
Certified Correct ___________________________  ________________________ 
          (Signed)          (Date) 

 

Page 301



  

46 
  
 

Schedule 7 

CITY DEAL 

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
Executive Summary 
 
1. Cardiff Capital Region has secured a deal worth £1.2 billion. Over its lifetime, local 
partners expect the City Deal to deliver up to 25,000 new jobs and leverage an 
additional £4 billion of private sector investment. 
2. This City Deal will provide local partners with the powers and the resources to 
unlock significant economic growth across the Cardiff Capital Region. It is a deal that 
builds on the region’s sectoral strengths, its high skill base and three successful 
universities. The City Deal also provides an opportunity to continue tackling the 
area’s barriers to economic growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing 
skill levels still further; supporting people into work; and giving businesses the 
support they need to innovate and grow. 
3. This deal will also develop stronger and more effective leadership across the 
Cardiff Capital Region, enabling ten local authority leaders to join up decision 
making, pool resources and work more effectively with local businesses.  
4. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal includes: 
 
£1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s infrastructure. A key 
priority for investment will be the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, including 
the Valley Lines Electrification programme. 
Connecting the region. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-
statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-ordinate transport planning and 
investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government. 
Support for innovation and improving the digital network. To develop 
capabilities in Compound Semiconductor Applications the UK Government will invest 
£50 million to establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The Cardiff Capital region 
will also prioritise investment in research and development and provide support for 
high value innovative businesses. 
Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment. The Cardiff 
Capital Region Skills and Employment Board will be created (building on existing 
arrangements) to ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs 
of local businesses and communities. The Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh 
Government will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to co-design the 
future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability 
and/or long term unemployed. 
Supporting enterprise and business growth. A Cardiff Capital Region Business 
Organisation will be established to ensure that there is a single voice for business to 
work with local authority leaders. 
Housing development and regeneration. The Welsh Government and the 
Cardiff Capital Region commit to a new partnership approach to strategic planning. 
This will ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-use 
of property and sites. 
 

Page 302



  

47 
  
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 303



  

48 
  
 

 
 
Introduction 
 
5. The Cardiff Capital Region is comprised of ten local authorities: Blaenau Gwent; 
Bridgend; Caerphilly; Cardiff; Merthyr Tydfil; Monmouthshire; Newport; Rhondda 
Cynon Taff; Torfaen; and Vale of Glamorgan. It is the largest city-region in Wales 
and accounts for approximately 50% of the total economic output of the Welsh 
economy, 49% of total employment and has over 38,000 active businesses. 
6. The Cardiff Capital Region is an area where people want to live and work. With 
two cities (Cardiff and Newport) at its core, the region has seen significant 
regeneration and investment over recent decades. Cardiff, as the capital city, is now 
dynamic, fast growing and forecast to have a higher population growth rate over the 
next 20 years than any other city in the UK. 
7. The area is home to a range of competitive business clusters with significant 
international and indigenous businesses across sectors such as: financial services; 
creative and digital industries; advanced manufacturing; life sciences; energy; and 
energy supply. These business clusters are serviced through a wide and supportive 
ecosystem. This ecosystem contains a thriving higher education sector which 
includes Cardiff University, Cardiff Metropolitan University and the University of 
South Wales.. 
8. However, despite these strengths, numerous challenges remain. Gross Value 
Added, which is a measure of goods and services produced in an area, is lower than 
all but one of the English Core City Regions. There are also connectivity issues 
across the region which makes it more difficult for people in Valley’s communities to 
access economic opportunities. 
9. Recognising these opportunities and challenges all the signatories to this deal are 
working together to realise the vision for the Cardiff Capital Region, which is to: 
“work together to improve the lives of people in all our communities. We will 
maximise opportunity for all and ensure we secure sustainable economic growth for 
future generations”. This City Deal provides local partners with further powers and 
tools to realise this vision. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 304



  

49 
  
 

 
 
Key Elements of the Deal 
 
Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund 
 
10. This City Deal sets out a transformative approach in how the Cardiff Capital 
Region will deliver the scale and nature of investment needed to support the area’s 
growth plans. Central to this will be the development of a 20 year £1.2 billion 
Investment Fund, which the Cardiff Capital Region will use to invest in a wide range 
of projects. 
11. Both the UK and Welsh Government are contributing £500 million to this fund 
respectively. The Welsh Government funding will be provided over the first seven 
years of the Investment Fund, from 2016/17 to 2022/23. The ten local authorities in 
the Cardiff Capital Region will contribute a minimum of £120 million over the 20 year 
period of the Fund. In addition, over £100m from the European Regional 
Development Fund has been committed to delivering the City Deal. 
12. The Cardiff Capital Region believes investments in these areas will deliver up to 
25,000 new jobs and bring forward at least £4 billion of additional investment from 
local partners and the private sector by 2036. 
 
South East Wales Metro 
 
13. A key priority, which the City Deal Investment Fund will support, is the delivery of 
the South East Wales Metro. The scheme has the potential to provide a significantly 
improved public transport system that will transform the way people travel around the 
region. 
14. Given the importance of the Metro to the UK Government, Welsh Government 
and 
Cardiff Capital Region, a proportion of the Investment Fund will be pre-allocated to 
the delivery of this scheme. This pre-allocation focuses on both phases of the wider 
Metro scheme. These are: 
 
The delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification programme. This City Deal 
reconfirms the continued shared ambition of both Government’s and the Cardiff 
Capital Region to deliver this element of the wider Metro scheme. £325 million of the 
£1.2 billion Investment Fund has already been committed to the delivery of this 
scheme (£125 million from the UK Government, £94 million from the 
Welsh Government and £106 million from the European Regional Development 
Fund). 
The delivery of the wider South East Wales Metro scheme. The Welsh 
Government will pre-allocate over £400m further funding from the Investment 
Fund to deliver the wider ambitions around the Metro scheme, which is the subject of 
ongoing design work. As part of this City Deal the Welsh 
Government commits to involving the Cardiff Capital Region in the co-design of the 
wider Metro scheme and in the procurement of a delivery organisation. 
15. The Department for Transport will agree the arrangements for making the agreed 
contribution to the Valley Lines Electrification project with the Welsh Government. 

Page 305



  

50 
  
 

The Welsh Government will agree with the local authorities the arrangements for 
managing the funding of the Metro scheme, and how it interacts with funding for 
additional Metro investments delivered through this City Deal. 
 
Wider Investment Priorities 
 
16. The remaining element of the Investment Fund will be used to take forward a 
wide range of projects and schemes that support economic growth across the Cardiff 
Capital Region. Decisions on the prioritisation of these schemes will be taken by the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. Schemes taken forward could include: further 
transport schemes; investment to unlock housing and employment sites; and 
development of research and innovation facilities. 
 
Investment Fund Assurance Framework 
 
17. The ten local authorities across the Cardiff Capital Region commit to writing and 
adopting an assurance framework for this Investment Fund. This will be agreed by 
the UK and Welsh Government. By adopting the assurance framework prior to the 
commencement of the Investment Fund, the Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that 
schemes that are taken forward (outside of the South East Wales Metro which will be 
subject to a separate assessment against an assurance framework) represent good 
value for money and are underpinned by a robust business case. 
18. This assurance framework will be based on existing best practice from the UK 
Government and Welsh Government. In addition the framework will also draw upon 
any local best practice for managing investment decisions across the Capital Region. 
Key elements that the assurance framework will include are: 
 
purpose, structure and operating principles of the framework; 
arrangements to ensure value for money and effective delivery through strong 
project development, project and options appraisal, prioritisation, and business case 
development; 
a description of the arrangements for supporting the effective delivery and 
implementation of projects and schemes, including relationships with delivery bodies; 
and 
arrangements which enable effective and meaningful engagement of local partners 
and the public in the investment decisions taken and subsequent scrutiny of these 
decisions. 
 
Investment Fund Gateway Assessments 
 
19. Cardiff Capital Region will be required to evaluate the impact of the Investment 
Fund in order to unlock funding that has not been pre-allocated to the South East 
Wales Metro programme. This will be comprised of gateway assessments every five 
years. To underpin these gateway assessments, an independent review will be 
commissioned to evaluate the economic benefits and economic impact of the 
investments made under the scheme, including whether the projects have been 
delivered on time and to budget. This assessment will be funded by the Cardiff 
Capital Region, but agreed at the outset with the UK Government. The next five year 
tranche of funding will be unlocked if the UK and Welsh Governments are satisfied 

Page 306



  

51 
  
 

that the independent assessment shows the investments to have met key objectives 
and contributed to national growth. 
 
Local Authority Borrowing 
 
20. Throughout the course of the City Deal programme the ten Cardiff Capital 
Region local authorities will be responsible for financing the capital investment 
programme.  The difference in the profile between the proposed investment and the 
capital grant funding may require a local authority or authorities to borrow to fund any 
difference in expenditure and grant. The cost of any external borrowing is the 
responsibility of the relevant local authority or local authorities and is to be managed 
in accordance with prudential principles – it must be prudent, affordable and 
sustainable. 
21. In a scenario where a future Investment Fund Gateway is not achieved, leading 
to any reduction or cessation of City Deal grant, then it will be the responsibility of 
individual local authorities within the Cardiff Capital Region to manage the financial 
impact of this within their local authority budget, utilising reserves or surpluses as 
required. 
 
Additional Flexibilities 
 
22. In order to deliver the Cardiff Capital Region‘s City Deal commitments and a 
longer-term economic strategy, the ten local authorities have requested greater 
financial autonomy and flexibility. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government will 
explore with the Cardiff Capital Region: 
the devolution of business rate income above an agreed growth baseline to provide 
funding for the City Deal programme; 
providing the ability to levy an infrastructure supplement; 
creating the option for the local authorities to use alternative finance sources; and 
removing conditions around some specific Welsh Government grants, to allow 
funding to be pooled at the regional level in areas such as school support and 
interventions that seek to address poverty. 
 
Connecting the Cardiff Capital Region 
 
23. Transport has a key role in delivering economic growth and improving outcomes 
for people by connecting communities, business, jobs, facilities and services. 
However across the Capital Region there are significant congestion and transport 
capacity issues that need to be addressed. The City Deal Investment Fund and 
South East Wales Metro will make a significant contribution to improving transport 
connectivity. 
24. In addition to this investment the Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-
statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-ordinate transport planning and 
investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government. The Cardiff Capital Region 
Transport Authority will be responsible for: 
 
pooled local transport resources; 
regional planning for the local transport network; 

Page 307



  

52 
  
 

working with Transport for Wales to ensure objectives for transport investment are 
aligned; 
exploring the creation of a single integrated ticketing platform for public transport 
across the Cardiff Capital Region; 
working in partnership with the Welsh Government to define the priorities of the 
South East Wales Metro concept and to support its delivery; and 
working in partnership with the Welsh Government to promote the development of 
integrated aviation routes from Cardiff Airport and St Athan Enterprise Zone, to 
deliver economic benefit. 
 
Investing in Innovation and the Digital Network 
 
25. The Cardiff Capital Region has an aspiration to extend the “arc of innovation” 
that runs along the M4 corridor into the Cardiff Capital Region. Capitalising on the 
research strengths of the Region’s three universities, the Cardiff Capital Region will 
designate an “Innovation District” that helps to: create and nurture new high growth 
businesses; increases investment in research and development; and provides the 
skills that businesses need now and in the future. 
 
Developing the Compound Semiconductor Sector 
26. To transform the UK’s capability, and help position Cardiff as the European 
leader in Compound Semiconductor applications, the UK Government will invest £50 
million to establish a new Catapult in Wales. This new Catapult will complement the 
work of other organisations in Wales who are already working in this important area, 
including the Compound Semiconductor Institute at Cardiff University and the 
Compound Semiconductor Centre, a joint venture between Cardiff University and 
IQE. 
27. Recognising this opportunity, the Cardiff Capital Region will prioritise 
interventions that support the development of an internationally-competitive 
Compound Semi- Conductor cluster. Local partners believe that this will put the UK 
at the heart of an emerging global growth technology. 
 
Innovation Investment 
28. To accelerate the growth of innovation and facilitate investment in research and 
development, the Cardiff Capital Region will seek to prioritise: 
mechanisms to support high growth sectors; 
the development of new facilities and employments sites; 
new approaches to public service delivery; 
the Software Academy in Newport and related programmes across the Capital 
Region; 
investment in intellectual property creation and commercialisation; 
adding value and complimenting existing innovation support; and 
developing a cyber-security academy with the University of South Wales. 
 
Innovate UK 
29. Innovate UK is now planning to increase its footprint and presence in Wales, in 
order to: raise the awareness and engagement in Innovate UK programmes and 
activities; to strengthen its links with business, universities and other key partners; 
and to work with the Welsh Government to promote and support innovation. 

Page 308



  

53 
  
 

 
Data 
30. Cardiff Capital Region commits to developing proposals for how better and more 
flexible use of data could be used to drive innovation across the public sector and 
within the wider economy. The Cardiff Capital Region will present a clear case to the 
UK Government for how a different approach to the use of specific data would 
improve service delivery and would benefit particular groups. 
 
The Digital Network 
31. Innovation will also be a central theme within the Cardiff Capital Region’s 
ambition to deliver an outstanding digital infrastructure and wider ecosystem to 
support economic growth. To continue to build on investments in next generation 
broadband, and the Region’s reputation as one of the fastest growing tech hubs in 
the UK, the Cardiff Capital Region will prioritise: 
 
exploring the case for direct international connectivity; 
the mobile infrastructure across 4G and 5G technologies that add value to existing 
provision; 
increasing Wi-Fi services across public transport; 
digital solutions to solve the big problems, such as smart housing, citizen payments 
and open data challenges; and 
facilitating collaboration between stakeholders to identify and exploit opportunities. 
 
Developing a Skilled Workforce and Tackling Unemployment 
 
32. This City Deal will improve the co-ordination and delivery of skills and 
employment support across the Capital Region. It will help to increase the number of 
people moving into work (including those that have been out of work for a long time), 
increase the number of people undertaking an apprenticeship or other relevant skills 
provision and give people the skills they need to compete in a global employment 
market. 
 
The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board 
 
33. To ensure skills provision is adapted to local economic and social needs and 
provides the best value for money, the Cardiff Capital Region will strengthen the 
existing Learning, Skills and Innovation Partnership. This will be re-launched in 2016 
as the Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board. 
34. The Partnership will represent a wide range of stakeholders, including: business 
bodies; higher and further education; local authorities and the Welsh Government. 
 
It will be responsible for: 
 
Cardiff Capital Region’s skills and worklessness strategy; 
pooled local authority skills resource; 
producing an annual regional plan for employment and skills. This annual plan, led 
by industry, will set out how both the existing skills needs of businesses and the 
Capital Region’s future skills challenges will be addressed; 

Page 309



  

54 
  
 

influencing and monitoring the delivery and impact of employment and skills 
programmes across the Region; 
ensuring an industry led approach to the design and delivery of apprenticeship 
programmes meets the needs of both business and apprentices; 
supporting the Welsh Government’s “Curriculum for Wales, Curriculum for Life” 
plan, by encouraging closer alignment between future employer skills needs and 
education provision across the region; and 
ensuring European Union funding investments in skills and employment add value 
and align with other programmes. 
 
Work and Health Programme 
 
35. Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with Department for 
Work and Pensions to co-design future employment support from 2017, for people 
with a health condition or disability and/or long term unemployed1, many of whom are 
currently referred to the Work Programme and Work Choice. 
36. The respective roles of the Department for Work and Pensions and Cardiff 
Capital Region in the co-design include: 
Department for Work and Pensions setting the funding envelope; however 
Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government can top up this if they wish, but 
are not required to. 
Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government setting out how they will join up 
local public services in order to improve outcomes for this group. 
Department for Work and Pensions setting the high level performance framework, 
ensuring support appropriately reflects labour market issues. The primary aim will be 
to reduce unemployment and move people into sustained employment. 
Cardiff Capital Region (working with the Welsh Government) will have input into 
determining specific local outcomes that reflect their labour market priorities, 
however these outcomes should be complementary to the ultimate employment 
outcome. In determining any local outcome(s) Cardiff Capital 
Region and the Welsh Government will work with the Department for Work and 
Pensions to take account of the labour market evidence base and articulate how 
these will both fit within the wider strategic and economic context and deliver value 
for money. 
37. Before delivery commences the Department for Work and Pensions, Cardiff 
Capital Region and the Welsh Government will set out an agreement covering the 
respective roles of each party in the delivery and monitoring of the support. This will 
include a mechanism by which each party can raise and resolve any concerns that 
arise. 
38. The Department for Work and Pensions sets the contracting arrangements, 
including contract package areas, but should consider any proposals from Cardiff 
Capital Region on contract package area geography. 
39. Providers will be solely accountable to the Department for Work and Pensions, 
although Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will be involved in the 
tender evaluation. 
40. The Department for Work and Pensions and Cardiff Capital Region will develop a 
mechanism by which Cardiff Capital Region (working with the Welsh Government) 
can escalate to the Department for Work and Pensions any concerns about provider 
performance/reaching local agreements and require the Department for Work and 
Pensions to take formal contract action where appropriate. 

Page 310



  

55 
  
 

 
Supporting Enterprise and Business Growth 
 
41. The Cardiff Capital Region is committed to improving the co-ordination of local 
and national business support arrangements. This includes working in partnership 
with the Welsh Government to address identified barriers to growth, support spatial 
and sectoral priorities and to target emerging opportunities for driving economic 
performance. 
 
The Cardiff Capital Region Business Organisation 
 
42. Local partners recognise that ensuring there is a strong business voice to guide 
both the design and delivery of business support across the region will be critical. 
43. Therefore working with public sector partners, the business community, and 
representative bodies, Cardiff Capital Region will establish a Cardiff Capital Regional 
Business Organisation. This organisation will provide a clear business voice that will 
influence and shape business support programmes. In creating the Board, a 
mapping and consultation process will be undertaken with existing advisory Boards 
operating within the Region. This will ensure roles and remits are complimentary and 
add value. The Board will be responsible for: 
articulating the regional needs of business; 
identifying regional priorities for existing business support services; and 
designing future business support programmes. 
44. Membership will be drawn from across a range of sectors and interests, including 
social enterprises and mutuals. A joint Confederation of British Industry, Federation 
of Small Business, Institute of Directors and South Wales Chamber of Commerce 
statement outlined the underlying principles for the Business Organisation. The final 
structure will be designed by the Cardiff Capital Region business community. 
 
Integration of Local Business Support Services and Resources 
 
45. To ensure that relevant business support and promotional activities are delivered 
at the Capital Region level, local resources will be aligned to create an Integrated 
Delivery Unit. This unit will deliver regionally significant aspects of economic 
development. This includes: business development; marketing; tourism; and inward 
investment. 
46. The Integrated Delivery Unit, working in collaboration with the Welsh 
Government and the proposed Regional Business Organisation, will ensure that any 
new business support provision complements existing national initiatives. In addition, 
through this collaborative approach, the Welsh Government is committed to working 
with the Cardiff Capital Region to explore where existing business support provision 
can be built on or expanded, whilst avoiding duplication. A number of existing 
programmes (for example Business Wales, which offers a one stop shop advice and 
referral service to SMEs and Entrepreneurs) have already been designed through 
consultation with industry and have the potential to be aligned with identified regional 
needs and priorities. 
47. Further to this, the Welsh Government is also committed to working in 
partnership with the Cardiff Capital Region to promote the area at a global level. As 
part of this, the Welsh Government will ensure greater levels of visibility with the 
Welsh Government’s own overseas offices. In addition the Welsh Government will 

Page 311



  

56 
  
 

continue to work closely with UK Trade and Investment to ensure that its 
propositions are promoted and co-ordinated across the UK Trade and Investment 
overseas post network. 
 
Housing Development and Regeneration 
 
48. Delivering an increase in house building across the Cardiff Capital Region will 
help to address critical housing shortages especially for first time buyers and those 
unable to join the ‘housing ladder’. House building is also a critical element of the 
economy as it: stimulates demand within the supply chain during construction and 
through purchases by the eventual occupiers; contributes to a more balanced 
regional planning framework; and is a major employer in its own right. 
49. The City Deal presents a unique opportunity for the ten local authority areas to 
come together to develop and deliver a strategic approach to housing, regeneration 
and economic growth which will create an accessible, liveable, ‘worklife integrated’ 
and highly connected Capital Region. To support this ambition the Cardiff Capital 
Region will: 
Commit to the development of a partnership between the Cardiff Capital Region 
and the Welsh Government to take a strategic and balanced approach to housing 
and regeneration, focussing development on where it is most needed – in a regional 
and coordinated way. 
Ensure that new housing is linked to the delivery of sustainable and balanced 
communities, through the re-use of property and sites. Further, both the Welsh 
Government and Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that proposals to improve the 
efficiency and quality of the housing stock are aligned with other regeneration 
outcomes. 
Establish a collective way of working, for example, through an asset development 
vehicle to progress speculative opportunities for potential Cardiff 
Capital Region regeneration ventures. 
Develop an integrated public-private housing offer, with clarity over tenure, mix 
type, design and affordability with prototyping for ‘settlements of the future’. 
Utilise innovation in local procurement to secure supply chain benefits, local labour 
and other social clauses to maximise value. 
Establish the delivery of renewable energy-led regeneration and housing 
programmes and ensure the principles of ‘clean-tech’ are anchored within physical 
development initiatives. This will contribute to ensuring ‘futureproofing’ and creation 
of new supply chain networks. 
Engage the affordable housing sector providers in the region as one network. 
Working with Cardiff Capital Region this network will develop a regional 
“Housing Plus” strategy in which added value benefits such as training construction 
apprenticeships, energy resilience and job creation are clearly set out and adopted. 
This will provide a framework against which site regeneration schemes can be 
prioritised for investment. 
50. In both the planning and delivery of new housing and regeneration projects, the 
Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that there is alignment to current Welsh 
Government programmes including Creating Vibrant and Viable Places – the Welsh 
Government’s regeneration framework and increasing the supply and standards of 
housing. 
 

Page 312



  

57 
  
 

Cardiff Capital Region Governance 
 
51. The ten local authority partners of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal have 
agreed to establish governance model that: 
complies with the existing statutory framework that exists in Wales to deliver this 
City Deal; 
strengthens and streamlines the existing governance and partnership 
arrangements across the Capital Region; 
improves business involvement in local decision making; 
provides confidence and assurance to both the UK and Welsh Government that the 
local authority leaders are making decisions which will drive economic growth across 
the Capital Region; and 
enables local authorities to explore with the Welsh Government alternative 
governance arrangements in the medium term. 
 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet 
 
52. Utilising the existing statutory framework, the ten local authorities will establish a 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. The Cabinet will have the status of a Joint 
Committee and will be the ultimate decision making body in the governance 
structure. 
53. The establishment of a Capital Region Cabinet will be the first step in the 
development of greater city-region governance across the Cardiff Capital Region. 
The Cabinet, which will comprise the ten participating local authorities, will provide 
the basis for initial decision making regarding the Investment Fund. In addition the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet will be responsible for: 
management of the Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund; 
additional devolved funding provided to the Capital Region; 
the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority; 
contracting with Transport for Wales on prioritised Metro projects; 
control over devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, 
subject to Welsh Government agreement; 
strategic planning including housing, transport planning and land use; 
influencing skills and worklessness programmes; 
an Inward investment and marketing strategy; and 
considering the scope for strengthening Capital Region governance further. 
54. A comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the participating 
authorities which will bind and commit each individual local authority and any 
successor authority (in the event of local government re-organisation) for such 
duration as is necessary to deliver the City Deal. The agreement will also allow for 
the possibility of additional functions and powers to be devolved to the Cabinet in the 
future. 
55. The Cardiff Capital Region commit to reviewing the City Deal governance and 
exploring the future options for moving to even stronger and effective governance 
that is legally binding. The review will include consulting the Welsh Government and 
the UK Government to identify actions needed to take forward future governance 
options. 
 
Strategic Regional Planning 

Page 313



  

58 
  
 

 
56. The Cardiff Capital Region, in partnership with the Welsh Government, will 
commit to the creation of an integrated strategic development plan that incorporates 
housing and employment land-use with wider transport plans. The strategic plan will 
provide the underpinning blue-print for development across the city-region. 
 
Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership 
 
57. A Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership will be established to 
bring together business, higher education and local government. The partnership 
would be responsible for setting the overarching city-region economic development 
strategy, as well as monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet with 
regard to City Deal implementation. The partnership will have a specific role to 
provide advice on investment decisions. This will ensure the City Deal and other 
interventions make an impact on economic growth and increase employment. 
58. The Partnership’s membership and terms of reference will be established using 
the best international practice such as the Danish Growth Forums, as well as the 
Local Enterprise Partnership model in England and the Economic Leadership Board 
established in Glasgow. 
 
Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission 
 
59. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish an independent Growth and 
Competitiveness Commission to support the city region’s economic and investment 
strategy. It will review activities related to the City Deal as well as wider economic 
and growth interventions. 
60. The Commission’s first task will be to review the evidence about the functional 
economic area and advise how best to generate Gross Value Added growth and 
support the ambitions of a dynamic capital region. 
61. The Commission will be jointly established by the ten local authorities that 
comprise the Cardiff Capital Region in consultation with the Welsh and UK 
Governments. 
62. The Commission will examine the challenges and opportunities for economic 
growth and competitiveness and make recommendations for how the Cardiff Capital 
Region can achieve its full growth potential. 
Delivery, Monitoring and Evaluation 
 
63. Cardiff Capital region will work with the UK Government and the Welsh 
Government to develop an agreed implementation, monitoring and evaluation plan in 
advance of implementation, which sets out the proposed approach delivery and 
evaluating the impact of delivery. 
64. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal will be monitored by the Joint Cabinet. The 
joint programme management team will provide the Cabinet, the UK Government 
and the Welsh Government with quarterly performance report that will: 
highlight City Deal successes; 
provide a performance narrative for each element of the City Deal against agreed 
implementation plan timescales; 
provide information on outputs and outcomes agreed; 
identify mitigating actions for projects and programmes that are not being delivered 
to agreed timescales. 

Page 314



  

59 
  
 

65. The UK Government and Welsh Government will work with the Cardiff Capital 
Region to agree a timetable for the production of these reports and will convene 
regular progress meetings. 
66. The Cardiff Capital Region commit to recognising the “City Deal” in promoting 
and branding investments made as a result of this Deal. This includes 
acknowledging the UK Government equally alongside other funding partners. The 
Cardiff Capital Region may wish to explore a single unique brand identity that 
represents the whole Capital Region area and all the partners involved in delivering 
the City Deal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



  

60 
  
 

Schedule 8 

ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 

Wider Investment Fund 

 Assurance Framework 

 

 

 

 

January 2017 

 

DRAFT FOR CIRCULATION 

 

 

 

 

Page 316



  

61 
  
 

 

Version 2 – created on 19 January 2017 

Document Control 

Change History 

Version 
Number 

Date Author Change Status 

1 22/11/16 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager 

Formatting D/NS 

1.1 19/12/16 John Duddridge – 
CCRPB Project 

Manager 

Co-
author/reviewer/editor 

D/NS 

1.2 20/12/16 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager 

Final edit DRAFT/For 
Circulation 

1.3 10/01/17 John Duddridge – 
CCRPB Project 

Manager 

Co-
author/reviewer/editor 

D/NS 

1.4 11/01/17 Sian Workman – 
Project Manger 

Editing D/NS 

1.5 11/01/17 Sheila Davies – 
Programme Director 

Editing D/NS 

1.6 12/01/17 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager 

Editing DRAFT/For 
Circulation 

1.7 13/01/17 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager 

Editing D/NS 

1.8 15/01/17 John Duddridge – 
CCRPB Project 

Manager 

Co-
author/reviewer/editor 

D/NS 

1.9 16/01/17 Sian Workman Editing DRAFT/For 
Circulation 

2.0 19/01/17 Sian Workman Final Edit DRAFT/For 
Circulation 

 

Authorised by: Date: 

Sheila Davies – Programme Director 19/01/17 

  

 

Distribution 

Name / Designation Date 

Shadow Regional Cabinet 19/01/17 

CEX Board 19/01/17 

Programme Board 19/01/17 

UK/WG Officials 19/01/17 

Page 317



  

62 
  
 

 

 

Contents 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................ 64 

1.1 What is an Assurance Framework? ........................................................... 64 

1.2 Why does the CCRCD need Assurance Frameworks? .............................. 64 

1.3 Scope of the CCRCD Wider Investment Fund Assurance Framework? .... 64 

1.4 Who is the Assurance Framework for? ...................................................... 65 

1.5 Approval and Monitoring of the Assurance Framework ............................. 65 

1.6 What is covered in this Assurance Framework? ........................................ 65 

2 Governance and Decision Making...................................................................... 66 

2.1 Geography of the Cardiff Capital Region ................................................... 66 

2.2 CCR City Deal Wider Investment Fund Governance Structure .................. 66 

2.2.1 The Cardiff Capital Regional Cabinet ................................................... 68 

2.2.2 The CCRCD Regional Assurance Committee ...................................... 69 

2.2.3 The Regional Transport Authority ......................................................... 69 

2.2.4 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Business Organisation ........... 70 

2.2.5 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Skills and Employment Board 70 

2.2.6 Advisory/Consultation Body - Regional Economic Growth Partnership 71 

2.2.7 Advisory/Consultation Body – Welsh Government ............................... 71 

2.2.8 The Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission ............... 72 

2.2.9 The Regional Office .............................................................................. 72 

2.2.10 The Cardiff Capital Region Programme Board ..................................... 73 

2.3 Status and Role of the Accountable Body .................................................. 74 

2.4 Stakeholder Engagement and Transparency ............................................. 74 

3 Strategy, Programme and Prospectus ............................................................... 76 

3.1 A Regional Economic Strategy .................................................................. 76 

3.2 A Regional Impact Assessment Tool ......................................................... 76 

3.3 A Prospectus for Growth and Prosperity .................................................... 77 

3.4 Candidate Schemes ................................................................................... 77 

3.5 CCR Wider Investment Fund Scheme Appraisal Framework .................... 78 

3.6 Appraisal Criteria ....................................................................................... 80 

3.7 Business Case Development ..................................................................... 81 

Page 318



  

63 
  
 

3.8 Support for Candidate Scheme Development ............................................ 81 

3.9 Value for Money ......................................................................................... 81 

3.10 Assessment Process ................................................................................. 82 

3.11 State Aid .................................................................................................... 83 

3.12 From Prospectus to Delivery Programme .................................................. 84 

3.13 The CCR Wider Investment Fund Delivery Programme ............................ 84 

3.14 Candidate Scheme Offer of Support and Contract Management ............... 84 

3.15 Interim Transition Plan ............................................................................... 85 

4 Management, Evaluation and Review ................................................................ 86 

4.1 Separation between Sponsorship, Assessment and Approval ................... 86 

4.2 Performance Management System ............................................................ 86 

4.3 Risk Management ...................................................................................... 87 

4.4 Contract Management ............................................................................... 87 

4.5 Equality, Diversity and Wellbeing ............................................................... 87 

4.6 Annual Assurance Framework Review ...................................................... 88 

4.7 Five Year Gateway Review ........................................................................ 88 

Appendix 1 – List of Defined Terms ...................................................................... 89 

 

 

 

  

Page 319



  

64 
  
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 What is an Assurance Framework? 

An Assurance Framework is a set of systems, processes and protocols designed to provide 
an evidence-based and independent assessment of the governance, risk management, and 
control processes of an organisation.  The independence inherent to the Assurance 
Framework is derived from the separation between the sponsorship of projects/programmes 
and their appraisal and evaluation. 

The Assurance Framework demonstrates how organisations will monitor, measure and 
scrutinise how objectives are being met and risks managed. It also details the processes 
used to ensure an adequate response to risks or lack of performance.  

HM Treasury define Assurance Frameworks as “an objective examination of evidence for the 
purpose of providing an independent assessment on governance, risk management, and 
control processes for the organisation.” 

1.2 Why does the CCRCD need Assurance Frameworks? 

Adherence to the processes detailed in this Assurance Framework will assist in ensuring that 
funding and resources utilised for the purposes of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Wider 
Investment Fund (Wider Investment Fund) will be use appropriately to deliver stated 
outcomes. 

1.3 Scope of the CCRCD Wider Investment Fund Assurance 
Framework? 
 
The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Investment Fund is a £1.229 billion fund consisting of a 
pre-allocated sum of £734m to the Metro Project and £495m to the Wider Investment Fund. 

This Assurance Framework will apply to the Wider Investment Fund consisting of £375m 
funding provided by the UK Government and £120m committed by the constituent 
authorities. 

The Assurance Framework will also apply to any: 
 additional devolved funding provided to the Cardiff Capital Region; 

 additional borrowing by the constituent authorities provided to the Cardiff Capital 
Region; and 

 devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, subject to Welsh 
Government agreement. 

This framework does not extend to the Metro Project funding of £734m (consisting; £125m 
UK Government; £503m Welsh Government; and £106m ERDF funding) which is covered 
by a separate Assurance Framework. 

 

Page 320



  

65 
  
 

1.4 Who is the Assurance Framework for? 

The commitment to utilise the processes detailed in this Assurance Framework provides 
surety to the Welsh Government and UK Government related to funding provided for the 
CCRCD Wider Investment Fund.   

The Assurance Framework is also designed to provide Constituent and non-Constituent 
Authorities, stakeholders, businesses and the public confidence in the activities associated 
with the Wider Investment Fund. 

1.5 Approval and Monitoring of the Assurance Framework 

Both the Welsh Government and UK Government must formally approve this Assurance 
Framework and any proposed amendments and may, from time to time, monitor its use. 

The Accountable Body, for the Wider Investment Fund is responsible for ensuring adherence 
to the Assurance Framework. The Cardiff Capital Region Joint Assurance Committee will 
provide an independent scrutiny and audit function. 

1.6 What is covered in this Assurance Framework? 

This document is split into three further sections: 

 Section 2 details the governance and decision-making systems that underpin the 
Wider Investment Fund Assurance Framework; 

 Section 3 defines the Regional Economic Strategy and the Regional Impact 
Assessment tool and outlines how Candidate Schemes will be chosen, assessed and 
approved; and 

 Section 4 outlines the processes that will be followed to ensure effective 
management and review of the Framework. 

This Assurance Framework document should be read in conjunction with the CCRCD Joint 
Working Agreement. 

Page 321



  

66 
  
 

2 Governance and Decision Making 

2.1 Geography of the Cardiff Capital Region 

The Cardiff Capital Region is geographically defined by the area consisting the “Constituent 
Authorities” of: 

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  
(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF 
(5) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(6) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
(7) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL 
(8) RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(9) TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(10) THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL 
 

2.2 CCR City Deal Wider Investment Fund Governance Structure 

The current governance structure associated with the Cardiff Capital Regional Cabinet1 
(Regional Cabinet), including the Wider Investment Fund, is shown in Figure 1. This 
provides details of the advisory, support and scrutiny arrangements established to underpin 
the Regional Cabinet and is structured to provide transparency and democratic 
accountability. 

The detail and functioning of the Regional Cabinet and associated governance structure is 
included in the Joint Working Agreement2 and associated terms of reference, however, a 
general description related to roles and responsibility related to the Wider Investment Fund 
is provided below. 

                                                      
1 The Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet has been established as a Joint Committee with delegated powers from the constituent 
authorities as defined in the Joint Working Agreement. The City of Cardiff Council will act as the Accountable Body for funding 
flowing through this assurance framework; however the Regional Cabinet will be the ultimate decision-making body. 

2 The Joint Working Agreement is the comprehensive agreement that binds and commits each individual authority and any 
successor authority (in the event of local government re-organisation) for such duration as is necessary to deliver the City Deal. 

Page 322



  

67 
  
 

Appendix  A. -  

Figure 1: CCRCD Governance Map – [DRAFT] 

 

P
age 323



  

68 
  
 

2.2.1 The Cardiff Capital Regional Cabinet 

The Regional Cabinet comprises of the ten participating local authorities and has been 
established to have responsibility for3: 

 management of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund; 

 additional devolved funding provided to the Capital Region; 

 the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority; 

 contracting with Transport for Wales on prioritised Metro projects; 

 control over devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, 
subject to Welsh Government agreement; 

 strategic planning including housing, transport planning and land use; 

 influencing skills and worklessness programmes; 

 an Inward investment and marketing strategy; and 

 considering the scope for strengthening Capital Region governance further. 

The membership of the Regional Cabinet is made up of the Leaders of the Constituent 
Councils and it will be the ultimate decision making body related to the Wider Investment 
Fund. 
 
To focus activity and capacity and promote delivery the Regional Cabinet is developing a 
Regional Economic Strategy and introducing a portfolio arrangement at both political and 
officer level. Each portfolio is led by two of the Leaders, from the constituent authorities, who 
are supported by portfolio officers made up of the Chief Executive officers of the local 
authorities. The portfolios are: 

 Regeneration, Housing and Planning 

 Work, Skills and Economy 

 Business and Innovation 

 Transport 

 Finance & Governance 

In addition, a portfolio of ‘Chair of Regional Cabinet’ has been established with responsibility 
for liaison, engagement and promotion. 
 
The key responsibilities of the portfolio holders are: 

 providing strategic direction for the portfolio area of responsibility and the 
development of a portfolio work programme to drive forward delivery; 

 communicating a clear understanding of portfolio priorities; 

 oversight of performance and delivery of the portfolio including those commitments 
contained in the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms (Heads of Terms); 
and 

                                                      
3 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 53 

Page 324



  

69 
  
 

 developing effective regional collaboration for the portfolio area of responsibility. 

 
The Regional Cabinet is able to establish sub-committees for any matters which they feel 
would be better dealt with in this way. These sub-committees may be advisory and report to 
the Regional Cabinet with recommendation or be provided with delegated powers, from the 
Regional Cabinet, which will provide them with a defined level of decision making powers.  
The Regional Cabinet shall be advised by a Lead Head of Paid Service (nominated and 
agreed by the Heads of Paid Service of the ten constituent councils) who shall meet on an 
informal basis from time to time.  

 

2.2.2 The CCRCD Regional Assurance Committee 

The Regional Cabinet will establish a Regional Assurance Committee to provide an 
independent scrutiny function to ensure greater public accountability over decisions made by 
the Regional Cabinet and any of its sub-committees and related entities. 

The role of the Assurance Committee is to provide advice, challenge and support to the 
Regional Cabinet. The detail, functioning and membership of the Assurance Committee will 
be included in the Joint Working Agreement and will be such that they do not conflict with the 
role and responsibilities of the Accountable Body. 

The Assurance Committee will be required to: 

 review and scrutinise the Regional Cabinet’s financial affairs; 

 receiving the Regional Cabinet’s accounts and advising on their approval; 

 review and assess the Regional Cabinet’s risk management, internal control and 
corporate governance arrangements; 

 review and assess the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources 
have been used in relation to the Wider Investment Fund; and 

 make reports and recommendations to the Regional Cabinet in relation to the above 
points. 

2.2.3 The Regional Transport Authority 

The Regional Cabinet will establish a Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority to co-
ordinate regional transport planning and investment, in partnership with the Welsh 
Government, and will be responsible for: 

 Pooled local transport resources; 

 Regional planning for the local transport network; 

 Working with Transport for Wales to ensure objectives for transport investment are 
aligned; 

 Supporting Welsh Government led work on integrated ticketing across the Cardiff 
Capital Region; 

 Working in partnership with the Welsh Government and Transport for Wales to define 
the priorities of the South East Wales Metro and to support its delivery; 

Page 325



  

70 
  
 

 Working in partnership with the Welsh Government, airlines and Cardiff International 
Airport Limited and aerospace partners to promote the development of integrated 
aviation routes aerospace activity at St Athan Enterprise Zone, to deliver economic 
benefit. 

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Transport Authority will be included 
in the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Wider Investment Fund will enable it to: 

 develop transport Candidate Schemes for assessment under the Appraisal 
Framework; and 

 provide advice and observations related to transport Candidate Schemes submitted 
by other bodies. 

 
2.2.4 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Business Organisation 

The Regional Business Organisation will be responsible for4: 

 articulating the regional needs of business; 

 identifying regional priorities for existing business support services; and 

 advising on the design of future business support programmes. 

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Business Organisation will be 
included in the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Wider Investment Fund will 
enable it to: 

 develop and submit relevant Candidate Schemes for assessment under the 
Appraisal Framework; and 

 provide advice and observations on relevant Candidate Schemes submitted by other 
bodies. 

2.2.5 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Skills and Employment Board 

The Regional Skills and Employment Board (previously known as the LSKiP Employment 
and Skills Board) is a partnership which represents a wide range of stakeholders, including: 
business; education providers; local authorities and the Welsh Government.  It will be 
responsible for5: 

 Cardiff Capital Region’s skills and worklessness strategy; 

 Pooled local authority skills resource; 

 Producing an annual regional plan for employment and skills.  This annual plan, led 
by industry, will set out how both the existing skills needs of businesses and the 
Capital Region’s future skills challenges will be addressed; 

 Influencing and monitoring the delivery and impact of employment and skills 
programmes across the Region; 

                                                      
4 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 43 

5 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 34 

Page 326



  

71 
  
 

 Ensuring an industry led approach to the design and delivery of apprenticeship 
programmes meets the needs of both business and apprentices; 

 Supporting the Welsh Government’s “Curriculum for Wales, Curriculum for Life” plan, 
by encouraging closer alignment between future employer skills needs and education 
provision across the region; and 

 Ensuring European Union funding investments in skills and employment add value 
and align with other programmes. 

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Skills and Employment Board will be 
included in the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Wider Investment Fund will 
enable it to: 
 

 develop and submit relevant Candidate Schemes for assessment under the 
Appraisal Framework; and 

 provide advice and observations on relevant Candidate Schemes submitted by other 
bodies. 

2.2.6 Advisory/Consultation Body - Regional Economic Growth Partnership 

The Regional Economic Growth Partnership will be responsible for: 

 Advising on the overarching city-region economic development strategy; 

 Monitoring and making recommendations to the Regional Cabinet with regard to City 
Deal implementation; and 

 Providing advice on investment decisions. 

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Economic Growth Partnership will 
be included in the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Wider Investment Fund will 
enable it to: 

 develop and submit relevant Candidate Schemes for assessment under the 
Appraisal Framework; and 

 provide advice and observations on relevant Candidate Schemes submitted by other 
bodies. 

 
2.2.7 Advisory/Consultation Body – Welsh Government 

The Welsh Government, although not indicated as an advisory/consultation body on the 
CCRCD Wider Investment Fund governance chart, have statutory responsibilities and 
investment programmes covering many areas encompassed by the Wider Investment Fund. 

It is therefore critical that any proposed investments are additional, complementary and 
support actions or proposals being implemented or developed by the Welsh Government. 
This can only be ensured by a close working relationship and effective information sharing. 

Related to the Wider Investment Fund the Welsh Government will be: 

 invited to actively participate in the work being undertaken in each portfolio area; and 

 consulted on all Candidate Schemes. 

Page 327



  

72 
  
 

 
2.2.8 The Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission 

The Regional Cabinet established a ‘task and finish’ Commission to: 

 Review the evidence about the functional economic area and advise how best to 
generate Gross Value Added growth and support the ambitions of a dynamic capital 
region in a successful Welsh Economy; and 

 Examine the challenges and opportunities for economic growth and competitiveness and 
make recommendations for how the Cardiff Capital Region can achieve its full growth 
potential, and contribute most to the Welsh Economy. 

The membership of the Commission consisted of Greg Clark, Helen Molyneux, Alexandra 
Jones, Julie-Ann Haines and Kevin Gardiner and they were supported by Cardiff University. 

The Commission was established in August 2016 and completed its task on 16th December 
2016 by publishing its recommendations. A number of the Commission’s recommendations 
are referenced in this Assurance Framework. 

2.2.9 The Regional Office 

The Regional Office will provide the Regional Cabinet, the UK Government and the Welsh 
Government with quarterly performance reports6 that will7: 
 

 Highlight City Deal success; 

 Provide a performance narrative for each element of the City Deal against agreed 
implementation plan timescales; 

 Provide information on agreed outputs and outcomes; 

 Identify mitigating actions for projects and programmes that are not being delivered 
to agreed timescales. 

The Regional Office will be responsible for ensuring that this Assurance Framework is 
adhered to by developing, implementing, maintaining and monitoring a comprehensive 
performance management system and evaluation framework that will operate at both the 
corporate level and at the scheme level. 

The Regional Office will ensure that all submitted schemes are eligible and that details of 
Candidate Schemes are issued to the appropriate Advisory/Consultation Bodies for their 
observation and those observations are used as part of the Assessment Framework. 

The Regional Office will be responsible for the management of the programme contained in 
the Regional Economic Strategy, gateway reviews, and the annual Business Plans including 
performance and financial management of the delivery programme, undertaking due 
diligence as required. 

The Regional Office will provide support to the Regional Cabinet including administration, 
engagement, and communication including events and press.  The Regional Office will act 

                                                      
6 The UK Government and Welsh Government will work with the Regional Cabinet to agree a 
timetable for the production of these reports and will convene regular progress meetings. 
7 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 64 

Page 328



  

73 
  
 

as the delivery mechanism to enable the Accountable Body to discharge its duties in respect 
of the City Deal Wider Investment Fund. 

The Regional Office will remain functionally independent of the Accountable Body and will be 
responsible for discharging those functions set out above; it will not discharge those 
statutory requirements which are the responsibility of the Accountable Body as the Legal 
entity. 

2.2.10 The Cardiff Capital Region Programme Board 

The Cardiff Capital Region Programme Board (Programme Board) membership will consist 
of the City Deal Programme Director, CEX/Managing Director and/or nominated Director, 
Programme Manager, Strategic Directors, or equivalent, from each constituent authority, 
specialist officers, and legal and financial representatives from the Accountable Body. 

Related to the Wider Investment Fund the Programme Board will have three distinct roles: 

 Providing Portfolio support by: 

 appointing Theme Leads, from their membership, to support the Portfolio Leads and 
Portfolio Officers established by the Regional Cabinet; 

 under each Theme establish a Strategic Regional Group and, as required, Task & 
Finish Groups to develop Wider Investment Fund proposals; 

 under each Theme develop a series of Candidate Schemes for assessment under 
the Candidate Scheme Appraisal Framework; 

 advise on the strategic direction for the portfolio area and assist in the development 
of a portfolio work programme to drive forward delivery. 

 Monitor Portfolio development by: 

 providing support and collective challenge to the Portfolios and Themes including the 
Strategic Regional Groups and Task & Finish Groups, to ensure their work 
progresses the development of proposals in line with the Regional Economic 
Strategy including objectives and targets; 

 oversight of performance and delivery of the portfolios 

 Prepare recommendations on individual Candidate Schemes and the overall programme 
of the Wider Implementation Fund by: 

 ensuring that all Candidate Schemes are assessed in accordance with the Wider 
Investment Fund Candidate Scheme Appraisal Framework; 

 preparing recommendations on Candidate Schemes whilst ensuring due regard is 
given to the observations provided by the Advisory/Consultation Bodies and the 
independent assessment; 

 providing recommendations to the Regional Cabinet on all Candidate Schemes; 

 considering the Wider Investment Fund programme of schemes as a whole to ensure 
they work effectively together to maximise outcomes by assessing 'total impact' and 
not just economic considerations; 

 providing recommendations to the Regional Cabinet on Wider Investment Fund 
delivery programme as a whole. 

Page 329



  

74 
  
 

To allow the Programme Board to undertake all three functions a clear distinction will be 
drawn between those involved in specific Candidate Scheme development and those 
preparing recommendations on those schemes to the Regional Cabinet. A robust system of 
declaration of conflict of interest will be put in place.  

2.3 Status and Role of the Accountable Body 

One of the constituent authorities will be defined as the Accountable Body for the Regional 
Cabinet and the Wider Investment Fund and will be responsible for ensuring that funding 
decisions made by the Regional Cabinet are lawful and appropriate. 

As the Accountable Body, overall financial arrangements are managed and accounted for 
through its financial systems and subject to the Standing Orders and Governance systems of 
that body. Funding allocated to the Regional Cabinet as part of the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal will be paid to the Accountable Body who shall ensure that those funds remain 
identifiable from the Accountable Body’s own funds. 

The Accountable Body shall, subject to the statutory role of each constituent Council’s 
monitoring officer in relation to their Council, provide for the purposes of the Wider 
Investment Fund the services of its monitoring officer and employ any staff appointed by the 
Regional Cabinet. Subject to the statutory role of each constituent Council’s s151 officer in 
relation to their Council, the Accountable Body shall provide for the purposes of the Regional 
Cabinet services of its Chief Financial Officer as Treasurer to the Regional Cabinet. 

The Accountable Body shall supply the Regional Office with such support services as may 
reasonably be required, these may include services such as financial, legal, audit and other 
professional and/or technical services. 

The full details and responsibilities related to the Accountable Body will be included in the 
Joint Working Agreement and will include; ensuring that the decisions and activities of the 
Regional Cabinet conform with the legal requirements regarding equalities, environmental, 
legislation, ensuring that funds are used legally and appropriately; and administrative 
functions such as payroll, preparing statement of accounts, VAT returns and liaising with 
external audit etc. 

In performing this role, the Accountable Body as the Legal Entity therefore has responsibility 
to discharge all the statutory requirements in respect of the City Deal Wider Investment 
Fund, and is ultimately accountable for the actions of the Regional Office. The Accountable 
Body will ensure that it acts in a manner that is transparent, evidence based, consistent and 
proportionate. 

2.4 Stakeholder Engagement and Transparency 

Engagement with and feedback from constituent and neighbouring local authorities, 
stakeholders and the public has been, and will continue to be, key in shaping and defining 
the Regional Cabinets’ actions.  

Monthly newsletters will be distributed to stakeholders throughout the City Region informing 
them of current and planned activities and how to get involved. 

Regular social media updates concerning relevant activity will be provided via the CCRCD 
Twitter handle @CCRCityDeal. 

A calendar of events will be developed and made available on the CCRCD website  
www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales, and on-going PR campaign will inform stakeholders 
of CCRCD activity. 

Page 330

http://www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales/


  

75 
  
 

Stakeholders will be able to contact the CCRCD via the CCRCD website’s contact form 
www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales or through social media @CCRCityDeal. 

The public and stakeholders will be able to provide input via the contact form on the CCRCD 
website [https://cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales.  Stakeholders will be made aware of how 
to provide input by being informed via the CCRCD newsletter which is available online. 

Communications, engagement and marketing strategies will be developed and implemented 
to maximise participation and involvement and will be designed to promote and facilitate the 
use of the Welsh language and comply with the standards imposed by the regulations 
approved under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011. 

The Regional Cabinet is committed to transparency in its decision-making and activities, but 
also recognises that for it to operate effectively there are some circumstances in which it 
must maintain confidentiality, particularly where commercial sensitivities are involved.  

The Regional Cabinet is subject to the same accountability and transparency legislative 
provisions for decision making as Local Government, including public notice of meetings and 
the business to be conducted at those meetings, Access to Information Rules and Freedom 
of Information Act 2000. 

The use of resources by the Regional Cabinet is subject to standard local authority checks 
and balances. In particular, this includes the financial duties and rules which require councils 
to act prudently in spending, and publish annual accounts. The development of these checks 
and balances will be overseen and managed by the Accountable Body. 

Page 331

http://www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales/


  

76 
  
 

3 Strategy, Programme and Prospectus 

3.1 A Regional Economic Strategy 

The Regional Cabinet, using the research and recommendations from the Growth and 
Competitiveness Commission, are preparing a Regional Economic Strategy that will support 
a competitive inclusive Cardiff Capital Region, playing to the strengths of the areas within the 
region to increase overall opportunity, mobility, jobs and investment8. 

The Regional Economic Strategy will clearly define the regional objectives and include a 
programme detailing the targets expected from the City Deal during its lifetime and beyond9; 
together with the indicative spend profile for the wider investment fund (comprising of the 
HMT Contribution and the Council Contribution in the aggregate sum of £586,000,000).  
Although focussed on the economy the Regional Economic Strategy will also playing a role 
in improving the social, environment and cultural well-being of the region and may include 
additional targets to reflect this. 
 
Although the procedures for the use of the Wider Investment Fund are necessarily detailed 
the principles are straightforward: 

 The Regional Economic Strategy will contain a programme which details the 
expected targets to be achieved from the City Deal; 

 Candidate schemes for the Wider Investment Fund will be assessed to measure how 
they will support the delivery of these targets; and 

 A balanced programme of delivery will be managed to ensure that the defined targets 
are achieved. 

The Regional Economic Strategy will be developed in accordance with the ‘sustainable 
development principle’ and in setting regional objectives and targets will seek to support and 
promote the seven well-being goals as detailed in the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act. 

3.2 A Regional Impact Assessment Tool 

To assist in the process of assessing Candidate Schemes and measure to what extent they 
will support the delivery of the targets, detailed in the Regional Economic Strategy, a 
Regional Impact Assessment Tool is being developed. 

The tool will select a broad range of indicators and factors, which are known to have a 
positive impact on the targets detailed in the Regional Economic Strategy, and be used to 
measure the level by which Candidate Schemes can contribution to those targets and 
assess their value for money. 

The tool will be designed to consider wider sustainable development objectives and be able 
to assess and highlight the positive impact proposed Candidate Schemes can have on both 

                                                      
8 Growth and Competitiveness Commission Report – Recommendation 2 Economic Strategy 

9 It is likely that the Regional Economic Strategy will include the specific outcomes recommended by the Growth and 
Competitiveness Commission, for example on productivity, at least 90% of UK average, median earnings to 95% of UK figure, 
25,000 new jobs, employment rate of 70.5%. 

Page 332



  

77 
  
 

social and environmental outcomes and other indirect and non-monetised benefits promoted 
by the City Deal and included in the Regional Economic Strategy. 

An important aspect of this assessment tool will be its ability to identify the spread of any 
potential benefits to ensure geographic balance across the region and the ability of schemes 
to target need. 

3.3 A Prospectus for Growth and Prosperity 

For the purposes of the Wider Investment Fund schemes can take several forms including 
projects, programmes, investments, funds, loans, grants and contributions and may seek 
support in the form of capital and/or revenue funding. 

The variation in potential schemes and funding requirements reflects the multi-strand 
approach advocated by the Growth and Competitiveness Commission10 and the wider 
investment priorities of the Regional Cabinet11 who are committed to invest in those 
schemes which support regional economic growth and may cover areas as diverse as 
regeneration & infrastructure, housing, skills, transport, digital, business growth and sector 
development, research & development and innovation. 

Work is being undertaken under each Regional Cabinet portfolio heading to define groupings 
of schemes. These groupings will be used to produce a prospectus of eligible scheme types. 
This strategic approach, rather than an open unstructured bidding process, will ensure a 
comprehensive, balanced programme that is evidence based and targeted to deliver 
regional economic growth. 

Advice and guidance will be sought from the Regional Advisory/Consultative Bodies in the 
production of this prospectus to ensure that it includes sufficient flexibility to accommodate 
changing economic priorities, trends and business needs. 

The Wider Investment Fund Prospectus (Prospectus) will define the eligible scheme types 
and detail the full list of Candidate Schemes showing their various stages of development 
through the Appraisal Framework including those schemes sufficiently developed to be 
included on the Wider Investment Fund Delivery Programme (Delivery Programme). The 
Prospectus will therefore be a live document under constant review and update. 

To support this strategic approach and ensure a broad range of interventions, based on 
evidence, the Regional Cabinet may consider introducing initial indicative allocations of 
funding in relation to each portfolio and theme within the Prospectus. This approach could 
assist when assessing the affordability of any candidate schemes. 

3.4 Candidate Schemes 

Having created a prospectus of eligible scheme types, to ensure a strategic approach to 
investment, a process to allow appropriate schemes to be submitted for consideration will be 
introduced. 

Candidate Schemes can be submitted by the following ‘Candidate Scheme Sponsors’: 
 Portfolio Leads; 

 The constituent authorities; 

                                                      
10 Growth and Competitiveness Report Page 4 

11 CCRCD Heads of Terms Item 16 

Page 333



  

78 
  
 

 Welsh Government; 

 UK Government; 

 Advisory/Consultative Body; and 

 Stipulated Stakeholder. 

Portfolio Leads are supported by Portfolio Officers, Theme Leads and associated Strategic 
Regional Groups ensuring that sufficient suitable Candidate Schemes are being identified 
and developed for appraisal. 

Other Candidate Scheme Sponsors can submit proposals directly for appraisal; however, 
they are encouraged to actively participate in the appropriate Strategic Regional Group. This 
will ensure the effective development of proposals which can be submitted jointly with the 
Portfolio Leads. 

In addition, the Regional Cabinet may consider issuing a periodic open call for eligible 
schemes. 

3.5 CCR Wider Investment Fund Scheme Appraisal Framework 

Regardless of how the candidate schemes have been submitted they will all be required to 
follow the same appraisal process which has been developed to be transparent and 
equitable. This will also apply to Candidate Schemes which are only requesting partial 
support or a contribution and may be subject to other Appraisal Frameworks or assessment 
processes. Where this is the case, the Wider Investment Fund portion of the investment will 
be treated in the same way as a standalone scheme. 

The Wider Investment Fund Scheme Appraisal Framework is shown in Figure 2 and 
illustrates the Gateway system to be used including business case requirements, 
consultation, assessment process, and the recommendation and decision making protocol. 

The Assessment Framework will identify those Candidate Schemes in the Prospectus which 
are eligible to enter the Delivery Programme. 

The Regional Office is responsible for co-ordinating and managing the Appraisal Framework 
including procuring external independent assessments of business cases and for ensuring 
the separation between the sponsorship of projects/programmes and their appraisal and 
evaluation. 

The Regional Office will produce a set of guidance documentation, including proforma, for 
Candidate Scheme Sponsors, detailing the various stages of the Appraisal Framework.  

The appraisal process is consistent with HM Treasury’s Green Book and Business Case 
Appraisal process and is based on the five cases model; the strategic case; the economic 
case; the commercial case; the financial case; and the management case. 

Page 334



  

79 
  
 

 

 

 

Figure 2: CCRCD Wider Investment Fund Scheme Assessment 

Framework 

 

P
age 335



  

80 
  
 

The appraisal process will apply the principle of proportionality, with more detailed 
information being required for large, complex or contentious schemes. This is important 
to ensure Candidate Scheme Sponsors are not discouraged from submitting less 
complex schemes whilst ensuring that large investments are scrutinised and tested 
appropriately. 

3.6 Appraisal Criteria 

The main factor in in assessing candidate schemes will be the extent to which they 
contribute to the targets detailed in the Regional Economic Strategy and their value for 
money, however, to make these assessments detailed information on those proposed 
schemes is required and will be developed by addressing the criteria detailed below. 
 
The City Deal provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to 
economic growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing skill levels still further; 
supporting people into work; and giving businesses the support they need to innovate 
and grow. The City Deal therefore includes12: 
 

 Connecting the region; 

 Support for innovation and improving the digital network; 

 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment; 

 Supporting enterprise and business growth; and 

 Housing development and regeneration. 

In addition, the City Deal, over its lifetime, is expected to deliver up to 25,000 new jobs 
and leverage an additional £4 billion of private sector investment. 

All Candidate Schemes are required to demonstrate how they will contribute to one or 
more of these objectives, and others contained in the Regional Economic Strategy, and 
why the scheme is needed.   

The Growth and Competitiveness Commission have recommended that all Candidate 
Scheme should also demonstrate13: 

 Significant scale; 

 A positive impact on GVA; 

 A positive impact on jobs; 

 An impact beyond the local boundary area of where the investment takes place 
and does not displace activity within the city-region; 

 Alignment with the proposed Metro investment, including investment that can 
unlock benefits of the Metro and address access constraints; 

In addition, schemes need to demonstrate a quantifiable impact on at least two of the 
following: 

                                                      
12 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms – Executive Summary. 

13 Growth and Competitiveness Commission Report – Recommendation 3 City Deal Investment Principles. 

Page 336



  

81 
  
 

 Increasing employment rates (by constituency) in areas where employment 
rates are below the Cardiff Capital Region average; 

 Increasing earnings in areas with below average earnings for the Cardiff Capital 
Region; 

 Supporting enterprise growth and productivity gains;  

 Supporting people out of employment into employment. 

All Candidate Schemes are required to respond to the Growth and Competitiveness 
Commission investment principles demonstrating how and to what degree they comply 
with these recommendations. 

All Candidate Schemes are required to quantify their economic impact, employment 
creation, scale-ability and leverage. Candidate Schemes will also have to demonstrate 
they are deliverable, represent value for money and that they comply with the 
necessary regulations including legal and state aid requirements.  

3.7 Business Case Development 

Three stages of business case development are required in the appraisal process: 

 the Initial Proposal (Strategic Outline Case); 

This is particularly important as it will focus on establishing the case for the 
proposal and although at this stage the scheme is not necessarily expected to be 
fully worked up or immediately deliverable the level of information must be sufficient 
to gain a clear understanding of the scheme, how it addresses the Appraisal 
Criteria, estimated costs and benefits. 

 the Outline Business Case (OBC); 

This will be a substantive business case document and will include a thorough 
options appraisal to justify the preferred option and an assessment of value for 
money to underpin the economic case. 

 the Full Business Case (FBC). 

This will build on the information in the OBC and confirm the scheme has the 
necessary contractual/procurement and delivery arrangements in place to allow the 
scheme to proceed. 

As indicated previously, the appraisal process will apply the principle of proportionality 
which may result in in the OBC and FBC stages being combined depending on the 
level and quality of information provided and the complexity of the scheme. 

3.8 Support for Candidate Scheme Development 

The Regional Cabinet may allocate, on request or application, funding to portfolios to 
support pre-feasibility and feasibility studies, and development of initial proposals and 
business cases to ensure that high quality Candidate Schemes are available.  

3.9 Value for Money 

Each Candidate Scheme must demonstrate value for money i.e. the optimal use of 
resources to achieve the intended outcomes. 

Page 337



  

82 
  
 

The National Audit Office use three criteria to assess value for money: 
 

 economy – minimising the cost of resources used or required – spending less; 

 efficiency – the relationship between the outputs from goods or services and the 
resources to produce them – spending well; and 

 effectiveness – the relationship between the intended and actual results of 
public spending – spending wisely. 

In basic terms value for money is the degree to which benefits exceed costs and the 
use of HM Treasury’s Green Book and Business Case Appraisal process in assessed 
Candidate Schemes is expected to demonstrate the potential value of any scheme. 

The Candidate Scheme business case is also expected to refer, where appropriate, to 
guidance on value for money and other benefits specific to the nature of the proposed 
scheme, this will include demonstrating social return on investment and local multiplier 
benefits. The business case may also highlight how the schemes procurement might 
improve economic, social and environmental well-being of the region and how such 
improvements might be secured in its implementation. 

The Regional Cabinet when deciding on whether to support a Candidate Scheme will 
take a wide range of evidence into consideration in addition to the level of value for 
money. There may be occasions when, although the measure of value for money is 
low, due to the wider regional economic impacts on the Regional Economic Strategy 
targets, cost effectiveness, environmental and social impact, and leverage of additional 
funding the Candidate Scheme will be supported. 

3.10 Assessment Process 

The role of the Assessment Process is to provide the framework through which a 
judgement can be made about whether each scheme is robust and has been rigorously 
assessed against a specific set of criteria to ensure that it achieves value for money. 
 
The Candidate Scheme Sponsors will submit a Candidate Scheme Initial Proposal to 
the Regional Office who will categorise it against the Scheme Prospectus eligibility 
groupings and refer it to: 

 the appropriate Advisory/Consultation Body with a request to provide 
observation on the proposed scheme; and 

 the external business case assessor requesting that they undertake an 
independent review with reference to the impact assessment tool. 

The Initial Proposal, with the observations and review, will be submitted to the 
Programme Board who are required to assess all available data and determine if: 

 The case is sufficiently strong for the Candidate Scheme to move onto the next 
stage; or 

 The scheme is returned to the Candidate Scheme Sponsor with details of where 
the Initial Proposal is currently not sufficiently strong to allow it to move forward 
to the next stage.  

If the scheme is supported to go to the next stage the Candidate Scheme Sponsor will 
be requested to submit an Outline Business Case which, when received, will be sent to 

Page 338



  

83 
  
 

the external business case assessor requesting that they undertake a further review of 
the additional detail provided. 

This review will be submitted to the Programme Board who can make the following 
recommendations to the Regional Cabinet: 

 The scheme does not fall within the Wider Investment Fund scope; 

 The scheme does not provide sufficient regional benefit and should be rejected; 

 The scheme, although not seeking Wider Investment Funding, is supported and 
should be promoted as it aligns with the overall objectives of the City Deal; 

 The scheme’s Outline Business Case is currently not sufficiently strong and 
should be returned to the Candidate Scheme Sponsor for further work; or 

 The scheme should move to the next stage. 

The Regional Cabinet will consider the recommendations and resolve either to accept 
them or based on the available data agree an alternative course of action.  

If the Regional Cabinet resolve that the scheme go to the next stage the Candidate 
Scheme Sponsor will be requested to submit a Full Business Case which, when 
received, will be sent to the external business case assessor requesting that they 
undertake a further review of the additional detail provided. The Regional Office, in 
liaison with the Accountable Body, would also be requested to provide both legal and 
financial assessments of the proposal. 

The review and assessments would be provided to the Programme Board who would 
submit recommendations to the Regional Cabinet. 

The Regional Cabinet, as the decision-making body, would have the responsibility of 
confirming that the Candidate Scheme is eligible for inclusion in the Delivery 
Programme. 

To ensure that the assessment process is equitable the Regional Office are preparing 
detailed guidance notes and also proforma for use in the process. 

3.11 State Aid 

Processes are being established to ensure that schemes supported by the Wider 
Investment Fund are State Aid compliant.  

The business case templates will require Project Sponsors to confirm that their scheme 
complies with State aid Regulations and does not contravene State Aid Legislation. 
The templates will also require Project Sponsors to outline what advice (e.g. legal 
advice) they have had in relation to State Aid, and to confirm their acceptance of the 
following: 

“All applicants need to take steps to satisfy themselves that any CCR Wider Investment 
Fund funding approved does not amount to unlawful State Aid. A declaration of 
compliance with EU State Aid regulations will be required prior to any funding being 
provided. If your project is awarded funds it will be subject to a condition requiring the 
repayment of any funding in the event that the European Commission determines that 
the funding constitutes unlawful State Aid.” 

Page 339



  

84 
  
 

Where required, the Accountable Body will also conduct legal due diligence to obtain 
further confidence that State Aid requirements have been met. 

3.12 From Prospectus to Delivery Programme 

The Wider Investment Fund will be used to invest in a broad range of interventions 
over its life time to unlock significant economic growth across the region and it can only 
achieve its objectives through the delivery of an effective Delivery Programme that 
accounts for and takes advantage of the interdependencies between individual 
schemes. 

Each portfolio will undertake work to develop schemes and produce a potential delivery 
programme. However, it is recognised that each individual programme will vary related 
to timescales for development and implementation. In addition, financial profiles and 
limits, for both the Wider Investment Fund and other funding sources, may dictate 
when and to what scale proposals can be funded. 

The final decision to release Wider Investment Funds rests with the Regional Cabinet 
and to do this effectively they will be responsible agreeing the Delivery Programme 
which delivers on their commitments, is affordable, and value for money. 

Candidate Schemes which have successfully passed through the Assessment 
Framework will be eligible to be included on the Delivery Programme. 

3.13 The CCR Wider Investment Fund Delivery Programme 

The Wider Investment Fund Delivery Programme (Delivery Programme) will be 
informed by the details on the number, size and timescales of schemes being 
progressed through the portfolio and ideally once a scheme’s Full Business Case has 
been approved it will move directly to the Delivery Programme via an offer 
letter/contract. 

In some instances, due to existing financial commitments or changes in priority, 
schemes may not progress immediately to implementation and the Delivery 
Programme should clearly reflect these changing circumstances and how they will 
affect the scheme. 

The Regional Cabinet will undertake regular reviews of the Delivery Programme to 
ensure that it is suitable to deliver on the broad range of interventions necessary to 
achieve the targets detailed in the Regional Economic Strategy by tackling the regions 
barriers to economic growth and that it reflects the regions current economic needs.  

These Delivery Programme Reviews will assess the balance of interventions and 
ensure those schemes most likely to deliver on the targets detailed in the Regional 
Economic Strategy, which are affordable and can be delivered within required 
timescales, are prioritised.  

To commence the process of programme development the Regional Cabinet will, in the 
first instance, agree an Implementation Plan outlining it proposals for the first 5 years. 

3.14 Candidate Scheme Offer of Support and Contract 
Management 

Candidate Schemes eligible for inclusion on the Delivery Programme will undergo a 
due diligence assessment. 

Page 340



  

85 
  
 

Following approval by the Regional Cabinet the Regional Office working in conjunction 
with the Accountable Body will prepare an offer letter/contract for agreement with the 
Project Sponsor or other relevant applicant. 

The offer letter may vary according to scheme type, size and complexity but is likely to 
contain the following which will be monitored by the Contract Management Team within 
the Regional Office: 
 

 A financial profile – including monthly income and expenditure: 

 A profile of outputs and outcomes to be achieved – with key milestones for 
delivery; 

 A risk management log – detailing potential risks to the successful delivery of 
the scheme and how they will be managed; 

 A monthly/quarterly schedule for returning monitoring information; and 

 Post completion requirements 

3.15 Interim Transition Plan 

To apply the CCR Appraisal Process in full a number of supporting processes and 
actions need to be put in place including: 

 A Cardiff Capital Region Economic Strategy defining the regional objectives and 
including a programme detailing the targets expected from the City Deal during 
its lifetime and beyond, together with the indicative spend profile for the Wider 
Investment Fund; 

 A Cardiff Capital Region Impact Assessment Tool; 

 Establishing the Cardiff Capital Region Advisory/Consultative Bodies; and 

 Producing detailed guidance notes and proforma 

To assist in co-ordinating and programming these events an Interim Transition Plan is 
being put in place which will set time-lines for development and detail how potential 
schemes will be dealt with during this interim phase. 

 

Page 341



  

86 
  
 

4 Management, Evaluation and Review 

4.1 Separation between Sponsorship, Assessment and 
Approval 

For this Assurance Framework to be effective it must establish a clear separation 
between the sponsorship of schemes and their appraisal, evaluation and approval. 

All processes and systems will make a clear distinction between those involved in the 
development of Candidate Schemes and those responsible for their assessment, 
submitting recommendations related to their suitability and providing approval. 

This division of role will apply across the Appraisal and Assessment Frameworks and 
will mean that those involved in a portfolio will not take part in the appraisal or approval 
of any Candidate Schemes within that portfolio. This is especially relevant at both the 
Programme Board, when preparing recommendations, and at the Regional Cabinet 
when making decisions. 

4.2  Performance Management System 

The Regional Office, in liaison with the Accountable Body, is developing a 
comprehensive performance management system and evaluation framework which will 
encompass the decision-making process and programme and scheme delivery. This 
system will enable the Regional Cabinet to: 

 Assess the effectiveness, efficiency and value for money of schemes and the 
overall programme; 

 Monitor impact and progress towards agreed aims and goals, and to 
understand whether schemes are on track to deliver projected outputs and 
outcomes; 

 Maintain scrutiny and accountability; 

 Inform future investment priorities and resource allocations; and 

 Inform future activities and delivery and the sharing of best practice. 

Monitoring and evaluation of the Wider Investment Fund will operate at two 
interconnected levels, at the level of individual scheme, as defined at the FBC stage 
through the Assurance Framework; and at the level of the overall Delivery Programme. 
For schemes of significant scale or complexity the Regional Cabinet may resolve to 
procure external evaluation. 

It will be important that monitoring and evaluation exercises are scheduled to ensure a 
sufficient evidence base for the 5-year Gateway Review; they will therefore cover 
impact and economic evaluation as well as process evaluation. 

When undertaking the evaluation exercise use will be made of the Regional Impact 
Assessment tool and its broad range of indicators and factors, which are known to 
have a positive impact on the targets as detailed in the Regional Economic Strategy. 

It is essential that all schemes have an effective monitoring and evaluation plan in 
place to assess the effectiveness of public spending over time, and so that lessons can 
be learnt. Schemes will monitor against the outcomes described in the economic case. 

Page 342



  

87 
  
 

Responsibility for monitoring at a strategic level will lie with the Regional Office, whilst 
at the scheme level responsibility will lie with Scheme Sponsors, with the Regional 
Office setting compliance measures and ensuring they are adhered to and reported as 
required.  

Over time, prioritisation and sequencing will also involve a feedback loop through which 
the outcomes of the monitoring and evaluation work will be used to shape future 
investment priorities. 

4.3 Risk Management 

A key role of the Assurance Framework is to ensure that risk is identified, monitored 
and managed appropriately, both at a corporate level and at Delivery Programme and 
scheme level. 

To identify, monitor, manage and mitigate risks at the corporate level, a Corporate Risk 
Register is being developed aligned to the Wider Investment Fund objectives. 

The key principle of the Corporate Risk Register is to identify strategic risks, determine 
where and by whom such risks are borne, to establish controls to prevent the identified 
risk (such as funding shortfall) from materialising or establish ways to reduce the 
impact. The Register will not be limited to financial risks. 

As part of the business case evaluation process, Candidate Scheme Sponsors are 
required to develop a Scheme Risk and Issues Log. This will detail all of the schemes 
specific risks that have been identified during the development phase of the scheme. 

Within the business case templates, being developed, the Sponsor will be required, for 
key risks, to estimate the impact of the risk materialising and probability of the risk 
occurring, attribute the risk with a Red, Amber, Green (“RAG”) rating, identify the risk 
owner, and provide a strategy for risk mitigation. 

Scheme risks will be aggregated and reviewed at the strategic level by the Regional 
Office. 

4.4 Contract Management 

On acceptance of an offer of support the Project Sponsor or other relevant applicant 
will become responsible for overseeing the successful implementation and delivery of 
the scheme. The Regional Office, in liaison with the Accountable Body, will establish a 
system identifying responsibilities for the production and submission of monitoring 
information. 

The Regional Office will be responsible for collating, recording and reporting on the 
progress of the individual schemes as well as the overall Delivery Programme. Where 
schemes do not achieve their agreed milestones for delivery the responsible person 
will be required to provide evidence to demonstrate they are able to get back on 
programme. Schemes which consistently fail to meet projected performance, both 
financial and output, may have funding withdrawn. 

4.5 Equality, Diversity and Wellbeing 

A key requirement for the Wider Investment Fund is to ensure that ‘equality duty’ is 
considered and programmes contribute to a fairer society and pay due regard to 
eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and fostering 
good relations.  

Page 343



  

88 
  
 

The Wider Investment Fund will also support the Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act by playing a role in improving the social, economic, environment and 
cultural well-being of Wales. 

During the application for Wider Investment Funds scheme sponsors will be required to 
provide evidence they are complying with their equality duties and are supporting the 7 
Well-being goals. This will be assessed through an evaluation of the business case 
templates submitted by applicants.   

4.6 Annual Assurance Framework Review 

The Assurance Framework is a ‘live’ document and will be subject to an annual review 
to ensure that material is kept up to date and to provide quality assurance on the 
Assurance Framework itself. 

It is anticipated that the Assurance Framework will continue to evolve and develop 
overtime and will reflect any changes to governance arrangements, aims and 
objectives, economic and social priorities and Candidate Schemes criteria. 

There will be a need for the Regional Cabinet in response to changes and initiatives14 
which take place in the period between annual reviews. The Regional Cabinet will, 
having sought advice if appropriate, instruct interim changes or amendments to be 
made which will then be regularised at the next annual review. 

The Regional Assurance Committee will have a crucial role in both assessing and 
recommending changes to the Assurance Framework.  

4.7 Five Year Gateway Review 

Through the CCR City Deal Agreement, the UK Government committed to providing 
the CCR City Deal with £500m over 20 years, £125m for the Metro Project and £375 
for the CCR Wider Investment Fund. The £375 million is proportioned as years 1-5 at 
£50 million revenue, and years 6-20 at £325 million capital. The full allocation of the 
funding is subject to the CCRCD’s successful completion of the Five Year Gateway 
Review, which will evaluate the impact of the CCRCD’s investment of the funding in the 
five year period up to the Gateway Review. 

Five-yearly Gateway Reviews may be used to assess investments’ impact and 
presently the guidance suggests that economic growth will be the primary metric 
against which impact is assessed. However, more recent reviews recognise the fact 
that local and national economic impact of the Investment Fund might not be 
observable after five years. As a result, the national evaluation panel may use 
appropriate metrics, such as whether investments are being delivered to time and to 
budget. Although definitive assessment criteria have not been provided it is anticipated 
that the Regional Cabinet will have the ability to shape the assessment criteria so that it 
aligns with the objectives set out in its Regional Economic Strategy.  

 

                                                      
14 Examples of such changes or initiatives would include the Welsh Government’s proposal to introduce a National 
Infrastructure Commission, the National Development Framework and the setting up of a Valleys Task Force. 

Page 344



  

89 
  
 

 

Appendix 1 – List of Defined Terms 

Accountable Body The Accountable Body shall, subject to the statutory role of each constituent 
Council’s monitoring officer in relation to their Council, provide for the 
purposes of the City Deal Wider Investment Fund the services of its 
monitoring officer and employ any staff appointed by the CCR Regional 
Cabinet. Subject to the statutory role of each constituent Council’s s151 
officer in relation to their Council, the Accountable Body shall provide for 
the purposes of the CCR Regional Cabinet services of its Chief Financial 
Officer as Treasurer to the CCR Regional Cabinet. 

The Accountable Body shall supply the Regional Office with such support 
services as may reasonably be required, these may include services such as 
financial, legal, audit and other professional and/or technical services; and 
administrative functions such as payroll, preparing statement of accounts, 
VAT returns and liaising with external audit etc. 

Additionality The extent to which something happens as a result of an intervention that 
would not have occurred in the absence of the intervention. 

Advisory/Consultative 
Body 

Identified bodies who work in support of the Regional Cabinet and are able 
to submit Candidate Schemes 

Affordability Affordability refers to both the absolute availability of funding to defray the 
costs of a project (i.e. is there a funding gap?) and the relative cost of the 
project in relation to other interventions that could otherwise be funded 
instead. A project can represent Value for Money, but not be affordable, and 
vice versa. 

Annual Business Plan The business plan to be agreed by the Regional Cabinet containing key 
objectives and delivery priorities and programme. 

Appraisal Criteria The principles and standards by which candidate schemes will be assessed 
and decided. 

Appraisal Framework A supporting structure underlying appraisal. 

Assessment Framework A supporting structure underlying assessment.  

Assessment Process A series of actions or steps taken in order to assess candidate schemes. 

Assurance Framework A set of systems, processes and protocols designed to provide an evidence-
based and independent assessment of the governance, risk management, 
and control processes of an organisation. 

Balanced Objectives A series of objectives designed to ensure that the whole of the City Region 
(in terms of geography and people) benefits from growth. 

Business Case The justification of an activity (strategic, programme, project, operational) 
which typically contains costs, benefits, risks and timescales and against 
which continuing viability is tested. 

Capital Expenditure Expenditure on the acquisition or creation of a tangible fixed asset or 
expenditure which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an existing 
tangible fixed asset. 

Candidate Scheme Appropriate schemes submitted by specific bodies for consideration under 
the Wider Investment Fund. 

Cardiff Capital Region The region encompassing the constituent authorities. 

Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal 

A £1.229 billion fund consisting of a pre-allocated sum of £734m to the 
Metro Project and £495m to the Wider Investment Fund. 

Cardiff Capital Region 
Programme Board 

A group that supports the senior responsible owner to deliver the 
programme. 

Cardiff Capital Region 
Prospectus 

A programme of Candidate Scheme development. 

Page 345



  

90 
  
 

Constituent Authority The 10 authorities of: 

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 
Bridgend County Borough Council; 
Caerphilly County Borough Council; 
The City of Cardiff Council; 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council; 
Monmouthshire County Council; 
Newport City Council; 
Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council; 
Torfaen County Borough Council; and, 
Vale of Glamorgan County Borough Council. 

Delegated Powers The powers delegated by authorities to their representative (Leader) on the 
Regional Cabinet. 

Delivery Programme A flexible structure created to coordinate, direct and oversee the 
implementation of a set of related projects and activities in order to deliver 
outcomes and benefits related to strategic objectives.   

Impact Impact is the result of a particular threat or opportunity actually occurring. 

Implementation Plan The process of programme development by the Regional Cabinet in the first 
instance, outlining it proposals for the first 5 years. 

Joint Working 
Agreement 

A legal agreement to delegate and discharge functions. 

Objective Agreed goals. 

Outcome The benefits and other impacts resulting from specific outputs (e.g. reduced 
journey times, jobs created, reduction in pollution, access to employment 
etc.) 

Output The tangible or intangible product resulting from a planned activity. 

Performance 
Management System 

A system to plan, monitor and review performance i.e. the extent to which 
objectives have been met in relation to quality, time and cost. 

Programme 
Management 

The coordinated organisation, direction and implementation of a prospectus 
of projects and activities that together achieve outcomes and realise 
benefits that are of strategic importance. 

Project A temporary grouping that is created for the purpose of delivering one or 
more products according to a specified business case. 

Project Management  The planning, monitoring and control of all aspects of the project and the 
motivation of all those involved to achieve the project objectives on time 
and to the specified cost, quality and performance. 

Project Manager The person given authority and responsibility to manage the project on a 
day-to day basis to deliver the required products within the constraints 
agreed with the project board. 

Portfolio All the programmes and stand-alone projects being undertaken. 

Regional Assurance 
Committee 

Established to provide an independent scrutiny function over decisions 
made by the Regional Cabinet. 

Regional Cabinet A Joint Committee established by Agreement comprising the Leaders of the 
constituent Councils 

Regional Economic 
Strategy 

A strategy to clearly define the regional economic objectives and include a 
high level programme detailing the targets expected from the City Deal 
during its lifetime and beyond. 

Regional Impact 
Assessment Tool 

The tool will select a broad range of indicators and factors which are known 
to have a positive impact on the targets, detailed in the Regional Economic 
Strategy, and measure a candidate schemes scale of contribution to those 
defined targets and value for money. 

Regional Office Established to provide services to the Regional Cabinet, including 
programme management, financial management of the delivery 
programme, administration, engagement, and communication. 

Regional Transport Established to co-ordinate regional transport planning and investment. 

Page 346



  

91 
  
 

Authority 

Scheme Projects, programmes, investments, funds, loans, grants and contributions. 

Senior Responsible 
Owner (SRO) 

The single individual with overall responsibility for ensuring that a project or 
programme meets its objectives and delivers the projected benefit. 

Sponsor The main driving force behind a programme that provide the investment 
decision and top-level endorsement of the rationale and objectives of the 
programme. 

Stakeholder Any individual, group or organisation that can affect, be affected by, or 
perceive itself to be affected by, an initiative (programme, project, activity, 
risk). 

Sub-committee A committee composed of some members of a larger committee, board, or 
other body and reporting to it. 

Targets Refers to achieving desired outputs or outcomes at a specific end date, 
employing a specific amount or resources to achieve a specific objective. 

Terms of Reference The scope and limitations of an activity, group or board. 

Transition Plan A formal, approved document showing major deliverables, activities and 
resources required in order to transition from implementation to delivery. 

Wider Investment Fund Consisting of £375m of funding provided by the UK Government and £120m 
of committed borrowing by the constituent authorities. 

Value for Money Value for money assessed using three criteria, economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness. 

Page 347



  

92 
  
 

Schedule 9 

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

 

 

 

Page 348



  

93 
  
 

 

 

 

 

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Implementation Plan 

2016-2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 349



  

94 
  
 

 

SRO 
HMT Implementation Champion(s) for Cardiff Capital Region: Paul Shand   
Cardiff Capital Region Implementation Champion(s): Sheila Davies/Sian Workman  
WG Implementation champion for Cardiff Capital Region(s): Tamlyn Rabey/Jo Salway 

Summary 
 

1. Cardiff Capital Region has secured a deal worth £1.2 billion. Over its lifetime, local partners expect the City Deal to deliver 
up to 25,000 new jobs and leverage an additional £4 billion of private sector investment. 
2. This City Deal will provide local partners with the powers and the resources to unlock significant economic growth across the 
Cardiff Capital Region. It is a deal that builds on the region’s sectoral strengths, its high skill base and three successful 
universities. The City Deal also provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to economic growth by: 
improving transport connectivity; increasing skill levels still further; supporting people into work; and giving businesses the 
support they need to innovate and grow. 
3. This deal will also develop stronger and more effective leadership across the Cardiff Capital Region, enabling ten local 
authority leaders to join up decision making, pool resources and work more effectively with local businesses. 
4. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal includes: 
 
£1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s infrastructure. A key priority for investment will be the delivery of the 
South East Wales Metro, including the Valley Lines Electrification programme. 
Connecting the region. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-
ordinate transport planning and investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government. 
Support for innovation and improving the digital network. To develop capabilities in Compound Semiconductor 
Applications the UK Government will invest £50 million to establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The Cardiff Capital region 
will also prioritise investment in research and development and provide support for high value innovative businesses. 
Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment. The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board will 
be created (building on existing arrangements) to ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs of local 
businesses and communities. The Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with the Department of Work 
and Pensions to co-design the future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability and/or long 
term unemployed. 
Supporting enterprise and business growth. A Cardiff Capital Region Business Organisation will be established to ensure 
that there is a single voice for business to work with local authority leaders. 
Housing development and regeneration. The Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital Region commit to a new 
partnership approach to strategic planning. This will ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-
use of property and sites. 

P
age 350



  

95 
  
 

Portfolio 
Leads 

Deal Elements 
 

 
 
 
1.South East 
Wales Metro and 
Connecting the 
CCR 
 
2.Additional 
Flexibilities 
 
 
 
3.Investing in 
Innovation and 
the Digital 
Network 
 
4.Developing a 
Skilled Workforce 
and Tackling 
Unemployment 
 
5.Supporting 
Enterprise and 
Business Growth 
 
 
6.Housing 
Development 
and 
Regeneration 
 
7.Cardiff Capital 

CCRCD Portfolio & Lead 
 
 
 
 
T2.6:Cllr Andrew Morgan and Cllr Huw 
David 
 
 
 
T2.2:Cllr Andrew Morgan and Will Godfrey 
 
 
 
 
T2.3:Cllr Peter Fox and Cllr Anthony Hunt 
 
 
 
 
T2.4:Cllr Debbie Wilcox 
 
 
 
 
T2.4:Cllr Phil Bale 
 
 
 
 
T2.3:Cllr Neil Moore and Cllr Keith 
Reynolds 
 
 
 
T2.1:Cllr Andrew Morgan 

Independent Growth & 
Competitiveness 
Commission 
Recommendation 
 
 
1,2,3,6,8,10 
 
 
 
1,2,3,5,6,8,10,11,12 
 
 
 
 
1,2,3,4,9 
 
 
 
 
1,2,3,4,5,6,7 
 
 
 
 
1,2,3,4,5,6,12,13 
 
 
 
 
11 
 
 
 
 
 

HMT Lead 
 
[To be added 
where 
appropriate] 

WG Lead 
 
 
 
 
Director of 
Transport and 
ICT 
Infrastructure 
(SJ) 
Head of Local 
Government 
Finance (DC) 
Dept.  
 
Director ICT 
Infrastructure 
(RS) 
 
 
Director Skills, 
HE and Lifelong 
Working (HM) 
 
 
Head of 
Economy, Skills, 
Transport 
Strategy Team 
(TB) 
Director of 
Housing & 
Regen (JH) 
 
 
 

P
age 351



  

96 
  
 

Region Cabinet 
 
8.Strategic 
Regional 
Planning 
 
9.Cardiff Capital 
Region 
Economic 
Growth 
Partnership 
 
10.Independent 
Growth and 
Competitiveness 
Commission 
 
11.Delivery, 
Monitoring and 
Evaluation 

 
 
T2.3:Cllr Neil Moore and Cllr Keith 
Reynolds 
 
 
T2.4/P2:Cllr Phil Bale 
 
 
 
 
 
T2.4/P3:Cllr Phil Bale 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Andrew Morgan and Sheila Davies 
 

 
 
13 
 
 
 
8 
 
 
 
 
 
1,2,3,5 
 
 
 
 
13 
 

 
Head of 
Planning (NH) 

 
Deal 
Element: 

1. South East Wales Metro 

Summary: Given the importance of the Metro to the UK Government, Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital Region, a 
proportion of city deal funding is pre-allocated to the delivery of this scheme (which, for the avoidance of doubt, 
such funding shall not include any Council’s Contribution or any obligation under the Joint Working Agreement). 
This pre-allocation focuses on Metro phase 2, the delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification and Modernisation 
programme. This City Deal reconfirms the continued shared ambition of both Governments and the Cardiff Capital 
Region to deliver this Metro scheme. £734 million of the £1.2 billion funding has already been committed to the 
delivery of this scheme. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government commits to involving the Cardiff Capital 
Region in the co-design of the wider Metro scheme and in the procurement of a delivery organisation, subject to an 
agreed MoU.” 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Huw David & Cllr Andrew Morgan 

P
age 352



  

97 
  
 

Supported 
by: 

 Chris Bradshaw/Roger Waters/Clive Campbell/Simon Jones 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.6/1 Develop a Regional Transport Strategy 

 Develop a Transport Strategy for Growth supporting the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal 
1. Review existing local transport plans 
2. Establish a strategic framework and delivery plan for transport in 

the CCR in conjunction with interim strategic land-use proposals 
3. Identify transport aims and objectives that support the delivery of 

the required outputs and outcomes of the City Deal 
4. Establish a regional fora (via the CCRTA) to engage with partners 

and stakeholders and to undertake consultations on strategies and 
programmes 

5. Clarify scope and outputs of phase 2 Metro and undertake GAP 
analysis 

6. Ensure the framework delivers outcomes that align with, enable 
and add value to other CCR and City Deal aspirations and 
priorities 

7. Develop a strategic programme of projects, and identify 
appropriate funding opportunities.  

8. Define requirement of a core CCRTA unit and establish unit to 
develop policies, plans and programmes, monitor delivery and to 
manage data gathering for monitoring and reporting outcomes 

 
 Develop a Regional Transport Plan supporting the Regional 

Spatial Strategy 
1. Building on work undertaken to develop the Interim Strategy and 

using the resources established under the CCRTA develop a 
Statutory Regional Transport Plan.  Scope tasks and timelines for 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jan 17 – Dec 17 

 RTA 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RTA 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 353



  

98 
  
 

completion of document by 2020 
2. Determine how regional transport networks can most effectively 

enable strategic spatial planning aspirations 
3. Identify transport aims and objectives that support the delivery of a 

SDP & CCR/City Deal aspirations 
4. Procure external resource in developing statutory supporting 

studies 
5. Establish information baseline and undertake appropriate public 

and stakeholder engagement 

 
 
 

T2.6/2 Support and Inform Metro Development 

 Work in partnership with Welsh Government to define priorities of the 
South East Wales Metro concept and support its delivery 

 LA officer seconded into TfW procurement team to support 
procurement process and assist definition of Metro to align with and 
complement other City Region aspirations 

 Determine emerging mode type, service patterns and standards, 
scope of Phase 2 

 Identify opportunities for a programme of additional investment (Phase 
3) to deliver wider regional benefits 

 
 
 
 
 
Oct 16 – Mar 22 

 RTA/TfW 

T2.6/3 Pooled Local Transport Network and Resources 

 Establish CCRTA Joint Transport Committee (as sub-committee to 
Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Joint Committee) 

 Establish senior transport officer group 
 Establish joint working partnerships with Welsh Government and 

Transport for Wales with clear roles and responsibilities 
 Establish the CCRTA as the focal point for regional engagement on all 

LA based transport issues and to respond/influence to third party 
proposals/services 

 Identify   and develop joint regional initiatives to provide a strategic 
regional approach to dealing with transport matters 

 Develop and implement a phased approach to regionalising the 

Oct 16 
 
Jan 16 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jan 17 – Mar 20 

 RTA 

P
age 354



  

99 
  
 

delivery of transport services and functions, including appropriate staff, 
accommodation and establishment requirements 

T2.6/4 Integrated Ticketing 

 Explore the creation of a single integrated ticketing platform for public 
transport across the region 

 The CCRTA will work with Welsh Government, Transport for Wales, 
bus and rail operators and partners and stakeholders to develop 
integrated ticketing 

 In conjunction with Welsh Government; an integration initiative will be 
developed via an Integration Alliance Board (IAB) which will be 
established as an alliance to drive forward the integration of public 
transport to ensure a greater proportion of travel demand is 
accommodated by sustainable modes 

 The initiative will be developed in parallel with and complement Phase 
2 of Metro 

 The wider Integration Initiative will include; improving availability of 
information; simplifying ticketing; making connections between 
different steps in the journey, and different modes of transport, easier; 
and providing better interchange facilities 

 
 Specific to ticketing, the CCRTA will work within the IAB to; 
 
 work with the operators to bring forward commercial ticketing products 

that will be accepted on all modes of transport by all operators 
 identify the most practical smart technology which can be introduced 

quickly to enhance the customer experience 
 ensure the capture of travel data is used to promote public transport 

options and provide other business opportunities such as shopping 
vouchers etc. 

  RTA/TfW 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RTA/TfW/IAB 

T2.6/5 Integrated Aviation Routes    

P
age 355



  

100 
  
 

Working in partnership with the Welsh Government to promote the 
development of integrated aviation routes from Cardiff airport and St Athan 
Enterprise Zone, to deliver economic benefit 
 

1. Review current levels of accessibility and connectivity between the 
airport / enterprise zone and the wider region 

2. Identify options to enhance current levels of accessibility and 
connectivity 

3. Develop a prioritised programme of enhancements and identify 
appropriate funding opportunities 

4. Develop and implement enhancements 

 
 
 
 
 
2017-19 
 
2017-19 
2017-19 
 
2020-25 

  

 
Deal 
Element: 

2. Additional Flexibilities 

Summary: In order to deliver the Cardiff Capital Region‘s City Deal commitments and a longer-term economic strategy, the ten 
local authorities have requested greater financial autonomy and flexibility. As part of this City Deal the Welsh 
Government will explore greater financial autonomy and flexibility with the Cardiff Capital Region Regional Cabinet. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Steve Thomas 

Supported 
by: 

 Will Godfrey/WAO/WGT 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.2/4 Financial Flexibility 

 Regional Cabinet to develop a proposal around specifically what they 
are seeking to explore 

 Meeting to explore the potential of business rate income above an 
agreed growth baseline to provide funding for the City Deal 
programme 

 Meeting to explore the ability to levy an infrastructure supplement 

Jan 17 
Jan 17 
Dec 17 

 RO 
 
WG/WGT 
WG/WGT 
 
 

P
age 356



  

101 
  
 

 Meeting to explore creating the option for the local authorities to use 
alternative finance sources 

 Explore removing conditions around some specific Welsh Government 
grants, to allow funding to be pooled at the regional level in areas such 
as school support and interventions that seek to address poverty 

WG/WGT/WAO 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Deal 
Element: 

3. Investing in Innovation and the Digital Network 

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region has an aspiration to extend the “arc of innovation” that runs along the M4 corridor into 
the Cardiff Capital Region. Capitalising on the research strengths of the Region’s three universities, the Cardiff 
Capital Region will designate an “Innovation District” that helps to: create and nurture new high growth businesses; 
increases investment in research and development; and provides the skills that businesses need now and in the 
future, significantly improving the commercialisation of IP. Within the context of an Innovation District, there are a 
set of key and connected interventions that would provide a foundation for investment in innovation growth; grow a 
cluster of international significance around advanced compound semi-conductors; target and try out new ways of 
working in public services through a regional ‘testbed’ piloting developments in open and big data and unlocking the 
economic value of public procurement and building an industrial accommodation strategy for co-working innovation 
hubs. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Peter fox and Cllr Anthony Hunt  

Supported 
by: 

 Paul Matthews/Kellie Bernie/Alison Ward/Matt Lewis 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.5 /2 Developing an Internationally Competitive Compound Semiconductor Cluster 

Accelerate growth of innovation by: 
 Establishing an anchor space in the region for high end production and 

manufacturing in 2017/18 
 Link University-supported R&D & IP creation through to production and 

Acquisition of high 
end factory space 
March 2017 
 

Co-locate high 
end production 
with Catapult 
Centre 

CCRPB/WG 

P
age 357



  

102 
  
 

commercialisation – ensuring full TRL presence across 1-3, 3-6 and 6-
9 

 Connect Centre for Excellence with Manufacturing and Production and 
Catapult Centre 

 Supporting the development of a globally recognised Compound Semi-
conductor cluster through an open innovation system, FDI and 
specialist branding and marketing 

 Supporting high growth connections through creating ‘collision spaces’ 
for semi-conductors, defence, automotive and digital sectors 

Catapult location with 
factory production 
2017/18 
 
Cluster establishment 
begins 2019/20 

 
Access to 
ongoing 
Innovate UK 
support and 
investment 
 
UKRI 
recognises 
region as 
honeypot for 
clustering of CS 
industries 

T2.5 Innovation District, Innovation Investment and Innovate UK 

 Designate an innovation district with a ‘core’ around Cardiff University 
Innovation System and a ‘corridor’ that links growth poles 

 Achieve new package of fiscal rewards and incentives through which 
to target growth and development 

 Target key emergent and existing growth sectors through enhanced 
package of measures to invest in growth of IP creation and 
commercialisation 

 Develop and match fund an Innovation Investment Fund targeted at 
the digital growth sector  

 Improve subscription rate to Innovate UK funds and Investment 
streams Invest  

 Inform Innovate UK Industrial Growth Strategy 
 Site the National Innovation Body for Wales within the Innovation 

District programmes and activities 
 Work with WG to support, consolidate and promote innovation through 

a new National Innovation Body 
 

2018-33 
 
2019/20 
 
2020 onwards 
 
2019 
 
2017/18 onwards 
January 2017 
2018 
2018 

Provide powers 
to designate an 
Innovation 
District 
Agree package 
of fiscal 
rewards and 
incentives 
 
Ensure greater 
engagement in 
Wales with 
Innovate’s 
country Director 
and direct 
engagement in 
the IGS 
 
Agreement to 

CCRPB/WG 

P
age 358



  

103 
  
 

locate new NIB 
within the 
region and 
designated 
Innovation 
District 

T2.5/4 Public Services Testbed, Digital Development and Open Data 

 Create testbed to try, test and develop new approaches to 
public service delivering – inverting notion of a ‘bloated’ and 
problem public sector into an opportunity. This would focus 
upon solving the ‘wicked problems’ in public services and will 
include: 

o Development of data science campus for big data analytics 
o Open data standard for the region. Open data programme and 

strategy that targets useable apps based development; improves 
accountability and adds civic value 

o Unlock the economic value of public procurement and see councils 
play a more significant role in market creation 

o Drive forward new solutions to problems in social care, education, 
customer care, energy and asset optimisation and localism and 
service devolution 

 Build upon the success and scale of the Software Academy through 
creation of a Digital Services Academy – targeting cyber, defence and 
social media alongside software development 

 Explore scope for direct international connectivity 
 Add value to existing 4G and 5G technologies – making the region a 

zone for uber-fast connectivity and a testbed for new technologies 
 Increase WIFI capacity across public transport, opening opportunities 

for data portals and e-citizenship 
 Implement ‘innovation’ and ‘digital’ as a theme across all areas, 

impacting the future-proofing of new public transport, smart live-work 

Open data strategy 
and licence for region 
2018 
 
Data analytics 
campus 2020 
 
Public services 
testbed in operation 
for 2021 
 
Digital academy 
expansion 2019 
 
Cyber academy 
established 2020 
 

Support from all 
Government 
agencies in 
region to sign 
up to approach 
– ONS, IPO, 
and Companies 
House etc. 
 
Innovate UK 
and H20/20 
support for 
Public Services 
Testbed 
 

CCRPB/WG 

P
age 359



  

104 
  
 

housing, smart region development (urban-rural-valley) and ensuring 
our young people are equipped and skilled to operate in the 
economies of the future. 

T2.5/4 Industrial Accommodation Strategy & Entrepreneurship 

 Re-invigorate and adapt the National Entrepreneurship Strategy for the 
region 

 Engage in and implement the findings and recommendations of REAP 
Action Plan 

 Create ‘maker/coding/co-working’ spaces to enable the development 
of appropriate business development, scale-up and creative co-
working environments. 

2020 
2018 onwards for 
REAP 
recommendations 
First co-working 
space live in 2020 
 

Support for 
implementation 
of REAP 
 
Development of 
regional ES 
supported by 
WG 
 
New 
arrangements 
in place for 
liaison and 
engagement 
with UKRI 

CCRPB/WG 

 

Deal 
Element: 

4. Developing a Skilled Workforce and Tackling Unemployment 

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board will be created (building on existing arrangements) to 
ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs of local businesses and communities. The 
Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to co-
design the future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability and/or long term 
unemployed. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Debbie Wilcox  

Supported  Stephen Gillingham/Richard Crook 

P
age 360



  

105 
  
 

by: 
N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.4/1 DWP Work & Health 

 Co-design of future employment support 
 Award of framework contracts  
 Agreement of CCRCD involvement in mini framework awards 
 Agreement of CCRCD involvement in the CPA governance of the 

contract performance 

Nov 17 Engagement 
with DWP 

RC/DWP 

T2.4/2 Reducing Unemployment 

 Increase number of people moving into work 
 A regional approach for assessment and support using the 5 step 

Model 
 The integration of the All Age Employability Strategy into delivery 
 Ensuring the provision of skills for support employability 
 The preparation of a CCRCD Employability strategy to provide the 

context to shape existing provision, to direct new provision and 
measure performance will cover increasing employability and reducing 
UE.  The strategy will be produced for October 2017 with the delivery 
being ongoing 

Oct 17  LSKIP 

T2.4/3 Increasing Employability 

 Provide people with skills for employability 
 Increase number of people moving into work 
 A regional approach for assessment and support using the 5 step 

Model 
 The integration of the All Age Employability Strategy into delivery 
 Ensuring the provision of skills for support employability 
 The preparation of a CCRCD Employability strategy to provide the 

context to shape existing provision, to direct new provision and 

Oct 17  LSKIP 

P
age 361



  

106 
  
 

measure performance will cover increasing employability and reducing 
UE.  The strategy will be produced for October 2017 with the delivery 
being ongoing 

T2.4/4 Apprenticeship Programme 

 Increase the number of people undertaking apprenticeships 
 The programme will need to include the Programme for Government 

intention of delivering 100,000 apprenticeships, the current supply and 
demand, and opportunity to develop a tailored CCRCD response.  An 
initial programme will be developed for March 2017 with full 
programme finalised for October 2017 in line with the Employability 
Strategy 

Oct 17  LSKIP 

T2.4/P1 Social Clauses Review 

 Task and Finish review of best practice to establish a sustainable 
approach to procurement 

June 17  LSKIP 

T2.4/P1 Business Cluster (Skills) Collaboration 

 Structural engagement with business clusters to ensure skills needs 
are met 

June 17  LSKIP 

T2.4/P1 Virtual Academies 

 Development of the model of how the VA would operate in response to 
opportunity 

June 17  LSKIP 

T2.5/4Software Academy 

 The Digital Network 
 Support the Software Academy and related programmes 
 Developing a cyber-security academy 
 Developing proposals for better use of data 
 Exploring the case for direct International connectivity 
 Mobile infrastructure across 4G and 5G technologies that add value to 

existing provision 
 Increasing Wi-Fi across public transport  

June 17  LSKIP 

P
age 362



  

107 
  
 

 Digital solutions to big problems   
 

Deal 
Element: 

5. Supporting Enterprise and Business Growth 

Summary: A Cardiff Capital Region Business organisation will be established to ensure that there is a single voice for 
business to work with local authority leaders. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Peter Fox & Cllr Anthony Hunt 

Supported 
by: 

 Paul Matthews/Kellie Bernie/Alison Ward/Matt Lewis/Helen Davies/Ann Beynon 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.5/P1 Creating the Regional Business Organisation 

 Establish the board   HD/AB 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.5/5 Integrated Delivery Unit 

 
 Create a Regional integrated Delivery unit to provide Business Support 
 Align local resources to create the unit to deliver regionally significant 

aspects of economic development including business development; 
marketing; tourism; and inward investment 

 Work with Welsh Government to ensure complementarity 
 Welsh Government to ensure greater levels of visibility with the Welsh 

Government’s own oversees offices  

  
 
 
 
 
WG oversees 
offices/networks 

 
RO 
RO 
 
RO 
RO 

 

P
age 363



  

108 
  
 

Deal 
Element: 

6. Housing Development and Regeneration 

Summary: The Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital Region commit to a new partnership approach to strategic planning. 
This will ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-use of property and sites. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Moore & Cllr Reynolds 

Supported 
by: 

 Chris Burns/Christina Harrhy/Rob Thomas/Marcus Goldsworthy/Jane Cook 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.3/3 Development of a CCRCD Housing Fund 

 Evidence base of reasons why housing sites are stalled in SE Wales 
 Development of toolkit of interventions to stimulate housing 

development 
 Complete decision tree to identify the right tools for particular site 

circumstances 
 Establish non-financial mechanisms e.g. facilitating landowners; CPO 

etc. 
 Establish fund criteria to ensure sites supported deliver economic 

benefit 
 Establish fund administration and management arrangements 
 Establish evaluation mechanism 
 Launch fund 

2017-2020  JC 
 

T2.3/3 Work with Welsh Government to ensure that housing programmes and initiatives align 

 Scope WG housing activity 

 Share City Deal Activity  

 Align work streams 

2017-2020  JC 

T2.3/3 Work with public and private housing providers to increase the delivery and quality of housing 

P
age 364



  

109 
  
 

 Establish regional fora 

 Lead task and finish activity 
 Explore innovative housing delivery partnerships 

2017-2020  JC 

T2.3/3 Work with public and private housing providers to increase the delivery and quality of housing 

 Establish regional fora 

 Lead task and finish activity 
 Explore innovative housing delivery partnerships 

2017-2020  JC 

T2.3/3 Strategic Plan for Regional Housing delivery, including Market Assessment 

T2.3/1 Coordinate with transport; skills; planning and other CCRCD work streams 

T2.3/1 Strategic approach to regeneration & infrastructure provision 

 Develop a process to capture review and assess infrastructure and 
regeneration projects which accord with City Deal principles and 
ensure all submitted schemes and programmes undergo the 
assessment process and only those meeting the assessment 
criteria are progressed. 

 Develop a framework based on supporting information provided by 
the transport, housing, innovation and business support and skill 
strand to promote innovative infrastructure, regeneration and 
economic growth projects in collaboration and/or in partnership in 
order to maximise leverage from the private and public sectors; 

 Facilitate the development of schemes with partners including 
Welsh Government which together have the potential to provide 
region wide benefits; 

 Develop a program of support for the three Enterprise Zones within 
the region in conjunction with Welsh Government and review the 
boundaries and roles of the Zones going forward 

 The development of further innovative start-up and co-working 
space in strategic locations to serve the region along with the 
follow-on space innovative business need to grow. 

 Targeted investment for town centre regeneration to ensure our 

April 2017 
 
 
 
April 2017-2020 
 
 
 
April 2017-2020 
 
April 2017-2020 
 
April 2017-2020 
 
 
April 2017-2020 
 
 
April 2017-2020 
 
April 2017-2020 

 MG 

P
age 365



  

110 
  
 

towns develop and thrive into the 21st century  
 The Development of a regeneration and infrastructure fund to 

support projects which deliver crosscutting regional benefits. 
 Use the outcomes of the assessment process and City Deal 

Regional Cabinet resolutions to prepare a regional programme of 
implementation based on available funding; 

 Ensure that the regional programme of implementation is 
monitored and updated based on revised funding and priorities and 
ensures that project implementation maximises added value 
benefits and sustainability principles.  

 Tourism development/investment – Development of a region wide 
destination investment  plan 

 
April 2017-2020 
 
 
April 2017-2020 
 

 

Deal 
Element: 

7. Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet 

Summary: This City Deal will act as a catalyst to develop stronger and more effective leadership across the Cardiff Capital 
Region, enabling ten local authority leaders to join up decision making, pool resources and work more effectively 
with local businesses.  
 
Utilising the existing statutory framework, the ten local authorities will establish a Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. 
The Cabinet will have the status of a Joint Committee and will be the ultimate decision making body in the 
governance structure.  
The establishment of a Capital Region Cabinet will be the first step in the development of greater city-region 
governance across the Cardiff Capital Region. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Toomey 

Supported 
by: 

 
 Gareth Chapman/Liz Weale/Pincent Mason 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

P
age 366



  

111 
  
 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.2/1 Agreement and Governance Structure 

 A comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the 
participating authorities which will a) bind and commit each individual 
local authority and any successor authority (in the event of local 
government re-organisation) for such duration as is necessary to 
deliver the City Deal; and b) allow for the possibility of additional 
functions and powers to be devolved to the Cabinet in the future 

Jan 17  GC 

T2.2/2 Governance Development 

 The Cardiff Capital Region commit to a) reviewing the City Deal 
governance and exploring the future options for moving to even 
stronger and effective governance that is legally binding; and b) 
consulting the Welsh Government and the UK Government to identify 
actions needed to take forward future governance options 

  GC 

 

Deal 
Element: 

8. Strategic Regional Planning 

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region, in partnership with the Welsh Government, will commit to the creation of an integrated 
strategic development plan that incorporates housing and employment land-use with wider transport plans. The 
strategic plan will provide the underpinning blue-print for development across the city-region. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Moore & Cllr Reynolds 

Supported 
by: 

 Chris Burns/Christina Harrhy/Rob Thomas 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.4/4 Regional Strategic Planning 

P
age 367



  

112 
  
 

 Create an Integrated Strategic Development Plan   RT/CH 

 

Deal 
Element: 

9. Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership 

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership will be established as a key advisory body for the 
development of the Regional Economic Strategy as well as decisions relating to the City Deal Wider Investment 
Fund. The Partnership will comprise representatives of the key economic actors and agents of the city-region, 
including business, higher education, local government, the third sector and employee organisations.  
In addition to being an advisory body for the Regional Economic Strategy,  and providing advice on the Wider 
Investment Fund, the Partnership will also provide an advocacy role in promoting the city-region, which includes 
supporting the marketing of the city-region and inward investment activities, as well as making representations on 
behalf of the city-region. In undertaking these activities the Partnership will also monitor and make 
recommendations to the Regional Cabinet with regard to City Deal implementation; and will provide advice on 
investment decisions. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Bale 

Supported 
by: 

 Paul Orders 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 
 
Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 

of Government 
Owner 
 

T2.4 Establish the Regional Economic Growth Partnership (REGP) 

 Develop detailed proposals for the REGP and report back to Joint 
Cabinet 

 Finalise proposals to align with legislation and the wider city deal 
requirements around governance and the wider investment fund 
assurance framework 

 Identify an individual to support the Nolan process in appointing a chair 
 Identify representative groups from the business community and 

2016 
Early 2017 
 
Early 2017 
Early 2017 
 
Spring 2017 

 PO 

P
age 368



  

113 
  
 

employee groups, inviting Higher Education institutions to propose a 
representative and establish interim board 

 Establish full REGP 

 

Deal 
Element: 

10. Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission 

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region will establish an independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission to support the 
city region’s economic and investment strategy. It will review activities related to the City Deal as well as wider 
economic and growth interventions. 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Bale 

Supported 
by: 

 Paul Orders 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.4/P3 Review of evidence 

 Establish terms of reference and programme June 2016 
 Launch event June 2016 
 Commence programme, beginning with a review of evidence about the 

functional economy area.  
 Deliver a detailed economic analysis of the city-region 
 Findings launched December 2016 

2015/16  GC 

Deal 
Element: 

11. Delivery, Monitoring and Evaluation 

Summary: Cardiff Capital Region will work with the UK Government and the Welsh Government to develop an agreed 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation plan in advance of implementation, which sets out the proposed 
approach delivery and evaluating the impact of delivery. 

P
age 369



  

114 
  
 

Portfolio 
Lead: 

 Cllr Morgan 

Supported 
by: 

 Sheila Davies/Sian Workman 

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020 

Key milestones/tasks  Timescales Requirements 
of Government 

Owner 
 

T2.1 Establish the Regional Office (RO) 

 Establish the joint programme management team 
 Establish the regional delivery team 
 Develop and deploy over-arching programme monitoring tools and 

processes 
 Introduce individual evaluation arrangements covering each portfolio 

area referenced  
 Produce the 2017/18 Business Plan 

Jan 17 Support in the 
development of 
the framework  

SD/SW 
SW 
SW 
 
SD/SW 

T2.1 Establish a Comprehensive Transition Programme 

 A comprehensive programme of work to ensure a seamless transition 
to city deal arrangements 

 Ensure that appropriate arrangements are put in place to support the 
CCRCD including accommodation, staff resources, HR support, 
financial systems and audit arrangements and IT systems 

 Effective ‘internal’ communication will be required  

Jan 17 Support in the 
development of 
the framework  

SW 
 
SW/WGT/UKG 
 
 
SW 

T2.1 Agree and Implement a Review and Reporting Timetable 

 A comprehensive timetable  to ensure requisite multilateral review and 
reporting arrangements are met by all partners 

 Establish a clear mechanism for refreshing the city-region 
implementation plan (it is quite possible that named individuals may 
change as the result of elections, and we anticipate that some 
milestones can only be developed or refined following initial 
exploratory work) and agreeing clear governance over how revisions 

Jan 17 Support in the 
development of 
the timetable 
 
Welsh 
Government 
City Deal 

SW/WGT/UKG 
 
SW 

P
age 370



  

115 
  
 

are approved Overview Board 

 
 

Consider: Key Stakeholder list (who is involved in delivery, who is the accountable officer); Coms (who, when, how); Budget / costs (who is 
paying); Resource implications (how much effort (FTE and time) to complete each action; Interdependencies (which actions can’t commence 
until others have been completed) and Governance (who will sign off the plan, and who will monitor progress and when). 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 371



  

116 
  
 

Schedule 10 

Page 372



  

117 
  
 

 

The Common Seal of BLAENAU GWENT ) 

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL was  ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

The Common Seal of BRIDGEND COUNTY ) 

BOROUGH COUNCIL was   ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of CAERPHILLY COUNTY ) 

BOROUGH COUNCIL was   ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of THE COUNTY  ) 

COUNCIL OF THE CITY & COUNTY OF ) 

CARDIFF was hereunto affixed in the  ) 

presence of:-     ) 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of MERTHYR TYDFIL ) 

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL was  ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

Page 373



  

118 
  
 

The Common Seal of MONMOUTHSHIRE ) 

COUNTY COUNCIL was   ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of NEWPORT  ) 

CITY COUNCIL was   ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of RHONDDA CYNON  ) 

TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL was ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of TORFAEN COUNTY ) 

BOROUGH COUNCIL was   ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

 

The Common Seal of THE VALE OF  ) 

GLAMORGAN COUNCIL was   ) 

hereunto affixed in the presence of:-  ) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 374



Appendix A

80872181.2\dd04

DATED 2017

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF 
CARDIFF

(5) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(6) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

(7) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL

(8) RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(9) TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(10) THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL

JOINT WORKING AGREEMENT
in relation to the delivery of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal

Page 375



Appendix A

80872181.2\dd04

CONTENTS

Clause

1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 5

2 COMMENCEMENT, DURATION AND TERMINATION 10

3 PRINCIPLES AND KEY OBJECTIVES 11

4 THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL AS THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY 13

5 DUTIES OF THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY 13

6 DUTIES OF THE OTHER COUNCILS 14

8 CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION WIDER INVESTMENT FUND(S) 17

9 DECISION MAKING 17

10 JOINT COMMITTEE 18

11 PROGRAMME BOARD AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR 20

12 COMMITMENT OF THE COUNCILS AND CONTRIBUTIONS 21

13 MITIGATION 26

14 LIABILITY OF THE COUNCILS 26

15 WITHDRAWAL 27

16 CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION 29

17 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 30

18 CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS 30

19 CONTRACTS (THIRD PARTY RIGHTS) 31

20 DISPUTE RESOLUTION 31

21 DATA PROTECTION 32

22 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENT INFORMATION 34

23 NOTICES 34

24 GOVERNING LAW 35

25 ASSIGNMENTS 35

26 WAIVER 35

Page 376



Appendix A

80872181.2\dd04

27 ENTIRE AGREEMENT 35

28 COUNTERPARTS 36

29 RELATIONSHIP OF COUNCILS 36

30 STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES 36

SCHEDULE 1 - DELEGATIONS POLICY 37

Schedule 2- TERMS OF REFERENCE 41

PART 1 - JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE 41

PART 2 - PROGRAMME BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 43

SCHEDULE 3 - COUNCILS' AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR'S DETAILS 44

SCHEDULE 4 – HEADS OF EXPENDITURE 45

SCHEDULE 5 – ACCOUNTING PERIODS 46

SCHEDULE 6 – LIABILITY REPORT 47

SCHEDULE 7 - CITY DEAL 48

SCHEDULE 8 - ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 62

SCHEDULE 9 - IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 95

Page 377



80872181.2\dd04 4

THIS AGREEMENT is made on 2017

BETWEEN

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Municipal Offices, Civic 
Centre, Ebbw Vale, Gwent, NP23 6XB ("Blaenau Gwent Council");

(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB ("Bridgend Council");

(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Penallta House, Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed, CF82 7PG ("Caerphilly Council");

(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF of County Hall, 
Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff, CF10 4UW (the "City of Cardiff Council");

(5) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN ("Merthyr Tydfil Council");

(6) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL of County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk, NP15 
1GA ("Monmouthshire Council");

(7) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Newport, NP20 4UR ("Newport 
Council"); 

(8) RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of The Pavilions, 
Cambrian Park,  Clydach Vale, Tonypandy,  CF40 2XX ("Rhondda Cynon Taff 
Council");

(9)  TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Pontypool, NP4 6YB 
("Torfaen Council"); and

(10) THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL of Civic Offices, Holton Road, Barry, CF63 
4RU ("Vale of Glamorgan"),

(together referred to as "the Councils" and individually as a "Council")

BACKGROUND

(A) The Councils have agreed to work together and enter into this Agreement to formalise 
their respective roles and responsibilities in order to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the South East Wales Metro Scheme is being financed and procured directly by 
the Welsh Government outside of this Agreement and the Councils are not assuming 
any obligations or liabilities whatsoever in respect of the South East Wales Metro 
Scheme. 

(B) The Councils have agreed to create a Joint Committee with a robust governance 
arrangement that will be responsible for overseeing and co-ordinating the discharge of 
the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal. The Joint Committee shall, 
amongst other matters, be responsible for the establishment of and management of 
the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund(s) and delivery of key projects, in 
each case, as determined by the Joint Committee from time to time. 

(C) The Councils have agreed to appoint the City of Cardiff Council to act as the 
Accountable Body for and on behalf of the Councils and to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this 
Agreement.  

Page 378



80872181.2\dd04 5

(D) The Councils wish to enter into this Agreement and deliver the City Deal pursuant to 
the powers conferred on them by Sections 101, 102, 111 and 113 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, Section 1 of the Local Authority (Goods & Services) Act 1970, 
Section 25 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 1994, Section 2, 19 and 20 of the 
Local Government Act 2000, Section 9 of the Local Government Wales Measure 2009 
and all other enabling powers now vested in the Councils.

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

1.1 In this Agreement and the Recitals, unless, the context otherwise requires the 
following terms shall have the meaning given to them below:-

"Accountable Body" means the Council appointed under Clause 4 
(Accountable Body) who shall be responsible for 
receiving and spending funds for and on behalf of the 
Councils in relation to the City Deal in accordance 
with the funding condition relating thereto and whose 
duties are set out under Clause 5 (Duties of the 
Accountable Body)

"Accounting Period" means those periods set out in Schedule 6 
(Accounting Periods) as may be amended from time 
to time in accordance with the terms of this 
Agreement

"Affordability Envelope" means the overall costs and investment by each 
Council pursuant to their proportion of the Councils' 
Contribution under this Agreement over the 25 (twenty 
five) year evaluation period, which shall not exceed in 
aggregate £210,800,000 (two hundred and ten million 
eight hundred thousand pounds) and shall include, 
without limitation, all interest, inflation and UK 
Government cost to carry and shall be updated and 
will be reflected within the terms of the JWA Business 
Plan (as part of its approval by the Councils) to 
include, amongst other matters, the annual spend 
profile for each Council

"Annual Budget" means the approved annual budget of the 
Accountable Body held for and on behalf of the 
Councils and as set out in Clause 12.4 (Annual 
Budget) in relation to the payment of any Joint 
Committee Costs in accordance with this Agreement

"Annual Business Plan" means each business plan referred to in Clause 7.3 
(Annual Business Plans) in relation to the annual 
spend for approved project(s) to be implemented in 
that Accounting Period in relation to the City Deal (and 
the manner and form of such implementation), as the 
same may be prepared, varied or updated from time 
to time in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement

"Assurance Framework" means the Councils' systems, processes and 
protocols to assess the governance, risk management 
and control processes of the Councils for the 
discharge of their obligations in relation to the City 
Deal attached at Schedule 8  (Assurance Framework) 
of this Agreement  

Page 379



80872181.2\dd04 6

"Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or a 
public or bank holiday in England and/or Wales

"Cardiff Capital Region" comprises of the ten administrative areas of Blaenau 
Gwent Council, Bridgend Council, Caerphilly Council, 
the City of Cardiff Council, Merthyr Tydfil Council, 
Monmouthshire Council, Newport Council, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff Council, Torfaen Council and the Vale of 
Glamorgan Council

"Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund"

means the fund or funds to be established by the 
Councils from time to time in accordance with the 
terms of this Agreement in pursuance of the City Deal 
objectives 

"CDEL" means capital departmental expenditure limits

"CEDR" means the Centre for Dispute Resolution

"City Deal" means the agreement between the Welsh 
Government, the UK Government and the Councils 
dated 15 March 2016 and appended at Schedule 7 
(City Deal) to this Agreement

"Commencement Date" means the date of this Agreement

"Conditions Longstop Date" means as defined in Clause 2.3 (Condition 
Subsequent)

"Confidential Information" all know-how and other information whether 
commercial, financial, technical or otherwise relating 
to the business, affairs or methods of all or any 
Council, which is contained in or discernible in any 
form whatsoever (including without limitation software, 
data, drawings, films, documents and 
computer-readable media) whether or not marked or 
designated as confidential or proprietary or which is 
disclosed orally or by demonstration and which is 
described at the time of disclosure as confidential or is 
clearly so from its content or the context of disclosure

"Council Contribution" means the funding provided by the Councils as set 
out in Clause 12.5.1(b) (Council Contribution)

"Decision Period" means the period of twenty (20) Business Days from 
the date of the Liability Report or such other time as is 
unanimously agreed by all the Councils

"DPA" means the Data Protection Act 1998

"Gateway Review" means the five (5) yearly examination of programmes 
and projects by HMT to assess the progress and 
likelihood of the Councils' successful delivery of the 
City Deal (excluding the South East Wales Metro 
Scheme)

"HMT" means Her Majesty's Treasury, a ministerial 
department of the UK Government

Page 380



80872181.2\dd04 7

"HMT Contribution" means the funding provided by HMT as set out in 
Clause 12.5.2 (HMT Contribution)

"HMT Funding Conditions" means as defined in Clause 12.5.2 (HMT 
Contribution)

"Implementation Plan" means the agreed implementation plan setting out, 
amongst other things, the process for agreeing and 
prioritising projects to be procured pursuant to the City 
Deal and as attached at  Schedule 9 (Implementation 
Plan) to this Agreement

"Intellectual Property" any and all patents, trade marks, trade names, 
copyright, moral rights, rights in design, rights in 
databases, know-how and all or other intellectual 
property rights whether or not registered or capable of 
registration and whether subsisting in the United 
Kingdom or any other part of the world together with 
all or any goodwill relating to them and the right to 
apply for registration of them

"Internal Costs" means as defined in paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 4 
(Heads of Expenditure) (and shall, for the avoidance 
of doubt, not include any revenue costs or capital 
investment relating to the implementation of any 
project pursuant to an Annual Business Plan) and 
excluding Joint Committee Costs

"IP Material" the Intellectual Property in the Material

"Joint Committee" means the joint committee set up by the Councils 
pursuant to Clause 10 (Joint Committee) of this 
Agreement

"Joint Committee Costs" means as defined in paragraph 1.2 of Schedule 4 
(Heads of Expenditure) (and shall, for the 
avoidance of doubt, not include any revenue costs 
or capital investment relating to the implementation 
of any project pursuant to an Annual Business 
Plan) and excluding any Internal Costs (save for 
the Internal Costs of the Accountable Body which 
shall be accounted for as Joint Committee Costs)

"Joint Committee Meeting" means a meeting of the Joint Committee duly 
convened in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint 
Committee)

Page 381



80872181.2\dd04 8

"JWA Business Plan" means the strategy which defines the regional 
objectives including the high level programme to be 
agreed as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils" which 
shall include, amongst other matters, (i) the indicative 
investment programme for the "Programme Themes" 
(as such Programme Themes are defined under the 
Implementation Plan) and any agreed strategic 
projects together with the indicative spend profile for 
the wider investment fund (comprising of the HMT 
Contribution and the Council Contribution in the 
aggregate sum of £495,000,000 (four hundred and 
ninety-five million) in relation thereto and (ii) the 
matters set out in Clause 7.1.4 (JWA Business Plan), 
in order to discharge the Councils' obligations in 
relation to the City Deal 

"Liability  Report" means a report prepared by the Accountable Body (or 
such other Council nominated under Clause 15.3 
(Withdrawal)) acting reasonably setting out the 
financial and resource commitments of the relevant 
Council under Clause 15 (Withdrawal) or 16 
(Consequences of Termination) including the items 
set out in Schedule 6 (Liability Report)

"Local Authority" a principal council (as defined in Section 270 of the 
Local Government Act 1972) or any body of 
government in Wales established as a successor of a 
principal councils

"Lock In Period" means the period expiring on the later of:

(a) five (5) years from the Commencement Date; 
and

(b) the completion of HMT's first five (5) year 
Gateway Review

"Material" all data, text, graphics, images and other materials or 
documents created, used or supplied by a Council in 
connection with this Agreement unless before the first 
use or supply, the Council notifies the other Councils 
that the data, text supplied is not to be covered by this 
definition

"Personal Data" means the personal data as defined in the DPA

"Programme Board" means as defined in Clause 11.1.1 (Programme 
Board and Regional Programme Director)

"Programme Themes" shall have the meaning given to it under the 
Implementation Plan 

"Proportionate Basis" means the relevant proportion for each Council by 
reference to their respective percentage contribution 
as set out in Clause 12.5.3 (Councils' Contribution)

"RDEL" means resource departmental expenditure limits 

Page 382



80872181.2\dd04 9

"Regional Programme 
Director"

means the person so appointed from time to time by 
the Joint Committee to represent the interests of all 
the Councils in respect of their operational 
requirements for the City Deal and who shall be called 
the "Regional Programme Director" working under the 
direction of the Joint Committee and within the scope 
of delegation set out in Schedule 1 (Delegations 
Policy) (provided that any interim arrangements for 
the recruitment and/or employment of such Regional 
Programme Director agreed prior to the date of this 
Agreement shall continue until such time as the 
Accountable Body is able to effect such appointment)

"South East Wales Metro 
Scheme"

means:-

(a) the delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification 
Programme; and

(b) the wider Metro Scheme,

both of which are more particularly defined in Section 
4 (South East Wales Metro) of the City Deal

"Spending Review" means the announcement of the Spring Budget 2017 
by HMT scheduled to be on Wednesday 8 March 
2017

"Translation Costs" means costs incurred by the Accountable Body in 
complying with any applicable legislation relating to its 
obligations under this Agreement

1.2 Interpretation

In this Agreement, except where the context otherwise requires:-

1.2.1 the singular includes the plural and vice versa;

1.2.2 a reference to any clause, sub-clause, paragraph, Schedule, recital or annex 
is, except where expressly stated to the contrary, a reference to such clause, 
sub-clause, paragraph, schedule, recital or annex of and to this Agreement;

1.2.3 any reference to this Agreement or to any other document shall include any 
permitted variation, amendment or supplement to such document;

1.2.4 any reference to legislation shall be construed as a reference to any 
legislation as amended, replaced, consolidated or re-enacted;

1.2.5 a reference to a public organisation (to include, for the avoidance of doubt, 
any Council) shall be deemed to include a reference to any successor to 
such public organisation or any organisation or entity which has taken over 
either or both functions and responsibilities of such public organisation;

1.2.6 a reference to a person includes firms, partnerships and corporations and 
their successors and permitted assignees or transferees;

1.2.7 the schedule, clause, sub-clause and (where provided) paragraph headings 
and captions in the body of this Agreement do not form part of this 
Agreement and shall not be taken into account in its construction or 
interpretation;

Page 383



80872181.2\dd04 10

1.2.8 words preceding "include", "includes", "including" and "included" shall be 
construed without limitation by the words which follow those words; and

1.2.9 any reference to the title of an officer or any of the Councils shall include any 
person holding such office from time to time by the same or any title 
substituted thereafter or such other officer of the relevant Council as that 
Council may from time to time appoint to carry out the duties of the officer 
referred to.

1.3 Schedules

The Schedules to this Agreement form part of this Agreement, and in the event of any 
conflict between the body of the Agreement and the Schedules then the body of the 
Agreement shall prevail’

2. COMMENCEMENT, DURATION AND TERMINATION

2.1 Duration of the Agreement

This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect from the Commencement Date 
until the earlier of the following dates:-

2.1.1 the condition subsequent set out in Clause 2.3 (Condition Subsequent) are 
not satisfied or otherwise waived in writing by the Councils as a "Joint 
Committee Matter" with the prior agreement of the Accountable Body (in 
consultation with the other Councils) prior to the Conditions Longstop Date;

2.1.2 all the Councils agree in writing to its termination; or

2.1.3 there is only one (1) remaining Council who has not withdrawn from this 
Agreement in accordance with Clause 15 (Withdrawal).

2.2 Termination

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies, this Agreement may be terminated 
in relation to any Council ("Defaulter") by the other Councils ("Non-Defaulting 
Councils") acting unanimously in giving written notice to the Defaulter effective on 
receipt where the Defaulter materially breaches any of the provisions of this 
Agreement and in the case of a breach capable of remedy fails to remedy the same 
within thirty (30) Business Days (or such other period as agreed by the Non-Defaulting 
Councils) of being notified of each breach in writing by the Non-Defaulting Councils 
and being required to remedy the same.

2.3 Condition Subsequent

The Councils shall consider and if deemed appropriate approve the terms of any 
Welsh Government funding conditions relating to the HMT Contribution as a "Joint 
Committee Matter" within six (6) months of the Commencement Date or by such other 
date as agreed by the Councils (with any such extension to be approved as a "Joint 
Committee Matter") with the prior agreement of the Accountable Body (in consultation 
with the other Councils) to the terms of any such Welsh Government funding 
conditions ("Conditions Longstop Date").

2.4 Initial Project Investments

The Parties agree and acknowledge that,  subject to the condition subsequent set out 
in Clause 2.3  being satisfied, then notwithstanding  the requirement for the Councils 
to agree and adopt the JWA Business Plan, the Joint Committee shall with effect from 
the date of this Agreement be authorised to commit up to £50,000,000 (fifty million 
pounds) of the HMT Contribution during the 12 month period following the date of this 

Page 384



80872181.2\dd04 11

Agreement (or such additional period as agreed by the Councils as a Joint Committee 
Matter) for and on behalf of the Councils on projects approved pursuant to the terms 
of the Assurance Framework and the Annual Business Plan.

3. PRINCIPLES AND KEY OBJECTIVES

3.1 The Councils intend this Agreement to be legally binding.

3.2 The Councils agree to work together to discharge the Councils' obligations in relation 
to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this Agreement.

3.3 Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, the Councils agree that they shall 
conduct their relationship in accordance with the objectives and principles set out 
below and shall agree the number and scope of projects to be developed in order to 
provide an overall regional benefit to the Cardiff Capital Region.   

3.4 Objectives

Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, the Councils agree that they will 
conduct their relationship in accordance with the following objectives:-

3.4.1 Connecting the Cardiff Capital Region, its communities, businesses, jobs, 
facilities and services;

3.4.2 Investing in innovation and the digital network, creating and nurturing 
new high growth businesses, increasing investment in research and 
development, and providing the skills that businesses need now and in the 
future;

3.4.3 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment, improving 
the co-ordination of skills and employment support, increasing the number of 
people moving into work, increasing the number of people undertaking an 
apprenticeship or other relevant skills provision, and giving people the skills 
they need;

3.4.4 Supporting enterprise and business growth, improving the co-ordination 
of local and national business support arrangements, identifying barriers to 
growth, supporting spatial and sectoral priorities and targeting emerging 
opportunities for driving economic performance;

3.4.5 Housing development and regeneration, delivering a strategic approach 
to housing, regeneration, and economic growth to create an accessible, 
liveable, ‘work-life integrated’ and highly connected Cardiff Capital Region; 
and

3.4.6 Developing greater city-region governance across the Cardiff Capital 
Region, exploring future options for moving to even stronger and effective 
governance.

3.5 Principles

Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, the Councils agree that they will 
conduct their relationship in accordance with the following principles:-

3.5.1 Openness and Trust

In relation to this Agreement the Councils will be open and trusting in their 
dealings with each other, make information and analysis available to each 
other, discuss and develop ideas openly and contribute fully to all aspects of 
making the joint working successful.  Whilst respecting the mutual need for 

Page 385



80872181.2\dd04 12

commercial confidentiality, the Councils will willingly embrace a commitment 
to transparency in their dealings and in particular a need to comply with 
statutory access to information requirements including the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and 
supporting codes of practice.  The Councils will be aware of the need for and 
respect matters of commercial confidentiality and potential sensitivity;

3.5.2 Commitment and Drive

The Councils will be fully committed to working jointly, will seek to fully 
motivate employees and will address the challenges of delivering the  City 
Deal with enthusiasm and a determination to succeed;

3.5.3 Skills and Creativity

The Councils recognise that each brings complimentary skills and 
knowledge which they will apply creatively to achieving the Councils' 
objectives, continuity, resolution of difficulties and the development of the 
joint working relationship and the personnel working within it.  It is 
recognised that this will involve the appreciation and adoption of common 
values;

3.5.4 Effective Relationships

The roles and responsibilities of each Council will be clear with relationships 
developed at the appropriate levels within each organisation with direct and 
easy access to each other's representatives;

3.5.5 Developing and Adaptive

The Councils recognise that they are engaged in what could be a long term 
business relationship which needs to develop and adapt and will use 
reasonable endeavours to develop and maintain an effective joint process to 
ensure that the relationship develops appropriately and in line with these 
principles and objectives;

3.5.6 Reputation and Standing

The Councils agree that, in relation to this Agreement and the City Deal 
generally, they shall pay the utmost regard to the standing and reputation of 
one another, and act with regard to each Council's own employer and 
member codes of conduct and shall not do or fail to do anything which may 
bring the standing or reputation of any other Council into disrepute or attract 
adverse publicity to any other Council;

3.5.7 Reasonableness of Decision Making

The Councils agree that all decisions made in relation to this Agreement and 
the City Deal generally shall be made by them acting reasonably and in 
good faith;

3.5.8 Necessary Consents

Each Council hereby represents to the other Councils that it has obtained all 
necessary consents sufficient to ensure the delegation of functions and 
responsibilities provided for by this Agreement; and

3.5.9 Members and Officers Commitments 

Page 386



80872181.2\dd04 13

Each Council shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that their 
respective members and officers who are involved in the City Deal shall at 
all times act in the best interests of the City Deal, and act with regard to each 
Council's own employer and member codes of conduct, devote sufficient 
resources to deliver the City Deal and respond in a timely manner to all 
relevant requests from the other Councils.

4. THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL AS THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY 

4.1 The Councils (acting severally) have agreed, with effect from the Commencement 
Date, the City of Cardiff Council will act as the Accountable Body responsible for 
discharging the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in 
accordance with this Agreement for and on behalf of the Councils and the City of 
Cardiff Council agrees to act in that capacity subject to and in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement.

4.2 If the Accountable Body defaults and the Agreement is terminated in respect of it 
pursuant to Clause 2.2 (Commencement, Duration and Termination) or the 
Accountable Body withdraws pursuant to Clause 15 (Withdrawal), then the 
replacement Accountable Body will be appointed by the Joint Committee and the 
withdrawing or, as applicable, defaulting Accountable Body will not have the right to 
vote in regard to any such appointment.

4.3 Where a replacement Accountable Body is appointed pursuant to Clause 4.2 above, 
any reference to the City of Cardiff Council (in its capacity as the initial Accountable 
Body) shall be read with reference to the replacement Accountable Body.

4.4 The Accountable Body shall act as the Accountable Body and shall receive:-

(i) any HMT Contribution from the Welsh Government for and on behalf of the 
Councils;
(ii) the Council Contribution; and
(iii) any other funding that may be received from time to time  specifically in respect of 
the City Deal and which is for the benefit of all Councils,

and shall hold and manage such HMT Contribution, Council Contribution and such 
other funding  in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

5. DUTIES OF THE ACCOUNTABLE BODY

5.1 For the duration of this Agreement, the Accountable Body shall:

5.1.1 act diligently and in good faith in all its dealings with the other Councils and it 
shall use its reasonable endeavours to discharge the Councils' obligations in 
relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this Agreement 
and all applicable legislation including but not limited to:-

(a) the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015;

(b) Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011; and

(c) the Welsh Language Standards;

5.1.2 act as the primary interface (on behalf of itself and the other Councils) with 
the Welsh Government, the UK Government and the European Regional 
Development Fund and any other body necessary to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal; 

5.1.3 act as the Accountable Body to hold any funds received directly from the 
Welsh Government, the UK Government (if any), the European Regional 

Page 387



80872181.2\dd04 14

Development Fund (if any), the Councils and/or any other sources (if any) in 
relation to the City Deal and only to use and release such funds as agreed in 
accordance with the terms of such funding and this Agreement;

5.1.4 without assuming responsibility for the delivery of any specific City Deal 
project and within  the limitation of the funding provided to it (as part of the 
Joint Committee Costs), provide the support services required to facilitate 
the work of the Joint Committee (and its sub committees and groups 
established  pursuant to clauses 10.18 and 10.19 and the Programme 
Management Office referred to in the Assurance Framework), including, but 
not limited to, financial, human resources, legal, ICT, estates, information 
management, internal audit and procurement services.

For the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of this clause 5.1.4 shall not serve 
to fetter the ability of the Accountable Body to enter into arrangements with 
any of the other Councils to provide the aforementioned services on its 
behalf. 

5.1.5 without assuming responsibility for the delivery of any specific City Deal 
project, provide for the Accountable Body’s chief finance officer ("S151 
Officer") and monitoring officer (or their nominated deputies) to act, 
respectively,  as the section 151 Officer  and monitoring officer   to  the Joint 
Committee; and

5.1.6 without limitation to its roles under the proceeding provision of this clause 
5.1, have responsibility for, but not limited to administering the financial 
affairs  of the Joint Committee (and its sub committees and groups 
established  pursuant to clauses 10.18 and 10.19), including accounting for 
VAT,  keeping financial  records, ensuring  that the annual accounts of the 
Joint Committee are prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting and  making  arrangements for the external audit 
of the Joint Committee.  

6. DUTIES OF THE OTHER COUNCILS

6.1 For the duration of this Agreement, the other Councils shall act diligently and in good 
faith in all their dealings with the Accountable Body and shall use their respective 
reasonable endeavours to assist the Accountable Body to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to and in accordance with this 
Agreement and all applicable legislation.  

6.2 It is acknowledged and agreed that the obligations and liabilities of each Council 
shall bind any successor authority in the event of any local government re-
organisation.

7. BUSINESS PLANS AND PROGRESS MONITORING

7.1 JWA Business Plan

7.1.1 The Joint Committee shall, no later than twelve (12) months after the 
Commencement Date, prepare (or procure the preparation of), finalise 
(acting in the best interests of the Joint Committee) and recommend for 
agreement and adoption by the Councils the draft JWA Business Plan which 
shall comply with the provisions of Clause 7.1.4 below.  The intention is to 
create an overarching five (5) year JWA Business Plan that, amongst other 
matters, shall set out the Councils objectives and priorities for the delivery of 
the City Deal that is updated annually.

Page 388



80872181.2\dd04 15

7.1.2 The decision to approve and adopt the JWA Business Plan shall be a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils".

7.1.3 The Councils shall use their respective reasonable endeavours to seek to 
agree such draft JWA Business Plan (making any amendments they may 
unanimously agree) and to adopt it as the formal JWA Business Plan within 
60 (sixty) Business Days of the date it is first circulated to the Councils or 
such other date as agreed between the Councils. 

7.1.4 The JWA Business Plan shall, amongst other matters, address the following:

(a) the updated Affordability Envelope;

(b) the methodology for agreeing the nature, scope and prioritisation of 
projects to be developed for the overall benefit of the Cardiff 
Capital Region (in accordance with the terms of the 
Implementation Plan);

(c) the methodology and responsibility for any external audits in 
relation to this Agreement;

(d) the methodology and responsibility of any performance monitoring 
along with any performance indicators to enable the Joint 
Committee to measure progress against the JWA Business Plan; 
and

(e) any revenue and capital monitoring reports to be prepared for the 
Joint Committee and the frequency of such reports.

7.2 Updated JWA Business Plan

7.2.1 The Joint Committee shall, no earlier than three (3) months and no later than 
one (1) month before the end of the relevant Accounting Period, prepare (or 
procure the preparation of), finalise, agree (acting in the best interests of the 
Joint Committee) and recommend for adoption to the Joint Committee a 
draft updated JWA Business Plan for the proceeding five years which shall 
comply with the provisions of Clause 7.1.4 above.

7.2.2 The decision to approve and adopt any updated JWA Business Plan shall be 
a "Joint Committee Matter" save to the extent that any such update amounts 
to a material change to the prevailing JWA Business Plan and, in which 
case, the decision to approve and adopt such updated JWA Business Plan 
shall be a "Matter Reserved To The Councils".

7.2.3 The Joint Committee or the Councils (as applicable) shall use its reasonable 
endeavours to seek to agree such draft JWA Business Plan (making any 
amendments they may agree by majority) and to adopt it as the formal JWA 
Business Plan within 60 (sixty) Business Days of the date it is first circulated 
to the Joint Committee or such other date as agreed by the Councils.

7.2.4 The updated JWA Business Plan agreed pursuant to Clause 7.2.3 (with such 
amendments thereto as may be agreed by the Joint Committee or as a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils" (as applicable)) shall replace the then 
current JWA Business Plan as the formal JWA Business Plan upon the later 
of:

(a) the expiry of the then current JWA Business Plan; and

(b) the date of the Joint Committee' approval to it in accordance with 
Clause 10 (Joint Committee) or, as applicable, the date the 

Page 389



80872181.2\dd04 16

updated JWA Business Plan is approved by the Councils as a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils").

7.2.5 Subject to Clause 7.5, until such time as it is replaced in accordance with 
Clause 7.2.3, the JWA Business Plan that has most recently been adopted 
as the formal JWA Business Plan shall continue to be the formal binding 
JWA Business Plan.

7.2.6 Where the draft JWA Business Plan circulated under Clause 7.2.1 has not 
been approved by the Joint Committee or the Councils (as applicable) by the 
date six (6) calendar months following the date it is first circulated to the 
Joint Committee, the matter shall be deemed to be a JC Unresolved Matter 
and Clause 10.13 (Joint Committee) shall apply or where such approval is to 
be granted as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils", the JWA Business Plan 
shall be deemed not to have been approved following such six (6) calendar 
month period. 

7.3 Annual Business Plans

7.3.1 The Joint Committee anticipates discharging the obligations of the Councils 
in relation to the City Deal through a number of projects and in respect of 
each Accounting Period the Regional Programme Director shall procure the 
preparation of, and (no later than 90 (ninety) Business Days prior to the 
envisaged commencement of the relevant Accounting Period) procure the 
circulation to the Joint Committee of a draft Annual Business Plan in relation 
to the annual spend for approved project(s) to be implemented in that 
Accounting Period in relation to the City Deal. 

7.3.2 Within 30 (thirty) Business Days of the date of circulation of a draft Annual 
Business Plan in relation to an Accounting Period a Joint Committee 
Meeting shall be convened in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint Committee) 
for the consideration of and (if the Joint Committee so agrees) approval of 
the draft Annual Business Plan.

7.3.3 The Regional Programme Director shall convene a Joint Committee Meeting 
in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint Committee) to discuss the continued 
suitability of an Annual Business Plan and any required amendments thereto 
on or around the date 30 (thirty) Business Days prior to the envisaged date 
of commencement of the relevant Accounting Period.  Any such 
amendments must be approved by the Joint Committee pursuant to 
Clause 7.3.2 in order to become effective.

7.3.4 Where the draft Annual Business Plan circulated under Clause 7.3.1 has not 
been approved by the Joint Committee by the date six (6) calendar months 
following the date it is first circulated to the Joint Committee, the matter shall 
be deemed to be a JC Unresolved Matter and Clause 10.13 (Joint 
Committee) shall apply. 

7.4 Progress Monitoring

7.4.1 Progress against each JWA Business Plan and Annual Business Plan shall 
be regularly reviewed at the Joint Committee Meetings.

7.4.2 If, at any Joint Committee Meeting, any of the elected members or deputy 
(as applicable) in their reasonable opinion, believe that there has been a 
material failure of the Councils to comply with a relevant JWA Business Plan 
and/or Annual Business Plan, the Joint Committee shall discuss appropriate 
action to immediately rectify the relevant failure and/or mitigate the effects of 
such failure as far as possible.  

Page 390



80872181.2\dd04 17

7.4.3 Subject to Clause 7.4.3, any variations to the JWA Business Plan or an 
Annual Business Plan shall be effective only if approved by the Joint 
Committee in accordance with Clause 10 (Joint Committee).

7.5 Incorporation of Annual Business Plans into the JWA Business Plan

Upon a draft Annual Business Plan being approved in accordance with this Clause 7, 
or an approved Annual Business Plan being validly varied or updated in accordance 
with this Clause 7, the JWA Business Plan shall be deemed to have been amended 
on and with effect from the date of the same insofar as such amendments to the JWA 
Business Plan are necessary in order to ensure that the JWA Business Plan is fully 
consistent, and does not conflict, with the Annual Business Plan.  The contents of the 
Annual Business Plan shall be deemed to have been consolidated into the JWA 
Business Plan automatically from time to time in accordance with this Clause 7.4.3.

8. CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION WIDER INVESTMENT FUND(S)

8.1 The Councils agree that one of the key initial projects to be developed in relation to 
the City Deal is the establishment and management of the Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund(s).

8.2 The Regional Programme Director shall procure the preparation of an Annual 
Business Plan for the development of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment 
Fund(s), in accordance with Clause 7 (Business Plans and Progress Monitoring), to 
determine, amongst other matters, the following:-

8.2.1 the legal structure of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund and 
whether it shall comprise of a single or series of funds;

8.2.2 the investment criteria and investment policy;

8.2.3 the governance structure for the investment board;

8.2.4 the approach to performance reporting and the interplay with the Gateway 
Review; and

8.2.5 the procedure for the appointment of a fund manager.

9. DECISION MAKING

9.1 In terms of the need for decisions and other actions to be taken and carried out during 
the term of this Agreement, the Councils have identified the following three categories 
together with the means by which they will be taken:-

9.1.1 "Regional Programme Director Matter" - being a matter which it is 
expected that the Regional Programme Director will be able to make a 
decision upon and have the power to bind the Joint Committee in doing so;

9.1.2 "Joint Committee Matter" – being a matter which it is expected the elected 
member (or appropriate deputy) of each Council appointed pursuant to 
Clause 10.4 (Joint Committee) will be able to make a decision upon and 
have the power to bind the Council it represents in doing so; 

9.1.3 "Matter Reserved To The Councils" – being a matter which will have to be 
referred to each Council for and, for the avoidance of doubt, that matter 
requiring a decision would not be dealt with by the elected members 
appointed to the Joint Committee until the unanimous decision shall have 
been agreed by all of the Councils, 

and in each case, such matters are identified in Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy).

Page 391



80872181.2\dd04 18

10. JOINT COMMITTEE

10.1 The Councils shall form the joint committee ("Joint Committee") for the purpose of 
overseeing and co-ordinating the discharge of the Councils' obligations in relation to 
the City Deal and to carry out the functions set out in Schedule 2 (Joint Committee 
Terms of Reference) and the Joint Committee shall be known as the "Cardiff Capital 
Region Joint Cabinet", "Joint Cabinet" or "Regional Cabinet" (as the context requires).   

10.2 The Joint Committee may carry out such other functions as the Councils determine 
from time to time and approve as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils".

10.3 The Joint Committee shall not have power to approve any "Matter Reserved To The 
Councils" pursuant of Clause 9.1.3 ("Matter Reserved To The Councils").

10.4 Each Council shall appoint one (1) elected member representative to the Joint 
Committee.  The Chairperson of the Joint Committee shall be an elected member 
representative of a Council appointed to the Joint Committee and shall rotate amongst 
the Councils on an annual basis.

10.5 Each Council shall be entitled from time to time to appoint a deputy for its 
representative but such deputy (in each case) shall only be entitled to speak and vote 
at meetings of the Joint Committee in the absence of his or her corresponding 
principal.

10.6 Each Council shall be entitled to invite appropriate third parties to observe Joint 
Committee Meetings and such third parties shall be entitled to take part in such Joint 
Committee Meetings at the discretion of the Chairperson of the Joint Committee.  
Such observers shall not have a vote.

10.7 The Regional Programme Director shall attend the Joint Committee meetings but shall 
not have the right to vote on any Joint Committee Matters.

10.8 Each Council may, at their discretion, replace their representatives (and their 
respective deputies) appointed to the Joint Committee, provided that:-

10.8.1 at all times, they have representatives appointed to the Joint Committee in 
accordance with the roles identified in Schedule 2 (Joint Committee Terms 
of Reference); and

10.8.2 any such replacement shall have no lesser status or authority than that set 
out in Schedule 2 (Joint Committee Terms of Reference) unless otherwise 
agreed by the Councils.

10.9 The Joint Committee shall meet on at least a quarterly basis during the second 
Accounting Period and thereafter as and when required in accordance with the 
timetable for the City Deal and, in any event, at appropriate times and on reasonable 
notice (to be issued through the Regional Programme Director) to carry out the Joint 
Committee Matters referred to in Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy) and in carrying out 
such activities.

10.10 Any representative may by written request to the Regional Programme Director 
request that a matter be considered at the next meeting of the Joint Committee. The 
Regional Programme Director shall ensure that all agendas and relevant information 
in relation to a Joint Committee meeting are circulated in a timely manner and in any 
event in accordance with legislative requirements. Any representative may, where he 
or she views that a matter requires urgent consideration,  request to the Chairperson 
at the start of a Joint Committee meeting that such urgent item is added to the 
agenda, but its inclusion will be a matter for the Chairperson to decide.  

Page 392



80872181.2\dd04 19

10.11 The quorum necessary for a Joint Committee meeting shall be an elected member or 
appropriate deputy appointed pursuant to Clause 10.5 (Joint Committee) from at least 
seven (7) of the Councils at the relevant time.

10.12 At meetings of the Joint Committee each elected member or appropriate deputy 
appointed pursuant to Clause 10.5 (Joint Committee) above from each Council shall 
have one vote. The Chairperson shall be granted a casting vote provided always that 
the Councils agree and acknowledge that the Chairperson shall not under any 
circumstances exercise such casting vote.  Decisions at meetings of the Joint 
Committee will be taken by a majority vote of a quorate meeting.  The Regional 
Programme Director shall not have a vote.

10.13 If, at a meeting of the Joint Committee, a matter is not determined pursuant to Clause 
10.12 above, that matter ("JC Unresolved Matter") shall be deferred for consideration 
at the next Joint Committee meeting which shall be convened within ten (10) Business 
Days of that meeting. If at the reconvened Joint Committee meeting the JC 
Unresolved Matter is not determined, the JC Unresolved Matter shall become a 
"Matter Reserved To The Councils" and shall be deferred for consideration by each 
Council.  Each Council shall each use its reasonable endeavours to convene a full 
Council meeting of its councillors as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event 
within six (6) weeks of the Joint Committee Meeting.  Where a JC Unresolved Matter 
is referred to each Council as a "Matter Reserved to each Council" and is not 
approved by each Council, the JC Unresolved Matter shall not be agreed and shall not 
be implemented by the Joint Committee.

10.14 Each Council shall provide all information reasonably required upon request by the 
Joint Committee to the Regional Programme Director and shall comply with any 
decisions of the Joint Committee to request such information.

10.15 Each Council shall consult with the other Councils to ensure the diligent progress of 
the day to day matters relating to the discharge of the Councils' obligations in relation 
to the City Deal.  

10.16 Where a Council wishes to provide any information and/or serve a notice or demand 
on the Joint Committee, this should be served on the Regional Programme Director in 
accordance with Clause 23.3 (Notices). The Regional Programme Director shall keep 
a record of all information, notices and demands received and shall update each 
representative promptly.

10.17 The Councils agree and acknowledge that the Joint Committee shall adopt the 
Accountable Body's prevailing contract standing orders, financial procedure rules, 
codes of conduct and such other applicable policies and procedures for and behalf of 
the Councils in the discharge of its obligations under this Agreement and that the 
Accountable Body’s chief finance officer (‘S151 Officer’) and Monitoring Officer (or 
their nominated deputies) shall, respectively,  act as the section 151 officer  and 
monitoring officer   to  the Joint Committee.  

10.18 Joint Committee May Delegate

10.18.1 The Joint Committee may delegate any of the powers which are conferred 
on them under this Agreement:

(a) to such person, sub-committee or group;

(b) to such an extent;

(c) in relation to such matters; and

(d) on such terms and conditions,

Page 393



80872181.2\dd04 20

as they think fit from time to time.

10.18.2 The Joint Committee may allow that such delegation shall automatically 
authorise further delegation of the Joint Committee's powers by any person 
to whom they are delegated provided that the Joint Committee specifically 
states this within such delegation authority.

10.18.3 The Joint Committee may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its 
terms and conditions at any time.

10.19 Sub-Committees

10.19.1 The Joint Committee shall establish as soon as reasonably practicable the 
following sub-committees or groups: 

(a) Programme Management Office;

(b) Programme Board;

(c) Regional Transport Authority;

(d) Regional Business Organisation;

(e) Regional Skills and Employment Board; and

(f) Regional Economic Growth Partnership.

10.19.2 The Councils shall work together to create and agree terms of reference for, 
to the extent permissible by law, a Joint Audit Committee and a Joint 
Scrutiny Committee and how the same will be resourced and funded.

10.19.3 It is acknowledged and agreed by the Councils that the sub-committees or 
groups referred to in Clauses, 10.18 10.19.1 and 10.19.2:

(a) shall undertake a number of functions including but not limited to 
audit, scrutiny and/or consultation services pursuant to their terms 
of reference; and

(b) shall not have any delegated decision making powers (unless 
otherwise expressly granted by the Joint Committee). 

10.19.4 Sub-committees or groups to which the Joint Committee delegates any of its 
powers must follow procedures which are based as far as they are 
applicable on those provisions of this Agreement which govern the taking of 
decisions by the Joint Committee.

10.19.5 The Joint Committee shall establish the membership, rules of procedure or 
terms of reference for all or any such sub-committees or groups to, amongst 
other matters, clarify their respective role and scope of delegation which 
shall be approved by the Joint Committee.

10.19.6 The Joint Committee may create additional sub-committees or sub-groups 
as it sees fit from time to time.

11. PROGRAMME BOARD AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR

11.1 Constitution and Authority of the Programme Board

11.1.1 The Councils shall form the programme board ("Programme Board") for the 
purpose of implementing the City Deal and the day-to-day management of 

Page 394



80872181.2\dd04 21

the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal and to carry out the 
functions set out in Schedule 2, Part 2 (Programme Board Terms of 
Reference).

11.1.2 The Programme Board shall not have any decision making powers pursuant 
to this Agreement. 

11.1.3 Each Council shall appoint one senior officer representative (which may 
include the chief executive or equivalent) to the Programme Board and such 
other representatives as the Joint Committee may determine from time to 
time. The chairperson shall be the Regional Programme Director or such 
other representatives as the Joint Committee may determine from time to 
time.

11.1.4 Each Council shall be entitled from time to time to appoint a deputy for its 
senior officer and such deputy (in each case) shall be entitled to attend 
meetings of the Programme Board in place of its senior officer.

11.1.5 The Councils shall, at their discretion, replace their representatives (and 
their respective deputies) appointed to the Programme Board provided that 
such replacement shall be on the same basis as the original appointed and 
provided further that no senior officer of the Programme Board shall be 
removed or replaced by any Council without that Council giving prior written 
notice as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within ten (10) 
Business Days of its intention to remove or replace that representative.

11.1.6 The Programme Board shall meet as and when required in accordance with 
the timetable for the City Deal and, in any event, at appropriate times and on 
reasonable notice (to be issued through the Regional Programme Director).

11.2 Regional Programme Director

11.2.1 The Regional Programme Director shall attend the Joint Committee 
meetings but shall not have the right to vote on any Joint Committee 
Matters.

11.2.2 The Regional Programme Director shall have decision making powers 
delegated to them personally (and not the Programme Board) pursuant to 
Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy).

11.2.3 Where the Regional Programme Director exercises any decision making 
powers, the Regional Programme Director shall first consult with the 
Chairperson of the Joint Committee and the relevant Joint Committee 
portfolio lead.

12. COMMITMENT OF THE COUNCILS AND CONTRIBUTIONS

12.1 General

Subject to Clause 15.11.3 (Withdrawal), the Councils agree and undertake to commit 
to the City Deal in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and not to commission 
and/or undertake any procurement and/or project that seeks or would procure the 
delivery of all or any part of the City Deal outside the terms of this Agreement.

12.2 Internal Costs

12.2.1 Subject to Clauses 12.2.2 and 12.2.3 (Internal Costs), the Internal Costs 
incurred by each Council shall be borne by the Council providing that 
internal resource.

Page 395



80872181.2\dd04 22

12.2.2 The Councils hereby agree that if one of the Councils believes it is likely to 
incur disproportionate Internal Costs that matter shall be referred to the Joint 
Committee for a decision as to whether such costs will be disproportionate 
and whether any contributions should be made to this cost by the other 
Councils.

12.2.3 The Parties agree and acknowledge that Internal Costs incurred by the 
Accountable Body in relation to the City Deal shall be accounted for as Joint 
Committee Costs and shall be allocated amongst the Councils in 
accordance with Clause 12.3.1 (Joint Committee Costs).

12.3 Joint Committee Costs

12.3.1 Any Joint Committee Costs incurred by the Joint Committee shall be shared 
on a Proportionate Basis between the Councils pursuant to this Agreement.

12.3.2 Each Council shall be required to prepare accounts including details of any 
Joint Committee Costs incurred pursuant to Schedule 4 (Heads of 
Expenditure) ("the Accounts") in respect of each Accounting Period and for 
such further and/or other accounting periods as the Joint Committee shall 
determine and which shall be incorporated into Schedule 5 (Accounting 
Periods). For the avoidance of doubt, such Accounts shall not include any 
revenue costs or capital investment requirements in relation to the 
implementation of any project pursuant to an Annual Business Plan and 
shall solely relate to the operational and management costs of the Joint 
Committee.

12.3.3 Each Council shall:-  

(a) in the Accounts make true and complete entries of all relevant 
payments made by it during the previous Accounting Period;

(b) within one (1) month of the end of each Accounting Period, each 
Council shall provide to the Accountable Body unaudited Accounts 
for such Accounting Period together with certification that such 
Accounts comply with this Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions);

(c) nominate an individual to be responsible for ensuring that Council's 
own compliance with this Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions) and the name, address and telephone number 
of each individual nominated pursuant to this Clause 12.3.3(c)  
(Commitment of the Councils and Contributions) shall be notified to 
the other Councils in accordance with Clause 23 (Notices); and

(d) if an individual nominated by a Council pursuant to Clause 
12.3.3(c) (Commitment of the Councils and Contributions) 
changes, that Council shall notify the other Councils forthwith of 
the replacement nominees.

12.3.4 The Accountable Body shall:

(a) within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the Accounts submitted 
by the other Councils in accordance with Clause 12.3.3(b) prepare 
a reconciliation statement identifying the payments made by each 
Council and the balance due from or owing to each; and

(b) within twenty (20) Business Days of the preparation of the 
reconciliation statement send out a copy of the reconciliation 

Page 396



80872181.2\dd04 23

statement together with either a balancing invoice or, subject to 
Clause 12.3.4(b), credit payments to each Council.  

12.3.5 The Accountable Body shall not be obliged to make any payments due 
under this Agreement until the Accountable Body is in receipt of funds from 
the Joint Committee pursuant to this Clause 12.3.

12.3.6 A Council receiving an invoice for payment shall pay it in full within twenty 
(20) Business Days.  Any error in a balancing invoice must be notified to the 
Accountable Body within five (5) Business Days of such balancing invoice 
being sent out.  An amended balancing invoice will be issued by the 
Accountable Body and the Council receiving such an invoice shall pay it in 
full within twenty (20) Business Days.

12.3.7 The Councils hereby agree that if one of the Councils carries out any work or 
incurs any cost or expenses to carry out any work or to incur any cost or 
expense that is not within the budget or scope of work set out in the JWA 
Business Plan, that matter shall be referred by the Regional Programme 
Director to the Joint Committee for a decision as to whether such work, cost 
or expense is part of the City Deal or whether such work, cost or expense 
should be the entire responsibility of the Council so carrying it out or 
requesting it (as the case may be).

12.4 Annual Budget

12.4.1 The Annual Budget shall be:

(a) in the initial period (2017-2018) prior to receipt of any HMT 
Contribution by the Accountable Body, £1,000,000 (one million 
pounds); and

(b) in all other cases, the Annual Budget approved by the Joint 
Committee for that Accounting Period provided that the Annual 
Budget shall not exceed the previous Annual Budget by more than 
5% (five per cent),

and the Councils shall each contribute towards the Annual Budget on a 
Proportionate Basis and such contribution shall be in addition to the 
Councils' Contribution.

12.4.2 Where the actual aggregate Joint Committee Costs are likely to exceed the 
Annual Budget by more than 5% (five per cent) such additional costs shall 
be met through the wider investment fund (comprising of the HMT 
Contribution and the Councils Contribution).

12.5 Contributions

12.5.1 Total contribution

It is acknowledged and agreed by the Councils that the discharge of the 
Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal pursuant to this Agreement 
shall be funded as follows:

(a) up to £375,000,000 (three hundred and seventy five million 
pounds) from HMT ("HMT Contribution");

(b) up to £120,000,000 (one hundred and twenty million pounds) in 
aggregate from the Councils ("Councils' Contribution") and the 
Councils agree and acknowledge that such Councils' Contributions 

Page 397



80872181.2\dd04 24

shall be subject to additional costs up to the Affordability Envelope 
(as such costs are defined therein); and

(c) each Council's contribution towards the Annual Budget, on a 
Proportionate Basis, pursuant to Clause 12.4 (Annual Budget).

12.5.2 HMT Contribution

(a) Subject to Clause 12.5.2(b), it is acknowledged and agreed by the 
Councils that HMT's contribution shall be provided to the Welsh 
Government to transfer to the Accountable Body for and on behalf 
of the Joint Committee in the following tranches:-

(i) years 2016-17 to 2020-21 in the sum of £10,000,000 (ten 
million pounds) resource (RDEL) funding per year;

(ii) years 2021-22 to 2030-31 in the sum of £22,000,000 
(twenty two million pounds) capital (CDEL) funding per 
year;

(iii) years 2031-32 to 2035-36 in the sum of £21,000,000 
(twenty one million pounds) capital (CDEL) funding per 
year.

(b) It is acknowledged and agreed by the Councils that: 

(i) the South East Wales Metro Scheme is being financed 
and procured directly by the Welsh Government outside 
of this Agreement;

(ii) the HMT Contribution does not include any contribution 
towards the South East Wales Metro Scheme;

(iii) this Agreement does not include any obligations or 
liabilities on the Councils in respect of the South East 
Wales Metro Scheme; and

(iv) the Councils shall agree with HMT, as part of the 
Gateway Reviews, whether it wishes such performance 
assessment to have regard to wider regional benefit of or 
disregard the South East Wales Metro Scheme; and

(v) the Councils shall agree with HMT before HMT's next 
Spending Review whether a proportion of the 
forthcoming HMT Contribution may be provided as 
resource (RDEL) funding in place of the current capital 
(CDEL) funding allocation and such agreement shall be 
approved by the Councils pursuant to this Agreement as 
a "Joint Committee Matter".  

(c) It is acknowledged and understood by the Councils that the HMT 
Contribution is subject to the following funding conditions:-

(i) approval of the Assurance Framework (which the 
Councils have approved and attached at Schedule 8 
(Assurance Framework) to this Agreement);

(ii) approval of and entry into this Agreement; 

Page 398



80872181.2\dd04 25

(iii) satisfying the five (5) yearly Gateway Reviews by HMT 
and it is acknowledged and agreed that the form of the 
Gateway Reviews including, but not limited to, any 
sanctions if key targets are not met shall be agreed with 
HMT and approved by the Councils pursuant to this 
Agreement as a "Joint Committee Matter";

(iv) any Welsh Government funding conditions to be 
proposed by the Welsh Government and approved 
pursuant to this Agreement by the Councils as a "Joint 
Committee Matter" pursuant to Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent); and

(v) approval of the Implementation Plan (which the Councils 
have approved and attached at Schedule 9 
(Implementation Plan) to this Agreement),

together the "HMT Funding Conditions".

(d) Each Council acknowledges and agrees that:

(i) it accepts the HMT Funding Conditions and that it shall 
be bound by those conditions and shall not through any 
act or omission place any other Council including, but not 
limited to, the Accountable Body in breach of any of 
those conditions; and

(ii) any Welsh Government funding conditions remain to be 
agreed and if and when any such conditions are agreed 
pursuant to Clause 2.3 (Conditions Subsequent), each 
Council shall be bound by those conditions and shall not 
through any act or omission place any other Council 
including, but not limited to the Accountable Body in 
breach of any of those conditions.

12.5.3 Councils' Contribution

(a) Subject to Clause 12.5.3(b), each Council shall contribute towards 
the aggregate Councils' Contribution in the following proportion:

Councils Proportion of 
Contribution

Blaenau Gwent 4.6%

Bridgend 9.4%

Caerphilly 12.0%

Cardiff 23.7%

Merthyr Tydfil 3.9%

Monmouthshire 6.1%

Newport 9.8%

Page 399



80872181.2\dd04 26

Rhondda Cynon Taff 15.8%

Torfaen 6.1%

Vale of Glamorgan 8.5%

Total 100%

(b) It is acknowledged and agreed that the Affordability Envelope for 
the Councils has been approved by the Councils as at the date of 
this Agreement and that any decision to increase the Affordability 
Envelope shall be a "Matter Reserved To The Councils".  

12.5.4 Audit

Each Council shall permit all records referred to in this Agreement to be 
examined and copied from time to time by the Accountable Body, or any 
representatives of the Accountable Body or any other representatives who 
reasonably require access to the same in order to undertake any audit of the 
funds received and spent pursuant to this Agreement.

12.5.5 Retention of Records

The accounts referred to in this Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils and 
Contributions) shall be retained for a period of at least ten (10) years after 
delivery of the City Deal pursuant to this Agreement.

13. MITIGATION

Each Council shall at all time take all reasonable steps to minimise and mitigate any 
loss for which the relevant Council is entitled to bring a claim against the other 
Council(s) pursuant to this Agreement.

14. LIABILITY OF THE COUNCILS

14.1 The Accountable Body shall indemnify and keep indemnified each of the other 
Councils to this Agreement against any losses, claims, expenses, actions, demands, 
costs and liability suffered by that Council to the extent arising from any wilful default 
or wilful breach by the Accountable Body of its obligations under this Agreement (and 
wilful in this context shall, for the avoidance of doubt, not include matters which are 
outside the reasonable control of the Accountable Body or matters arising from any 
negligent act or omission in relation to such obligations).

14.2 No claim shall be made against the Accountable Body to recover any loss or damage 
which may be incurred by reason of or arising out of the carrying out by the 
Accountable Body of its obligations under this Agreement unless and to the extent 
such loss or damage arises from a wilful default or wilful breach by the Accountable 
Body under Clause 14.1 (Liability of Councils).

14.3 Each of the other Councils (acting severally) shall indemnify and keep indemnified the 
Accountable Body against all losses, claims, expenses, actions, demands, costs and 
liabilities which the Accountable Body may incur by reason of or arising out of the 
carrying out by the Accountable Body of its obligations under this Agreement for that 
Council or arising from any wilful default or wilful breach by a Council of its obligations 
under this Agreement (and wilful in this context shall, for the avoidance of doubt, not 
include matters which are outside the reasonable control of that Council or matters 
arising from any negligent act or omission in relation to such obligations) unless and to 

Page 400



80872181.2\dd04 27

the extent that the same result from any wilful breach by the Accountable Body of any 
such obligations.

14.4 The Councils agree and acknowledge that the amount to be paid to the Accountable 
Body by any of the other Councils under Clause 14.3 (Liability of Councils) shall be 
borne by each of the Councils to the extent of its responsibility, however in the event 
that the responsibility is a shared one between the Councils (so that it is not 
reasonably practicable to ascertain the exact responsibility between the Councils) then 
the amount to be paid shall be divided between the Councils on a Proportionate Basis.  

14.5 In the event of a claim under this Clause 14 (Liability of Councils) in which it is not 
reasonably practicable to determine the extent of responsibility as between the 
Councils (including the Accountable Body), then the amount shall be divided amongst 
the Councils (including the Accountable Body) on a Proportionate Basis.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, any claim arising otherwise than through the wilful default or wilful 
breach by the Accountable Body or the other Councils shall be divided amongst the 
Councils (including the Accountable Body) on a Proportionate Basis.

14.6 A Council who receives a claim for losses, expenses, actions, demands, costs and 
liabilities shall notify and provide details of such claim as soon as is reasonably 
practicable the other Councils.

14.7 No Council shall be indemnified in accordance with this Clause 14 (Liability of 
Councils) unless it has given notice in accordance with Clause 14.6 (Liability of 
Councils) to the other Council against whom it will be enforcing its right to an 
indemnity under this Agreement.

14.8 Each Council ("Indemnifier") shall not be responsible or be obliged to indemnify the 
other Councils (including the Accountable Body) ("Beneficiary") to the extent that any 
insurances maintained by the Beneficiary at the relevant time provide an indemnity 
against the loss giving rise to such claim and to the extent that the Beneficiary 
recovers under such policy of insurance (save that the Indemnifier shall be 
responsible for the deductible under any such policy of insurance and any amount 
over the maximum amount insured under such policy of insurance).

15. WITHDRAWAL

15.1 Subject to Clause 15.2 (Withdrawal), any Council (including the Accountable Body) 
may at any time during this Agreement, withdraw from this Agreement in accordance 
with this Clause 15 (Withdrawal).

15.2 No Council may withdraw from this Agreement during the Lock In Period and, 
following such Lock In Period, the provisions of this Clause 15 shall apply.

15.3 Save where Clause 15.6 applies, if an Authority wishes to withdraw from the City Deal 
and this Agreement, it shall provide at least twelve (12) months written notice of its 
intention to withdraw to all the other Councils ("Withdrawal Notice").  

15.4 No sooner than nine (9) months after the date of the Withdrawal Notice and no later 
than ten (10) months after the date of the Withdrawal Notice, the Accountable Body 
(or such other Council as nominated by the Joint Committee in the event that the 
Accountable Body issues the Withdrawal Notice) shall provide to all the Councils a 
Liability Report which shall be discussed by the Joint Committee at its next meeting or 
a specially convened meeting if the next meeting falls more than two (2) weeks after 
the issue of the Liability Report.

15.5 It is acknowledged and agreed that:

15.5.1 the Liability Report shall contain, as a minimum, the withdrawing Councils 
committed costs and liabilities up to the next Gateway Review and the 

Page 401



80872181.2\dd04 28

withdrawing Councils committed costs and liabilities on all current projects 
which shall include all drawdowns of the Councils Contribution that the 
withdrawing Council has committed to but not yet withdrawn (whether that 
drawdown occurs before or after the Council formally withdraws from the 
City Deal and this Agreement pursuant to this Clause 15 (Withdrawal)); and

15.5.2 in relation to row 1 of the Liability Report in Schedule 7 (Liability Report), the 
withdrawing Council shall be liable to pay the higher of its committed 
contribution and liabilities;

(a) up to the next Gateway Review; or

(b) on all current projects.

15.6 Within the Decision Period each Council which has issued a Withdrawal Notice to the 
Regional Programme Director shall indicate either:-

15.6.1 that it withdraws from the City Deal and this Agreement; or 

15.6.2 that it wishes to continue as a party to the City Deal and this Agreement.

15.7 Where further Councils (in addition to the Council issuing the Withdrawal Notice) 
indicate their wish to withdraw from the City Deal and this Agreement, then the 
provisions of Clause 15.3 (Withdrawal) shall apply to such Councils and a new Liability 
Report shall be prepared in respect of each of these Councils that have indicated their 
intention to withdraw and the provisions of Clause 15.6 (Withdrawal) shall apply.

15.8 Where a Council does not indicate its intentions as required by Clause 15.6 
(Withdrawal) then it shall at the expiry of the Decision Period be taken to have 
indicated that they wish to continue as a party to the City Deal and this Agreement.

15.9 Any Council serving a Withdrawal Notice pursuant to Clause 15.3 or indicates that it 
withdraws from the City Deal and this Agreement pursuant to Clause 15.6 shall have 
the right to retract such Withdrawal Notice or indication that it withdraws at any point 
prior to the date of its withdrawal. 

15.10 Where a Council indicates that it wishes to withdraw from the City Deal and this 
Agreement, then:-

15.10.1 the Council who shall have indicated its wish to withdraw shall pay all 
amounts due to be paid by it in accordance with the Liability Report and 
comply with its obligations under this Agreement up to the date of its 
withdrawal including making any payments of any expenditure referred to in 
Schedule 5 (Heads of Expenditure) as at that date; 

15.10.2 the Council who shall have indicated its wish to withdraw shall be 
responsible for a proportion of any third party costs (which have been 
substantiated by the Joint Committee); and

15.10.3 if in the event of such a withdrawal the discharge of the Councils' obligations 
in relation to the City Deal is delayed then the Council who shall have 
indicated its wish to withdraw may be responsible for a proportion of the 
costs of delay to the other Councils or any costs or fines which may directly 
result.  Such proportion will be decided by the Joint Committee and the 
withdrawing Council shall not be entitled to vote in this decision..

15.11 Where a Council withdraws from the City Deal and this Agreement in accordance with 
this Clause 15 (Withdrawal):

Page 402



80872181.2\dd04 29

15.11.1 any capital asset acquired and/or secured and/or owned and provided by 
such withdrawing Council for the purposes of the City Deal will remain in the 
ownership of the withdrawing Council and the withdrawing Council will 
reimburse the remaining Councils their respective contributions (if any) 
together with any reasonable costs incurred as a result of the withdrawal or 
default;

15.11.2 the other Councils may elect to continue or discontinue with any 
procurement and/or project forming part of the City Deal in the administrative 
area of the withdrawing Council; 

15.11.3 the withdrawing Council may elect to independently pursue the procurement 
of any project within its administrative area which was identified as part of 
the City Deal provided that it does so at its own cost without any access to 
any of the HMT Contribution or Councils' Contribution pursuant to this 
Agreement;

15.11.4 unless agreed otherwise by the remaining Councils, the Council who shall 
have indicated its wish to withdraw from the City Deal shall not remove its 
appointees to the Joint Committee for a period of not less than three 
(3) months commencing on the date of such Council's withdrawal, provided 
that the costs associated with those appointees to the Joint Committee shall 
be borne by the remaining Councils on a Proportionate Basis; and

15.11.5 save for the obligations set out in Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions), Clause 14 (Liability of the Councils), this Clause 15 
(Withdrawal) and Clause 18 (Confidentiality and Announcements), the 
withdrawing Council shall be released from its respective obligations 
described in this Agreement from the date of withdrawal.

16. CONSEQUENCES OF TERMINATION

16.1 If the Agreement is terminated in accordance with Clause 2.2 (Termination), save for 
the obligations set out in Clause 12 (Commitment of the Councils and Contributions), 
Clause 14 (Liability of the Councils), this Clause 16 (Consequences of Termination) 
and Clause 18 (Confidentiality and Announcements), the Councils shall be released 
from their respective obligations described in this Agreement.

16.2 Where this Agreement is terminated in respect of that Council in accordance with 
Clause 2.2 (Termination):

16.2.1 any capital asset acquired and/or secured and/or owned and provided by 
such Defaulter for the purposes of the City Deal will remain in the ownership 
of the Defaulter and the Defaulter will reimburse the remaining Councils their 
respective contributions (if any) together with any reasonable costs incurred 
as a result of the withdrawal or default;

16.2.2 the other Councils may elect to continue or discontinue with any 
procurement and/or project forming part of the City Deal; and

16.2.3 the Defaulting Council may elect to independently pursue the procurement of 
any project within its administrative area which was identified as part of the 
City Deal provided that it does so at its own cost without any access to any 
of the HMT Contribution or Councils' Contribution pursuant to this 
Agreement.  

16.3 The Councils acknowledge and agree that:-

Page 403



80872181.2\dd04 30

16.3.1 the City Deal has been modelled on the basis of participation by all the 
Councils and that there are considerable economic benefits to be achieved 
as a result of such joint working; and

16.3.2 accordingly, in the event that this Agreement is terminated in relation to any 
Council pursuant to Clause 2.2 (Termination) such Defaulter shall be liable 
to the Non-Defaulting Council or Councils for their reasonable and properly 
incurred costs in relation to the City Deal as set out in Clause 15.5 
(Withdrawal) and Schedule 6 (Liability Report).  

17.  INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

17.1 Each Council will retain all Intellectual Property in its Material.

17.2 Each Council will grant all of the other Councils a non exclusive, perpetual, 
non-transferable and royalty free licence to use, modify, amend and develop its IP 
Material for the discharge the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal and any 
other purpose resulting from the City Deal whether or not the party granting the 
licence remains a party to this Agreement.

17.3 Without prejudice to Clause 17.1 (Intellectual Property), if more than one Council owns 
or has a legal or beneficial right or interest in any aspect of the IP Material for any 
reason (including  without limitation that no one Council can demonstrate that it 
independently supplied or created the relevant IP Material without the help of one or 
more of the other Councils), each of the Councils who contributed to the relevant IP 
Material will grant to all other Councils to this Agreement a non-exclusive, perpetual, 
non-transferable and royalty free licence to use and exploit such IP Material as if all 
the other Councils were the sole owner under the Copyright Design and Patents Act 
1988 or any other relevant statute or rule of law.

17.4 For the avoidance of doubt, any entity or person who is at the date of this Agreement 
a party to this Agreement and who has licensed any Intellectual Property under this 
Agreement will have a non-exclusive, perpetual right to continue to use the licensed 
Intellectual Property.

17.5 Each Council warrants that it has or will have the necessary rights to grant the 
licences set out in Clause 17.2 (Intellectual Property) and 17.3 (Intellectual Property) 
in respect of the IP Material to be licensed.

17.6 Each Council agrees to execute such further documents and take such actions or do 
such things as may be reasonably requested by any other Councils (and at the 
expense of the Council(s) making the request) to give full effect to the terms of this 
Agreement.

18. CONFIDENTIALITY AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

18.1 Each Council ("Covenanter") shall, both during the currency of this Agreement and at 
all times following its termination or expiry, keep private and confidential and shall not 
use or disclose (whether for its own benefit or that of any third party) any Confidential 
Information about the business of and/or belonging to any other Council or third party 
which has come to its attention as a result of or in connection with this Agreement.

18.2 The obligation set out in Clause 18.1 (Confidentiality and Announcements) shall not 
relate to information which:-

18.2.1 comes into the public domain or is subsequently disclosed to the public 
(other than through default on the part of the Covenanter or any other 
person to whom the Covenanter is permitted to disclose such information 
under this Agreement); or

Page 404



80872181.2\dd04 31

18.2.2 is required to be disclosed by law; or

18.2.3 was already in the possession of the Covenanter (without restrictions as to 
its use) on the date of receipt; or

18.2.4 is required or recommended by the rules of any governmental or regulatory 
authority including any guidance from time to time as to openness and 
disclosure of information by public bodies; or

18.2.5 is necessary to be disclosed to provide relevant information to any insurer or 
insurance broker in connection with obtaining any insurance required by this 
Agreement.

18.3 Where disclosure is permitted under Clause 18.2.3 (Confidentiality and 
Announcements) or 18.2.4 (Confidentiality and Announcements), the recipient of the 
information shall be subject to a similar obligation of confidentiality as that contained in 
this Clause 18 (Confidentiality and Announcements) and the disclosing Council shall 
make this known to the recipient of the information.

18.4 No Council shall make any public statement or issue any press release or publish any 
other public document relating, connected with or arising out of this Agreement or any 
other agreement relating to the City Deal without the prior written consent of the other 
Councils.

19. CONTRACTS (THIRD PARTY RIGHTS)

The Councils as parties to this Agreement do not intend that any of its terms will be 
enforceable by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any person 
not a party to it.

20. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

20.1 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be resolved in 
accordance with this Clause 20 (Dispute Resolution).  The Councils undertake and 
agree to pursue a positive approach towards dispute resolution which seeks (in the 
context of this partnership) to identify a solution which avoids legal proceedings and 
maintains a strong working relationship between the Councils.

20.2 In the event of any dispute or difference between the Councils relating to this 
Agreement (whether this may be a matter of contractual interpretation or otherwise) 
then save in relation to disputes or disagreements relating to a Matter Reserved To 
The Councils, the matter shall be dealt with as follows by referral in the first instance 
to the Joint Committee who shall meet within ten (10) Business Days of notification of 
the occurrence of such dispute and attempt to resolve the disputed matter in good 
faith.

20.3 In relation to a dispute or disagreement relating to a Matter Reserved To The 
Councils, or if the Joint Committee fails to resolve a dispute or disagreement within 
five (5) Business Days of meeting pursuant to Clause 20.2 (Dispute Resolution), or 
fails to meet in accordance with the timescales set out in Clause 20.2 (Dispute 
Resolution), then the Councils in dispute or the Joint Committee (as the case may be) 
may refer the matter for resolution to:-

20.3.1 the Chief Executive(a) or Council Leader(s) (as appropriate) of the Councils; 
or

20.3.2 mediation by such party as the Councils may agree; or

20.3.3 the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of England and Wales otherwise.

Page 405



80872181.2\dd04 32

20.4 Any dispute and/or disagreement to be determined by the Chief Executive(s) or 
Council Leaders (as appropriate), mediation or the Courts of England and Wales or 
such other body as agreed by the Councils (as the case may be) under this 
Agreement shall be promptly referred for determination to them.

20.5 The Councils shall on request promptly supply to the Chief Executive(s) or Council 
Leaders or mediator or the Courts of England and Wales (as the case may be) all 
such assistance, documents and information as may be required for the purpose of 
determination and the Councils shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure the 
prompt determination of such reference.

20.6 If a mediator is appointed to determine in dispute pursuant to Clause 20.3 (Dispute 
Resolution), then the mediator shall be deemed to act as an expert and not as an 
arbitrator and his determination shall (in the absence of manifest error) be conclusive 
and binding upon the Councils.

20.7 The costs of the resolution of any dispute and/or disagreement between the Councils 
under this Agreement shall be borne by the Councils on a Proportionate Basis to the 
dispute in question save as may be otherwise directed by the Chief Executive(s) or 
Council Leaders (as appropriate), the mediator or the Courts of England and Wales 
(as the case may be).

21. DATA PROTECTION 

21.1 In relation to all Personal Data, each Council shall at all times comply with the DPA,  
(as a data controller if necessary) which includes (but is not limited to) maintaining a 
valid and up to date registration or notification under the DPA covering the data 
processing activities to be performed in connection with the City Deal.

21.2 Each Council:

21.2.1 shall process Personal Data belonging to any other Council only on the 
instructions of that Council (subject to compliance with applicable law);

21.2.2 shall only undertake processing of Personal Data reasonably required in 
connection with the City Deal and shall not transfer any Personal Data to 
any country or territory outside the European Economic Area; and

21.2.3 shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that all relevant 
sub-contractors and  third parties comply with this Clause 21.2 (Data 
Protection).  For the avoidance of doubt a relevant sub-contractor is one 
which processes Personal Data belonging to the one or any of the Councils.

21.3 The Councils shall not disclose Personal Data to any third parties other than:

21.3.1 to employees and sub-contractors and third parties to whom such disclosure 
is reasonably necessary in order for the Councils to discharge the Councils' 
obligations in relation to the City Deal;  or

21.3.2 to the extent required under a court order or to comply with any applicable 
laws including (but not limited to) any statute, bye law, European Directive or 
regulation.

provided that any disclosure to any sub-contractor or any third parties under 
Clause 21.3.1 (Data Protection) shall be made subject to written terms substantially 
the same as, and no less stringent than, the terms contained in this Clause 21 (Data 
Protection) and that the Councils shall give notice in writing to all other Councils of any 
disclosure of Personal Data belonging to them which they or a sub-contractor or third 
parties are required to make under Clause 21.3.2 (Data Protection) immediately they 
are aware of such a requirement.

Page 406



80872181.2\dd04 33

21.3.3 The Councils shall bring into effect and maintain and shall use its reasonable 
endeavours to ensure that all relevant sub-contractors and any third parties 
have in effect and maintain all reasonable technical and organisational 
measures necessary to prevent unauthorised or unlawful processing of 
Personal Data and accidental loss or destruction of, or damage to, Personal 
Data including but not limited to taking reasonable steps to ensure the 
reliability and probity of any employee or agent of a relevant sub contractor 
or any third parties having access to the Personal Data.

21.3.4 Any Council may, at reasonable intervals, request a written description of the 
technical and organisational methods employed by any other Council and 
the relevant sub-contractors referred to in Clause 21.2.3 (Data Protection) 
Within five (5) Business Days of such a request, the Council requested to do 
so shall supply written particulars of all such measures as it is maintaining 
detailed to a reasonable level such that the requesting Council can 
determine whether or not, in connection with the Personal Data, it is 
compliant with the DPA.  All Councils shall use its reasonable endeavours to 
ensure that the sub-contractors and any third parties also comply with such 
request from any other Council.  

21.4 All Councils shall ensure that any Personal Data they obtain and provide to any other 
Council has been lawfully obtained and complies with the DPA and that the use 
thereof in accordance with this Agreement shall not breach any of the provisions of the 
DPA.

21.5 If:-

21.5.1 under the DPA any Council is required to provide information to a data 
subject (as defined in the DPA) in relation to Personal Data when such data 
is in the possession or under control of any other Council; and

21.5.2 the required Council informs the controlling Council in writing that this is the 
case,

then the controlling Council shall guarantee reasonable and prompt co-operation to 
the required Council in meeting its obligations under the DPA including making copies 
of the relevant Personal Data to the extent the same are in its possession.

21.6 Each Council shall provide the other as soon as reasonably practicable, with such 
information in relation to Personal Data  and their processing as the other Council may 
reasonably request in writing and the party asked to provide the relevant data may 
reasonably be able to provide in order for the other Council to:-

21.6.1 comply with its obligations under this Clause and the DPA; and

21.6.2 assess whether the processing of the relevant Personal Data in connection 
with this Agreement is breaching or may breach the DPA in a manner which 
is material and not effectively sanctioned by any guidance statement issued 
by the Information Commissioner.

21.7 The Councils shall each take reasonable precautions (having regard to the nature of 
their respective obligations under this Agreement) to preserve the integrity of any 
Personal Data.

21.8 The Councils shall work together to create and agree an information sharing protocol 
specifically in relation to their joint working on the City Deal and shall continually 
review any existing information sharing protocols being used in relation to the City 
Deal to ensure they remain relevant to the City Deal and to identify which Personal 
Data needs to be processed and on what basis to ensure compliance with this Clause 
21 (Data Protection).

Page 407



80872181.2\dd04 34

22. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION AND ENVIRONMENT INFORMATION

22.1 Each Council acknowledges that the other Councils are subject to the requirements of 
the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (“FOIA”) and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004 (“EIR”) and the Councils shall comply with the Accountable Body's 
policy on FOIA in respect of these information disclosure obligations to the extent they 
relate to the City Deal.

22.2 Where a Council receives a request for information under either the FOIA or the EIR in 
relation to information which it is holding on behalf of any of the other Councils in 
relation to the City Deal, it shall:

22.2.1 transfer the request for information to the Accountable Body as soon as  
practicable after receipt and in any event within two (2) Business  Days of 
receiving a request for information;

22.2.2 provide the Accountable Body with a copy of all information in its possession 
or power in the form the Accountable Body reasonably requires within ten 
(10) Business Days (or such longer period as the Accountable Body may 
specify) of the Accountable Body requesting that information; and

22.2.3 provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the 
Accountable Body to enable the Accountable Body to respond to a request 
for information within the time for compliance set out in the FOIA or the EIR.

22.3 The Councils agree and acknowledge that the Accountable Body shall be responsible 
for co-ordinating any response on behalf of the relevant Councils to the extent they 
relate to the City Deal and all costs incurred shall be accounted for as Joint Committee 
Costs.

22.4 The Accountable Body shall be responsible for determining in their absolute discretion 
whether any information requested under the FOIA or the EIR:

22.4.1 is exempt from disclosure under the FOIA or the EIR; 

22.4.2 is to be disclosed in response to a request for information.

22.5 Each Council acknowledges that the Accountable Body may be obliged under the 
FOIA or the EIR to disclose information:

22.5.1 without consulting with the other Councils where it has not been practicable 
to achieve such consultation; or

22.5.2 following consultation with the other Councils and having taken their views 
into account.

23. NOTICES

23.1 Any notice or demand in connection with this Agreement to any Council shall be in 
writing and may be delivered by hand, prepaid first class post, special delivery post or 
email, addressed to the recipient at the address as the case may be set out in 
Schedule 3 (Councils' and Regional Programme Director's Details) or such other 
recipient address as may be notified in writing from time to time by any of the parties 
to this Agreement to all the other Councils to this Agreement.

23.2 Any notice or demand in connection with this Agreement to the Joint Committee shall 
be in writing and may be delivered by hand, prepaid first class post, special delivery 
post or email, addressed to the Regional Programme Director at the address as the 
case may be as set out in Schedule 3 (Councils' and Regional Programme Director's 

Page 408



80872181.2\dd04 35

Details) or such other recipient address as may be notified in writing from time to time 
by the Regional Programme Director to all the Councils to this Agreement.

23.3 The notice or demand shall be deemed to have been duly served:-

23.3.1 if delivered by hand, when left at the proper address for service;

23.3.2 if given or made by prepaid first class post or special delivery post, forty-
eight (48) hours after being posted (excluding days other than Business 
Days);

23.3.3 if given or made by email, at the time of transmission,

provided that, where in the case of delivery by hand or email such delivery or 
transmission occurs either after 4.00pm on a Business Day or on a day other than a 
Business Day service shall be deemed to occur at 9.00am on the next following 
Business Day.

23.4 For the avoidance of doubt, where proceedings to which the Civil Procedure Rules 
apply have been issued, the provisions of the Civil Procedure Rules must be complied 
with in respect of the service of documents in connection with those proceedings.

24. GOVERNING LAW

This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection 
with it shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws 
of England and Wales.  Subject to Clause 20 (Dispute Resolution), the English and 
Welsh Courts shall have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise 
out of or in connection with this Agreement.

25. ASSIGNMENTS

25.1 The rights and obligations of the Councils under this Agreement shall not be assigned, 
novated or otherwise transferred (whether by virtue of any legislation or any scheme 
pursuant to any legislation or otherwise) to any person other than to any public body 
(being a single entity) acquiring the whole of the Agreement and having the legal 
capacity, power and authority to become a party to and to perform the obligations of 
the relevant Council under this Agreement being:

25.1.1 a Minister of the Crown pursuant to an Order under the Ministers of the 
Crown Act 1975; or

25.1.2 any Local Authority which has sufficient financial standing or financial 
resources to perform the obligations of the relevant Council under this 
Agreement.

26. WAIVER

26.1 No failure or delay by any Council to exercise any right, power or remedy will operate 
as a waiver of it nor will any partial exercise preclude any further exercise of the same 
or some other right, power or remedy unless a waiver is given in writing by that 
Council.

26.2 Each Council shall pay their own costs incurred in connection with the preparation, 
execution, completion and implementation of this Agreement.

27. ENTIRE AGREEMENT

This Agreement contains all the terms which the parties have agreed in relation to the 
subject of this Agreement and supersedes any prior written or oral agreements, 

Page 409



80872181.2\dd04 36

representations or understandings between the Councils relating to such subject 
matter.  No Council has been induced to enter into this Agreement or any of these 
documents by statement or promise which they do not contain, save that this Clause 
shall not exclude any liability which one Council would otherwise have to the other in 
respect of any statements made fraudulently by that Council.

28. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts each of which so 
executed shall be an original but together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument.

29. RELATIONSHIP OF COUNCILS

Each Council is an independent body and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
be construed to imply that there is any relationship between the Councils of 
partnership or (except as expressly provided in this Agreement) of principal/agent or of 
employer/employee.  No Council shall have the right to act on behalf of another nor to 
bind the other by contract or otherwise except to the extent expressly permitted by the 
terms of this Agreement.  In particular for the avoidance of doubt, none of the 
provisions relating to the principles of working in partnership shall be taken to 
establish any partnership as defined by The Partnership Act 1890.

30. STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES

Notwithstanding anything apparently to the contrary in this Agreement, in carrying out 
their statutory duties, the discretion of any Council shall not be fettered or otherwise 
affected by the terms of this Agreement.

Page 410



80872181.2\dd04 37

Schedule 1

DELEGATIONS POLICY

DECISION REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR
MATTER

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS

KEY THEMES             

1. Approval and adoption of the JWA 
Business Plan

Yes

2. Approval and adoption of any 
updated JWA Business Plan save to 
the extent any such update amount to 
a material change to the prevailing 
JWA Business Plan (in which case 
the decision to approve and adopt 
such updated JWA Business Plan 
shall be a "Matter Reserved To The 
Councils")

Yes

3. Approval and adoption of the Annual 
Business Plans and any updated 
Annual Business Plan

Yes

4. Taking action outside of the 
parameters of the JWA Business 
Plan or any Annual Business Plan(s) 
for specific Programme Themes or 
approved projects agreed in the JWA 
Business Plan which shall include the 
number and scope of projects to be 
developed in order to provide an 
overall regional benefit to the Cardiff 
Capital Region   

Yes

ESTABLISHMENT OF A FUND

5. Agreeing the legal structure of the 
Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund (e.g. a separate 
corporate entity established as a 
company or LLP, a Limited 
Partnership or a Block of Finance / 
Accountable Body arrangements)

Yes

6. Agreeing the number of, size of and 
scope of any investment fund(s) 
within the scope of the Annual Budget 
set out in Clause 12.4 (Annual 
Budget)

Yes

7. Agreeing any governance 
documentation 

Yes

8. Agreeing the investment criteria and 
investment policy to determine when 

Yes

Page 411



80872181.2\dd04 38

DECISION REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR
MATTER

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS

investments should be made and 
their prioritisation

9. Procuring and appointing a fund 
manager

Yes

FUNDING AND EXPENDITURE

10. Agreeing any increase to the 
Affordability Envelope

Yes

11. Approval of any increase to the 
Council Contribution above the 
£120,000,000 (one hundred and 
twenty million pounds) provided for 
under Clause 12.5.3 (Councils' 
Contribution)

Yes

12. Agreeing any extension of time 
beyond the six (6) month timescale 
set out under Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent) to allow the Councils 
further time to approve any Welsh 
Government Funding conditions

Yes

13. Waiver of any Condition Subsequent 
pursuant to Clause 2.3 (Conditions 
Subsequent)

Yes

14. Approval of any disproportionate 
Internal Costs pursuant to Clause 
12.2.2 (Commitment of the Councils 
and Contributions)

Yes

15. Approval of expenditure within the 
approved Annual Budget of the 
Accountable Body held on behalf of 
the Councils set out in Clause 12.4 
(Annual Budget)

Yes

16. Approval of the Annual Budget 
pursuant to Clause 12.4.1(b) (Annual 
Budget)

Yes

17. Approval of additional expenditure up 
to of 5% (five per cent) of the 
approved Annual Budget of the 
Accountable Body held on behalf of 
the Councils set out in Clause 12.4 
(Annual Budget)

Yes

18. Agreeing the form of the Gateway 
Reviews

Yes

19. Agreeing any Welsh Government 
Funding conditions

Yes

20. Approval of whether some of the 
HMT Contribution capital funding can 
be used as revenue pursuant to 
Clause 12.5.2(b)(v) (HMT 

Yes

Page 412



80872181.2\dd04 39

DECISION REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR
MATTER

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS

Contribution)

21. Entering into (or agreeing to enter 
into) any borrowing arrangement on 
behalf of the Joint Committee and/or 
giving any security in respect of any 
such borrowing

Yes

22. Accepting terms and conditions in 
relation to any third party funding for 
the City Deal

Yes

GENERAL

23. Replacement of the Accountable 
Body pursuant to Clause 4.2 

Yes

24. Establishment of a sub-committee 
pursuant to this Agreement and 
determining their terms of reference 
and scope of delegation.

Yes

25. Making any variations to or waiving 
any rights to or terminating any 
contracts signed by Councils / the 
Accountable Body (other than this 
Agreement) which are material to the 
City Deal.

Yes

26. Amendments to the terms of this 
Agreement, which are not substantive 
(in which case the decision to 
approve and  adopt such substantive 
amendment shall be a ‘Matter 
Reserved To The Councils’) 

Yes

27. The engagement of (and terms of 
engagement of) any individual person 
as a consultant where the value of 
the appointment does not exceed 
£50,000 per Accounting Period

Yes

28. Commencing any claim, proceedings 
or other litigation brought by or 
settling or defending any claim, 
proceedings or other litigation brought 
against the Joint Committee or 
individual Council in relation to the 
City Deal, except in relation to debt 
collection in the ordinary course of 
business.

Yes

29. Making any announcements or 
releases of whatever nature in 
relation to the Joint Committee and 
the City Deal

Yes

30. Appointment of Regional Programme 
Director

Yes

Page 413



80872181.2\dd04 40

DECISION REGIONAL 
PROGRAMME 

DIRECTOR
MATTER

JOINT 
COMMITTEE 

MATTER

MATTER 
RESERVED TO 
THE COUNCILS

31. Any other matters not covered in this 
Schedule 1 (Delegations Policy)

Yes

Page 414



80872181.2\dd04 41

Schedule 2

TERMS OF REFERENCE

PART 1

JOINT COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

Aims/Purpose

1. To oversee the progress the City Deal and to give strategic direction.

2. The Joint Committee (also known as the ‘Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet’ and 
‘Joint Cabinet’) will be the key body to oversee the City Deal and to represent the 
interests of the Councils and its stakeholders. The Joint Committee will also be 
responsible for monitoring project progress and managing the political dimensions of 
the City Deal.

3. The Joint Committee will carry out the following functions:
 Determine the form of and number of fund(s) to deliver the City Deal.
 Agree key projects to deliver the City Deal excluding the South East Wales Metro 

Scheme
 Provide strategic direction to the Regional Programme Director (to include approval 

of remit for the Regional Programme Director and approval of any resourcing 
issues)

 Act as a representative for each of the Councils to ensure consistency with 
individual objectives and visions

 Monitor performance, management and working arrangements (to include the 
necessary audit and assurance checks)

 Ensure that sufficient resources are committed to the City Deal 
 Arbitrate on any conflicts within the programme or negotiate a solution to any 

problems between the programme and external bodies
 Communicate and provide progress on strategic issues within the City Deal
 Promote partnership working between the Councils
 Publish annual governance statement and Annual Accounts in accordance with the 

Assurance Framework
 Liaise with other City Deal partners across the United Kingdom to share best 

practice and ensure a co-ordinated strategic approach
 Provide the Councils with annual progress reports

               
Terms

4 At the start of the City Deal, to: 
 Prepare the JWA  Business Plan in accordance with the provisions of Clause 7  and 
 Agree the  detail of the  decision-making process and assessments (as referred to 

in the Assurance Framework and where yet to be completed) prior to Joint Cabinet 
considering individual projects 

5. During the planning and development stages, to:

 Review project status against the approved  plans
 Monitor the management of project budget, risks and quality
 Promote and support the project among relevant stakeholders and where 

appropriate obtain their consent.

Page 415



80872181.2\dd04 42

 Seek to resolve disputes where these cannot be resolved satisfactorily through 
other means

 Ensure that the proposals are affordable and deliver maximum value for money for 
the public sector.

Procurement of contracts for goods, works or services

Subject to compliance with: legislation,  the contract standing orders and other procedural rules 
of the Accountable Body (where the contracts are to be let in the name of the Accountable 
Body) and the issue not falling within a ‘Matter Reserved to the Councils’, the following 
provisions apply.

6. Where the Joint Committee is procuring any goods, works or services, at the start of a 
procurement, the Joint Committee or if falling within the delegated authority of the 
Regional Programme Director, the Regional Programme Director, shall agree:

 Measures against which the benefits realisation should be measured
 Arrangements for quality assurance and risk management
 Arrangements for communications 
 Arrangements for procurement launch for specific projects (where appropriate)

7. As the procurements progress, to:

 Review the project status against the project plan
 Monitor the management of procurement budget, risks and quality
 Agree progression through key stages (eg including but not limited to issue of the 

OJEU, pre-qualification stage and preferred bidder stage) and obtain all associated 
‘sign-offs’.

 Agree draft procurement documents
 Agree the process for evaluating bids and the detailed evaluation criteria and 

scoring
 Consider  the progress of the procurement
 Act as the ambassadors for the procurement and the project it facilitates

8. At the end of the procurement, to:

 Ensure that the pre contract risk review is completed
 Agree any financial business cases
 Make decisions as to  award of contract and provide all final ‘sign-offs’
 Ensure that the contract is appropriately managed and expected products have 

been delivered satisfactorily

Page 416



43

PART 2

PROGRAMME BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE

To be finalised and inserted by agreement of the Councils as a Joint Committee Matter

Page 417



44

Schedule 3

COUNCILS' AND REGIONAL PROGRAMME DIRECTOR'S DETAILS

RECIPIENT'S NAME ADDRESS EMAIL

Blaenau Gwent Council:
Head of Paid Service

Municipal Offices, Civic Centre, 
Ebbw Vale, Gwent, NP23 6XB

 Stephen.Gillingham@blaenau-
gwent.gov.uk

Bridgend Council:
Chief Executive

Civic Offices, Angel Street, 
Bridgend, CF31 4WB

 darren.mepham@briegend.gov.uk

Caerphilly Council:
Chief Executive

Penallta House, Tredomen Park, 
Ystrad Mynach, Hengoed, CF82 

7PG

chrisburns@carerdphilly.gov.uk

Cardiff Council:
Chief Executive

County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, 
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

paul.orders@cardiff.gov.uk

Merthyr Tydfil Council: 
Chief Executive

Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

chief.executive@merthyr.gov.uk

Monmouthshire Council: 
Chief Executive

County Hall, The Rhadyr, Usk 
NP15 1GA 

PaulMatthews@monmouthshire.gov.
uk

Newport Council:
Chief Executive 

Civic Centre, Newport, NP20 4UR will.gogfrey@newport.gov.uk

Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Council:

Chief Executive

The Pavilions, Cambrian Park,  
Clydach Vale, Tonypandy,  CF40 

2X

christopher.d.bradshaw@rctcbc.gov.
uk

Torfaen Council:
Chief Executive

Civic Centre, Pontypool, NP4 6YB alison.ward@torfaen.gov.uk

The Vale of Glamorgan 
County Borough Council:

Managing Director

Civic Offices, Holton Road, Barry, 
CF63 4RU

drthomas@valeofglamorgan.gov.uk

Regional Programme 
Director

Civic Offices, Angel Street, 
Bridgend, CF31 4WB

 Sheila.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk

Page 418

mailto:Sheila.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk


45

Schedule 4

HEADS OF EXPENDITURE

1. The following is a non-exhaustive list of the heads of expenditure that may be incurred by 
the Councils in the City Deal:-

1.1 "Internal Costs" means the costs associated with each Council providing internal Council 
resources in relation to the City Deal which includes but is not limited to:

1.1.1 Staffing costs and associated overheads

1.1.2 Project management / technical & admin support 

1.1.3 Communications 

1.1.4 costs incurred in respect of managing FOIA requests pursuant to Clause 22 
(Freedom of Information and Environmental Information)

1.2 "Joint Committee Costs" means the operational and management costs of the Joint 
Committee, (its sub committees and groups created pursuant to clauses 10.18 and 10.19) 
which includes but is not limited to

1.2.1 Staffing costs and associated overheads 

1.2.2 Project management / technical & admin support

1.2.3 Communications

1.2.4 Translation Costs

1.2.5 The costs incurred by the Accountable Body  in carrying out the duties of the 
Accountable Body (clauses 4 and 5) 

1.2.6 External professional advice 

1.3 For the avoidance of doubt, Internal Costs and Joint Committee Costs do not include any 
revenue costs or capital investment relating to the implementation of any project pursuant 
to an Annual Business Plan. 

Page 419



46

Schedule 5

ACCOUNTING PERIODS

The initial Accounting Period shall be the date of this Agreement until 31st March and thereafter shall 
be as follows:

Start of Accounting 
Period

End of Accounting 
Period

1 April 30 June

1 July 30 September

1 October 31 December

1 January 31 March

Page 420



47

Schedule 6

LIABILITY REPORT

The Liability Report shall include (but shall not be limited to) irrecoverable expenditure incurred and 
committed in relation to the following:

Amount  (all figures in round pounds)

Any committed costs including but not 
limited to those set out in Clause 15.5 
(Withdrawal)

Procurement Costs

Costs associated with delays and having to 
revisit any procurements (including but not 
limited to the cost of legal, financial and 
technical advice)

Land costs – costs associated with 
identifying and procuring land 

Staff costs (and associated overheads) in 
progressing the scheme:-

a) Consultancy / Advisors fees  

b) Internal Project Management and 
monitoring

c) Internal Professional advice  

All other reasonable and properly incurred 
costs and losses (to include the cost of 
preparing the Liability Report)

Any costs, claims and damages arising 
from any third parties in respect of any 
costs relating to any delay or arising from 
the termination

Certified Correct ___________________________ ________________________
       (Signed)      (Date)

Page 421



48

Schedule 7

CITY DEAL

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal
Executive Summary

1. Cardiff Capital Region has secured a deal worth £1.2 billion. Over its lifetime, local 
partners expect the City Deal to deliver up to 25,000 new jobs and leverage an 
additional £4 billion of private sector investment.
2. This City Deal will provide local partners with the powers and the resources to 
unlock significant economic growth across the Cardiff Capital Region. It is a deal that 
builds on the region’s sectoral strengths, its high skill base and three successful 
universities. The City Deal also provides an opportunity to continue tackling the 
area’s barriers to economic growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing 
skill levels still further; supporting people into work; and giving businesses the 
support they need to innovate and grow.
3. This deal will also develop stronger and more effective leadership across the
Cardiff Capital Region, enabling ten local authority leaders to join up decision
making, pool resources and work more effectively with local businesses. 
4. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal includes:

 £1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s infrastructure. A key 
priority for investment will be the delivery of the South East Wales Metro, including 
the Valley Lines Electrification programme.
 Connecting the region. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-
statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-ordinate transport planning and 
investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government.
 Support for innovation and improving the digital network. To develop 
capabilities in Compound Semiconductor Applications the UK Government will invest 
£50 million to establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The Cardiff Capital region 
will also prioritise investment in research and development and provide support for 
high value innovative businesses.
 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment. The Cardiff
Capital Region Skills and Employment Board will be created (building on existing 
arrangements) to ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs 
of local businesses and communities. The Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh 
Government will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to co-design the 
future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability 
and/or long term unemployed.
 Supporting enterprise and business growth. A Cardiff Capital Region Business 
Organisation will be established to ensure that there is a single voice for business to 
work with local authority leaders.
 Housing development and regeneration. The Welsh Government and the
Cardiff Capital Region commit to a new partnership approach to strategic planning. 
This will ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-use 
of property and sites.

Page 422



49
Page 423



50

Introduction

5. The Cardiff Capital Region is comprised of ten local authorities: Blaenau Gwent; 
Bridgend; Caerphilly; Cardiff; Merthyr Tydfil; Monmouthshire; Newport; Rhondda 
Cynon Taff; Torfaen; and Vale of Glamorgan. It is the largest city-region in Wales 
and accounts for approximately 50% of the total economic output of the Welsh 
economy, 49% of total employment and has over 38,000 active businesses.
6. The Cardiff Capital Region is an area where people want to live and work. With 
two cities (Cardiff and Newport) at its core, the region has seen significant 
regeneration and investment over recent decades. Cardiff, as the capital city, is now 
dynamic, fast growing and forecast to have a higher population growth rate over the 
next 20 years than any other city in the UK.
7. The area is home to a range of competitive business clusters with significant 
international and indigenous businesses across sectors such as: financial services; 
creative and digital industries; advanced manufacturing; life sciences; energy; and 
energy supply. These business clusters are serviced through a wide and supportive 
ecosystem. This ecosystem contains a thriving higher education sector which 
includes Cardiff University, Cardiff Metropolitan University and the University of 
South Wales.
8. However, despite these strengths, numerous challenges remain. Gross Value
Added, which is a measure of goods and services produced in an area, is lower than 
all but one of the English Core City Regions. There are also connectivity issues 
across the region which makes it more difficult for people in Valley’s communities to 
access economic opportunities.
9. Recognising these opportunities and challenges all the signatories to this deal are 
working together to realise the vision for the Cardiff Capital Region, which is to: 
“work together to improve the lives of people in all our communities. We will 
maximise opportunity for all and ensure we secure sustainable economic growth for 
future generations”. This City Deal provides local partners with further powers and 
tools to realise this vision.

Page 424



51

Key Elements of the Deal

Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund

10. This City Deal sets out a transformative approach in how the Cardiff Capital
Region will deliver the scale and nature of investment needed to support the area’s 
growth plans. Central to this will be the development of a 20 year £1.2 billion 
Investment Fund, which the Cardiff Capital Region will use to invest in a wide range 
of projects.
11. Both the UK and Welsh Government are contributing £500 million to this fund 
respectively. The Welsh Government funding will be provided over the first seven 
years of the Investment Fund, from 2016/17 to 2022/23. The ten local authorities in 
the Cardiff Capital Region will contribute a minimum of £120 million over the 20 year 
period of the Fund. In addition, over £100m from the European Regional 
Development Fund has been committed to delivering the City Deal.
12. The Cardiff Capital Region believes investments in these areas will deliver up to 
25,000 new jobs and bring forward at least £4 billion of additional investment from 
local partners and the private sector by 2036.

South East Wales Metro

13. A key priority, which the City Deal Investment Fund will support, is the delivery of 
the South East Wales Metro. The scheme has the potential to provide a significantly 
improved public transport system that will transform the way people travel around the 
region.
14. Given the importance of the Metro to the UK Government, Welsh Government 
and Cardiff Capital Region, a proportion of the Investment Fund will be pre-allocated 
to the delivery of this scheme. This pre-allocation focuses on both phases of the 
wider Metro scheme. These are:

 The delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification programme. This City Deal 
reconfirms the continued shared ambition of both Government’s and the Cardiff
Capital Region to deliver this element of the wider Metro scheme. £325 million of the 
£1.2 billion Investment Fund has already been committed to the delivery of this 
scheme (£125 million from the UK Government, £94 million from the
Welsh Government and £106 million from the European Regional Development 
Fund).
 The delivery of the wider South East Wales Metro scheme. The Welsh
Government will pre-allocate over £400m further funding from the Investment
Fund to deliver the wider ambitions around the Metro scheme, which is the subject of 
ongoing design work. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government commits to 
involving the Cardiff Capital Region in the co-design of the wider Metro scheme and 
in the procurement of a delivery organisation.
15. The Department for Transport will agree the arrangements for making the agreed 
contribution to the Valley Lines Electrification project with the Welsh Government.

Page 425



52

The Welsh Government will agree with the local authorities the arrangements for 
managing the funding of the Metro scheme, and how it interacts with funding for 
additional Metro investments delivered through this City Deal.

Wider Investment Priorities

16. The remaining element of the Investment Fund will be used to take forward a 
wide range of projects and schemes that support economic growth across the Cardiff 
Capital Region. Decisions on the prioritisation of these schemes will be taken by the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. Schemes taken forward could include: further 
transport schemes; investment to unlock housing and employment sites; and 
development of research and innovation facilities.

Investment Fund Assurance Framework

17. The ten local authorities across the Cardiff Capital Region commit to writing and 
adopting an assurance framework for this Investment Fund. This will be agreed by 
the UK and Welsh Government. By adopting the assurance framework prior to the 
commencement of the Investment Fund, the Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that 
schemes that are taken forward (outside of the South East Wales Metro which will be 
subject to a separate assessment against an assurance framework) represent good 
value for money and are underpinned by a robust business case.
18. This assurance framework will be based on existing best practice from the UK 
Government and Welsh Government. In addition the framework will also draw upon 
any local best practice for managing investment decisions across the Capital Region. 
Key elements that the assurance framework will include are:

 purpose, structure and operating principles of the framework;
 arrangements to ensure value for money and effective delivery through strong 
project development, project and options appraisal, prioritisation, and business case 
development;
 a description of the arrangements for supporting the effective delivery and 
implementation of projects and schemes, including relationships with delivery bodies; 
and
 arrangements which enable effective and meaningful engagement of local partners 
and the public in the investment decisions taken and subsequent scrutiny of these 
decisions.

Investment Fund Gateway Assessments

19. Cardiff Capital Region will be required to evaluate the impact of the Investment 
Fund in order to unlock funding that has not been pre-allocated to the South East 
Wales Metro programme. This will be comprised of gateway assessments every five 
years. To underpin these gateway assessments, an independent review will be 
commissioned to evaluate the economic benefits and economic impact of the 
investments made under the scheme, including whether the projects have been 
delivered on time and to budget. This assessment will be funded by the Cardiff 
Capital Region, but agreed at the outset with the UK Government. The next five year 
tranche of funding will be unlocked if the UK and Welsh Governments are satisfied 

Page 426



53

that the independent assessment shows the investments to have met key objectives 
and contributed to national growth.

Local Authority Borrowing

20. Throughout the course of the City Deal programme the ten Cardiff Capital 
Region local authorities will be responsible for financing the capital investment 
programme.  The difference in the profile between the proposed investment and the 
capital grant funding may require a local authority or authorities to borrow to fund any 
difference in expenditure and grant. The cost of any external borrowing is the 
responsibility of the relevant local authority or local authorities and is to be managed 
in accordance with prudential principles – it must be prudent, affordable and 
sustainable.
21. In a scenario where a future Investment Fund Gateway is not achieved, leading 
to any reduction or cessation of City Deal grant, then it will be the responsibility of 
individual local authorities within the Cardiff Capital Region to manage the financial 
impact of this within their local authority budget, utilising reserves or surpluses as 
required.

Additional Flexibilities

22. In order to deliver the Cardiff Capital Region‘s City Deal commitments and a 
longer-term economic strategy, the ten local authorities have requested greater 
financial autonomy and flexibility. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government will 
explore with the Cardiff Capital Region:
 the devolution of business rate income above an agreed growth baseline to provide 
funding for the City Deal programme;
 providing the ability to levy an infrastructure supplement;
 creating the option for the local authorities to use alternative finance sources; and
 removing conditions around some specific Welsh Government grants, to allow 
funding to be pooled at the regional level in areas such as school support and 
interventions that seek to address poverty.

Connecting the Cardiff Capital Region

23. Transport has a key role in delivering economic growth and improving outcomes 
for people by connecting communities, business, jobs, facilities and services. 
However across the Capital Region there are significant congestion and transport 
capacity issues that need to be addressed. The City Deal Investment Fund and 
South East Wales Metro will make a significant contribution to improving transport 
connectivity.
24. In addition to this investment the Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-
statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-ordinate transport planning and 
investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government. The Cardiff Capital Region 
Transport Authority will be responsible for:

 pooled local transport resources;
 regional planning for the local transport network;

Page 427



54

 working with Transport for Wales to ensure objectives for transport investment are 
aligned;
 exploring the creation of a single integrated ticketing platform for public transport 
across the Cardiff Capital Region;
 working in partnership with the Welsh Government to define the priorities of the 
South East Wales Metro concept and to support its delivery; and
 working in partnership with the Welsh Government to promote the development of 
integrated aviation routes from Cardiff Airport and St Athan Enterprise Zone, to 
deliver economic benefit.

Investing in Innovation and the Digital Network

25. The Cardiff Capital Region has an aspiration to extend the “arc of innovation” 
that runs along the M4 corridor into the Cardiff Capital Region. Capitalising on the 
research strengths of the Region’s three universities, the Cardiff Capital Region will 
designate an “Innovation District” that helps to: create and nurture new high growth 
businesses; increases investment in research and development; and provides the 
skills that businesses need now and in the future.

Developing the Compound Semiconductor Sector
26. To transform the UK’s capability, and help position Cardiff as the European 
leader in Compound Semiconductor applications, the UK Government will invest £50 
million to establish a new Catapult in Wales. This new Catapult will complement the 
work of other organisations in Wales who are already working in this important area, 
including the Compound Semiconductor Institute at Cardiff University and the 
Compound Semiconductor Centre, a joint venture between Cardiff University and 
IQE.
27. Recognising this opportunity, the Cardiff Capital Region will prioritise 
interventions that support the development of an internationally-competitive 
Compound Semi- Conductor cluster. Local partners believe that this will put the UK 
at the heart of an emerging global growth technology.

Innovation Investment
28. To accelerate the growth of innovation and facilitate investment in research and 
development, the Cardiff Capital Region will seek to prioritise:
 mechanisms to support high growth sectors;
 the development of new facilities and employments sites;
 new approaches to public service delivery;
 the Software Academy in Newport and related programmes across the Capital
Region;
 investment in intellectual property creation and commercialisation;
 adding value and complimenting existing innovation support; and
 developing a cyber-security academy with the University of South Wales.

Innovate UK
29. Innovate UK is now planning to increase its footprint and presence in Wales, in 
order to: raise the awareness and engagement in Innovate UK programmes and 
activities; to strengthen its links with business, universities and other key partners; 
and to work with the Welsh Government to promote and support innovation.

Page 428



55

Data
30. Cardiff Capital Region commits to developing proposals for how better and more 
flexible use of data could be used to drive innovation across the public sector and 
within the wider economy. The Cardiff Capital Region will present a clear case to the 
UK Government for how a different approach to the use of specific data would 
improve service delivery and would benefit particular groups.

The Digital Network
31. Innovation will also be a central theme within the Cardiff Capital Region’s 
ambition to deliver an outstanding digital infrastructure and wider ecosystem to 
support economic growth. To continue to build on investments in next generation 
broadband, and the Region’s reputation as one of the fastest growing tech hubs in 
the UK, the Cardiff Capital Region will prioritise:

 exploring the case for direct international connectivity;
 the mobile infrastructure across 4G and 5G technologies that add value to existing 
provision;
 increasing Wi-Fi services across public transport;
 digital solutions to solve the big problems, such as smart housing, citizen payments 
and open data challenges; and
 facilitating collaboration between stakeholders to identify and exploit opportunities.

Developing a Skilled Workforce and Tackling Unemployment

32. This City Deal will improve the co-ordination and delivery of skills and 
employment support across the Capital Region. It will help to increase the number of 
people moving into work (including those that have been out of work for a long time), 
increase the number of people undertaking an apprenticeship or other relevant skills 
provision and give people the skills they need to compete in a global employment 
market.

The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board

33. To ensure skills provision is adapted to local economic and social needs and 
provides the best value for money, the Cardiff Capital Region will strengthen the 
existing Learning, Skills and Innovation Partnership. This will be re-launched in 2016 
as the Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board.
34. The Partnership will represent a wide range of stakeholders, including: business 
bodies; higher and further education; local authorities and the Welsh Government.

It will be responsible for:

 Cardiff Capital Region’s skills and worklessness strategy;
 pooled local authority skills resource;
 producing an annual regional plan for employment and skills. This annual plan, led 
by industry, will set out how both the existing skills needs of businesses and the 
Capital Region’s future skills challenges will be addressed;

Page 429



56

 influencing and monitoring the delivery and impact of employment and skills 
programmes across the Region;
 ensuring an industry led approach to the design and delivery of apprenticeship 
programmes meets the needs of both business and apprentices;
 supporting the Welsh Government’s “Curriculum for Wales, Curriculum for Life” 
plan, by encouraging closer alignment between future employer skills needs and 
education provision across the region; and
 ensuring European Union funding investments in skills and employment add value 
and align with other programmes.

Work and Health Programme

35. Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with Department for
Work and Pensions to co-design future employment support from 2017, for people 
with a health condition or disability and/or long term unemployed1, many of whom are 
currently referred to the Work Programme and Work Choice.
36. The respective roles of the Department for Work and Pensions and Cardiff 
Capital Region in the co-design include:
 Department for Work and Pensions setting the funding envelope; however
Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government can top up this if they wish, but 
are not required to.
 Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government setting out how they will join up 
local public services in order to improve outcomes for this group.
 Department for Work and Pensions setting the high level performance framework, 
ensuring support appropriately reflects labour market issues. The primary aim will be 
to reduce unemployment and move people into sustained employment.
 Cardiff Capital Region (working with the Welsh Government) will have input into 
determining specific local outcomes that reflect their labour market priorities, 
however these outcomes should be complementary to the ultimate employment 
outcome. In determining any local outcome(s) Cardiff Capital
Region and the Welsh Government will work with the Department for Work and 
Pensions to take account of the labour market evidence base and articulate how 
these will both fit within the wider strategic and economic context and deliver value 
for money.
37. Before delivery commences the Department for Work and Pensions, Cardiff
Capital Region and the Welsh Government will set out an agreement covering the 
respective roles of each party in the delivery and monitoring of the support. This will 
include a mechanism by which each party can raise and resolve any concerns that 
arise.
38. The Department for Work and Pensions sets the contracting arrangements, 
including contract package areas, but should consider any proposals from Cardiff 
Capital Region on contract package area geography.
39. Providers will be solely accountable to the Department for Work and Pensions, 
although Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will be involved in the 
tender evaluation.
40. The Department for Work and Pensions and Cardiff Capital Region will develop a 
mechanism by which Cardiff Capital Region (working with the Welsh Government) 
can escalate to the Department for Work and Pensions any concerns about provider 

Page 430



57

performance/reaching local agreements and require the Department for Work and 
Pensions to take formal contract action where appropriate.

Supporting Enterprise and Business Growth

41. The Cardiff Capital Region is committed to improving the co-ordination of local 
and national business support arrangements. This includes working in partnership 
with the Welsh Government to address identified barriers to growth, support spatial 
and sectoral priorities and to target emerging opportunities for driving economic 
performance.

The Cardiff Capital Region Business Organisation

42. Local partners recognise that ensuring there is a strong business voice to guide 
both the design and delivery of business support across the region will be critical.
43. Therefore working with public sector partners, the business community, and 
representative bodies, Cardiff Capital Region will establish a Cardiff Capital Regional 
Business Organisation. This organisation will provide a clear business voice that will 
influence and shape business support programmes. In creating the Board, a 
mapping and consultation process will be undertaken with existing advisory Boards 
operating within the Region. This will ensure roles and remits are complimentary and 
add value. The Board will be responsible for:
 articulating the regional needs of business;
 identifying regional priorities for existing business support services; and
 designing future business support programmes.
44. Membership will be drawn from across a range of sectors and interests, including 
social enterprises and mutuals. A joint Confederation of British Industry, Federation 
of Small Business, Institute of Directors and South Wales Chamber of Commerce 
statement outlined the underlying principles for the Business Organisation. The final 
structure will be designed by the Cardiff Capital Region business community.

Integration of Local Business Support Services and Resources

45. To ensure that relevant business support and promotional activities are delivered 
at the Capital Region level, local resources will be aligned to create an Integrated 
Delivery Unit. This unit will deliver regionally significant aspects of economic 
development. This includes: business development; marketing; tourism; and inward 
investment.
46. The Integrated Delivery Unit, working in collaboration with the Welsh 
Government and the proposed Regional Business Organisation, will ensure that any 
new business support provision complements existing national initiatives. In addition, 
through this collaborative approach, the Welsh Government is committed to working 
with the Cardiff Capital Region to explore where existing business support provision 
can be built on or expanded, whilst avoiding duplication. A number of existing 
programmes (for example Business Wales, which offers a one stop shop advice and 
referral service to SMEs and Entrepreneurs) have already been designed through 
consultation with industry and have the potential to be aligned with identified regional 
needs and priorities.

Page 431



58

47. Further to this, the Welsh Government is also committed to working in 
partnership with the Cardiff Capital Region to promote the area at a global level. As 
part of this, the Welsh Government will ensure greater levels of visibility with the 
Welsh Government’s own overseas offices. In addition the Welsh Government will 
continue to work closely with UK Trade and Investment to ensure that its 
propositions are promoted and co-ordinated across the UK Trade and Investment 
overseas post network.

Housing Development and Regeneration

48. Delivering an increase in house building across the Cardiff Capital Region will 
help to address critical housing shortages especially for first time buyers and those 
unable to join the ‘housing ladder’. House building is also a critical element of the 
economy as it: stimulates demand within the supply chain during construction and 
through purchases by the eventual occupiers; contributes to a more balanced 
regional planning framework; and is a major employer in its own right.
49. The City Deal presents a unique opportunity for the ten local authority areas to 
come together to develop and deliver a strategic approach to housing, regeneration 
and economic growth which will create an accessible, liveable, ‘worklife integrated’ 
and highly connected Capital Region. To support this ambition the Cardiff Capital 
Region will:
 Commit to the development of a partnership between the Cardiff Capital Region 
and the Welsh Government to take a strategic and balanced approach to housing 
and regeneration, focussing development on where it is most needed – in a regional 
and coordinated way.
 Ensure that new housing is linked to the delivery of sustainable and balanced 
communities, through the re-use of property and sites. Further, both the Welsh
Government and Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that proposals to improve the 
efficiency and quality of the housing stock are aligned with other regeneration 
outcomes.
 Establish a collective way of working, for example, through an asset development 
vehicle to progress speculative opportunities for potential Cardiff
Capital Region regeneration ventures.
 Develop an integrated public-private housing offer, with clarity over tenure, mix 
type, design and affordability with prototyping for ‘settlements of the future’.
 Utilise innovation in local procurement to secure supply chain benefits, local labour 
and other social clauses to maximise value.
 Establish the delivery of renewable energy-led regeneration and housing 
programmes and ensure the principles of ‘clean-tech’ are anchored within physical 
development initiatives. This will contribute to ensuring ‘futureproofing’ and creation 
of new supply chain networks.
 Engage the affordable housing sector providers in the region as one network.
Working with Cardiff Capital Region this network will develop a regional
“Housing Plus” strategy in which added value benefits such as training construction 
apprenticeships, energy resilience and job creation are clearly set out and adopted. 
This will provide a framework against which site regeneration schemes can be 
prioritised for investment.
50. In both the planning and delivery of new housing and regeneration projects, the 
Cardiff Capital Region will ensure that there is alignment to current Welsh

Page 432



59

Government programmes including Creating Vibrant and Viable Places – the Welsh 
Government’s regeneration framework and increasing the supply and standards of 
housing.

Cardiff Capital Region Governance

51. The ten local authority partners of the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal have 
agreed to establish governance model that:
 complies with the existing statutory framework that exists in Wales to deliver this 
City Deal;
 strengthens and streamlines the existing governance and partnership 
arrangements across the Capital Region;
 improves business involvement in local decision making;
 provides confidence and assurance to both the UK and Welsh Government that the 
local authority leaders are making decisions which will drive economic growth across 
the Capital Region; and
 enables local authorities to explore with the Welsh Government alternative 
governance arrangements in the medium term.

Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet

52. Utilising the existing statutory framework, the ten local authorities will establish a 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet. The Cabinet will have the status of a Joint 
Committee and will be the ultimate decision making body in the governance 
structure.
53. The establishment of a Capital Region Cabinet will be the first step in the 
development of greater city-region governance across the Cardiff Capital Region. 
The Cabinet, which will comprise the ten participating local authorities, will provide 
the basis for initial decision making regarding the Investment Fund. In addition the 
Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet will be responsible for:
 management of the Cardiff Capital Region Investment Fund;
 additional devolved funding provided to the Capital Region;
 the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority;
 contracting with Transport for Wales on prioritised Metro projects;
 control over devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, 
subject to Welsh Government agreement;
 strategic planning including housing, transport planning and land use;
 influencing skills and worklessness programmes;
 an Inward investment and marketing strategy; and
 considering the scope for strengthening Capital Region governance further.
54. A comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the participating 
authorities which will bind and commit each individual local authority and any 
successor authority (in the event of local government re-organisation) for such 
duration as is necessary to deliver the City Deal. The agreement will also allow for 
the possibility of additional functions and powers to be devolved to the Cabinet in the 
future.
55. The Cardiff Capital Region commit to reviewing the City Deal governance and 
exploring the future options for moving to even stronger and effective governance 
that is legally binding. The review will include consulting the Welsh Government and 

Page 433



60

the UK Government to identify actions needed to take forward future governance 
options.

Strategic Regional Planning

56. The Cardiff Capital Region, in partnership with the Welsh Government, will 
commit to the creation of an integrated strategic development plan that incorporates 
housing and employment land-use with wider transport plans. The strategic plan will 
provide the underpinning blue-print for development across the city-region.

Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership

57. A Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership will be established to 
bring together business, higher education and local government. The partnership 
would be responsible for setting the overarching city-region economic development 
strategy, as well as monitoring and making recommendations to the Cabinet with 
regard to City Deal implementation. The partnership will have a specific role to 
provide advice on investment decisions. This will ensure the City Deal and other 
interventions make an impact on economic growth and increase employment.
58. The Partnership’s membership and terms of reference will be established using 
the best international practice such as the Danish Growth Forums, as well as the 
Local Enterprise Partnership model in England and the Economic Leadership Board 
established in Glasgow.

Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission

59. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish an independent Growth and 
Competitiveness Commission to support the city region’s economic and investment 
strategy. It will review activities related to the City Deal as well as wider economic 
and growth interventions.
60. The Commission’s first task will be to review the evidence about the functional 
economic area and advise how best to generate Gross Value Added growth and 
support the ambitions of a dynamic capital region.
61. The Commission will be jointly established by the ten local authorities that 
comprise the Cardiff Capital Region in consultation with the Welsh and UK 
Governments.
62. The Commission will examine the challenges and opportunities for economic 
growth and competitiveness and make recommendations for how the Cardiff Capital 
Region can achieve its full growth potential.
Delivery, Monitoring and Evaluation

63. Cardiff Capital region will work with the UK Government and the Welsh 
Government to develop an agreed implementation, monitoring and evaluation plan in 
advance of implementation, which sets out the proposed approach delivery and 
evaluating the impact of delivery.
64. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal will be monitored by the Joint Cabinet. The 
joint programme management team will provide the Cabinet, the UK Government 
and the Welsh Government with quarterly performance report that will:
 highlight City Deal successes;

Page 434



61

 provide a performance narrative for each element of the City Deal against agreed 
implementation plan timescales;
 provide information on outputs and outcomes agreed;
 identify mitigating actions for projects and programmes that are not being delivered 
to agreed timescales.
65. The UK Government and Welsh Government will work with the Cardiff Capital
Region to agree a timetable for the production of these reports and will convene 
regular progress meetings.
66. The Cardiff Capital Region commit to recognising the “City Deal” in promoting 
and branding investments made as a result of this Deal. This includes 
acknowledging the UK Government equally alongside other funding partners. The 
Cardiff Capital Region may wish to explore a single unique brand identity that 
represents the whole Capital Region area and all the partners involved in delivering 
the City Deal.

Page 435



62

Schedule 8

ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal
Wider Investment Fund
 Assurance Framework

February 2017

Page 436



63

Version 2.3 – created on 20 February 2017
Document Control

Change History

Version Number Date Author Change Status
1 22/11/16 Sian Workman – 

Project Manager
Formatting D/NS

1.1 19/12/16 John Duddridge – 
CCRPB Project 

Manager

Co-
author/reviewer/editor

D/NS

1.2 20/12/16 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager

Final edit DRAFT/For 
Circulation

1.3 10/01/17 John Duddridge – 
CCRPB Project 

Manager

Co-
author/reviewer/editor

D/NS

1.4 11/01/17 Sian Workman – 
Project Manger

Editing D/NS

1.5 11/01/17 Sheila Davies – 
Programme Director

Editing D/NS

1.6 12/01/17 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager

Editing DRAFT/For 
Circulation

1.7 13/01/17 Sian Workman – 
Project Manager

Editing D/NS

1.8 15/01/17 John Duddridge – 
CCRPB Project 

Manager

Co-
author/reviewer/editor

D/NS

1.9 16/01/17 Sian Workman Editing DRAFT/For 
Circulation

2.0 19/01/17 Sian Workman Final Edit DRAFT/For 
Circulation

2.1 13/02/17 Sian Workman Final Amendments Final/For 
Publication

2.2 17/02/17 Pinsent Masons Final consistency 
check with JWA

Final

2.3 20/02/17 Sian Workman Final chart editing Final

Authorised by: Date:

Sheila Davies – Programme Director 22/02/17

Distribution

Name / Designation Date

Shadow Regional Cabinet 22/02/17

CEX Board 22/02/17

Programme Board 22/02/17

UK/WG Officials 22/02/17

Page 437



64

Contents

1 Introduction 66

1.1 What is an Assurance Framework? 66

1.2 Why does the CCRCD need Assurance Frameworks? 66

1.4 Who is the Assurance Framework for? 67

1.5 Approval and Monitoring of the Assurance Framework 67

1.6 What is covered in this Assurance Framework? 67

2 Governance and Decision Making 68

2.1 Geography of the Cardiff Capital Region 68

2.2 Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Governance Structure 68

2.2.1 The Cardiff Capital Regional Cabinet 70

2.2.2 The CCRCD Joint Audit Committee or Scrutiny Committee 71

2.2.3 The Regional Transport Authority 71

2.2.4 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Business Organisation 72

2.2.5 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Skills and Employment Board 72

2.2.6 Advisory/Consultation Body - Regional Economic Growth Partnership 73

2.2.7 Advisory/Consultation Body – Welsh Government 73

2.2.8 The Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission 74

2.2.9 The Programme Management Office 74

2.2.10 The Cardiff Capital Region Programme Board 75

2.3 Status and Role of the Accountable Body 76

2.4 Stakeholder Engagement and Transparency 77

3 Strategy, Programme and Prospectus 78

3.1 A JWA Business Plan 78

3.2 A Regional Impact Assessment Toolkit 78

3.3 A Prospectus for Growth and Prosperity 79

3.4 Candidate Schemes 79

Page 438



65

3.5 Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Scheme Appraisal 
Framework 80

3.6 Appraisal Criteria 82

3.7 Business Case Development 83

3.8 Support for Candidate Scheme Development 84

3.9 Value for Money 84

3.10 Assessment Process 85

3.11 State Aid 86

3.12 From Prospectus to Delivery Programme 86

3.13 The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Delivery Programme 87

3.14 Candidate Scheme Offer of Support and Contract Management 87

3.15 Interim Transition Plan 88

4 Management, Evaluation and Review 89

4.1 Separation between Sponsorship, Assessment and Approval 89

4.2  Performance Management System 89

4.3 Risk Management 90

4.4 Contract Management 90

4.5 Equality, Diversity and Wellbeing 90

4.6 Annual Assurance Framework Review 91

4.7 Five Year Gateway Review 91

Appendix 1 – List of Defined Terms 92

Page 439



66

1 Introduction

1.1 What is an Assurance Framework?

An Assurance Framework is a set of systems, processes and protocols designed to provide 
an evidence-based and independent assessment of the governance, risk management, and 
control processes of an organisation.  The independence inherent to the Assurance 
Framework is derived from the separation between the sponsorship of projects/programmes 
and their appraisal and evaluation.

The Assurance Framework demonstrates how organisations will monitor, measure and 
scrutinise how objectives are being met and risks managed. It also details the processes 
used to ensure an adequate response to risks or lack of performance. 

HM Treasury define Assurance Frameworks as “an objective examination of evidence for the 
purpose of providing an independent assessment on governance, risk management, and 
control processes for the organisation.”

1.2 Why does the CCRCD need Assurance Frameworks?

Adherence to the processes detailed in this Assurance Framework will assist in ensuring that 
funding and resources utilised for the purposes of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund (Wider Investment Fund) will be use appropriately to deliver stated 
outcomes.

1.3 Scope of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund 
Assurance Framework?

The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal is a £1.229 billion deal consisting of a pre-allocated 
sum of £734m to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Investment Fund in relation to the 
Metro Project and £495m to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.

This Assurance Framework will apply to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund 
consisting of £375m funding provided by the UK Government and £120m committed by the 
Councils.

The Assurance Framework will also apply to any:
 additional devolved funding provided to the Cardiff Capital Region;

 additional borrowing by the Councils provided to the Cardiff Capital Region; and

 devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, subject to Welsh 
Government agreement.

This framework does not extend to the Metro Project funding of £734m (consisting; £125m 
UK Government; £503m Welsh Government; and £106m ERDF funding) which is covered 
by a separate Assurance Framework.

Page 440



67

1.4 Who is the Assurance Framework for?

The commitment to utilise the processes detailed in this Assurance Framework provides 
surety to the Welsh Government and UK Government related to funding provided for the 
Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.  

The Assurance Framework is also designed to provide the Councils and any other local 
authorities, stakeholders, businesses and the public confidence in the activities associated 
with the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.

1.5 Approval and Monitoring of the Assurance Framework

Both the Welsh Government and UK Government must formally approve this Assurance 
Framework and any proposed amendments and may, from time to time, monitor its use.

The Accountable Body, for the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund is responsible 
for ensuring adherence to the Assurance Framework. The Cardiff Capital Region Audit 
Committee or Joint Scrutiny Committee (as applicable) will provide an independent scrutiny 
and audit function.

1.6 What is covered in this Assurance Framework?

This document is split into three further sections:

 Section 2 details the governance and decision-making systems that underpin the 
Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Assurance Framework;

 Section 3 defines the JWA Business Plan and the Regional Impact Assessment 
Toolkit and outlines how Candidate Schemes will be chosen, assessed and 
approved; and

 Section 4 outlines the processes that will be followed to ensure effective 
management and review of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.

This Assurance Framework document should be read in conjunction with the Joint Working 
Agreement.

Page 441



68

2 Governance and Decision Making

2.1 Geography of the Cardiff Capital Region

The Cardiff Capital Region is geographically defined by the area consisting the “Councils” of:

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
(3) CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF
(5) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
(6) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
(7) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL
(8) RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
(9) TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
(10) THE VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL

2.2 Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Governance 
Structure

The current governance structure associated with the Cardiff Capital Regional Cabinet1 
(Regional Cabinet), including the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund, is shown in 
Figure 1. This provides details of the advisory, support and scrutiny arrangements 
established to underpin the Regional Cabinet and is structured to provide transparency and 
democratic accountability.

The detail and functioning of the Regional Cabinet and associated governance structure is 
included in the Joint Working Agreement2 and associated terms of reference, however, a 
general description related to roles and responsibility related to the Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund is provided below.

1 The Regional Cabinet has been established as a Joint Committee with delegated powers from the Councils as defined in the 
Joint Working Agreement. The City of Cardiff Council will act as the Accountable Body for funding flowing through this 
Assurance Framework; however the Regional Cabinet will be the ultimate decision-making body.

2 The Joint Working Agreement is the comprehensive agreement that binds and commits each Council and any successor 
authority (in the event of local government re-organisation) for such duration as is necessary to deliver the City Deal.

Page 442



69

Figure 1: CCRCD Governance Map – [DRAFT]

P
age 443



70

2.2.1 The Cardiff Capital Regional Cabinet

The Regional Cabinet comprises of the ten participating Councils and has been established 
to have responsibility for3:

 management of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund;

 additional devolved funding provided to the Capital Region;

 the Cardiff Capital Region Transport Authority;

 control over devolved business rate income above an agreed growth forecast, 
subject to Welsh Government agreement;

 strategic planning including housing, transport planning and land use;

 influencing skills and worklessness programmes;

 an Inward investment and marketing strategy; and

 considering the scope for strengthening Capital Region governance further.

For the avoidance of doubt, the South East Wales Metro Scheme is being financed and 
procured directly by the Welsh Government outside of the Joint Working Agreement and the 
Councils are not assuming any obligations or liabilities whatsoever in respect of the South 
East Wales Metro Scheme.

The membership of the Regional Cabinet is made up of one elected member representative 
from each Council (which is anticipated to be the Leader of each Council) and it will be the 
ultimate decision making body related to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.

To focus activity and capacity and promote delivery the Regional Cabinet is developing a 
JWA Business Plan and introducing a Portfolio arrangement at both political and officer 
level. Each Portfolio is intended to be led by two of the Leaders, from the Councils, who are 
supported by Portfolio Officers made up of the Chief Executive Officers of the Councils. The 
Portfolios are:

 Regeneration, Housing and Planning

 Work, Skills and Economy

 Business and Innovation

 Transport

 Finance & Governance

In addition, a Portfolio of ‘Chair of Regional Cabinet’ has been established with responsibility 
for liaison, engagement and promotion.

The key responsibilities of the Portfolio holders are:
 providing strategic direction for the Portfolio area of responsibility and the 

development of a Portfolio work programme to drive forward delivery;

3 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 53

Page 444



71

 communicating a clear understanding of Portfolio priorities;

 oversight of performance and delivery of the Portfolio including those commitments 
contained in the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms (Heads of Terms); 
and

 developing effective regional collaboration for the Portfolio area of responsibility.

The Regional Cabinet is able to establish sub-committees for any matters which they feel 
would be better dealt with in this way. These sub-committees may be advisory and report to 
the Regional Cabinet with recommendation or be provided with delegated powers, from the 
Regional Cabinet, which will provide them with a defined level of decision making powers.  
The Regional Cabinet shall be advised by a Lead Head of Paid Service (nominated and 
agreed by the Heads of Paid Service of the ten Councils) who shall meet on an informal 
basis from time to time. 

2.2.2 The CCRCD Joint Audit Committee or Scrutiny Committee

The Regional Cabinet will establish a Joint Audit Committee or Scrutiny Committee (as 
applicable) to provide an independent scrutiny function to ensure greater public 
accountability over decisions made by the Regional Cabinet and any of its sub-committees 
and related entities.

The role of the CCRCD Joint Audit Committee and the CCRCD Scrutiny Committee 
(respectively) is to provide advice, challenge and support to the Regional Cabinet. The 
detail, functioning and membership of the CCRCD Joint Audit Committee and the CCRCD 
Scrutiny Committee (respectively) will be developed pursuant to the Joint Working 
Agreement and will be such that they do not conflict with the role and responsibilities of the 
Accountable Body.

The CCRCD Joint Audit Committee and the CCRCD Scrutiny Committee (respectively) will 
be required to:

 review and scrutinise the Regional Cabinet’s financial affairs;

 receiving the Regional Cabinet’s accounts and advising on their approval;

 review and assess the Regional Cabinet’s risk management, internal control and 
corporate governance arrangements;

 review and assess the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which resources 
have been used in relation to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund; and

 make reports and recommendations to the Regional Cabinet in relation to the above 
points.

2.2.3 The Regional Transport Authority

The Regional Cabinet will establish a Cardiff Capital Regional Transport Authority to co-
ordinate regional transport planning and investment, in partnership with the Welsh 
Government, and will be responsible for:

 Pooled local transport resources;

Page 445



72

 Regional planning for the local transport network;

 Working with Transport for Wales to ensure objectives for transport investment are 
aligned;

 Supporting Welsh Government led work on integrated ticketing across the Cardiff 
Capital Region;

 Working in partnership with the Welsh Government and Transport for Wales to define 
the priorities of the South East Wales Metro and to support its delivery;

 Working in partnership with the Welsh Government, airlines and Cardiff International 
Airport Limited and aerospace partners to promote the development of integrated 
aviation routes aerospace activity at St Athan Enterprise Zone, to deliver economic 
benefit.

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Transport Authority shall be 
developed pursuant to the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Cardiff Capital 
Region Wider Investment Fund will enable it to:

 develop transport Candidate Schemes for assessment under the Appraisal 
Framework; and

 provide advice and observations related to transport Candidate Schemes submitted 
by other bodies.

2.2.4 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Business Organisation

The Regional Business Organisation will be responsible for4:

 articulating the regional needs of business;

 identifying regional priorities for existing business support services; and

 advising on the design of future business support programmes.

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Business Organisation shall be 
developed pursuant to the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Cardiff Capital 
Region Wider Investment Fund will enable it to:

 develop and submit relevant Candidate Schemes for assessment under the 
Appraisal Framework; and

 provide advice and observations on relevant Candidate Schemes submitted by other 
bodies.

2.2.5 Advisory/Consultation Body – Regional Skills and Employment Board

The Regional Skills and Employment Board (previously known as the LSKiP Employment 
and Skills Board) is a partnership which represents a wide range of stakeholders, including: 

4 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 43

Page 446



73

business; education providers; local authorities and the Welsh Government.  It will be 
responsible for5:

 Cardiff Capital Region’s skills and worklessness strategy;

 Pooled local authority skills resource;

 Producing an annual regional plan for employment and skills.  This annual plan, led 
by industry, will set out how both the existing skills needs of businesses and the 
Capital Region’s future skills challenges will be addressed;

 Influencing and monitoring the delivery and impact of employment and skills 
programmes across the Cardiff Capital Region;

 Ensuring an industry led approach to the design and delivery of apprenticeship 
programmes meets the needs of both business and apprentices;

 Supporting the Welsh Government’s “Curriculum for Wales, Curriculum for Life” plan, 
by encouraging closer alignment between future employer skills needs and education 
provision across the region; and

 Ensuring European Union funding investments in skills and employment add value 
and align with other programmes.

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Skills and Employment Board shall 
be developed pursuant to the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Cardiff Capital 
Region Wider Investment Fund will enable it to:

 develop and submit relevant Candidate Schemes for assessment under the 
Appraisal Framework; and

 provide advice and observations on relevant Candidate Schemes submitted by other 
bodies.

2.2.6 Advisory/Consultation Body - Regional Economic Growth Partnership

The Regional Economic Growth Partnership will be responsible for:

 Advising on the overarching city-region economic development strategy;

 Monitoring and making recommendations to the Regional Cabinet with regard to City 
Deal implementation; and

 Providing advice on investment decisions.

The detail, functioning and membership of the Regional Economic Growth Partnership shall 
be developed pursuant to the Joint Working Agreement and in relation to the Cardiff Capital 
Region Wider Investment Fund will enable it to:

 develop and submit relevant Candidate Schemes for assessment under the 
Appraisal Framework; and

 provide advice and observations on relevant Candidate Schemes submitted by other 
bodies.

5 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 34

Page 447



74

2.2.7 Advisory/Consultation Body – Welsh Government

The Welsh Government, although not indicated as an advisory/consultation body on the 
Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund governance chart, have statutory 
responsibilities and investment programmes covering many areas encompassed by the 
Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.

It is therefore critical that any proposed investments are additional, complementary and 
support actions or proposals being implemented or developed by the Welsh Government. 
This can only be ensured by a close working relationship and effective information sharing.

Related to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund the Welsh Government will be:

 invited to actively participate in the work being undertaken in each Portfolio area; and

 consulted on all Candidate Schemes.

2.2.8 The Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission

The Shadow Regional Cabinet established a ‘task and finish’ Commission to:

 Review the evidence about the functional economic area and advise how best to 
generate Gross Value Added growth and support the ambitions of a dynamic capital 
region in a successful Welsh economy; and

 Examine the challenges and opportunities for economic growth and competitiveness and 
make recommendations for how the Cardiff Capital Region can achieve its full growth 
potential, and contribute most to the Welsh economy.

The membership of the Commission consisted of Greg Clark, Helen Molyneux, Alexandra 
Jones, Julie-Ann Haines and Kevin Gardiner and they were supported by Cardiff University.

The Commission was established in August 2016 and completed its task on 16th December 
2016 by publishing its recommendations. A number of the Commission’s recommendations 
are referenced in this Assurance Framework.

2.2.9 The Programme Management Office

The Programme Management Office will provide the Regional Cabinet, the UK Government 
and the Welsh Government with quarterly performance reports6 that will7:

 Highlight City Deal success;

 Provide a performance narrative for each element of the City Deal against agreed 
implementation plan timescales;

 Provide information on agreed outputs and outcomes;

 Identify mitigating actions for projects and programmes that are not being delivered 
to agreed timescales.

6 The UK Government and Welsh Government will work with the Regional Cabinet to agree a 
timetable for the production of these reports and will convene regular progress meetings.
7 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms Item 64

Page 448



75

The Programme Management Office will be responsible for ensuring that this Assurance 
Framework is adhered to by developing, implementing, maintaining and monitoring a 
comprehensive performance management system and evaluation framework that will 
operate at both the corporate level and at the scheme level.

The Programme Management Office will ensure that all submitted schemes are eligible and 
that details of Candidate Schemes are issued to the appropriate Advisory/Consultation 
Bodies for their observation and those observations are used as part of the Assessment 
Framework.

The Programme Management Office will be responsible for the management of the 
programme contained in the JWA Business Plan, gateway reviews, and the Annual Business 
Plans including performance and financial management of the delivery programme, 
undertaking due diligence as required.

The Programme Management Office will provide support to the Regional Cabinet including 
administration, engagement, and communication including events and press.  The 
Programme Management Office will act as the delivery mechanism to enable the 
Accountable Body to discharge its duties in respect of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund.

The Programme Management Office will remain functionally independent of the Accountable 
Body and will be responsible for discharging those functions set out above; it will not 
discharge those statutory requirements which are the responsibility of the Accountable Body 
as the Legal entity.

2.2.10 The Cardiff Capital Region Programme Board

The Cardiff Capital Region Programme Board (Programme Board) membership shall be 
made up of one senior officer representative from each Council (which is anticipated to 
consist of the Chief Executives/Managing Directors or nominated substitutes). Other key 
parties who may attend but shall not have the right to vote include the Programme Directors, 
Programme Managers, Strategic Directors or equivalent, specialist officers, and legal and 
financial representatives from the Accountable Body.

Related to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund the Programme Board is 
intended to have three distinct roles:

 Providing Portfolio support by:

 appointing Programme Theme Leads, from their membership, to support the Portfolio 
Leads and Portfolio Officers established by the Regional Cabinet;

 under each Programme Theme establish a Strategic Regional Group and, as 
required, Task & Finish Groups to develop Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment 
Fund proposals;

 under each Programme Theme develop a series of Candidate Schemes for 
assessment under the Candidate Scheme Appraisal Framework;

 advise on the strategic direction for the Portfolio area and assist in the development 
of a Portfolio work programme to drive forward delivery.

 Monitor Portfolio development by:

 providing support and collective challenge to the Portfolios and Programme Themes 
including the Strategic Regional Groups and Task & Finish Groups, to ensure their 

Page 449



76

work progresses the development of proposals in line with the JWA Business Plan 
including objectives and targets;

 oversight of performance and delivery of the Portfolios

 Prepare recommendations on individual Candidate Schemes and the overall programme 
of the Wider Implementation Fund by:

 ensuring that all Candidate Schemes are assessed in accordance with the Cardiff 
Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Candidate Scheme Appraisal Framework;

 preparing recommendations on Candidate Schemes whilst ensuring due regard is 
given to the observations provided by the Advisory/Consultation Bodies and the 
independent assessment;

 providing recommendations to the Regional Cabinet on all Candidate Schemes;

 considering the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund programme of 
schemes as a whole to ensure they work effectively together to maximise outcomes 
by assessing 'total impact' and not just economic considerations;

 providing recommendations to the Regional Cabinet on Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund delivery programme as a whole.

To allow the Programme Board to undertake all three functions a clear distinction will be 
drawn between those involved in specific Candidate Scheme development and those 
preparing recommendations on those schemes to the Regional Cabinet. A robust system of 
declaration of conflict of interest will be put in place. 

2.3 Status and Role of the Accountable Body

One of the Councils is being appointed as the Accountable Body for the Regional Cabinet 
and the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund pursuant to the Joint Working 
Agreement and will be responsible for ensuring that funding decisions made by the Regional 
Cabinet are lawful and appropriate.

As the Accountable Body, overall financial arrangements are managed and accounted for 
through its financial systems and subject to the Standing Orders and Governance systems of 
that body. Funding allocated to the Regional Cabinet as part of the Cardiff Capital Region 
City Deal will be paid to the Accountable Body who shall ensure that those funds remain 
identifiable from the Accountable Body’s own funds.

The Accountable Body shall, subject to the statutory role of each Council’s monitoring officer 
in relation to their Council, provide for the purposes of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund the services of its monitoring officer . Subject to the statutory role of each 
Council’s s151 officer in relation to their Council, the Accountable Body shall provide for the 
purposes of the Regional Cabinet services of its Chief Financial Officer as Treasurer to the 
Regional Cabinet.

The Accountable Body shall supply the Programme Management Office with such support 
services as may reasonably be required, these may include services such as financial, legal, 
audit and other professional and/or technical services subject always to the provisions of the 
Joint Working Agreement.

The full details and responsibilities related to the Accountable Body will be included in the 
Joint Working Agreement and will include; ensuring that the decisions and activities of the 
Regional Cabinet conform with the legal requirements regarding equalities, environmental, 

Page 450



77

legislation, ensuring that funds are used legally and appropriately; and administrative 
functions such as payroll, preparing statement of accounts, VAT returns and liaising with 
external audit etc.

The Accountable Body will ensure that it acts in a manner that is transparent, evidence 
based, consistent and proportionate.

2.4 Stakeholder Engagement and Transparency

Engagement with and feedback from constituent and neighbouring local authorities, 
stakeholders and the public has been, and will continue to be, key in shaping and defining 
the Regional Cabinets’ actions. 

Monthly newsletters will be distributed to stakeholders throughout the City Region informing 
them of current and planned activities and how to get involved.

Regular social media updates concerning relevant activity will be provided via the CCRCD 
Twitter handle @CCRCityDeal.

A calendar of events will be developed and made available on the CCRCD website 
www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales, and on-going PR campaign will inform stakeholders 
of CCRCD activity.

Stakeholders will be able to contact the CCRCD via the CCRCD website’s contact form 
www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales or through social media @CCRCityDeal.

The public and stakeholders will be able to provide input via the contact form on the CCRCD 
website [https://cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales].  Stakeholders will be made aware of how 
to provide input by being informed via the CCRCD newsletter which is available online.

Communications, engagement and marketing strategies will be developed and implemented 
to maximise participation and involvement and will be designed to promote and facilitate the 
use of the Welsh language and comply with the standards imposed by the regulations 
approved under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.

The Regional Cabinet is committed to transparency in its decision-making and activities, but 
also recognises that for it to operate effectively there are some circumstances in which it 
must maintain confidentiality, particularly where commercial sensitivities are involved. 

The Regional Cabinet is subject to the same accountability and transparency legislative 
provisions for decision making as Local Government, including public notice of meetings and 
the business to be conducted at those meetings, Access to Information Rules and Freedom 
of Information Act 2000.

The use of resources by the Regional Cabinet is subject to standard local authority checks 
and balances. In particular, this includes the financial duties and rules which require councils 
to act prudently in spending, and publish annual accounts. The development of these checks 
and balances will be overseen and managed by the Accountable Body.

Page 451

http://www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales/
http://www.cardiffcapitalregioncitydeal.wales/


78

3 Strategy, Programme and Prospectus

3.1 A JWA Business Plan

The Regional Cabinet, using the research and recommendations from the Growth and 
Competitiveness Commission, are preparing a JWA Business Plan that will support a 
competitive inclusive Cardiff Capital Region, playing to the strengths of the areas within the 
region to increase overall opportunity, mobility, jobs and investment8.

The JWA Business Plan will develop the regional objectives set out in the Joint Working 
Agreement and include a programme detailing the targets expected from the City Deal 
during its lifetime and beyond9; together with the indicative spend profile for the Cardiff 
Capital Region Wider Investment Fund (comprising of the HMT Contribution and the Council 
Contribution in the aggregate sum of £495,000,000).  Although focussed on the economy 
the JWA Business Plan will also playing a role in improving the social, environment and 
cultural well-being of the region and may include additional targets to reflect this.

Although the procedures for the use of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund 
are necessarily detailed the principles are straightforward:

 The JWA Business Plan will contain, amongst other matters, the indicative 
investment programme for the "Programme Themes" (as such Programme Themes 
are defined under the Implementation Plan) and any agreed strategic projects 
together with the indicative spend profile for the Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund (comprising of the aggregate sum of £495,000,000);

 Candidate schemes for the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund will be 
assessed to measure how they will support the delivery of these Programme 
Themes; and

 A balanced programme of delivery will be managed to ensure that the Programme 
Themes are delivered.

The JWA Business Plan will be developed in accordance with the ‘sustainable development 
principle’ and in setting regional objectives and targets will seek to support and promote the 
seven well-being goals as detailed in the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act.

3.2 A Regional Impact Assessment Toolkit

To assist in the process of assessing Candidate Schemes and measure to what extent they 
will support the delivery of the targets, detailed in the JWA Business Plan, a Regional Impact 
Assessment Toolkit is being developed.

The toolkit will select a broad range of indicators and factors, which are known to have a 
positive impact on the targets detailed in the JWA Business Plan, and be used to measure 
the level by which Candidate Schemes can contribution to those targets and assess their 
value for money.

8 Growth and Competitiveness Commission Report – Recommendation 2 Economic Strategy

9 It is likely that the JWA Business Plan will include the specific outcomes recommended by the Growth and Competitiveness 
Commission, for example on productivity, at least 90% of UK average, median earnings to 95% of UK figure, 25,000 new jobs, 
employment rate of 70.5%.

Page 452



79

The toolkit will be designed to consider wider sustainable development objectives and be 
able to assess and highlight the positive impact proposed Candidate Schemes can have on 
both social and environmental outcomes and other indirect and non-monetised benefits 
promoted by the City Deal and included in the JWA Business Plan.

An important aspect of this assessment toolkit will be its ability to identify the spread of any 
potential benefits to ensure geographic balance across the region and the ability of schemes 
to target need.

3.3 A Prospectus for Growth and Prosperity

For the purposes of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund schemes can take 
several forms including projects, programmes, investments, funds, loans, grants and 
contributions and may seek support in the form of capital and/or revenue funding.

The variation in potential schemes and funding requirements reflects the multi-strand 
approach advocated by the Growth and Competitiveness Commission10 and the wider 
investment priorities of the Regional Cabinet11 who are committed to invest in those 
schemes which support regional economic growth and may cover areas as diverse as 
regeneration & infrastructure, housing, skills, transport, digital, business growth and sector 
development, research & development and innovation.

Work is being undertaken under each Regional Cabinet Programme Theme heading to 
define groupings of schemes. These groupings will be used to produce a prospectus of 
eligible scheme types. This strategic approach, rather than an open unstructured bidding 
process, will ensure a comprehensive, balanced programme that is evidence based and 
targeted to deliver regional economic growth.

Advice and guidance will be sought from the Regional Advisory/Consultative Bodies in the 
production of this prospectus to ensure that it includes sufficient flexibility to accommodate 
changing economic priorities, trends and business needs.

The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Prospectus ("Prospectus") will define 
the eligible scheme types and detail the full list of Candidate Schemes showing their various 
stages of development through the Appraisal Framework including those schemes 
sufficiently developed to be included on the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund 
Delivery Programme (Delivery Programme). The Prospectus will therefore be a live 
document under constant review and update.

To support this strategic approach and ensure a broad range of interventions, based on 
evidence, the Regional Cabinet may consider introducing initial indicative allocations of 
funding in relation to each Programme Theme within the Prospectus. This approach could 
assist when assessing the affordability of any Candidate Schemes.

3.4 Candidate Schemes

Having created a Prospectus of eligible scheme types, to ensure a strategic approach to 
investment, a process to allow appropriate schemes to be submitted for consideration will be 
introduced.

Candidate Schemes can be submitted by the following ‘Candidate Scheme Sponsors’:

10 Growth and Competitiveness Report Page 4

11 CCRCD Heads of Terms Item 16

Page 453



80

 Portfolio Leads;

 The Councils;

 Welsh Government;

 UK Government;

 Advisory/Consultative Body; and

 Stipulated Stakeholder.

Portfolio Leads are supported by Portfolio Officers, Theme Leads and associated Strategic 
Regional Groups ensuring that sufficient suitable Candidate Schemes are being identified 
and developed for appraisal.

Other Candidate Scheme Sponsors can submit proposals directly for appraisal; however, 
they are encouraged to actively participate in the appropriate Strategic Regional Group. This 
will ensure the effective development of proposals which can be submitted jointly with the 
Portfolio Leads.

In addition, the Regional Cabinet may consider issuing a periodic open call for eligible 
schemes.

3.5 Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Scheme 
Appraisal Framework

Regardless of how the Candidate Schemes have been submitted they will all be required to 
follow the same appraisal process which has been developed to be transparent and 
equitable. This will also apply to Candidate Schemes which are only requesting partial 
support or a contribution and may be subject to other Appraisal Frameworks or assessment 
processes. Where this is the case, the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund portion 
of the investment will be treated in the same way as a standalone scheme.

The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Scheme Appraisal Framework is shown 
in Figure 2 and illustrates the Gateway system to be used including business case 
requirements, consultation, assessment process, and the recommendation and decision 
making protocol.

The Assessment Framework will identify those Candidate Schemes in the Prospectus which 
are eligible to enter the Delivery Programme.

The Programme Management Office is responsible for co-ordinating and managing the 
Appraisal Framework including procuring external independent assessments of business 
cases and for ensuring the separation between the sponsorship of projects/programmes and 
their appraisal and evaluation.

The Programme Management Office will produce a set of guidance documentation, including 
proforma, for Candidate Scheme Sponsors, detailing the various stages of the Appraisal 
Framework. 

The appraisal process is consistent with HM Treasury’s Green Book and Business Case 
Appraisal process and is based on the five cases model; the strategic case; the economic 
case; the commercial case; the financial case; and the management case.

Page 454



81

Figure 2: Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Scheme 
Assessment Framework

P
age 455



82

The appraisal process will apply the principle of proportionality, with more detailed 
information being required for large, complex or contentious schemes. This is important 
to ensure Candidate Scheme Sponsors are not discouraged from submitting less 
complex schemes whilst ensuring that large investments are scrutinised and tested 
appropriately.

3.6 Appraisal Criteria

The main factor in in assessing Candidate Schemes will be the extent to which they 
contribute to the targets detailed in the JWA Business Plan and their value for money, 
however, to make these assessments detailed information on those proposed schemes 
is required and will be developed by addressing the criteria detailed below.

The City Deal provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to 
economic growth by: improving transport connectivity; increasing skill levels still further; 
supporting people into work; and giving businesses the support they need to innovate 
and grow. The City Deal therefore includes12:

 Connecting the region;

 Support for innovation and improving the digital network;

 Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment;

 Supporting enterprise and business growth; and

 Housing development and regeneration.

In addition, the City Deal, over its lifetime, is expected to deliver up to 25,000 new jobs 
and leverage an additional £4 billion of private sector investment.

All Candidate Schemes are required to demonstrate how they will contribute to one or 
more of these objectives, and others contained in the JWA Business Plan, and why the 
scheme is needed.  

The Growth and Competitiveness Commission have recommended that all Candidate 
Scheme should also demonstrate13:

 Significant scale;

 A positive impact on GVA;

 A positive impact on jobs;

 An impact beyond the local boundary area of where the investment takes place 
and does not displace activity within the city-region;

 Alignment with the proposed Metro investment, including investment that can 
unlock benefits of the Metro and address access constraints;

In addition, schemes need to demonstrate a quantifiable impact on at least two of the 
following:

12 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Heads of Terms – Executive Summary.

13 Growth and Competitiveness Commission Report – Recommendation 3 City Deal Investment Principles.

Page 456



83

 Increasing employment rates (by constituency) in areas where employment 
rates are below the Cardiff Capital Region average;

 Increasing earnings in areas with below average earnings for the Cardiff Capital 
Region;

 Supporting enterprise growth and productivity gains; 

 Supporting people out of employment into employment.

All Candidate Schemes are required to respond to the Growth and Competitiveness 
Commission investment principles demonstrating how and to what degree they comply 
with these recommendations.

All Candidate Schemes are required to quantify their economic impact, employment 
creation, scale-ability and leverage. Candidate Schemes will also have to demonstrate 
they are deliverable, represent value for money and that they comply with the 
necessary regulations including legal and state aid requirements. 

3.7 Business Case Development

The Regional Cabinet will be responsible for deciding how to allocate funding to 
schemes and prioritise between proposals. There is likely to be considerable variation 
in types and sizes of schemes proposed under each Portfolio and the Regional Cabinet 
will require sufficient information and evidence to ensure that they are making informed 
decisions when choosing the most appropriate schemes for implementation to achieve 
the objectives set out in the JWA Business Plan.

All Candidate Scheme Sponsors will be required to produce a business case in line 
with HM Treasury’s Green Book using the Five Case Model – starting with an initial 
proposal (Strategic Outline Case) onto an Outline Business Case ("OBC") and finally a 
Full Business Case ("PBC").

The Business Case at each stage of development must evidence that:

 the scheme is supported by a compelling case for change – the strategic case;
 the scheme represents best public value – the economic case;
 the scheme is commercially viable – the commercial case;
 the scheme is affordable – the financial case;
 the scheme is achievable – the management case.

As the business case develops from initial proposal to outline and finally full case the 
level of detail and the completeness of the 5 cases will develop, however, each stage 
of the business case must provide a compelling case for the scheme before it will be 
supported by the Regional Cabinet to progress to the next stage.

Due to the potential variation in size and complexity of proposed schemes the time 
given to scheme sponsors to develop the various stages of the business case will be 
provided on a scheme by scheme basis.

As indicated previously, the appraisal process will apply the principle of proportionality 
which may result in in the OBC and FBC stages being combined depending on the 
level and quality of information provided and the complexity of the scheme.

Page 457



84

3.8 Support for Candidate Scheme Development

Subject to the terms of the Joint Working Agreement, the Regional Cabinet may 
allocate, on request or application, funding to Portfolios to support pre-feasibility and 
feasibility studies, and development of initial proposals and business cases to ensure 
that high quality Candidate Schemes are available. 

3.9 Value for Money

A value for money assessment is required to ensure that a proposed scheme provides 
the most effective way of delivering a stated objective and provides the greatest benefit 
to the Cardiff Capital Region.

Each Candidate Scheme must demonstrate value for money i.e. the optimal use of 
resources to achieve the intended outcomes. In basic terms value for money is the 
degree to which benefits exceed costs and the use of HM Treasury’s Green Book and 
associated documents and the Business Case Appraisal process in assessing 
Candidate Schemes is expected to demonstrate the potential value of any scheme.

The National Audit Office use three criteria to assess value for money:

 economy – minimising the cost of resources used or required – spending less;
 efficiency – the relationship between the outputs from goods or services and the 

resources to produce them – spending well; and
 effectiveness – the relationship between the intended and actual results of 

public spending – spending wisely.

Within the economic case of a Candidate Scheme’s Business Case there is a 
requirement for an assessment of the value for money of the proposed project. This 
will, in part, include a cost-benefit analysis of the various options considered in the 
scheme's Business Case compared against a ‘do-nothing’ option establishing a rational 
for the economic case for the proposal based on those elements which can be 
quantified in monetary terms14. This assessment must clearly demonstrate the 
additionality of a scheme and to do this will need to consider a range of factors 
including deadweight, what would happen in the absence of the scheme including 
some of the benefits occurring anyway, displacement, leakage, behavioural changes, 
and wider benefits.

It must be noted that a value for money assessment provides only one source of 
evidence and should not be used as the sole measure of success. There are multiple 
factors developed in a Business Case all of which will present factors which need to be 
considered when assessing a scheme. This should be supported by use of the 
Regional Impact Assessment Toolkit and other guidance specific to the nature of the 
proposed scheme.

The Regional Cabinet when deciding on whether to support a Candidate Scheme will 
take a wide range of evidence into consideration in addition to the level of value for 
money. There may be occasions when, although the measure of value for money is 
low, due to the wider regional economic impacts on the JWA Business Plan targets, 
cost effectiveness, environmental and social impact, and leverage of additional funding 
the Regional Cabinet may consider there is a strong rationale for the Candidate 
Scheme to move forward.

14 A cost-benefit analysis will produce a Benefit Cost Ration for use in comparing schemes, however, many schemes 
will have significant non-monetised impacts which need to be identified and presented within their business cases.

Page 458



85

3.10 Assessment Process

The role of the Assessment Process is to provide the framework through which a 
judgement can be made about whether each scheme is robust and has been rigorously 
assessed against a specific set of criteria to ensure that it achieves value for money.

The JWA Business Plan, building on the appraisal criteria detailed in 3.6, will set out 
the detail by which schemes will be assessed.

The Candidate Scheme Sponsors will submit a Candidate Scheme Initial Proposal to 
the Programme Management Office who will categorise it against the Scheme 
Prospectus eligibility groupings and refer it to:

 the appropriate Advisory/Consultation Body with a request to provide 
observation on the proposed scheme; and

 the external business case assessor requesting that they undertake an 
independent review with reference to the Impact Assessment Toolkit.

The Initial Proposal, with the observations and review, will be submitted to the 
Programme Board who are required to assess all available data and determine if:

 The case is sufficiently strong for the Candidate Scheme to move onto the next 
stage; or

 The scheme is returned to the Candidate Scheme Sponsor with details of where 
the Initial Proposal is currently not sufficiently strong to allow it to move forward 
to the next stage. 

If the scheme is supported to go to the next stage the Candidate Scheme Sponsor will 
be requested to submit an Outline Business Case which, when received, will be sent to 
the external business case assessor requesting that they undertake a further review of 
the additional detail provided.

This review will be submitted to the Programme Board who can make the following 
recommendations to the Regional Cabinet:

 The scheme does not fall within the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment 
Fund scope;

 The scheme does not provide sufficient regional benefit and should be rejected;

 The scheme, although not seeking Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment 
Funding, is supported and should be promoted as it aligns with the overall 
objectives of the City Deal;

 The scheme’s Outline Business Case is currently not sufficiently strong and 
should be returned to the Candidate Scheme Sponsor for further work; or

 The scheme should move to the next stage.

The Regional Cabinet will consider the recommendations and resolve either to accept 
them or based on the available data agree an alternative course of action. 

If the Regional Cabinet resolve that the scheme go to the next stage the Candidate 
Scheme Sponsor will be requested to submit a Full Business Case which, when 
received, will be sent to the external business case assessor requesting that they 

Page 459



86

undertake a further review of the additional detail provided. The Programme 
Management Office, in liaison with the Accountable Body, would also be requested to 
provide both legal and financial assessments of the proposal.

The review and assessments would be provided to the Programme Board who would 
submit recommendations to the Regional Cabinet.

The Regional Cabinet, as the decision-making body, would have the responsibility of 
confirming that the Candidate Scheme is eligible for inclusion in the Delivery 
Programme.

To ensure that the assessment process is equitable the Programme Management 
Office are preparing detailed guidance notes and also proforma for use in the process.

3.11 State Aid

Processes are being established to ensure that schemes supported by the Cardiff 
Capital Region Wider Investment Fund are State Aid compliant. 

The Business Case templates will require Project Sponsors to confirm that their 
scheme complies with and does not contravene State Aid legislation. The templates 
will also require Project Sponsors to outline what advice (e.g. legal advice) they have 
had in relation to State Aid, and to confirm their acceptance of the following:

“All applicants need to take steps to satisfy themselves that any Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund funding approved does not amount to unlawful State Aid. A 
declaration of compliance with EU State Aid regulations will be required prior to any 
funding being provided. If your project is awarded funds it will be subject to a condition 
requiring the repayment of any funding in the event that the European Commission 
determines that the funding constitutes unlawful State Aid.”

Where required, the Accountable Body will also conduct legal due diligence to obtain 
further confidence that State Aid requirements have been met.

3.12 From Prospectus to Delivery Programme

The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund will be used to invest in a broad 
range of interventions over its life time to unlock significant economic growth across the 
region and it can only achieve its objectives through the delivery of an effective 
Delivery Programme that accounts for and takes advantage of the interdependencies 
between individual schemes.

Each Portfolio will undertake work to develop schemes and produce a potential delivery 
programme. However, it is recognised that each individual programme will vary related 
to timescales for development and implementation. In addition, financial profiles and 
limits, for both the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund and other funding 
sources, may dictate when and to what scale proposals can be funded.

The final decision to release Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Funds rests with 
the Regional Cabinet and to do this effectively they will be responsible agreeing the 
Delivery Programme which delivers on their commitments, is affordable, and value for 
money.

Candidate Schemes which have successfully passed through the Assessment 
Framework will be eligible to be included on the Delivery Programme.

Page 460



87

3.13 The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Delivery 
Programme

The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund Delivery Programme (Delivery 
Programme) will be informed by the details on the number, size and timescales of 
schemes being progressed through the Portfolio and ideally once a scheme’s Full 
Business Case has been approved it will move directly to the Delivery Programme via 
an offer letter/contract.

In some instances, due to existing financial commitments or changes in priority, 
schemes may not progress immediately to implementation and the Delivery 
Programme should clearly reflect these changing circumstances and how they will 
affect the scheme.

The Regional Cabinet will undertake regular reviews of the Delivery Programme to 
ensure that it is suitable to deliver on the broad range of interventions necessary to 
achieve the targets detailed in the JWA Business Plan by tackling the regions barriers 
to economic growth and that it reflects the regions current economic needs. 

These Delivery Programme reviews will assess the balance of interventions and 
ensure those schemes most likely to deliver on the targets detailed in the JWA 
Business Plan, which are affordable and can be delivered within required timescales, 
are prioritised. 

To commence the process of programme development the Regional Cabinet has, in 
the first instance, agreed an Implementation Plan outlining it proposals for the first 5 
years and this is attached to the Joint Working Agreement.

3.14 Candidate Scheme Offer of Support and Contract 
Management

Candidate Schemes eligible for inclusion on the Delivery Programme will undergo a 
due diligence assessment.

Following approval by the Regional Cabinet the Programme Management Office 
working in conjunction with the Accountable Body will prepare an offer letter/contract 
for agreement with the Project Sponsor or other relevant applicant.

The offer letter may vary according to scheme type, size and complexity but is likely to 
contain the following which will be monitored by the Contract Management Team within 
the Programme Management Office:

 A financial profile – including monthly income and expenditure:

 A profile of outputs and outcomes to be achieved – with key milestones for 
delivery;

 A risk management log – detailing potential risks to the successful delivery of 
the scheme and how they will be managed;

 A monthly/quarterly schedule for returning monitoring information; and

 Post completion requirements

Page 461



88

3.15 Interim Transition Plan

To apply the Appraisal Process in full a number of supporting processes and actions 
need to be put in place including:

 A JWA Business Plan to be developed pursuant to the Joint Working 
Agreement;

 A Cardiff Capital Region Impact Assessment Toolkit;

 Establishing the Cardiff Capital Region Advisory/Consultative Bodies; and

 Producing detailed guidance notes and proforma

To assist in co-ordinating and programming these events an Interim Transition Plan is 
being put in place which will set time-lines for development and detail how potential 
schemes will be dealt with during this interim phase.

Page 462



89

4 Management, Evaluation and Review
4.1 Separation between Sponsorship, Assessment and 
Approval

For this Assurance Framework to be effective it must establish a clear separation 
between the sponsorship of schemes and their appraisal, evaluation and approval.

All processes and systems will make a clear distinction between those involved in the 
development of Candidate Schemes and those responsible for their assessment, 
submitting recommendations related to their suitability and providing approval.

This division of role will apply across the Appraisal and Assessment Frameworks and 
will mean that those involved in a Portfolio will not take part in the appraisal or approval 
of any Candidate Schemes within that Portfolio. This is especially relevant at both the 
Programme Board, when preparing recommendations, and at the Regional Cabinet 
when making decisions.

4.2  Performance Management System

The Programme Management Office, in liaison with the Accountable Body, is 
developing a comprehensive performance management system and evaluation 
framework which will encompass the decision-making process and programme and 
scheme delivery. This system will enable the Regional Cabinet to:

 Assess the effectiveness, efficiency and value for money of schemes and the 
overall programme;

 Monitor impact and progress towards agreed aims and goals, and to 
understand whether schemes are on track to deliver projected outputs and 
outcomes;

 Maintain scrutiny and accountability;

 Inform future investment priorities and resource allocations; and

 Inform future activities and delivery and the sharing of best practice.

Monitoring and evaluation of the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund will 
operate at two interconnected levels, at the level of the individual scheme, as defined 
at the FBC stage through the Assurance Framework; and at the level of the overall 
Delivery Programme. For schemes of significant scale or complexity the Regional 
Cabinet may resolve to procure external evaluation.

It will be important that monitoring and evaluation exercises are scheduled to ensure a 
sufficient evidence base for the 5-year Gateway Review; they will therefore cover 
impact and economic evaluation as well as process evaluation.

When undertaking the evaluation exercise use will be made of the Regional Impact 
Assessment Toolkit and its broad range of indicators and factors, which are known to 
have a positive impact on the targets as detailed in the JWA Business Plan.

It is essential that all schemes have an effective monitoring and evaluation plan in 
place to assess the effectiveness of public spending over time, and so that lessons can 
be learnt. Schemes will monitor against the outcomes described in the economic case.

Page 463



90

Responsibility for monitoring at a strategic level will lie with the Programme 
Management Office, whilst at the scheme level responsibility will lie with Scheme 
Sponsors, with the Programme Management Office setting compliance measures and 
ensuring they are adhered to and reported as required. 

Over time, prioritisation and sequencing will also involve a feedback loop through which 
the outcomes of the monitoring and evaluation work will be used to shape future 
investment priorities.

4.3 Risk Management

A key role of the Assurance Framework is to ensure that risk is identified, monitored 
and managed appropriately, both at a corporate level and at Delivery Programme and 
scheme level.

To identify, monitor, manage and mitigate risks at the corporate level, a Corporate Risk 
Register is being developed aligned to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment 
Fund objectives.

The key principle of the Corporate Risk Register is to identify strategic risks, determine 
where and by whom such risks are borne, to establish controls to prevent the identified 
risk (such as funding shortfall) from materialising or establish ways to reduce the 
impact. The Register will not be limited to financial risks.

As part of the business case evaluation process, Candidate Scheme Sponsors are 
required to develop a Scheme Risk and Issues Log. This will detail all of the schemes 
specific risks that have been identified during the development phase of the scheme.

Within the business case templates, being developed, the Sponsor will be required, for 
key risks, to estimate the impact of the risk materialising and probability of the risk 
occurring, attribute the risk with a Red, Amber, Green (“RAG”) rating, identify the risk 
owner, and provide a strategy for risk mitigation.

Scheme risks will be aggregated and reviewed at the strategic level by the Programme 
Management Office.

4.4 Contract Management

On acceptance of an offer of support the Project Sponsor or other relevant applicant 
will become responsible for overseeing the successful implementation and delivery of 
the scheme. The Programme Management Office, in liaison with the Accountable 
Body, will establish a system identifying responsibilities for the production and 
submission of monitoring information.

The Programme Management Office will be responsible for collating, recording and 
reporting on the progress of the individual schemes as well as the overall Delivery 
Programme. Where schemes do not achieve their agreed milestones for delivery the 
responsible person will be required to provide evidence to demonstrate they are able to 
get back on programme. Schemes which consistently fail to meet projected 
performance, both financial and output, may have funding withdrawn.

4.5 Equality, Diversity and Wellbeing

A key requirement for the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund is to ensure 
that ‘equality duty’ is considered and programmes contribute to a fairer society and pay 

Page 464



91

due regard to eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity and 
fostering good relations. 

The Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund will also support the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act by playing a role in improving the social, economic, 
environment and cultural well-being of Wales.

During the application for Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Funds scheme 
sponsors will be required to provide evidence they are complying with their equality 
duties and are supporting the 7 Well-being goals. This will be assessed through an 
evaluation of the business case templates submitted by applicants.  

4.6 Annual Assurance Framework Review

The Assurance Framework is a ‘live’ document and will be subject to an annual review 
to ensure that material is kept up to date and to provide quality assurance on the 
Assurance Framework itself.

It is anticipated that the Assurance Framework will continue to evolve and develop 
overtime and will reflect any changes to governance arrangements, aims and 
objectives, economic and social priorities and Candidate Schemes criteria.

There will be a need for the Regional Cabinet in response to changes and initiatives15 
which take place in the period between annual reviews to update the Assurance 
Framework. The Regional Cabinet will, having sought advice if appropriate, instruct 
interim changes or amendments to be made which will then be regularised at the next 
annual review.

The Joint Audit Committee or Scrutiny Committee (as applicable) will have a crucial 
role in both assessing and recommending changes to the Assurance Framework. 

4.7 Five Year Gateway Review

Through the City Deal, the UK Government committed to providing the Cardiff Capital 
Region with £500m over 20 years, £125m for the Metro Project and £375 for the Cardiff 
Capital Region Wider Investment Fund. The £375 million is proportioned as years 1-5 
at £50 million revenue, and years 6-20 at £325 million capital. The full allocation of the 
funding is subject to the Cardiff Capital Region’s successful completion of the Five 
Year Gateway Review, which will evaluate the impact of the Cardiff Capital Region’s 
investment of the funding in the five year period up to the Gateway Review.

Five-yearly Gateway Reviews may be used to assess investments’ impact and 
presently the guidance suggests that economic growth will be the primary metric 
against which impact is assessed. However, more recent reviews recognise the fact 
that local and national economic impact of the Investment Fund might not be 
observable after five years. As a result, the national evaluation panel may use 
appropriate metrics, such as whether investments are being delivered to time and to 
budget. Although definitive assessment criteria have not been provided it is anticipated 
that the Regional Cabinet will have the ability to shape the assessment criteria so that it 
aligns with the objectives set out in its JWA Business Plan. 

15 Examples of such changes or initiatives would include the Welsh Government’s proposal to introduce a National 
Infrastructure Commission, the National Development Framework and the setting up of a Valleys Task Force.

Page 465



92

Appendix 1 – List of Defined Terms

Accountable Body means the Council appointed under Clause 4 (Accountable Body) who shall 
be responsible for receiving and spending funds for and on behalf of the 
Councils in relation to the City Deal in accordance with the funding 
condition relating thereto and whose duties are set out under Clause 5 
(Duties of the Accountable Body)

Additionality The extent to which something happens as a result of an intervention that 
would not have occurred in the absence of the intervention.

Advisory/Consultative 
Body

Identified bodies who work in support of the Regional Cabinet and are able 
to submit Candidate Schemes

Affordability Affordability refers to both the absolute availability of funding to defray the 
costs of a project (i.e. is there a funding gap?) and the relative cost of the 
project in relation to other interventions that could otherwise be funded 
instead. A project can represent Value for Money, but not be affordable, 
and vice versa.

Annual Business Plan The annual business plan to be agreed by the Regional Cabinet pursuant to 
Clause 7.3 of the Joint Working Agreement.

Appraisal Criteria The principles and standards by which candidate schemes will be assessed 
and decided.

Appraisal Framework A supporting structure underlying appraisal as set out in section 3.5.
Assessment Framework A supporting structure underlying assessment. 
Assessment Process A series of actions or steps taken in order to assess candidate schemes as 

set out in section 3.10.
Assurance Framework A set of systems, processes and protocols designed to provide an evidence-

based and independent assessment of the governance, risk management, 
and control processes of an organisation.

Balanced Objectives A series of objectives designed to ensure that the whole of the Cardiff 
Capital Region (in terms of geography and people) benefits from growth.

Business Case The justification of an activity (strategic, programme, project, operational) 
which typically contains costs, benefits, risks and timescales and against 
which continuing viability is tested.

Candidate Scheme Appropriate schemes submitted by specific bodies for consideration under 
the Cardiff Capital Region Wider Investment Fund.

Capital Expenditure Expenditure on the acquisition or creation of a tangible fixed asset or 
expenditure which adds to and not merely maintains the value of an 
existing tangible fixed asset.

Cardiff Capital Region The region encompassing the Councils.
Cardiff Capital Region 
Prospectus

A programme of Candidate Scheme development.

Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund

Consisting of £375m of funding provided by the UK Government and £120m 
of committed borrowing by the Councils.

City Deal means the agreement between the Welsh Government, the UK 
Government and the Councils dated 15 March 2016 and appended at 
Schedule 7 (City Deal) to this Agreement

Councils The 10 authorities of:

Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council;
Bridgend County Borough Council;
Caerphilly County Borough Council;
The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff Council ("The City of 
Cardiff Council");
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council;
Monmouthshire County Council;
Newport City Council;
Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council;

Page 466



93

Torfaen County Borough Council; and,
The Vale of Glamorgan Council.

Delegated Powers The powers delegated by the Council to their representative on the 
Regional Cabinet.

Delivery Programme A flexible structure created to coordinate, direct and oversee the 
implementation of a set of related projects and activities in order to deliver 
outcomes and benefits related to strategic objectives as detailed in section 
3.13.  

Impact Impact is the result of a particular threat or opportunity actually occurring.
Implementation Plan The process of programme development by the Regional Cabinet in the first 

instance, outlining it proposals for the first 5 years.
Joint Working Agreement The legal agreement entered into by the Council to enable the Councils to 

discharge their obligations in relation to the City Deal.
JWA Business Plan means the strategy which defines the regional objectives including the high 

level programme to be agreed as a "Matter Reserved To The Councils" 
which shall include, amongst other matters, (i) the indicative investment 
programme for the "Programme Themes" (as such Programme Themes are 
defined under the Implementation Plan) and any agreed strategic projects 
together with the indicative spend profile for the Cardiff Capital Region 
Wider Investment Fund (comprising of the HMT Contribution and the 
Council Contribution in the aggregate sum of £495,000,000 (four hundred 
and ninety-five million) in relation thereto and (ii) the matters set out in 
Clause 7.1.4 (JWA Business Plan of the Joint Working Agreement), in order 
to discharge the Councils' obligations in relation to the City Deal.

Objective Agreed goals.
Outcome The benefits and other impacts resulting from specific outputs (e.g. reduced 

journey times, jobs created, reduction in pollution, access to employment 
etc.)

Output The tangible or intangible product resulting from a planned activity.
Performance 
Management System

A system to plan, monitor and review performance i.e. the extent to which 
objectives have been met in relation to quality, time and cost.

Portfolio means the four portfolios set out in section 2.2.1.
Programme Board The board of officers formed for the purposes of implementing the City 

Deal and day to day management of the Councils' obligations in relation to 
the City Deal pursuant to the Joint Working Agreement..

Programme Management The coordinated organisation, direction and implementation of a 
prospectus of projects and activities that together achieve outcomes and 
realise benefits that are of strategic importance.

Project A temporary grouping that is created for the purpose of delivering one or 
more products according to a specified business case.

Project Management The planning, monitoring and control of all aspects of the project and the 
motivation of all those involved to achieve the project objectives on time 
and to the specified cost, quality and performance.

Project Manager The person given authority and responsibility to manage the project on a 
day-to day basis to deliver the required products within the constraints 
agreed with the project board.

Prospectus means as defined in section 3.3 
Joint Audit Committee or 
Scrutiny Committee

Established to provide an independent scrutiny function over decisions 
made by the Regional Cabinet.

Regional Cabinet A Joint Committee established by Joint Working Agreement with delegated 
powers from the Councils

Regional Impact 
Assessment Toolkit

The toolkit will select a broad range of indicators and factors which are 
known to have a positive impact on the targets, detailed in the JWA 
Business Plan, and measure a candidate schemes scale of contribution to 
those defined targets and value for money.

Regional Office Established to provide services to the Regional Cabinet, including 

Page 467



94

programme management, financial management of the delivery 
programme, administration, engagement, and communication.

Regional Transport 
Authority

Established to co-ordinate regional transport planning and investment.

Scheme Projects, programmes, investments, funds, loans, grants and contributions.
Senior Responsible 
Owner (SRO)

The single individual with overall responsibility for ensuring that a project or 
programme meets its objectives and delivers the projected benefit.

Sponsor The main driving force behind a programme that provide the investment 
decision and top-level endorsement of the rationale and objectives of the 
programme.

Stakeholder Any individual, group or organisation that can affect, be affected by, or 
perceive itself to be affected by, an initiative (programme, project, activity, 
risk).

Sub-committee A committee composed of some members of a larger committee, board, or 
other body and reporting to it.

Targets Refers to achieving desired outputs or outcomes at a specific end date, 
employing a specific amount or resources to achieve a specific objective.

Terms of Reference The scope and limitations of an activity, group or board.
Transition Plan A formal, approved document showing major deliverables, activities and 

resources required in order to transition from implementation to delivery.
Value for Money Value for money assessed using three criteria, economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness.

Page 468



95

Schedule 9

Page 469



96

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal Implementation Plan
2016-2020

P
age 470



97

SRO
HMT Implementation Champion(s) for Cardiff Capital Region: Paul Shand  
Cardiff Capital Region Implementation Champion(s): Sheila Davies/Sian Workman 
WG Implementation champion for Cardiff Capital Region(s): Tamlyn Rabey/Jo Salway

Summary

1. Cardiff Capital Region has secured a deal worth £1.2 billion. Over its lifetime, local partners expect the City Deal to deliver 
up to 25,000 new jobs and leverage an additional £4 billion of private sector investment.
2. This City Deal will provide local partners with the powers and the resources to unlock significant economic growth across the 
Cardiff Capital Region. It is a deal that builds on the region’s sectoral strengths, its high skill base and three successful 
universities. The City Deal also provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to economic growth by: 
improving transport connectivity; increasing skill levels still further; supporting people into work; and giving businesses the 
support they need to innovate and grow.
3. This deal will also develop stronger and more effective leadership across the Cardiff Capital Region, enabling ten local 
authority leaders to join up decision making, pool resources and work more effectively with local businesses.
4. The Cardiff Capital Region City Deal includes:

£1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s infrastructure. A key priority for investment will be the delivery of the 
South East Wales Metro, including the Valley Lines Electrification programme.
Connecting the region. The Cardiff Capital Region will establish a new non-statutory Regional Transport Authority to co-
ordinate transport planning and investment, in partnership with the Welsh Government.
Support for innovation and improving the digital network. To develop capabilities in Compound Semiconductor 
Applications the UK Government will invest £50 million to establish a new Catapult Centre in Wales. The Cardiff Capital Region 
will also prioritise investment in research and development and provide support for high value innovative businesses.
Developing a skilled workforce and tackling unemployment. The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board will 
be created (building on existing arrangements) to ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs of local 
businesses and communities. The Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with the Department of Work 
and Pensions to co-design the future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability and/or long 
term unemployed.
Supporting enterprise and business growth. A Cardiff Capital Region Business Organisation will be established to ensure 
that there is a single voice for business to work with local authority leaders.
Housing development and regeneration. The Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital Region commit to a new 
partnership approach to strategic planning. This will ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-
use of property and sites.

P
age 471



98

Portfolio 
Leads

Deal Elements

1.South East Wales 
Metro and 
Connecting the CCR

2.Additional 
Flexibilities

3.Investing in 
Innovation and the 
Digital Network

4.Developing a 
Skilled Workforce 
and Tackling 
Unemployment

5.Supporting 
Enterprise and 
Business Growth

6.Housing 
Development and 
Regeneration

7.Cardiff Capital 
Region Cabinet

8.Strategic Regional 

CCRCD Portfolio & Lead

T2.6:Cllr Andrew Morgan and Cllr Huw 
David

T2.2:Cllr Andrew Morgan and Will 
Godfrey

T2.3:Cllr Peter Fox and Cllr Anthony 
Hunt

T2.4:Cllr Debbie Wilcox

T2.4:Cllr Phil Bale

T2.3:Cllr Neil Moore and Cllr Keith 
Reynolds

Independent Growth 
& Competitiveness 
Commission 
Recommendation

1,2,3,6,8,10

1,2,3,5,6,8,10,11,12

1,2,3,4,9

1,2,3,4,5,6,7

1,2,3,4,5,6,12,13

11

HMT Lead

To be determined 
(where 
appropriate)

WG Lead

Director of 
Transport and 
ICT 
Infrastructure 
(SJ)
Head of Local 
Government 
Finance (DC)
Dept. 

Director ICT 
Infrastructure 
(RS)

Director Skills, 
HE and Lifelong 
Working (HM)

Head of 
Economy, Skills, 
Transport 
Strategy Team 
(TB)
Director of 
Housing & 
Regen (JH)

P
age 472



99

Planning

9.Cardiff Capital 
Region Economic 
Growth Partnership

10.Independent 
Growth and 
Competitiveness 
Commission

11.Delivery, 
Monitoring and 
Evaluation

T2.1:Cllr Andrew Morgan

T2.3:Cllr Neil Moore and Cllr Keith 
Reynolds

T2.4/P2:Cllr Phil Bale

T2.4/P3:Cllr Phil Bale

Cllr Andrew Morgan and Sheila Davies

13

8

1,2,3,5

13

Head of 
Planning (NH)

Programme 
Theme:

1. South East Wales Metro

Summary: Given the importance of the Metro to the UK Government, Welsh Government and Cardiff Capital Region, a 
proportion of City Deal funding is pre-allocated to the delivery of this scheme (and, for the avoidance of doubt, 
such funding shall not include any Council’s Contribution or any obligation under the Joint Working Agreement). 
This pre-allocation focuses on Metro phase 2, the delivery of the Valley Lines Electrification and Modernisation 
programme. This City Deal reconfirms the continued shared ambition of both Governments and the Cardiff Capital 
Region to deliver this Metro scheme. £734 million of the £1.2 billion funding has already been committed to the 
delivery of this scheme. As part of this City Deal the Welsh Government commits to involving the Cardiff Capital 
Region in the co-design of the wider Metro scheme and in the procurement of a delivery organisation, subject to 
an agreed MoU.

P
age 473



100

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Huw David & Cllr Andrew Morgan

Supported 
by:

 Chris Bradshaw/Roger Waters/Clive Campbell/Simon Jones

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.6/1 Develop a Regional Transport Strategy

 Develop a Transport Strategy for Growth supporting the Cardiff 
Capital Region City Deal
1. Review existing local transport plans
2. Establish a strategic framework and delivery plan for transport in the 

CCR in conjunction with interim strategic land-use proposals
3. Identify transport aims and objectives that support the delivery of the 

required outputs and outcomes of the City Deal
4. Establish a regional fora (via the CCRTA) to engage with partners 

and stakeholders and to undertake consultations on strategies and 
programmes

5. Clarify scope and outputs of phase 2 Metro and undertake GAP 
analysis

6. Ensure the framework delivers outcomes that align with, enable and 
add value to other CCR and City Deal aspirations and priorities

7. Develop a strategic programme of projects, and identify appropriate 
funding opportunities. 

8. Define requirement of a core CCRTA unit and establish unit to 
develop policies, plans and programmes, monitor delivery and to 
manage data gathering for monitoring and reporting outcomes

 Develop a Regional Transport Plan supporting the Regional Spatial 
Strategy
1. Building on work undertaken to develop the Interim Strategy and 

using the resources established under the CCRTA develop a 

Jan 17 – Dec 17

RTA

RTA

P
age 474



101

Statutory Regional Transport Plan.  Scope tasks and timelines for 
completion of document by 2020

2. Determine how regional transport networks can most effectively 
enable strategic spatial planning aspirations

3. Identify transport aims and objectives that support the delivery of a 
SDP & CCR/City Deal aspirations

4. Procure external resource in developing statutory supporting studies
5. Establish information baseline and undertake appropriate public and 

stakeholder engagement
T2.6/2 Support and Inform Metro Development

 Work in partnership with Welsh Government to define priorities of the 
South East Wales Metro concept and support its delivery

 LA officer seconded into TfW procurement team to support procurement 
process and assist definition of Metro to align with and complement 
other City Region aspirations

 Determine emerging mode type, service patterns and standards, scope 
of Phase 2

 Identify opportunities for a programme of additional investment (Phase 
3) to deliver wider regional benefits

Oct 16 – Mar 22

RTA/TfW

T2.6/3 Pooled Local Transport Network and Resources

 Establish CCRTA Joint Transport Committee (as sub-committee to 
Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet)

 Establish senior transport officer group
 Establish joint working partnerships with Welsh Government and 

Transport for Wales with clear roles and responsibilities
 Establish the CCRTA as the focal point for regional engagement on all 

LA based transport issues and to respond/influence to third party 
proposals/services

 Identify   and develop joint regional initiatives to provide a strategic 
regional approach to dealing with transport matters

 Develop and implement a phased approach to regionalising the delivery 

Oct 16

Jan 16

Jan 17 – Mar 20

RTA

P
age 475



102

of transport services and functions, including appropriate staff, 
accommodation and establishment requirements

T2.6/4 Integrated Ticketing

 Explore the creation of a single integrated ticketing platform for public 
transport across the region

 The CCRTA will work with Welsh Government, Transport for Wales, bus 
and rail operators and partners and stakeholders to develop integrated 
ticketing

 In conjunction with Welsh Government; an integration initiative will be 
developed via an Integration Alliance Board (IAB) which will be 
established as an alliance to drive forward the integration of public 
transport to ensure a greater proportion of travel demand is 
accommodated by sustainable modes

 The initiative will be developed in parallel with and complement Phase 2 
of Metro

 The wider Integration Initiative will include; improving availability of 
information; simplifying ticketing; making connections between different 
steps in the journey, and different modes of transport, easier; and 
providing better interchange facilities

 Specific to ticketing, the CCRTA will work within the IAB to;

 work with the operators to bring forward commercial ticketing products 
that will be accepted on all modes of transport by all operators

 identify the most practical smart technology which can be introduced 
quickly to enhance the customer experience

 ensure the capture of travel data is used to promote public transport 
options and provide other business opportunities such as shopping 
vouchers etc.

RTA/TfW

RTA/TfW/IAB

T2.6/5 Integrated Aviation Routes

P
age 476



103

Working in partnership with the Welsh Government to promote the 
development of integrated aviation routes from Cardiff airport and St Athan 
Enterprise Zone, to deliver economic benefit

1. Review current levels of accessibility and connectivity between the 
airport / enterprise zone and the wider region

2. Identify options to enhance current levels of accessibility and 
connectivity

3. Develop a prioritised programme of enhancements and identify 
appropriate funding opportunities

4. Develop and implement enhancements

2017-19

2017-19
2017-19

2020-25

Programme 
Theme:

2. Additional Flexibilities

Summary: In order to deliver the Cardiff Capital Region‘s City Deal commitments and a longer-term economic strategy, the 
ten local authorities have requested greater financial autonomy and flexibility. As part of this City Deal the Welsh 
Government will explore greater financial autonomy and flexibility with the Cardiff Capital Region Regional 
Cabinet.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Steve Thomas

Supported 
by:

 Will Godfrey/WAO/WGT

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.2/4 Financial Flexibility

 Regional Cabinet to develop a proposal around specifically what they 
are seeking to explore

 Meeting to explore the potential of business rate income above an 
agreed growth baseline to provide funding for the City Deal programme

 Meeting to explore the ability to levy an infrastructure supplement

Jan 17
Jan 17
Dec 17

RO

WG/WGT
WG/WGT

P
age 477



104

 Meeting to explore creating the option for the local authorities to use 
alternative finance sources

 Explore removing conditions around some specific Welsh Government 
grants, to allow funding to be pooled at the regional level in areas such 
as school support and interventions that seek to address poverty

WG/WGT/WAO

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Programme 
Theme:

3. Investing in Innovation and the Digital Network

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region has an aspiration to extend the “arc of innovation” that runs along the M4 corridor into 
the Cardiff Capital Region. Capitalising on the research strengths of the Cardiff Capital Region’s three universities, 
the Cardiff Capital Region will designate an “Innovation District” that helps to: create and nurture new high growth 
businesses; increases investment in research and development; and provides the skills that businesses need now 
and in the future, significantly improving the commercialisation of IP. Within the context of an Innovation District, 
there are a set of key and connected interventions that would provide a foundation for investment in innovation 
growth; grow a cluster of international significance around advanced compound semi-conductors; target and try 
out new ways of working in public services through a regional ‘testbed’ piloting developments in open and big data 
and unlocking the economic value of public procurement and building an industrial accommodation strategy for co-
working innovation hubs.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Peter fox and Cllr Anthony Hunt 

Supported 
by:

 Paul Matthews/Kellie Bernie/Alison Ward/Matt Lewis

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.5 /2 Developing an Internationally Competitive Compound Semiconductor Cluster
Accelerate growth of innovation by:
 Establishing an anchor space in the region for high end production and 

manufacturing in 2017/18
 Link University-supported R&D & IP creation through to production and 

Acquisition of high 
end factory space 
March 2017

Co-locate high 
end production 
with Catapult 
Centre

CCRPB/WG

P
age 478



105

commercialisation – ensuring full TRL presence across 1-3, 3-6 and 6-9
 Connect Centre for Excellence with Manufacturing and Production and 

Catapult Centre
 Supporting the development of a globally recognised Compound Semi-

conductor cluster through an open innovation system, FDI and 
specialist branding and marketing

 Supporting high growth connections through creating ‘collision spaces’ 
for semi-conductors, defence, automotive and digital sectors

Catapult location 
with factory 
production 2017/18

Cluster 
establishment 
begins 2019/20

Access to 
ongoing 
Innovate UK 
support and 
investment

UKRI 
recognises 
region as 
honeypot for 
clustering of CS 
industries

T2.5 Innovation District, Innovation Investment and Innovate UK

 Designate an innovation district with a ‘core’ around Cardiff University 
Innovation System and a ‘corridor’ that links growth poles

 Achieve new package of fiscal rewards and incentives through which to 
target growth and development

 Target key emergent and existing growth sectors through enhanced 
package of measures to invest in growth of IP creation and 
commercialisation

 Develop and match fund an Innovation Investment Fund targeted at the 
digital growth sector 

 Improve subscription rate to Innovate UK funds and Investment streams 
Invest 

 Inform Innovate UK Industrial Growth Strategy
 Site the National Innovation Body for Wales within the Innovation 

District programmes and activities
 Work with WG to support, consolidate and promote innovation through 

a new National Innovation Body

2018-33

2019/20

2020 onwards

2019

2017/18 onwards
January 2017
2018
2018

Provide powers 
to designate an 
Innovation 
District
Agree package 
of fiscal 
rewards and 
incentives

Ensure greater 
engagement in 
Wales with 
Innovate’s 
country Director 
and direct 
engagement in 
the IGS

Agreement to 

CCRPB/WGP
age 479



106

locate new NIB 
within the 
region and 
designated 
Innovation 
District

T2.5/4 Public Services Testbed, Digital Development and Open Data

 Create testbed to try, test and develop new approaches to public 
service delivering – inverting notion of a ‘bloated’ and problem 
public sector into an opportunity. This would focus upon solving 
the ‘wicked problems’ in public services and will include:

o Development of data science campus for big data analytics
o Open data standard for the region. Open data programme and strategy 

that targets useable apps based development; improves accountability 
and adds civic value

o Unlock the economic value of public procurement and see councils play 
a more significant role in market creation

o Drive forward new solutions to problems in social care, education, 
customer care, energy and asset optimisation and localism and service 
devolution

 Build upon the success and scale of the Software Academy through 
creation of a Digital Services Academy – targeting cyber, defence and 
social media alongside software development

 Explore scope for direct international connectivity
 Add value to existing 4G and 5G technologies – making the region a 

zone for uber-fast connectivity and a testbed for new technologies
 Increase WIFI capacity across public transport, opening opportunities 

for data portals and e-citizenship
 Implement ‘innovation’ and ‘digital’ as a theme across all areas, 

impacting the future-proofing of new public transport, smart live-work 
housing, smart region development (urban-rural-valley) and ensuring 

Open data strategy 
and licence for 
region 2018

Data analytics 
campus 2020

Public services 
testbed in operation 
for 2021

Digital academy 
expansion 2019

Cyber academy 
established 2020

Support from all 
Government 
agencies in 
region to sign 
up to approach 
– ONS, IPO, 
and Companies 
House etc.

Innovate UK 
and H20/20 
support for 
Public Services 
Testbed

CCRPB/WG

P
age 480



107

our young people are equipped and skilled to operate in the economies 
of the future.

T2.5/4 Industrial Accommodation Strategy & Entrepreneurship

 Re-invigorate and adapt the National Entrepreneurship Strategy for the 
region

 Engage in and implement the findings and recommendations of REAP 
Action Plan

 Create ‘maker/coding/co-working’ spaces to enable the development of 
appropriate business development, scale-up and creative co-working 
environments.

2020
2018 onwards for 
REAP 
recommendations
First co-working 
space live in 2020

Support for 
implementation 
of REAP

Development of 
regional ES 
supported by 
WG

New 
arrangements 
in place for 
liaison and 
engagement 
with UKRI

CCRPB/WG

Programme 
Theme:

4. Developing a Skilled Workforce and Tackling Unemployment

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region Skills and Employment Board will be created (building on existing arrangements) to 
ensure skills and employment provision is responsive to the needs of local businesses and communities. The 
Cardiff Capital Region and the Welsh Government will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to co-
design the future employment support from 2017, for people with a health condition or disability and/or long term 
unemployed.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Debbie Wilcox 

Supported  Stephen Gillingham/Richard Crook

P
age 481



108

by:
N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.4/1 DWP Work & Health

 Co-design of future employment support
 Award of framework contracts 
 Agreement of CCRCD involvement in mini framework awards
 Agreement of CCRCD involvement in the CPA governance of the 

contract performance

Nov 17 Engagement 
with DWP

RC/DWP

T2.4/2 Reducing Unemployment

 Increase number of people moving into work
 A regional approach for assessment and support using the 5 step Model
 The integration of the All Age Employability Strategy into delivery
 Ensuring the provision of skills for support employability
 The preparation of a CCRCD Employability strategy to provide the 

context to shape existing provision, to direct new provision and measure 
performance will cover increasing employability and reducing UE.  The 
strategy will be produced for October 2017 with the delivery being 
ongoing

Oct 17 LSKIP

T2.4/3 Increasing Employability

 Provide people with skills for employability
 Increase number of people moving into work
 A regional approach for assessment and support using the 5 step Model
 The integration of the All Age Employability Strategy into delivery
 Ensuring the provision of skills for support employability
 The preparation of a CCRCD Employability strategy to provide the 

context to shape existing provision, to direct new provision and measure 
performance will cover increasing employability and reducing UE.  The 
strategy will be produced for October 2017 with the delivery being 

Oct 17 LSKIP

P
age 482



109

ongoing

T2.4/4 Apprenticeship Programme

 Increase the number of people undertaking apprenticeships
 The programme will need to include the Programme for Government 

intention of delivering 100,000 apprenticeships, the current supply and 
demand, and opportunity to develop a tailored CCRCD response.  An 
initial programme will be developed for March 2017 with full programme 
finalised for October 2017 in line with the Employability Strategy

Oct 17 LSKIP

T2.4/P1 Social Clauses Review

 Task and Finish review of best practice to establish a sustainable 
approach to procurement

June 17 LSKIP

T2.4/P1 Business Cluster (Skills) Collaboration

 Structural engagement with business clusters to ensure skills needs are 
met

June 17 LSKIP

T2.4/P1 Virtual Academies

 Development of the model of how the VA would operate in response to 
opportunity

June 17 LSKIP

T2.5/4Software Academy

 The Digital Network
 Support the Software Academy and related programmes
 Developing a cyber-security academy
 Developing proposals for better use of data
 Exploring the case for direct International connectivity
 Mobile infrastructure across 4G and 5G technologies that add value to 

existing provision
 Increasing Wi-Fi across public transport 
 Digital solutions to big problems  

June 17 LSKIP

P
age 483



110

Programme 
Theme:

5. Supporting Enterprise and Business Growth

Summary: A Cardiff Capital Region Business organisation will be established to ensure that there is a single voice for 
business to work with local authority leaders.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Peter Fox & Cllr Anthony Hunt

Supported 
by:

 Paul Matthews/Kellie Bernie/Alison Ward/Matt Lewis/Helen Davies/Ann Beynon

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.5/P1 Creating the Regional Business Organisation

 Establish the board HD/AB

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.5/5 Integrated Delivery Unit

 Create a Regional integrated Delivery unit to provide Business Support
 Align local resources to create the unit to deliver regionally significant 

aspects of economic development including business development; 
marketing; tourism; and inward investment

 Work with Welsh Government to ensure complementarity
 Welsh Government to ensure greater levels of visibility with the Welsh 

Government’s own oversees offices 

WG oversees 
offices/networks

RO
RO

RO
RO

Programme 
Theme:

6. Housing Development and Regeneration

P
age 484



111

Summary: The Welsh Government and the Cardiff Capital Region commit to a new partnership approach to strategic 
planning. This will ensure the delivery of sustainable communities, through the use and re-use of property and 
sites.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Moore & Cllr Reynolds

Supported 
by:

 Chris Burns/Christina Harrhy/Rob Thomas/Marcus Goldsworthy/Jane Cook

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.3/3 Development of a CCRCD Housing Fund

 Evidence base of reasons why housing sites are stalled in SE Wales
 Development of toolkit of interventions to stimulate housing 

development
 Complete decision tree to identify the right tools for particular site 

circumstances
 Establish non-financial mechanisms e.g. facilitating landowners; CPO 

etc.
 Establish fund criteria to ensure sites supported deliver economic 

benefit
 Establish fund administration and management arrangements
 Establish evaluation mechanism
 Launch fund

2017-2020 JC

T2.3/3 Work with Welsh Government to ensure that housing programmes and initiatives align

 Scope WG housing activity
 Share City Deal Activity 
 Align work streams

2017-2020 JC

T2.3/3 Work with public and private housing providers to increase the delivery and quality of housing

P
age 485



112

 Establish regional fora
 Lead task and finish activity
 Explore innovative housing delivery partnerships

2017-2020 JC

T2.3/3 Work with public and private housing providers to increase the delivery and quality of housing

 Establish regional fora
 Lead task and finish activity
 Explore innovative housing delivery partnerships

2017-2020 JC

T2.3/3 Strategic Plan for Regional Housing delivery, including Market Assessment
T2.3/1 Coordinate with transport; skills; planning and other CCRCD work streams
T2.3/1 Strategic approach to regeneration & infrastructure provision

 Develop a process to capture review and assess infrastructure and 
regeneration projects which accord with City Deal principles and 
ensure all submitted schemes and programmes undergo the 
assessment process and only those meeting the assessment criteria 
are progressed.

 Develop a framework based on supporting information provided by 
the transport, housing, innovation and business support and skill 
strand to promote innovative infrastructure, regeneration and 
economic growth projects in collaboration and/or in partnership in 
order to maximise leverage from the private and public sectors;

 Facilitate the development of schemes with partners including 
Welsh Government which together have the potential to provide 
region wide benefits;

 Develop a program of support for the three Enterprise Zones within 
the region in conjunction with Welsh Government and review the 
boundaries and roles of the Zones going forward

 The development of further innovative start-up and co-working 
space in strategic locations to serve the region along with the follow-
on space innovative business need to grow.

 Targeted investment for town centre regeneration to ensure our 

April 2017

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

MGP
age 486



113

towns develop and thrive into the 21st century 
 The Development of a regeneration and infrastructure fund to 

support projects which deliver crosscutting regional benefits.
 Use the outcomes of the assessment process and City Deal 

Regional Cabinet resolutions to prepare a regional programme of 
implementation based on available funding;

 Ensure that the regional programme of implementation is monitored 
and updated based on revised funding and priorities and ensures 
that project implementation maximises added value benefits and 
sustainability principles. 

 Tourism development/investment – Development of a region wide 
destination investment  plan

April 2017-2020

April 2017-2020

Programme 
Theme:

7. Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet

Summary: This City Deal will act as a catalyst to develop stronger and more effective leadership across the Cardiff Capital 
Region, enabling ten local authority leaders to join up decision making, pool resources and work more effectively 
with local businesses. 

Utilising the existing statutory framework, the ten local authorities will establish a Cardiff Capital Region Joint 
Cabinet. The Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet will have the status of a Joint Committee and will be the ultimate 
decision making body in the governance structure. 
The establishment of a Cardiff Capital Region Joint Cabinet will be the first step in the development of greater city-
region governance across the Cardiff Capital Region.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Toomey

Supported 
by:  Gareth Chapman/Liz Weale/Pinsent Mason
N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

P
age 487



114

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.2/1 Agreement and Governance Structure

 A comprehensive agreement will be drawn up between the participating 
authorities which will a) bind and commit each individual local authority 
and any successor authority (in the event of local government re-
organisation) for such duration as is necessary to deliver the City Deal; 
and b) allow for the possibility of additional functions and powers to be 
devolved to the Joint Cabinet in the future

Jan 17 GC

T2.2/2 Governance Development

 The Cardiff Capital Region commit to a) reviewing the City Deal 
governance and exploring the future options for moving to even 
stronger and effective governance that is legally binding; and b) 
consulting the Welsh Government and the UK Government to identify 
actions needed to take forward future governance options

GC

Programme 
Theme:

8. Strategic Regional Planning

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region, in partnership with the Welsh Government, will commit to the creation of an integrated 
strategic development plan that incorporates housing and employment land-use with wider transport plans. The 
strategic plan will provide the underpinning blue-print for development across the city-region.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Moore & Cllr Reynolds

Supported 
by:

 Chris Burns/Christina Harrhy/Rob Thomas

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.4/4 Regional Strategic Planning

P
age 488



115

 Create an Integrated Strategic Development Plan RT/CH

Programme 
Theme:

9. Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region Economic Growth Partnership will be established as a key advisory body for the 
development of the Regional Economic Strategy as well as decisions relating to the Cardiff Capital Region Wider 
Investment Fund. The Partnership will comprise representatives of the key economic actors and agents of the city-
region, including business, higher education, local government, the third sector and employee organisations. 
In addition to being an advisory body for the Regional Economic Strategy,  and providing advice on the Cardiff 
Capital Region Wider Investment Fund, the Partnership will also provide an advocacy role in promoting the city-
region, which includes supporting the marketing of the city-region and inward investment activities, as well as 
making representations on behalf of the city-region. In undertaking these activities the Partnership will also monitor 
and make recommendations to the Regional Cabinet with regard to City Deal implementation; and will provide 
advice on investment decisions.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Bale

Supported 
by:

 Paul Orders

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.4 Establish the Regional Economic Growth Partnership (REGP)

 Develop detailed proposals for the REGP and report back to Joint 
Cabinet

 Finalise proposals to align with legislation and the wider City Deal 
requirements around governance and the Assurance Framework

 Identify an individual to support the Nolan process in appointing a chair
 Identify representative groups from the business community and 

employee groups, inviting Higher Education institutions to propose a 

2016
Early 2017

Early 2017
Early 2017

Spring 2017

PO

P
age 489



116

representative and establish interim board
 Establish full REGP

Programme 
Theme:

10. Independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission

Summary: The Cardiff Capital Region will establish an independent Growth and Competitiveness Commission to support the 
Cardiff Capital Region’s economic and investment strategy. It will review activities related to the City Deal as well 
as wider economic and growth interventions.

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Bale

Supported 
by:

 Paul Orders

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.4/P3 Review of evidence

 Establish terms of reference and programme June 2016
 Launch event June 2016
 Commence programme, beginning with a review of evidence about the 

functional economy area. 
 Deliver a detailed economic analysis of the city-region
 Findings launched December 2016

2015/16 GC

Deal 
Element:

11. Delivery, Monitoring and Evaluation

Summary: Cardiff Capital Region will work with the UK Government and the Welsh Government to develop an agreed 
implementation, monitoring and evaluation plan in advance of implementation, which sets out the proposed 
approach delivery and evaluating the impact of delivery.

P
age 490



117

Portfolio 
Lead:

 Cllr Morgan

Supported 
by:

 Sheila Davies/Sian Workman

N.B. unless specified, timescales to be read as 2016-2020

Key milestones/tasks Timescales Requirements 
of Government

Owner

T2.1 Establish the Regional Office (RO)

 Establish the joint programme management team
 Establish the regional delivery team
 Develop and deploy over-arching programme monitoring tools and 

processes
 Introduce individual evaluation arrangements covering each portfolio 

area referenced 
 Produce the 2017/18 Business Plan

Jan 17 Support in the 
development of 
the framework 

SD/SW
SW
SW

SD/SW

T2.1 Establish a Comprehensive Transition Programme

 A comprehensive programme of work to ensure a seamless transition to 
City Deal arrangements

 Ensure that appropriate arrangements are put in place to support the 
CCRCD including accommodation, staff resources, HR support, 
financial systems and audit arrangements and IT systems

 Effective ‘internal’ communication will be required 

Jan 17 Support in the 
development of 
the framework 

SW

SW/WGT/UKG

SW

T2.1 Agree and Implement a Review and Reporting Timetable

 A comprehensive timetable  to ensure requisite multilateral review and 
reporting arrangements are met by all partners

 Establish a clear mechanism for refreshing the city-region 
implementation plan (it is quite possible that named individuals may 
change as the result of elections, and we anticipate that some 
milestones can only be developed or refined following initial exploratory 
work) and agreeing clear governance over how revisions are approved

Jan 17 Support in the 
development of 
the timetable

Welsh 
Government 
City Deal 

SW/WGT/UKG

SW

P
age 491



118

Overview Board

P
age 492



APPENDIX C

Page 1 of 10

CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL

WELL-BEING & EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT

Description of Proposal: Cardiff Capital Region City Deal – Strategic Business Plan for the Wider Investment Fund

Section 1) Complete the table below to assess how well you have applied the 5 ways of working to act in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle.

Long-term How does your proposal balance short-term need with the need to safeguard the ability to meet long term needs by planning 
for the future?

The Strategic Business Plan states:
“The City Deal is a long-term programme and no one can, with confidence, predict what changes will occur over the next 20 
years.
When considering the current pace of innovation in areas such as artificial intelligence, drones, driverless vehicles, 3-D 
printing, robotics, and automation, the future infrastructure and skills needs of the region is changing radically.
We must therefore ensure our policies, plans and programmes are flexible and sufficiently dynamic to not only cope with 
change but to act as a catalyst to drive positive change in the region.”
The Plan also states:
“Our Regional Strategic Objectives also reflect the need to focus on improving the quality of life of people and communities 
now and in the future and ensure our approach and actions are responsible and meet our current needs without 
compromising the quality of life of future generations.”
This demonstrates that the Regional Cabinet are mindful of their responsibilities and that they will regularly undertake 
reviews to ensure they are achieving the correct balance in the short, medium and long-term.

Integration How does your proposal demonstrate an integrated approach to considering economic, social, environmental & cultural 
outcomes together?

The Strategic Business Plan states:
“We have identified four Strategic Themes where we feel we can make the biggest difference and a real improvement to the 
wellbeing of people in the region and in so doing support our regional objectives, wellbeing goals and the twin goals, in the 
Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity for All: economic action plan’, of growing the economy and reducing inequality.
City Deal Strategic Themes:

P
age 493



APPENDIX C

Page 2 of 10

 Skills & Employment;
 Innovation;
 Connecting the Region; and
 Regeneration and Infrastructure.
Identifying these themes provides a structure and method of developing proposals and schemes. However, the themes are 
indivisible, and all proposals will be expected to be cross-cutting and contribute, to differing degrees, to our objectives and 
the well-being goals.”
In addition, when appraising schemes within the City Deal the Strategic Plan states:
“All proposed schemes will be required to follow the same appraisal process as detailed in the Assurance Framework. 
Schemes will be assessed on their potential to contribute to our high-level aims and strategic objectives; demonstrate value 
for money, use of the five ways of working and how they contribute to the well-being goals.”
Both these statements demonstrate how the Regional Cabinet are taking an integrated approach when developing and 
assessing proposals and schemes.

Involvement How does your proposal involve those stakeholders, who you are seeking to support, and those with an interest in 
promoting and supporting economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being in the region, whilst ensuring engagement 
reflects the diversity of the region?
The Strategic Business Plan has been prepared using the research and recommendations of the Growth and 
Competitiveness Commission, as required by the Assurance Framework para 3.1. The Growth and Competitiveness 
Commission was established as an Independent Commission by the Regional Cabinet specifically to undertake research 
and extensive consultation on the City Deal, and from this work provide advice and recommendations to the Regional 
Cabinet.
In addition, the Regional Cabinet will be submitting the Strategic Business Plan to each of the regions ten constituent 
authorities’ councils for approval.
This means that up to 536 local councillors, all of whom have been elected by and represent their diverse communities, will 
determine whether to adopt this Business Plan.

Collaboration How does your proposal involve working together with partners (internal and external) to deliver well-being objectives?

The City Deal is a collaboration of the ten local authorities of south east Wales.
In defining the Regional Cabinets ‘Vision’ there is a statement related to collaboration – “To make the most of the 
opportunities our combined size gives us, we must all work together – public sector, private sector, education 

P
age 494



APPENDIX C

Page 3 of 10

establishments and our communities – for the benefit of all.”

In addition, the Strategic Business Plan states:
“We are working closely with the Welsh Government and National Government, who are both signatories to the City Deal. 
We have also been instrumental in establishing stakeholder groups including the Cardiff Capital Region:
 Skills and Employment Board -  representing a wide range of stakeholders, including businesses, higher and further 

education, local authorities and Welsh Government;
 Regional Business Council – providing a strong business voice;
 Economic Growth Partnership – bringing together partners to consider and advise on a sustainable economic growth 

strategy and investment decisions.
We are actively working with the Valleys Taskforce to ensure our aims, objectives and interventions not only align but also 
complement each other, taking advantage of their engagement processes, to maximise benefits to the region as a whole.
We are developing an effective working relationship with the Office of the Future Generations Commissioner for Wales to 
ensure that opportunities to support the well-being goals are highlighted.”
This statement only identifies a few of the organisations we work with and demonstrates that the Regional Cabinet is 
committed to collaboration and as the City Deal progresses and schemes are developed it is anticipated that more 
stakeholders will form part of our inclusive collaboration approach. 

Prevention How does your proposal put resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse?

The Cardiff Capital Region is widely recognised as a region with major strengths, an attractive environment, a strong 
heritage, a growing economy and emerging opportunities.
However, it is also a region where there are concentrations of poverty and where not all have access to the opportunities 
available. Improving accessibility to opportunities and increasing labour market participation is critical to support an 
improved quality of life for all the regions residents.
By investing resources in promoting skills; employment opportunity; job quality, security and progression the Regional 
Cabinet aim to promote more inclusive growth within the region.

Section 2): Assess how well your proposal will result in multiple benefits for our communities and contribute to the national well-being goals.

Description of the Well-being goals How will your proposal deliver benefits to our communities 
under the national well-being goals?

Is there anyway to maximise the 
benefits or minimise any negative 

P
age 495



APPENDIX C

Page 4 of 10

impacts to our communities (and 
contribute to the national well-being 
goals)?

A prosperous Wales:
An innovative, productive and low 
carbon society which recognises the 
limits of the global environment and 
therefore uses resources efficiently and 
proportionately (including acting on 
climate change); and which develops a 
skilled and well-educated population in 
an economy which generates wealth 
and provides employment opportunities, 
allowing people to take advantage of the 
wealth generated through securing 
decent work.

The Regional Cabinets Vision and Regional Strategic 
Objectives set out their aspirations and with their high-level 
aims, to create 25,000 new jobs and leverage £4bn private 
sector investment, establish the economic outcomes they 
are seeking to achieve when considering use of the City 
Deal Wider Investment Fund.
The Regional Strategic Objectives also reflect the need to 
focus on improving the quality of life of people and 
communities now and in the future and ensure the Regional 
Cabinets approach and actions are responsible and meet 
the regions current needs without compromising the quality 
of life of future generations.
The Strategic Objectives, as detailed in the Strategic 
Business, are:
1. Prosperity and Opportunity - Building the capacity of 

individuals, households, public sector and 
businesses to meet challenges and grasp 
opportunity creating a more productive economy
The quality of the economic environment of the region 
will play a crucial role in creating jobs by improving 
business performance, enhancing opportunity and 
encouraging innovation. We will nurture the economic 
environment by:

 providing the right infrastructure including connectivity by 
means of good transport links and high speed 
broadband;

 encouraging a culture of innovation and entrepreneurship 
by providing the right skills, opportunities and support to 
engender a confidence to be creative;

 ensuring that the city-regions labour market is equipped 

In accordance with the Assurance 
Framework all proposed schemes 
will demonstrate their potential 
outputs and outcomes via a 5 Case 
Business Model, in accordance with 
HM Treasury Green Book, a tool for 
scoping and planning a proposal and 
documenting the expected 
outcomes.
In addition, for Cardiff Capital Region 
schemes, the business case will also 
have to demonstrate the use of the 
five well-being ways of working and 
how it supports the wellbeing goals 
and the twin goals in the Welsh 
Government’s ‘Prosperity for All: 
economic action plan’ of growing the 
economy and reducing inequality1.
Any report to the Regional Cabinet 
seeking approval for a proposal will 
be require to be accompanied by a 
City Deal Well-being and Equalities 
Assessment.
In this way the Regional Cabinet will 
ensure that any interventions and/or 
investments will aim to maximise its 
positive impact on communities and 
the well-being goals.
 

P
age 496



APPENDIX C

Page 5 of 10

with the skills that businesses need;
 improving public sector efficiency and effectiveness by 

new ways of working;
 supporting all businesses to become more productive, 

from small retail to large advanced manufacturers;
 enhancing the business climate for emerging sectors, 

enterprises and innovation that can spawn new sources 
of jobs and incomes into the longer-term future, including 
creating business clusters where firms can network, 
share skills and spur each other to higher levels of 
performance;

 encourage and promote research and development and 
entrepreneurial enterprise.

2. Inclusion and Equality - A vibrant and sustainable 
economy which contributes to the well-being and 
quality of life of people and communities now and in 
the future
A vibrant and inclusive economy supports a mix of 
economic activities and promotes economic security and 
resilience. We will promote:

 access to employment and economic opportunities;
 participation in the labour market for all members of 

society;
 access to a range of housing, including affordable;
 access to education and training, to develop skills;
 access to social and recreational opportunities. 
3. Identity, Culture, Community and Sustainability - 

Forging a clear identity and strong reputation as a 
City-Region for trade, innovation, and quality of life
For our region to gain attention and respect and 
effectively compete and attract businesses, tourists, 
investors, students, entrepreneurs, international sporting 
and cultural events it requires a clear, credible, appealing 

1 Written statement by Ken Skates, Cabinet Secretary for Economy and Transport on 11th December 2017.

P
age 497



APPENDIX C

Page 6 of 10

and distinctive identity. To promote this identity and 
reputation we will: 

 ensure our urban centres are vibrant and vital with 
unique identities which all of the regions residents can 
use and be proud of;

 respect, protect and support our rural and natural 
environment and use it to promote economic and social 
outcomes;

 develop and promote our world-class cultural and 
recreational opportunities utilising the regions natural 
beauty and historic areas;

 provide a quality environment across the whole region 
including existing and new development that attracts 
businesses and talented people;

 demonstrate our commitment to a sustainable future and 
acknowledge our global responsibilities; and

 work with political and commercial partners, at a national, 
regional and local level to coordinate the promotion of the 
region.

Using these Strategic Objectives will assist the Regional 
Cabinet in supporting the well-being goal of ‘a prosperous 
Wales’.

A resilient Wales:
A nation which maintains and enhances 
a biodiverse natural environment with 
healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt to 
change (for example climate change).

The Regional Cabinet, as decision makers, will need to 
consider existing and future demands which will include new 
forms of sustainable energy generation, housing, new 
infrastructure, and facilities which will generate job 
opportunities such as strategic sites.
In response to these pressures the Regional Cabinet will, 
seek appropriate advice, and work in a way that ensures 
efficient and effective solutions that not only maintain the 
environment but where ever possible enhance it and make it 
more resilient, supporting economic growth with responsible 
environmental management.

See the way of working detailed 
above and how this approach by the 
Regional Cabinet will seek to support 
the regions communities and the 
well-being goals.
 

P
age 498



APPENDIX C

Page 7 of 10

This is referenced in “Strategic Objective 3 – respect, 
protect and support our rural and natural environment and 
use it to promote economic and social outcomes”.

The City Deal has an economic focus, it is therefore, by 
using the natural environment to support economic and 
social outcomes and making the region more attractive to 
investors, that the Regional Cabinet can justify investing City 
Deal funds to enhance and maintain the regions 
environment.
Therefore, using the Strategic Objectives, detailed above, 
will assist the Regional Cabinet in supporting the well-being 
goal of ‘a resilient Wales’.

A healthier Wales:
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in 
which choice and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood.

There is a clear evidence base that shows that for the 
majority of people being in good secure work is better for 
their health than being out of work. Employment has social, 
psychological, and financial benefits that improve health.
The Regional Cabinet’s aims, as detailed in the Strategic 
Business Plan, and Strategic Objectives, to create additional 
good quality jobs and support people to up skill to fill those 
roles will assist in supporting the well-being goal of ‘a 
healthier Wales’.

See the way of working detailed 
above and how this approach by the 
Regional Cabinet will seek to support 
the regions communities and the 
well-being goals.
 

A more equal Wales:
A society that enables people to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances (including 
their socio economic background and 
circumstances).

The Strategic Objective ‘Inclusion and Equality’ detailed in 
the Strategic Business Plan states:  
Inclusion and Equality - A vibrant and sustainable 
economy which contributes to the well-being and quality 
of life of people and communities now and in the future
A vibrant and inclusive economy supports a mix of economic 
activities and promotes economic security and resilience. 
We will promote:

See the way of working detailed 
above and how this approach by the 
Regional Cabinet will seek to support 
the regions communities and the 
well-being goals.
 

P
age 499



APPENDIX C

Page 8 of 10

 access to employment and economic opportunities;
 participation in the labour market for all members of 

society;
 access to a range of housing, including affordable;
 access to education and training, to develop skills;
 access to social and recreational opportunities.   
Using this Strategic Objective will assist the Regional 
Cabinet in supporting the well-being goal of ‘a more equal 
Wales’.

A Wales of cohesive communities:
Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities

The details in the Strategic Objectives related to 
connectivity, transport and digital; vibrant and vital economy 
and urban centres; and affordable housing will all contribute 
to support this goal.
Therefore, using the Strategic Objectives, detailed above, 
will assist the Regional Cabinet in supporting the well-being 
goal of ‘a Wales of cohesive communities’.

See the way of working detailed 
above and how this approach by the 
Regional Cabinet will seek to support 
the regions communities and the 
well-being goals.
 

A Wales of vibrant culture and 
thriving Welsh language:
A society that promotes and protects 
culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages people 
to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation.

The Strategic Objective ‘Identity, Culture, Community and 
Sustainability’ specifically refers to the development and 
promotion of the regions world-class cultural and 
recreational opportunities exploiting the regions natural 
beauty and historic areas.
Therefore, using the Strategic Objectives, detailed above, 
will assist the Regional Cabinet in supporting the well-being 
goal of ‘a Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh 
language’.
Regard will be had to the Welsh Language Measure 2011 
and consultation and communication will have regard to the 
Welsh Language.

See the way of working detailed 
above and how this approach by the 
Regional Cabinet will seek to support 
the regions communities and the 
well-being goals.

A globally responsible Wales:
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of 

The Strategic Business Plan states that the City Deal is 
intended to deliver sustainable economic development and 
growth. The Plan also refers to our role on the international 
and national stage forging a clear identity and strong 

See the way of working detailed 
above and how this approach by the 
Regional Cabinet will seek to support 
the regions communities and the 

P
age 500



APPENDIX C

Page 9 of 10

Wales, takes account of whether doing 
such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.

reputation.
This is referenced in “Strategic Objective 3 – demonstrate 
our commitment to a sustainable future and acknowledge 
our global responsibility”.
The Reginal Cabinet understand that sustainability goes 
beyond the region and must be considered in a national, 
international and global context. In making decisions the 
Regional Cabinets responsibility extends far wider than the 
region, and to achieve the aim of a positive national and 
international reputation, they will consider the full range of 
potential implications and consequences.

well-being goals.

Section 3) Will your proposal affect people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Explain what will be done to maximise any 
positive impacts or minimise any negative impacts.

Protected 
characteristics

Will your proposal have any 
positive impacts on those with a 
protected characteristic?

Will your proposal have any 
negative impact on those with 
a protected characteristic?

Is there any way to maximise any positive 
impacts or minimise any negative impacts?

Age The Regional Cabinet is developing 
and implementing a City Deal which 
will benefit the region through the 
creation of more and better jobs, more 
housing, improved communication and 
improved skills. This will provide 
economic growth and infrastructure 
improvements that will benefit all 
including those defined as having 
protected characteristics. 

It is considered that there are no 
adverse impacts on those with a 
protected characteristic, indeed 
the vision and strategic 
objectives defined in the 
Strategic Business Plan will 
assist in supporting these 
groups as part of the regions 
communities. 

In accordance with the Assurance Framework all 
proposed schemes will demonstrate their 
potential outputs and outcomes via a 5 Case 
Business Model, in accordance with HM 
Treasury Green Book, a tool for scoping and 
planning a proposal and documenting the 
expected outcomes.
In addition, for Cardiff Capital Region schemes, 
the business case will also have to demonstrate 
the use of the five well-being ways of working 
and how it supports the wellbeing goals and the 
twin goals in the Welsh Government’s ‘Prosperity 
for All: economic action plan’ of growing the 
economy and reducing inequality.
Any report to the Regional Cabinet seeking 
approval for a proposal will be require to be 

P
age 501



APPENDIX C

Page 10 of 10

accompanied by a City Deal Well-being and 
Equalities Assessment.
In this way the Regional Cabinet will ensure that 
any interventions and/or investments will aim to 
provide a positive impact on communities and 
the well-being goals, this will include those who 
are defined as having protected characteristics.

Disability As above As above As above 

Gender As above As above As above 

Gender 
reassignment

As above As above As above 

Marriage and 
civil partnership

As above As above As above 

Pregnancy and 
maternity

As above As above As above 

Race As above As above As above 

Religion or 
Belief

As above As above As above 

Sexual 
orientation

As above As above As above 

Section 4) Identify who is responsible for the proposal and how and when decisions will be made
The Regional Cabinet, is a Joint Committee of the ten south east Wales authorities, having delegated powers related to the City Deal and Wider 
Investment Fund, subject to all ten Councils having decisions making powers on reserved matters within the Joint Working Agreement (JWA).
Officer responsible for completing this form:
…Sheila Davies – Programme Director 

Date form completed: 
19 February 2018

P
age 502



Page 1 of 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

NEW BURIAL SPACE 

CLEAN STREETS, RECYCLING AND ENVIRONMENT 
(COUNCILLOR MICHAEL MICHAEL)

AGENDA ITEM: 5   

 REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CITY OPERATIONS

Reason for this Report

1. To seek Cabinet approval to develop an area of existing Council owned 
land North of the M4 on the A469 for new cemetery space subject to 
planning approvals being granted. 
 

Background

2. Whilst the rise in popularity of cremation has increased over recent years 
the burial of the dead is still a preferred option for many people due to 
religious or personal need. The statistics of burial v cremation in Cardiff 
mirror that of the national figure being around 70/30 in favour of 
cremation.

3. Cardiff Bereavement Services currently carry out on average 1350 
burials per year. 800 of these are full size graves and 550 are burials of 
cremated remains. 

4. Of those burials 450 are undertaken in new full size graves and 200 
carried out in new cremated remains graves. This uses approximately 0.5 
acres of virgin land per year. 

5. The busiest of the sites is Thornhill Cemetery, located on the A469 
Thornhill Road. This site itself deals with over 700 burials per year and 
provides over 200 new graves each year. This site services residents 
mainly in the north, east and south of the City, with Western cemetery 
catering for the needs to those residing in West Cardiff.    

6. Thornhill Cemetery was first opened in 1952 covering a total of 40 acres 
including the crematorium facility. The cemetery grounds were extended 
in 2010 by a total of 5 acres. This was land adjacent to the site already in 
council ownership that had previously been earmarked for cemetery 

Page 503

Eitem Agenda 5



Page 2 of 8

space. There are no options for further expansion of the current site due 
to its borders with residential housing and roads.  

7. Having operated since 1953 the site has now approximately 2 years 
remaining based on current usage before it is full for new burials. It is 
therefore essential that the Council identify and develop new areas for 
burial to meet the needs of the City and avoid the embarrassing position 
of not providing a major burial location in the future. Current estimates 
are that the existing site at Thornhill will not be able to provide any further 
new graves after June 2020. 

8. Given that Cardiff is still one of the fastest growing Cities in the UK and 
plans for the future including the recently approved Local Development 
Plan (LDP) will see it continue to grow at a tremendous rate. Coupled to 
this is the fact that the death rate is set to increase substantially over the 
next 10 years due to the ‘baby boom’ generation beginning to die. It is 
therefore essential that the Council identify and construct a new 
substantial sized cemetery to cater for the future needs of its residents.

9. The LDP sets out the provision of over 40,000 new homes in the City 
which will subsequently have a longer term effect on the death rate in the 
area and require the City to provide adequate infrastructure through its 
Bereavement Service to cope with the current and future demand. An 
increased population ultimately results in an increased death rate.     

10. A number of sites have been considered during investigations by officers 
to identify suitable ground. This has been a challenging exercise in order 
to try and meet all of the key criteria such as the size of the area 
required, ground suitability and an accessible location. Work is continuing 
to consider options for burial land to cover the east of Cardiff and a report 
to Cabinet will follow with regard to this issue in due course once a 
suitable area has been identified.     

11. The preferred location to continue providing cemetery space in the north 
of the City has been identified by Bereavement Services in consultation 
with Strategic Estates and is located on the A469 north of the M4 which 
is identified in Appendix 1 – Location Plan. 

12. This site covers an area of 12.5 acres in total, is less than 650 meters 
from the existing cemetery at Thornhill, and therefore provides the 
benefits of being able to be managed from the current site and ensure 
operational costs are not significantly increased. It also means Capital 
costs are significantly less, as there will be no need to construct offices, 
staff facilities and plant and machinery storage.

13. The site is of adequate size to allow for a range of burial options to be 
provided including traditional graves, lawn graves, cremated remains 
graves and a dedicated natural burial area. 

14. The area totals 12.5 acres; 5 acres however can remain undeveloped at 
present and would be reserved for use in the future. When fully 
developed the initial area of the site would provide burial space for 

Page 504



Page 3 of 8

approximately 5500 new graves which would be sufficient at the current 
rate for approximately the next 25 years, the reserved area could then be 
developed to provide a further 4000 graves which would last for around 
another 15 to 20 years.    

Issues

15. There are some issues associated with the proposed site namely that it is 
currently subject to a Farm Business Tenancy lease which still has 18 
years to run. The leaseholder operates the site for grazing and it is 
connected to his business. He feels that losing any area back to the 
Authority for burial space could have a detrimental impact on his 
business. The tenant is however open to discussions to find a mutually 
beneficial outcome.  

16. The Authority can amend or terminate the lease subject to serving 12 
months’ notice on the leaseholder from the anniversary date that the 
lease was signed (October); however the Authority must also have in 
place planning consent for an alternative use for the site first. Subject to 
cabinet approval of this report a planning application will go forward early 
in 2018 and if granted notice will be served on the leaseholder by 
October 2018 in order that the site can come back into Council 
administration from October 2019. During 2018/19 work will continue to 
tender and appoint a contractor to undertake the necessary infrastructure 
works. 

17. The site identified for the cemetery provision totals 12.5 acres and is 
identified in Appendix 2, which also highlights a possible phased 
approach to the works and expansion of the site. This would mean that 
the current leaseholder could continue to utilise the land identified in 
phases 3 and 4 if required until the site needed to expand.  

18. Informal discussions have taken place with the tenant which to date have 
been positive and he fully understands the Authority’s position. Officers 
have explained that the new cemetery development could provide fresh 
business opportunities at Thornhill Farm such as catering for funerals, 
sales of cut flowers and an increase in visitors to the farm shop and café 
through cemetery visitors. 

19. Strategic estates are currently in discussions with the tenant to negotiate 
a mutually acceptable position that may allow the tenancy agreement to 
be terminated earlier than by October 2019, to date no agreement has 
been reached outside of the statutory notice period that can be served by 
the Authority.      

20. The site also lies outside the Settlement boundary and within the Green 
Wedge as defined on the Proposals Map of the Adopted Cardiff Local 
Development Plan (LDP). Given this the proposal will need to be 
assessed against the following policies:

KP3 (A): GREEN WEDGE                             
KP3 (B): SETTLEMENT BOUNDARIES 

Page 505



Page 4 of 8

KP16: GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
EN1: COUNTRYSIDE PROTECTION
EN3: LANDSCAPE PROTECTION

21. Policy KP3 (A): Green Wedge of the adopted LDP identifies land for 
Green Wedge, whereby development that would prejudice the open 
nature of this land would not be permitted. Paragraph 4.81 of the LDP 
states that Planning Policy Wales (PPW) provides specific guidance on 
the consideration of planning applications within the Green Wedge 
designation.
 

22. Paragraphs 4.8.14 to 4.8.18 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW) state that: 

 4.8.14 when considering applications for planning permission in 
Green Belts or green wedges, a presumption against inappropriate 
development will apply. Local planning authorities should attach 
substantial weight to any harmful impact which a development would 
have on a Green Belt or green wedge. 

 4.8.15 inappropriate development should not be granted planning 
permission except in very exceptional circumstances where other 
considerations clearly outweigh the harm which such development 
would do to the Green Belt or green wedge. Green Belt and green 
wedge policies in development plans should ensure that any 
applications for inappropriate development would not be in accord 
with the plan. These very exceptional cases would therefore be 
treated as departures from the plan. 

23. 4.8.16 The construction of new buildings in a Green Belt or in a locally 
designated green wedge is inappropriate development unless it is for the 
following purposes: 

 justified rural enterprise needs; 
 essential facilities for outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, 

cemeteries, and other uses of land which maintain the openness of 
the Green Belt or green wedge and which do not conflict with the 
purpose of including land within it; 

 limited extension, alteration or replacement of existing dwellings; 
 limited infilling (in those settlements and other development sites 

which have been identified for limited infilling in the development 
plan) and affordable housing for local needs under development plan 
policies; or 

 small scale diversification within farm complexes where this is run as 
part of the farm business.

24. 4.8.18 Other forms of development would be inappropriate development 
unless they maintain the openness of the Green Belt or green wedge and 
do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

25. Policy KP3 (B): Settlement boundaries states in all areas outside the 
defined settlement boundary, otherwise referred to as countryside, there 
will be a corresponding presumption against inappropriate development.

Page 506



Page 5 of 8

26. Policy KP16: Green Infrastructure states that natural heritage assets, 
including the undeveloped countryside are key to Cardiff’s character, 
value, distinctiveness and sense of place and if development results in 
overall loss of green infrastructure, appropriate compensation will be 
required.

27. Policy EN1: Countryside Protection states that development beyond the 
settlement boundaries will only be permitted where the use is appropriate 
in the countryside, respects the landscape character and quality and 
biodiversity of the site and surrounding area and where it is appropriate 
in scale and design. It also states that a landscape assessment and 
landscaping scheme will be required for significant development 
proposals. 
                                                                                    

28. Policy EN3: Landscape Protection states that development that would 
unacceptably harm the character and quality of the landscape and setting 
of the city will not be permitted.

29. In the Landscape Study of Cardiff (May 1999) the area is defined as a 
broad tract of gently rolling countryside located between the foot of the 
Caerphilly Ridge and the northern edge of Cardiff.  Strategically the area 
forms the lower part of the backdrop of encircling hills and ridges to the 
north of Cardiff and is therefore an important component of the wider 
landscape setting of the city.

30. On this basis, in order to be policy compliant, any future planning 
application submission would need to:

 Demonstrate the use would maintain the open nature of the Green 
Wedge and would not conflict with the purpose of including this land 
within the Green Wedge designation

 Justify the very exceptional circumstances to provide the proposed 
land use which outweighs potential harm to the Green Wedge 

 Demonstrates the use is appropriate in this countryside location 
having regard to LDP policy and National Guidance 

 Include a landscape assessment and landscaping scheme if 
involving significant development proposals in order to demonstrate 
acceptability in terms of impact on the landscape character and 
quality

 Address any other material considerations

31. It should be noted that this advice is based on the current LDP and 
National Policies. The policy framework may change over time either 
through changes to National policy and guidance, potential future 
Strategic Development Plans or future reviews of the LDP.

32. It should also be noted that the proposal includes around a fifth of the site 
being developed as a natural/woodland burial area, which will be 
managed to have a positive impact on the local environment and will 
encourage native plants and wildlife to flourish.  

Page 507



Page 6 of 8

33. Statutory Tier 1 and 2 tests have been undertaken on the land to 
establish if the area is suitable for large scale burials and does not hold a 
high water table. This comprised of dip well testing for a total of 12 
months, reports are that the land has a very low water table and would 
be suitable for burial. Further dip well testing in other areas of the site are 
currently ongoing as part of the design works and will be submitted for 
appraisal to the Environment Agency together with the original results as 
part of the planning application. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and 
tree survey have also been completed. 

34. Additional works to be completed as part of the design and planning 
stage are: 

 Obtain CBR values of the bearing strata for the design of new roads, 
carpark and footpaths; 

 Establish allowable bearing pressure of the ground for the design of 
suitable building foundations; 

 Soil resource survey to confirm what planting the site will sustain;
 Check the existing ground for any raised contamination levels 
 Preliminary UXO (unexploded ordnance) survey and ground 

penetrating ground survey will also form part of the site investigation 
to satisfy all aspects of the design and planning.

35. Capital borrowing will be required to fund the scheme however the 
additional revenue required to repay the Capital borrowing will be 
generated through a phased increase of fees and charges over the next 
3 years. This additional income will be ring-fenced in the bereavement 
reserve to meet the borrowing repayments.

36. A moderate increase of £20 to the main burial and cremation fees which 
equates to an increase of around 3.5% per year for the next 3 years will 
provide enough additional revenue to meet the capital repayment costs 
and still ensure that the other Capital demands on the reserve can still be 
met. 

37. Cardiff’s Bereavement Services is well respected throughout the UK for 
both its quality of service and competitive fees. Benchmarking both with 
Core Cities and locally shows Cardiff’s current fees to be in the mid and 
lower quartile, it is therefore unlikely that these reasonable increases 
would have a detrimental effect on residents using the services.   

Local Member consultation      

38. Consultation has been undertaken with ward members in Rhiwbina, 
Thornhill and Lisvane. Whilst it is accepted that there is a clear need for 
additional burial space for the City some concerns were raised however, 
these relate specifically to the detail, which will be provided as part of the 
required planning application.  

Page 508



Page 7 of 8

Reasons for Recommendations

39. Cardiff is an expanding City and needs to continue to provide burial 
facilities for its residents over the short and longer term. The proposed 
site provides a cost effective solution, which is also operationally efficient 
as it can be managed using existing resources based at Thornhill 
cemetery.

40. The site in total is 12.5 acres and will be provide burial space in the north 
of the City for the next 35 to 40 years meaning a long-term solution to the 
current burial space shortage is addressed. 

41. The area will be managed to the same high standards as existing sites 
and will provide a number of grave choices, including traditional graves, 
lawn graves, cremated remains graves in line with what is available at 
other sites as well as a dedicated natural burial section. 

42. As the Capital City of Wales and an expanding City, Cardiff should be 
ensuring that it can provide suitable facilities to deal with the dead for the 
long term. Despite cremation being the preferred option for the majority 
burial as the oldest form of disposal of the dead will always be required 
by a significant amount of the population. 

43. The development of a new site also ensures that the service continues to 
generate income through the sale of burial spaces and burial fees.

Financial Implications

44. The estimated total cost of the scheme is £3M which includes all 
construction costs, design fees and a sum to mitigate risks. This is 
subject to planning and a tender exercise following detailed design and 
surveys. Expansion of burial provision in the city is included in the 
Council’s Capital Programme approved in February 2018 and is 
proposed to be funded through an Invest to Save scheme, subject to due 
diligence and approval of a business case. Any expenditure incurred is to 
be repaid over a 20 year period through the generation of additional 
income through increased fees and charges.

45. The additional revenue required to repay the Capital expenditure will be 
generated through a phased increase of fees and charges over the next 
3 years. This additional income will need to be ring-fenced in a 
bereavement reserve to meet the repayments as well as ensuring other 
priorities arising from the Bereavement Strategy for 2014-2024 can 
continue to be met from any retained income. The operating costs of the 
new facility will need to be met from existing revenue budgets or 
additional income for the service.

Legal Implications 

46. The Council is a burial authority with power to provide cemeteries in 
accordance with section 214 and Schedule 26 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. The land is currently held as agricultural land and will no longer 

Page 509



Page 8 of 8

be required for that purpose when the agricultural tenancy is determined. 
It can be appropriated to cemetery use pursuant to section 122 of the 
1972 Act once the agricultural use has expired. 

47. The Council has power to determine the current agricultural tenancy on 
the site in the circumstances described in the body of the report. 

48. A full equality impact assessment will be undertaken as part of the 
planning application process. 

HR Implications

49. There are no immediate HR implications. Once the site is operational and 
established however, some additional staff may be required to undertake 
grounds maintenance work at the site in future years. This will be funded 
from within existing service area budgets when required. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to 

1. Support the submission of a planning application to seek the necessary 
consent for development of the site situated on the A469 north of the M4 
and identified on the attached map as Appendix 1 as a municipal 
cemetery.

2. Agree that officers seek to negotiate a surrender of the current tenancy 
agreement by the leaseholder in order to take back the required land at 
an earlier date and subsequently serve the necessary termination notice 
in respect of the tenancy.

ANDREW GREGORY 
Director of City Operations
9 March 2018

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix 1: Location Plan
Appendix 2: Site Plan & Phases
Appendix 3: Design Layout Plan

The following background papers have been taken into account
 
Bereavement & Registration Services Strategy for the Future 2014 - 2024
Cardiff Council Local Development Plan 2016

Page 510



except for planning 
application purposes

do not scale drawing

Telephone 029 2287 2456
County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW

003

BSI

FS 25745

TM
COPYRIGHT OF THE CITY
OF CARDIFF COUNCIL.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.C

    DRAWING CAN BE SCALED
FOR PLANNING APPLICATION
          PURPOSES ONLY.

© Crown copyright and database rights (2011) Ordnance Survey 100023376.
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata (2011) Arolwg Ordnans 100023376.C

Rev By Date Description of Amendment Chk.by Date

DESIGN CONTRACTS AND DELIVERY

DYLUNIO CONTRACTAU A DARPARU

Andrew Gregory
DIRECTOR FOR CITY SERVICES

CYFARWYDDWR GWASANAETHAU'R DDINAS

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL

CAERDYDD
CARDIFF

T
H

O
R

N
H

I
L

L
 
R

O
A

D

T

H

O

R

N

H

I
L

L

 
R

O

A

D

E

X

C

A

L

I
B

U

R

 
D

R

I
V

E

M

4

M

4

THORNHILL

CREMATORIUM

AND CEMETERY

T

H

O

R

N

H

I

L

L

 

R

O

A

D

NEW HOUSE

FARM

PHASE 1

EXTENSION

PHASE 2

EXTENSION

LLANISHEN HIGH

SCHOOL

THORNHILL CEMETERY

EXTENSION

PROPOSED LAYOUT

OM

NTS

FEB'18

CO17144 01

P
age 511

AutoCAD SHX Text
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
CAMELOT WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
GAWAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
lA

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
The Pendragon

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
RHIANNON

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
CLOS

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
Ffynnon Wen

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
GARETH CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
HEOL PEREDUR

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
85.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
Chapel Wenallt (Capel Wenallt)

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
THORNHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
/ Capel Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Crematorium and Cemetery

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
Cardiff (Thornhill)

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
Recreation

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Rising Bollards

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
GERAINT CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
LAUNCELOT

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
BARDSEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
LLANGRANOG PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
58.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
LLANGRANOG ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
CADNANT CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
PW

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
56.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
173

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
CLOS TON MAWR

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
CLOS CROMWELL

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
HEOL LEWIS

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
Pp

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
COED BRIWNANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
Sewage

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
Nant y

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
LONCAE PORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
Primary School

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
Llanishen Fach

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
135

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
133

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
148

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
142

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
TINTAGEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
l9

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
RHIWLAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
AVONRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
PEN-Y-CEFN

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
BRON FELEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
AVONRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
BRYN GLAS

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
EXCALIBUR DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
2l

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
Gilwern

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
18a

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
l5

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
l5

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
2l

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
CAE

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
GLENMOUNT WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
GARW

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
PERCIVAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
Gas Gov

AutoCAD SHX Text_332
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_333
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_334
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_335
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_336
21 to 35

AutoCAD SHX Text_337
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_338
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_339
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_340
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_341
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_342
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_343
CAMELOT

AutoCAD SHX Text_344
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_345
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_346
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_347
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_348
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_349
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_350
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_351
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_352
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_353
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_354
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_355
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_356
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_357
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_358
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_359
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_360
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_361
TRISTRAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_362
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_363
68.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_364
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_365
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_366
THORNHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_367
HEOL LEWIS

AutoCAD SHX Text_368
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_369
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_370
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_371
GUENEVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_372
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_373
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_374
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_375
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_376
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_377
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_378
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_379
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_380
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_381
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_382
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_383
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_384
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_385
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_386
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_387
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_388
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_389
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_390
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_391
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_392
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_393
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_394
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_395
GALAHAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_396
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_397
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_398
PENDRAGON CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_399
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_400
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_401
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_402
76.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_403
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_404
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_405
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_406
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_407
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_408
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_409
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_410
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_411
ANGLE PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_412
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_413
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_414
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_415
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_416
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_417
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_418
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_419
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_420
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_421
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_422
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_423
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_424
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_425
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_426
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_427
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_428
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_429
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_430
MORRIS AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_431
1 to 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_432
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_433
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_434
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_435
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_436
129

AutoCAD SHX Text_437
TEMPLETON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_438
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_439
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_440
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_441
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_442
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_443
WHITESANDS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_444
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_445
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_446
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_447
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_448
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_449
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_450
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_451
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_452
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_453
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_454
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_455
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_456
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_457
Spr

AutoCAD SHX Text_458
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_459
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_460
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_461
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_462
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_463
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_464
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_465
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_466
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_467
MAYFLOWER AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_468
THORNHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_469
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_470
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_471
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_472
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_473
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_474
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_475
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_476
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_477
JOHNSTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_478
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_479
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_480
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_481
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_482
62.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_483
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_484
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_485
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_486
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_487
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_488
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_489
60.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_490
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_491
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_492
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_493
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_494
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_495
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_496
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_497
EDGEHILL AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_498
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_499
1 to 8

AutoCAD SHX Text_500
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_501
Edgehill Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_502
65.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_503
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_504
64.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_505
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_506
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_507
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_508
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_509
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_510
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_511
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_512
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_513
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_514
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_515
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_516
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_517
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_518
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_519
CORNFIELD CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_520
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_521
to

AutoCAD SHX Text_522
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_523
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_524
GUENEVER

AutoCAD SHX Text_525
Pp

AutoCAD SHX Text_526
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_527
Balancing

AutoCAD SHX Text_528
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_529
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_530
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_531
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_532
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_533
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_534
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_535
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_536
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_537
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_538
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_539
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_540
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_541
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_542
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_543
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_544
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_545
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_546
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_547
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_548
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_549
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_550
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_551
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_552
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_553
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_554
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_555
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_556
14a

AutoCAD SHX Text_557
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_558
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_559
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_560
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_561
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_562
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_563
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_564
Church of St Faith

AutoCAD SHX Text_565
Westwinds

AutoCAD SHX Text_566
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_567
69.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_568
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_569
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_570
l4

AutoCAD SHX Text_571
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_572
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_573
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_574
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_575
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_576
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_577
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_578
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_579
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_580
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_581
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_582
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_583
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_584
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_585
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_586
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_587
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_588
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_589
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_590
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_591
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_592
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_593
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_594
BETHEL PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_595
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_596
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_597
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_598
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_599
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_600
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_601
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_602
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_603
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_604
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_605
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_606
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_607
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_608
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_609
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_610
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_611
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_612
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_613
Llanishen Fach

AutoCAD SHX Text_614
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_615
HEOL UCHAF

AutoCAD SHX Text_616
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_617
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_618
HEOL ISAF

AutoCAD SHX Text_619
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_620
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_621
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_622
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_623
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_624
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_625
HEOL ERWIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_626
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_627
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_628
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_629
114

AutoCAD SHX Text_630
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_631
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_632
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_633
HEOL BRIWNANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_634
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_635
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_636
LEE COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_637
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_638
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_639
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_640
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_641
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_642
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_643
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_644
BRIWNANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_645
The Bungalow

AutoCAD SHX Text_646
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_647
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_648
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_649
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_650
CLOS WILLIAM

AutoCAD SHX Text_651
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_652
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_653
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_654
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_655
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_656
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_657
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_658
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_659
HEOL

AutoCAD SHX Text_660
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_661
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_662
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_663
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_664
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_665
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_666
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_667
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_668
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_669
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_670
Chapel Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_671
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_672
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_673
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_674
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_675
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_676
LOWFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_677
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_678
213.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_679
Gwynion

AutoCAD SHX Text_680
Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_681
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_682
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_683
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_684
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_685
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_686
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_687
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_688
220.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_689
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_690
Craigbriwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_691
Ty Coed

AutoCAD SHX Text_692
210.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_693
Post Office

AutoCAD SHX Text_694
Radio Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_695
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_696
210.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_697
179.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_698
Nant y Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_699
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_700
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_701
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_702
Briwnantisaf

AutoCAD SHX Text_703
WENALLT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_704
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_705
Spreads

AutoCAD SHX Text_706
Ford

AutoCAD SHX Text_707
(Telecommunication)

AutoCAD SHX Text_708
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_709
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_710
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_711
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_712
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_713
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_714
The Beech Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_715
Hillcroft

AutoCAD SHX Text_716
Twynau

AutoCAD SHX Text_717
218.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_718
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_719
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_720
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_721
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_722
Ponds

AutoCAD SHX Text_723
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_724
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_725
Collects

AutoCAD SHX Text_726
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_727
Briwnant-fach

AutoCAD SHX Text_728
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_729
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_730
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_731
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_732
Castell Morgraig (remains of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_733
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_734
The Long Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_735
Well

AutoCAD SHX Text_736
Shepherds Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_737
A 469

AutoCAD SHX Text_738
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_739
Ty Ffald

AutoCAD SHX Text_740
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_741
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_742
Hill Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_743
Ford

AutoCAD SHX Text_744
Barn

AutoCAD SHX Text_745
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_746
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_747
THORNHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_748
161.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_749
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_750
A 469

AutoCAD SHX Text_751
175.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_752
Boro Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_753
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_754
Co Const, Asly Const, Asly ER, UA & C Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_755
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_756
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_757
Reservoir (covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_758
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_759
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_760
(Telecommunication)

AutoCAD SHX Text_761
90 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_762
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_763
CLOS Y DRYW

AutoCAD SHX Text_764
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_765
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_766
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_767
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_768
5 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_769
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_770
Caedelyn

AutoCAD SHX Text_771
Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_772
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_773
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_774
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_775
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_776
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_777
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_778
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_779
FAIRTHORN

AutoCAD SHX Text_780
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_781
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_782
2l6

AutoCAD SHX Text_783
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_784
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_785
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_786
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_787
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_788
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_789
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_790
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_791
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_792
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_793
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_794
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_795
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_796
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_797
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_798
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_799
225

AutoCAD SHX Text_800
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_801
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_802
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_803
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_804
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_805
221

AutoCAD SHX Text_806
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_807
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_808
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_809
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_810
Llanishen Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_811
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_812
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_813
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_814
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_815
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_816
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_817
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_818
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_819
CLOS-Y-

AutoCAD SHX Text_820
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_821
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_822
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_823
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_824
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_825
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_826
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_827
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_828
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_829
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_830
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_831
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_832
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_833
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_834
LLANDEGFEDD

AutoCAD SHX Text_835
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_836
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_837
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_838
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_839
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_840
STELLA CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_841
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_842
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_843
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_844
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_845
AMBERHEART DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_846
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_847
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_848
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_849
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_850
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_851
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_852
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_853
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_854
CL

AutoCAD SHX Text_855
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_856
BRENIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_857
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_858
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_859
MAYHILL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_860
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_861
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_862
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_863
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_864
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_865
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_866
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_867
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_868
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_869
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_870
HEOL Y BARCUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_871
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_872
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_873
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_874
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_875
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_876
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_877
42 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_878
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_879
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_880
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_881
WIWER

AutoCAD SHX Text_882
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_883
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_884
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_885
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_886
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_887
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_888
HEOL LLINOS

AutoCAD SHX Text_889
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_890
66 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_891
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_892
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_893
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_894
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_895
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_896
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_897
11 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_898
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_899
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_900
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_901
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_902
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_903
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_904
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_905
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_906
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_907
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_908
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_909
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_910
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_911
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_912
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_913
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_914
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_915
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_916
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_917
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_918
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_919
Bryncoed

AutoCAD SHX Text_920
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_921
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_922
CHERRY ORCHARD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_923
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_924
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_925
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_926
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_927
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_928
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_929
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_930
Holmes View

AutoCAD SHX Text_931
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_932
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_933
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_934
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_935
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_936
Felindre Fach

AutoCAD SHX Text_937
PINECREST DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_938
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_939
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_940
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_941
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_942
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_943
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_944
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_945
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_946
DRAENOG

AutoCAD SHX Text_947
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_948
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_949
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_950
ED BDy

AutoCAD SHX Text_951
Pen-y-Graig

AutoCAD SHX Text_952
/

AutoCAD SHX Text_953
Cherry Orchard Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_954
Cotwolds

AutoCAD SHX Text_955
Chiltern

AutoCAD SHX Text_956
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_957
Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_958
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_959
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_960
CLOS-Y-BROCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_961
l

AutoCAD SHX Text_962
l9

AutoCAD SHX Text_963
Sewage

AutoCAD SHX Text_964
Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_965
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_966
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_967
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_968
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_969
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_970
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_971
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_972
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_973
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_974
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_975
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_976
GVC

AutoCAD SHX Text_977
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_978
RIDGEWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_979
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_980
Nant Fawr

AutoCAD SHX Text_981
89.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_982
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_983
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_984
Gas

AutoCAD SHX Text_985
Distribution

AutoCAD SHX Text_986
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_987
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_988
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_989
RAGNALL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_990
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_991
OCHR Y COED

AutoCAD SHX Text_992
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_993
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_994
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_995
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_996
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_997
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_998
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_999
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1000
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1001
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1002
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1003
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1004
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1005
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1006
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1007
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1008
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1009
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1010
GLADESIDE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1011
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1012
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1013
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1014
REIGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1015
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1016
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1017
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1018
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_1019
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_1020
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_1021
167

AutoCAD SHX Text_1022
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1023
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1024
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1025
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1026
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1027
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_1028
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1029
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1030
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1031
Farm Ho

AutoCAD SHX Text_1032
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1033
Tennis Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_1034
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1035
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1036
Red Barns

AutoCAD SHX Text_1037
Lay-by

AutoCAD SHX Text_1038
Courts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1039
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1040
Tennis

AutoCAD SHX Text_1041
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1042
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1043
Pen Rhos

AutoCAD SHX Text_1044
CHERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1045
Nant Fawr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1046
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1047
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1048
Cottage Maurice

AutoCAD SHX Text_1049
MP 5.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1050
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1051
Heol-hir

AutoCAD SHX Text_1052
Tennis

AutoCAD SHX Text_1053
Courts

AutoCAD SHX Text_1054
Heol-hir

AutoCAD SHX Text_1055
Ponds

AutoCAD SHX Text_1056
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1057
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_1058
145

AutoCAD SHX Text_1059
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_1060
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1061
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1062
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1063
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1064
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1065
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1066
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1067
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_1068
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_1069
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1070
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1071
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1072
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1073
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1074
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1075
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1076
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1077
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1078
BRAMBLING DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1079
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1080
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1081
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1082
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1083
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1084
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1085
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1086
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1087
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1088
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1089
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1090
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1091
THORNWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1092
MAYFAIR DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1093
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1094
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1095
84

AutoCAD SHX Text_1096
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1097
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1098
CRAWLEY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1099
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1100
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1101
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1102
11a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1103
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1104
HILLCREST CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1105
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1106
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1107
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1108
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1109
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1110
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1111
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1112
Upper

AutoCAD SHX Text_1113
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1114
Mill

AutoCAD SHX Text_1115
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1116
Car Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_1117
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_1118
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1119
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1120
ORCHARD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1121
Nant Fawr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1122
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1123
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1124
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1125
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1126
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1127
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1128
13 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1129
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1130
1 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_1131
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1132
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_1133
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1134
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1135
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1136
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1137
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1138
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1139
135.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1140
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1141
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1142
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1143
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1144
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1145
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1146
4l

AutoCAD SHX Text_1147
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1148
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1149
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1150
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1151
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1152
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1153
CEFN ONN MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1154
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1155
Wern-fawr

AutoCAD SHX Text_1156
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1157
Old Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1158
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1159
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1160
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_1161
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1162
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_1163
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1164
Haul Fryn

AutoCAD SHX Text_1165
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1166
Malvern

AutoCAD SHX Text_1167
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_1168
CAPEL GWILYM ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1169
Mast (Telecommunication)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1170
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1171
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1172
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1173
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1174
BRIARMEADOW DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1175
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1176
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1177
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1178
2O6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1179
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1180
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1181
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1182
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1183
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1184
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1185
208

AutoCAD SHX Text_1186
RAMBLER CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1187
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1188
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1189
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1190
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1191
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1192
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1193
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1194
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1195
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1196
2OO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1197
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_1198
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_1199
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1200
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1201
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_1202
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_1203
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1204
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1205
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1206
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_1207
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1208
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1209
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1210
156

AutoCAD SHX Text_1211
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1212
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1213
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_1214
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1215
107

AutoCAD SHX Text_1216
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_1217
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1218
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1219
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1220
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1221
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_1222
BANKSIDE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1223
BRIANNE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1224
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1225
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1226
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1227
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1228
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1229
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_1230
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1231
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1232
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1233
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1234
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_1235
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1236
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1237
162

AutoCAD SHX Text_1238
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1239
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1240
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1241
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_1242
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1243
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1244
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1245
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1246
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1247
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1248
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_1249
Thornhill Primary

AutoCAD SHX Text_1250
School

AutoCAD SHX Text_1251
Oakridge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1252
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1253
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1254
7a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1255
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1256
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1257
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1258
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1259
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1260
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1261
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1262
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1263
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1264
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1265
75

AutoCAD SHX Text_1266
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1267
The Acorns

AutoCAD SHX Text_1268
WOODLAWN WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1269
CEINACH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1270
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1271
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1272
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1273
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1274
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1275
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_1276
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1277
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1278
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1279
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1280
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1281
SHAFTESBURY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1282
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1283
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1284
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1285
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1286
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1287
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1288
CLOS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1289
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1290
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1291
CLOS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1292
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1293
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1294
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1295
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1296
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1297
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1298
-Y-

AutoCAD SHX Text_1299
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1300
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1301
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1302
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1303
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1304
CARLTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_1305
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1306
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1307
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1308
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1309
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1310
BROOKVALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1311
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1312
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1313
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1314
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1315
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1316
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1317
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_1318
213

AutoCAD SHX Text_1319
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1320
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1321
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1322
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1323
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1324
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1325
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1326
211

AutoCAD SHX Text_1327
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1328
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1329
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1330
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1331
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1332
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1333
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1334
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1335
-Y-

AutoCAD SHX Text_1336
HUNTSMEAD CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1337
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1338
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1339
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1340
205

AutoCAD SHX Text_1341
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_1342
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1343
BELGRAVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1344
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_1345
Sewage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1346
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1347
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1348
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1349
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1350
CLOS Y HEBOG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1351
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_1352
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1353
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1354
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1355
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1356
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1357
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1358
224

AutoCAD SHX Text_1359
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1360
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1361
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1362
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1363
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1364
ALWEN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1365
CANTREF CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1366
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1367
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1368
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1369
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1370
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1371
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1372
FRAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1373
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1374
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1375
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1376
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1377
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1378
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1379
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1380
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1381
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_1382
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1383
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1384
HEOL Y BARCUD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1385
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1386
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1387
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1388
CLOS YR ALARCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1389
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1390
CLOS YR EOS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1391
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1392
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1393
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1394
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1395
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1396
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1397
CLOS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1398
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1399
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1400
CLOS Y GWALCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_1401
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1402
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text_1403
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1404
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1405
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1406
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1407
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1408
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1409
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1410
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1411
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1412
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1413
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1414
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1415
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1416
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1417
ROUNDEL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1418
Coedyfelin

AutoCAD SHX Text_1419
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1420
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1421
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1422
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1423
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1424
CLOS LLYSFAEN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1425
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1426
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1427
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1428
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1429
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1430
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1431
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_1432
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1433
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1434
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_1435
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1436
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1437
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_1438
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_1439
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1440
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1441
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1442
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1443
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1444
140

AutoCAD SHX Text_1445
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1446
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1447
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1448
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1449
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1450
ORCHARD COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1451
EXCALIBUR DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1452
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_1453
Llysfaen a Draenen

AutoCAD SHX Text_1454
Lisvane and Thornhill

AutoCAD SHX Text_1455
Sewage Ppg Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1456
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1457
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1458
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1459
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1460
74-76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1461
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1462
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1463
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1464
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1465
TANSY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1466
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1467
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1468
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_1469
Manor Parc

AutoCAD SHX Text_1470
Coedifanbychan

AutoCAD SHX Text_1471
DAN Y MYNYDD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1472
WOODRUFF WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1473
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1474
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1475
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1476
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1477
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1478
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1479
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1480
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1481
Sewage Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1482
CHARLOCK CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1483
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_1484
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1485
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1486
107.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1487
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1488
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1489
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1490
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1491
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1492
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1493
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_1494
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1495
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1496
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1497
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1498
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1499
67-69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1500
55-57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1501
63-65

AutoCAD SHX Text_1502
62-72

AutoCAD SHX Text_1503
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1504
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1505
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1506
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1507
Malvern House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1508
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1509
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1510
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1511
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1512
LUCERNE DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1513
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1514
Nant y Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_1515
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_1516
BASSETTS

AutoCAD SHX Text_1517
A469

AutoCAD SHX Text_1518
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1519
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1520
Tree

AutoCAD SHX Text_1521
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_1522
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1523
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1524
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1525
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1526
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1527
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1528
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1529
Newydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_1530
Ty

AutoCAD SHX Text_1531
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1532
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1533
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_1534
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1535
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1536
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_1537
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1538
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1539
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1540
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1541
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1542
HEOL-Y-CADNO

AutoCAD SHX Text_1543
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1544
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_1545
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1546
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1547
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1548
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1549
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1550
CLOS Y GWADD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1551
CLOS-Y-CARLWM

AutoCAD SHX Text_1552
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1553
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1554
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1555
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1556
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1557
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1558
HAVENWOOD DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1559
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1560
Recreation Ground

AutoCAD SHX Text_1561
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1562
White Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1563
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_1564
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_1565
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1566
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1567
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1568
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_1569
CLOS-Y-BLAIDD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1570
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1571
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_1572
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1573
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1574
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_1575
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1576
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_1577
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1578
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1579
86

AutoCAD SHX Text_1580
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_1581
112

AutoCAD SHX Text_1582
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1583
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_1584
CLOS-Y-

AutoCAD SHX Text_1585
Pantysgawen

AutoCAD SHX Text_1586
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_1587
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1588
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_1589
DYFRGI

AutoCAD SHX Text_1590
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1591
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1592
(Hotel)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1593
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_1594
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1595
71-73

AutoCAD SHX Text_1596
54-56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1597
New House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1598
Coedtirhwnt

AutoCAD SHX Text_1599
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1600
10a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1601
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_1602
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1603
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1604
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_1605
Pentre Gwilym House (PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1606
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_1607
Hillside

AutoCAD SHX Text_1608
New House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1609
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1610
146.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1611
Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_1612
Sycamore Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1613
Llanisen Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_1614
124.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1615
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1616
Thornhill House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1617
Ty Bryn

AutoCAD SHX Text_1618
143.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1619
Deriduon

AutoCAD SHX Text_1620
Gwilym Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1621
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_1622
CAPEL GWILYM ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1623
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1624
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_1625
Pentre Gwilym Cottage

AutoCAD SHX Text_1626
Capel Gwilym

AutoCAD SHX Text_1627
Reservoir (covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1628
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_1629
Caravan Site

AutoCAD SHX Text_1630
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1631
Lodge

AutoCAD SHX Text_1632
Cotters

AutoCAD SHX Text_1633
Cattle Grid

AutoCAD SHX Text_1634
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1635
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1636
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_1637
BASSETTS FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1638
Play Area

AutoCAD SHX Text_1639
GOWAN COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1640
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1641
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1642
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1643
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1644
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1645
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1646
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1647
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1648
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1649
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1650
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1651
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_1652
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1653
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1654
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1655
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1656
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1657
ANGELICA WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_1658
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1659
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1660
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1661
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1662
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1663
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1664
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1665
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1666
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1667
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1668
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1669
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1670
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1671
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1672
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1673
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1674
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1675
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1676
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1677
FIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1678
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1679
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1680
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1681
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_1682
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1683
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1684
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1685
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1686
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1687
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1688
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1689
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_1690
Collects

AutoCAD SHX Text_1691
Collects

AutoCAD SHX Text_1692
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_1693
Baytree

AutoCAD SHX Text_1694
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1695
Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1696
Electricity Sub Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_1697
Swn-y-Nant

AutoCAD SHX Text_1698
Stone House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1699
Cwm Nofydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_1700
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1701
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1702
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1703
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1704
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1705
Hollybanks

AutoCAD SHX Text_1706
ONN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1707
LLWYN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1708
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1709
Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1710
Laurals

AutoCAD SHX Text_1711
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1712
Aust

AutoCAD SHX Text_1713
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1714
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1715
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1716
80.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1717
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1718
76.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1719
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1720
75a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1721
Tan y Rhiw

AutoCAD SHX Text_1722
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1723
Ty Mynydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_1724
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1725
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1726
Nant

AutoCAD SHX Text_1727
Cwmnofydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_1728
Wenallt

AutoCAD SHX Text_1729
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1730
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1731
138

AutoCAD SHX Text_1732
Coed-y-wenallt

AutoCAD SHX Text_1733
136

AutoCAD SHX Text_1734
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1735
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1736
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1737
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_1738
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1739
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1740
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1741
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1742
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1743
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1744
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1745
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1746
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_1747
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1748
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1749
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1750
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1751
80.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1752
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1753
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1754
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1755
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1756
COED Y WENALLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1757
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1758
Foretop

AutoCAD SHX Text_1759
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1760
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1761
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1762
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1763
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1764
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1765
Graig

AutoCAD SHX Text_1766
Briwnant-fach

AutoCAD SHX Text_1767
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_1768
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1769
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1770
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1771
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1772
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1773
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_1774
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1775
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1776
Cesail y Bryn

AutoCAD SHX Text_1777
130.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1778
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1779
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1780
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_1781
Coed-y-wenallt

AutoCAD SHX Text_1782
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_1783
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_1784
104.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1785
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1786
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1787
158.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1788
Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_1789
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1790
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1791
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1792
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1793
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1794
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1795
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1796
74.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1797
BROOKLYN CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_1798
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1799
Twmpath

AutoCAD SHX Text_1800
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1801
177

AutoCAD SHX Text_1802
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1803
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1804
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1805
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1806
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1807
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1808
75.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1809
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1810
MINAFON

AutoCAD SHX Text_1811
48a

AutoCAD SHX Text_1812
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1813
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1814
66.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1815
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1816
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_1817
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_1818
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_1819
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1820
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1821
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1822
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1823
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_1824
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_1825
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1826
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_1827
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1828
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_1829
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_1830
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1831
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1832
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1833
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1834
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_1835
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1836
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1837
74.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1838
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1839
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1840
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1841
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1842
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1843
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1844
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1845
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1846
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1847
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_1848
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1849
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1850
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_1851
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1852
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1853
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1854
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1855
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1856
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1857
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1858
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1859
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_1860
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_1861
Reservoir

AutoCAD SHX Text_1862
(covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1863
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_1864
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_1865
CLOS Y BRYN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1866
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1867
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1868
WENALLT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1869
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1870
BRYNTEG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1871
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1872
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_1873
BRYNTEG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1874
CLOS YR WENALLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1875
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_1876
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1877
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1878
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_1879
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1880
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1881
74

AutoCAD SHX Text_1882
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1883
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_1884
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1885
TROED

AutoCAD SHX Text_1886
Cwm Nofydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_1887
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1888
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1889
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_1890
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_1891
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1892
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1893
Thonock

AutoCAD SHX Text_1894
Fairfield

AutoCAD SHX Text_1895
83.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1896
Sunnybank

AutoCAD SHX Text_1897
175

AutoCAD SHX Text_1898
80.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1899
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1900
173

AutoCAD SHX Text_1901
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1902
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1903
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_1904
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1905
Glenside

AutoCAD SHX Text_1906
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1907
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_1908
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_1909
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1910
Motte

AutoCAD SHX Text_1911
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1912
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1913
WENALLT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_1914
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_1915
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1916
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_1917
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_1918
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1919
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_1920
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_1921
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1922
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1923
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_1924
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_1925
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1926
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1927
CLOS Y CRAIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1928
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1929
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1930
102

AutoCAD SHX Text_1931
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_1932
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1933
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1934
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_1935
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1936
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_1937
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_1938
BRYNTEG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1939
75.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_1940
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1941
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_1942
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1943
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_1944
CEFN NANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_1945
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_1946
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_1947
142

AutoCAD SHX Text_1948
Reservoir House

AutoCAD SHX Text_1949
Nestleton

AutoCAD SHX Text_1950
Y RHIW

AutoCAD SHX Text_1951
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_1952
152A

AutoCAD SHX Text_1953
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_1954
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1955
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_1956
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_1957
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1958
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_1959
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_1960
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_1961
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_1962
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_1963
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_1964
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_1965
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1966
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_1967
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_1968
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_1969
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_1970
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_1971
HEOL NANT CASTAN

AutoCAD SHX Text_1972
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1973
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_1974
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_1975
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_1976
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_1977
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_1978
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_1979
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1980
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_1981
CEFN GRAIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1982
HEOL ISAF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1983
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_1984
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_1985
HEOL UCHAF

AutoCAD SHX Text_1986
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1987
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_1988
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_1989
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_1990
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_1991
PENYGRAIG

AutoCAD SHX Text_1992
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_1993
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_1994
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_1995
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_1996
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_1997
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_1998
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_1999
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2000
Nant y Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_2001
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2002
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2003
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2004
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2005
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2006
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2007
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2008
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2009
Balancing Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2010
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_2011
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2012
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2013
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_2014
Gantry

AutoCAD SHX Text_2015
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2016
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2017
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_2018
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_2019
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_2020
131

AutoCAD SHX Text_2021
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_2022
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2023
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2024
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2025
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2026
WENALLT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2027
M 4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2028
Fort

AutoCAD SHX Text_2029
Stables

AutoCAD SHX Text_2030
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2031
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2032
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2033
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2034
Craigbriwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_2035
146.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2036
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2037
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2038
Wenallt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2039
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2040
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2041
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_2042
156

AutoCAD SHX Text_2043
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2044
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2045
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2046
(um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2047
158

AutoCAD SHX Text_2048
Post

AutoCAD SHX Text_2049
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2050
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2051
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2052
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2053
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2054
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2055
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_2056
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2057
HEOL IFOR BACH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2058
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2059
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2060
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2061
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2062
HEOL BRIWNANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2063
GRON FFORDD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2064
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2065
CRAIG YR ALLT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2066
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2067
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2068
GRON FFORDD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2069
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2070
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2071
Wenallt

AutoCAD SHX Text_2072
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2073
Wells

AutoCAD SHX Text_2074
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2075
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_2076
Cliff

AutoCAD SHX Text_2077
222.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2078
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2079
Castell-

AutoCAD SHX Text_2080
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2081
Cwm Nofydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2082
Hafod y Milgi

AutoCAD SHX Text_2083
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2084
WENALLT ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2085
Coed y Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_2086
ETL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2087
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2088
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_2089
Castell Morgraig

AutoCAD SHX Text_2090
Well

AutoCAD SHX Text_2091
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2092
Nant y Briwnant

AutoCAD SHX Text_2093
Morgraig

AutoCAD SHX Text_2094
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_2095
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2096
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2097
Spring

AutoCAD SHX Text_2098
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2099
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_2100
Travellers Rest

AutoCAD SHX Text_2101
200.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2102
221.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2103
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2104
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_2105
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2106
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2107
(remains of)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2108
211.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2109
208.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2110
New House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2111
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_2112
Nant Cwmnofydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2113
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2114
210.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2115
y-briwydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2116
197.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2117
Cefncarnau-fawr

AutoCAD SHX Text_2118
208.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2119
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2120
218.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2121
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_2122
FW

AutoCAD SHX Text_2123
Boro Const Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_2124
CH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2125
CH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2126
Co Const, Asly Const, Asly ER, UA & C Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_2127
CS

AutoCAD SHX Text_2128
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_2129
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2130
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_2131
Def

AutoCAD SHX Text_2132
CH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2133
THORNHILL ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2134
(Hotel)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2135
Lay-by

AutoCAD SHX Text_2136
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2137
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2138
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2139
Ford

AutoCAD SHX Text_2140
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2141
BRAMBLEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2142
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_2143
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2144
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2145
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2146
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2147
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2148
BROOKVIEW CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2149
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2150
OAKRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2151
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_2152
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2153
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2154
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2155
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2156
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_2157
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2158
Filling

AutoCAD SHX Text_2159
North Cardiff Medical

AutoCAD SHX Text_2160
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_2161
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2162
151 to 169

AutoCAD SHX Text_2163
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2164
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2165
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2166
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2167
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2168
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2169
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2170
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2171
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2172
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2173
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2174
ELAINE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2175
9a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2176
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2177
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2178
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2179
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2180
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2181
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2182
CAVENDISH CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2183
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2184
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2185
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2186
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2187
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2188
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2189
CASTLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2190
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2191
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2192
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2193
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2194
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2195
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2196
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2197
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2198
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2199
KENNINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_2200
Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_2201
Llanishen

AutoCAD SHX Text_2202
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2203
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2204
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2205
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2206
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_2207
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2208
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2209
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2210
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2211
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2212
DOMBEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2213
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2214
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2215
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2216
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2217
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2218
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2219
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2220
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2221
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2222
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2223
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2224
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2225
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2226
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2227
NORWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2228
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2229
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2230
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2231
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2232
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2233
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2234
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2235
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2236
WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2237
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2238
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2239
THORNHILL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2240
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2241
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_2242
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2243
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2244
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2245
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2246
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2247
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2248
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2249
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2250
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2251
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2252
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2253
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2254
Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_2255
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2256
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2257
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2258
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2259
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2260
COTTAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2261
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2262
CHERITON

AutoCAD SHX Text_2263
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2264
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2265
EXCALIBUR DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2266
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2267
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2268
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2269
79a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2270
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_2271
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2272
147

AutoCAD SHX Text_2273
151

AutoCAD SHX Text_2274
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2275
143

AutoCAD SHX Text_2276
141

AutoCAD SHX Text_2277
Ysgol y Wern

AutoCAD SHX Text_2278
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2279
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2280
144

AutoCAD SHX Text_2281
115

AutoCAD SHX Text_2282
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_2283
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2284
127

AutoCAD SHX Text_2285
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2286
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2287
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2288
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2289
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2290
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2291
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2292
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_2293
105

AutoCAD SHX Text_2294
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2295
119

AutoCAD SHX Text_2296
150

AutoCAD SHX Text_2297
99

AutoCAD SHX Text_2298
135

AutoCAD SHX Text_2299
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2300
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2301
LLANON ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2302
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2303
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2304
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2305
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_2306
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_2307
Coedcochwyn

AutoCAD SHX Text_2308
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2309
Brentwood Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2310
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2311
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2312
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2313
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2314
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2315
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2316
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2317
COED COCHWYN AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2318
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2319
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2320
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2321
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2322
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_2323
130

AutoCAD SHX Text_2324
121

AutoCAD SHX Text_2325
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2326
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2327
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_2328
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2329
GLENDALE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2330
115a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2331
134

AutoCAD SHX Text_2332
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2333
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2334
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2335
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2336
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_2337
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2338
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2339
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2340
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2341
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2342
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2343
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2344
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2345
Douglas Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2346
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2347
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_2348
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2349
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2350
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2351
TEMPLETON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2352
148

AutoCAD SHX Text_2353
110

AutoCAD SHX Text_2354
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2355
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_2356
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2357
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2358
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2359
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2360
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2361
124

AutoCAD SHX Text_2362
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2363
62

AutoCAD SHX Text_2364
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2365
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2366
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2367
2a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2368
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_2369
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2370
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2371
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2372
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2373
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2374
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2375
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_2376
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2377
Wolf's Castle

AutoCAD SHX Text_2378
Place

AutoCAD SHX Text_2379
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2380
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2381
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2382
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2383
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2384
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2385
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2386
ALDWYCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2387
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2388
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2389
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2390
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2391
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2392
LYRIC WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2393
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2394
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2395
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2396
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2397
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2398
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2399
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2400
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2401
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2402
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2403
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2404
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2405
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2406
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2407
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2408
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2409
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2410
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2411
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2412
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2413
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2414
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2415
APOLLO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2416
DERWENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2417
Llanishen

AutoCAD SHX Text_2418
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_2419
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2420
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2421
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2422
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2423
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2424
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2425
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2426
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2427
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2428
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2429
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2430
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2431
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2432
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2433
Brook

AutoCAD SHX Text_2434
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2435
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2436
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2437
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2438
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2439
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2440
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2441
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2442
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2443
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2444
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2445
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2446
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2447
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2448
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2449
42

AutoCAD SHX Text_2450
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2451
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2452
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2453
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2454
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2455
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2456
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2457
l

AutoCAD SHX Text_2458
l7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2459
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2460
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2461
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_2462
57.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2463
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_2464
Trees

AutoCAD SHX Text_2465
Hall

AutoCAD SHX Text_2466
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2467
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2468
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2469
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2470
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2471
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_2472
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2473
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2474
52a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2475
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2476
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2477
LLANGEFNI PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2478
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2479
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2480
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2481
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2482
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2483
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2484
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2485
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2486
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2487
EVEREST WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text_2488
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2489
Presbytery

AutoCAD SHX Text_2490
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2491
HUNT CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2492
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_2493
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2494
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2495
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2496
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2497
Llanishen High School

AutoCAD SHX Text_2498
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2499
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2500
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2501
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2502
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2503
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2504
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2505
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2506
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2507
HILLARY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2508
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2509
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2510
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2511
TENSING

AutoCAD SHX Text_2512
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2513
61.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2514
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2515
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2516
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2517
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2518
Mill Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_2519
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2520
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2521
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2522
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2523
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2524
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_2525
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2526
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2527
RC Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_2528
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2529
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2530
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2531
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2532
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2533
85 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2534
91

AutoCAD SHX Text_2535
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_2536
1 to

AutoCAD SHX Text_2537
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2538
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2539
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_2540
83

AutoCAD SHX Text_2541
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2542
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2543
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2544
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2545
Cartref

AutoCAD SHX Text_2546
54.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2547
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2548
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2549
Station

AutoCAD SHX Text_2550
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_2551
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_2552
Gas Gov

AutoCAD SHX Text_2553
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2554
ORCHARD CASTLE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2555
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2556
ORCHARD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2557
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2558
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2559
GARRICK DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2560
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2561
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2562
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2563
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2564
EXCALIBUR DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2565
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2566
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2567
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2568
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2569
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2570
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2571
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2572
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2573
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2574
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2575
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2576
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2577
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2578
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2579
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2580
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2581
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2582
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2583
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2584
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2585
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2586
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2587
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2588
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2589
DRURY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2590
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2591
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2592
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2593
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2594
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2595
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2596
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2597
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2598
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2599
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2600
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2601
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2602
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2603
COPPERFIELD DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2604
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2605
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2606
9b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2607
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2608
Church

AutoCAD SHX Text_2609
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2610
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2611
Centre

AutoCAD SHX Text_2612
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2613
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2614
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2615
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2616
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2617
Line of

AutoCAD SHX Text_2618
Posts

AutoCAD SHX Text_2619
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_2620
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2621
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2622
Meddygfa Gogledd Caerdydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_2623
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2624
RAGNAL CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2625
BROOKVALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2626
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2627
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2628
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2629
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2630
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2631
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2632
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2633
The Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_2634
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2635
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2636
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2637
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2638
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2639
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2640
92

AutoCAD SHX Text_2641
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2642
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2643
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2644
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2645
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2646
79

AutoCAD SHX Text_2647
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2648
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2649
171

AutoCAD SHX Text_2650
168

AutoCAD SHX Text_2651
90

AutoCAD SHX Text_2652
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2653
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2654
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2655
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2656
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_2657
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2658
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2659
47

AutoCAD SHX Text_2660
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2661
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2662
WOODLAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2663
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_2664
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2665
FAIRACRE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2666
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2667
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2668
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2669
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2670
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2671
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2672
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2673
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2674
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2675
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2676
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2677
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2678
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2679
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2680
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2681
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2682
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2683
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2684
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2685
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2686
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2687
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2688
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_2689
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2690
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2691
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2692
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_2693
Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2694
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_2695
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2696
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2697
103

AutoCAD SHX Text_2698
DEGANWY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2699
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_2700
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2701
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2702
41

AutoCAD SHX Text_2703
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2704
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2705
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2706
BEDAVERE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2707
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2708
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2709
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2710
LAUNCELOT CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2711
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2712
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2713
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2714
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2715
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2716
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2717
STATION ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2718
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2719
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_2720
Residential Home

AutoCAD SHX Text_2721
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_2722
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2723
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2724
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2725
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2726
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2727
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2728
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_2729
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2730
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2731
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2732
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2733
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2734
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2735
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_2736
149

AutoCAD SHX Text_2737
145

AutoCAD SHX Text_2738
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2739
Education

AutoCAD SHX Text_2740
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2741
137

AutoCAD SHX Text_2742
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2743
104

AutoCAD SHX Text_2744
100

AutoCAD SHX Text_2745
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2746
146

AutoCAD SHX Text_2747
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2748
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2749
NEWBOROUGH

AutoCAD SHX Text_2750
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2751
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_2752
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2753
111

AutoCAD SHX Text_2754
122

AutoCAD SHX Text_2755
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_2756
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2757
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_2758
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2759
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2760
GILWERN CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_2761
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_2762
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_2763
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2764
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_2765
WOLFS CASTLE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2766
132

AutoCAD SHX Text_2767
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2768
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2769
152

AutoCAD SHX Text_2770
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2771
113

AutoCAD SHX Text_2772
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_2773
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2774
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2775
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2776
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2777
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2778
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2779
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2780
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2781
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2782
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_2783
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_2784
106

AutoCAD SHX Text_2785
BARDSEY

AutoCAD SHX Text_2786
Gilwern

AutoCAD SHX Text_2787
139

AutoCAD SHX Text_2788
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2789
2b

AutoCAD SHX Text_2790
TEMPLETON

AutoCAD SHX Text_2791
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2792
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2793
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2794
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2795
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2796
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2797
125

AutoCAD SHX Text_2798
77

AutoCAD SHX Text_2799
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2800
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2801
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2802
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2803
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2804
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2805
154

AutoCAD SHX Text_2806
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_2807
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2808
123

AutoCAD SHX Text_2809
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2810
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2811
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2812
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2813
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2814
69.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2815
116

AutoCAD SHX Text_2816
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2817
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2818
60

AutoCAD SHX Text_2819
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2820
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_2821
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2822
TEMPLETON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2823
WOLFS CASTLE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2824
161

AutoCAD SHX Text_2825
65.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2826
109

AutoCAD SHX Text_2827
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_2828
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_2829
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2830
120

AutoCAD SHX Text_2831
63

AutoCAD SHX Text_2832
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2833
87

AutoCAD SHX Text_2834
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2835
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2836
LLANGRANOG ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_2837
95

AutoCAD SHX Text_2838
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_2839
EVEREST

AutoCAD SHX Text_2840
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_2841
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2842
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_2843
85

AutoCAD SHX Text_2844
101

AutoCAD SHX Text_2845
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2846
Clinic

AutoCAD SHX Text_2847
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2848
118

AutoCAD SHX Text_2849
97

AutoCAD SHX Text_2850
66

AutoCAD SHX Text_2851
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_2852
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_2853
58

AutoCAD SHX Text_2854
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2855
81

AutoCAD SHX Text_2856
Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_2857
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_2858
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2859
Cefn Onn Court

AutoCAD SHX Text_2860
(PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2861
El Sub

AutoCAD SHX Text_2862
Christ the

AutoCAD SHX Text_2863
King

AutoCAD SHX Text_2864
Community

AutoCAD SHX Text_2865
Llanishen

AutoCAD SHX Text_2866
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2867
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2868
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2869
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_2870
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2871
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_2872
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2873
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2874
WINDMILL

AutoCAD SHX Text_2875
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2876
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2877
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2878
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2879
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_2880
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2881
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_2882
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2883
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2884
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_2885
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2886
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2887
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_2888
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2889
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2890
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2891
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2892
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2893
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2894
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2895
ASTORIA

AutoCAD SHX Text_2896
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2897
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2898
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_2899
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2900
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2901
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2902
WIGMORE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2903
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_2904
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2905
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2906
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2907
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2908
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2909
MERLIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_2910
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2911
16

AutoCAD SHX Text_2912
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_2913
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2914
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2915
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2916
PICKWICK CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2917
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2918
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_2919
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_2920
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2921
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2922
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2923
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2924
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2925
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_2926
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2927
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_2928
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_2929
33a

AutoCAD SHX Text_2930
80

AutoCAD SHX Text_2931
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_2932
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2933
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2934
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_2935
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_2936
65

AutoCAD SHX Text_2937
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_2938
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_2939
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_2940
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2941
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2942
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2943
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_2944
El

AutoCAD SHX Text_2945
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_2946
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_2947
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_2948
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_2949
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_2950
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_2951
CHERRYWOOD CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2952
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_2953
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_2954
CHERRYDOWN CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2955
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_2956
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_2957
CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2958
72

AutoCAD SHX Text_2959
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_2960
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2961
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_2962
WHITEACRE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2963
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_2964
64

AutoCAD SHX Text_2965
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2966
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_2967
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2968
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_2969
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2970
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_2971
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_2972
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_2973
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_2974
SPRING GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text_2975
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2976
Sheep Wash

AutoCAD SHX Text_2977
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2978
115.2m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2979
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2980
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2981
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_2982
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_2983
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2984
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2985
SP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2986
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2987
147.8m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2988
PC

AutoCAD SHX Text_2989
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_2990
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2991
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2992
Ford

AutoCAD SHX Text_2993
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2994
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_2995
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_2996
121.3m

AutoCAD SHX Text_2997
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_2998
Sloping masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_2999
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_3000
Tank

AutoCAD SHX Text_3001
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3002
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3003
Club House

AutoCAD SHX Text_3004
Sinks

AutoCAD SHX Text_3005
Nant Fawr

AutoCAD SHX Text_3006
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_3007
Cefn-on Halt

AutoCAD SHX Text_3008
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3009
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3010
147.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3011
Sloping masonry

AutoCAD SHX Text_3012
100.9m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3013
Subway

AutoCAD SHX Text_3014
White Willows

AutoCAD SHX Text_3015
137.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3016
Ford

AutoCAD SHX Text_3017
Ford

AutoCAD SHX Text_3018
Hendre Farm

AutoCAD SHX Text_3019
Drains

AutoCAD SHX Text_3020
FBs

AutoCAD SHX Text_3021
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3022
Drain

AutoCAD SHX Text_3023
Llanishen

AutoCAD SHX Text_3024
Golf Club

AutoCAD SHX Text_3025
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_3026
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_3027
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text_3028
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_3029
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_3030
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_3031
Drawing Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_3032
Project

AutoCAD SHX Text_3033
Title

c073301
Typewriter
APPENDIX 1 - LOCATION PLAN



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



PHASE 1

PHASE 2

PHASE 3

PHASE 0

(TO ALLOW FOR PLANTING TO DEVELOP)

PHASE 4

NOT REQUIRED UNIT POST 2033

except for planning 
application purposes

do not scale drawing
003

BSI

FS 25745

TM

    DRAWING CAN BE SCALED
FOR PLANNING APPLICATION
          PURPOSES ONLY.

Rev By Date Description of Amendment Chk.by Date
Telephone 029 2287 2456

County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL

COPYRIGHT OF THE CITY
AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.C

DESIGN CONTRACTS AND DELIVERY

DYLUNIO CONTRACTAU A DARPARU

Andrew Gregory
DIRECTOR FOR CITY SERVICES

CYFARWYDDWR GWASANAETHAU'R DDINASCAERDYDD
CARDIFF

© Crown copyright and database rights (2011) Ordnance Survey 100023376.
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata (2011) Arolwg Ordnans 100023376.C

THORNHILL CEMETERY

EXTENSION

PROPOSED PHASING

OM

NTS

JAN'18

CO17144

00

Page 513

AutoCAD SHX Text_3034
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_3035
Pentre Gwilym House (PH)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3036
Reservoir (covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3037
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_3038
Caravan Site

AutoCAD SHX Text_3039
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_3040
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_3041
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_3042
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text_3043
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_3044
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_3045
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_3046
Drawing Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_3047
Project

AutoCAD SHX Text_3048
Title

c073301_1
Typewriter
APPENDIX 2 - Site Plan and Phases



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



759m2

2195m2

2136m2

828m2

1255m2

883m2

924m2

1538m2

1010m2

2263m2

1144m2

3420m2

3

.
2

3

3

.
1

1

3

7

.
5

7

PROPOSED 30mph GATEWAY WITH

ASSOCIATED ILLUMINATED SIGNAGE

DEDICATED RIGHTHAND TURN LANE

INTO PROPOSED CEMETERY

PROPOSED PARKING AREA SUITABLE

FOR 30 VEHICLES

PROPOSED LOCATION FOR PD&D BUILDING

1244m2

EXISTING OVERHEAD CABLE

PROPOSED SIGNAGE TO BE SITUATED

AT ENTRANCE TO CEMETERY

PROPOSED ACCESS ROAD TO BE

CREATED TO EXISTING FARM

EXISTING LOCATION OF ELECTRIC POST

PROPOSED ACCESS ATTENUATION POND

except for planning 
application purposes

do not scale drawing

Telephone 029 2287 2456
County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW

003

BSI

FS 25745

TM
COPYRIGHT OF THE CITY
OF CARDIFF COUNCIL.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.C

    DRAWING CAN BE SCALED
FOR PLANNING APPLICATION
          PURPOSES ONLY.

© Crown copyright and database rights (2011) Ordnance Survey 100023376.
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata (2011) Arolwg Ordnans 100023376.C

Rev By Date Description of Amendment Chk.by Date

DESIGN CONTRACTS AND DELIVERY

DYLUNIO CONTRACTAU A DARPARU

Andrew Gregory
DIRECTOR FOR CITY SERVICES

CYFARWYDDWR GWASANAETHAU'R DDINAS

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD THE CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL

CAERDYDD
CARDIFF

THORNHILL CEMETERY

EXTENSION

PROPOSED LAYOUT

OM

1:500

NOV'17

CO17144 01

A
A OM 29.11.17 REVISED LAYOUT

B OM 20.12.17 PROPOSED BUILDING LOCATION CHANGED

B

C OM 17.01.17 PROPOSED LAYOUT AMENDED

C

P
age 515

AutoCAD SHX Text_3049
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_3050
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_3051
108

AutoCAD SHX Text_3052
Reservoir (covered)

AutoCAD SHX Text_3053
Mast

AutoCAD SHX Text_3054
Caravan Site

AutoCAD SHX Text_3055
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_3056
Checked

AutoCAD SHX Text_3057
Drawn

AutoCAD SHX Text_3058
Scale

AutoCAD SHX Text_3059
Date

AutoCAD SHX Text_3060
Path

AutoCAD SHX Text_3061
Project Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_3062
Drawing Number

AutoCAD SHX Text_3063
Project

AutoCAD SHX Text_3064
Title

c073301_2
Typewriter
APPENDIX 3 - Design Layout Plan



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Page 1 of 9

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

COASTAL RISK MANAGAMENT PROGRAMME

CLEAN STREETS, RECYCLING & ENVIRONMENT 
(COUNCILLOR MICHAEL MICHAEL)

AGENDA ITEM: 6   

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF CITY OPERATIONS

Reasons for this Report

1. To provide a briefing to cabinet on the current state of Cardiff’s Coastal 
Defences and the Welsh Government Coastal Risk Management 
Programme.

2. To seek Cabinet approval for the commitment to procure the detailed 
design and construction of the coastal defences valued at £11M. 

Background

3. A report undertaken by Mott MacDonald, Rover Way Foreshore Coastal 
Defence Assessment, 2009; completed an assessment of the conditions 
of the foreshore along Rover Way to the southeast of Cardiff City Centre. 
The report concluded that the ad hoc defences in position along Rover 
Way were in a very poor condition and under established guidelines would 
not have a residual life beyond the short to medium term. The report 
recommends a detailed condition survey and upgrading of the existing 
defences. 

4. A report undertaken by Atkins, Cardiff Council Coastal Erosion Risk 
Assessment, 2013, identified that the coastal erosion rates at Rover Way 
are comparable to the highest coastal erosion rates in Europe. The report 
recommended that a more detailed engineering and design of rock 
armouring and revetment is undertaken. The report also recommends 
consideration of the coast in front of the Dwr Cymru Welsh Water sewage 
works. 

Welsh Government’s Coastal Risk Management Programme

5. Welsh Government Coastal Risk Management Programme (CRMP) made 
a commitment by making £150 million available for borrowing to assist 
local authorities to meet financial pressures. 

Page 517

Eitem Agenda 6



Page 2 of 9

6. The CRMP provides a one-off opportunity for local authorities to 
implement transformational projects for coastal communities with Welsh 
Government contributing 75% of project costs. 

7. Following the Programmes identification of candidate projects, Cardiff 
Council was successful in obtaining 100% funding from Welsh 
Government for the development of an Outline Business Case. The 
application needed to demonstrate how the Council would accelerate the 
delivery of Welsh Government’s National Strategy for Flooding and 
Coastal Erosion Management in Wales, encourage innovative solutions 
that deliver multiple benefits and deliver social benefits by raising 
awareness and increasing community resilience. 

Cardiff Council’s Outline Business Case

8. The Outline Business Case (OBC) presents the business case and 
implementation plan for Cardiff Coastal Defences between Rover Way in 
the west and Lamby way in the east. The project aims to improve the 
existing coastal and fluvial defences to provide improved protection to 
people and property from coastal erosion and flood risk, and prevent the 
erosion of two decommissioned landfill sites; The Frag Tip and Lamby 
Way Tip

9. The project area includes the coastline along Rover Way, beginning at the 
eastern end of the privately owned Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) 
defences, extending along the coast along Rover Way and up the west 
bank of the river as far as the railway line. The extent continues down the 
east bank of the river and along the coast around Lamby Way Tip to the 
location of the recently constructed Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
defences

10. If no works are undertaken to maintain or improve the existing coastal 
defences, there will be significant erosion and flood risk across the study 
area and this will increase over time as asset condition deteriorates and 
sea levels rise with predicted climate change. Figure 1 shows the 
predicted flood extents for the Do Nothing scenario for present day and up 
to 100 years into the future.

Page 518



Page 3 of 9

Figure 1: Predicted flood extents for a 0.5% AEP event in 2017, 2037, 2067 and 2117

Implications

11. To the west of the River Rhymney, the coast will continue to erode, with 
approximately 30m of retreat predicted by 2036, 50m by 2067 and 170m 
by 2117, based on predicted erosion rates and taking into account 
predicted sea level rise. This will lead to loss of the Rover Way Travellers 
site and the adjacent electrical substation within 5 years and further 
release of large volumes of unknown tip material from the Frag tip into the 
Severn Estuary. Under present day conditions this erosion is quickly 
establishing a breach of the coastal defences to the east of the Rover Way 
Travellers site, resulting in flood risk to significant areas of land behind, 
including Rover Way, a key arterial route that runs parallel to the defence, 
Tremorfa industrial estate, areas of residential properties, local amenities 
and a large supermarket.

12. Along the west bank of the river there are number of sections of 
embankment with lower crest heights than the surrounding defence. 
These lower sections will start to overtop as sea levels rise, leading to 
potential breaches in the unmaintained defences and flooding of the land 
behind.

13. Along the outside of the river meander close to Lamby Way roundabout, 
also along the west bank, the embankment is at greater risk of erosion 
than overtopping. It is estimated that should the bank continue to erode it 
would be likely to lead to undermining and loss of the Lamby Way 
Roundabout and sections of Rover Way.

Page 519



Page 4 of 9

14. Under this Do Nothing Scenario 249 residential properties and 3 non-
residential properties are currently at risk of flooding under a 0.5% AEP 
event, increasing to 1212 residential and 209 non-residential properties by 
2117 with sea level rise.

15. At the Lamby Way road bridge, the bridge structure is constricting the river 
and high flow velocities are leading to exposure of the foundations. If no 
works are undertaken, this erosion will continue and the foundations could 
be undermined. In the longer term this would lead to the requirement of 
significant and costly improvement works to the bridge and potential failure 
of the bridge and loss of Lamby Way, which provides a key transport link.

16. Along the eastern river bank the soft banks are eroding and a large slip 
has recently occurred. Work has begun to try to stabilise the bank in this 
location. However, without significant further improvement works erosion is 
likely to continue. Although there is no flood risk should the defence fail 
due to the topography of Lamby Way Tip, there is significant risk from 
erosion of Lamby Way Tip material into the river and Severn Estuary 
should erosion continue.

17. The coastal frontage of Lamby Way tip, to the immediate east of the River 
Rhymney, is predicted to continue to erode. This will lead to erosion of the 
Lamby Way tip and release of contaminated tip material into the Severn 
Estuary within 20 years which would be likely to have significant 
environmental impacts on this designated estuary.

18. The project set out to achieve seven key project objectives:

Table 1: Project Objectives
No Objective
1 Reduce and manage coastal flood risk to people and assets within 

part of south east Cardiff for the next 100 years, taking into account 
predicted future climate change.

2 Manage erosion along the coast to reduce the risk of failing coastal 
flood defences and the release of contaminated landfill material into 
the Severn Estuary from Lamby Way Tip and the Rover Way Frag 
Tip, in the immediate future and over the next 100 years. 

3 To achieve wider benefits alongside coastal erosion and flood risk 
management, aligned with WG’s 7 Wellbeing Goals and with WG 
and CCC’s vision for development and economic growth of the area.

5 Implement a coastal flood and erosion risk management option 
which is affordable over the next 100 years.

6 Protect existing features of nature conservation value and seek 
opportunities to improve biodiversity though the enhancements of 
existing habitats.

7 Produce technically feasible and buildable engineering options

Page 520



Page 5 of 9

19. The coastal defences in the study area are owned and maintained by 
Cardiff Council but there is no current maintenance plan in place and no 
regular condition surveys or maintenance works are undertaken. As such 
there are no current investments or revenue costs to report.

20. The OBC assessed a range of options for the area but due to the 
variation in existing defences and geomorphological process through the 
study area mean that different options are appropriate for different 
sections of the defence in the study area. 

21. Whilst assessing the options it was found that several of the asset 
sections could be merged into five sections to enable simpler 
assessment of the shortlisted options. Figure 2 presents the merged 
shortlist sections and lists the shortlisted options for each section.

Figure 2: Short List Options for each Section in the study area

22. To assess the most appropriate holistic option across the whole study 
frontage the options were combined to form eight scheme options, which 
are presented in Table 2. The economic analysis and preferred option 
assessment are based on these options.

Page 521



Page 6 of 9

      Table 2: Shortlist Options

Option Name Description
1 Do 

Nothing
No works undertaken. Allow natural coastal and fluvial processes to 
continue.

2 Do 
Minimum

Maintenance works along existing earth embankments. Add small rock 
toe to the eroding coastal defences to slow erosion.

3 Improve 
1

Rock revetment along the coast to manage erosion and wave 
overtopping (Section 1)
Rock scour protection along Lamby Way Roundabout (Section 3)
Maintain earth embankments elsewhere and raise low points in earth 
embankments where required to reduce flood risk.
Scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

4 Improve 
2

Sheet piling along the coast to manage erosion and wave overtopping 
(Section 1)
Rock scour protection along Lamby Way Roundabout (Section 3)
Maintain earth embankments elsewhere and raise low points in earth 
embankments where required to reduce flood risk.
Rock scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

5 Improve 
3

Concrete sea wall along the coast to manage erosion and wave 
overtopping (Section 1)
Rock scour protection along Lamby Way Roundabout (Section 3)
Maintain earth embankments elsewhere and raise low points in earth 
embankments where required to reduce flood risk.
Rock scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

6 Improve 
4

Rock revetment along the coast to manage erosion and wave 
overtopping (Section 1)
Sheet piling along Lamby Way Roundabout (Section 3)
Maintain earth embankments elsewhere and raise low points in earth 
embankments where required to reduce flood risk.
Rock scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

7 Improve 
5

Sheet piling along the coast to manage erosion and wave overtopping 
(Section 1)
Sheet piling along Lamby Way Roundabout (Section 3)
Maintain earth embankments elsewhere and raise low points in earth 
embankments where required to reduce flood risk.
Rock scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

8 Improve 
6

Concrete wall along the coast to manage erosion and wave 
overtopping (Section 1)
Sheet piling along Lamby Way Roundabout (Section 3)
Maintain earth embankment elsewhere and raise low points in earth 
embankments where required to reduce flood risk.
Rock scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

23. Based on the assessments undertaken the overall preferred option is 
Option 6: Improve 4:

 Section 1: Rock revetment along the coast to manage erosion and 
wave overtopping 

 Section 3: Sheet piling along Lamby Way Roundabout 

 Section 2, 4 and 5: Maintain earth embankments elsewhere and 
raise low points in earth embankments where required to reduce 
flood risk.

 Rock scour protection added to Lamby Way Bridge.

Page 522



Page 7 of 9

24. The proposed scheme will manage flood risk to 1,116 residential and 72 
non-residential properties over 100 years, as well as preventing erosion 
of landfill material, key road infrastructure and the Rover Way Travellers 
Site.

Issues

25. If the Coastal Protection works are not implemented the coastline will 
continue to erode presenting significant risk to the area.  

26. The Design Stages (including ECI) will be carried out under the terms and 
conditions of the ECC3 Professional Services Contract (June 2005) (with 
amendments 2006 & 2011), or similar. The Construction works will be 
carried out under terms and conditions of the Engineering and 
Construction Contract (June 2005) (with amendments 2006 & 2011) 
Option C Target Contract.

27. The NEC Suite of contracts is designed to promote a collaborative team 
working approach and is well suited to this kind of project. Several ‘main 
options’ are available within the NEC contract suite, with selection largely 
driven by the allocation of out-turn financial risk ownership between the 
project team. Option C is a target cost contract with an activity schedule. 
In this contract, the out-turn financial risks are shared between the client 
and the contractor in an agreed proportion, leading to its colloquial name 
of the ‘pain-gain share’ option. This approach has proven to be 
commercially attractive to Civil Engineering Contractors, as this it 
encourages proactive engagement with project risks by the whole project 
team. It sits well with general partnership approach of the NEC Suite, and 
the application of the NEC Suite to this project, where key project risk 
ownership would be anticipated to be shared. 

28. Delivery of the project will require subsequent procurement exercises 
being undertaken for both the Design and Construction Stages, with the 
latter being substantially larger. The consultancy services for the Outline 
Business Case were procured under the Construction Consultancy 
Framework (ref. NPS-PS-0027-15) managed by the National Project 
Service (NPS), using the relevant 'Water Management' Lot under the 
framework. It is envisaged that the detailed design stage of the project 
would be procured using a similar arrangement. The construction 
procurement exercise will be completed following detailed design.

29. The Wales Coast Path and cycleway will be included within any design 
and construction for the Coastal Defences and the Council will work with 
Welsh Government to ensure there are no concerns for future phases of 
the Eastern Bay Link. Multiple benefits are a key consideration in the 
Welsh Government Coastal Risk Management Programme. Any additional 
requirements and costs associated with multiple benefits will be assessed 
following detailed design.

30. The liabilities in relation to contamination of the environmentally 
designated estuary from the erosion of the tip has not been determined. 
There will be a need to establish these contamination liabilities prior to 

Page 523



Page 8 of 9

undertaking excavation within the foreshore. It is currently understood that 
Welsh Government provided a general indemnity to the Council in regard 
to any pollution incident arising on the land. However, if any such problem 
arises from activities carried out or permitted by the council after the date 
of the agreement, then the indemnity is reversed and the Council becomes 
liable to Welsh Government. 

Local Member consultation
 

31. The Flood and Coastal Risk Management team are in the process of 
consulting the relevant local members from Rumney, Splott, Trowbridge, 
Adamsdown and Penylan.   These wards are impacted by the extent of 
flooding, if a scheme did not proceed.

Reason for Recommendations

32. To commit to the funding and deliver the coastal defence scheme. 

Financial Implications

33. Welsh Government have grant funded the development of an outline 
business case as indicated in this report. This has indicated indicative 
costs for design (£1 million) and construction (£10 million) totalling 
approximately £11 million (inclusive of VAT). The Coastal Risk 
Management Programme assumes that the WG would support 75% of 
design and construction costs (£8 million) whilst the Council will have to 
find the balance of 25% of the estimated cost (£3 million). Whilst Council’s 
highlighted the affordability issues of such an approach, WG are unlikely 
to change the initial approach. 

34. These infrastructure schemes can be subject to significant variations in 
costs unless risks are properly identified and mitigated. The next phase 
will be detailed design and costing which the directorate will use to assess 
risks and costs in construction prior to any procurement exercise. 
Accordingly any commitment towards completing construction works will 
need to be subject to final affordability of the expected construction costs 
and impact on the Council. 

35. Subject to the approval of WG funding, the Council’s Capital Programme 
for 2018/19 to approved by Council in February 2018 includes a capital 
allocation of £2.220 million with an additional £0.5 million assumed in the 
Lamby Way landfill provision set up for the aftercare of the site.

36. The costs associated with the design, ECI and construction phases have 
been estimated and include contingency and inflation allowance.  The total 
value for Coastal Risk Management Plan Approval is approximately 
£11,000,000;  The total value of the Welsh Government cost 
apportionment would be approximately £8,000,000;  The total value of the 
CCC cost apportionment would be approximately £3,000,000.

Page 524



Page 9 of 9

Legal Implications 

37. Cardiff Council has a discretionary power for managing coastal erosion 
under the Coast Protection Act (CPA) 1949. The CPA is intended to allow 
the Coast Protection Authority to carry out capital works. The powers 
given in respect of such works are generally permissive, thereby 
recognising the rights and obligations of riparian owners and other 
relevant parties, together with funding priorities

38. Cardiff Council are the landowners for the area subject to the OBC. The 
CPA sets out a procedure in regard to proposals for carrying out coastal 
protection works which includes consultation and possible consents from 
other affected bodies

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. procure the detailed design and construction of the coastal defences 
valued at £11M.  The funding to be provided on an apportionment of 75% 
funded by Welsh Government and 25% by Cardiff Council.

2. commit to the 25% funding required to deliver the coastal defences in line 
with the Welsh Government Coastal Risk Management Programme.

 
3. Agree that a reassessment of the scheme is undertaken following the 

completion of the detailed design to confirm financial implications of 
construction and viability. 

ANDREW GREGORY 
Director City Operations
9 March 2018

Page 525



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 47

CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CYFARFOD CABINET: 15 MAWRTH 2018

TREFNIADAU DERBYN I YSGOLION 2019/20

ADDYSG, CYFLOGAETH A SGILIAU (Y CYNGHORYDD 
SARAH MERRY

EITEM AGENDA: 7

ADRODDIAD Y CYFARWYDDWR ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES
 
Rhesymau dros yr Adroddiad hwn

1. Yn unol ag Adran 89 Deddf Safonau a Fframwaith Ysgolion 1998 a 
Rheoliadau Addysg (Penderfynu ar Drefniadau Derbyn) (Cymru) 
2006, mae’n rhaid i’r Awdurdodau Derbyn adolygu eu Trefniadau 
Derbyn i Ysgolion bob blwyddyn.

2. Diben yr adroddiad hwn yw rhoi gwybod i’r Cabinet am yr ymatebion 
a dderbyniwyd yn dilyn yr ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ar Drefniadau 
Derbyn i Ysgolion y Cyngor 2019/20.

Cefndir

3. Er mwyn cydymffurfio â’r ddeddfwriaeth uchod, mae’n rhaid 
penderfynu ar Drefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion a weithredir ym 
mlwyddyn academaidd 2019/20 (h.y. o fis Medi 2019) ar neu cyn 15 
Ebrill 2018.

4. Mae Rheoliadau Addysg (Penderfynu ar Drefniadau Derbyn) (Cymru) 
2006 a'r Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion yn nodi’r weithdrefn y mae'n rhaid i 
awdurdodau derbyn ei dilyn wrth bennu trefniadau derbyn, gan 
gynnwys datgan bod angen cynnal ymgynghoriad cyhoeddus ac 
angen pennu’r trefniadau erbyn 15 Ebrill yn y flwyddyn ysgol sy’n 
cychwyn ddwy flynedd cyn y flwyddyn ysgol y gwneir y trefniadau ar 
ei chyfer. 

5. Yng nghyfarfod y Cabinet ar 16 Mawrth 2017 ystyriodd yr aelodau 
adroddiad am Drefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion ar gyfer 2018/2019 a 
oedd yn amlinellu’r angen i asesu pa mor addas yw system y Cyngor 
o ran dyrannu lleoedd mewn ysgol ar adeg pan mae’r lleoedd dros 
ben mewn ysgolion uwchradd yn gostwng, ac wrth i nifer gynyddol o 
ysgolion gael mwy o geisiadau na’r lleoedd sydd ar gael, wrth i'r 
cynnydd yn y boblogaeth o ddisgyblion ddechrau gamu ymlaen i 
addysg uwchradd.  Yn dilyn ystyried ymatebion i ymgynghoriad, 

Page 527

Eitem Agenda 7



Page 2 of 47

rhoddodd y Cabinet awdurdod i swyddogion ystyried trefniadau 
derbyn i ysgolion y Cyngor ymhellach, gan gynnwys ymchwilio’n 
ehangach i ddewisiadau eraill ac i'w heffeithiau, cyn ymgynghori ar 
Bolisi Derbyn i Ysgolion y Cyngor ar gyfer 2019/20. 

6. Yn dilyn hynny, pennwyd yr Athro Chris Taylor, o Sefydliad Ymchwil, 
Data a Methodoleg Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru, Ysgol y 
Gwyddorau Cymdeithasol, Prifysgol Caerdydd, gan y Cabinet i 
ymgymryd â'r ymchwil a oedd yn canolbwyntio’n bennaf ar 
dderbyniadau i ysgolion uwchradd, er y cafodd materion pwysig 
parthed ysgolion cynradd eu hystyried hefyd.  

7. Ystyriodd y Cabinet adroddiad ymchwil y Sefydliad Ymchwil, Data a 
Methodoleg Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru yn ei gyfarfod ar 
16 Tachwedd 2017 a threfnwyd ymgynghoriad ar y trefniadau er 
mwyn ceisio ymateb i ganfyddiadau’r ymchwil drwy symleiddio’r 
meini prawf presennol, a gwahoddwyd sylwadau ar y dewisiadau 
eraill o ran derbyn i ysgolion uwchradd.

Materion

Crynodeb o Ymgynghoriad Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion y Cyngor 
2019/20 

8. Cyflwynwyd Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion drafft y Cyngor 2019/20 a 
dogfen ymgynghori'n nodi’r newidiadau a gynigwyd (gweler Atodiad 1 
ac Atodiad 2) ar gyfer ymgynghoriad ar 12 Rhagfyr 2017 gyda phawb 
y mae angen i'r Cyngor ymgynghori â nhw fel y nodir yng Nghod 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru (Penaethiaid, Cyrff 
Llywodraethu, Cyfarwyddwyr Esgobaethol, Awdurdodau Addysg 
Lleol cyfagos).  Daeth yr ymgynghoriad i ben ar 30 Ionawr 2018.

9. Cyhoeddwyd y Polisi, y ddogfen ymgynghori a ffurflen ymateb ar-lein 
ar wefan y Cyngor, a roddodd gyfle i rieni a phartïon eraill â 
diddordeb gyflwyno sylwadau.  Gofynnwyd am ddychwelyd 
ymatebion erbyn 30 Ionawr 2018.

10. Ceir y meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd arfaethedig ar 
gyfer 2019/20 ar dudalennau 9 a 10 y ddogfen ymgynghori (Atodiad 
2).

11. Cynhaliwyd deng sesiwn galw heibio yn rhan o’r ymgynghoriad, lle'r 
oedd swyddogion ar gael i ateb cwestiynau.

12. Yn ogystal, cyflwynwyd arolwg disgyblion ar-lein i ysgolion ar gyfer 
disgyblion cynradd ac uwchradd yn gofyn iddynt nodi beth sy’n 
bwysig ganddyn nhw wrth feddwl am fynd i’r ysgol. 

Ymatebion a dderbyniwyd ynghylch y polisi drafft yn ystod y cyfnod 
ymgynghori.

Page 528



Page 3 of 47

13. Derbyniwyd cyfanswm o 1,202 ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad (gan 
gynnwys chwech ymateb a oedd yn dyblygu atebion eraill).  O’r 
rhain, daeth 517 i law trwy’r ymgynghoriad ar-lein, roedd 413 yn 
ymatebion ar-lein gan ddisgyblion i arolwg disgyblion, a derbyniwyd y 
gweddill drwy e-bost neu ar ffurf copi caled o ffurflen ymateb yr 
ymgynghoriad.

14. Derbyniwyd ymatebion ffurfiol gan:

 Fforwm Derbyniadau Caerdydd
 Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg Caerdydd
 Esgobaeth Llandaf
 Esgobaeth Mynwy
 Grŵp Democratiaid Rhyddfrydol y Cyngor
 Jenny Rathbone AC
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Birchgrove
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Howardian
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath
 Pennaeth Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Sant Monica
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Hamadryad
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch
 Pennaeth Ysgol Pencae
 Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys Newydd
 Pennaeth Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr
 Cyfreithwyr Albany 
 Grŵp Gweithredu dros Blant Marlborough
 Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RhAG)

15. Gallwch weld copïau o’r ymatebion llawn yn Atodiad 3.

16. Roedd y farn a fynegwyd yn ymwneud yn bennaf â’r cynnig i 
waredu’r maen prawf cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd yn y meini prawf 
pan fo gormod o geisiadau am leoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd, y 
cynnig i gynnwys maen prawf yn ymwneud â phresenoldeb mewn 
ysgol gynradd fwydo yn y meini prawf pan fo gormod o geisiadau am 
leoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd, dalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd 
Caerdydd a'r galw am leoedd/achosion pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd.

17. Dim ond rhai sylwadau a gyflwynwyd mewn perthynas â’r newidiadau 
a gynigir i’r meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd o ran 
addysg feithrin ac addysg gynradd, a’r trefniadau derbyn eraill.

18. Ceir crynodeb o ddadansoddiad o’r ymatebion a dderbyniwyd yn 
Atodiad 4. Mae’r dadansoddiad yn nodi bod rhan fwyaf yr ymatebion 
o blaid, neu ddim yn mynegi barn ar, y newidiadau a gynigir i'r meini 
prawf derbyn pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd o ran addysg 
feithrin, cynradd ac uwchradd. 

Page 529



Page 4 of 47

19. Roedd rhan fwyaf yr ymatebion o blaid Opsiwn B y meini prawf 
derbyn pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd o ran addysg uwchradd.

20. Ceir crynodeb o’r dadansoddiad o’r 413 ymateb a dderbyniwyd i’r 
arolwg disgyblion yn Atodiad 5. Mae’r dadansoddiad yn nodi mai’r 
blaenoriaethau i ddisgyblion wrth ystyried beth sy’n bwysig ganddyn 
nhw wrth feddwl am fynd i’r ysgol, yn nhrefn pwysigrwydd, yw: 
agosrwydd at y cartref; mynychu’r un ysgol â brodyr a chwiorydd; 
mynd i’r ysgol gyda chyfoedion o’r ysgol gynradd a blaenoriaethu 
derbyn plant ag Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol.

21. Mae’r farn a fynegwyd yn rhan o'r ymgynghoriad wedi'i nodi mewn 
ffont italig isod ac mae’r ymatebion wedi’u grwpio yn ôl y materion a 
nodir lle bo’n briodol.   Gallwch weld ymateb y Cyngor i bob pwynt a 
nodir isod, dan y pennawd “Dadansoddiad o’r farn a fynegwyd”.

Crynodeb o’r ymatebion a dderbyniwyd a dadansoddiad o’r farn a 
fynegwyd

Ymateb gan Fforwm Derbyniadau Caerdydd

22. Rôl y Fforwm Derbyniadau yw rhoi dull i awdurdodau derbyn ac 
unrhyw bartïon â diddordeb allweddol eraill drafod effeithiolrwydd y 
trefniadau derbyn lleol, ystyried sut y dylid ymdrin â materion derbyn 
anodd a rhoi cyngor i awdurdodau derbyn ar ffyrdd eraill y mae modd 
gwella eu trefniadau. Mae’r Fforwm Derbyniadau’n cynnwys 
cynrychiolwyr o Esgobaeth yr Eglwys yng Nghymru, yr Esgobaeth 
Gatholig, Penaethiaid yn y gymuned, ysgolion sefydledig ac ysgolion 
ffydd, a chynrychiolydd sy’n rhiant-lywodraethwr.

23. Roedd ymateb y Fforwm Derbyniadau’n cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol 
(gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

24. Roedd y Fforwm yn cefnogi’r newidiadau a gynigir i feini prawf y 
derbyniadau meithrin.

25. Roedd y Fforwm yn cefnogi’r newidiadau i’r meini prawf cynradd er 
mwyn sicrhau bod y meini prawf derbyn yn ystyried anghenion 
teuluoedd yn briodol ac yn deg o ystyried patrwm newidiol 
darpariaeth addysg nawr ac yn y dyfodol.

26. Gallai diddymu’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd’, o ystyried 
nifer uchel y newidiadau i ddalgylchoedd a/neu gynigion trefn 
ysgolion a pha mor aml y mae'r newidiadau'n digwydd, arwain at roi 
teuluoedd mewn ardaloedd newidiol iawn dan anfantais, yn benodol 
ar lefel gynradd pan fyddai'r her logistaidd o gludo brodyr a 
chwiorydd i ysgolion gwahanol yn peri'r anawsterau mwyaf.  Yn 
ogystal, gallai’r polisi cenedlaethol ar gyfer cynyddu nifer y siaradwyr 
Cymraeg arwain at newidiadau pellach ac mae’n bosibl yr effeithir ar 
y sector hwn yn fwy ar y cyfan oherwydd y newidiadau a ddisgwylir 
yn y dyfodol, yn ogystal â’r twf a ddisgwylir yn gysylltiedig â thai 
CDLl.   Felly, mae’r Fforwm yn argymell y dylid cadw’r meini prawf 

Page 530



Page 5 of 47

pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd ar lefel cynradd, ac y dylid 
ychwanegu amrywiad i’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd’ 
(maen prawf 3b ar hyn o bryd) yn syth uwchben y maen prawf 'byw 
yn y dalgylch'.

27. Mae’r Fforwm yn argymell y dylid diddymu’r maen prawf cyfeirio 
brodyr a chwiorydd (meini prawf 3b) yn ôl y cynnig.

28. Mewn perthynas â derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd, mae’r Fforwm yn 
cydnabod mantais pontio gyda chyfoedion fel y nodir yn Opsiwn B 
fodd bynnag, gallai gweithredu Opsiwn B roi teuluoedd a oedd yn 
awyddus i roi addysg Gymraeg i'w plant ac a benderfynont wedyn 
nad fyddai’n addas ar eu cyfer plant dan anfantais pe dymunent fynd 
yn ôl i ysgol Saesneg. 

29. Mae llawer o blant sy’n mynd i ysgolion cynradd yr eglwys y methu â 
llwyddo i gael lle mewn ysgol uwchradd ffydd, a byddai Opsiwn B yn 
eu rhoi dan anfantais wrth wneud cais am le mewn ysgol uwchradd 
gymunedol.

30. Hefyd, gallai gweithredu Opsiwn B effeithio ar ardaloedd yn y ddinas 
lle mae llawer o fudo, gan roi plant a fyddai’n gorfod symud heb fod 
bai ar y teulu dan anfantais bellach o ystyried y gallai llawer ohonynt 
fod eisoes yn agored i niwed.

31. Roedd y Fforwm o blaid Opsiwn A.

32. Roedd y Fforwm yn croesawu symleiddio’r meini prawf i’w gwneud 
nhw’n haws i deuluoedd eu deall.

Ymateb i farn Fforwm Derbyniadau Caerdydd

33. Nodir cefnogaeth y Fforwm Derbyniadau i'r newidiadau arfaethedig i'r 
meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd derbyn i addysg 
feithrin a chynradd.

34. Nodir cefnogaeth y Fforwm dros gadw’r 'maen prawf cyfeirio brodyr a 
chwiorydd’ 3a ar gyfer derbyniadau i ysgol gynradd.

35. Cynigwyd gwaredu maen prawf 3a a 3b (cynradd) a 2a a 2b 
(uwchradd) i symleiddio a lleihau nifer y meini prawf.  Mae’r meini 
prawf hyn yn rhoi blaenoriaeth i blant y cyfeiriwyd eu brodyr a 
chwiorydd at ysgol arall gan y Cyngor gan fod yr ysgol arall yn y 
dalgylch o’r blaen, ac i frodyr a chwiorydd na fu modd iddynt fynd i’r 
ysgol ddalgylch a gyfeiriwyd wedyn at ysgol arall.

36. Prin yw’r ceisiadau (0.06% o’r holl ddewisiadau ysgol) a gyflwynwyd 
am fynediad at ysgol yn 2017 a fyddai’n bodloni’r meini prawf hyn.  
Cafodd saith lle eu dyrannu dan y meini prawf hyn ar gyfer derbyn i 
ysgol yn 2017, byddai pedwar ohonynt wedi’u derbyn ar sail meini 
prawf eraill.  

Page 531



Page 6 of 47

37. Nid oedd llawer o’r ymatebion ymgynghoriad a dderbyniwyd gan 
gynnwys ymatebion y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg, Ysgol Gymraeg 
Pwll Coch, Ysgol Pencae, RhAG a rhieni yn cefnogi’r cynnig i waredu 
maen prawf 3a (cynradd) a/neu 2a (uwchradd) gan fod hyn wedi rhoi 
sicrwydd i’r rhieni a gofrestrodd plant mewn ysgolion a all fod yn 
destun newidiadau i ffiniau dalgylch. 

38. Mae rhaglen fuddsoddi Band B Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif y Cyngor, a 
gymeradwywyd mewn egwyddor gan Lywodraeth Cymru, yn 
cynnwys nifer o newidiadau i ddarpariaeth ysgol uwchradd Saesneg 
gan gynnwys cynyddu capasiti ysgolion. Er mwyn gallu  sicrhau bod 
capasiti arfaethedig ysgolion yn cyfateb yn well â dalgylchoedd yr 
ysgolion cynradd, mae’n debygol y bydd angen gwneud llawer o 
newidiadau i'r dalgylchoedd hyn a dalgylchoedd ysgolion eraill.

39. Mae’r mater hwn yn berthnasol iawn i’r sector cyfrwng Cymraeg, y bu 
llawer o newidiadau i’w ddalgylchoedd yn y deng mlynedd diwethaf 
oherwydd cynnydd yn nifer y disgyblion sy’n derbyn addysg cyfrwng 
Cymraeg, a bu’n rhaid gwneud newidiadau o ran trefn.

40. Roedd ymateb ffurfiol y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg hefyd yn awgrymu 
y dylai’r Cyngor gadw maen prawf 3a (cynradd) a ehangu hyn i 
gefnogi ysgolion newydd eu sefydlu ac sydd heb ddalgylch, er mwyn 
parhau i gynyddu yn nifer y disgyblion sy’n dewis addysg Gymraeg, 
ac felly i gynorthwyo’r Cyngor wrth weithredu ei Strategaeth 
Caerdydd Ddwyieithog 5 mlynedd. 

41. Felly, mae’r Cyngor yn cynnig y dylid ychwanegu'r maen prawf 
canlynol fel maen prawf â blaenoriaeth uchel yn y meini prawf pan fo 
mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd ar gyfer derbyn i addysg gynradd:

‘Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r ysgol, a dderbyniwyd 
cyn y newid i'r dalgylch'.

Byddai’r Polisi Derbyn yn cynnwys gwybodaeth yn egluro hyn:
 
a) Os yw brawd neu chwaer hŷn wedi cael lle ac yn dal i fynychu ysgol 

a oedd yn ysgol y dalgylch, os yw'r rhiant yn dymuno, bydd y Cyngor 
yn derbyn brodyr a chwiorydd iau i'r ysgol ddalgylch flaenorol honno.

b) Os yw brawd neu chwaer hŷn wedi cael lle ac yn dal i fynychu ysgol 
gymunedol newydd ei sefydlu sydd heb ddalgylch penodol, os yw'r 
rhiant yn dymuno, bydd y Cyngor yn derbyn brodyr a chwiorydd iau i'r 
ysgol honno.

42. Nodir cefnogaeth y Fforwm Derbyniadau dros Opsiwn A o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

Ymateb gan y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg (WEF)

Page 532



Page 7 of 47

43. Rôl y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg yw cyfrannu at ddatblygu a 
gweithredu Cynllun Strategol Addysg Gymraeg; cyfrannu at gynllunio 
lleoedd cyfrwng Cymraeg rhagweithiol; cyfrannu at ddatblygu a 
hyrwyddo addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg a chyfrannu at yr uchelgais o ran 
ymgorffori addysg Gymraeg yn Strategaeth Caerdydd Ddwyieithog 
(2017-2022). 

44. Mae’r Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg yn cynnwys cynrychiolwyr y 
blynyddoedd cynnar, Penaethiaid ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg cynradd 
ac uwchradd, cynrychiolwyr addysg uwch ac addysg bellach ac 
aelodau sy’n cynrychioli Llywodraeth Cymru, Consortiwm Canolbarth 
y De, Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg, Menter Caerdydd a Menter Iaith. 

45. Roedd ymateb y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg yn cynnwys y pwyntiau 
canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

46. Mae’r materion sy'n effeithio ar dderbyniadau i'r sector cyfrwng 
Cymraeg yn  wahanol i'r materion sy'n effeithio ar ysgolion cyfrwng 
Saesneg a'r teuluoedd sy’n eu dewis.  

47. Er bod digonolrwydd lleoedd addysg feithrin cyfrwng Cymraeg yn dal 
i beri pryder mewn rhai rhannau o’r ddinas, roedd y Fforwm yn 
cefnogi’r newidiadau arfaethedig o ran y meini prawf pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd meithrin.

48. Roedd y prif bryderon yn ymwneud â’r cynnig i waredu’r maen prawf 
‘cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd’, o ystyried nifer uchel y newidiadau i 
ddalgylchoedd a/neu gynigion o ran trefn ysgolion a pha mor aml y 
mae'r newidiadau'n digwydd a all arwain at deuluoedd yn cael eu rhoi 
dan anfantais mewn ardaloedd newidiol iawn, yn benodol ar lefel 
gynradd pan fyddai'r her logistaidd o gludo brodyr a chwiorydd i 
ysgolion gwahanol yn achosi'r anawsterau mwyaf.  Yn ogystal, 
gallai’r polisi cenedlaethol ar gyfer cynyddu nifer y siaradwyr 
Cymraeg arwain at newidiadau pellach ac mae’n bosibl yr effeithir ar 
y sector hwn yn fwy ar y cyfan oherwydd y newidiadau a ddisgwylir 
yn y dyfodol, yn ogystal â’r twf a ddisgwylir yn gysylltiedig â thai 
CDLl.  

49. Felly, mae’r Fforwm yn argymell y dylid cadw’r maen prawf yn y 
meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd cynradd arfaethedig, 
ac y dylid ychwanegu amrywiad i’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a 
chwiorydd’ presennol (maen prawf 3a) yn syth uwchben y maen 
prawf ‘byw yn y dalgylch’.

50. Cafwyd lled-gytundeb ynghylch y meini prawf arfaethedig fel y’i 
nodwyd yn Opsiynau A a B ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd.  
Roedd y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg yn ffafrio Opsiwn B ar y cyfan, 
oherwydd ystyriwyd bod trosglwyddo disgyblion gyda’u cyfoedion o’r 
ysgol gynradd yn bwysig.    Roedd aelodau’n cytuno bod anfanteision 
i rai fel y nodwyd yn y ddogfennaeth ategol ond, wrth bwyso a mesur, 
roeddent o'r farn bod y manteision yn fwy o ystyried yr effaith ar blant 
a theuluoedd sy’n ceisio cael mynediad at addysg Gymraeg yng 

Page 533



Page 8 of 47

nghyd-destun Caerdydd.  Roedd y rhain yn cynnwys cynllunio ar 
gyfer cwricwlwm effeithiol ac effeithlon a chynnig proses bontio o 
safon. Credwyd y byddai maen prawf sy'n galluogi cyfoedion i symud 
gyda'i gilydd lle bo'n bosibl yn cefnogi hyn.

51. Roedd y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg yn cytuno y byddai gwaredu’r 
maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd’ yn briodol yn y cyfnod 
uwchradd ac yn cefnogi’r gwaith o gynllunio a darparu lleoedd yn fwy 
effeithlon yn benodol o ystyried y newidiadau posibl allai effeithio ar y 
sector yn y blynyddoedd i ddod.

Ymateb i farn y Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg (WEF)

52. Er bod llai o ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg ar lefel cynradd ac uwchradd, 
ac y bu llawer o newidiadau yn nhrefn ysgolion a dalgylchoedd, nid 
oes tystiolaeth sy'n awgrymu y dylid ystyried anghenion ysgolion 
cyfrwng Cymraeg yn wahanol nac ychwaith y byddai'n fanteisiol creu 
meini prawf eraill ar sail iaith yr addysgu.  

53. Nodir cefnogaeth y Fforwm dros y newidiadau a gynigir i'r meini 
prawf derbyn i addysg feithrin.

54. Trafodir y pryderon a fynegwyd mewn perthynas â’r cynnig diddymu’r 
maen prawf cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd o ystyried y newidiadau yn y 
dyfodol yn deillio o bolisi cenedlaethol, gweithredu rhaglen Band B 
Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif, a sefydlu ysgolion newydd o ganlyniad i 
ddatblygu safleoedd CDLl ym mharagraffau 34 – 41.

55. Nodir cefnogaeth y Fforwm dros gadw’r 'maen prawf cyfeirio bodyr a 
chwiorydd’ 3a ar gyfer derbyniadau i ysgol gynradd.

56. Nodir cefnogaeth y Fforwm dros Opsiwn B o ran derbyniadau i 
addysg uwchradd, a’r rhesymeg dros hyn.

Ymateb Esgobaeth Llandaf 

57. Roedd ymateb Esgobaeth Llandaf yn cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol 
(gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3):

58. Mae Esgobaeth Llandaf yn brif ddarparwr addysg, ac yn un hirdymor. 
Mae’n ceisio perthnasau agos a phwrpasol gyda’i holl bartneriaid i 
sicrhau’r canlyniadau gorau i bob plentyn. 

59. Nid yw Opsiwn A yn cyfeirio at ysgolion bwydo fel un o’r meini prawf, 
ond mae’n cyfeirio at fyw mewn dalgylch diffiniedig.  Fodd bynnag, 
mae Opsiwn B yn cyfeirio at blant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr 
ysgol, un ai heb frawd neu chwaer neu gyda brawd neu chwaer sydd 
eisoes yn yr ysgol uwchradd, ac sy’n mynychu ysgol fwydo 
gysylltiedig.

60. Nid yw unrhyw ysgol yr Eglwys yng Nghymru wedi'i chynnwys yn y 
rhestr honno ac nid oes cydnabyddiaeth o'r ffaith bod cysylltiadau 

Page 534



Page 9 of 47

cryf ac ystyrlon eisoes ag ysgolion uwchradd lleol, yn aml yn fwy na'r 
partneriaethau anffurfiol sy'n diffinio ysgol fwydo. Mae’r Adran 7.7 y 
Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion drafft yn benodol yn nodi bod gan y rhai sy'n 
mynychu ysgolion bwydo flaenoriaeth dros y rhai yn y dalgylch nad 
ydynt yn mynd i ysgol fwydo. Gan ddefnyddio diffiniad yr Awdurdod o 
ysgol fwydo fel un sydd â chysylltiadau anffurfiol, dylai’r rhain 
gynnwys ysgolion yr Eglwys yng Nghymru.

61. Byddai cyflwyno Opsiwn B o ran meini prawf pan fo gormod o 
geisiadau na lleoedd yn anfanteisiol iawn i blant o ysgolion cynradd 
yr Eglwys yng Nghymru nad ydynt yn dymuno trosglwyddo i un o 
ysgolion uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru neu sydd heb gael lle 
mewn un ohonynt.

62. Byddai plant o gefndir lleiafrif ethnig, yn enwedig y rhai sydd â rhieni 
â sgiliau llythrennedd neu Saesneg gwael, dan anfantais fawr gan eu 
bod nhw’n llai tebygol o allu fforddio’r drafnidiaeth i ac o ysgol 
uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru. Byddai defnyddio ysgolion bwydo 
fel maen prawf derbyn yn achosi hollt oherwydd byddai argraff rhieni 
o Ysgolion Eglwysig ac ysgolion cymunedol yn eu gwahaniaethu’n 
fwyfwy.

63. Mae’r Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion presennol yn cydymffurfio â Deddf 
Cydraddoldeb 2010 a Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru 
E.3. Mae hyn wedi bod yn amodol ar ddatganiad o'r effaith ar 
gydraddoldeb yr awdurdod sy'n nodi na chaiff awdurdod derbyn 
wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd, ailbennu rhywedd, hil ac ymhlith 
nodweddion eraill, crefydd na chred. Nid yw’n amlwg a fyddai Opsiwn 
B yn bodloni’r gofyn hwn neu'n ei dorri.

64. Rydym yn teimlo’n gryf iawn y byddai Opsiwn B fel cyfres o feini 
prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd ar gyfer ysgolion uwchradd 
yn anfanteisiol iawn i blant o ysgolion cynradd yr Eglwys yng 
Nghymru. Mae ysgolion cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru wedi bod â 
chysylltiadau pwrpasol ag ysgolion uwchradd lleol am nifer o 
flynyddoedd ac yn bodloni diffiniad yr awdurdod o ysgol fwydo. 

65. Pe byddai Opsiwn B yn cael ei dderbyn, rydym yn credu’n gryf y dylid 
ystyried ysgolion cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru yn ysgolion bwydo 
mewn unrhyw Bolisi Derbyn i Ysgolion i’r dyfodol i sicrhau cyfle 
cyfartal. Mae’r Esgobaeth yn argymell Opsiwn A.

Ymateb i farn Esgobaeth Llandaf

66. Nodir cefnogaeth Esgobaeth Llandaf dros Opsiwn A o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

67. Nodir y pryderon a fynegwyd ar gynnwys maen prawf 'ysgol fwydo' 
(Opsiwn B) ac effaith hyn ar blant sy'n mynd i ysgol gynradd yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru. 

Page 535



Page 10 of 47

68. Mae dadansoddiad o’r data CYBLD (Cyfrifiad Ysgolion Blynyddol ar 
Lefel Disgyblion Ionawr 2017) mwyaf diweddar (Atodiad 6) yn nodi 
nad oes llawer o ddilyniant rhwng niferoedd derbyn agregedig yr 
ysgolion cynradd cymunedol a'r ysgolion uwchradd y mae'r ysgolion 
cynradd hyn yn eu dalgylchoedd. 

69. Cynhaliwyd ymarfer cymharu rhwng niferoedd y disgyblion sy’n mynd 
i ysgolion bwydo sydd hefyd yn byw yn y dalgylchoedd yn erbyn Nifer 
Derbyn Cyhoeddedig (NDC) yr ysgol uwchradd gysylltiedig 
perthnasol, yn y garfan a fydd yn symud i addysg uwchradd yn y 
flwyddyn ysgol 2019/20.  Dengys hyn fod gan 4 allan o'r 13 ysgol 
uwchradd (Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin Caerdydd, Ysgol 
Uwchradd y Dwyrain, Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan, Ysgol Uwchradd 
Llanisien) fwy o ddisgyblion yn byw yn eu dalgylchoedd a oedd yn 
mynd i ysgolion bwydo nag oedd o leoedd ar gael iddynt yn yr 
ysgolion uwchradd perthnasol.

70. Nid yw ychwanegu ysgolion cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru fel 
ysgolion bwydo ar gyfer ysgolion uwchradd cymunedol wedi’i gynnig 
gan y byddai hyn, mewn llawer o ardaloedd yng Nghaerdydd, yn 
gwaethygu’r cydbwysedd rhwng nifer y disgyblion a’r lleoedd mewn 
ysgolion cynradd bwydo a nifer y lleoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd 
cymunedol.

71. Byddai gweithredu meini prawf yn seiliedig ar ysgolion bwydo, fel y’i 
cyflwynir, yn atal y disgyblion sy’n mynd i ysgolion cynradd yr Eglwys 
yng Nghymru rhag cael eu hystyried dan y meini prawf pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd uwch ar gyfer cael lle yn ysgol uwchradd 
gymunedol eu dalgylch.  O ganlyniad, byddai’r plant sy’n mynd i 
ysgol gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru nad ydynt yn cwrdd â’r meini 
prawf blaenoriaeth ar gyfer cael lle mewn ysgolion uwchradd yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru hefyd dan anfantais wrth wneud cais am le 
mewn ysgolion uwchradd cymunedol.  

Ymateb Ymddiriedaeth Esgobaeth Trefynwy

72. Roedd ymateb Ymddiriedaeth Esgobaeth Trefynwy yn cynnwys y 
pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3):

73. Rydym yn deall bod prosesau derbyn i ysgolion yn gallu bod yn 
gymhleth iawn ac, ar adegau, yn ddadleuol ac rydym yn deall bod 
pobl am i ni ystyried prosesau eraill a fyddai o bosibl yn well i 
gymunedau Caerdydd.  Fodd bynnag, bydd angen i unrhyw 
ddewisiadau eraill sicrhau eu bod nhw’n gynhwysol ac yn 
cynrychioli’r cymunedau y maent yn eu gwasanaethu.

74. Ar gyfer derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd, cynigir dau ddewis arall – 
Opsiwn A ac Opsiwn B – a chynnwys maen prawf 'ysgol fwydo' yn 
Opsiwn B yw'r gwahaniaeth rhwng yr opsiynau. Mae Atodiad 2 y 
ddogfen bolisi drafft yn nodi manylion ysgolion bwydo sy'n berthnasol 
i Opsiwn B, fodd bynnag, nid yw ysgolion eglwysig wedi'u cynnwys er 
u bod wedi'u rhestru yn Atodiad 1. Felly, mae'r effaith y newidiadau 

Page 536



Page 11 of 47

arfaethedig i'r meini prawf a nodir yn nhudalennau 11-13 o gymharu 
effaith Opsiwn A a B yn ddiffygiol, o ganlyniad i gyfresi data 
anghyflawn nad ydynt yn cynnwys yr effaith sylweddol ar blant o 
ysgolion bwydo eglwysig.

75. Er bod yr Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb a’r ddogfen 
ymgynghori yn nodi ymrwymiad y Cyngor i gyfle cyfartal, drwy 
gyflwyno cynnig gyda maen prawf ysgol fwydo sy’n anwybyddu 
ysgolion eglwysig, mae’n amlwg bod effaith wahaniaethol negyddol 
iawn. Mae Adran 3.7 yn nodi eich bod yn ystyried na fydd effaith 
wahaniaethol ar bobl gyda chrefyddau gwahanol, credoau neu 
ddiffyg cred o ganlyniad i’r cynigion derbyn i ysgolion   Rydym yn 
herio hyn yn awchus.  Drwy gyflwyno cynnig gyda maen prawf ysgol 
fwydo sy'n anwybyddu ysgolion eglwysig, mae'n amlwg bod effaith 
wahaniaethol negyddol dros ben.

76. Does dim digon o leoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd yr Eglwys yng 
Nghymru yng Nghaerdydd i bawb sy'n gadael ysgolion cynradd yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru.  Mae llawer o ysgolion gwirfoddol a 
gynorthwyir yn sefydledig ac yn ysgolion bwydo sylweddol i ysgolion 
uwchradd cymunedol, ac mae ganddynt bartneriaethau cryf â nhw.  
Does dim ots os yw niferoedd y disgyblion yn llai na'r niferoedd sy’n 
dod o ysgolion eraill, mae hyn yn cynrychioli ymarfer gwahaniaethol.

77. Mae Opsiwn B yn amlwg yn gwahaniaethu yn erbyn ysgolion yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru, fel cyd-ddarparwyr addysg, ac yn ddiffygiol 
iawn, gan ei gwneud yn opsiwn nad yw’n gymwys ei ystyried.  Mae 
Esgobaeth Trefynwy’n argymell y dylid derbyn Opsiwn A fel y mae’r 
cynnig ar hyn o bryd.  

Ymateb i farn Ymddiriedaeth Esgobaeth Trefynwy

78. Nodir cefnogaeth yr Esgobaeth dros Opsiwn A o ran derbyniadau i 
addysg uwchradd.

79. Nodir y pryderon a fynegwyd dros gynnwys maen prawf 'ysgol fwydo' 
(Opsiwn B) ac effaith hyn ar blant sy'n mynd i ysgol gynradd yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru. 

80. Trafodir materion yn ymwneud â chynnwys ysgolion cynradd yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru fel ysgolion bwydo ym mharagraffau 68 - 71.

81. Nodir bod 240 lle yn Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Teilo 
Sant ac mae 160 o’r lleoedd hynny’n cael eu pennu ar sail meini 
prawf ffydd, a 180 lle arall yn Ysgol Uwchradd Esgob Llandaf, a 150 
o’r lleoedd hynny’n cael eu pennu yn ôl meini prawf ar sail ffydd, sy’n 
gwasanaethu disgyblion Caerdydd a’r Fro. 

82. Mae 305 o leoedd fesul grŵp blwyddyn yn ysgolion cynradd yr 
Eglwys yng Nghymru yng Nghaerdydd. 

Page 537



Page 12 of 47

83. Er bod digon o leoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd yr Eglwys yng 
Nghymru yng Nghaerdydd ar gyfer y disgyblion sy'n mynd i ysgolion 
cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru, byddai angen i Gyrff Llywodraethu 
bob ysgol adolygu eu trefniadau derbyn er mwyn gwneud lle ar gyfer 
pob disgybl sy'n mynd i ysgolion cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru 
yng Nghaerdydd.

Ymateb Grŵp Democratiaid Rhyddfrydol y Cyngor

84. Mae’r grŵp yn cefnogi'r newidiadau a gynigir i'r meini prawf derbyn i 
addysg feithrin.

85. O ran derbyn i addysg gynradd, mae’r grŵp yn cydnabod bod y 
Cyngor yn ceisio symleiddio’r meini prawf derbyn er mwyn sicrhau 
bod rhieni a gwarcheidwaid yn derbyn mwy o wybodaeth ac yn gallu 
defnyddio'r meini prawf derbyn yn well, gan leihau nifer y plant sy’n 
methu â chael lle yn eu hysgol gynradd leol.

86. Fodd bynnag, mae’r grŵp yn poeni am effaith y newidiadau 
arfaethedig i'r rheol brodyr a chwiorydd ar ddarpariaeth addysg 
cyfrwng Cymraeg a mynediad ati.  Mae dalgylchoedd cyfrwng 
Cymraeg yn llawer mwy na rhai ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg, sy’n peri 
anawsterau ychwanegol i rieni sy’n wynebu’r posibilrwydd o fod â 
phlant mewn ysgolion gwahanol. Golyga hyn y gall y cynigion gael 
effaith andwyol ar deuluoedd sy'n ceisio addysg Gymraeg.

87. O ran derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd, byddai defnyddio agosrwydd 
yn unig wrth flaenoriaethu dyraniadau lleoedd mewn ysgol â mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd yn golygu dibynnu ar un mesur sy'n annheg a 
fyddai'n cael ei gamddefnyddio o bosibl.  

88. Mae risg y bydd newid meini prawf derbyn er mwyn mynd i’r afael ag 
un elfen o annhegwch yn rhoi plant dan anfantais er y byddai o fudd i 
rai eraill sy’n methu â chael lle ac sydd mewn ysgol gynradd fwydo 
ac o’r herwydd yn llai tebygol o gael lle yn eu hysgol uwchradd leol o 
ganlyniad i’r meini prawf a nodir yn Opsiwn B. Byddai hyn yn arwain 
at fethu cael lle yn eu hysgolion cynradd na chwaith yn eu hysgol 
uwchradd leol, ac nid yw hyn yn dderbyniol.

89. Roedd y grŵp eisoes wedi cynnig cyflwyno system bwyntiau yn 
seiliedig ar agosrwydd at ysgol uwchradd a pha mor hir yr oedd pobl 
wedi byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol honno, ac roeddem yn siomedig nad 
yw hyn wedi cael ei ystyried.

90. O ystyried y ddau opsiwn a gyflwynwyd, mae’r grŵp o’r farn nad yw’r 
norm a gynigir yn Opsiwn A yn mynd i’r afael â’r annhegwch y mae 
llawer o deuluoedd yn ei brofi.  Opsiwn B, er gwaethaf ei ddiffygion, 
yw’r gorau o'r ddau.  Byddai rhoi’r rheolau dalgylch a brodyr a 
chwiorydd ynghlwm â bob mawn prawf, yn ychwanegol i faen prawf 
ysgolion bwydo yn unig yn lliniaru rhywfaint ar yr annhegwch 
anfwriadol sydd yn y system fwydo.

Page 538



Page 13 of 47

91. Opsiwn arall gwell fyddai’r system bwyntiau a gynigwyd yn flaenorol.

92. Barn y grŵp yw y dylai’r Cyngor weithio gyda Llywodraeth Cymru i 
ddiweddaru’r Cod Trefniadaeth Ysgolion i alluogi defnyddio 
cymhwysedd Grant Datblygiad Disgyblion fel maen prawf ar gyfer 
derbyn i ysgolion.  

93. Roedd hefyd yn bryderus iawn nad oedd fawr trafodaeth ar y 
ddarpariaeth cyfrwng Cymraeg yn y ddinas yn yr adroddiad Sefydliad 
Ymchwil, Data a Methodoleg Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru 
(WISERD).  Er bod cyfeiriad at yr iaith Gymraeg yn yr Asesiad o’r 
Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb, mae hyn yn ymwneud ag ymrwymiadau 
statudol yn hytrach nac unrhyw asesiad pellach a gynhaliwyd gan y 
Cyngor ar effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig ar addysg Gymraeg a’r 
rhai sy’n ceisio addysg Gymraeg.

94. Mae’r grŵp ar ddeall nas ymgysylltwyd yn ffurfiol â'r Fforwm Addysg 
Gymraeg yn y broses a byddai'n siomedig iawn pe na byddai'r 
Cyngor yn defnyddio rhanddeiliad fel hyn wrth ddeall effaith y 
newidiadau arfaethedig ar sector sydd wedi profi twf sylweddol mewn 
blynyddoedd diweddar a fydd yn tyfu eto. 

Ymateb i farn Grŵp Democratiaid Rhyddfrydol y Cyngor

95. Nodir cefnogaeth y Grŵp dros y newidiadau arfaethedig i'r meini 
prawf derbyn i addysg feithrin.

96. Mae’r pryderon a fynegwyd mewn perthynas â’r cynnig i ddiddymu'r 
maen prawf yn ymwneud â chyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd yn cael eu 
trafod ym mharagraffau 34 - 41.

97. Fel y nodwyd yn yr adroddiad Cabinet ar 16 Mawrth 2017, 
Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2018/19 a Threfniadau Derbyn i 
Ysgolion Uwchradd Cydlynol 2018 – 2020, ni fyddai ychwanegu 
maen prawf ‘hyd cyfnod byw yn y dalgylch' yn cael ei gydnabod fel 
arfer gorau.  

98. Cyfeirir at hyn yng Nghod Derbyn i Ysgolion 2.63 Llywodraeth Cymru 
sy'n cyfeirio at ysgolion cynradd bwydo ac yn nodi os yw 
Awdurdodau Derbyn yn defnyddio'r maen prawf hwn, bod angen bod 
yn ofalus oherwydd gall trefniadau o'r fath roi plant sy'n symud i ardal 
yn hwyr dan anfantais, a dylid ystyried effaith trefniadau o'r fath ar 
allu ysgol i wasanaethu ei chymuned leol.  Byddai'n rhaid bod yn 
ofalus, a byddai’r un anfantais posibl, yn berthnasol i faen prawf ‘hyd 
y cyfnod byw yn y dalgylch’.

99. Dan Adran 19 Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010, ni chaniateir gwahaniaethu 
anuniongyrchol a dan Adran 85 ni chaniateir gwahaniaethu mewn 
perthynas â Derbyn i Ysgolion.  Mae’r Cyngor hefyd wedi ymrwymo i 
Ddyletswydd Cydraddoldeb y Sector Cyhoeddus ym mhob un o'i 
benderfyniadau.  Byddai maen prawf ‘hyd cyfnod byw yn y dalgylch’ 
yn enghraifft o wahaniaethu anuniongyrchol posibl, gan y byddai’r 

Page 539



Page 14 of 47

rhai dan anfantais oherwydd y maen prawf hyn yn fwy tebygol o fod o 
grwpiau cymdeithasol sy’n agored i niwed gyda nodweddion a 
ddiogelir; er enghraifft, plant sipsiwn a theithwyr, ceiswyr 
lloches/ffoaduriaid a rhai disgyblion tramor eraill.

100. Gwnaeth yr adroddiad WISERD ar Feini Prawf Derbyn a 
gomisiynwyd gan y Cyngor yn 2017, a ystyriwyd gan y Cabinet yn ei 
gyfarfod ar 16 Tachwedd 2017, nodi sylwadau o adolygiad o 
drefniadau awdurdodau lleol, gan gynnwys:

 Y trefniadau derbyn hawsaf eu deall yw'r rhai sy'n cynnwys nifer 
gymharol fychan o feini prawf

 Y trefniadau derbyn oedd fwyaf anodd eu deall oedd y rhai lle 
cyflwynir meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd ar gyfer 
pob ysgol ar wahân. 

 Mae meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd yn anos eu 
deall pan fônt yn nodi grwpiau blaenoriaeth yn hytrach na meini 
prawf i’w blaenoriaethu.

 Gellid ystyried meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd 
sydd â blaenoriaeth gyfartal yn gymhleth i ymgeiswyr wrth geisio 
deall graddfeydd y meini prawf.

101. Ni fyddai meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd yn seiliedig 
ar bwyntiau yn eglur ac yn hawdd i bob rhiant eu deall.

102. Ymgynghorwyd â’r Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg yn rhan o’r 
ymgynghoriad statudol gyda phob partner arall.  

Ymateb Jenny Rathbone AC 

103. Roedd ymateb Jenny Rathbone AC yn cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol 
(gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3):

104. Mae dalgylchoedd yn annheg ac yn achosi anawsterau ariannol 
sylweddol i deuluoedd yn Llanedern/Pentwyn oherwydd nad oes 
ysgol anghrefyddol yno mwyach.  

105. Mae angen ystyried newid dalgylchoedd i sicrhau ffrwd dderbyn 
gynhwysfawr a chytbwys ym mhob ysgol, gan ddefnyddio Grant 
Amddifadedd Disgyblion (PDG) i dargedu adnoddau i ddisgyblion 
tlotach a chynnig llwybrau cerdded/beicio diogel i bob ysgol gyda 
hyfforddiant cymhwysedd beicio a chynlluniau benthyg ar gyfer prynu 
beics o lefel gynradd ymlaen.

Ymateb i farn Jenny Rathbone AC 

106. Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod pa mor bwysig yw sicrhau bod trefniadau 
dalgylch yn eglur a bod gwybodaeth am dderbyniadau yn galluogi 
rhieni i wneud penderfyniadau effeithiol ynghylch lle y dylent 
ymgeisio am ysgol i’w plentyn/plant.  

Page 540



Page 15 of 47

107. Mae Llanedern a Pentwyn yn cael eu gwasanaethu gan ddwy ysgol 
uwchradd gymunedol, sef Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien ac Ysgol Gyfun 
Gymraeg Bro Edern. 

108. Mae trefniadau derbyn Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru 
Teilo Sant hefyd yn cynnig 80 o leoedd agored sy’n rhoi blaenoriaeth 
i blant sy’n mynd i Ysgolion Cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru nad 
yw'r teulu'n bodloni'r meini prawf derbyn am le sefydledig, ac yna i 
blant y mae eu teuluoedd yn byw yn nalgylchoedd Ysgolion Cynradd 
Bryn Celyn, Glyncoed, Llanedern a Springwood nad ydynt yn 
bodloni'r meini prawf derbyn am le sefydledig. 

109. Trafodwyd yr awgrymiad i ystyried sut y gellid helpu’r rhai mewn tlodi 
yn Adroddiad WISERD a ystyriwyd yn y cyfarfod Cabinet ar 16 
Tachwedd 2017.  

110. Fel y cytunwyd yn y cyfarfod Cabinet ar 16 Tachwedd 2017, bydd 
swyddogion yn ystyried sut gall meini prawf derbyn eraill effeithio'n 
bositif ar amrywiaeth a/neu ddisgyblion sydd dan anfantais 
gymdeithasol neu economaidd.

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Llwynbedw

111. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Llwynbedw yn 
cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn 
Atodiad 3).

112. O ran derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd, mae’r ysgol yn credu mai 
Opsiwn A yw’r cynnig mwyaf teg i ddisgyblion a rhieni.  

113. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu o’r farn bod cynnig Opsiwn B i ychwanegu 
maen prawf o ran mynychu ysgol gynradd fwydo yn annheg.  Mae 
llawer o ysgolion yng Nghaerdydd yn derbyn mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd a gall yr opsiwn arwain at blant sy’n byw’n agos iawn at ysgol 
uwchradd y maent yn dymuno ei mynychu yn methu â gwneud 
hynny, gan eu bod wedi symud i Gaerdydd ac felly heb fynychu ysgol 
gynradd leol.  

114. Gallai Opsiwn B fod yn anodd i deuluoedd gyda phlant sydd ar y 
gofrestr yr ysgol ar hyn o bryd.

Ymateb i farn Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Llwynbedw  

115. Nodir cefnogaeth y Corff Llywodraethu dros Opsiwn A o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Howardian

116. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu a Rhieni Ysgol Gynradd 
Howardian yn cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r 
ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

Page 541



Page 16 of 47

117. Mae Opsiwn B ar y cyd â’r cynnig i gynyddu capasiti Ysgol Uwchradd 
Caerdydd yn 2020 yn rhoi'r cyfle gorau i'n plant allu symud i ysgol 
uwchradd eu dalgylch gyda'u grŵp cyfoedion.

118. Mae’r ysgolion bwydo arfaethedig yn amlwg ac yn eglur ac wedi'u 
creu yn rhesymegol.

119. Byddai Opsiwn B yn helpu’r ysgol uwchradd leol i gynnal 
partneriaethau agos gyda’r ysgolion cynradd lleol.

120. Mae’r niferoedd derbyn yn yr ysgolion cynradd bron yn gyfartal â 
nifer derbyn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd a bydd estyniad arfaethedig 
Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd gan ddwy ffrwd ychwanegol yn cynnig 
digon o gapasiti ar gyfer carfan 2 ffrwd o Howardian o 2022 ymlaen. 

121. Bydd Opsiwn B yn cynnig parhad addysg i ddisgyblion ac yn galluogi 
rhan fwyaf y plant yn yr ysgolion bwydo i symud fel grŵp cyfoedion 
gyda’i gilydd i ysgol uwchradd y dalgylch lleol.  Mae hyn yn ategu ac 
yn cynnal cysylltiadau cymunedol a chymorth cyfoedion ac yn 
hyrwyddo lles disgyblion, sydd wrth galon diwygiadau Llywodraeth 
Cymru.  Mae hefyd yn cefnogi agendau cenedlaethol eraill megis 
Gyda’n Gilydd dros Blant a Phobl Ifanc a Deddf Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol.

122. Mae Opsiwn B yn rhoi mwy o sicrwydd i blant yn ein Blwyddyn 6, yn 
lleihau’r straen ychwanegol a achosir gan eu symud nhw o’u grwpiau 
cyfoedion sefydledig ac yn gwella llesiant disgyblion ac yn eu tro, eu 
canlyniadau academaidd.

123. Byddai'r prosesau pontio o CA2 i CA3 yn well a byddai 
cydweithrediad ledled y Cyfnodau Sylfaen yn fwy effeithiol.

124. Byddai meini prawf ysgolion bwydo yn sicrhau mewnbwn a sail 
disgyblion mwy amrywiol o ran ffactorau economaidd-gymdeithasol, 
y gymuned ac ethnigrwydd, yn hytrach na bod pellter oddi wrth 
faestref gyfoethog yn ffactor mwy sylweddol.

125. Mae Opsiwn B yn creu mwy o gyfleoedd o ran opsiynau trafnidiaeth 
gynaliadwy.

Ymateb i farn Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Howardian

126. Nodir cefnogaeth y Corff Llywodraethu dros Opsiwn B o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

127. Cydnabyddir bod Niferoedd Derbyn Cyhoeddedig agregedig Ysgolion 
Cynradd Lakeside, Marlborough, Rhydypennau a Pharc y Rhath bron 
yn gyfartal â Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd 
ac y byddai estyniad arfaethedig Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn 
cynnig digon o gapasiti ar gyfer dau ddosbarth mynediad 
ychwanegol. Fodd bynnag, fel y nodir ym mharagraffau 65-65, nid 
oes llawer o gysondeb rhwng niferoedd derbyn agregedig ysgolion 

Page 542



Page 17 of 47

cynradd cymunedol ledled Caerdydd a’r ysgolion uwchradd sy’n 
gwasanaethu eu dalgylchoedd. 

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough

128. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough yn 
cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn 
Atodiad 3).

129. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu yn dal i boeni bod y meini prawf pan fo 
mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd yn annheg i deuluoedd sy’n byw yn 
nalgylch Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough oherwydd eu pellter daearyddol 
i’r ysgol uwchradd (Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd) o’i chymharu â thair 
ysgol gynradd bartner arall sy’n agosach.

130. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu’n cynnig y dylai hyd y cyfnod y bu’r teulu yn 
byw yn y dalgylch fod yn fwy o flaenoriaeth nag agosrwydd y cartref 
at yr ysgol uwchradd (neu faen prawf arall sy'n gwaredu'r annhegwch 
o agosrwydd).

131. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu yn unfryd o blaid Opsiwn B o ran derbyn i 
ysgolion uwchradd, sy’n cynnig opsiwn llawer tecach i'r gymuned ac 
yn helpu i ddiddymu'r meini prawf annheg pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd ar hyn o bryd, sy’n defnyddio’r pellter daearyddol at ysgol 
uwchradd y dalgylch.

132. Bydd Opsiwn B yn galluogi grwpiau ffrindiau yn yr ysgol gynradd i 
aros gyda'i gilydd wrth bontio i'r ysgol uwchradd ac yn helpu wrth 
leihau lefel y straen a phryder sy'n bodoli ar hyn o bryd.

Ymateb i farn Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough

133. Nodir cefnogaeth y Corff Llywodraethu dros Opsiwn B o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd. 

134. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch agosrwydd/hyd cyfnod ym 
mharagraffau 97 - 99.

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath 

135. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath yn 
cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn 
Atodiad 3).

136. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu yn unfryd o blaid dewis Derbyniadau i 
Ysgolion Uwchradd:  Opsiwn B. Dyma yw’r opsiwn gorau a fydd yn 
sicrhau bod gan rieni plant yr ysgol y cyfle gorau o gael lle i’w plant 
yn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd os yw’r teulu’n byw yn nalgylch Ysgol 
Gynradd Parc y Rhath.

137. Ystyrir bod pontio i’r ysgol uwchradd yn hanfodol bwysig i les plant 
felly mae’n bwysig bod plant yn pontio gyda’u carfan/cyfoedion.

Page 543



Page 18 of 47

138. Mae’n hanfodol bwysig amddiffyn yr amrywiaeth y mae Ysgol 
Gynradd Parc y Rhath yn ei chyflwyno i Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd.

139. Dylai bod dyletswydd ar bob ysgol uwchradd eglwysig a sefydledig i 
roi gwybod i rieni bob plentyn Blwyddyn 7 yn y dyfodol ar yr un 
diwrnod ag y mae'r awdurdod lleol yn rhyddhau'r derbyniadau i blant 
a fydd yn mynychu ysgolion uwchradd cymunedol.

140. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu’n poeni y bydd plant sy’n dewis addysg 
Gymraeg neu addysg breifat i’w plant ar lefel ysgol gynradd yn cael 
lle yn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd pan fyddant eisiau i'w plant newid i'r 
system Saesneg neu'r system wladol.  Ni ddylid caniatáu hyn ar draul 
plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath ac sy’n mynd 
i’w hysgol ddalgylch leol.

141. Mae angen i'r Cyngor fod yn strategol ac yn rhagweithiol iawn wrth 
gyhoeddi cynlluniau posibl ar gyfer addysg uwchradd ledled y ddinas 
cyn gynted â phosibl - a fydd ysgol uwchradd newydd ym 
Mhontprennau? Pa ysgol uwchradd y bydd disgwyl i ddisgyblion 
Ysgol Gynradd Howardian ei mynychu mewn pedair blynedd?

Ymateb i farn Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath 

142. Nodir cefnogaeth y Corff Llywodraethu dros Opsiwn B o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

143. Fel y nodir ym mharagraff 2.23 Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth 
Cymru, er mwyn sicrhau cysondeb rhwng awdurdodau derbyn ac 
osgoi dryswch i rieni, mae'n rhaid bod dyddiadau cyffredin gan bob 
awdurdod derbyn mewn unrhyw ardal ALl ar gyfer dychwelyd 
ceisiadau cynradd ac uwchradd ar gyfer y flwyddyn fynediad arferol. 
Gellid cytuno ar ddyddiadau cyffredin gwahanol ar gyfer ceisiadau 
cynradd ac uwchradd.  

144. Mae dyddiad cyffredin yr holl ysgolion uwchradd, gan gynnwys 
ysgolion uwchradd eglwysig a sefydledig wedi bod ar waith ers 
2015/16, yn unol â gofynion y Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion.

145. Ni chaiff y Cyngor atal rhieni disgyblion sydd wedi cofrestru mewn 
ysgolion cynradd Cymraeg neu addysg breifat rhag nodi ysgol 
gyfrwng Saesneg fel dewis nac ychwaith atal unrhyw ddisgyblion sy'n 
gymwys, yn ôl eu dyddiad geni, rhag eu derbyn.

146. Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien sy’n gwasanaethu Pontprennau. Cafodd 
pob disgybl sy’n byw ym Mhontprennau a geisiodd am le yn Ysgol 
Uwchradd Llanisien yn y broses dderbyn ar gyfer mis Medi 2018 le 
yn yr ysgol.

147. Roedd Cynllun Seilwaith Addysg y Cyngor wedi’i gynnwys yn y 
Cynllun Datblygu Lleol Adnau (CDLl) yn 2013. Mae’r Cynllun 
Seilwaith yn amlygu cynigion buddsoddi / datblygu ac yn nodi 

Page 544



Page 19 of 47

gofynion seilwaith i’r dyfodol yn seiliedig ar lefel y twf a ragfynegir 
yng Nghaerdydd, gan gynnwys darpariaeth ysgol uwchradd 
ychwanegol i wasanaethu datblygiadau tai arfaethedig yng ngogledd 
ddwyrain Caerdydd. Mae amserlenni’r cynigion hyn yn dibynnu ar 
amserau’r datblygiadau tai sy’n cael eu cyflwyno.

148. Mae Ysgol Gynradd Howardian yn nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd 
Caerdydd. Rhestrir trefniadau ysgolion bwydo pob ysgol gynradd ac 
uwchradd cymunedol ar gyfer derbyn i’r ysgol yn 2019/2020 ym 
Mholisi Derbyn i Ysgolion drafft 2019/2020 . Yn unol â gofynion Cod 
Derbyn i Ysgolion LlC, ni chaiff y Cyngor ymgynghori ar drefniadau a 
fyddai'n weithredol yn 2022/2023. Ni chaniateir ymgynghori ar 
drefniadau ar gyfer y flwyddyn ysgol 2022/2023 ond rhwng 1 Medi 
2020 a 1 Mawrth 2021.

149. Cadarnhaodd y Cyngor ei raglen fuddsoddi Band B Ysgolion yr 21ain 
Ganrif ym mis Rhagfyr 2017. Bydd angen ystyried yr adolygu 
dalgylchoedd a sefydlu dalgylchoedd newydd, er mwyn cynnig gwell 
cysondeb o ran maint dalgylchoedd a phoblogaeth yn yr ysgol. 
Byddai unrhyw newidiadau arfaethedig o’r fath yn cael eu hategu gan 
newidiadau i ddarpariaeth gynradd a/neu uwchradd a ddaw yn sgil 
rhaglen Band B Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif Llywodraeth Cymru.                                              

Ymateb Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Sant Monica

150. Roedd ymateb gan Bennaeth Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru 
Sant Monica yn cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (mae copi o’r ymateb 
llawn yn Atodiad 3).

151. Ydych chi’n cefnogi’r trefniadau derbyn meithrin 2019/2020 a gynigir? 
- Ydw 

152. Ydych chi’n cefnogi’r trefniadau derbyn cynradd 2019/2020 a gynigir? 
- Ydw.  

153. Ar y cyfan, mae hyn yn ymddangos yn symlach ac mae’n debyg mai 
agosrwydd yw’r system decaf.   Dylai cadw brodyr a chwiorydd gyda’i 
gilydd yn y cyfnod cynradd fod yn flaenoriaeth o hyd - mae diddymu'r 
maen prawf 'cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd' i’w weld yn annheg os yw'r 
Cyngor yn gwneud newidiadau i'r dalgylch tra mae’r teulu yn 
mynychu'r ysgol. 

154. Ydych chi’n cefnogi’r trefniadau derbyn uwchradd 2019/2020 a 
gynigir? - Nac ydw

155. Os ydych chi’n cefnogi’r trefniadau a gynigir, pa opsiynau uwchradd 
sydd orau gennych chi – Opsiwn A

156. Byddai cyflwyno system ysgol fwydo yn rhoi plant o ysgolion cynradd 
yr Eglwys yng Nghymru dan anfantais sylweddol.  Nid oes digon o 
leoedd ysgol uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru i ateb y galw.  
Byddai plant sydd o gefndir lleiafrifoedd ethnig (yn benodol y rhai y 

Page 545



Page 20 of 47

mae gan eu rhieni sgiliau Saesneg a/neu sgiliau llythrennedd gwael) 
dan anfantais yn sylweddol gan eu bod yn llai tebygol o allu fforddio 
teithio i ac o ysgol uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru.  Mae llawer o 
rieni’n dewis ysgolion eglwysig gan fod addysg yn seiliedig ar ffydd 
yn cael ei hystyried yn elfen hanfodol o unrhyw addysg gyflawn; nid 
yw'r dewis hwn ar gael i lawer.  I ble byddai plant mewn ysgolion 
cynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru yn mynd?  Mae system ysgol 
fwydo'n creu hollt yn fwy fyth o ran argraff rhieni, a bydd yn rhannu 
ysgolion ymhellach i ysgolion ‘gyda’ ac ysgolion sydd ‘heb’. Mae hyn 
yn cyfyngu ar y dewis o ysgolion i bawb.

157. Mae’n ymddangos mai lleoedd ysgol yn seiliedig ar agosrwydd yw’r 
ffordd decaf.  Ni ddylid ystyried am ba hyd y mae disgybl wedi bod yn 
byw mewn cyfeiriad.  Mae rhai o’n dysgwyr sydd fwyaf agored i 
niwed wedi byw mewn cyfeiriadau gwahanol ac wedi bod mewn sawl 
ysgol wahanol.  Ni ddylent fod dan anfantais o ganlyniad i hyn, maent 
wedi gorfod symud yn aml oherwydd cost uchel llety rhent ac maent 
eisoes yn agored i dangyflawni oherwydd amddifadedd.

Ymateb i farn Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Sant Monica

158. Nodir cefnogaeth y Pennaeth ar gyfer y newidiadau arfaethedig i feini 
prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd yn addysg feithrin a 
chynradd.

159. Nodir cefnogaeth y Pennaeth dros Opsiwn A o ran derbyniadau i 
addysg uwchradd.

160. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch cynnwys maen prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ ar 
gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd ym mharagraffau 68 – 71.

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Hamadryad

161. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Hamadryad yn cynnwys y 
pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

162. Er bod yr adroddiad WISERD yn trafod yr heriau a wynebir gan y 
sector cyfrwng Saesneg ac ysgolion cyfun cyfrwng Saesneg yn 
benodol, mae'n amlwg nad oes unrhyw drafodaeth am addysg 
gyfrwng Cymraeg.  Mae’n debyg y bydd newid y polisi derbyn ac yn 
benodol y rheol brodyr a chwiorydd yn cael effaith sylweddol ar 
ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg gan fod nifer o ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg 
eisoes yn llawn, ac mae ysgolion cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg 
ymhellach oddi wrth ei gilydd nag ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg cyffelyb.

163. Nid oes gan Ysgol Hamadryad ddalgylch ar hyn o bryd a phe 
byddai’r newid arfaethedig yn cael ei gyflwyno byddai nifer o rieni 
gyda mwy nac un plentyn yn gorfod dyfalu ym mha ddalgylch 
byddai'r cyfeiriad yn y dyfodol er mwyn ceisio sicrhau y byddai eu 
plant yn mynd i'r un ysgol.

Page 546



Page 21 of 47

164. Mae’r Corff Llywodraethu’n credu'n gryf na ddylid diddymu'r rheol 
brodyr a chwiorydd oherwydd yr effaith benodol a gâi ar addysg 
gyfwng Cymraeg.  Os nad yw hynny’n bosibl, dylid sicrhau bod rhieni 
yn Grangetown a Butetown yn cael eu trin yn deg os ydynt yn 
penderfynu anfon eu plant i Ysgol Hamadryad (neu Ysgol Pwll Coch 
neu Ysgol Mynydd Bychan).

Ymateb i farn Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Hamadryad 

165. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch yr heriau sy’n wynebu addysg gyfrwng 
Cymraeg a chyfrwng Saesneg ym mharagraff 52.

166. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch diddymu’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a 
chwiorydd’ ym mharagraffau 34 – 41.

Ymateb Pennaeth Ysgol Pencae 

167. Roedd ymateb gan Bennaeth Ysgol Pencae'n cynnwys y pwyntiau 
canlynol (mae copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

168. O ystyried y ffaith bod y Sir eisoes wedi newid dalgylch Ysgol 
Pencae i fwydo Ysgol Glantaf yn lle Ysgol Plasmawr (Medi 2017), 
roedd amod yn y trefniadau Derbyn a oedd yn gwarantu y byddai 
brodyr a chwiorydd iau yn Ysgol Pencae yn cael mynd i Ysgol 
Plasmawr er mwyn mynd i’r un ysgol â’u teulu, yn hytrach nag Ysgol 
Glantaf. 

169. Mae’r addewid hwn yn cael ei dorri yn y trefniadau newydd ac felly 
rydw i, fel Pennaeth, yn erbyn rhan hon yr ymgynghoriad. Nid yw hyn 
yn deg gan y rhoddir pwyslais ar yr addewid hwn yn ystod y cyfnod o 
newid. Bydd hyn yn achosi llawer o broblemau i deuluoedd, ac yn 
fwy na hynny, yn gwneud i’r Sir edrych yn ddrwg iawn am newid 
trefniadau unwaith eto!

Ymateb i farn Pennaeth Ysgol Pencae 

170. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch diddymu’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a 
chwiorydd’ ym mharagraffau 34 – 41.

Ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch

171. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch yn 
cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r ymateb llawn yn 
Atodiad 3).

172. Mae Ysgol Pwll Coch wedi profi newidiadau dalgylchoedd yn 
ddiweddar yn dilyn agor Ysgol Treganna newydd, ac mae mwy o 
newidiadau yn debygol yn y dyfodol agos wrth lunio dalgylch Ysgol 
Hamadryad.  Felly, mae’r ysgol a’r gymuned y mae’n ei gwasanaethu 
wedi hen arfer â’r materion sy’n deillio o dderbyniadau a’u heffaith ar 
blant a theuluoedd.

Page 547



Page 22 of 47

173. Mae Ysgol Pwll Coch yn falch o weld yr ymchwil a wnaeth yr Athro 
Chris Taylor ar feini prawf derbyn ac mae o blaid cynllunio’n seiliedig 
ar ymchwil.

174. Mae’r ysgol yn poeni bod yr ymchwil wedi canolbwyntio ar un sector 
yn unig (ysgolion uwchradd cyfrwng Saesneg) sydd felly’n sail i’r 
newidiadau arfaethedig ym mhob sector.

175. Mae’r ymchwil yn ymdrin ag addysg Gymraeg mewn modd 
arwynebol iawn, heb unrhyw drafodaeth ar y berthynas rhwng y 
meini prawf derbyn, y dalgylchoedd a’r nod o gynyddu’r niferoedd 
sy’n derbyn addysg Gymraeg, ac mae’n gwneud awgrymiadau 
uchelgeisiol megis annog Llywodraeth Cymru i ystyried newid ei 
pholisïau mewn sawl ffordd, gan gynnwys ystyried bandio a newid 
natur yr ysgolion eu hunain.  

176. Mae gan y Cyngor ei Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg ei hun ac mae'n 
anffodus nad yw'r adroddiad na'r broses cyn yr ymgynghoriad wedi 
gweithio gyda'r corff hwn.

177. Mae Ysgol Pwll Coch yn croesawu’r ystyriaeth a roddir i ddisgyblion 
sy’n gymwys i dderbyn prydau ysgol am ddim, disgyblion ag 
anghenion dysgu ychwanegol, disgyblion o leiafrifoedd ethnig a 
disgyblion nad yw'r Gymraeg na'r Saesneg yn brif iaith eu cartref, 
ond rydym yn siomedig am y diffyg trafodaeth ar y cyd-destun 
cyfrwng Cymraeg.

178. Mae’r adroddiad yn dweud bod hollt mawr yn yr ysgolion uwchradd 
cyfrwng Cymraeg, yn benodol mewn perthynas â’r nifer isel o 
ddisgyblion du a lleiafrifoedd ethnig ar y gofrestr a’r nifer is o blant 
sy’n gymwys ar gyfer prydau ysgol am ddim ynddynt.  Mae hollt 
mawr yn yr ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg ond dim ond mewn perthynas 
ag ysgolion uwchradd cyfrwng Saesneg.  Mae'r hollt yn llawer llai 
sylweddol wrth ystyried yr ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn cael eu 
hystyried mewn perthynas â'i gilydd ac â’u hysgolion cynradd.  Mae’r 
hollt a welir yn ysgolion uwchradd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ganlyniad 
demograffig o’r sector cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg yng Nghaerdydd yn 
hytrach na’r ffordd y caiff derbyniadau eu gweinyddu, fodd bynnag, 
nid yw’r adroddiad yn ystyried y cyfrwng cynradd Cymraeg na’r ffyrdd 
y gellid lleihau unrhyw hollt cymdeithasol.  Byddai Ysgol Pwll Coch 
yn falch o weld ymchwil a fyddai’n cynorthwyo i liniaru’r hollt hwn 
mewn ysgolion cynradd cyfrwng Cymraeg.

179. Mae’r adroddiad yn adolygu trefniadau derbyn mewn pymtheng 
awdurdod lleol arall, mae dau o’r rhain yng Nghymru, ond nid yw’n 
trafod yn fanwl pam na sut mae ALlau yn Lloegr yn debyg i 
Gaerdydd, o ystyried y ffaith amlwg nad oes unrhyw addysg gyfrwng 
Cymraeg yn Lloegr.  Ni thrafodir y ffordd y mae Casnewydd ac 
Abertawe’n ymdrin ag addysg gyfrwng Cymraeg o gwbl.

180. Nid yw’r adroddiad yn ystyried maint y dalgylchoedd cyfrwng 
Cymraeg sydd fel arfer yn llawer mwy na dalgylchoedd cyfrwng 

Page 548



Page 23 of 47

Saesneg.  Nid oes unrhyw dystiolaeth bod y Corff Llywodraethu'n 
ymwybodol o'r ffaith bod dalgylchoedd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn effeithio 
ar brisiau tai.  

181. Mae dalgylchoedd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn profi mwy o newidiadau 
rheolaidd na dalgylchoedd addysg gyfrwng Saesneg, ac mae angen 
ystyried yn ofalus yr effaith ar deuluoedd a phlant sydd eisoes mewn 
ysgol benodol; roedd Ysgol Pwll Coch yn cytuno’n gryf â’r pwyntiau 
pwysig a wnaed ar yr effeithiau negyddol a ddaw o ganlyniad i roi 
brodyr a chwiorydd mewn ysgolion gwahanol.  Mae’r materion hyn yn 
waeth yn gyffredinol i blant oedran cynradd a byddai’n anos fyth i’r 
rhai sy’n dewis addysg Gymraeg gan fod dalgylchoedd cyfrwng 
Cymraeg yn gyffredinol yn llawer mwy.

182. Mae Ysgol Pwll Coch o’r farn nad oes achos ar hyn o bryd dros 
newid y maen prawf cyfeirio brodyr a chwiorydd; yr ateb amlwg yw 
symleiddio'r meini prawf dan ystyriaeth.

183. Mae’r awgrymiad bod y Cyngor yn ei gwneud hi’n glir nad yw byw 
mewn dalgylch penodol yn gwarantu lle i blentyn yn hollol rhesymol.

184. Ni all Ysgol Pwll Coch fod yn hyderus bod y cynigion presennol yn 
seiliedig ar ddealltwriaeth drylwyr o’u goblygiadau ar addysg 
Gymraeg ac mewn rhai achosion byddent yn effeithio’n negyddol 
arni.

185. Nid yw Ysgol Pwll Coch felly’n cefnogi’r cynigion ymgynghori a hoffai 
weld ymchwil perthnasol yn cael ei wneud, sy’n ystyried addysg 
Gymraeg cyn newid y system gyfredol.

Ymateb i farn Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch.

186. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch ystyried addysg Gymraeg a’r 
ymgysylltiad â’r Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg ym mharagraff 52 a 
pharagraff 102.

187. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch gwaredu’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a 
chwiorydd’ ym mharagraffau 34 – 41.

Ymateb Ysgol Uwchradd (Sefydledig) yr Eglwys Newydd 

188. Roedd ymateb Corff Llywodraethu Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys 
Newydd  yn cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (gallwch weld copi o’r 
ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

189. Er bod yr Adroddiad Meini Prawf Derbyn (WISERD) yn cynnig llawer 
o awgrymiadau ar gyfer gwneud meini prawf presennol yn haws eu 
deall ac yn llai cymhleth a pharhau i fodloni'r gofynion statudol 
angenrheidiol, nid yw'r awdurdod wedi cymryd cyfle i fireinio'r meini 
prawf i'w gwneud nhw'n haws eu deall a thrwy hynny’n fwy teg a 
hygyrch.

Page 549



Page 24 of 47

190. Nid yw’n glir pam mae Caerdydd yn dal i ddefnyddio ‘sail feddygol 
neu gymdeithasol gryf’ fel maen prawf ac nid yw’r llywodraethwyr o 
blaid parhau i ddefnyddio'r maen prawf hwn.

191. Mae’r llywodraethwyr yn cefnogi ail-gyflwyno ‘mynychu ysgol fwydo’ 
fel maen prawf, y mae Ysgol Uwchradd (Sefydledig) yr Eglwys 
Newydd yn ei ddefnyddio erioed, gan gydnabod ei fod yn helpu i 
gynnig parhad yn y gymuned leol, yn benodol i ddisgyblion a 
theuluoedd sy'n fwy agored i niwed.  Yn rhan o’r trefniadau pontio, 
mae hefyd yn cynnig parhad cwricwlaidd drwy brofiadau cwricwlaidd 
a rennir.

192. Er bod ychydig o bryder y byddai’r maen prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ yn rhoi 
teuluoedd sy’n symud i mewn i’r ardal dan anfantais, mae'n debyg y 
byddai’r holl leoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd sydd â mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd wedi’u dyrannu cyn unrhyw symud.  Rydym 
hefyd yn gwybod bod rhai teuluoedd yn symud o’r ardal ar ôl iddynt 
gael lle yn yr ysgol, felly mewn ardaloedd â mwy o symudedd mae’n 
bosibl y deuai lleoedd ar gael i deuluoedd sy'n symud i mewn i'r 
ardal.

193. Nid yw’n glir pam mae Cynlluniau Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir yn 
cael eu hystyried yn faen prawf ar gyfer ysgolion uwchradd.  Bydd 
plant ifanc fel arfer yn cael eu hasesu yn ystod y flwyddyn feithrin 
neu'n gynnar yn y cyfnod cynradd ac os yw'n briodol yn derbyn 
Datganiad o Angen Addysgol Arbennig.  Nid yw’r llywodraethwyr yn 
cefnogi’r maen prawf hwn.

Ymateb i farn Ysgol Uwchradd (Sefydledig) yr Eglwys Newydd 

194. Nid yw’r mwyafrif y blaenoriaethau a gyflwynir gan rieni ar sail 
feddygol neu gymdeithasol yn bodloni’r maen prawf cyhoeddedig 
sy’n gofyn am dystiolaeth benodol. Mae gweithredu’r maen prawf 
hwn dros nifer o flynyddoedd yn awgrymu nad yw rhieni’n deall yn 
llwyr beth yw ‘sail feddygol neu gymdeithasol gryf’, ac yn aml mae’n 
anodd ei mesur yn wrthrychol. Mae modd ystyried asesiad gan 
ymarferydd meddygol unigol neu weithiwr cymdeithasol sy’n argymell 
mynd i ysgol benodol yn oddrychol a heb unrhyw gyd-destun 
ehangach, oherwydd mae’n bosibl ateb anghenion disgyblion heb 
ddatganiad o angen addysgol meddygol neu anghenion addysgol 
arbennig mewn unrhyw ysgol prif lif.  

195. Ni fodlonir y maen prawf hwn ond pan fo amgylchiadau teilwng 
penodol y bu gofyn am lefel o gefnogaeth gan feddyg ymgynghorol 
ar eu cyfer, neu pan fo’r plentyn yn derbyn cymorth gan y 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol ond heb ei ystyried yn Blentyn sy'n 
Derbyn Gofal, a phan fo’r cyngor a ddarperir gan y gweithwyr 
proffesiynol hyn yn nodi mai dim ond yn yr ysgol ddewis y gellid ateb 
anghenion o'r fath. Mae amgylchiadau o’r fath yn cynnwys, ond heb 
fod yn gyfyngedig i: plant â materion iechyd meddwl; plant sy’n profi 
trawma corfforol neu emosiynol neu drais domestig, a’r plant a ystyrir 
yn agored i niwed yng nghyd-destun materion teulu.

Page 550



Page 25 of 47

196. Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod er bod cynnwys y maen prawf hwn o 
bosibl yn agored i ddehongliad, mae'r maen prawf yn galluogi 
ystyriaeth berthnasol i amgylchiadau plant sydd ymhlith y mwyaf 
agored i niwed yng Nghaerdydd. Ystyrir cynnwys canllaw 
ychwanegol yn y llyfryn Derbyn i Ysgolion (Gwybodaeth i Rieni) er 
mwyn ceisio osgoi camddealltwriaeth.

197. Nodir cefnogaeth y Corff Llywodraethu dros Opsiwn B o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

198. Mae cynnwys y maen prawf Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir 
yn y meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd yn galluogi ystyried blaenoriaethu 
derbyn dysgwyr y byddai eu hanghenion gofal iechyd yn cael eu 
bodloni'n fwyaf priodol mewn ysgol uwchradd benodol. Ni fyddai 
angen Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig ar ddysgwyr heb 
anghenion dysgu dwys.

Ymateb Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 

199. Roedd ymateb gan Bennaeth Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr yn  
cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (mae copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 
3).

200. Mae Llywodraethwyr Ysgol Plasmawr yn falch o weld ‘Ysgolion 
Bwydo’ yn cael eu hystyried mewn perthynas â meini prawf derbyn i 
addysg uwchradd.  Fodd bynnag, credir na roddwyd digon o sylw yn 
y ddogfen ymgynghori i'r sefyllfa unigryw sy'n wynebu addysg 
Gymraeg pan sefydlir ysgolion newydd heb ddalgylch penodol am 
gyfnodau hir neu pan addasir ysgolion.

201. Teimlir y dylai’r ddogfen roi ystyriaeth ar wahân i ysgolion newydd 
drwy gynnwys 'brawd/chwaer' er mwyn cefnogi teuluoedd sy'n 
awyddus i gefnogi ysgolion newydd ond sydd hefyd am i'w plant 
fynychu'r un ysgol, yn enwedig yn y sector cynradd.

Ymateb i farn Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 

202. Nodir cefnogaeth y Corff Llywodraethu dros Opsiwn B o ran 
derbyniadau i addysg uwchradd.

203. Trafodir y farn a fynegwyd ynghylch cynnwys maen prawf yn benodol 
i ysgolion sydd newydd eu sefydlu ym mharagraffau 34 - 41.

Ymateb Cyfreithwyr Albany 

204. Roedd ymateb gan Gyfreithwyr Albany yn cynnwys y pwyntiau 
canlynol (mae copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

205. Mae ail-gynnwys y system fwydo yng Nghaerdydd yn gwahaniaethu 
yn weithredol yn erbyn rhannau o’r gymuned sy’n fwy mudol ac sydd 

Page 551



Page 26 of 47

felly'n llai tebygol o fod ar gofrestr yr ysgol trwy gydol y cyfnod 
cynradd neu’r rhai sy’n symud i'r dalgylch yn hwyrach yn y cyfnod 
cynradd.  Gall hyn gynnwys cymunedau pobl dduon a lleiafrifoedd 
ethnig, plant ceiswyr lloches a ffoaduriaid a’r gymuned deithiol.  

206. Mae’r system arfaethedig yn gwahaniaethu yn erbyn teuluoedd sy’n 
agored i niwed ar incwm isel nad ydynt yn cynnal llety parhaol a sicr 
ac felly mae'n ymddangos fel ei fod yn ffafrio rhieni mwy cefnog sy'n 
gallu symud i gartref parhaol mewn dalgylch "deniadol" pan fo eu 
plant mewn oedran cyn cynradd. 

207. Mae’r system fwydo yn amlwg yn rhoi cymunedau pobl dduon a 
lleiafrifoedd ethnig, plant ceiswyr lloches a ffoaduriaid a’r gymuned 
deithiol dan anfantais sylweddol wrth geisio cael lle mewn ysgol. 

208. Mae’n ymddangos yn afresymegol ceisio cynnwys system ysgol 
fwydo nawr, heb roi unrhyw ystyriaeth fanwl bellach i oblygiadau 
maint a lleoliadau ffiniau'r dalgylch. 

209. Byddai’n afresymol gweithredu polisi sy’n ymddangos yn fanteisiol i 
ran fechan o ardal yr Awdurdod Lleol, ac yn rhoi grwpiau eraill, yn 
benodol y rhai o gefndir economaidd-gymdeithasol llai ffodus ledled 
yr Awdurdod Lleol, dan anfantais sylweddol.      

Ymateb i farn Cyfreithwyr Albany

210. Nodir barn Cyfreithwyr Albany.

211. Nododd dogfen ymgynghori Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019-2020 
y gallai gweithredu Opsiwn B Uwchradd ddwyn effaith negyddol ar rai 
o gymunedau Caerdydd. 

212. Byddai cynnwys maen prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd o 
ran ysgolion uwchradd mewn perthynas ag 'ysgol fwydo' yn fanteisiol 
i'r teuluoedd sy'n gallu sicrhau lle ysgol fwydo yn ysgol gynradd eu 
dalgylch yn gynnar mewn ardaloedd gydag ysgolion cynradd 
poblogaidd / llawn.  

213. Dangosodd dadansoddiad yn cymharu disgyblion ar y gofrestr mewn 
ysgolion cynradd ym Mlwyddyn Derbyn mis Ionawr 2011 â data ar 
gyfer yr un garfan o ddisgyblion ym Mlwyddyn 6 ym mis Ionawr 2017 
hefyd y gallai  cyflwyno maen prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ arwain at effaith 
andwyol. 

 Mae’n bosibl y bydd oddeutu 1 o bob 7 disgybl sy’n byw yn ei 
dalgylch lleol dan anfantais wrth drosglwyddo i'r ysgol uwchradd pe 
cyflwynid maen prawf bwydo gan ei fod wedi symud i’r dalgylch yn 
hwyrach ymlaen yn y cyfnod cynradd.

 Mae’n bosibl y byddai disgyblion Du / Affricanaidd / Caribïaidd / Du 
Prydeinig, teuluoedd Teithwyr (er bod maint y sampl yn fychan) a 
grwpiau ethnig eraill dan anfantais gan eu bod nhw’n llai tebygol o 

Page 552



Page 27 of 47

fod ar y gofrestr mewn ysgol gynradd o’r Flwyddyn Derbyn tan 
Flwyddyn 6.

214. Mae’r rhesymau dros symud i’r dalgylch yn ystod y cyfnod cynradd 
yn amrywiol, gallai’r rhain gynnwys symud o du allan i’r ddinas, 
symud yn fewnol o un rhan o Gaerdydd i ran arall mewn perthynas â 
fforddiadwyedd neu eiddo priodol ac ati.  

215. Mae’r dadansoddiad a gynhaliwyd yn nodi bod disgyblion sy’n derbyn 
Prydau Ysgol am Ddim bron deirgwaith (29.1%) yn fwy tebygol o 
drosglwyddo o’r ysgol ddalgylch yn y cyfnod addysg gynradd gan 
na’r rhai sy’n derbyn prydau ysgol am ddim (10.8%), ac felly byddant 
yn llai tebygol o fodloni gofynion maen prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’.

Prydau Ysgol Am Ddim (PYDd)
Dosbarth 
Derbyn o 

fis Medi 
2010

Bl6 o fis 
Medi 2016

% sy’n dal 
yno

Yn derbyn PYDd 330 234 70.9%
Ddim yn derbyn PYDd 1389 1239 89.2%

Cyfanswm 1719 1473 85.7%

216. Byddai defnyddio maen prawf ysgol fwydo gyda phob disgybl yn 
gwahaniaethu yn erbyn poblogaethau sy'n fwy symudol. Os yw grŵp 
penodol yn dangos graddfa symudedd uwch yn cael ei orgynrychioli 
mewn modd anghyfrannol, gellir ystyried bod y grŵp hwn dan 
anfantais (gwahaniaethu anuniongyrchol).

217. Er mwyn osgoi effaith wahaniaethol ar sail y cyfnod amser y mae 
disgyblion wedi byw yn y dalgylch a/neu a lwyddont i gael lle mewn 
ysgol fwydo oherwydd eu bod yn byw yn yr ardal pan ymgeisiont, 
gallai'r Cyngor weithredu’r meini prawf derbyn a nodir yn Opsiwn A, 
nad yw’n dibynnu ar faen prawf bwydo (mae’r ddau opsiwn yn 
defnyddio agosrwydd). 

218. Byddai swyddogion yn gweithio gydag unrhyw grŵp cymunedol i 
sicrhau bod y cynigion yn osgoi effeithio’n negyddol arno lle bo’n 
bosibl. 

Ymateb gan Grŵp Gweithredu dros Blant Marlborough

219. Roedd ymateb Grŵp Gweithredu dros Blant Marlborough yn cynnwys 
y pwyntiau canlynol (mae copi o’r ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

220. Er bod Opsiwn A yn diddymu rhai meini prawf, dim ond 7 ymgeisydd 
o 8618 gafodd le dan y meini prawf hyn yn 2017; mae Opsiwn A yn 
fersiwn wedi ei diwygio, ychydig yn wahanol o'r meini prawf 
presennol.  Felly mae’n amlwg nad yw Opsiwn A yn addas nac yn 
ddeniadol.

Page 553



Page 28 of 47

221. Bydd y pwysau cynyddol ar leoedd ysgol uwchradd yng Nghaerdydd 
dros yr ychydig flynyddoedd nesaf yn cyfyngu ymhellach ar yr 
opsiynau i'r disgyblion nad ydynt yn gallu cael lle yn ysgol uwchradd 
eu dalgylch gyda'u cyfoedion os nad oes maen prawf ysgol fwydo 
pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd.

222. Mae maen prawf yn ymwneud â mynychu ysgol gynradd fwydo yn 
glir ac yn hawdd ei ddeall.

223. Mae’r ysgolion bwydo a gynigir yn glir ac yn amlwg ac wedi’u creu ar 
sail resymol; maent yn cynnwys ysgolion cynradd yn nalgylch yr 
ysgol uwchradd, felly byddai Opsiwn B yn helpu i gynnal perthnasau 
agos rhwng ysgolion cynradd lleol a'u hysgol uwchradd partner.

224. Mae nifer derbyn yr ysgolion cynradd (Marlborough, Parc y Rhath, 
Lakeside, Rhydypennau a Howardian) bron yn gyfartal â nifer derbyn 
presennol Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd.

225. Mae ysgolion bwydo yn cynnig y fantais o barhad mewn addysg i 
ddisgyblion ac yn galluogi'r rhan fwyaf o blant mewn ysgolion bwydo i 
symud fel grŵp cyfoedion cyfan i ysgol uwchradd eu dalgylch lleol.  
Mae hyn yn atgyfnerthu a chynnal cysylltiadau cymunedol a 
chymorth cyfoedion.

226. Mae ysgolion bwydo yn lleihau trafferthion pontio ac yn annog 
cydweithrediad cryf rhwng y sectorau cynradd ac uwchradd.

227. Nid oes Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb ar gyfer Opsiwn A a 
gynigir felly nid yw’n bosibl cymharu’r effaith a gaiff y meini prawf 
agosrwydd presennol ar grwpiau ethnig gwahanol.

228. Mae Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn un o ardaloedd mwyaf cefnog a 
drud Caerdydd.  Mae’r meini prawf presennol ac Opsiwn A yn 
fanteisiol i’r rhai sy’n byw yn yr ardaloedd mwyaf cefnog yn agosach 
at yr ysgol ac yn anfanteisiol i’r rhai o ran fwy amrywiol a thlotach y 
dalgylch.  Byddai maen prawf ysgol fwydo yn sicrhau derbyn 
poblogaeth ddisgyblion amrywiol o ran ffactorau economaidd-
gymdeithasol, y gymuned ac ethnigrwydd.

229. Ni fyddai ysgolion bwydo’n cael effaith sylweddol ar ddisgyblion 
ysgolion Cymraeg a ffydd sy’n dal i fanteisio o gael aml i opsiynau 
ymgeisio, nad yw’n wir yn achos disgyblion cyfrwng Saesneg mewn 
gwirionedd.  Gall disgyblion sy’n mynd i ysgol gynradd Gymraeg neu 
ffydd barhau i wneud cais i'r ysgol uwchradd Cymraeg/Ffydd.  Nid 
oes unrhyw beth yn eu hatal nhw rhag ymgeisio am le mewn ysgol 
gyfrwng Saesneg, ond mewn achosion pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd, bydd y plant sydd mewn ysgolion bwydo Saesneg yn cael 
blaenoriaeth.

230. Byddai ysgolion bwydo yn galluogi defnyddio opsiynau trafnidiaeth 
gynaliadwy yn well ac yn annog arferion ac iechyd da e.e. rhannu 
car, disgyblion yn cerdded neu'n beicio gyda'i gilydd.

Page 554



Page 29 of 47

Ymateb i farn Grŵp Gweithredu dros Blant Marlborough

231. Nodir cefnogaeth Grŵp Gweithredu dros Blant Marlborough dros 
Opsiwn B ar gyfer derbyniadau i ysgolion uwchradd.

232. Mae rhaglen fuddsoddi Band B Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif y Cyngor yn 
cynnwys nifer o gynigion sy’n ymateb i’r galw cynyddol am leoedd 
ysgol uwchradd, gan gynnwys cynigion i ehangu Ysgol Uwchradd 
Cantonian, Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd, Ysgol Uwchradd Cathays ac 
Ysgol Uwchradd Willows.

233. Cydnabyddir bod Niferoedd Derbyn Cyhoeddedig agregedig Ysgolion 
Cynradd Lakeside, Marlborough, Rhydypennau a Pharc y Rhath bron 
yn gyfartal â Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd 
ac y byddai’r estyniad arfaethedig yn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn 
cynnig digon o gapasiti ar gyfer dau ddosbarth mynediad 
ychwanegol. Fodd bynnag, fel y nodir ym mharagraffau 65-66, nid 
oes llawer o gysondeb rhwng niferoedd derbyn agregedig ysgolion 
cynradd cymunedol ledled Caerdydd a’r ysgolion uwchradd sy’n 
gwasanaethu eu dalgylchoedd.

234. Mae ystod eang ac amrywiol o waith ymchwil sy’n dangos bod nifer o 
ffactorau yr un mor bwysig neu'n bwysicach o ran cefnogi pontio 
effeithiol o addysg gynradd i ysgol uwchradd. 

235. Awgryma waith ymchwil (Weller, S. 2006) y gallai cyfeillion o'r grŵp 
cyfoedion gynnig y teimlad cyfarwydd y mae ei angen wrth ddechrau 
mewn ysgol uwchradd, a gallai weithio'n dda fel cymorth pontio i 
helpu plant i setlo yn ystod y cyfnod pontio cychwynnol hyd yn oed 
os nad ydynt yn datblygu yn ffrindiau oes. Yn achos Ysgol Gynradd 
Marlborough, nid oes disgwyl y byddai angen i blant drosglwyddo i 
ysgol uwchradd arall ar eu pennau eu hunain ac felly byddant yn 
elwa ar symud ymlaen gyda ffrindiau.  Anogir/disgwylir i ysgolion 
cynradd sicrhau y gwneir trefniadau pontio llyfn gyda'r ysgol 
uwchradd benodol.

236. Gall ail-alinio dalgylchoedd ysgol gynradd ac ysgol uwchradd i gyd-
bwyso’r boblogaeth yn y dalgylch â chapasiti'r ysgol uwchradd 
gynorthwyo i alluogi mwyafrif y disgyblion ysgol gynradd i symud i 
addysg uwchradd gyda'u grŵp cyfoedion.

237. Nodir effaith y trefniadau derbyn ar ymgeiswyr sy’n byw yn nalgylch 
Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd, ac mae’n rhaid ei hystyried yng nghyd-
destun dalgylchoedd y 13 ysgol uwchradd gymunedol yng 
Nghaerdydd.

238. Nid oes tystiolaeth yn dangos y byddai cadw meini prawf pan fo mwy 
o geisiadau na lleoedd presennol neu weithredu Opsiwn A yn 
fanteisiol i’r rhai sy’n byw yn yr ardal gyfoethocach yn nes at yr ysgol 
o'i gymharu ag Opsiwn B.  

Page 555



Page 30 of 47

239. Gallai gweithredu Opsiwn B arwain o bosibl at fod y rhai sy’n gallu 
byw’n nes at ysgolion cynradd bwydo, saith mlynedd cyn trosglwyddo 
i’r ysgol uwchradd gysylltiedig, yn fwy tebygol o gael lle yn yr ysgol 
uwchradd gysylltiedig.

240. Mae’n bosibl y byddai cynnwys maen prawf yn ymwneud ag ysgol 
gynradd fwydo yn rhoi disgyblion nad ydynt yn mynd i ysgol fwydo 
ond sy'n byw'n agosach at ysgol uwchradd dan anfantais. Felly, 
mae’n bosibl y bydd disgyblion o’r fath yn fwy tebygol o ystyried 
dulliau trafnidiaeth lai cynaliadwy.

Ymateb Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RhAG)

241. Roedd ymateb RhAG yn cynnwys y pwyntiau canlynol (mae copi o’r 
ymateb llawn yn Atodiad 3).

242. Nod RhAG yw cefnogi datblygiad addysg Gymraeg ym mhob rhan o 
Gymru ac mae'r sylwadau'n ymdrin ag addysg Gymraeg, sef prif 
destun diddordeb RhAG fel mudiad.

243. Mae RhAG yn falch o weld yr ymchwil a gynhaliodd yr Athro Chris 
Taylor ac maent yn gefnogol iawn o benderfyniadau’n seiliedig ar 
dystiolaeth.

244. Yn yr adroddiad, mae diffyg ystyriaeth i’r Gymraeg, arwynebol ar y 
gorau yw’r ystyriaeth a roddir i’r sector.

245. Nid oes llawer o gyfeiriad at bolisi cenedlaethol a’r disgwyliad ar 
ALlau i hyrwyddo a datblygu twf y Gymraeg. Nid oes unrhyw 
drafodaeth ar y berthynas rhwng dalgylchoedd polisi Derbyn i 
Ysgolion a’r angen i gynyddu’r nifer sy’n derbyn addysg Gymraeg.  
Yn ogystal, nid oes cyfeiriad at Gynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn 
Addysg y Cyngor.

246. Mae prif bwyslais yr adroddiad ar addysg uwchradd ac mae’n rhoi 
blaenoriaeth i anghenion ysgolion cyfrwng Saesneg. Mae'r adroddiad 
yn anwybyddu ac nid yw'n deall yr anghenion gwahanol sy'n wynebu 
addysg gynradd Gymraeg yn benodol, ond hefyd y sector cynradd 
Saesneg.

247. Hyd y gwyddom, ni ystyriwyd y dogfennau hyn gan y Fforwm Iaith 
Gymraeg, sy’n fethiant sylweddol ac yn tanseilio rôl a chyfraniad y 
grŵp ymgynghori hwn.

248. Mae dalgylchoedd cyfrwng Cymraeg yn newidiol ac mae angen 
ystyried yr effaith ar deuluoedd gyda phlant sydd eisoes mewn ysgol. 
Rydym yn cytuno â'r pwynt a wnaed ynghylch yr effaith negyddol pan 
wahanir brodyr a chwiorydd.

249. Y pryder yw bod bwriad o wneud newidiadau cwbl ymatebol ac y 
bydd eu heffaith yn fawr, ond bydd angen newidiadau eraill eto pan 
gaiff ysgolion newydd eu hagor.

Page 556



Page 31 of 47

250. Byddai’n annoeth ceisio creu polisi cyffredinol er mwyn ceisio ateb 
anghenion un sector y mae ei anghenion yn wahanol iawn i’r sector 
cyfrwng Cymraeg.  Mae disgyblion sy’n dymuno derbyn addysg 
Gymraeg yn wynebu her sy'n llawer mwy (yn ddaearyddol ac yn 
ymarferol) ac felly dylai polisïau a strategaethau'r Cyngor adlewyrchu 
hyn.

251. Byddai gwaredu’r rheol brodyr a chwiorydd yn creu rhagor o rwystrau 
i addysg Gymraeg, yn sefydlu polisi sy’n mynd yn groes i'r 
ddyletswydd o hyrwyddo mynediad at addysg Gymraeg ac yn creu 
sefyllfa sydd heb ddewis addysg Gymraeg rhagweithiol. 

252. Sicrhau bod digon o ysgolion o fewn pellter rhesymol o ansawdd 
digonol yw'r ffordd orau o osgoi sefyllfa lle bo rhieni a disgyblion yn 
teithio allan o’u dalgylch naturiol neu ‘swyddogol’.

253. Nid yw RhAG yn hyderus bod y cynigion yn seiliedig ar ddealltwriaeth 
gadarn o’r effaith ar addysg Gymraeg.  Yr unig ateb rhesymol yw 
ysgrifennu adroddiad newydd yn seiliedig ar ffeithiau cadarn, sy’n 
ystyried mynediad at ysgolion a dalgylchoedd addysg Gymraeg, ac 
ymgynghori'n llawn â chyrff llywodraethu, Fforwm Iaith Gymraeg 
Caerdydd a randdeiliaid hollbwysig eraill.

Ymateb i farn Rhieni dros Addysg Gymraeg (RhAG)

254. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch ystyried addysg Gymraeg a’r 
ymgysylltiad â’r Fforwm Addysg Gymraeg ym mharagraff 52 a 
pharagraff 102.

255. Trafodir y pryderon ynghylch diddymu’r maen prawf ‘cyfeirio brodyr a 
chwiorydd’ ym mharagraffau 34 – 41.

Ymatebion a dderbyniwyd gan ymgynghoreion eraill

Ymatebion parthed ysgolion bwydo 

256. Roedd mwyafrif yr ymatebion a dderbyniwyd yn ymwneud â 
chyflwyno arfaethedig ar system ysgolion bwydo (Dewis Uwchradd 
B)

257. Roedd barn a fynegwyd o blaid cyflwyno system ysgolion bwydo yn 
cynnwys y canlynol:

258. Mae ysgolion bwydo yn cynnig mantais parhad addysg i ddisgyblion 
ac yn galluogi’r rhan fwyaf o blant yn yr ysgolion bwydo i symud yn 
eu blaenau fel grŵp cyfoedion cydlynus i’w hysgol ddalgylch leol. 
Mae hyn yn atgyfnerthu a chynnal clymau cymunedol a chymorth 
gan gyfoedion. 

Page 557



Page 32 of 47

259. Byddai ysgolion bwydo yn sicrhau y byddai grwpiau cyfeillgarwch 
plant yn aros gyda’i gilydd gan leihau’r straen o bontio i ysgol 
uwchradd gan osgoi gorbryder diangen.

260. Byddai ysgolion bwydo yn lleihau problemau pontio ac yn annog 
cydweithredu agos rhwng y sectorau cynradd ac uwchradd.

261. Mae ysgolion bwydo yn sicrhau derbyn mwy amrywiol ymhlith 
disgyblion i hwyluso cydlyniad cymdeithasol mewn cymunedau 
amrywiol.

262. Mae ysgol fwydo a enwir yn rhoi peth sicrwydd i rieni am addysg eu 
plant o’r Cyfnod Sylfaen ymlaen i Gyfnod Allweddol 4.

263. Byddai ysgolion bwydo yn atal llawer o bobl rhag symud neu rentu 
mewn panig, e.e. “parasiwtio i mewn ac allan" o ddalgylchoedd 
poblogaidd. 

264. Mae nifer o bobl yn symud cartref wrth i’w plant ddynesu at ysgol 
uwchradd a hynny’n unswydd er mwyn cael lle mewn ysgol 
uwchradd benodol, yn aml symudiad dros dro yw hyn ac unwaith 
iddynt sicrhau lle byddant yn symud allan o’r dalgylch. Mae’r polisi 
presennol yn galluogi teuluoedd sydd â digon o arian i symud tŷ neu 
hyd yn oed i rentu am gyfnod byr mewn ardaloedd penodol er mwyn 
ennill mantais annheg drwy sicrhau lle mewn ysgol uwchradd 
benodol er nad oes ganddynt gysylltiad â’r gymuned.

265. Roedd barn a fynegwyd yn erbyn cyflwyno system ysgolion bwydo yn 
cynnwys y canlynol:

266. Byddai dychwelyd at fformat ysgol fwydo yn effeithio’n negyddol ar y 
bobl na lwyddodd i sicrhau lle yn eu hysgol gynradd leol er eu bod yn 
byw o fewn y dalgylch. Byddai peidio â mynychu “ysgol fwydo” ar 
gyfer yr ysgol uwchradd leol yn golygu mai annhebygol fyddent o 
ennill lle yn yr ysgol uwchradd leol ac y byddai’n rhaid iddynt deithio 
cryn bellter i un arall. Byddai hyn â’r potensial i greu sefyllfa 
chwerthinllyd o fyw bron drws nesaf i ysgol uwchradd ond yn gorfod 
teithio beth pellter mewn car i ysgol amgen.

267. Mae cyflwyno system ysgol fwydo ar y lefel uwchradd yn gwneud dim 
byd ond trosglwyddo problem gordanysgrifio i’r lefel cynradd.

268. Mae’n bosib y byddai cyflwyno system ysgol fwydo yn atal rhieni rhag 
ystyried addysgu eu plentyn trwy gyfrwng y Gymraeg, yn enwedig y 
rhai hynny o gartrefi Saesneg. Byddai system o’r fath yn dileu’r dewis 
i ymrestru plentyn mewn ysgol gynradd Gymraeg a throsglwyddo 
draw i ysgol uwchradd Saesneg. 

269. Dylai plant sydd wedi bod mewn addysg gynradd Gymraeg, ond sydd 
wedi cael trafferth ymdopi gyda dwy iaith gael y cyfle i fwrw ymlaen 
â’u haddysg trwy gyfrwng y Saesneg a mynd i’w hysgol uwchradd 

Page 558



Page 33 of 47

ddalgylch.  Mae’r system ysgol fwydo yn rhagfarnu yn erbyn pobl 
sy’n cefnogi’r diwylliant Cymraeg.  

270. Penderfyniadau ar ba ysgol gynradd yn seiliedig ar y dybiaeth y 
byddai’r ysgol uwchradd leol yn parhau i fod yn opsiwn ysgol 
uwchradd. Nid yw newidiadau polisi gyda chyn lleied o rybudd o ran 
amser wedi galluogi rhieni i wneud penderfyniadau gwybyddus 
ynghylch addysg eu plant.

271. Nid yw cyflwyno arfaethedig ar ysgolion bwydo yn caniatáu unrhyw le 
i ddisgyblion gaiff eu haddysgu yn y cartref yn y cyfnod cynradd.

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

272. Mae gofyn i ysgolion wneud trefniadau priodol i’r holl ddisgyblion sy’n 
pontio o addysg gynradd i addysg uwchradd.

273. Mae dadansoddiad o’r data ar gyfer y garfan sy’n pontio i addysg 
uwchradd yn 2019/20 yn dangos na fyddai oddeutu chwarter y 
disgyblion yn cwrdd â meini prawf yn seiliedig ar ysgol fwydo. 
Byddai’r mwyafrif o ysgolion cynradd felly yn parhau i wneud 
trefniadau pontio gyda nifer o ysgolion uwchradd pe byddai Dewis A 
neu Ddewis B yn cael ei weithredu.

274. Yn yr un modd, pe bai Dewis A neu Ddewis B yn cael ei weithredu, ni 
fyddai pob disgybl mewn ysgol gynradd yn cael lle yn yr un ysgol 
uwchradd a gallai grwpiau cyfeillgarwch gael eu rhannu.

275. Ni ddarparwyd unrhyw dystiolaeth i gefnogi’r haeriad y byddai 
cyflwyno meini prawf ysgol fwydo yn hwyluso cydlyniad cymdeithasol 
mewn cymunedau amrywiol.

276. Ystyriwyd problem symud i ddalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn 
yr adroddiad i’r Cabinet ar 16 Mawrth 2017 ar Drefniadau Derbyn 
Ysgolion 2018/19 a Threfniadau Derbyn Cydlynus Ysgolion 
Uwchradd 2018-2020. Roedd canran y disgyblion a oedd yn byw yn 
nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd ar gyfer 1 flwyddyn, 3 blynedd a 
5 mlynedd yn uwch na’r cyfartaledd ledled y ddinas. Nifer y 
disgyblion a dderbyniwyd i Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn seiliedig ar 
y maen prawf dalgylch, a oedd ar y gofrestr yn Ysgol Uwchradd 
Caerdydd ar gyfer blynyddoedd cwricwlwm 7 – 11 nad oedd bellach 
yn byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol, oedd 10 disgybl y flwyddyn.

277. Ni fyddai cyflwyno ysgolion bwydo yn atal rhieni rhag symud cyfeiriad 
cyn y broses ymgeisio ac ni fyddai chwaith yn atal rhieni rhag symud 
cyfeiriad wedi ymrestru eu plentyn(plant). 

278. Mewn ardaloedd lle byddai ysgolion cynradd ac uwchradd yn llawn, 
byddai cyflwyno maen prawf ysgol fwydo i ysgolion uwchradd yn 
ffafrio’r rhieni hynny sy’n gallu sicrhau lle mewn ysgol gynradd yn 
gynnar yn y broses. Y rhieni hynny a fyddai’n fwyaf tebygol o allu 

Page 559



Page 34 of 47

sicrhau lle mewn ysgol gynradd fyddai’r rheiny o fewn y dalgylch ac 
yn byw yn agos i’r ysgol gynradd. 

279. Byddai cyflwyno maen prawf ysgol fwydo yn golygu y byddai’r 
disgyblion hynny na lwyddai i sicrhau lle yn eu hysgol gynradd 
ddalgylch ddim ond yn gallu cael eu hystyried o dan feini prawf is 
wrth wneud cais am le i unrhyw ysgol uwchradd gymunedol, ac 
eithrio Plant sy’n Derbyn Gofal a phlant a Datganiad o Anghenion 
Addysg Arbennig.

280. Nid yw’r Cyngor wedi cynnig cynnwys ysgolion cynradd Cymraeg nac 
ysgolion cynradd ffydd yn y trefniadau ysgol fwydo ar gyfer ysgolion 
cynradd Saesneg. Byddai ychwanegu ysgolion bwydo pellach yn 
golygu y byddai diffyg cyfatebiaeth hyd yn oed yn fwy rhwng y nifer o 
lefydd ar gael mewn ysgolion uwchradd a’r ysgolion cynradd bwydo.

281. Dylid ystyried hefyd yr effaith ar y Gymraeg pe byddai ysgolion 
cynradd Cymraeg yn cael eu cynnwys fel ysgolion bwydo i ysgolion 
uwchradd Saesneg.

282. Gallai eithrio ysgolion Cymraeg o’r trefniadau bwydo i ysgolion 
uwchradd Saesneg gynyddu cyfradd cadw disgyblion yn y sector 
Cymraeg. Fodd bynnag, mae perygl na fyddai rhai rhieni am ystyried 
cofrestru ar gyfer addysg gynradd Gymraeg pe byddai hyn efallai yn 
lleihau'r tebygolrwydd o gael lle mewn ysgol uwchradd Saesneg.

283. Byddai cyflwyno trefniadau bwydo yn golygu y byddai plant a 
addysgwyd gartref yn y cyfnod sylfaen yn cael eu hystyried o dan 
feini prawf is wrth wneud cais i gael eu derbyn mewn unrhyw ysgol 
uwchradd gymunedol. Byddai unrhyw blentyn nad oedd yn llwydo i 
gael lle mewn ysgol uwchradd gymunedol o fewn 3 milltir i’w cyfeiriad 
cartref yn derbyn cludiant cartref i ysgol am ddim i’r ysgol agosaf 
nesaf.

Ymatebion parthed meini prawf ‘cyfarwyddyd brawd/chwaer’

284. Dylai brodyr/chwiorydd allu dilyn ei gilydd i’r un ysgol uwchradd hyd 
yn oed os yw dalgylchoedd ac ysgolion bwydo cysylltiedig yn newid 
maes o law. Mae’n bwysig iawn i deuluoedd aros gyda’i gilydd drwy 
sicrhau bod brodyr/chwiorydd yn gallu mynychu’r un ysgol uwchradd 
hyd yn oed os yw meini prawf derbyn yn newid yn y blynyddoedd 
rhyngddyn nhw.

285. Mae rhai ysgolion yng Nghaerdydd sydd heb ddalgylch.  Yn y sefyllfa 
hon, dylid rhoi blaenoriaeth uwch i frodyr/chwiorydd na phlant o fewn 
y dalgylch heb frawd/chwaer yn mynychu gan fod cael plant mewn 
ysgolion gwahanol yn anghynaladwy.  

286. Byddai diddymu cyfarwyddo brawd/chwaer yn peri hunllefau 
trefniadol i deuluoedd i gael plant i’r ysgol ac adre yn ôl ynghyd â 
threfniadau cofleidio cysylltiedig e.e. clybiau ar ôl ysgol/oriau gweithio 

Page 560



Page 35 of 47

rhieni a chynyddu’r gwariant i rieni ar wisgoedd ysgol ac offer 
gwahanol. 

287. Mae’r dogfennau yn nodi na chaiff y cyfarwyddyd brawd/chwaer ei 
ddefnyddio yn aml ond gyda’r holl ysgolion newydd ar y gweill drwy 
Fand B a’r Cynllun Datblygu lleol a’r cynnydd yn y pwysau ar lefydd 
ysgol uwchradd wedi 2019, bydd gofyn i’r Cyngor newid 
dalgylchoedd ac mae posibilrwydd cryf y gallai’r cyfarwyddyd 
brawd/chwaer gael ei ddefnyddio llawer mwy. 

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

288. Eir i’r afael â’r pryderon a fynegwyd parthed dileu arfaethedig ar y 
maen prawf cyfarwyddo brawd/chwaer ym mharagraffau 34 - 41. 
Mae’r Cyngor yn cynnig ychwanegu meini prawf gan roi blaenoriaeth 
o fewn y meini prawf gordanysgrifiad ar gyfer derbyn i addysg 
gynradd i deuluoedd a effeithiwyd gan newidiadau mewn 
dalgylchoedd ysgolion.

Ymatebion parthed yr effaith ar y Gymraeg 

289. Ni roddwyd digon o sylw yn y ddogfen ymgynghori i’r sefyllfa unigryw 
sydd yn wynebu addysg Gymraeg pan fo ysgolion newydd yn cael eu 
sefydlu heb ddalgylch ddiffiniedig am gyfnodau estynedig neu pan fo 
ysgolion yn cael eu haddasu.

290. Dylai’r Cyngor ystyried effaith ysgolion bwydo ar nifer y llefydd a gaiff 
eu cymryd mewn ysgolion cynradd Cymraeg er mwyn sicrhau ei fod 
yn gyson ag ymrwymiad a ddatganwyd gan y Cyngor i ddiogelu a 
thyfu’r Gymraeg. Mae anfantais i rieni sydd wedi cynllunio i roi 
addysg yn y ddwy iaith ar gyfnodau gwahanol yn eu haddysg i’w 
plant.

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

291. Eir i’r afael â’r pryderon a fynegwyd ar effaith newidiadau i 
ddalgylchoedd ar y Gymraeg ym mharagraffau 34 - 41. 

292. Eir i’r afael â’r pryderon a fynegwyd parthed effaith ychwanegu 
ysgolion bwydo ar y niferoedd a gaiff eu derbyn i ysgolion Cymraeg 
ym mharagraffau 331 - 337.

Ymatebion parthed agosatrwydd a theithio i’r ysgol

293. Tra’n anodd ei gydbwyso, mae’n rhaid bod agosrwydd ysgol o'r budd 
blaenaf i blentyn. Gyda chystadleuaeth am lefydd mor uchel, 
ymddengys Dewis A yn deg. Mae presenoldeb yn unig mewn ysgol 
fwydo yn llai cynaliadwy.

294. Mae blaenoriaethu meini prawf eraill dros breswyliad mewn dalgylch 
yn arwain at deithio diangen ar draws y ddinas gan ychwanegu at 
broblemau traffig

Page 561



Page 36 of 47

295. Byddai cyflwyno system fwydo ysgolion yn debygol o arwain at 
broblemau traffig sylweddol o ran tagfeydd ar rwydwaith y ddinas, a’r 
Awdurdod Lleol yn gorfod cyllido cludiant i’r disgyblion hyn ar draws y 
ddinas i’r Ysgol Uwchradd benodedig.

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

296. Fel y nodwyd yng Nghod Derbyn Llywodraeth Cymru (2.48) ‘mae 
pellter rhwng cartref ac ysgol yn faen prawf gordanysgrifio clir a 
gwrthrychol’.

297. Er mwyn ateb y meini prawf seiliedig ar fwydo sydd wedi ei gynnwys 
ym meini prawf gordanysgrifio Dewis B, byddai gofyn i ddisgyblion 
hefyd fyw o fewn dalgylch yr ysgol uwchradd a ffefrir. 

298. Eir i'r afael â’r pryderon a fynegwyd parthed cludiant yn y 
goblygiadau trafnidiaeth ym mharagraffau 367 - 368.

Ymatebion parthed dalgylchoedd

299. Dylid cael gwared ar ddalgylchoedd ac wedi edrych ar y meini prawf 
cymdeithasol, meddygol, derbyn gofal a brawd/chwaer yna dylid 
edrych yn syml ar bellter er mwyn pennu’r flaenoriaeth. 

300. Mae cyflwyno system ysgol fwydo ar y pwynt hwn yn afresymegol, 
heb roi ystyriaeth fwy manwl i oblygiadau maint a lleoliad ffiniau’r 
dalgylchoedd.  

301. Dylai preswylio mewn dalgylch ddod uwchlaw pob maen prawf arall. 
Mae rhieni eraill yn byw ledled Caerdydd a gallant gyrchu yr un 
ysgolion o hyd. 

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

302. Cyflwynodd adroddiad y Sefydliad Ymchwil, Data a Methodoleg 
Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru a ystyriwyd gan y Cabinet yn ei 
gyfarfod ar 16 Tachwedd 2017 fanteision gweithredu meini prawf yn 
seiliedig ar ddalgylch. Dalgylchoedd yw’r maen prawf a 
gordanysgrifio a ddefnyddir fwyaf gan awdurdodau derbyn, ac mae’r 
fantais ganddynt hefyd o ganiatáu awdurdodau lleol (ac ysgolion) i 
gynllunio’u darpariaeth yn well, gan helpu ysgolion i adnabod eu 
cymuned ‘leol’ a rhoi elfen gref o ragweld i deuluoedd ac ysgolion 
pan ddaw hi at fater derbyn i ysgol. 

303. Eir i’r afael â newid i ddalgylchoedd ym mharagraff 149.

Ymatebion parthed dileu maen prawf ‘pellaf o ysgol amgen' 

304. Gallai dileu maen prawf ‘pellaf o ysgol amgen’ olygu y gallai fod gan 
deulu ddau ddewis ar gyfer ysgol o fewn pellter rhesymol i gartref y 

Page 562



Page 37 of 47

teulu yn cael eu dewis gan orfodi teulu arall i deithio ffordd bell i’w 
hysgol ‘amgen’  os yn colli allan i’r teulu cyntaf o ychydig lathenni. 

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

305. Prin iawn y mae galw i ddefnyddio’r maen prawf ‘pellaf o ysgol 
amgen’ sy’n rhoi blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw bellaf o’r ysgol amgen 
agosaf sydd ar gael, a chaiff ei ddefnyddio dim ond pan yw’r meini 
prawf uwch wedi eu hateb gan ddau ddisgybl neu fwy.  

306. Mae gwella’r pennu ar y maen prawf agosatrwydd agosaf o ddau le 
degol i bedwar lle degol yn lleihau’r tebygolrwydd o’r maen prawf 
hwn yn cael ei ystyried ac felly mae ei gynnwys yn ddiangen.  Ni 
ddyrannwyd llefydd i’r Dosbarth Derbyn na Blwyddyn 7 o dan y maen 
prawf hwn ar gyfer y rhai ddechreuodd ym mis Medi 2017.

Ymatebion yn awgrymu meini prawf amgen

307. Tra bod cyflwyno presenoldeb i faen prawf ysgol fwydo yn gam i’r 
cyfeiriad cywir ac y bydd yn arwain at lai o achosion o blant yn methu 
cyrraedd eu dewis ysgol uwchradd wedi mynychu ysgol gynradd yn y 
dalgylch, dylid hefyd ystyried am ba hyd y bu’r teulu yn preswylio yn 
y dalgylch.

308. Dylai’r Cyngor gyflwyno system bwyntiau tebyg i’r un ar gyfer 
adrannau mewnfudo gyda phwyntiau yn cael eu rhoi am breswylio o 
fewn dalgylch, hyd y preswyliad, perchen tŷ neu rentu, 
brawd/chwaer, rhesymau meddygol ayb.

309. Dylid rhoi ystyriaeth hefyd i broblemau symudedd/iechyd rhieni gan 
alluogi rhieni i wneud cais am a chael blaenoriaeth mewn ysgolion di-
ddalgylch y gellir eu cyrchu a thrafnidiaeth gyhoeddus.

Gwerthusiad o’r safbwyntiau a fynegwyd

310. Roedd adroddiad y Sefydliad Ymchwil, Data a Methodoleg 
Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru a ystyriwyd gan y Cabinet yn ei 
gyfarfod ar 16 Tachwedd wedi ystyried y meini prawf gordanysgrifio 
oedd yn weithredol gan 15 Awdurdod Lleol arall. Nid oedd yr un o’r 
rhain yn gweithredu maen prawf o’r fath.

311. Eir i’r afael â’r ystyriaeth i gyflwyno maen prawf yn seiliedig ar hyd 
preswyliad ym mharagraffau 97 – 99.

312. Eir i’r afael â’r ystyriaeth i gyflwyno maen prawf yn seiliedig ar 
ordanysgrifio yn seiliedig ar bwyntiau ym mharagraffau 100 – 101.

313. Gellid ystyried seiliau meddygol a/neu gymdeithasol cryfion sy’n atal 
gallu teulu rhag cyrchu ysgol o dan y maen prawf seiliau 
meddygol/cymdeithasol presennol, os rhoddwyd digon o dystiolaeth 
gefnogol gan weithwyr proffesiynol perthnasol er mwyn egluro pam 
na allai’r plentyn fynychu ysgolion amgen.

Page 563



Page 38 of 47

Ymatebion i Arolwg Disgyblion 

314. Derbyniwyd cyfanswm o 413 o ymatebion ar-lein, gan gynnwys 158 o 
ymatebion gan ddisgyblion cynradd Blwyddyn 4, 5 a 6 a 255 o 
ddisgyblion uwchradd Blwyddyn 7, 8, 9 a 10. 

315. Mae dadansoddiad o’r ymatebion a dderbyniwyd yn dangos bod 
disgyblion cynradd yn ystyried mai mynd i ysgol agos at y cartref 
oedd bwysicaf (sgôr pwysigrwydd o 7.52 ar gyfartaledd) ac mai mynd 
i'r un ysgol uwchradd â ffrindiau a disgyblion eraill o'r ysgol gynradd 
oedd leiaf pwysig (sgôr pwysigrwydd o 6.61 ar gyfartaledd). 

316. Nododd disgyblion uwchradd mai mynd i ysgol agos at y cartref oedd 
bwysicaf (sgôr pwysigrwydd o 6.86 ar gyfartaledd) ac mai mynd i'r un 
ysgol uwchradd â ffrindiau a disgyblion eraill o'r ysgol gynradd oedd 
leiaf pwysig (sgôr pwysigrwydd o 6.13 ar gyfartaledd). 

317. Mae modd gweld manylion yr arolwg a’r ymatebion a dderbyniwyd yn 
Atodiad 5.

Gwerthusiad o ymatebion disgyblion

318. Nodir y farn a fynegwyd gan ddisgyblion.

319. Parthed awydd disgyblion i fynychu ysgol yn agos i’w cartref mae 
mwyafrif disgyblion ysgol cynradd yn byw o fewn dwy filltir i’w hysgol, 
gyda mwyafrif y disgyblion uwchradd yn byw o fewn tair milltir i’w 
hysgol.

320. Ar gyfer y disgyblion hynny sy’n byw ymhellach o’u hysgol, gall fod 
cludiant cartref i’r ysgol ar gael yn unol â gofynion Mesur Teithio 
Dysgwyr Cymru 2008 (yn amodol ar gymhwysedd).

Newidiadau ychwanegol a gynigir i’r Polisi Derbyn 

Eglurhad ar y Meini Prawf Gor-danysgrifio 

321. Mae eglurhad ar y meini prawf brawd/chwaer ac agosrwydd i gael eu 
cynnwys yn y polisi.

Maen prawf brawd/chwaer

322. Caiff cais ei ystyried dan y maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd os 
byddai’r brawd/chwaer, a’r ymgeisydd wrth gael ei dderbyn, yn 
mynychu’r un ysgol ar yr un pryd. 

Agosrwydd 

323. Ar gyfer ceisiadau i ddisgyblion sy’n byw o fewn tir mawr y DU ond y 
tu allan i ardal y rhwydwaith trafnidiaeth integredig, caiff pellteroedd 

Page 564



Page 39 of 47

preswylfa i’r ysgol eu cyfrifo fel y pellter gyrru byrraf yn ôl mapiau 
google.   

324. Pan fo ymgeiswyr yn y byw y tu allan i dir mawr Prydain, caiff 
pellteroedd llwybrau eu pennu fel y llwybr byrraf yn ôl mapiau google 
gan ddefnyddio’r mathau o drafnidiaeth sydd ar gael. 

Dyddiadau Cynnig Cyffredin

325. Mae’r dyddiad cynnig cenedlaethol ar gyfer mynediad i Ddosbarth 
Derbyn yn 2019/20 wedi ei osod gan Lywodraeth Cymru sef Dydd 
Mawrth 19 Ebrill 2019. Nodwyd gan y Fforwm Derbyn fod hyn yn 
ystod cyfnod gwyliau’r Pasg a chytunwyd mai dyddiad derbyn neu 
wrthod cynigion Cynradd fyddai Dydd Llun 13 Mai 2019.

326. Cytunwyd hefyd mai dyddiad derbyn neu wrthod y cynigion 
Uwchradd fyddai Dydd Llun 18 Mawrth 2019.

Effaith ar y Gymraeg

327. Fel y nodwyd yn y ddogfen ymgynghori a atodwyd yn Atodiad 2, ni 
ragwelwyd y byddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol ar y Gymraeg yn 
sgil y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf gordanysgrifio.

328. Fodd bynnag, cododd nifer o ymatebion i’r ymgynghoriad bryderon 
ynghylch effaith bosibl y newidiadau arfaethedig ar addysg Gymraeg.

329. Roedd y pryderon hyn yn ymwneud â’r bwriad arfaethedig i ddileu’r 
maen prawf ‘cyfarwyddo brawd/chwaer’ yn enwedig wrth ystyried 
sefydlu ysgolion Cymraeg newydd a’r newidiadau dalgylch 
cysylltiedig â hynny.  

330. Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod y pryderon ac, fel y nodir ym mharagraff 
32 – 38, felly yn cynnig cynnwys maen prawf ‘blaenoriaeth 
brawd/chwaer yn dilyn newid dalgylch’ o fewn y meini prawf 
gordanysgrifio ar gyfer mynediad i addysg gynradd a fyddai’n 
negyddu unrhyw anfanteision a fyddai’n codi o newidiadau dalgylch 
yn yr amgylchiadau penodol hyn.

331. Mynegwyd pryder hefyd ynghylch yr effaith posib ar nifer y disgyblion 
yn dewis addysg gynradd Gymraeg o ystyried y potensial fyddai gan 
cyflwyno system ysgol fwydo  i gyfyngu ar allu plant i drosglwyddo i 
addysg Saesneg yn ystod y cyfnod cynradd neu’r lefel uwchradd.   

332. Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod y byddai cyflwyno maen prawf ysgol 
fwydo yn anfantais i rieni fyddai’n dymuno trosglwyddo o addysg 
gynradd Gymraeg i addysg uwchradd Saesneg (ac fel arall) ac y 
gallai cyflwyno maen prawf o’r fath atal rhai rhieni rhag ystyried 
addysg Gymraeg. 

333. Mae canran net y disgyblion yng Nghaerdydd sy’n mynd yn eu blaen 
yn dilyn cofrestru adeg oed Derbyn mewn ysgol gynradd Gymraeg i 

Page 565



Page 40 of 47

gofrestru ar gyfer addysg uwchradd Gymraeg wedi amrywio rhwng 
87% - 95% yn y carfannau mwyaf diweddar.  Gallai cyflwyno meini 
prawf yn seiliedig ar ysgolion bwydo, felly, gynyddu’r canran o 
ddisgyblion sydd, yn dilyn cofrestru ar gyfer addysg gynradd 
Gymraeg, yn mynd yn eu blaenau wedyn i addysg uwchradd 
Gymraeg, tra ar yr un pryd o bosib yn gweithredu fel gwrth-anogaeth 
i rieni sy’n ystyried cofrestru eu plant ar gyfer addysg gynradd 
Gymraeg.

334. Mae Cyngor wedi ymrwymo i ddatblygu Caerdydd Ddwyieithog.  
Bydd Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg (CSCA) 2017-2020 y 
Cyngor yn helpu Caerdydd i gefnogi gweledigaeth Llywodraeth 
Cymru i weld miliwn o siaradwyr Cymraeg yng Nghymru erbyn 2050.

335. Mae CSCA yn rhan greiddiol o Strategaeth Ddwyieithog 5 mlynedd y 
Cyngor.  Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod bod sector addysg Gymraeg 
gref a chynhwysol yn hanfodol os yw Caerdydd i ddatblygu fel dinas 
gwirioneddol ddwyieithog lle bydd y Gymraeg yn iaith fywiog a byw.

336. Nod Strategaeth Caerdydd ddwyieithog yw cynyddu nifer y siaradwyr 
Cymraeg yn y ddinas a chynyddu’r defnydd o’r iaith ledled y ddinas.  
Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod bod y system addysg yn elfen allweddol 
er mwyn sicrhau bod plant yn gallu datblygu eu sgiliau Cymraeg, ac i 
greu siaradwyr newydd.

337. Felly er nad yw effaith debygol nod y Cyngor o gynyddu niferoedd y 
siaradwyr Cymraeg yng Nghaerdydd yn wybyddus, mae risg amlwg y 
gallai cyflwyno trefniant ysgol fwydo gael effaith negyddol yn 
gyffredinol ar y Gymraeg.

338. Bydd swyddogion yn parhau i fonitro cyfraddau geni, ffrwyth tai 
newydd arfaethedig a’r patrymau mabwysiadu darpariaeth Gymraeg 
ar oed cynradd ac uwchradd gyda golwg i ddwyn cynlluniau priodol 
ger bron i ateb unrhyw gynnydd yn y galw.

339. Mae dysgu’r Gymraeg o fewn sefyllfa addysg Saesneg yn amodol ar 
ofynion y Cwricwlwm Cenedlaethol.  Ni fyddai hyn yn newid.

Crynodeb

340. Ceisiodd yr ymgynghoriad ar Drefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion ar gyfer 
2019/2020 ymateb i ganfyddiadau ymchwil y Sefydliad Ymchwil, 
Data a Methodoleg Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru drwy 
symleiddio'r meini prawf presennol, a thrwy wahodd sylwadau ar 
ddewisiadau eraill ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd.

341. Wrth i nifer y lleoedd dros ben mewn ysgolion uwchradd leihau ac 
wrth i nifer gynyddol o ysgolion gael mwy o geisiadau na’r lleoedd 
sydd ar gael wrth i’r boblogaeth gynyddol fwy o ddisgyblion symud yn 
eu blaen i addysg uwchradd, mae’n amlwg yn hollbwysig ystyried a 
gwerthuso materion yn ymwneud â meini prawf gordanysgrifio. 

Page 566



Page 41 of 47

342. Roedd yr ymatebion a dderbyniwyd i’r ymgynghoriad yn gyffredinol 
yn cefnogi’r newidiadau i’r Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion gan gynnwys 
newidiadau i’r meini prawf gordanysgrifio ar gyfer derbyn i addysg 
feithrin, cynradd a rhan fwyaf yr agweddau ar addysg uwchradd 
mewn ymateb i ganfyddiadau ymchwil y Sefydliad Ymchwil, Data a 
Methodoleg Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru. Fodd bynnag, 
mynegwyd gwahaniaethau barn sylweddol ynghylch y ddau ddewis a 
ymgynghorwyd arnynt o ran a ddylai ysgolion bwydo gael eu 
cynnwys yn y meini prawf uwchradd.

Derbyn i Addysg Feithrin

343. Ychydig o bryderon a godwyd parthed newidiadau arfaethedig i feini 
prawf gor-danysgrifio i addysg feithrin ac felly cynigir y gweithredir y 
meini prawf yn unol â'r ymgynghoriad.

Derbyn i Addysg Gynradd

344. Ychydig o bryderon a godwyd parthed newidiadau arfaethedig i feini 
prawf gor-danysgrifio i addysg gynradd. 

345. Mynegodd nifer o ymatebion ffurfiol, ac ymatebion gan randdeiliaid 
eraill gan gynnwys rhieni, ynghylch y cynnig i beidio mwyach a rhoi 
blaenoriaeth benodol i ddisgyblion a effeithiwyd gan newidiadau i 
ddalgylchoedd ysgolion cynradd.  Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod 
mantais parhaus i roi blaenoriaeth i’r disgyblion hynny a allai gael eu 
heffeithio gan newidiadau i ddalgylchoedd ysgol ac felly yn cynnig 
cynnwys maen prawf ychwanegol.

Derbyn i Addysg Uwchradd

346. Parthed y trefniadau ar gyfer disgyblion yn pontio i addysg uwchradd, 
ceisiwyd ymatebion i ddau ddewis a oedd, i bob pwrpas, yn 
cynrychioli fersiwn symlach o’r trefniadau ‘status quo’ presennol sydd 
wedi eu gweithredu yng Nghaerdydd ers sawl blwyddyn, ond â rhai 
elfennau o’r meini prawf wedi’u diddymu (Dewis A), neu fersiwn arall 
(Dewis B) sy’n cynrychioli newid mwy sylweddol yn y trefniadau drwy 
gyflwyno meini prawf sy’n seiliedig ar yr ysgol fwydo.  Rhaid, felly, i 
ddadansoddiad o ymatebion yr ymgynghoriad ystyried a fydd 
Caerdydd gyfan yn elwa’n ddigonol ar roi newid o'r fath ar waith.

347. Codwyd nifer o faterion a phryderon yn yr ymatebion ymgynghoriad a 
ddaeth i law.

348. Nododd ymatebion yr ymgynghoriad, a oedd o blaid gweithredu 
Dewis A / yn erbyn gweithredu Dewis B, y canlynol:

 Mae Dewis A yn fuddiol i’r disgyblion hynny sy’n byw agosaf at yr 
ysgol uwchradd, ni waeth pa ysgol gynradd y maent wedi ei 
mynychu

 Mae Dewis A yn galluogi disgyblion na chafodd eu derbyn i'w 
hysgol gynradd leol i gael eu derbyn i'w hysgol uwchradd leol 

Page 567



Page 42 of 47

 Mae Dewis B o bosibl yn rhoi teuluoedd sy’n symud i Gaerdydd, 
oherwydd cyfleodd am swyddi wrth i’r economi dyfu, dan anfantais

 Mae Dewis B yn rhoi disgyblion o rai grwpiau ethnig syn fwy 
tebygol o symud tŷ, gan gynnwys ceiswyr lloches, ffoaduriaid ac 
aelodau o rai cymunedau pobl dduon a lleiafrifoedd ethnig, dan 
anfantais 

 Mae Dewis B yn rhoi teuluoedd sy’n symud tŷ yn sgil adleoliad 
neu resymau teuluol eraill, gan gynnwys teuluoedd agored i niwed 
ac ar incwm isel nad ydynt yn cynnal llety parhaol, diogel, dan 
anfantais.

 Mae Dewis B yn rhoi disgyblion sy’n dymuno symud o ysgol 
gynradd ffydd i ysgol uwchradd gymunedol dan anfantais, yn 
arbennig y disgyblion nad ydynt yn bodloni meini prawf 
blaenoriaeth derbyn ysgol ffydd

 Mae Dewis B yn rhoi disgyblion sy’n dymuno trosglwyddo o ysgol 
gynradd Gymraeg i ysgol uwchradd Saesneg (neu’r ffordd arall), 
dan anfantais, a gall hyn atal rhieni rhag ystyried addysg gynradd 
Gymraeg

349. Nododd ymatebion yr ymgynghoriad, a oedd o blaid gweithredu 
Dewis B / yn erbyn gweithredu Dewis A, y canlynol:

 Mae Dewis B yn rhoi mwy o sicrwydd i rieni o ran ysgol uwchradd 
debygol eu plentyn

 Byddai maen prawf yn seiliedig ar ysgol fwydo yn gwella parhad 
wrth bontio o addysg gynradd i addysg uwchradd

 Mae Dewis A yn rhoi disgyblion sy’n byw yn y dalgylch ond ymhell 
o’r ysgol, dan anfantais, ac yn golygu y byddant yn llai tebygol o 
gael eu derbyn. 

 Nid yw Dewis A yn ystyried am ba hyd y mae teulu wedi byw 
mewn ardal nac am ba hyd y mae disgybl wedi mynychu ysgol

350. Dylid nodi bod mwyafrif sylweddol ymatebwyr yr ymholiad, a mwyafrif 
yr ymatebwyr a ffafriai Ddewis B dros Ddewis A, yn byw yn 
nalgylchoedd Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough neu ysgol Gynradd Parc y 
Rhath a/neu fod ganddynt blant yn mynychu’r ysgolion hyn. I'r 
disgyblion hynny sy'n mynychu'r ysgolion hyn ac sy'n byw o fewn 
dalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd, byddai cyflwyno trefniadau 
ysgolion bwydo yn rhoi mwy o sicrwydd o gael eu derbyn i Ysgol 
Uwchradd Caerdydd yn 2019/20 a hefyd yn 2020/21 a 2021/22. 
Byddai derbyn disgyblion dan drefniant ysgol fwydo yn golygu y 
byddai disgyblion sy’n byw yn weddol agos i’r ysgol, nad ydynt wedi'u 
cofrestru gydag ysgol fwydo, yn annhebygol o gael eu derbyn.

351. Fodd bynnag, mae’n rhaid i unrhyw addasiad ar y polisi derbyn neu 
feini prawf gordanysgrifio ar gyfer ysgolion cymunedol fod yn 
berthnasol i Gaerdydd gyfan.  Prin iawn oedd yr ymatebion i’r 
ymgynghoriad ar yr agwedd hon a dderbyniwyd gan unigolion mewn 
ardaloedd eraill yng Nghaerdydd.

352. Mewn ysgolion cynradd a dalgylchoedd eraill, ni fyddai mwy o 
sicrwydd derbyn dan feini prawf sy’n seiliedig ar ysgol fwydo. Yn 

Page 568



Page 43 of 47

nalgylchoedd Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin Caerdydd, 
Ysgol Uwchradd y Dwyrain, Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan ac Ysgol 
Uwchradd Llanisien byddai disgyblion yn parhau i fod yn y dalgylch 
ac sydd ar gofrestrau ysgolion bwydo cynradd na fyddai’n debygol o 
gael eu derbyn yn mlwyddyn derbyn 2019/2020. Byddai rhai 
disgyblion yn yr ysgolion cynradd a/neu’r dalgylchoedd yma hefyd 
dan anfantais wrth wneud cais i gael eu derbyn mewn ysgolion 
amgen dan drefniadau derbyn yn seiliedig ar ddalgylchoedd ac hefyd 
dan drefniadau yn seiliedig ar ysgol fwydo.

353. Tra bod llawer o ymatebion wedi datgan y byddai maen prawf 
presenoldeb mewn ysgol fwydo yn eglur a hawdd ei ddeall, roedd 
nifer o’r ymatebion o blaid Dewis B nad oeddent yn cydnabod, yn 
rhinwedd eu cyfeiriad cartref, na fyddent yn cael eu hystyried dan y 
meini prawf bwydo yr ymgynghorwyd arno, ac na fyddai eu plant o’r 
herwydd yn gallu manteisio ar bontio gyda mwyafrif eu cyfoedion 
ysgol gynradd fel yr ymddengys i’w hymatebion awgrymu.

354. Mae ymatebion Esgobaeth Llandaf yr Eglwys yng Nghymru, 
Esgobaeth Mynwy yr Eglwys yng Nghymru a rhai rhieni i blant mewn 
ysgolion cynradd Cymraeg yn nodi y byddai disgyblion yn y sectorau 
hynny dan anfantais gyda maen prawf ysgol fwydo o fewn dalgylch 
ar gyfer ysgolion uwchradd cymunedol Saesneg nad oedd yn 
cynnwys ysgolion yr Eglwys yng Nghymru neu ysgolion cynradd 
Cymraeg. Fodd bynnag, pe byddai’r ysgolion hynny yn cael eu 
dynodi yn ysgolion bwydo cynradd i ysgolion uwchradd cymunedol 
Saesneg (yn ychwanegol i ysgolion ffydd neu ysgolion Cymraeg) yna 
byddai’r disgyblion oedd yn mynychu’r ysgolion yna yn derbyn 
mantais bellach ar draul disgyblion eraill.

355. Mae’n amlwg, o werthuso’r ymatebion i’r ymgynghoriad, y byddai 
gweithredu'r newidiadau sylweddol i’r meini prawf gordanysgrifio fel y 
nodwyd yn Dewis B, yn cael effaith negyddol ar ddisgyblion mewn 
nifer o ardaloedd yn y ddinas ac ym mhob sector. Nid oes achos 
digon cryf sy’n dangos y byddai gwneud newid o'r fath ar yr adeg hon 
yn cyflawni'r nod o gyflwyno trefniadau derbyn mwy addas ar gyfer 
holl ddisgyblion Caerdydd.

356. I grynhoi, nid oes digon o dystiolaeth i brofi y byddai newid o fersiwn 
fwy syml o’r trefniadau presennol (Dewis A) i weithredu trefniadau 
sy’n seiliedig ar ysgolion bwydo (Dewis B) o fudd i Gaerdydd gyfan. 
Cynigir, felly, gweithredu Dewis A ar gyfer derbyn i addysg 
uwchradd. 

357. Dylid nodi bod y Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion yn berthnasol ar gyfer 
blwyddyn fynediad 2019/20 yn unig a thra y bydd rhai disgyblion yn 
methu mynychu eu hysgol ddalgylch, bydd newidiadau i 
ddalgylchoedd a fydd yn rhoi ystyriaeth i newidiadau arfaethedig i 
gapasiti ysgolion yn cael eu hystyried ar gyfer blynyddoedd derbyn 
diweddarach.

Ymgynghoriad Aelod Lleol 

Page 569



Page 44 of 47

358. Ymgynghorwyd â phob aelod ar y Trefniadau Derbyn drafft 
2019/2020. Mae ymateb ffurfiol Grŵp Democratiaid Rhyddfrydol y 
Cyngor wedi’i atodi yn Atodiad 3.

Rheswm dros yr Argymhellion

359. Mae angen i’r Cyngor adolygu ei drefniadau derbyn i ysgolion yn 
flynyddol a chytuno ar drefniadau’n dilyn ymgynghoriad priodol.

Goblygiadau Ariannol

360. Nid oes unrhyw oblygiadau ariannol yn deillio’n uniongyrchol o’r 
adroddiad hwn. Mae’r arian a ddarperir i ysgolion unigol, gan 
gynnwys cyllid grant allanol, yn cael ei seilio ar niferoedd disgyblion. 
Felly, pe byddai’r cynnig yn arwain at newidiadau i nifer y disgyblion 
a dderbynnir i ysgol unigol, mae’n bosibl y byddai cyllideb yr ysgol yn 
cynyddu neu'n lleihau. Yn ychwanegol i hyn, pe byddai’r cynnig yn 
arwain at newid i ddarpariaeth y drafnidiaeth ysgol y mae ei hangen, 
byddai angen ei nodi a’i ystyried yn rhan o broses gynllunio cyllidebol 
y Cyngor a’i adlewyrchu yn y Cynllun Ariannol Tymor Canolig.

Goblygiadau Cyfreithiol (gan gynnwys Asesiad o’r Effaith ar 
Gydraddoldeb lle bo’n briodol)

361. Mae gofyniad statudol ar y Cyngor dan Ddeddf Addysg 1996 i 
hyrwyddo safonau addysg uchel yn ysgolion cynradd ac uwchradd yn 
eu hardal awdurdod lleol. Mae Adran 89 Deddf Safonau a 
Fframwaith Ysgolion 1998 fel y’i diwygiwyd gan Ddeddf Addysg 2002 
yn nodi bod rhaid i Awdurdodau Derbyn gynnal ymgynghoriad cyn 
pennu'r trefniadau derbyn a fydd yn berthnasol. Mae’r adroddiad yn 
nodi bod ymgynghoriad wedi’i gynnal.

362. Mae’r Rheoliadau Addysg (Pennu Trefniadau Derbyn) (Cymru) 2006 
yn nodi’r weithdrefn y dylai Awdurdodau Derbyn ei dilyn wrth bennu 
eu trefniadau derbyn, gan gynnwys yr ymgynghoriad a’r broses 
hysbysu ynghyd ag amserlenni. Yn benodol, mae’n rhaid i’r 
Awdurdod Derbyn bennu trefniadau yn y flwyddyn ysgol sy’n dechrau 
dwy flynedd cyn y flwyddyn ysgol y gwneir y trefniadau ar ei chyfer, 
gan gymryd yr holl gamau sy’n angenrheidiol i sicrhau eu bod nhw 
wedi cynnal yr ymgynghoriad sy’n ofynnol dan adran 89(2) cyn 1 
Mawrth ac i bennu’r trefniadau derbyn erbyn 15 Ebrill. Yna, bydd yn 
rhaid cyhoeddi’r trefniadau o fewn 14 diwrnod wedi gwneud 
penderfyniad a rhoi gwybod i'r cyrff priodol. Mae’r adroddiad yn 
dangos bod yr ymgynghoriad wedi’i gynnal cyn 1 Mawrth.

363. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cyflwyno'r Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion, sy’n 
nodi’r broses y dylai Awdurdodau Lleol ei dilyn wrth bennu eu 
trefniadau derbyn. Mae'r Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion yn nodi nad oes 
unrhyw feini prawf a waherddir (fel y nodir ar dudalen 12 y Cod) 
wedi’u cynnwys yn y trefniadau derbyn, ac mae’n rhoi canllawiau ar 
ddefnyddio mathau amrywiol o feini prawf derbyn pan fo mwy o 

Page 570



Page 45 of 47

geisiadau na lleoedd. Mae’r adroddiad hwn yn adlewyrchu’r gofynion 
hyn.

364. Rhaid i’r Cyngor hefyd gyflawni ei ddyletswyddau sector cyhoeddus 
dan Ddeddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 (gan gynnwys dyletswyddau sector 
cyhoeddus sy’n benodol i’r Gymraeg). Yn unol â’r dyletswyddau 
cyfreithiol hyn, rhaid i’r Cyngor, wrth wneud penderfyniadau, roi 
ystyriaeth briodol i'r angen i (1) osgoi gwahaniaethu anghyfreithlon; 
(2) hybu cyfle cyfartal a (3) meithrin perthnasau da ar sail y 
nodweddion a ddiogelir.  Rhaid i’r Cyngor hefyd beidio â 
gwahaniaethu’n uniongyrchol nac yn anuniongyrchol yn erbyn 
unrhyw ddisgybl yn ei drefniadau derbyn, golyga hyn na fydd unrhyw 
ddisgybl na grŵp o ddisgyblion yn cael ei drin yn llai ffafriol yn 
seiliedig ar nodwedd a ddiogelir. Y nodweddion a ddiogelir yw:

 Oedran
 Ailbennu Rhywedd
 Rhyw
 Hil – gan gynnwys gwreiddiau ethnig neu genedlaethol, lliw neu 

genedligrwydd
 Anabledd
 Beichiogrwydd a Mamolaeth
 Priodas a Phartneriaeth Sifil
 Tueddfryd Rhywiol
 Crefydd neu gred – gan gynnwys diffyg cred

365. Mae’r Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb yn benodol yn ystyried sut 
mae’r cynigion yn effeithio ar ddisgyblion gyda nodweddion a 
ddiogelir. Diben Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb yw sicrhau bod 
y Cyngor wedi deall effaith bosibl y cynnig yn nhermau cydraddoldeb 
fel y gall sicrhau ei fod yn gwneud penderfyniadau rhesymol a 
chymesur gan dalu sylw dyledus i’w ddyletswydd i sicrhau 
cydraddoldeb yn y sector cyhoeddus. Mae’n rhaid i’r Cyngor ystyried 
y goblygiadau hyn wrth wneud y penderfyniad hwn ar drefniadau 
derbyn i ysgolion.

366. Yn unol â Mesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011 a Safonau’r Gymraeg, 
mae’n rhaid i’r Cyngor hefyd ystyried effaith unrhyw benderfyniad a 
wneir ar y Gymraeg ac yn unol â Chynllun Strategol Addysg 
Gymraeg, mae’n rhaid i’r Cyngor ystyried sut y gall hyrwyddo addysg 
Gymraeg. Mae’r adroddiad hwn yn adlewyrchu’r gofynion hyn.

367. Mae’n rhaid i’r Cyngor hefyd ystyried ei oblygiadau cyfreithiol dan 
Ddeddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 i feddwl mwy 
am y tymor hir, gweithio'n well gyda phobl a chymunedau gyda'i 
gilydd, ceisio atal problemau a chymryd dull cydlynol.

368. Mae hefyd ymrwymiadau cyfreithiol dan Ddeddf Addysg 1996 sy’n 
nodi y dylai disgyblion â datganiadau anghenion addysgol arbennig 
gael eu derbyn i’r ysgol a nodir yn y datganiad a’r Rheoliadau 
Addysg (Derbyn Plant sy’n Derbyn Gofal) (Cymru) 2009 sy’n gofyn i’r 
Cyngor dderbyn plant sy’n derbyn gofal (yn unol â’r diffiniad yn adran 

Page 571



Page 46 of 47

74 Deddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 2014). 
Mae’r adroddiad a’r trefniadau derbyn arfaethedig yn adlewyrchu’r 
ymrwymiadau hyn.

Goblygiadau Trafnidiaeth

369. Mae gwasanaeth Gweithrediadau’r Ddinas wedi ymrwymo i hwyluso 
trafnidiaeth gynaliadwy yng Nghaerdydd.  Un o’r meysydd pwysicaf 
mewn perthynas â hyn yw sut mae rhieni a phlant yn teithio i ac o'r 
ysgol.  Mae annog rhieni a phlant i fabwysiadu dulliau trafnidiaeth 
gynaliadwy yn dwyn y manteision canlynol (mae’r ddau gyntaf yn 
berthnasol i'r pwysau ar y rhwydwaith trafnidiaeth).

 Effaith ar rwydwaith – Mae teithio i ac o'r ysgol gan ddefnyddio 
dulliau teithio anghynaladwy (e.e. petrol neu ddisel, cerbydau 
preifat) yn dwyn effaith andwyol ar yr amgylchedd leol a'r 
rhwydwaith priffyrdd ac yn ychwanegu pwysau sylweddol ar y 
ffyrdd perthnasol.  Mae hyn yn achosi oedi ychwanegol i draffig 
cyffredinol ac, yn bwysicach fyth, i ddulliau trafnidiaeth 
gynaliadwy.  Felly, mae’n bwysig bod rhieni a phlant yn 
defnyddio dulliau teithio cynaliadwy er mwyn lleihau’r effaith 
negyddol ar y rhwydwaith. 

 Arferion - Bydd annog plant i ddeall manteision, a mabwysiadu 
dulliau trafnidiaeth gynaliadwy yn creu meddylfryd a fydd yn 
parhau i’r dyfodol.  Felly mae’n bwysig ein bod ni’n addysgu 
plant am fanteision trafnidiaeth gynaliadwy ac yn eu hannog 
nhw i deithio i ac o’r ysgol gyda hyn dan sylw. 

 Iechyd – Mae pob dull trafnidiaeth gynaliadwy yn tueddu i 
gynnwys mwy o weithgarwch corfforol yn ystod y daith i ac o’r 
ysgol.  Mae hyn yn benodol berthnasol i gerdded a beicio ond 
hefyd i ddefnyddio trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus (e.e. cerdded i ac o’r 
safle bws).  Bydd annog plant i ddefnyddio dulliau trafnidiaeth 
gynaliadwy felly’n cael effaith bositif uniongyrchol ar eu hiechyd 
ynghyd â’r effeithiau anuniongyrchol a fydd yn deillio o'r 
meddylfryd sy'n parchu dulliau teithio.

370. Ni wyddys beth fydd goblygiadau traffig y cynnig hwn.  Fodd bynnag, 
argymhellir yn gryf y dylid ystyried yn ofalus sicrhau bod plant yn 
gallu teithio i ac o’r ysgol gan ddefnyddio dull teithio cynaliadwy.  Un 
o'r ffactorau mwyaf sy'n hwyluso hyn yw agosrwydd y plant at yr 
ysgol.  Dylai’r ysgol fod o fewn pellter cerdded neu feicio i gymaint o 
blant ag sy’n bosibl.  Os nad yw beicio neu gerdded yn opsiwn, dylid 
sicrhau bod gwasanaethau bws dibynadwy o safon ar gael.  
Argymhellir y dylid cynnal asesiad o’r manteision cymharol o bob 
opsiwn mewn perthynas â’r nodau uchod.  Dylid pennu ffactorau 
megis pellter disgybl ar gyfartaledd o’r ysgol a dibynadwyedd a 
hwylustod trafnidiaeth gyhoeddus.  Gellid gwneud hyn gan 
ddefnyddio’r un dulliau a ddefnyddir ar gyfer Asesiadau Trafnidiaeth 
mewn perthynas â datblygiadau newydd.

Page 572



Page 47 of 47

Goblygiadau AD

371. Nid oes unrhyw oblygiadau AD yn deillio o’r adroddiad hwn na’i 
argymhellion.

Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol

372. Mae Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 yn gofyn i 
gyrff cyhoeddus sicrhau bod eu penderfyniadau yn ystyried yr effaith 
y gallant ei chael ar bobl a fydd yn byw yng Nghymru yn y dyfodol.  
Mae’r Cyngor wedi gwneud hynny mewn perthynas â’i drefniadau 
derbyn i ysgolion arfaethedig.  Mae gofyn cyfreithiol ar bob Awdurdod 
Derbyn yng Nghymru yn ôl Adran 84 Deddf Safonau a Fframwaith 
Ysgolion (1998) (Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru) ac 
mae’r Cyngor hefyd wedi cydymffurfio â’r ddeddfwriaeth honno.  
Ystyrir hefyd gyfrifoldeb y Cyngor i ddarparu a hyrwyddo safonau 
uchel o Addysg dan Ddeddf Addysg 1996.

ARGYMHELLION

Argymhellir i’r Cabinet wneud y canlynol:

1. pennu Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion drafft y Cyngor ar gyfer 2019/2020 
fel y'u nodwyd ym Mholisi Derbyn 2019/2020.

2. nodi bod Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20 yn gweithredu Dewis A 
ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd, fel y’i nodwyd yn y Ddogfen 
Ymgynghori (Atodiad 2).

3. nodi y bydd y Cabinet yn cael adroddiad dilynol ar ddiwygio dalgylchoedd 
ysgol ar gyfer 2020/2021.

NICK BATCHELAR 
Cyfarwyddwr Addysg a Dysgu Gydol Oes 
9 Mawrth 2018

Atodir yr Atodiadau canlynol: 

Atodiad 1 – Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion Drafft 2019/20 (fel y’i cyflwynwyd)
Atodiad 2 – Dogfen ymgynghori Trefniadau Derbyn
Atodiad 3 – Ymatebion Ffurfiol
Atodiad 4 – Crynodeb o’r dadansoddiad o ymatebion i’r ymgynghoriad
Atodiad 5 – Crynodeb o ddadansoddiad o’r ymatebion i’r arolwg disgyblion
Atodiad 6 – Dadansoddiad o’r effaith o drefniadau bwydo
Atodiad 7 – Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion Arfaethedig 2019/20
Atodiad 8 - Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb 
 

Page 573



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



  1 

 
 

 
 
 

Trefniadau Derbyn Ysgolion 
2019-2020 

 
Dogfen Ymgynghori 

 
 
 
 

Cyfnod yr ymgynghoriad:  
12 Rhagfyr 2017 – 30 Ionawr 2018 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Mae modd darparu’r ddogfen hon mewn Braille.  
Gellir hefyd cael y wybodaeth mewn ieithoedd cymunedol eraill os oes angen.  

Cysylltwch â ni ar 029 2087 2720 i drefnu hyn.    

Page 575



  2 

Cynnwys 
              

1. Cyflwyniad 
 

2. Mae Eich Barn yn Bwysig  
 

3. Esboniad o’r Termau a ddefnyddir  
 

4. Swyddogaeth Cyngor Caerdydd fel Awdurdod Derbyn 
 

5. Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Caerdydd 2018/19 
 

6. Cefndir y newidiadau arfaethedig 
 

7. Grwpiau oed perthnasol ar gyfer y Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/2020 
 

8. Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20 i ymgynghori arnynt  
 

9. Derbyn i addysg Feithrin a derbyn i addysg Gynradd  
 

10. Derbyn i addysg Uwchradd  
 

11. Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf 
 

12. Ansawdd a Safonau  
 

13. Pa effaith fyddai ar ddarpariaeth Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA)? 
 

14. Materion Cydraddoldeb  
 

15. Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf ar yr Iaith Gymraeg  
 

16. Ystyried Effaith Gymunedol  
 

17. Trefniadau Dalgylchoedd 
 

18. Materion Cludiant 
 

19. Trefniadau Teithio Dysgwyr 
 

20. Beth sy'n Digwydd Nesaf? 
 

21. Ffurflen Ymateb i’r Ymgynghoriad  

Page 576



  3 

Cyflwyniad  
 
Mae’r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gyfle i bobl ddysgu am newidiadau arfaethedig i Drefniadau 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Cyngor Caerdydd ar gyfer blwyddyn academaidd 2019/20.  
 
Dyma eich cyfle i ofyn cwestiynau a gwneud sylwadau a gaiff eu hystyried pan fo’r Cyngor yn 
penderfynu ar sut i fynd yn ei flaen. 
 
Dylid ystyried y wybodaeth yn y ddogfen ymgynghori hon ar y cyd â’r Polisi Derbyn i 
Ysgolion 2019/20 drafft sydd ar gael i’w ddarllen / lawrlwytho yma 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn 
 

 
Mae Eich Barn yn Bwysig  
 
Mae eich barn yn bwysig ac rydym am i chi rannu eich barn â ni ynghylch y cynnig.  Gallwch 
wneud hyn drwy:  
 

 mynychu un o'r sesiynau galw heibio:  
 

Dyddiad/Amser  Lleoliad 

Dydd Llun 08 Ionawr 2018 
9am – 11am 

Hyb Cymunedol Trelái a 
Chaerau  

Dydd Mawrth 09 Ionawr 2018 
9am – 11am 

Llyfrgell a Hyb Grangetown 

Dydd Mercher 10 Ionawr 2018 
10am – 12 noon 

 
Hyb Llanisien 

Dydd Iau 11 Ionawr 2018 
3pm – 5pm 

Llyfrgell Pen-y-lan 

Dydd Gwener 12 Ionawr 2018 
9am – 11am 

 
*Llyfrgell a Hyb Llaneirwg 

Dydd Llun 15 Ionawr 2018 
10am – 12 noon 

 
Hyb Ystum Taf a Gabalfa 

Dydd Mawrth 16 Ionawr 2018 
3pm – 5pm 

Star Hub 
HYB STAR 

Dydd Mercher 17 Ionawr 2018 
12 noon – 2pm  

Llanedeyrn Hub at The 
Powerhouse 
Hyb Llanedern yn The 
Powerhouse 

Dydd Gwener 19 Ionawr 2018 
10am – 12 noon 

 
Hyb y Tyllgoed 

 
*Yn gweithredu ar hyn o bryd o Ganolfan Fenter Llaneirwg (gyferbyn â’r hyb) 
 
 

 cwblhau’r ffurflen ymateb ar-lein yn www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn neu 

 cysylltu â’r Tîm Cynllunio Trefniadaeth Ysgolion ar (029) 2087 2720, dros e-bost 
ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk neu drwy’r post i Ystafell 422, Neuadd y Sir, Glanfa’r 
Iwerydd, Caerdydd, CF10 4UW. 

 

Y dyddiad cau ar gyfer ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad hwn yw 30 Ionawr 2018. Ni fydd ymatebion 
a ddaw i law wedi’r dyddiad hwn yn cael eu hystyried gan y Cyngor. 
  

Page 577

mailto:ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk


  4 

Esboniad o’r Termau a ddefnyddir  
 
Awdurdod Derbyn – Y corff sy’n gyfrifol am osod a rhoi trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion ar waith. 
Y Cyngor sydd yn gyfrifol am osod a gweithredu trefniadau ysgolion cymunedol yng 
Nghaerdydd. 
 
Ysgolion Cymunedol – ysgol feithrin, cynradd neu uwchradd a gynhelir lle mae gan yr 
Awdurdod Lleol gyfrifoldebau staffio, eiddo a derbyn.  
 
Meini Prawf Gordanysgrifio – y rhestr o feini prawf y mae’n rhaid i awdurdod eu mabwysiadu 
ar gyfer ei ysgol(ion) a ddefnyddir pan fo’r ysgol wedi’i gordanysgrifio er mwyn asesu pa blant 
gaiff gynnig lle. 
 
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb (AEG) – proses a ddyluniwyd i sicrhau nad yw polisi, 
project neu gynllun yn gwahaniaethu yn erbyn unrhyw bobl dan anfantais neu sy’n agored i 
niwed.  
 
Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA) - Mae gan blentyn AAA os oes ganddo anhawster 
dysgu y mae angen darpariaeth addysgol arbennig ar ei gyfer.  Mae anhawster dysgu yn 
golygu bod plentyn yn cael mwy o anhawster yn dysgu  na’r mwyafrif o blant o’r un oedran neu 
fod gan y plentyn anabledd y mae angen cyfleusterau addysgol gwahanol arno i’r rheiny mae’r 
ysgol yn eu darparu fel arfer i blant.  
 
Cynllun Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CIUA) – Mae CIUA wedi eu haseinio i blant y dyrannwyd 
cyllid meithrin ar eu cyfer gan Banel Asesu’r Blynyddoedd Cynnar, neu’r Panel Cynghori ar 
Achosion.  Mae paneli aml-asiantaeth yn dyrannu cyllid i blentyn Blynyddoedd Cynnar gydag 
anghenion sylweddol a/neu gymhleth drwy Gynllun Datblygiad Unigol er mwyn sicrhau y gall 
y plentyn gael mynediad at eu hawl i ysgol. 
 
Blwyddyn Academaidd – cyfnod y flwyddyn pan yw disgyblion yn mynychu ysgol.  Mae’r 
flwyddyn academaidd yn mynd o 1 Medi i 31 Awst yn y flwyddyn galendr ddilynol. 
 
Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig (NDC) – mwyafswm nifer y plant y bydd yr awdurdod derbyn yn 
eu derbyn i bob grŵp blwyddyn mewn ysgol. 
  
Ysgol Fwydo - un o grŵp o ysgolion cynradd sy’n gweithio mewn partneriaeth anffurfiol gydag 
ysgol uwchradd leol.  Byddai gan blant sy’n mynychu ysgol fwydo flaenoriaeth o ran derbyn i 
ysgol uwchradd dros y rheiny nad sy’n mynychu ysgol fwydo. 
 
Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg (CSCA) – Mae gofyn ar i Awdurdodau Lleol yng 
Nghymru gynhyrchu Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg sy’n manylu ar sut y cyflawnir 
y canlyniadau a’r targedau a osodwyd yn y Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg. 
 
Cyfrifiad Ysgolion Blynyddol ar Lefel Disgyblion (CYBLD) – Fis Ionawr bob blwyddyn, caiff 
gwybodaeth a wiriwyd ei gasglu gan ysgolion i’w chyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru.  Mae hyn yn 
cynnwys nifer y disgyblion a gofrestrwyd ym mhob ysgol, eu grŵp oed, cyfeiriadau cartref, 
ethnigrwydd a data ar y Gymraeg, cymhwysedd Prydau Ysgol Am Ddim, Anghenion Addysgol 
Arbennig ac iaith gyntaf. 
 
  

Page 578



  5 

Swyddogaeth Cyngor Caerdydd fel Awdurdod Derbyn 
 
Awdurdod derbyn yw’r corff sy’n gyfrifol am osod a chymhwyso trefniadau derbyn ysgol. 
 
Awdurdodau Lleol yw’r awdurdodau derbyn ar gyfer ysgolion cymunedol ac ysgolion 
gwirfoddol a reolir, oni bai bod y swyddogaeth wedi’i dirprwyo’n llawn i’r corff 
llywodraethu. 
 
Cyrff llywodraethu yw’r awdurdodau lleol ar gyfer ysgolion sefydledig ac ysgolion 
gwirfoddol a gynorthwyir. 
 
Yng Nghaerdydd, ceir 30 o Awdurdodau Derbyn ac mae 23 ohonynt yn Gyrff 
Llywodraethu Ysgolion Cynradd, mae 6 yn Gyrff Llywodraethu Ysgolion Uwchradd a’r 
Cyngor yw un.   

 
Y Cyngor yw’r Awdurdod Derbyn ar gyfer y canlynol: 
 

 Ysgolion Meithrin Cymunedol/Dosbarthiadau Meithrin mewn Ysgolion Cymunedol 

 Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol 

 Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol 
 
Mae Cyngor Caerdydd wedi ymrwymo i gyfle cyfartal a dileu gwahaniaethu anghyfreithlon.  
O ran derbyniadau i ysgolion cymunedol, caiff pob disgybl a darpar ddisgybl eu trin yn 
gyfartal, beth bynnag yw eu rhyw, hil, ethnigrwydd, diwylliant, cenedligrwydd, Iaith, 
abledd/anabledd neu gred crefyddol/anghrefyddol.  
 
Wrth hwyluso’r broses dderbyn, mae’n rhaid i’r Awdurdod Lleol ystyried:  
 

 Mae gan blant yr hawl i le meithrin rhan amser o ddechrau’r tymor sy'n dilyn eu pen-
blwydd yn dair oed, a rhaid iddynt fynychu am bum hanner diwrnod.  

 Derbynnir plant i ddosbarthiadau derbyn yn y mis Medi ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn bedair 
oed. 

 Mae plant yn symud i addysg uwchradd yn y mis Medi ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn un ar 
ddeg. 

 Rhaid i bob ysgol a gynhelir dderbyn disgyblion hyd at y nifer derbyn cyhoeddedig. 
 
Mae gan rieni yr hawl i fynegi dewis a fydd yn cael ei ystyried yn unigol, a bydd y dewis hwn 
yn cael ei fodloni lle y bo'n bosibl.  
 
Mae rhai ysgolion yn cael mwy o geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael. Pan mae ysgol 
yn derbyn gormod o geisiadau caiff y dewisiadau eu hystyried o hyd ond rhoddir y meini 
prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a bennwyd gan y Cyngor ar waith. Wrth 
benderfynu pa blant i’w derbyn i ysgol, mae’r cyngor yn gweithredu’r meini prawf a nodwyd 
yn ei Ddogfen Bolisi Derbyn i ysgolion sydd ar gael i’w ddarllen / lawrlwytho yma 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn.  Mae swyddogion hefyd yn archwilio 
gwybodaeth a ddarparwyd a’r rhesymau a gynigir i gefnogi dewisiadau a fynegwyd. 
 
Os nad yw rhieni yn fodlon ar ganlyniad cais am le mewn ysgol gynradd neu uwchradd 
gymunedol benodol, gallant gyflwyno apêl i’r Panel Apeliadau Annibynnol Statudol ar 
Dderbyn i Ysgolion.  
 

Page 579



  6 

Nid oes hawl i apelio penderfyniad derbyn i Ysgol Feithrin Gymunedol/Dosbarthiadau 
Derbyn mewn Ysgolion Cymunedol. 

  

Page 580



  7 

Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Caerdydd 2018/19 
 

Gellir crynhoi’r meini prawf derbyn a gymeradwywyd ar gyfer derbyn i ysgolion meithrin, 
cynradd ac uwchradd cymunedol yng Nghaerdydd yn y flwyddyn academaidd 2018/19 isod.  
 

Meithrin Cynradd Uwchradd  

 Plant sy’n derbyn Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (Gofyniad statudol ar gyfer derbyn)  

Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal / Plant 
a arferai Dderbyn Gofal 

Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal / Plant 
a arferai Dderbyn Gofal 

Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal / Plant a 
arferai Dderbyn Gofal 

Plant EYAP neu a ariennir gan 
PMP 

Plant EYAP neu a ariennir gan 
PMP 

 ‘Cyfeirio’ oherwydd brawd/chwaer 

Brodyr a chwiorydd*  ‘Cyfeirio’ oherwydd 
brawd/chwaer 

Dalgylch* 

Rhesymau 
Meddygol/Rhesymau 
Cymdeithasol Cryf* 

Dalgylch* Rhesymau Meddygol/Rhesymau 
Cymdeithasol Cryf* 

Y sawl sydd agosaf Rhesymau 
Meddygol/Rhesymau 
Cymdeithasol Cryf* 

Brodyr a chwiorydd* 

Pellach o ddewis amgen Brodyr a chwiorydd* Y sawl sydd agosaf* 

 Y sawl sydd agosaf* Pellach o ddewis amgen 

 Pellach o ddewis amgen Derbyn cynamserol 

 Derbyn cynamserol   

9 maen prawf ac is feini prawf 19 maen prawf ac is feini prawf 18 maen prawf ac is feini prawf 

 
*Gweithredir pob un o’r meini prawf is, fel is-feini prawf neu er mwyn penderfynu pan na ellir 
gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn 
 
Mae manylion y meini prawf llawn i’w gweld yn nhrefniadau derbyn 2018/19 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn 
 

Cefndir y newidiadau arfaethedig  
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar  16 Mawrth 2017, derbyniodd Cabinet y Cyngor adroddiad ar Drefniadau 
Derbyn i Ysgolion 2018/19 y cyngor. Ymgynghorwyd ar y trefniadau a nododd yr adroddiad y 
safbwyntiau a fynegwyd yn ystod yr ymgynghoriad oedd yn ymwneud i raddau helaeth â 
dalgylchoedd ysgolion a’r galw am lefydd/ mwy o law na llefydd mewn rhai ysgolion yng 
Nghaerdydd. 
 
Cytunodd y Cabinet ar y Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 2018/19 ac awdurdodwyd swyddogion i 
ystyried trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion y Cyngor ymhellach, gan gynnwys ymchwil ehangach ar 
ddewisiadau amgen ac effaith pob un ohonynt, cyn ymgynghori ar Bolisi Derbyn i Ysgolion y 
Cyngor ar gyfer 2019/20. 

 
Cysylltodd y Cyngor â'r Athro Chris Taylor, Sefydliad Ymchwil, Data a Methodoleg 
Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru (WISERd), Prifysgol Caerdydd, Ysgol y Gwyddorau 
Cymdeithasol i gynnal yr ymchwil. Mae'r adroddiad ymchwil ar gael ar wefan y Cyngor 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn  
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar 16 Tachwedd 2017 ystyriodd y Cabinet adroddiad ar yr ymchwil a 
wnaethpwyd gan awdurdodi swyddogion i ymgynghori ar feini prawf diwygiedig pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd o ran derbyn i addysg feithrin, cynradd ac uwchradd cymunedol.   
 

Page 581



  8 

Grwpiau oed perthnasol ar gyfer y Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/2020  
 
Mae disgwyl i Awdurdodau Derbyn adolygu eu Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion yn flynyddol. 
 
Mae’r Cyngor yn cynnig newidiadau i’r trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion ar gyfer derbyn i ysgolion 
cymunedol yng Nghaerdydd ar gyfer blwyddyn academaidd 2019/20.   
 
Y grwpiau oed perthnasol i weithrediad Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion y Cyngor 2019/20 yw: 
 
Derbyniadau i Ysgolion Meithrin Cymunedol a Dosbarthiadau Meithrin: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2015 – 31 Mawrth 2017 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol – Disgyblion yn mynd i Ddosbarth Derbyn: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2014 – 31 Awst 2015 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol – ceisiadau Hwyr / Yn ystod y flwyddyn i 
Ysgolion Cynradd: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2008 – 31 Awst 2015 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol – Disgyblion yn mynd i Flwyddyn 7: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2007 – 31 Awst 2008 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol – ceisiadau Hwyr / Yn ystod y flwyddyn i 
Ysgolion Uwchradd: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2003 - 31 Awst 2008 

 
  

Page 582



  9 

Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20 i ymgynghori arnynt 
 
Derbyn i addysg Feithrin a derbyn i addysg Gynradd 
 
Mae’r cyngor yn ymgynghori ar weithredu’r meini prawf canlynol pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
llefydd i addysg feithrin a hefyd i addysg gynradd: 
 

Derbyn i addysg Feithrin Derbyn i addysg Gynradd 

Plant sy’n derbyn Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (Gofyniad statudol ar gyfer derbyn)  
 

Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn 
gofal 

Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn gofal 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a 
Ariennir 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir 

Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r 
ysgol 

Plant sy’n byw yn y dalgylch AC sydd â  rhesymau 
meddygol a chymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu 
gymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â brawd neu 
chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol 

Plant eraill gyda blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai 
sy’n byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol  

 Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol 

 Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r ysgol 

 Plant eraill sydd â blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai sy’n 
byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n 
byw agosaf at yr ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw 
agosaf at yr ysgol 

 
Mae’r newidiadau arfaethedig ar gyfer derbyn i addysg feithrin a chynradd o’i gymharu â 
threfniadau 2018/19, yn ymwneud â’r meini prawf canlynol: 
 

Meithrin 

 Diwygio meini prawf cyllid EYAP/PMP i fod yn CIUA 

 Diddymu’r maen prawf pellaf o ysgol amgen 

 Disodli defnyddio is-feini prawf i ddatrys sefyllfa pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion 
i’w derbyn, gydag agosrwydd ysgol i gyfeiriad cartref fel datrysiad o fewn pob maen prawf 
pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn. 

 
Cynradd  

 Diwygio meini prawf cyllid EYAP/PMP i fod yn CIUA 

 Diddymu maen prawf cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer  

 Diddymu’r maen prawf pellaf o ysgol amgen 

 Diddymu mae prawf derbyn cynamserol 

 Disodli defnyddio is-feini prawf i ddatrys sefyllfa pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion 
i’w derbyn, gydag agosrwydd ysgol i gyfeiriad cartref fel datrysiad o fewn pob maen prawf 
pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn. 
 

Page 583



  10 

Derbyn i addysg Uwchradd 
 
Mae’r Cyngor yn ymgynghori ar ddau ddewis o ran meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd, fel y nodir isod: 
 

Uwchradd: Opsiwn A  Uwchradd: Opsiwn B  
Plant sy’n derbyn Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (Gofyniad statudol ar gyfer derbyn)  

 
Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn 
gofal 

Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn gofal 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a 
Ariennir 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir 

Plant sy’n byw yn y dalgylch AC sydd â  rhesymau 
meddygol a chymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sy’n byw yn y dalgylch AC sydd â  rhesymau 
meddygol a chymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â 
brawd neu chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â brawd neu 
chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol AC a fynychodd ysgol fwydo 
gynradd gysylltiedig 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol  Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â brawd neu 
chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol  

Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu 
gymdeithasol cymhellol  

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC a fynychodd ysgol 
fwydo gynradd gysylltiedig  

Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r 
ysgol  

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol 

Plant eraill sydd â blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai 
sy’n byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol 

 Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r ysgol 

 Plant eraill sydd â blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai sy’n 
byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n 
byw agosaf at yr ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw 
agosaf at yr ysgol 

 
Mae’r newidiadau arfaethedig ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd, o’i gymharu â threfniadau 
2018/19, yn ymwneud â’r meini prawf canlynol: 
 
Uwchradd  

 Diddymu maen prawf cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer  

 Diddymu’r maen prawf pellaf o ysgol amgen 

 Diddymu mae prawf derbyn cynamserol 

 Cynnwys presenoldeb mewn ysgol fwydo gynradd (dan Opsiwn B yn unig) 

 Cynnwys Plant sydd â Chynlluniau Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CIUA) 

 Disodli defnyddio is-feini prawf i ddatrys sefyllfa pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion 
i’w derbyn, gydag agosrwydd ysgol i gyfeiriad cartref fel datrysiad o fewn pob maen prawf 
pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn. 

 
Ceir eglurhad o’r newidiadau, ac effaith y newidiadau, ar dudalen 10. 
 
 
 

  

Page 584



  11 

Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf 
 
Cynnwys arfaethedig faen prawf Cynllun Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CIUA)  
Mae CIUAau wedi eu neilltuo i blant y dyrannwyd cyllid meithrin ar eu cyfer gan Banel  Asesu’r 
Blynyddoedd Cynnar neu’r Panel Cynghori ar Achosion.  Mae paneli aml-asiantaeth yn 
dyrannu cyllid i blentyn ag anghenion sylweddol a/neu gymhleth, drwy Gynllun Datblygiad 
Unigol er mwyn sicrhau y gall y plentyn dderbyn cymorth i gael mynediad at eu hawl i ysgol. 
 
Diddymiad arfaethedig y maen prawf ‘Cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer’ 

Cafodd y meini prawf hyn eu cynnwys gan y Cyngor o fewn y trefniadau derbyn  er 
mwyn lliniaru ar yr anawsterau a wynebid gan rieni pan nad fedrent gael lle i’w plentyn 
yn eu hysgol ddalgylch flaenorol, ac i leihau effaith y newidiadau ar ddalgylchoedd 
a/neu ganlyniad ad-drefnu ysgolion.     
 
Dim ond ychydig o geisiadau (0.06% ar gyfer pob dewis ysgol) a gyflwynwyd i dderbyn i 
ysgolion yn 2017 a wnaed ar sail diwallu’r meini prawf hyn, a allasai fod yn arwydd nad yw’r 
meini prawf yn ddigon clir neu wedi’u deall yn iawn gan rieni.  Dyrannwyd cyfanswm o saith lle 
o dan y meini prawf hyn ar gyfer derbyn i ysgol yn 2017, y byddai pedwar wedi eu derbyn dan 
faen prawf arall. 

 
Ers cyflwyno’r maen prawf ‘Cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer’, mae nifer o ddatblygiadau wedi’u 
gwneud i broses dderbyn y Cyngor (o ganlyniad i newidiadau i’r Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion) gan 
gynnwys y gallu i gyflwyno sawl dewis.  

 
Er bod rhai disgyblion yn elwa drwy sicrhau lleoedd drwy ddiwallu un o’r meini prawf  ‘cyfeirio 
oherwydd brawd/chwaer’, caiff y disgyblion hyn flaenoriaeth dros y plant hynny sy’n byw yn 
nalgylch yr ysgol ar hyn o bryd. Mae hyn yn peri problemau cynllunio adnoddau i rai ysgolion 
ac , yn sgil derbyn disgyblion yn unol â’r meini prawf hyn, mae’n bosib na all rhai disgyblion 
sy’n byw o fewn y dalgylch fynychu eu hysgol ddalgylch. 

 
Diddymu arfaethedig ar y maen prawf ‘Pellaf o Ysgol Amgen’ 

Nid yw’r maen prawf sy’n rhoi blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw bellaf o’r ysgol amgen 
agosaf sydd ar gael yn cael ei ddefnyddio lawer, dim ond pan fo’r holl feini prawf uwch 
wedi’u hateb gan ddau ddisgybl neu fwy.  Mae’r gwelliant i’r maen prawf pellter o 2 le 
degol i 4 lle degol yn lleihau ymhellach y tebygolrwydd i’r maen prawf hwn gael ei 
ystyried ac mae ei gynnwys felly yn ddiangen.    Ni ddyrannwyd unrhyw leoedd 
Dosbarth Derbyn na Blwyddyn 7 o dan y maen prawf hwn ar gyfer y rhai oedd yn 
dechrau fis Medi 2017. 
 
Diddymu arfaethedig ar fae prawf ‘Derbyn Cynamserol’ 

Gellid yn rhesymol dynnu derbyn cynamserol o’r meini prawf pan na ellir gwahaniaethu 

rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn.  Ni ddyrannwyd unrhyw leoedd Dosbarth Derbyn na 
Blwyddyn 7 o dan y maen prawf hwn ar gyfer y rhai oedd yn dechrau fis Medi 2017. 
 
Cynnwys arfaethedig faen prawf ‘Ysgol Fwydo’ (Dan Ail Ddewis B yn unig)  
Gweithredwyd presenoldeb mewn ysgol fwydo fel maen prawf, pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd, ddiwethaf yng Nghaerdydd yn ystod blwyddyn fynediad 2000/2001.  
 
Mae’r maen prawf ‘presenoldeb disgybl mewn ysgol fwydo’ yn faen prawf clir a hawdd ei ddeall, 
ac mae mantais parhad i ddisgyblion ac i’r ysgolion cyswllt hynny sy’n gweithredu'r maen prawf 
hwn.  

Page 585



  12 

 
Fodd bynnag, gall ailgyflwyno maen prawf o’r fath yng Nghaerdydd achosi nifer o anawsterau 
i rieni, yn enwedig y rheiny sy’n symud i ardal ar ôl yr adeg derbyn i addysg gynradd lle mae 
ysgolion cynradd eisoes yn llawn, neu i'r disgyblion hynny sy'n byw mewn dalgylch ar adeg 
derbyn i addysg gynradd sydd wedi bod yn aflwyddiannus o ran eu cais ar gyfer derbyn i ysgol 
fwydo.  
 
Byddai ychwanegu ysgolion cynradd bwydo dynodedig fel maen prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau 
na lleoedd islaw byw yn nalgylch ysgol yn rhoi blaenoriaeth i ddisgybl sy’n mynychu ysgol 
gynradd fwydo dros ddisgybl nad yw’n mynychu ysgol gynradd o’r fath ond sy’n byw yn nes at 
yr ysgol uwchradd. 
 
Mae dadansoddiad a wnaed o’r cohort disgyblion y dyrannwyd llefydd iddynt yn rownd gyntaf 
y derbyn i ysgolion uwchradd yn 2017 wedi nodi sawl disgybl dderbyniodd le ar sail pa faen 
prawf. Ystyriodd y dadansoddiad ymhellach y modd y gall hyn gael ei ddylanwadu drwy 
gynnwys maen prawf newydd ar gyfer y pant hynny sydd yn gyw o fewn dalgylch ysgol ac sydd 
hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo o fewn y dalgylch. 
 
At ddibenion dadansoddi, yr ysgolion y mae eu dalgylch wedi'i leoli o fewn dalgylch yr ysgol 
uwchradd a ystyrir fel yr ‘ysgolion bwydo'. Yn unigryw, mae dalgylch Ysgol Gynradd Llanisien 
Fach yn gorwedd o fewn dalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien ac Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys 
Newydd. 
 
Byddai effaith cynnwys maen prawf a fyddai wedi rhoi blaenoriaeth i ddisgyblion sy’n mynychu 
ysgol gynradd bwydo yn 2017/18 wedi amrywio, ond byddai’n blaenoriaethu rhai disgyblion 
sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol ac sy’n mynychu ysgol gynradd fwydo dros y rheiny sy'n byw o 
fewn y dalgylch ond sy’n byw lawer nes at yr ysgol uwchradd.  
 
Ystyriodd y dadansoddiad yr effaith ar dderbyniadau’r pum ysgol uwchradd gymunedol (Ysgol 
Uwchradd Caerdydd, Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan, Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien, Ysgol Uwchradd 
Radur, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr) oedd â mwy o alw am lefydd na llefydd ar gael ar 
gyfer mynediad Blwyddyn 7 ym mis Medi 2017.   
 
Dadansoddwyd dewisiadau cyntaf i sefydlu nifer y ceisiadau derbyn o ysgolion bwydo a fyddai 
wedi derbyn cynnig am le yn eu dewis o ysgol uwchradd. 
 

Drwy gymharu’r disgyblion a dderbyniwyd i’r ysgolion hyn dan faen prawf cyfarwyddo 
brawd/chwaer yn 2017 canfuwyd y byddai pob plentyn a dderbyniwyd yn ôl y maen prawf hwn 
hefyd wedi eu derbyn pe byddai maen prawf ysgol fwydo wedi bod ar waith. 
 

O safbwynt ysgolion unigol, byddai’r llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn y 
dyraniad cyntaf wedi cynnwys 213 disgybl a fynychodd ysgol fwydo. Pe byddai meini prawf 
oedd yn cynnwys disgyblion oedd yn byw yn y dalgylch a hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo wedi 
eu cynnwys, byddai 33 o blant oedd yn mynychu ysgolion bwydo y gwrthodwyd lle iddynt yn 
2017 wedi eu derbyn dan y drefn wahanol hon o ran meini prawf, ac o ganlyniad byddai 33 o 
blant a oedd yn byw o fewn y dalgylch ond nad oedd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo heb dderbyn lle 
yn yr ysgol. 
 
Byddai’r disgyblion hynny oedd yn byw yn nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd y dyrannwyd 
lle iddynt yn rhinwedd y ffaith eu bod yn byw yn y dalgylch ac agosrwydd yn unig, ac nad oedd 
yn mynychu ysgol fwydo, heb gael eu derbyn i’r ysgol os oedd eu cyfeiriad cartref yn fwy na 
0.268 milltir o’r ysgol yn y dyraniad cyntaf o lefydd derbyn. 
 

Page 586



  13 

Byddai’r llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan yn y dyraniad cyntaf wedi cynnwys 
260 disgybl a fynychodd ysgol fwydo.  Pe byddai meini prawf oedd yn cynnwys disgyblion oedd 
yn byw yn y dalgylch a hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo wedi eu cynnwys, byddai 17 o blant a 
oedd yn mynychu ysgolion bwydo y gwrthodwyd lle iddynt yn 2017 wedi eu derbyn dan y drefn 
wahanol hon o ran meini prawf, ac o ganlyniad byddai 17 o blant a oedd yn byw o fewn y 
dalgylch ond nad oedd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo heb dderbyn lle yn yr ysgol. 
 
Byddai’r disgyblion hynny oedd yn byw yn nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan y dyrannwyd lle 
iddynt yn rhinwedd y ffaith eu bod yn byw yn y dalgylch ac agosrwydd yn unig, ac nad oedd yn 
mynychu ysgol fwydo, heb gael eu derbyn i’r ysgol os oedd eu cyfeiriad cartref yn fwy na 1.278 
milltir o’r ysgol yn y dyraniad cyntaf o lefydd derbyn. 
 
Byddai’r llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien yn y dyraniad cyntaf wedi cynnwys 
238 disgybl a fynychodd ysgol fwydo gynradd.  Pe byddai meini prawf oedd yn cynnwys 
disgyblion oedd yn byw yn y dalgylch a hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo wedi eu cynnwys, 
byddai 23 o blant a oedd yn mynychu ysgolion bwydo y gwrthodwyd lle iddynt yn 2017 wedi 
eu derbyn dan y drefn wahanol hon o ran meini prawf, ac o ganlyniad byddai 23 o blant a 
oedd yn byw o fewn y dalgylch ond nad oedd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo heb dderbyn lle yn yr 
ysgol. 
 

Byddai pob disgybl a oedd yn byw yn nalgylch Ysgol uwchradd Llanisien, nad oedd yn 
mynychu ysgol fwydo gynradd, wedi eu gwrthod yn 2017. 
 

Ni fyddai unrhyw effaith wedi bod ar y llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Gyfun Radur ac Ysgol Gyfun 
Plasmawr yn y dyraniad cyntaf. 
 
Byddai effaith cynnwys meini prawf o’r fath yn amrywio yn ôl ardal ac o flwyddyn i flwyddyn 
ond mae perthynas agos rhwng hyd a lled effaith hyn a chapasiti cymharol ysgolion uwchradd 
ac ysgolion cynradd o fewn eu dalgylchoedd, a phoblogaeth y disgyblion o fewn y 
dalgylchoedd.   
 
Yn seiliedig ar ddadansoddiad data CYBLD Ionawr 2017 a’r llefydd oedd ar gael mewn ysgolion 
uwchradd, nid oedd 39% (1,656 disgybl) o grŵp oed Blwyddyn 4 bryd hynny (4,266) a fydd yn 
pontio i ysgol uwchradd ym mis Medi 2019 yn mynychu ysgol fwydo gynradd. Ni fyddai 
disgyblion yn y grŵp hwn nad oedd yn ateb gofynion meini prawf uwch, megis mynychiad 
brawd neu chwaer neu resymau meddygol / cymdeithasol cymhellol, yn ateb meini prawf 4 na 
6 pe rhoddid Opsiwn B ar waith. 

 
Ansawdd a Safonau 
 
Cyhoeddodd y Cyngor ei weledigaeth dros addysg yng Nghaerdydd yn ddiweddar – Caerdydd 
2020: gweledigaeth newydd ar gyfer addysg a dysgu yng Nghaerdydd fis Mehefin 2016.  Mae 
hwn yn sefydlu ymrwymiad y Cyngor i gyfle cyfartal; cydweithio’n agored, codi uchelgais a 
disgwyliadau dysgwyr a chofleidio amrywiaeth. 
 
Ni ragwelir y bydd unrhyw effaith negyddol ar ansawdd safonau addysg nac o ran cyflwyno’r 
cwricwlwm o ganlyniad i’r cynigion hyn. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 587



  14 

Pa effaith fyddai ar ddarpariaeth Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA)?  
 
Mae ysgolion yng Nghaerdydd yn derbyn cyllid wedi ei ddirprwyo i’w galluogi i gynnig cymorth 
ychwanegol ac ymyriadau sy’n canolbwyntio ar gyfer disgyblion sydd ag AAA.   
 
Ni fyddai unrhyw effaith negyddol gan y cynigion hyn ar ddarpariaeth AAA yn yr ysgolion a 
byddai’r ysgolion yn parhau i gynnig cymorth AAA i ddisgyblion sy’n addas i faint yr angen.   

 
Materion Cydraddoldeb 
 
Mae modd gweld yr Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb (AEG) ar gyfer y meini prawf a 
gynigir ar wefan y Cyngor drwy gyfrwng y ddolen isod: 
 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn 

 
Yn benodol mae’r AEG yn ystyried sut gall y cynnig effeithio ar ddisgyblion sydd â nodweddion 
a ddiogelir, a hefyd sut gall y cynigion effeithio ar y Gymraeg. 
 
Fel y nodwyd yn yr AEG gallai gwahaniaethau godi lle: 
 

 rhoddir blaenoriaeth i Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig sy’n rhoi cymorth i ddisgyblion ag 
anableddau sydd hefyd ag anawsterau dysgu 

 

 rhoddir blaenoriaeth i ymgeiswyr lle gellid dangos tystiolaeth yn dynodi anghenion penodol 
ar dir meddygol a/neu gymdeithasol cymhellol. 

 
Ar ben hynny, mewn ardaloedd ysgolion poblogaidd / ysgolion llawn, byddai cynnwys maen 
prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ ysgol uwchradd mwy o geisiadau nag sydd o lefydd yn: 
 

 Rhoi mantais bosib i’r teuluoedd hynny sy’n gallu sicrhau lle mewn ysgol gynradd yn ysgol 
gynradd eu dalgylch yn gynnar.   

 

 Efallai y byddai anfantais i ddisgyblion sy’n symud i ddalgylch ysgol lawn yn hwyrach, 
oherwydd efallai na fyddai lle iddynt yn eu hysgol leol.  

 
Nododd dadansoddiad yn cymharu disgyblion a gofrestrwyd ym Mlwyddyn Dosbarth Derbyn 
ysgol gynradd ym mis Ionawr 2011 gyda’r un cohort o ddisgyblion yn Blwyddyn 6 ym mis 
Ionawr 2017 hefyd y gallai gwahaniaethau ddigwydd o ran effaith pe cyflwynid maen prawf 
‘ysgol fwydo’. 
 

 Gallai oddeutu hyd at 1 disgybl mewn 7 yn byw yn eu dalgylch lleol adeg pontio i ysgol 
uwchradd fod dan anfantais drwy gyflwyno maen prawf ysgol fwydo yn sgil y ffaith iddynt 
symud i’r dalgylch yn ddiweddarach yn y cyfnod cynradd. 

 

 Mae’n bosib y byddai disgyblion DU / Affricanaidd / Caribïaidd / Du Prydeinig, teuluoedd 
Teithwyr (er mai bychan yw’r sampl) a grwpiau ethnig eraill dan anfantais am eu bod yn llai 
tebygol o fod ar gofrestr ysgol gynradd o’r Dosbarth Derbyn i Blwyddyn 6. 

 
Mae’r rhesymau dros symud i ddalgylch yn ystod y cyfnod cynradd yn amrywiol, maent yn 
cynnwys mewnfudo o’r tu allan i’r ddinas, adleoli o fewn Caerdydd sydd yn ymwneud â 
fforddiadwyedd ac argaeledd eiddo priodol ayb.   
 

Page 588

http://www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn


  15 

Byddai rhoi maen prawf ysgol fwydo ar waith i bob disgybl yn ddiwahân yn creu effaith o 
wahaniaethu yn erbyn poblogaethau sy’n fwy symudol. Os cynrychiolir yn anghymesur grŵp 
penodol sydd yn arddangos lefel uwch o symudedd, gellid barnu bod y grŵp hwn dan anfantais 
(gwahaniaethu anuniongyrchol). 

 
Er mwyn atal effaith wahaniaethol ar sail hyd cyfnod mae disgybl wedi byw mewn dalgylch 
a/neu pa un ai a lwyddont i sicrhau lle mewn ysgol fwydo ar gorn y ffaith eu bod yn byw yn yr 
ardal adeg gwneud y cais, gallasai’r cyngor roi meini prawf Opsiwn A ar waith, nad sydd yn 
dibynnu ar faen prawf ysgol fwydo (mae’r ddau opsiwn yn defnyddio maen prawf agosrwydd).  

 
Bydd y Cyngor yn ystyried canlyniadau’r ymgynghoriad cyn pennu’r meini prawf terfynol. 
 

Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig ar y Gymraeg 
 
Ni ragwelir y bydd unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol ar y Gymraeg yn sgil newidiadau i feini prawf 
pan fo mwy o geisiadau na llefydd. 
 
Mae addysgu Cymraeg mewn lleoliad cyfrwng Saesneg yn un o ofynion y Cwricwlwm 
Cenedlaethol. Ni fyddai newid ar hyn. 
 
Fel sydd wedi ei nodi yn y ddogfen Caerdydd 2020 – Gweledigaeth Newydd i Addysg a Dysgu 
bydd y Cyngor yn parhau i gynnig mwy o lefydd i ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn unol â Chynllun 
Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg (CSGA) ar gyfer Caerdydd.  Mae swyddogion yn monitro 
cyfraddau genedigaethau, effaith tai arfaethedig a phatrymau mynychu addysg gynradd ac 
uwchradd Gymraeg gyda golwg i ddwyn cynlluniau ger bron i ateb unrhyw gynnydd mewn 
galw. 

 
Ystyried Effaith Gymunedol 
 
Mae angen system decach, fwy cydradd o ddyrannu lleoedd ysgol yng Nghaerdydd heb gael 
effaith negyddol ar y gymuned.  
 
Barn y Cyngor yw y gallai rhoi yr Opsiwn B Uwchradd ar waith rywfaint o effaith negyddol 
cyfyngedig ar rai cymunedau yng Nghaerdydd. Cyfeirir at yr effaith posibl ar rai grwpiau ethnig 
yn yr adran ‘Mae Cydraddoldeb yn Bwysig’.  

 
Byddai cynnwys meini prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ ysgol uwchradd pan fo mwy o geisiadau na llefydd 
mewn ardaloedd lle ceir ysgolion cynradd poblogaidd / llawn, yn rhoi mantais i’r teuluoedd 
hynny sydd fwyaf abl i allu sicrhau lle mewn ysgol fwydo yn ysgol gynradd eu dalgylch yn 
gynnar.  

 
Mae dadansoddiad a gwblhawyd i gymharu data CYBLD (cyfrifiad disgyblion) o ddisgyblion ar 
gofrestrau Blwyddyn Dosbarth Derbyn ysgolion cynradd yn Ionawr 2011 gyda data CYBLD ar 
gyfer y cohort ym Mlwyddyn 6 yn Ionawr 2017 yn dangos fod disgyblion sydd yn derbyn PYADd 
bron i deirgwaith (29.1%) yn fwy tebygol o bontio o'u hysgol ddalgylch yn eu cyfnod cynradd 
na’r rhai nad sy’n ei dderbyn (10.8%), ac felly byddent yn llai tebygol o ateb gofynion meini 
prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’. 

    

Prydau Ysgol Am Ddim (PYADd) 
Derb o 

Medi 2010 
Bl 6 o 

Medi 2016 
% yn 
Weddill 

Yn derbyn PYADd 330 234 70.9% 

Ddim yn derbyn PYADd 1389 1239 89.2% 

Page 589



  16 

Cyfanswm 1719 1473 85.7% 

 
Bydd swyddogion yn gweithio gydag unrhyw grwpiau cymunedol er mwyn sicrhau y byddai’r 
cynnig yn osgoi effaith andwyol pan fo hynny’n bosibl.  

 
Mae’r ysgolion ddaw o dan y cynnig yn ysgolion sydd yn bodoli sy’n cynnig ystod o 
weithgareddau ar ôl ysgol ac efallai sydd â sefydliadau cymunedol yn cynnig gwasanaethau 
gan ddefnyddio cyfleusterau’r ysgol. Ni ddisgwylir unrhyw effaith negyddol ar unrhyw un o’r 
gweithgareddau hyn. 
 

Trefniadau Dalgylch 
 
Mae modd cyflawni cyfatebiaeth well rhwng cyflenwad a galw am lefydd ysgol drwy roi 
ystyriaeth fanwl i boblogaethau o’u cymharu â maint a lleoliad yr ysgolion ar draws Caerdydd. 
 
Mae’r Cyngor wedi cyflwyno cais am arian cyllid cyfalaf Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif i Lywodraeth 
Cymru sy’n cynnwys cynigion ar gyfer aildrefnu rhywfaint ar y ddarpariaeth ysgolion.  Byddai 
gofyn ystyried unrhyw newid i faint ysgolion y gellid eu gweithredu trwy gyfrwng Rhaglen 
Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif.  
 
Byddai pennu trefniadau dalgylchoedd newydd yn seiliedig ar boblogaethau presennol a’r 
ddarpariaeth ysgolion cyn hyn yn annoeth oherwydd, pe newidid maint ysgolion, mae’n bosib 
y byddai angen diwygio dalgylchoedd unwaith eto mewn cyfnod byr o amser.   
 
Nid oes unrhyw newid i ddalgylchoedd yn cael eu cynnig ar gyfer blwyddyn academaidd 
2019/20.  Mae’r Cyngor wedi ymrwymo i wneud newidiadau i ddalgylchoedd ar adeg pan fydd 
patrwm ysgolion yn y dyfodol wedi ei benderfynu.   

 
Materion Cludiant 
 
Mae’r Cyngor yn ymrwymedig i hwyluso trafnidiaeth gynaliadwy yn y ddinas.  Un o’r meysydd 
pwysicaf i dalu sylw iddynt parthed hyn yw o ran y modd y bydd rhieni a phlant yn teithio yn ôl 
a blaen i’r ysgol.   
 

Ni wyddys beth fydd y maen prawf pan fydd mwy o geisiadau na llefydd yn ei gael oblygiadau 
traffig.  Fodd bynnag, mae’r Cyngor yn argymell y gall plant deithio yn ôl a blaen i’w hysgol gan 
ddefnyddio dull teithio cynaliadwy.  Un o’r ffactorau pennaf sy’n hwyluso hyn yw agosrwydd y 
plant i’r ysgol.   

 
Trefniadau Teithio Dysgwyr 
 
Dan y cynigion hyn nid oes cynlluniau i newid polisi’r Cyngor ar gludo plant yn ôl a blaen i 
ysgolion. Gellir gweld polisi trafnidiaeth y Cyngor ar gyfer plant ysgol ar wefan y Cyngor 
(www.caerdydd.gov.uk).  

 
Beth sy’n digwydd Nesaf? 
 
Cyfnod Ymgynghori – 12 Rhagfyr 2017 i 30 Ionawr 2018 
 
Gweler tudalen 17 am ragor o fanylion o ran sut i ymateb a gwneud eich safbwyntiau’n hysbys.  
 

Page 590



  17 

Caiff yr adborth gan ymgynghoreion eu casglu, gyda materion yn cael eu crynhoi a gwerthusiad 
y Cyngor o faterion yn cael eu codi. Bydd hyn yn ffurfio rhan o’r Adroddiad Ymgynghorol ar 
Drefniadau Derbyn a gaiff ei gyhoeddi ar wefan Cyngor Caerdydd i bawb ei weld cyn iddo gael 
ei ystyried gan Gabinet y Cyngor.  
 
Gellir gweld copïau caled o’r adroddiad ar gais drwy ddefnyddio’r manylion cyswllt yn y ddogfen 
hon.  
  

Page 591



  18 

FFURFLEN YMATEB I’R YMGYNGHORIAD  
 (Trefniadau Derbyn Arfaethedig i Ysgolion Cymunedol 2019-20) 

 
Mae eich barn yn bwysig. Dwedwch wrthym yr hyn sydd ar eich meddwl parthed y cynnig drwy:   
 

 Cwblhau’r ffurflen ymateb ar-lein yn www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn neu; 
 

 E-bostiwch eich barn at: ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk neu;  
 

 Gwblhau a dychwelyd yr holiadur hwn i’r cyfeiriad a nodir ar waelod y ffurflen  
 

 
Cofiwch fod rhaid i’r holl sylwadau a anfonir yn ysgrifenedig neu dros e-bost gynnwys 
enw llawn a chyfeiriad post llawn y person sy’n gwneud y sylwadau.  
 
Y dyddiad cau ar gyfer ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad hwn yw 30 Ionawr 2018. Ni fydd 
ymatebion a ddaw i law wedi’r dyddiad hwn yn cael eu hystyried gan y Cyngor. 
 
Caiff ymatebion a ddaw i law gan ymgynghoreion eu hystyried yn rhan o’r adroddiad 
Ymgynghoriad ar Drefniadau Derbyn. 
 
Gellir gwneud cais o dan y Ddeddf Rhyddid Gwybodaeth i weld unrhyw ymateb a phosibilrwydd 
y gallent gael eu gwneud yn gyhoeddus, fodd bynnag byddai unrhyw wybodaeth a oedd yn 
nodi unrhyw unigolyn drwy gyfeiriad e-bost, enw neu gyfeiriad cartref yn cael eu dileu. 
 
A ydych yn cefnogi trefniadau derbyn ysgolion 2019/20?   
 
Meithrin   Ydw    Na      
 
Cynradd    Ydw    Na 
 
Uwchradd    Ydw    Na 
 
Os ydych yn cefnogi’r trefniadau arfaethedig, pa ddewisiadau uwchradd a ffafrir gennych? 
 
Opsiwn A 
 
 
Opsiwn B 
 
Os ydych yn cefnogi’r newid arfaethedig, rhowch eich rhesymau dros hynny 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 592

http://www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn
mailto:ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk


  19 

Os nad ydych yn cefnogi’r newidiadau arfaethedig, rhowch eich rhesymau gydag unrhyw 
newidiadau neu ddewisiadau eraill yr hoffech eu hawgrymu.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enw: ………………………………………………………………………………………. 

Cyfeiriad: ……………………………………………………………………………………. 

……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Cod Post: ……………………………………………………………………………………. 

Cyfeiriad E-bost: ……………………………………………………………………………… 

Dyddiad: …………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Eich statws:     Llywodraethwr    

                         Rhiant 

                         Disgybl 

                         Staff 

                         Arall (nodwch) …………………………………………………………………. 

 
Os yn Ddisgybl/Rhiant Ym mha grŵp blwyddyn ydych/y mae eich plentyn ar hyn o bryd?  

Cyn meithrinfa               Blwyddyn 3                      Blwyddyn 8 

Meithrinfa                       Blwyddyn 4                   Blwyddyn 9 

Dosbarth Derbyn           Blwyddyn 5                    Blwyddyn 10 

Blwyddyn 1                 Blwyddyn 6                    Blwyddyn 11 

Blwyddyn 2                  Blwyddyn 7 

 
A yw eich plentyn yn mynychu ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg?   Ydi                    Na 
 
Pa ysgol(ion) ydych chi/eich plentyn yn ei mynychu? ................................................ 

Diolch i chi am eich sylwadau. Dychwelwch y ffurflen hon i gyrraedd erbyn 30 Ionawr 2018 i: 

Tîm Cynllunio Trefniadaeth Ysgolion 
Ystafell 422 
Neuadd y Sir 
Glanfa’r Iwerydd 
Caerdydd CF10 4UW 

Page 593



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



  1 

 
 

 
 
 

Trefniadau Derbyn Ysgolion 
2019-2020 

 
Dogfen Ymgynghori 

 
 
 
 

Cyfnod yr ymgynghoriad:  
12 Rhagfyr 2017 – 30 Ionawr 2018 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Mae modd darparu’r ddogfen hon mewn Braille.  
Gellir hefyd cael y wybodaeth mewn ieithoedd cymunedol eraill os oes angen.  

Cysylltwch â ni ar 029 2087 2720 i drefnu hyn.    

Page 595



  2 

Cynnwys 
              

1. Cyflwyniad 
 

2. Mae Eich Barn yn Bwysig  
 

3. Esboniad o’r Termau a ddefnyddir  
 

4. Swyddogaeth Cyngor Caerdydd fel Awdurdod Derbyn 
 

5. Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Caerdydd 2018/19 
 

6. Cefndir y newidiadau arfaethedig 
 

7. Grwpiau oed perthnasol ar gyfer y Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/2020 
 

8. Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20 i ymgynghori arnynt  
 

9. Derbyn i addysg Feithrin a derbyn i addysg Gynradd  
 

10. Derbyn i addysg Uwchradd  
 

11. Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf 
 

12. Ansawdd a Safonau  
 

13. Pa effaith fyddai ar ddarpariaeth Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA)? 
 

14. Materion Cydraddoldeb  
 

15. Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf ar yr Iaith Gymraeg  
 

16. Ystyried Effaith Gymunedol  
 

17. Trefniadau Dalgylchoedd 
 

18. Materion Cludiant 
 

19. Trefniadau Teithio Dysgwyr 
 

20. Beth sy'n Digwydd Nesaf? 
 

21. Ffurflen Ymateb i’r Ymgynghoriad  

Page 596



  3 

Cyflwyniad  
 
Mae’r ymgynghoriad hwn yn gyfle i bobl ddysgu am newidiadau arfaethedig i Drefniadau 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Cyngor Caerdydd ar gyfer blwyddyn academaidd 2019/20.  
 
Dyma eich cyfle i ofyn cwestiynau a gwneud sylwadau a gaiff eu hystyried pan fo’r Cyngor yn 
penderfynu ar sut i fynd yn ei flaen. 
 
Dylid ystyried y wybodaeth yn y ddogfen ymgynghori hon ar y cyd â’r Polisi Derbyn i 
Ysgolion 2019/20 drafft sydd ar gael i’w ddarllen / lawrlwytho yma 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn 
 

 
Mae Eich Barn yn Bwysig  
 
Mae eich barn yn bwysig ac rydym am i chi rannu eich barn â ni ynghylch y cynnig.  Gallwch 
wneud hyn drwy:  
 

 mynychu un o'r sesiynau galw heibio:  
 

Dyddiad/Amser  Lleoliad 

Dydd Llun 08 Ionawr 2018 
9am – 11am 

Hyb Cymunedol Trelái a 
Chaerau  

Dydd Mawrth 09 Ionawr 2018 
9am – 11am 

Llyfrgell a Hyb Grangetown 

Dydd Mercher 10 Ionawr 2018 
10am – 12 noon 

 
Hyb Llanisien 

Dydd Iau 11 Ionawr 2018 
3pm – 5pm 

Llyfrgell Pen-y-lan 

Dydd Gwener 12 Ionawr 2018 
9am – 11am 

 
*Llyfrgell a Hyb Llaneirwg 

Dydd Llun 15 Ionawr 2018 
10am – 12 noon 

 
Hyb Ystum Taf a Gabalfa 

Dydd Mawrth 16 Ionawr 2018 
3pm – 5pm 

Star Hub 
HYB STAR 

Dydd Mercher 17 Ionawr 2018 
12 noon – 2pm  

Llanedeyrn Hub at The 
Powerhouse 
Hyb Llanedern yn The 
Powerhouse 

Dydd Gwener 19 Ionawr 2018 
10am – 12 noon 

 
Hyb y Tyllgoed 

 
*Yn gweithredu ar hyn o bryd o Ganolfan Fenter Llaneirwg (gyferbyn â’r hyb) 
 
 

 cwblhau’r ffurflen ymateb ar-lein yn www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn neu 

 cysylltu â’r Tîm Cynllunio Trefniadaeth Ysgolion ar (029) 2087 2720, dros e-bost 
ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk neu drwy’r post i Ystafell 422, Neuadd y Sir, Glanfa’r 
Iwerydd, Caerdydd, CF10 4UW. 

 

Y dyddiad cau ar gyfer ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad hwn yw 30 Ionawr 2018. Ni fydd ymatebion 
a ddaw i law wedi’r dyddiad hwn yn cael eu hystyried gan y Cyngor. 
  

Page 597

mailto:ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk


  4 

Esboniad o’r Termau a ddefnyddir  
 
Awdurdod Derbyn – Y corff sy’n gyfrifol am osod a rhoi trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion ar waith. 
Y Cyngor sydd yn gyfrifol am osod a gweithredu trefniadau ysgolion cymunedol yng 
Nghaerdydd. 
 
Ysgolion Cymunedol – ysgol feithrin, cynradd neu uwchradd a gynhelir lle mae gan yr 
Awdurdod Lleol gyfrifoldebau staffio, eiddo a derbyn.  
 
Meini Prawf Gordanysgrifio – y rhestr o feini prawf y mae’n rhaid i awdurdod eu mabwysiadu 
ar gyfer ei ysgol(ion) a ddefnyddir pan fo’r ysgol wedi’i gordanysgrifio er mwyn asesu pa blant 
gaiff gynnig lle. 
 
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb (AEG) – proses a ddyluniwyd i sicrhau nad yw polisi, 
project neu gynllun yn gwahaniaethu yn erbyn unrhyw bobl dan anfantais neu sy’n agored i 
niwed.  
 
Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA) - Mae gan blentyn AAA os oes ganddo anhawster 
dysgu y mae angen darpariaeth addysgol arbennig ar ei gyfer.  Mae anhawster dysgu yn 
golygu bod plentyn yn cael mwy o anhawster yn dysgu  na’r mwyafrif o blant o’r un oedran neu 
fod gan y plentyn anabledd y mae angen cyfleusterau addysgol gwahanol arno i’r rheiny mae’r 
ysgol yn eu darparu fel arfer i blant.  
 
Cynllun Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CIUA) – Mae CIUA wedi eu haseinio i blant y dyrannwyd 
cyllid meithrin ar eu cyfer gan Banel Asesu’r Blynyddoedd Cynnar, neu’r Panel Cynghori ar 
Achosion.  Mae paneli aml-asiantaeth yn dyrannu cyllid i blentyn Blynyddoedd Cynnar gydag 
anghenion sylweddol a/neu gymhleth drwy Gynllun Datblygiad Unigol er mwyn sicrhau y gall 
y plentyn gael mynediad at eu hawl i ysgol. 
 
Blwyddyn Academaidd – cyfnod y flwyddyn pan yw disgyblion yn mynychu ysgol.  Mae’r 
flwyddyn academaidd yn mynd o 1 Medi i 31 Awst yn y flwyddyn galendr ddilynol. 
 
Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig (NDC) – mwyafswm nifer y plant y bydd yr awdurdod derbyn yn 
eu derbyn i bob grŵp blwyddyn mewn ysgol. 
  
Ysgol Fwydo - un o grŵp o ysgolion cynradd sy’n gweithio mewn partneriaeth anffurfiol gydag 
ysgol uwchradd leol.  Byddai gan blant sy’n mynychu ysgol fwydo flaenoriaeth o ran derbyn i 
ysgol uwchradd dros y rheiny nad sy’n mynychu ysgol fwydo. 
 
Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg (CSCA) – Mae gofyn ar i Awdurdodau Lleol yng 
Nghymru gynhyrchu Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg sy’n manylu ar sut y cyflawnir 
y canlyniadau a’r targedau a osodwyd yn y Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg. 
 
Cyfrifiad Ysgolion Blynyddol ar Lefel Disgyblion (CYBLD) – Fis Ionawr bob blwyddyn, caiff 
gwybodaeth a wiriwyd ei gasglu gan ysgolion i’w chyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru.  Mae hyn yn 
cynnwys nifer y disgyblion a gofrestrwyd ym mhob ysgol, eu grŵp oed, cyfeiriadau cartref, 
ethnigrwydd a data ar y Gymraeg, cymhwysedd Prydau Ysgol Am Ddim, Anghenion Addysgol 
Arbennig ac iaith gyntaf. 
 
  

Page 598



  5 

Swyddogaeth Cyngor Caerdydd fel Awdurdod Derbyn 
 
Awdurdod derbyn yw’r corff sy’n gyfrifol am osod a chymhwyso trefniadau derbyn ysgol. 
 
Awdurdodau Lleol yw’r awdurdodau derbyn ar gyfer ysgolion cymunedol ac ysgolion 
gwirfoddol a reolir, oni bai bod y swyddogaeth wedi’i dirprwyo’n llawn i’r corff 
llywodraethu. 
 
Cyrff llywodraethu yw’r awdurdodau lleol ar gyfer ysgolion sefydledig ac ysgolion 
gwirfoddol a gynorthwyir. 
 
Yng Nghaerdydd, ceir 30 o Awdurdodau Derbyn ac mae 23 ohonynt yn Gyrff 
Llywodraethu Ysgolion Cynradd, mae 6 yn Gyrff Llywodraethu Ysgolion Uwchradd a’r 
Cyngor yw un.   

 
Y Cyngor yw’r Awdurdod Derbyn ar gyfer y canlynol: 
 

 Ysgolion Meithrin Cymunedol/Dosbarthiadau Meithrin mewn Ysgolion Cymunedol 

 Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol 

 Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol 
 
Mae Cyngor Caerdydd wedi ymrwymo i gyfle cyfartal a dileu gwahaniaethu anghyfreithlon.  
O ran derbyniadau i ysgolion cymunedol, caiff pob disgybl a darpar ddisgybl eu trin yn 
gyfartal, beth bynnag yw eu rhyw, hil, ethnigrwydd, diwylliant, cenedligrwydd, Iaith, 
abledd/anabledd neu gred crefyddol/anghrefyddol.  
 
Wrth hwyluso’r broses dderbyn, mae’n rhaid i’r Awdurdod Lleol ystyried:  
 

 Mae gan blant yr hawl i le meithrin rhan amser o ddechrau’r tymor sy'n dilyn eu pen-
blwydd yn dair oed, a rhaid iddynt fynychu am bum hanner diwrnod.  

 Derbynnir plant i ddosbarthiadau derbyn yn y mis Medi ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn bedair 
oed. 

 Mae plant yn symud i addysg uwchradd yn y mis Medi ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn un ar 
ddeg. 

 Rhaid i bob ysgol a gynhelir dderbyn disgyblion hyd at y nifer derbyn cyhoeddedig. 
 
Mae gan rieni yr hawl i fynegi dewis a fydd yn cael ei ystyried yn unigol, a bydd y dewis hwn 
yn cael ei fodloni lle y bo'n bosibl.  
 
Mae rhai ysgolion yn cael mwy o geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael. Pan mae ysgol 
yn derbyn gormod o geisiadau caiff y dewisiadau eu hystyried o hyd ond rhoddir y meini 
prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a bennwyd gan y Cyngor ar waith. Wrth 
benderfynu pa blant i’w derbyn i ysgol, mae’r cyngor yn gweithredu’r meini prawf a nodwyd 
yn ei Ddogfen Bolisi Derbyn i ysgolion sydd ar gael i’w ddarllen / lawrlwytho yma 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn.  Mae swyddogion hefyd yn archwilio 
gwybodaeth a ddarparwyd a’r rhesymau a gynigir i gefnogi dewisiadau a fynegwyd. 
 
Os nad yw rhieni yn fodlon ar ganlyniad cais am le mewn ysgol gynradd neu uwchradd 
gymunedol benodol, gallant gyflwyno apêl i’r Panel Apeliadau Annibynnol Statudol ar 
Dderbyn i Ysgolion.  
 

Page 599



  6 

Nid oes hawl i apelio penderfyniad derbyn i Ysgol Feithrin Gymunedol/Dosbarthiadau 
Derbyn mewn Ysgolion Cymunedol. 

  

Page 600



  7 

Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Caerdydd 2018/19 
 

Gellir crynhoi’r meini prawf derbyn a gymeradwywyd ar gyfer derbyn i ysgolion meithrin, 
cynradd ac uwchradd cymunedol yng Nghaerdydd yn y flwyddyn academaidd 2018/19 isod.  
 

Meithrin Cynradd Uwchradd  

 Plant sy’n derbyn Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (Gofyniad statudol ar gyfer derbyn)  

Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal / Plant 
a arferai Dderbyn Gofal 

Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal / Plant 
a arferai Dderbyn Gofal 

Plant sy'n Derbyn Gofal / Plant a 
arferai Dderbyn Gofal 

Plant EYAP neu a ariennir gan 
PMP 

Plant EYAP neu a ariennir gan 
PMP 

 ‘Cyfeirio’ oherwydd brawd/chwaer 

Brodyr a chwiorydd*  ‘Cyfeirio’ oherwydd 
brawd/chwaer 

Dalgylch* 

Rhesymau 
Meddygol/Rhesymau 
Cymdeithasol Cryf* 

Dalgylch* Rhesymau Meddygol/Rhesymau 
Cymdeithasol Cryf* 

Y sawl sydd agosaf Rhesymau 
Meddygol/Rhesymau 
Cymdeithasol Cryf* 

Brodyr a chwiorydd* 

Pellach o ddewis amgen Brodyr a chwiorydd* Y sawl sydd agosaf* 

 Y sawl sydd agosaf* Pellach o ddewis amgen 

 Pellach o ddewis amgen Derbyn cynamserol 

 Derbyn cynamserol   

9 maen prawf ac is feini prawf 19 maen prawf ac is feini prawf 18 maen prawf ac is feini prawf 

 
*Gweithredir pob un o’r meini prawf is, fel is-feini prawf neu er mwyn penderfynu pan na ellir 
gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn 
 
Mae manylion y meini prawf llawn i’w gweld yn nhrefniadau derbyn 2018/19 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn 
 

Cefndir y newidiadau arfaethedig  
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar  16 Mawrth 2017, derbyniodd Cabinet y Cyngor adroddiad ar Drefniadau 
Derbyn i Ysgolion 2018/19 y cyngor. Ymgynghorwyd ar y trefniadau a nododd yr adroddiad y 
safbwyntiau a fynegwyd yn ystod yr ymgynghoriad oedd yn ymwneud i raddau helaeth â 
dalgylchoedd ysgolion a’r galw am lefydd/ mwy o law na llefydd mewn rhai ysgolion yng 
Nghaerdydd. 
 
Cytunodd y Cabinet ar y Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 2018/19 ac awdurdodwyd swyddogion i 
ystyried trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion y Cyngor ymhellach, gan gynnwys ymchwil ehangach ar 
ddewisiadau amgen ac effaith pob un ohonynt, cyn ymgynghori ar Bolisi Derbyn i Ysgolion y 
Cyngor ar gyfer 2019/20. 

 
Cysylltodd y Cyngor â'r Athro Chris Taylor, Sefydliad Ymchwil, Data a Methodoleg 
Gymdeithasol ac Economaidd Cymru (WISERd), Prifysgol Caerdydd, Ysgol y Gwyddorau 
Cymdeithasol i gynnal yr ymchwil. Mae'r adroddiad ymchwil ar gael ar wefan y Cyngor 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn  
 
Yn ei gyfarfod ar 16 Tachwedd 2017 ystyriodd y Cabinet adroddiad ar yr ymchwil a 
wnaethpwyd gan awdurdodi swyddogion i ymgynghori ar feini prawf diwygiedig pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd o ran derbyn i addysg feithrin, cynradd ac uwchradd cymunedol.   
 

Page 601



  8 

Grwpiau oed perthnasol ar gyfer y Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/2020  
 
Mae disgwyl i Awdurdodau Derbyn adolygu eu Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion yn flynyddol. 
 
Mae’r Cyngor yn cynnig newidiadau i’r trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion ar gyfer derbyn i ysgolion 
cymunedol yng Nghaerdydd ar gyfer blwyddyn academaidd 2019/20.   
 
Y grwpiau oed perthnasol i weithrediad Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion y Cyngor 2019/20 yw: 
 
Derbyniadau i Ysgolion Meithrin Cymunedol a Dosbarthiadau Meithrin: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2015 – 31 Mawrth 2017 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol – Disgyblion yn mynd i Ddosbarth Derbyn: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2014 – 31 Awst 2015 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol – ceisiadau Hwyr / Yn ystod y flwyddyn i 
Ysgolion Cynradd: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2008 – 31 Awst 2015 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol – Disgyblion yn mynd i Flwyddyn 7: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2007 – 31 Awst 2008 
 
Derbyn i Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol – ceisiadau Hwyr / Yn ystod y flwyddyn i 
Ysgolion Uwchradd: 
Plant a aned rhwng 1 Medi 2003 - 31 Awst 2008 

 
  

Page 602



  9 

Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20 i ymgynghori arnynt 
 
Derbyn i addysg Feithrin a derbyn i addysg Gynradd 
 
Mae’r cyngor yn ymgynghori ar weithredu’r meini prawf canlynol pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
llefydd i addysg feithrin a hefyd i addysg gynradd: 
 

Derbyn i addysg Feithrin Derbyn i addysg Gynradd 

Plant sy’n derbyn Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (Gofyniad statudol ar gyfer derbyn)  
 

Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn 
gofal 

Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn gofal 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a 
Ariennir 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir 

Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r 
ysgol 

Plant sy’n byw yn y dalgylch AC sydd â  rhesymau 
meddygol a chymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu 
gymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â brawd neu 
chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol 

Plant eraill gyda blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai 
sy’n byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol  

 Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol 

 Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r ysgol 

 Plant eraill sydd â blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai sy’n 
byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n 
byw agosaf at yr ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw 
agosaf at yr ysgol 

 
Mae’r newidiadau arfaethedig ar gyfer derbyn i addysg feithrin a chynradd o’i gymharu â 
threfniadau 2018/19, yn ymwneud â’r meini prawf canlynol: 
 

Meithrin 

 Diwygio meini prawf cyllid EYAP/PMP i fod yn CIUA 

 Diddymu’r maen prawf pellaf o ysgol amgen 

 Disodli defnyddio is-feini prawf i ddatrys sefyllfa pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion 
i’w derbyn, gydag agosrwydd ysgol i gyfeiriad cartref fel datrysiad o fewn pob maen prawf 
pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn. 

 
Cynradd  

 Diwygio meini prawf cyllid EYAP/PMP i fod yn CIUA 

 Diddymu maen prawf cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer  

 Diddymu’r maen prawf pellaf o ysgol amgen 

 Diddymu mae prawf derbyn cynamserol 

 Disodli defnyddio is-feini prawf i ddatrys sefyllfa pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion 
i’w derbyn, gydag agosrwydd ysgol i gyfeiriad cartref fel datrysiad o fewn pob maen prawf 
pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn. 
 

Page 603



  10 

Derbyn i addysg Uwchradd 
 
Mae’r Cyngor yn ymgynghori ar ddau ddewis o ran meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd, fel y nodir isod: 
 

Uwchradd: Opsiwn A  Uwchradd: Opsiwn B  
Plant sy’n derbyn Datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (Gofyniad statudol ar gyfer derbyn)  

 
Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn 
gofal 

Plant sy'n derbyn gofal / Plant a arferai dderbyn gofal 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a 
Ariennir 

Plant sy’n cael Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir 

Plant sy’n byw yn y dalgylch AC sydd â  rhesymau 
meddygol a chymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sy’n byw yn y dalgylch AC sydd â  rhesymau 
meddygol a chymdeithasol cymhellol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â 
brawd neu chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â brawd neu 
chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol AC a fynychodd ysgol fwydo 
gynradd gysylltiedig 

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol  Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC sydd â brawd neu 
chwaer sy’n mynychu’r ysgol  

Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu 
gymdeithasol cymhellol  

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol AC a fynychodd ysgol 
fwydo gynradd gysylltiedig  

Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r 
ysgol  

Plant sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol 

Plant eraill sydd â blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai 
sy’n byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Plant sydd â rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol 

 Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer yn mynychu’r ysgol 

 Plant eraill sydd â blaenoriaeth yn cael ei roi i’r rhai sy’n 
byw agosaf i’r ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n 
byw agosaf at yr ysgol 

Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw 
agosaf at yr ysgol 

 
Mae’r newidiadau arfaethedig ar gyfer derbyn i addysg uwchradd, o’i gymharu â threfniadau 
2018/19, yn ymwneud â’r meini prawf canlynol: 
 
Uwchradd  

 Diddymu maen prawf cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer  

 Diddymu’r maen prawf pellaf o ysgol amgen 

 Diddymu mae prawf derbyn cynamserol 

 Cynnwys presenoldeb mewn ysgol fwydo gynradd (dan Opsiwn B yn unig) 

 Cynnwys Plant sydd â Chynlluniau Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CIUA) 

 Disodli defnyddio is-feini prawf i ddatrys sefyllfa pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion 
i’w derbyn, gydag agosrwydd ysgol i gyfeiriad cartref fel datrysiad o fewn pob maen prawf 
pan na ellir gwahaniaethu rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn. 

 
Ceir eglurhad o’r newidiadau, ac effaith y newidiadau, ar dudalen 10. 
 
 
 

  

Page 604



  11 

Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig i’r meini prawf 
 
Cynnwys arfaethedig faen prawf Cynllun Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CIUA)  
Mae CIUAau wedi eu neilltuo i blant y dyrannwyd cyllid meithrin ar eu cyfer gan Banel  Asesu’r 
Blynyddoedd Cynnar neu’r Panel Cynghori ar Achosion.  Mae paneli aml-asiantaeth yn 
dyrannu cyllid i blentyn ag anghenion sylweddol a/neu gymhleth, drwy Gynllun Datblygiad 
Unigol er mwyn sicrhau y gall y plentyn dderbyn cymorth i gael mynediad at eu hawl i ysgol. 
 
Diddymiad arfaethedig y maen prawf ‘Cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer’ 

Cafodd y meini prawf hyn eu cynnwys gan y Cyngor o fewn y trefniadau derbyn  er 
mwyn lliniaru ar yr anawsterau a wynebid gan rieni pan nad fedrent gael lle i’w plentyn 
yn eu hysgol ddalgylch flaenorol, ac i leihau effaith y newidiadau ar ddalgylchoedd 
a/neu ganlyniad ad-drefnu ysgolion.     
 
Dim ond ychydig o geisiadau (0.06% ar gyfer pob dewis ysgol) a gyflwynwyd i dderbyn i 
ysgolion yn 2017 a wnaed ar sail diwallu’r meini prawf hyn, a allasai fod yn arwydd nad yw’r 
meini prawf yn ddigon clir neu wedi’u deall yn iawn gan rieni.  Dyrannwyd cyfanswm o saith lle 
o dan y meini prawf hyn ar gyfer derbyn i ysgol yn 2017, y byddai pedwar wedi eu derbyn dan 
faen prawf arall. 

 
Ers cyflwyno’r maen prawf ‘Cyfeirio oherwydd brawd/chwaer’, mae nifer o ddatblygiadau wedi’u 
gwneud i broses dderbyn y Cyngor (o ganlyniad i newidiadau i’r Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion) gan 
gynnwys y gallu i gyflwyno sawl dewis.  

 
Er bod rhai disgyblion yn elwa drwy sicrhau lleoedd drwy ddiwallu un o’r meini prawf  ‘cyfeirio 
oherwydd brawd/chwaer’, caiff y disgyblion hyn flaenoriaeth dros y plant hynny sy’n byw yn 
nalgylch yr ysgol ar hyn o bryd. Mae hyn yn peri problemau cynllunio adnoddau i rai ysgolion 
ac , yn sgil derbyn disgyblion yn unol â’r meini prawf hyn, mae’n bosib na all rhai disgyblion 
sy’n byw o fewn y dalgylch fynychu eu hysgol ddalgylch. 

 
Diddymu arfaethedig ar y maen prawf ‘Pellaf o Ysgol Amgen’ 

Nid yw’r maen prawf sy’n rhoi blaenoriaeth i blant sy’n byw bellaf o’r ysgol amgen 
agosaf sydd ar gael yn cael ei ddefnyddio lawer, dim ond pan fo’r holl feini prawf uwch 
wedi’u hateb gan ddau ddisgybl neu fwy.  Mae’r gwelliant i’r maen prawf pellter o 2 le 
degol i 4 lle degol yn lleihau ymhellach y tebygolrwydd i’r maen prawf hwn gael ei 
ystyried ac mae ei gynnwys felly yn ddiangen.    Ni ddyrannwyd unrhyw leoedd 
Dosbarth Derbyn na Blwyddyn 7 o dan y maen prawf hwn ar gyfer y rhai oedd yn 
dechrau fis Medi 2017. 
 
Diddymu arfaethedig ar fae prawf ‘Derbyn Cynamserol’ 

Gellid yn rhesymol dynnu derbyn cynamserol o’r meini prawf pan na ellir gwahaniaethu 

rhwng disgyblion i’w derbyn.  Ni ddyrannwyd unrhyw leoedd Dosbarth Derbyn na 
Blwyddyn 7 o dan y maen prawf hwn ar gyfer y rhai oedd yn dechrau fis Medi 2017. 
 
Cynnwys arfaethedig faen prawf ‘Ysgol Fwydo’ (Dan Ail Ddewis B yn unig)  
Gweithredwyd presenoldeb mewn ysgol fwydo fel maen prawf, pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd, ddiwethaf yng Nghaerdydd yn ystod blwyddyn fynediad 2000/2001.  
 
Mae’r maen prawf ‘presenoldeb disgybl mewn ysgol fwydo’ yn faen prawf clir a hawdd ei ddeall, 
ac mae mantais parhad i ddisgyblion ac i’r ysgolion cyswllt hynny sy’n gweithredu'r maen prawf 
hwn.  

Page 605



  12 

 
Fodd bynnag, gall ailgyflwyno maen prawf o’r fath yng Nghaerdydd achosi nifer o anawsterau 
i rieni, yn enwedig y rheiny sy’n symud i ardal ar ôl yr adeg derbyn i addysg gynradd lle mae 
ysgolion cynradd eisoes yn llawn, neu i'r disgyblion hynny sy'n byw mewn dalgylch ar adeg 
derbyn i addysg gynradd sydd wedi bod yn aflwyddiannus o ran eu cais ar gyfer derbyn i ysgol 
fwydo.  
 
Byddai ychwanegu ysgolion cynradd bwydo dynodedig fel maen prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau 
na lleoedd islaw byw yn nalgylch ysgol yn rhoi blaenoriaeth i ddisgybl sy’n mynychu ysgol 
gynradd fwydo dros ddisgybl nad yw’n mynychu ysgol gynradd o’r fath ond sy’n byw yn nes at 
yr ysgol uwchradd. 
 
Mae dadansoddiad a wnaed o’r cohort disgyblion y dyrannwyd llefydd iddynt yn rownd gyntaf 
y derbyn i ysgolion uwchradd yn 2017 wedi nodi sawl disgybl dderbyniodd le ar sail pa faen 
prawf. Ystyriodd y dadansoddiad ymhellach y modd y gall hyn gael ei ddylanwadu drwy 
gynnwys maen prawf newydd ar gyfer y pant hynny sydd yn gyw o fewn dalgylch ysgol ac sydd 
hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo o fewn y dalgylch. 
 
At ddibenion dadansoddi, yr ysgolion y mae eu dalgylch wedi'i leoli o fewn dalgylch yr ysgol 
uwchradd a ystyrir fel yr ‘ysgolion bwydo'. Yn unigryw, mae dalgylch Ysgol Gynradd Llanisien 
Fach yn gorwedd o fewn dalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien ac Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys 
Newydd. 
 
Byddai effaith cynnwys maen prawf a fyddai wedi rhoi blaenoriaeth i ddisgyblion sy’n mynychu 
ysgol gynradd bwydo yn 2017/18 wedi amrywio, ond byddai’n blaenoriaethu rhai disgyblion 
sy’n byw yn nalgylch yr ysgol ac sy’n mynychu ysgol gynradd fwydo dros y rheiny sy'n byw o 
fewn y dalgylch ond sy’n byw lawer nes at yr ysgol uwchradd.  
 
Ystyriodd y dadansoddiad yr effaith ar dderbyniadau’r pum ysgol uwchradd gymunedol (Ysgol 
Uwchradd Caerdydd, Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan, Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien, Ysgol Uwchradd 
Radur, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr) oedd â mwy o alw am lefydd na llefydd ar gael ar 
gyfer mynediad Blwyddyn 7 ym mis Medi 2017.   
 
Dadansoddwyd dewisiadau cyntaf i sefydlu nifer y ceisiadau derbyn o ysgolion bwydo a fyddai 
wedi derbyn cynnig am le yn eu dewis o ysgol uwchradd. 
 

Drwy gymharu’r disgyblion a dderbyniwyd i’r ysgolion hyn dan faen prawf cyfarwyddo 
brawd/chwaer yn 2017 canfuwyd y byddai pob plentyn a dderbyniwyd yn ôl y maen prawf hwn 
hefyd wedi eu derbyn pe byddai maen prawf ysgol fwydo wedi bod ar waith. 
 

O safbwynt ysgolion unigol, byddai’r llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd yn y 
dyraniad cyntaf wedi cynnwys 213 disgybl a fynychodd ysgol fwydo. Pe byddai meini prawf 
oedd yn cynnwys disgyblion oedd yn byw yn y dalgylch a hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo wedi 
eu cynnwys, byddai 33 o blant oedd yn mynychu ysgolion bwydo y gwrthodwyd lle iddynt yn 
2017 wedi eu derbyn dan y drefn wahanol hon o ran meini prawf, ac o ganlyniad byddai 33 o 
blant a oedd yn byw o fewn y dalgylch ond nad oedd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo heb dderbyn lle 
yn yr ysgol. 
 
Byddai’r disgyblion hynny oedd yn byw yn nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd y dyrannwyd 
lle iddynt yn rhinwedd y ffaith eu bod yn byw yn y dalgylch ac agosrwydd yn unig, ac nad oedd 
yn mynychu ysgol fwydo, heb gael eu derbyn i’r ysgol os oedd eu cyfeiriad cartref yn fwy na 
0.268 milltir o’r ysgol yn y dyraniad cyntaf o lefydd derbyn. 
 

Page 606



  13 

Byddai’r llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan yn y dyraniad cyntaf wedi cynnwys 
260 disgybl a fynychodd ysgol fwydo.  Pe byddai meini prawf oedd yn cynnwys disgyblion oedd 
yn byw yn y dalgylch a hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo wedi eu cynnwys, byddai 17 o blant a 
oedd yn mynychu ysgolion bwydo y gwrthodwyd lle iddynt yn 2017 wedi eu derbyn dan y drefn 
wahanol hon o ran meini prawf, ac o ganlyniad byddai 17 o blant a oedd yn byw o fewn y 
dalgylch ond nad oedd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo heb dderbyn lle yn yr ysgol. 
 
Byddai’r disgyblion hynny oedd yn byw yn nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan y dyrannwyd lle 
iddynt yn rhinwedd y ffaith eu bod yn byw yn y dalgylch ac agosrwydd yn unig, ac nad oedd yn 
mynychu ysgol fwydo, heb gael eu derbyn i’r ysgol os oedd eu cyfeiriad cartref yn fwy na 1.278 
milltir o’r ysgol yn y dyraniad cyntaf o lefydd derbyn. 
 
Byddai’r llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien yn y dyraniad cyntaf wedi cynnwys 
238 disgybl a fynychodd ysgol fwydo gynradd.  Pe byddai meini prawf oedd yn cynnwys 
disgyblion oedd yn byw yn y dalgylch a hefyd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo wedi eu cynnwys, 
byddai 23 o blant a oedd yn mynychu ysgolion bwydo y gwrthodwyd lle iddynt yn 2017 wedi 
eu derbyn dan y drefn wahanol hon o ran meini prawf, ac o ganlyniad byddai 23 o blant a 
oedd yn byw o fewn y dalgylch ond nad oedd yn mynychu ysgol fwydo heb dderbyn lle yn yr 
ysgol. 
 

Byddai pob disgybl a oedd yn byw yn nalgylch Ysgol uwchradd Llanisien, nad oedd yn 
mynychu ysgol fwydo gynradd, wedi eu gwrthod yn 2017. 
 

Ni fyddai unrhyw effaith wedi bod ar y llefydd a gynigwyd yn Ysgol Gyfun Radur ac Ysgol Gyfun 
Plasmawr yn y dyraniad cyntaf. 
 
Byddai effaith cynnwys meini prawf o’r fath yn amrywio yn ôl ardal ac o flwyddyn i flwyddyn 
ond mae perthynas agos rhwng hyd a lled effaith hyn a chapasiti cymharol ysgolion uwchradd 
ac ysgolion cynradd o fewn eu dalgylchoedd, a phoblogaeth y disgyblion o fewn y 
dalgylchoedd.   
 
Yn seiliedig ar ddadansoddiad data CYBLD Ionawr 2017 a’r llefydd oedd ar gael mewn ysgolion 
uwchradd, nid oedd 39% (1,656 disgybl) o grŵp oed Blwyddyn 4 bryd hynny (4,266) a fydd yn 
pontio i ysgol uwchradd ym mis Medi 2019 yn mynychu ysgol fwydo gynradd. Ni fyddai 
disgyblion yn y grŵp hwn nad oedd yn ateb gofynion meini prawf uwch, megis mynychiad 
brawd neu chwaer neu resymau meddygol / cymdeithasol cymhellol, yn ateb meini prawf 4 na 
6 pe rhoddid Opsiwn B ar waith. 

 
Ansawdd a Safonau 
 
Cyhoeddodd y Cyngor ei weledigaeth dros addysg yng Nghaerdydd yn ddiweddar – Caerdydd 
2020: gweledigaeth newydd ar gyfer addysg a dysgu yng Nghaerdydd fis Mehefin 2016.  Mae 
hwn yn sefydlu ymrwymiad y Cyngor i gyfle cyfartal; cydweithio’n agored, codi uchelgais a 
disgwyliadau dysgwyr a chofleidio amrywiaeth. 
 
Ni ragwelir y bydd unrhyw effaith negyddol ar ansawdd safonau addysg nac o ran cyflwyno’r 
cwricwlwm o ganlyniad i’r cynigion hyn. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 607



  14 

Pa effaith fyddai ar ddarpariaeth Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA)?  
 
Mae ysgolion yng Nghaerdydd yn derbyn cyllid wedi ei ddirprwyo i’w galluogi i gynnig cymorth 
ychwanegol ac ymyriadau sy’n canolbwyntio ar gyfer disgyblion sydd ag AAA.   
 
Ni fyddai unrhyw effaith negyddol gan y cynigion hyn ar ddarpariaeth AAA yn yr ysgolion a 
byddai’r ysgolion yn parhau i gynnig cymorth AAA i ddisgyblion sy’n addas i faint yr angen.   

 
Materion Cydraddoldeb 
 
Mae modd gweld yr Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb (AEG) ar gyfer y meini prawf a 
gynigir ar wefan y Cyngor drwy gyfrwng y ddolen isod: 
 
www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn 

 
Yn benodol mae’r AEG yn ystyried sut gall y cynnig effeithio ar ddisgyblion sydd â nodweddion 
a ddiogelir, a hefyd sut gall y cynigion effeithio ar y Gymraeg. 
 
Fel y nodwyd yn yr AEG gallai gwahaniaethau godi lle: 
 

 rhoddir blaenoriaeth i Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig sy’n rhoi cymorth i ddisgyblion ag 
anableddau sydd hefyd ag anawsterau dysgu 

 

 rhoddir blaenoriaeth i ymgeiswyr lle gellid dangos tystiolaeth yn dynodi anghenion penodol 
ar dir meddygol a/neu gymdeithasol cymhellol. 

 
Ar ben hynny, mewn ardaloedd ysgolion poblogaidd / ysgolion llawn, byddai cynnwys maen 
prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ ysgol uwchradd mwy o geisiadau nag sydd o lefydd yn: 
 

 Rhoi mantais bosib i’r teuluoedd hynny sy’n gallu sicrhau lle mewn ysgol gynradd yn ysgol 
gynradd eu dalgylch yn gynnar.   

 

 Efallai y byddai anfantais i ddisgyblion sy’n symud i ddalgylch ysgol lawn yn hwyrach, 
oherwydd efallai na fyddai lle iddynt yn eu hysgol leol.  

 
Nododd dadansoddiad yn cymharu disgyblion a gofrestrwyd ym Mlwyddyn Dosbarth Derbyn 
ysgol gynradd ym mis Ionawr 2011 gyda’r un cohort o ddisgyblion yn Blwyddyn 6 ym mis 
Ionawr 2017 hefyd y gallai gwahaniaethau ddigwydd o ran effaith pe cyflwynid maen prawf 
‘ysgol fwydo’. 
 

 Gallai oddeutu hyd at 1 disgybl mewn 7 yn byw yn eu dalgylch lleol adeg pontio i ysgol 
uwchradd fod dan anfantais drwy gyflwyno maen prawf ysgol fwydo yn sgil y ffaith iddynt 
symud i’r dalgylch yn ddiweddarach yn y cyfnod cynradd. 

 

 Mae’n bosib y byddai disgyblion DU / Affricanaidd / Caribïaidd / Du Prydeinig, teuluoedd 
Teithwyr (er mai bychan yw’r sampl) a grwpiau ethnig eraill dan anfantais am eu bod yn llai 
tebygol o fod ar gofrestr ysgol gynradd o’r Dosbarth Derbyn i Blwyddyn 6. 

 
Mae’r rhesymau dros symud i ddalgylch yn ystod y cyfnod cynradd yn amrywiol, maent yn 
cynnwys mewnfudo o’r tu allan i’r ddinas, adleoli o fewn Caerdydd sydd yn ymwneud â 
fforddiadwyedd ac argaeledd eiddo priodol ayb.   
 

Page 608

http://www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn


  15 

Byddai rhoi maen prawf ysgol fwydo ar waith i bob disgybl yn ddiwahân yn creu effaith o 
wahaniaethu yn erbyn poblogaethau sy’n fwy symudol. Os cynrychiolir yn anghymesur grŵp 
penodol sydd yn arddangos lefel uwch o symudedd, gellid barnu bod y grŵp hwn dan anfantais 
(gwahaniaethu anuniongyrchol). 

 
Er mwyn atal effaith wahaniaethol ar sail hyd cyfnod mae disgybl wedi byw mewn dalgylch 
a/neu pa un ai a lwyddont i sicrhau lle mewn ysgol fwydo ar gorn y ffaith eu bod yn byw yn yr 
ardal adeg gwneud y cais, gallasai’r cyngor roi meini prawf Opsiwn A ar waith, nad sydd yn 
dibynnu ar faen prawf ysgol fwydo (mae’r ddau opsiwn yn defnyddio maen prawf agosrwydd).  

 
Bydd y Cyngor yn ystyried canlyniadau’r ymgynghoriad cyn pennu’r meini prawf terfynol. 
 

Effaith y newidiadau arfaethedig ar y Gymraeg 
 
Ni ragwelir y bydd unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol ar y Gymraeg yn sgil newidiadau i feini prawf 
pan fo mwy o geisiadau na llefydd. 
 
Mae addysgu Cymraeg mewn lleoliad cyfrwng Saesneg yn un o ofynion y Cwricwlwm 
Cenedlaethol. Ni fyddai newid ar hyn. 
 
Fel sydd wedi ei nodi yn y ddogfen Caerdydd 2020 – Gweledigaeth Newydd i Addysg a Dysgu 
bydd y Cyngor yn parhau i gynnig mwy o lefydd i ysgolion cyfrwng Cymraeg yn unol â Chynllun 
Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg (CSGA) ar gyfer Caerdydd.  Mae swyddogion yn monitro 
cyfraddau genedigaethau, effaith tai arfaethedig a phatrymau mynychu addysg gynradd ac 
uwchradd Gymraeg gyda golwg i ddwyn cynlluniau ger bron i ateb unrhyw gynnydd mewn 
galw. 

 
Ystyried Effaith Gymunedol 
 
Mae angen system decach, fwy cydradd o ddyrannu lleoedd ysgol yng Nghaerdydd heb gael 
effaith negyddol ar y gymuned.  
 
Barn y Cyngor yw y gallai rhoi yr Opsiwn B Uwchradd ar waith rywfaint o effaith negyddol 
cyfyngedig ar rai cymunedau yng Nghaerdydd. Cyfeirir at yr effaith posibl ar rai grwpiau ethnig 
yn yr adran ‘Mae Cydraddoldeb yn Bwysig’.  

 
Byddai cynnwys meini prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’ ysgol uwchradd pan fo mwy o geisiadau na llefydd 
mewn ardaloedd lle ceir ysgolion cynradd poblogaidd / llawn, yn rhoi mantais i’r teuluoedd 
hynny sydd fwyaf abl i allu sicrhau lle mewn ysgol fwydo yn ysgol gynradd eu dalgylch yn 
gynnar.  

 
Mae dadansoddiad a gwblhawyd i gymharu data CYBLD (cyfrifiad disgyblion) o ddisgyblion ar 
gofrestrau Blwyddyn Dosbarth Derbyn ysgolion cynradd yn Ionawr 2011 gyda data CYBLD ar 
gyfer y cohort ym Mlwyddyn 6 yn Ionawr 2017 yn dangos fod disgyblion sydd yn derbyn PYADd 
bron i deirgwaith (29.1%) yn fwy tebygol o bontio o'u hysgol ddalgylch yn eu cyfnod cynradd 
na’r rhai nad sy’n ei dderbyn (10.8%), ac felly byddent yn llai tebygol o ateb gofynion meini 
prawf ‘ysgol fwydo’. 

    

Prydau Ysgol Am Ddim (PYADd) 
Derb o 

Medi 2010 
Bl 6 o 

Medi 2016 
% yn 
Weddill 

Yn derbyn PYADd 330 234 70.9% 

Ddim yn derbyn PYADd 1389 1239 89.2% 

Page 609



  16 

Cyfanswm 1719 1473 85.7% 

 
Bydd swyddogion yn gweithio gydag unrhyw grwpiau cymunedol er mwyn sicrhau y byddai’r 
cynnig yn osgoi effaith andwyol pan fo hynny’n bosibl.  

 
Mae’r ysgolion ddaw o dan y cynnig yn ysgolion sydd yn bodoli sy’n cynnig ystod o 
weithgareddau ar ôl ysgol ac efallai sydd â sefydliadau cymunedol yn cynnig gwasanaethau 
gan ddefnyddio cyfleusterau’r ysgol. Ni ddisgwylir unrhyw effaith negyddol ar unrhyw un o’r 
gweithgareddau hyn. 
 

Trefniadau Dalgylch 
 
Mae modd cyflawni cyfatebiaeth well rhwng cyflenwad a galw am lefydd ysgol drwy roi 
ystyriaeth fanwl i boblogaethau o’u cymharu â maint a lleoliad yr ysgolion ar draws Caerdydd. 
 
Mae’r Cyngor wedi cyflwyno cais am arian cyllid cyfalaf Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif i Lywodraeth 
Cymru sy’n cynnwys cynigion ar gyfer aildrefnu rhywfaint ar y ddarpariaeth ysgolion.  Byddai 
gofyn ystyried unrhyw newid i faint ysgolion y gellid eu gweithredu trwy gyfrwng Rhaglen 
Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif.  
 
Byddai pennu trefniadau dalgylchoedd newydd yn seiliedig ar boblogaethau presennol a’r 
ddarpariaeth ysgolion cyn hyn yn annoeth oherwydd, pe newidid maint ysgolion, mae’n bosib 
y byddai angen diwygio dalgylchoedd unwaith eto mewn cyfnod byr o amser.   
 
Nid oes unrhyw newid i ddalgylchoedd yn cael eu cynnig ar gyfer blwyddyn academaidd 
2019/20.  Mae’r Cyngor wedi ymrwymo i wneud newidiadau i ddalgylchoedd ar adeg pan fydd 
patrwm ysgolion yn y dyfodol wedi ei benderfynu.   

 
Materion Cludiant 
 
Mae’r Cyngor yn ymrwymedig i hwyluso trafnidiaeth gynaliadwy yn y ddinas.  Un o’r meysydd 
pwysicaf i dalu sylw iddynt parthed hyn yw o ran y modd y bydd rhieni a phlant yn teithio yn ôl 
a blaen i’r ysgol.   
 

Ni wyddys beth fydd y maen prawf pan fydd mwy o geisiadau na llefydd yn ei gael oblygiadau 
traffig.  Fodd bynnag, mae’r Cyngor yn argymell y gall plant deithio yn ôl a blaen i’w hysgol gan 
ddefnyddio dull teithio cynaliadwy.  Un o’r ffactorau pennaf sy’n hwyluso hyn yw agosrwydd y 
plant i’r ysgol.   

 
Trefniadau Teithio Dysgwyr 
 
Dan y cynigion hyn nid oes cynlluniau i newid polisi’r Cyngor ar gludo plant yn ôl a blaen i 
ysgolion. Gellir gweld polisi trafnidiaeth y Cyngor ar gyfer plant ysgol ar wefan y Cyngor 
(www.caerdydd.gov.uk).  

 
Beth sy’n digwydd Nesaf? 
 
Cyfnod Ymgynghori – 12 Rhagfyr 2017 i 30 Ionawr 2018 
 
Gweler tudalen 17 am ragor o fanylion o ran sut i ymateb a gwneud eich safbwyntiau’n hysbys.  
 

Page 610



  17 

Caiff yr adborth gan ymgynghoreion eu casglu, gyda materion yn cael eu crynhoi a gwerthusiad 
y Cyngor o faterion yn cael eu codi. Bydd hyn yn ffurfio rhan o’r Adroddiad Ymgynghorol ar 
Drefniadau Derbyn a gaiff ei gyhoeddi ar wefan Cyngor Caerdydd i bawb ei weld cyn iddo gael 
ei ystyried gan Gabinet y Cyngor.  
 
Gellir gweld copïau caled o’r adroddiad ar gais drwy ddefnyddio’r manylion cyswllt yn y ddogfen 
hon.  
  

Page 611



  18 

FFURFLEN YMATEB I’R YMGYNGHORIAD  
 (Trefniadau Derbyn Arfaethedig i Ysgolion Cymunedol 2019-20) 

 
Mae eich barn yn bwysig. Dwedwch wrthym yr hyn sydd ar eich meddwl parthed y cynnig drwy:   
 

 Cwblhau’r ffurflen ymateb ar-lein yn www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn neu; 
 

 E-bostiwch eich barn at: ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk neu;  
 

 Gwblhau a dychwelyd yr holiadur hwn i’r cyfeiriad a nodir ar waelod y ffurflen  
 

 
Cofiwch fod rhaid i’r holl sylwadau a anfonir yn ysgrifenedig neu dros e-bost gynnwys 
enw llawn a chyfeiriad post llawn y person sy’n gwneud y sylwadau.  
 
Y dyddiad cau ar gyfer ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad hwn yw 30 Ionawr 2018. Ni fydd 
ymatebion a ddaw i law wedi’r dyddiad hwn yn cael eu hystyried gan y Cyngor. 
 
Caiff ymatebion a ddaw i law gan ymgynghoreion eu hystyried yn rhan o’r adroddiad 
Ymgynghoriad ar Drefniadau Derbyn. 
 
Gellir gwneud cais o dan y Ddeddf Rhyddid Gwybodaeth i weld unrhyw ymateb a phosibilrwydd 
y gallent gael eu gwneud yn gyhoeddus, fodd bynnag byddai unrhyw wybodaeth a oedd yn 
nodi unrhyw unigolyn drwy gyfeiriad e-bost, enw neu gyfeiriad cartref yn cael eu dileu. 
 
A ydych yn cefnogi trefniadau derbyn ysgolion 2019/20?   
 
Meithrin   Ydw    Na      
 
Cynradd    Ydw    Na 
 
Uwchradd    Ydw    Na 
 
Os ydych yn cefnogi’r trefniadau arfaethedig, pa ddewisiadau uwchradd a ffafrir gennych? 
 
Opsiwn A 
 
 
Opsiwn B 
 
Os ydych yn cefnogi’r newid arfaethedig, rhowch eich rhesymau dros hynny 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 612

http://www.caerdydd.gov.uk/trefniadauderbyn
mailto:ymatebionysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk


  19 

Os nad ydych yn cefnogi’r newidiadau arfaethedig, rhowch eich rhesymau gydag unrhyw 
newidiadau neu ddewisiadau eraill yr hoffech eu hawgrymu.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Enw: ………………………………………………………………………………………. 

Cyfeiriad: ……………………………………………………………………………………. 

……………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

Cod Post: ……………………………………………………………………………………. 

Cyfeiriad E-bost: ……………………………………………………………………………… 

Dyddiad: …………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Eich statws:     Llywodraethwr    

                         Rhiant 

                         Disgybl 

                         Staff 

                         Arall (nodwch) …………………………………………………………………. 

 
Os yn Ddisgybl/Rhiant Ym mha grŵp blwyddyn ydych/y mae eich plentyn ar hyn o bryd?  

Cyn meithrinfa               Blwyddyn 3                      Blwyddyn 8 

Meithrinfa                       Blwyddyn 4                   Blwyddyn 9 

Dosbarth Derbyn           Blwyddyn 5                    Blwyddyn 10 

Blwyddyn 1                 Blwyddyn 6                    Blwyddyn 11 

Blwyddyn 2                  Blwyddyn 7 

 
A yw eich plentyn yn mynychu ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg?   Ydi                    Na 
 
Pa ysgol(ion) ydych chi/eich plentyn yn ei mynychu? ................................................ 

Diolch i chi am eich sylwadau. Dychwelwch y ffurflen hon i gyrraedd erbyn 30 Ionawr 2018 i: 

Tîm Cynllunio Trefniadaeth Ysgolion 
Ystafell 422 
Neuadd y Sir 
Glanfa’r Iwerydd 
Caerdydd CF10 4UW 

Page 613



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 615



Page 616



Page 617



Page 618



Page 619



Page 620



Page 621



Page 622



Page 623



Page 624



Page 625



Page 626



Page 627



Page 628



Page 629



Page 630



Page 631



Page 632



Page 633



Page 634



Page 635



Page 636



Page 637



Page 638



Page 639



Page 640



Page 641



Page 642



Page 643



Page 644



Page 645



Page 646



Page 647



Page 648



Page 649



Page 650



Page 651



Page 652



Page 653



Page 654



Atodiad 4
Dadansoddiad cryno o ymatebion yr ymgynghoriad

Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd mewn ysgolion meithrin 
Roedd rhan fwyaf yr ymatebion (92%) o blaid neu heb gynnwys sylwad ynghylch y 
newidiadau a gynigir i’r meini prawf derbyn i addysg feithrin (roedd 62% o’u plaid ac 
ni wnaeth 30% sylwadau amdanynt). 

Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd mewn ysgolion cynradd 
Roedd rhan fwyaf yr ymatebion (87%) o blaid neu heb gynnwys sylwad ynghylch y 
newidiadau a gynigir i’r meini prawf derbyn i addysg gynradd (roedd 57% o’u plaid ac 
ni wnaeth 30% sylwadau amdanynt) ac eithrio’r cynnig i ddiddymu’r maen prawf 
cyfeirio brawd/chwaer. 

Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd mewn ysgolion uwchradd 
Roedd rhan fwyaf yr ymatebion (88%) o blaid neu heb gynnwys sylwad ynghylch y 
newidiadau a gynigir i’r meini prawf derbyn i addysg uwchradd (roedd 80% o’u plaid 
ac ni wnaeth 8% sylwadau amdanynt).   

O’r holl ymatebion, mae 8% o blaid Opsiwn A ac mae 79% o blaid Opsiwn B. 

13%

8%

79%

Not answered

Option A

Option B

Dewis yr Holl Ymatebwyr

Roedd 83% o’r ymatebwyr y mae eu plentyn yn mynd i ysgol cyfrwng Saesneg yn 
ffafrio Opsiwn B, ond roedd 25% o’r ymatebwyr y mae eu plentyn yn mynd i ysgol 
cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ffafrio Opsiwn A ac roedd 25% yn ffafrio Opsiwn B.

Heb ateb
Opsiwn A
Opsiwn B

Page 655



9%
8%

83%

Not answered

Option A

Option B

Dewis yr Ymatebwyr (a'u plentyn yn mynd i ysgol cyfrwng 
Saesneg)

50%

25%

25%

Not answered

Option A

Option B

Dewis yr Ymatebwyr (a'u plentyn yn mynd i ysgol cyfrwng 
Cymraeg)

Heb ateb
Opsiwn A
Opsiwn B

Dadansoddiad codau post – Opsiwn A

Mae dadansoddiad o’r codau post yn rhoi manylion yr ardaloedd lle cafwyd ymatebion 
o blaid Opsiwn A.  Ardaloedd y codau post hyn yw: Cathays, Cyncoed, Llys-faen, 
Llanisien, Pen-y-lan, Plasnewydd a’r Rhath, sy’n cynnwys dalgylchoedd Ysgol 
Uwchradd Caerdydd, Ysgol Uwchradd Cathays ac Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien. 

Heb ateb
Opsiwn A
Opsiwn B

Page 656



22%

8%

11%

14%

31%

14%
Other (<5%)

CF24 4

CF14 0

CF23 5

CF23 6

Not answered

Canran yr ymatebwyr sydd o blaid Opsiwn A

Dadansoddiad codau post – Opsiwn A

Mae’n werth sylwi bod 81% o’r ymatebwyr a oedd o blaid Opsiwn B yn byw yn 
ardaloedd codau post CF23 5, CF23 9, CF24 3 a CF24 4, sydd yn bennaf yn 
nalgylch Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd. 

Roedd rhai o’r cyfeiriadau â’r codau post hyn yn nalgylchoedd Ysgol Uwchradd 
Cathays a/neu Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien. 

19%

11%

14%
14%

42% Other (<5%)

CF24 3

CF23 9

CF24 4

CF23 5

Canran yr ymatebwyr sydd o blaid Opsiwn B

Dywedodd 184 o’r ymatebwyr a oedd o blaid Opsiwn B i ba ysgol yr aiff eu plentyn, 
ond 5 ymatebwr yn unig a oedd o blaid Opsiwn A a enwodd ysgol. 

Arall 
(<5%)

Heb ateb

Arall (<5%)

Page 657



O’r 184 ymatebwr a oedd o blaid Opsiwn B, mae gan 52.2% ohonynt blentyn/plant 
yn Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath ac mae gan 46.2% blentyn/plant yn Ysgol Gynradd 
Marlborough.

Page 658



Atodiad 5
Dadansoddiad cyffredinol o’r Arolwg Disgyblion 

Rhannwyd arolwg disgyblion ym mhob ysgol yng Nghaerdydd er mwyn gofyn i 
ddisgyblion ynghylch yr hyn sy'n bwysig iddyn nhw. Gofynnwyd i ddisgyblion nodi sgôr 
i'r cwestiynau canlynol (o 0-10): 

 Pa mor bwysig yw hi bod disgyblion yn mynd i’r un ysgol â’u brodyr/chwiorydd 
hŷn?

 Pa mor bwysig yw hi bod disgyblion yn mynd i'r un ysgol uwchradd â ffrindiau 
a disgyblion eraill o’u hysgol gynradd

 Pa mor bwysig yw hi bod disgyblion yn mynd i ysgol sy'n agos at eu cartref?

 Pa mor bwysig yw hi bod disgyblion yn sydd ag anghenion dysgu ychwanegol 
yn cael eu derbyn o flaen plant eraill?

Cafwyd 413 o ymatebion ar-lein, gan gynnwys 158 o ymatebion gan ddisgyblion 
ysgol gynradd blwyddyn 4, 5, a 6, a 255 gan ddisgyblion ysgol uwchradd blwyddyn 
7, 8, 9, a 10. 

Disgyblion ysgol gynradd

Dyma sgorau disgyblion ysgol gynradd ar gyfartaledd: 

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
mynd i’r un ysgol â’u 
brodyr/chwiorydd 
hŷn?

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
mynd i'r un ysgol 
uwchradd â ffrindiau a 
disgyblion eraill o’u 
hysgol gynradd?

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
mynd i ysgol sy'n agos 
at eu cartref? 

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
sydd ag anghenion 
dysgu ychwanegol yn 
cael eu derbyn o flaen 
plant eraill?

7.47 6.61 7.52 6.89

Dyma faint o ddisgyblion a nododd bob sgôr: 

Page 659



5 4 2 2 4

24

8

14 17 21

53

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

20

40

60

How important is it for pupils to attend the same school as their older 
brother/sister?

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

5 2 7 10 8

28

13 11

29
18

23

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

20

40

60

How important is it for pupils to attend the same Secondary school as 
friends and other pupils from their primary school?

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

1 2 4 5 6

15 12
19

25
21

44

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

How important is it for pupils to attend a school close to home 

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

Page 660



3 2 6
11

8

14
19 19 17 15

38

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

20

40

60

How important is it for pupils with additional learning needs to have 
priority for admission over other children?

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

Disgyblion ysgol uwchradd

Dyma sgorau disgyblion ysgol gynradd ar gyfartaledd: 

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
mynd i’r un ysgol â’u 
brodyr/chwiorydd 
hŷn?

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
mynd i'r un ysgol 
uwchradd â ffrindiau a 
disgyblion eraill o’u 
hysgol gynradd?

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
mynd i ysgol sy'n agos 
at eu cartref? 

Pa mor bwysig yw hi 
bod disgyblion yn 
sydd ag anghenion 
dysgu ychwanegol yn 
cael eu derbyn o flaen 
plant eraill?

6.73 6.13 6.86 6.71

Dyma faint o ddisgyblion a nododd bob sgôr: 

8 4 5
11 11

47

24

37
32 31

45

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

10
20
30
40
50
60

How important is it for pupils to attend the same school as their older 
brother/sister?

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

Page 661



4
11

7

18 21

51

24 28
35

27 27

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

20

40

60

How important is it for pupils to attend the same Secondary school as 
friends and other pupils from their primary school?

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

4 5 3

16
11

32
24

39

50

22

47

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

How important is it for pupils to attend a school close to home 

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

6 9 8 4

14

39
33

28 26
37

44

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
0

20

40

60

How important is it for pupils with additional learning needs to have 
priority for admission over other children?

Score

N
um

be
r o

f r
es

po
ns

es

Crynodeb o’r canfyddiadau:

Page 662



Nododd disgyblion ysgol gynradd mai mynd i ysgol agos at y cartref oedd bwysicaf 
(sgôr pwysigrwydd o 7.52 ar gyfartaledd) ac mai mynd i'r un ysgol â ffrindiau a 
disgyblion eraill o'r ysgol gynradd oedd leiaf pwysig (sgôr pwysigrwydd o 6.61 ar 
gyfartaledd). 

Nododd disgyblion ysgol uwchradd mai mynd i ysgol agos at y cartref oedd bwysicaf 
(sgôr bwysigrwydd o 6.86 ar gyfartaledd) ac mai mynd i'r un ysgol â ffrindiau a 
disgyblion eraill o'r ysgol gynradd oedd leiaf pwysig (sgôr bwysigrwydd o 6.13 ar 
gyfartaledd). 

Page 663



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Atodiad 6
Dadansoddiad Effaith:  patrymau galw presennol trwy’r ddinas yng nghyd-destun 
dewis maen prawf derbyn ysgol fwydo (Dewis B).

Mae dadansoddiad o ddata’r Cyfrifiad Ysgolion Blynyddol ar Lefel Disgyblion diweddaraf 
wedi’i ddilysu wedi ei gwblhau er mwyn rhoi syniad o’r gydberthynas rhwng patrymau 
presennol y llefydd ysgol sydd ar gael a’r galw amdanynt, pe gweithredid maen prawf ysgol 
fwydo (Dewis B).

At ddibenion dadansoddi data, canolbwyntiwyd ar gohort Blwyddyn 4 oherwydd mai dyma’r 
grŵp a fyddai’n pontio i’r ysgol uwchradd yn y flwyddyn y byddai trefniant derbyn 2019/20 yn 
weithredol.

Gwnaed ymarferiad cymharu rhwng Nifer Derbyn a Gyhoeddwyd (NDG) ar gyfer yr ysgolion 
uwchradd o’i gymharu â nifer y disgyblion sy’n byw yn y dalgylch ac sydd hefyd yn mynd i 
ysgolion cynradd cymunedol yn nalgylch yr ysgol uwchradd.  Canfuwyd, yn achos 4 o’r 13 
ysgol, fod rhagor o ddisgyblion yn byw yn y dalgylch ac yn mynd i ysgolion bwydo na sydd o 
lefydd ar eu cyfer yn eu hysgolion uwchradd cysylltiedig.

 Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin Caerdydd (270 disgybl yn y dalgylch, 240 
NDG)

 Ysgol Uwchradd y Dwyrain (343 disgybl, 240 NDG)
 Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan (386 disgybl, 300 NDG)
 Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien (394 disgybl, 300 NDG)

Yn ogystal â’r dull hwn, dangosodd cymhariaeth o gyfanswm Nifer Derbyn a Gyhoeddwyd 
gan yr ysgolion bwydo â’r ysgolion uwchradd cysylltiedig mai dim ond 6 o’r 13 ysgol 
uwchradd o bosib a allai dderbyn holl ddisgyblion eu hysgolion bwydo perthnasol gan fod 
cyfanswm y NDG yn yr ysgolion cynradd yn is na hwnnw yn yr ysgolion uwchradd:

 Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian
 Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd
 Ysgol Uwchradd Cathays
 Ysgol Uwchradd Willows
 Ysgol Uwchradd (Sefydledig) yr Eglwys Newydd
 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern

Mae’n bosibl na allai’r ysgolion canlynol dderbyn holl ddisgyblion eu hysgolion bwydo 
oherwydd bod cyfanswm NDG yn yr ysgolion cynradd yn uwch na hwnnw yn yr ysgol 
uwchradd:

 Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin Caerdydd (NDG uwchradd 240, NDG cynradd 
300) 

 Ysgol Uwchradd y Dwyrain (NDG uwchradd 240, NDG cynradd 416)
 Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan (NDG uwchradd 300, NDG cynradd 435)
 Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien (NDG uwchradd 300, NDG cynradd 465)
 Ysgol Gyfun Radur (NDG uwchradd 210, NDG cynradd 234)
 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf (NDG uwchradd 240, NDG cynradd 325)

Page 665



 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr (NDG uwchradd 180, NDG cynradd 265)

Dim ond un ysgol uwchradd yng Nghaerdydd sydd lle mae  cyfanswm y nifer derbyn a 
gyhoeddwyd gan yr hysgolion bwydo yn cyfateb â nifer derbyn yr ysgol uwchradd 
gysylltiedig, sef Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern.

Er mwyn cael cyd-destun dinas gyfan, dadansoddwyd cohort y flwyddyn ysgol gyfan mewn 
ysgolion cymunedol trwy’r ddinas. 76% yw’r ganran o gyfanswm disgyblion ysgolion 
cymunedol Caerdydd sydd ym Mlwyddyn 4 ac yn mynd i ysgol gymunedol o’r un cyfrwng, yn 
yr un dalgylch ysgol uwchradd.  Golyga hyn na ellid ystyried tua chwarter yr holl ddisgyblion 
sy’n mynd i ysgol gymunedol ar hyn o bryd, ac a fydd yn pontio i’r ysgol uwchradd ym mis 
Medi 2019, ar gyfer ysgol uwchradd eu dalgylch dan y meini prawf ar sail rhoi blaenoriaeth 
uwch i’r ysgolion bwydo. 

Bydd rhaglen fuddsoddi Band B Ysgolion yr 21ain Ganrif yn arwain at newidiadau sylweddol 
i’r ddarpariaeth ysgol uwchradd trwy rannau eang o’r ddinas.. Byddai hyn yn gofyn am 
adolygu ac ail-lunio dalgylchoedd i gynrychioli’r newidiadau hyn a than y gwneir hynny, ni 
fydd yn bosibl asesu effaith meini prawf derbyn ar sail ysgol fwydo yn gywir yn y cyd-destun 
hwn.

Sylwer: 

Nid yw cyfanswm NDG ysgolion bwydo Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf, sef 315, yn cynnwys 
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Hamadryad yn 2019/20. Aiff y flwyddyn ysgol gyntaf o Ysgol 
Gynradd Gymraeg Hamadryad i’r ysgol uwchradd yn 2022/23. Byddai cyfanswm NDG yr 
ysgolion cynradd bwydo yn codi i 375 yn cynnwys Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Hamadryad.

Nid yw cyfanswm NDG ysgolion bwydo Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd, sef 238, yn cynnwys 
Ysgol Gynradd Howardian yn 2019/20. Aiff y flwyddyn ysgol gyntaf o Ysgol Gynradd 
Howardian i’r ysgol uwchradd yn 2022/23. Byddai cyfanswm NDG yr ysgolion cynradd bwydo 
yn codi i 298 yn cynnwys Ysgol Gynradd Howardian. 

Page 666



Data yn dangos cydberthynas NDG yr ysgolion uwchradd â’r NDG a’r lleoedd a lenwir mewn ysgolion cynradd 
Cymraeg yn nalgylch yr ysgol uwchradd.

Tabl                                               Blwyddyn Cwricwlwm 
Ysgol: DER BLC1 BLC2 BLC3 BLC4

Blwyddyn bontio i Ysgol Uwchradd: 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20
NDG

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern      180
Ysgol Bro Eirwg 58 54 54 52 54 60
Ysgol Pen y Pil 30 26 24 27 24 30
Ysgol y Berllan Deg 58 48 58 55 53 60
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes 19 11 7 10 9 30
Cyfanswm 165 139 143 144 140 180

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf      240
Ysgol Glan Ceubal 20 15 19 9 7 30
Ysgol Glan Morfa 29 24 25 24 21 60
Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 60 58 58 54 59 60
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Hamadryad 17 17 60
Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 29 30 30 30 28 30
Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 42 38 48 34 52 60
Ysgol y Wern 74 71 70 68 66 75
Cyfanswm (2019/20 - 2021/22) 250 219 233 315
Cyfanswm (o 2022/23) 271 253 375

Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr      180
Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau 21 23 21 20 23 29
Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 82 75 72 69 43 90
Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 55 55 52 45 42 60
Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 30 25 26 27 27 30
Ysgol Pencae 4 2 1 6 3 30
Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod-y-Garth 27 28 19 24 24 26
Cyfanswm 219 208 191 191 162 265

Page 667



Data yn dangos cydberthynas NDG yr ysgolion uwchradd â’r NDG a’r lleoedd a lenwir mewn ysgolion cynradd 
Saesneg yn nalgylch yr ysgol uwchradd.

Tabl                       Blwyddyn Cwricwlwm 
Ysgol: DER BLC1 BLC2 BLC3 BLC4

Blwyddyn bontio i Ysgol Uwchradd: 2023/24 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20
NDG

Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian      181

Ysgol Gynradd y Tyllgoed 29 17 26 24 19 40
Ysgol Gynradd Pentre-baen 21 29 24 18 23 30
Ysgol Gynradd Peter Lea 40 35 43 41 41 45
Cyfanswm 90 81 93 83 83 115

Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd      240
Ysgol Gynradd Howardian 28 37 60
Ysgol Gynradd Lakeside 60 52 53 51 68 60
Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough 58 56 74 56 53 60
Ysgol Gynradd Rhydypenau 59 58 56 71 47 60
Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath 51 45 42 50 49 58
Cyfanswm (2019/20 - 2021/22) 225 228 217 238
Cyfanswm (o 2022/23 ymlaen) 256 248 298

Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin 
Caerdydd      240
Ysgol Gynradd Herbert Thompson 63 68 66 68 56 60
Ysgol Gynradd Hywel Dda 56 52 58 55 55 60
Ysgol Gynradd Millbank 26 29 28 29 23 30
Ysgol Gynradd Pencaerau 29 30 30 31 29 30
Ysgol Gynradd Trelái 46 59 54 46 54 60
Ysgol Gynradd Windsor Clive 58 57 53 50 53 60
Cyfanswm 278 295 289 279 270 300

Ysgol Uwchradd Cathays      165
Ysgol Gynradd Albany 34 35 30 39 30 60
Ysgol Gynradd Allensbank 15 31 21 24 24 45
Ysgol Gynradd Gladstone 22 25 21 22 25 30
Cyfanswm 71 91 72 85 79 135

Ysgol Uwchradd y Dwyrain      240
Ysgol Gynradd Bryn Hafod 39 42 42 38 41 60
Ysgol Gynradd Glan-yr-Afon 19 24 14 27 20 41
Ysgol Gynradd Greenway 28 28 29 24 26 30
Ysgol Gynradd Meadowlane 33 40 33 44 37 45
Ysgol Gynradd Oakfield 47 48 54 57 53 60
Ysgol Gynradd Pen-y-Bryn 32 27 29 26 31 30
Ysgol Gynradd Tredelerch 55 56 50 53 52 60
Ysgol Gynradd Trowbridge 28 28 25 26 28 30
Ysgol Gynradd Willowbrook 58 57 53 54 55 60

Page 668



Cyfanswm 339 350 329 349 343 416

Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan      300
Ysgol Gynradd Grangetown 58 61 59 55 56 60
Ysgol Gynradd Kitchener 57 58 49 55 53 60
Ysgol Gynradd Lansdowne 32 43 47 51 72 60
Ysgol Gynradd Mount Stuart 58 54 57 58 56 60
Ysgol Gynradd Parc Ninian 69 85 79 52 56 90
Ysgol Gynradd Radnor 43 46 35 45 39 45
Ysgol Gynradd Severn 55 54 50 54 54 60
Cyfanswm 372 401 376 370 386 435

Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien      300
Ysgol Gynradd Bryn Celyn 17 27 21 26 28 30
Ysgol Gynradd Coed Glas 71 48 64 50 75 75
Ysgol Gynradd Glyncoed 35 49 50 49 49 60
Ysgol Gynradd Llanedern 38 45 41 42 32 55
Ysgol Gynradd Llanisien Fach 16 23 27 32 24 5*
Ysgol Gynradd Llysfaen 57 48 50 50 53 60
Ysgol Gynradd Springwood 20 24 28 19 29 60
Ysgol Gynradd Draenen Pen-y-
graig 59 43 54 52 58 60
Ysgol Gynradd Ton-yr-Ywen 54 53 55 57 46 60
Cyfanswm 367 360 390 377 394 465

Ysgol Gyfun Radur      210
Ysgol Gynradd Bryn Deri 29 30 27 29 27 30
Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau 20 22 20 19 22 29
Ysgol Gynradd Danescourt 27 22 36 34 22 60
Ysgol Gynradd Pentyrch 16 16 24 16 15 20
Ysgol Gynradd Tongwynlais 23 23 25 22 18 28
Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod-y-Garth 8 8 8 8 8 7
Ysgol Gynradd Radur 55 60 52 56 53 60
Cyfanswm 178 181 192 184 165 234

Ysgol Uwchradd Willows 224
Ysgol Gynradd Adamsdown 45 48 33 36 43 60
Ysgol Gynradd Baden Powell 58 47 51 51 45 60
Ysgol Gynradd Moorland 57 51 53 50 46 60
Ysgol Gynradd Stacey 22 24 19 22 18 30
Cyfanswm 182 170 156 159 152 210

Page 669



Ysgol Uwchradd (Sefydledig) yr Eglwys 
Newydd      390
Ysgol Gynradd Llwynbedw 46 51 37 43 41 58
Ysgol Gynradd Coryton 26 26 30 22 27 30
Ysgol Gynradd Gabalfa 26 35 23 32 26 30
Ysgol Gynradd Hawthorn 30 28 23 28 22 30
Ysgol Gynradd Llanisien Fach 43 34 33 26 32 55*
Ysgol Gynradd Rhiwbeina 83 72 79 74 71 75
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys 
Newydd 85 80 77 81 78 90
Cyfanswm 339 326 302 306 297 368

Mae’r tabl isod yn crynhoi data cohort Blwyddyn 4 mewn tablau (yn cynrychioli’r cohort a fydd yn mynd i’r 
ysgol uwchradd ym mlwyddyn ysgol 2019/20)

Crynodeb o ddosbarthiad y niferoedd Disgyblion a dderbynnir i’r Ysgolion Bwydo o’u cymharu â’r 
Ddarpariaeth Ysgol Uwchradd ar gyfer cohort pontio 2019/20

Dalgylch Ysgol 
Uwchradd % y disgyblion yn mynd i Ysgolion Bwydo 

sy’n byw yn Nalgylch yr Ysgol Uwchradd

Cyfanswm NDG yr Ysgolion 
Bwydo Cynradd / NDG 
Uwchradd Cysylltiedig 

Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian 45.9% 63.5%
Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd 90.4% 99.2%
Ysgol Uwchradd Cathays 47.9% 81.8%
Ysgol Uwchradd y Dwyrain 142.9% 173.3%
Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan 128.7% 145.0%
Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien 131.3% 155.0%
Ysgol Gyfun Radur 78.6% 111.4%
Ysgol Uwchradd Willows 67.9% 93.8%
Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin 
Caerdydd 112.5% 125.0%
Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys Newydd 76.2% 94.4%
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Bro Edern 77.8% 100.0%
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 97.1% 131.3%
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 90.0% 147.2%

Cyfanswm y disgyblion yn yr ysgolion bwydo sy’n byw 
yn y dalgylch  2921
Cyfanswm y disgyblion sy’n mynd i ysgolion cymunedol prif 
ffrwd. 3418
Cyfanswm disgyblion mewn ysgolion bwydo wedi eu capio i’r 
NDG uwchradd 2608
Canran mewn ysgolion bwydo wedi eu capio 
o’r cohort cyfan*   76.3%

Page 670



*Mae hyn yn cynrychioli nifer y disgyblion sy’n byw mewn dalgylch ac yn mynd i ysgol fwydo ac a fydd o bosibl yn mynd ymlaen 
i’r ysgol uwchradd gysylltiedig yn 2019/20; mae’r ysgolion uwchradd a fyddai’n derbyn gormod o ddisgyblion gan eu hysgolion 
bwydo wedi eu capio ar y nifer disgyblion y mae eu niferoedd derbyn yn eu caniatáu. 

Page 671



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 1 o 22

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg / This document is available in English

POLISI
DERBYN I
YSGOLION
2019/2020

CYNGOR CAERDYDD

ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES 

Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Saesneg / This document is available in English

Page 673



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 2 o 22

1. CYFLWYNIAD 
1.1 Derbyn i Ysgolion
1.2 Maes Perthnasol i’w Ymgynghori
1.3 Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig
1.4 Ardaloedd Dalgylch Ysgolion Cymunedol
1.5 Plant sydd â datganiad Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA)
1.6 Trefniadau Derbyn Cydlynol i Ysgolion Uwchradd 
1.7 Diogelu Data a Rheoliad Diogelu Data Cyffredinol yr UE

2. CYFLWYNO CAIS
2.1 Sut i Ymgeisio
2.2 Cyn Ymgeisio
2.3 Yr Ymgeisydd
2.4 Ceisiadau ar amser (a gaiff eu hystyried yn ystod y ‘cylch derbyn arferol’)
2.5 Ceisiadau hwyr (a gaiff eu hystyried yn tu allan i’r ‘cylch derbyn arferol’)
2.6 Wrth ddyrannu lleoedd nid yw’r Cyngor yn ystyried
2.7 Ceisiadau o Ddosbarth Derbyn i Flwyddyn 11

3. DERBYNIADAU I YSGOLION MEITHRIN CYMUNEDOL A DOSBARTHIADAU MEITHRIN
3.1 Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd
3.2 Ceisiadau Hwyr
3.3 Dim Hawl i gyflwyno Apêl Statudol
3.4 Cyllid y Blynyddoedd Cynnar (CBC)

4. DERBYNIADAU I YSGOLION CYNRADD CYMUNEDOL
4.1 Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd
4.2 Ceisiadau Hwyr
4.3 Apeliadau Statudol
4.4 Mynediad Hwyr
4.5 Ysgol Gynradd Wirfoddol a Reolir

5. DERBYNIADAU I YSGOLION UWCHRADD CYMUNEDOL
5.1 Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd – Opsiwn 1 
5.2 Ceisiadau Hwyr
5.3 Apeliadau Statudol

6. DERBYNIADAU I’R CHWECHED DOSBARTH
7. EGLURO’R MEINI PRAWF PAN FO MWY O GEISIADAU NA LLEOEDD

7.1 Manylion y Plentyn - Cyfeiriad 
7.2 Plant sy’n Derbyn Gofal (PDG) / Plant oedd yn Arfer Derbyn Gofal (PADG)
7.3 Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CGIUA)
7.4 Yn byw mewn dalgylch diffiniedig 
7.5 Rhesymau Meddygol/Rhesymau Cymdeithasol Cryf
7.6 Brodyr a chwiorydd
7.7 Agosrwydd

8. TYSTIOLAETH DDOGFENNOL ALL FOD EI HANGEN GAN YMGEISWYR
8.1 Cyflwyno dogfennau sy’n ymwneud â phlentyn Personél Gwasanaeth y DU neu 

Weision eraill y Goron
8.2 Cyflwyno dogfennau’n ymwneud â Chyfeiriad Cartref Plentyn
8.3 Cyflwyno dogfennau’n ymwneud â Rhesymau Meddygol Cryf neu Resymau 

Cymdeithasol Cryf
9. Y BROSES GYNIGION

9.1 Cynigion Ysgol
9.2 Dim Cynigion Ysgol
9.3 Tynnu Cynnig i Ysgol yn ôl
9.4 Rhestrau Aros

Atodiad 1 – Niferoedd Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20

Page 674



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 3 o 22

1. CYFLWYNIAD

1.1 Derbyn i Ysgolion
Mae’r Cyngor yn ymrwymedig i ddarparu ysgolion lleol i blant lleol lle y bo’n 
bosibl. 

Mae gan rieni (y cyfeirir atynt hefyd fel ‘ymgeiswyr’ yn y ddogfen bolisi hon) yr 
hawl i fynegi dewis ysgol(ion) a fydd yn cael ei ystyried yn unigol a’i fodloni ati lle 
bo’n bosibl.

Mae Cyngor Caerdydd yn ymrwymedig i gyfle cyfartal a diddymu gwahaniaethu.  
O ran derbyn i ysgolion, caiff pob disgybl a darpar ddisgybl ei drin yn deg, beth 
bynnag fo’i ryw, hil, ethnigrwydd, diwylliant, cenedligrwydd, iaith, gallu/anabledd 
neu gred grefyddol.  Mae camau ar waith i sicrhau nad yw gweithdrefnau derbyn 
i ysgolion yn rhoi mantais annheg neu anfantais annheg i unrhyw grwpiau drwy 
weithredu rheolau neu amodau nad yw’n bosibl i bawb gydymffurfio â hwy. 

Caiff yr holl dderbyniadau i ddosbarthiadau cymunedol ac ysgolion cymunedol 
eu cymeradwyo gan Gyfarwyddwr Addysg a Dysgu Gydol Oes Cyngor Caerdydd. 

1.2 Maes Perthnasol i’w Ymgynghori
Yn unol â Rheoliadau Addysg (Ardaloedd Ymgynghori Perthnasol ar Drefniadau 
Derbyn) 1999, yr ardal berthnasol ar gyfer ysgolion cymunedol yng Nghaerdydd 
yw ardal weinyddol Cyngor Sir Dinas a Sir Caerdydd (y Cyngor Sir).

1.3 Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig
Yn y cylch derbyn arferol, mae’n rhaid i bob ysgol a gynhelir dderbyn disgyblion 
tan y byddant wedi cyrraedd eu Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig. Ni fydd cais derbyn i 
ysgol yn cael ei wrthod mewn unrhyw ysgol nes bydd y Nifer Derbyn 
Cyhoeddedig wedi’i gyrraedd (oni bai am ddisgyblion sydd wedi’u gwahardd 
ddwywaith [cyfeiriwch at 3.58 – 3.60 Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru 
rhif dogfen 005/2013]). Cyfrifwyd y nifer derbyn cyhoeddedig yn unol â 
methodoleg cyfrifo capasiti ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru, "Mesur Capasiti 
Ysgolion yng Nghymru” cylchlythyr  021/2011. Gan fod y nifer hwn yn seiliedig ar 
gapasiti ffisegol yr ysgol i dderbyn disgyblion, ni ddylid derbyn mwy na’r nifer hwn 
dan amgylchiadau arferol. 

1.4 Ardaloedd Dalgylch Ysgolion Cymunedol
Mae gwybodaeth am ddalgylchoedd ar gael ar wefan y Cyngor. Mae’r rhan fwyaf 
o ddalgylchoedd ysgolion sydd ag ysgolion cynradd cymunedol a gynhelir wedi’u 
grwpio gyda’i gilydd i ffurfio dalgylchoedd ysgolion uwchradd a gynhelir yng 
Nghaerdydd. 

Gall dalgylchoedd newid, a chynhelir ymgynghoriad ar unrhyw newidiadau 
cyn eu gweithredu. Ni allwn warantu lle i blentyn yn ei ysgol ddalgylch.

Page 675



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 4 o 22

1.5 Plant sydd â datganiad Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig (AAA)
Pan fo ysgol gymunedol yn cael ei henwi mewn datganiad o Anghenion Addysgol 
Arbennig (AAA), mae gan y Cyngor ddyletswydd i roi lle i’r plentyn yn yr ysgol. 

1.6 Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Uwchradd Cydlynol
Bydd y Cyngor yn dal i gydlynu trefniadau derbyn i ysgolion uwchradd, sy’n 
berthnasol i’r holl ysgolion uwchradd cymunedol; Ysgol Uwchradd Gatholig 
Corpus Christi; Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Teilo Sant ac Ysgol 
Uwchradd (Sefydledig) yr Eglwys Newydd.

1.7 Diogelu Data a Rheoliad Diogelu Data Cyffredinol yr UE
Bydd yr holl wybodaeth yn cael ei phrosesu’n unol â Deddf Diogelu Data 1998.

Page 676



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 5 o 22

2. CYFLWYNO CAIS 

2.1 Sut i Ymgeisio
Mae’n rhaid cyflwyno cais i’r ysgol y mae rhiant yn dymuno i’w plentyn fynd iddi. 
Mae’r Cyngor yn derbyn ceisiadau drwy Wasanaeth Ymgeisio Ar-lein y Cyngor 
neu drwy ffurflen ddewis wedi’i chwblhau a’i hanfon dros e-bost at 
derbyniysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk neu at Derbyniadau i Ysgolion, Ystafell 422, 
Neuadd y Sir, Glanfa’r Iwerydd, Caerdydd, CF10 4UW. Nid yw’r Cyngor yn 
cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw ddata sy’n mynd ar goll o ganlyniad i’r dull 
y dewisodd yr ymgeisydd ei ddefnyddio i anfon y data.

2.2 Cyn Ymgeisio
Mae cyfleuster ar wefan Cyngor Caerdydd sy’n galluogi i rieni gyflwyno manylion 
eu plentyn a derbyn gwybodaeth ar sut i ymgeisio am le ysgol ar yr adeg gywir 
yn unol ag amserlen derbyniadau’r Cyngor.

Dylai rhieni sydd wedi cofrestru manylion y plentyn cyn iddynt gyrraedd oed 
meithrin gyda’r Cyngor ymgeisio am le meithrin cymunedol drwy ddefnyddio 
Gwasanaeth Ymgeisio Ar-lein y Cyngor neu drwy gwblhau ffurflen dewis.

Dylai rhieni sydd wedi cofrestru manylion eu plentyn oed meithrin neu iau gyda’r 
Cyngor ymgeisio am le mewn dosbarth derbyn yn eu hysgol(ion) gynradd 
gymunedol ddewis yn ystod Tymor yr Hydref cyn derbyn, drwy ddefnyddio 
Gwasanaeth Ymgeisio Ar-lein y Cyngor neu drwy gwblhau ffurflen dewis. 

Yn ystod Tymor yr Hydref, cyn derbyn, gwahoddir rhieni plant yn ngrŵp oedran 
Blwyddyn 6 i enwebu eu hysgol(ion) uwchradd ddewis drwy ddefnyddio 
Gwasanaeth Ymgeisio Ar-lein y Cyngor neu drwy gwblhau ffurflen dewis.

Gall unrhyw riant sydd heb gofrestru ei blentyn ymlaen llaw dal wneud cais am le 
mewn ysgol.

2.3 Yr Ymgeisydd
Dim ond ceisiadau a gyflwynir gan ‘riant’ y plentyn (fel y’i diffinnir yn Adran 576 
Deddf Addysg 1996) fydd yn cael eu hystyried gan y Cyngor. Mae hyn yn 
cynnwys unrhyw berson nad yw’n rhiant i’r plentyn neu berson ifanc ond sydd â 
chyfrifoldeb rhianta drosto neu’n gofalu amdano.

2.4 Ceisiadau ar amser (a gaiff eu hystyried yn ystod y ‘cylch derbyn arferol’)
Derbyn i’r Dosbarth Meithrin ar ôl dechrau’r Tymor:
Bydd rhieni a gyflwynodd gais erbyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig yn cael gwybod 
canlyniad eu cais erbyn y dyddiad rhoi gwybod cyhoeddedig. Gweler paragraffau 
3.1.1; 3.1.2 a 3.1.3 i gael rhagor o fanylion ar y dyddiadau cyhoeddedig.

Derbyn i Ddosbarth Derbyn o ddechrau’r Flwyddyn Academaidd:
Dim ond ceisiadau a dderbynnir erbyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig perthnasol ar 
gyfer derbyn ffurflenni dewis, sef Dydd Llun, 7 Ionawr 2019, fydd yn cael eu 
hystyried yn y rownd gyntaf o ddyrannu lleoedd, a bydd ymgeiswyr yn cael 
gwybod am ganlyniad eu cais ar Dydd Mawrth, 16 Ebrill 2019.

Page 677



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 6 o 22

Trosglwyddo i Flwyddyn 7 o ddechrau’r Flwyddyn Academaidd:
Dim ond ceisiadau a dderbynnir erbyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig perthnasol ar 
gyfer derbyn ffurflenni dewis, sef Dydd Llun, 19 Tachwedd 2018, fydd yn cael eu 
hystyried yn y rownd gyntaf o ddyrannu lleoedd, a bydd ymgeiswyr yn cael 
gwybod am ganlyniad eu cais ar Dydd Gwener, 1 Mawrth 2019.

2.5 Ceisiadau hwyr (a gaiff eu hystyried yn tu allan i’r ‘cylch derbyn arferol’)
Ar ôl y rownd gyntaf o ddyrannu lleoedd, caiff ceisiadau hwyr eu hystyried yn unol 
â meini prawf cyhoeddedig y Cyngor.

Ar ôl y dyddiadau cau’r rownd cyntaf, mae’r dyddiadau cau nesaf fel a ganlyn:
 Derbyn i Addysg Feithrin – y diwrnod olaf o bob mis
 Derbyn i Addysg Gynradd (Dosbarth Derbyn o fis Medi) – 30 Ebrill 2019
 Trosglwyddo i Addysg Uwchradd (Blwyddyn 7 o fis Medi) – 15 Mawrth 2019

Y dyddiadau ar gyfer rowndiau dilynol fydd y diwrnod olaf o bob mis.

Bydd ceisiadau a wrthodwyd o'r rownd gyntaf o ddyrannu lleoedd, ac unrhyw 
geisiadau hwyr wedi hynny, yn cael eu hystyried ar y cyd ar gyfer unrhyw leoedd 
allai godi wedi hynny. 

2.6 Wrth ddyrannu lleoedd nid yw’r Cyngor yn ystyried

At ddibenion derbyn i Feithrinfa Gymunedol:
 Yr ysgol gynradd benodol y mae’r plentyn yn debygol i’w mynychu;
 Y cyfnod o amser y mae’r ysgol feithrin wedi bod yn ymwybodol o fwriad y 

rhieni i ymgeisio am le yn yr ysgol feithrin;
 Gwahoddiad neu blentyn yn mynychu diwrnod agored.

At ddibenion derbyn i Ysgol Gynradd Gymunedol:
 Yr ysgol uwchradd benodol y mae’r plentyn yn debygol i’w mynychu;
 Y cyfnod o amser y mae’r ysgol wedi bod yn ymwybodol o fwriad y rhieni i 

ymgeisio am le yn yr ysgol;
 Presenoldeb mewn Dosbarth Meithrin Cymunedol yn yr un ysgol – rhaid 

gwneud cais ar wahân ar gyfer trosglwyddo o’r ysgol feithrin i’r ysgol gynradd; 
 Gwahoddiad neu blentyn yn mynychu diwrnod agored/pontio.

At ddibenion derbyn i Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol:
 Y chweched dosbarth penodol y mae’r plentyn yn debygol i’w fynychu;
 Y cyfnod o amser y mae’r ysgol feithrin wedi bod yn ymwybodol o fwriad y 

rhieni i ymgeisio am le yn yr ysgol;
 Gwahoddiad neu blentyn yn mynychu diwrnod agored/pontio.

2.7 Ceisiadau o Ddosbarth Derbyn i Flwyddyn 11
Gall rhieni fynegi mwy nag un ysgol ddewis. Bydd dewis uchaf y rhiant yn cael ei 
gynnig os yw ar gael.  Bydd dewisiadau is yn cael eu cynnig os nad yw 
dewis(iadau) uwch y rhieni ar gael.

Page 678



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 7 o 22

3. DERBYNIADAU I YSGOLION MEITHRIN CYMUNEDOL A DOSBARTHIADAU 
MEITHRIN

Cyngor Caerdydd yw’r Awdurdod Derbyn ar gyfer yr holl Ysgolion Meithrin 
Cymunedol a gynhelir a Dosbarthiadau Meithrin mewn Ysgolion Cymunedol yn 
Ninas a Sir Caerdydd.
Mae gan blant yr hawl i le meithrin rhan amser o ddechrau’r tymor sy'n dilyn eu 
pen-blwydd yn dair oed. Er bod addysg feithrin yn ddarpariaeth anstatudol, mae’n 
rhaid i blant fynychu am bump hanner diwrnod os yw’r cynnig o le mewn ysgol 
feithrin cymunedol wedi’i dderbyn.

Gall plant gael eu derbyn neu eu trosglwyddo i ysgol feithrin gymunedol drwy 
gydol y flwyddyn academaidd yn dibynnu ar faint o leoedd sydd ar gael.

Pan mae llawer o leoedd ar ôl mewn ysgol feithrin gymunedol, bydd pob 
ymgeisydd yn cael lle meithrin.

3.1 Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd

Os oes mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd mewn ysgol feithrin gymunedol, bydd 
ceisiadau a dderbynnir erbyn y dyddiad cau yn cael eu hystyried yn unol â meini 
prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd y Cyngor yn nhrefn blaenoriaeth [1.(a) 
yr uchaf] hyd at y capasiti cymeradwy:

1. Ar gyfer ceisiadau a dderbyniwyd cyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig sef Dydd Llun 
18 Chwefror 2019 ar gyfer plant a anwyd rhwng 1 Medi 2015 a 31 Awst 2016 
(cynhwysol):

(a) Plant sy’n derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu Lloegr neu 
blant oedd yn arfer derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu 
Lloegr. *

(b) Plant sy’n destun Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir. *

(c) Plant sydd â brawd neu chwaer (mewn unrhyw grŵp oedran rhwng Dosbarth 
Derbyn a Blwyddyn 6 yn gynhwysol) fydd ar gofrestr yr ysgol y mae’r dosbarth 
meithrin ynddi pan fyddant yn cael eu derbyn. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd 
genedigaeth luosog. *

(d) Plant y mae, ym marn y Cyngor, resymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol dros eu derbyn i ysgol/dosbarth meithrin penodol. Pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i 
frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. * 

(e) Plant sy’n byw agosaf at yr ysgol/dosbarth meithrin, wedi’i fesur gan y llwybr 
byrraf a mwyaf diogel sydd ar gael.

2. Ar gyfer ceisiadau a dderbyniwyd cyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig sef Dydd Llun 
01 Gorffennaf 2019 ar gyfer plant a anwyd rhwng 1 Medi 2016 a 31 Rhagfyr 2016 
(cynhwysol), mae meini prawf (a) i (e) [fel yr uchod] yn berthnasol.

           *Pan fo nifer y dewisiadau a fynegwyd fwy na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, gweler paragraff ‘7.8 
Agosrwydd’.

Page 679



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 8 o 22

3. Ar gyfer ceisiadau a dderbyniwyd cyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig sef Dydd Llun 
01 Gorffennaf 2019 ar gyfer plant a anwyd rhwng 1 Ionawr 2017 a 31 Mawrth 
2017 (cynhwysol), mae meini prawf (a) i (e) [fel yr uchod] yn berthnasol.

3.2 Ceisiadau Hwyr
Bydd y Cyngor yn ystyried ceisiadau hwyr gydag ymgeiswyr ‘ar amser’ 
aflwyddiannus pan fo lleoedd gwag yn codi mewn ysgol feithrin gymunedol sydd 
â mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a defnyddio’r meini prawf uchod a nodwyd gan y 
Cyngor.

3.3 Dim Hawl i gyflwyno Apêl Statudol
Gan fod addysg feithrin yn ddarpariaeth anstatudol, nid oes gan rieni hawl 
statudol i apelio dan Ddeddf Safonau a Fframwaith Ysgolion 1998 os na fyddant 
yn llwyddo i gael lle meithrin.

Nid yw mynychu Dosbarth Meithrin yn golygu bod gan y plentyn hwnnw hawl 
awtomatig i gael lle mewn dosbarth derbyn yn yr un ysgol. Rhaid gwneud cais 
newydd am le mewn dosbarth derbyn.

3.4 Cyllid y Blynyddoedd Cynnar (CBC)

Pan nad oes lleoedd ar gael mewn ysgolion meithrin neu ddosbarthiadau meithrin 
cymunedol lleol o fewn dwy filltir i gyfeiriad cartref plentyn (fel sydd wedi’i fesur 
ar y llwybr byrraf a mwyaf diogel sydd ar gael), gall rhieni wneud cais am arian i 
sicrhau lle addysg feithrin (y cyfeirir ato hefyd fel CBC) gyda darparwr 
cydnabyddedig a bennir gan Grŵp Plentyndod Cynnar Caerdydd. Mae’n rhaid i’r 
disgyblion fod yn byw yng Nghaerdydd ac mae’n rhaid cyflwyno tystysgrif geni 
plentyn gyda chais am CBC. Efallai bydd gofyn hefyd i ymgeiswyr gyflwyno 
tystiolaeth o’u cyfeiriad.

Lle bo lleoedd ar gael mewn ysgolion meithrin neu ddosbarthiadau meithrin 
cymunedol lleol o fewn dwy filltir o breswylfa plentyn, bydd y Cyngor ond yn 
cymeradwyo ceisiadau am CBC gyda darparwr cydnabyddedig a bennir gan 
Grŵp Plentyndod Cynnar Caerdydd pan fo rhesymau meddygol neu 
gymdeithasol cymhellol sy’n ei gwneud yn amhriodol i’r plentyn fynychu’r 
ddarpariaeth feithrin sydd ar gael. Rhaid i argymhelliad ysgrifenedig gan feddyg 
ymgynghorol neu weithiwr cymdeithasol dyddiedig ddim mwy na thri (3) mis cyn 
dyddiad cyflwyno’r cais roi manylion yn egluro pam na all y plentyn fynychu 
unrhyw un o’r Ysgolion Meithrin Cymunedol sydd ar gael.

Dylid cyflwyno ceisiadau CBC yn ystod y tymor cyn y bydd y plentyn yn gymwys 
i gael cyllid neu os yw’r plentyn yn dechrau mewn ysgol feithrin gyda darparwr 
cydnabyddedig yn hwyrach ymlaen, dylid cyflwyno ceisiadau yn ystod y tymor y 
cafodd y plentyn ei dderbyn. Ni fydd y Cyngor yn derbyn ceisiadau ôl-weithredol 
am gyllid pan fyddai lle mewn Ysgol Feithrin Cymunedol wedi bod ar gael o fewn 
dwy (2) filltir i gyfeiriad cartref y plentyn (wedi’i fesur yn unol â’r llwybr byrraf a 
mwyaf diogel sydd ar gael), ond nid yw ar gael mwyach gan fod yr ymgeisydd 
wedi oedi wrth ymgeisio.

Yn ogystal, ni fydd y Cyngor yn cymeradwyo ceisiadau am CBC pan gynigiodd y 
Cyngor le mewn Ysgol neu Ddosbarth Meithrin Cymunedol ar adeg ymgeisio ond 
cafodd ei wrthod gan yr ymgeisydd.

Page 680



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 9 o 22

4. DERBYNIADAU I YSGOLION CYNRADD CYMUNEDOL

Cyngor Caerdydd yw’r Awdurdod Derbyn ar gyfer yr holl Ysgolion Cynradd 
Cymunedol a gynhelir yn Ninas a Sir Caerdydd.

Caiff plant eu derbyn i’r Dosbarth Derbyn (y cyfeirir ato hefyd fel ‘Blwyddyn 0’) 
ym mis Medi ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn 4 yn ystod y rownd dderbyn arferol.

Gall plant gael eu derbyn neu drosglwyddo i ysgol gynradd gymunedol y tu allan 
i’r rownd dderbyn arferol yn amodol ar argaeledd (oni bai am ddisgyblion sydd 
wedi’u gwahardd ddwywaith [cyfeirio at 3.58 – 3.60 Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion 
Llywodraeth Cymru rhif dogfen 005/2013]).

Pan nad yw’r holl leoedd mewn ysgol gynradd gymunedol wedi’u llenwi, mae 
modd cynnig lle i bob ymgeisydd (heblaw am ddisgyblion sydd wedi’u gwahardd 
ddwywaith [cyfeirio at 3.58 – 3.60 Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru rhif 
dogfen 005/2013]).

4.1 Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd

Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd mewn ysgol gynradd gymunedol, bydd 
blaenoriaethau a dderbyniwyd erbyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig yn cael eu 
hystyried yn unol â’r meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a nodir gan 
y Cyngor yn nhrefn blaenoriaeth [1 yn uchaf] hyd at y capasiti cymeradwy a fel 
arfer ni fydd yn uwch na Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig yr ysgol na’n torri’r 
cyfyngiadau a osodwyd gan uchafswm maint dosbarth (3) lle bo hyn yn 
berthnasol:

1. Plant sy’n derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu Loegr neu blant 
oedd yn arfer derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu Lloegr. *

2. Plant sy’n destun Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir. *

3. Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffinedig ysgol ac y mae rhesymau meddygol 
neu gymdeithasol cymhellol dros eu derbyn i ysgol benodol, ym marn y Cyngor. 
Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i 
frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. *

4. Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol ac sydd â brawd neu chwaer 
oed ysgol fydd ar gofrestr yr ysgol pan fyddant yn cael eu derbyn. Pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd 
genedigaeth luosog. *

5. Plant sydd â brawd / chwaer yn mynychu’r ysgol, a gafodd eu derbyn cyn y newid 
i’r dalgylch 

a) Lle derbyniwyd brawd neu chwaer hŷn i fynychu ysgol ac maent yn parhau 
i fynychu, lle’r oedd hyn yn flaenorol yn yr ysgol dalgylch, os bydd y rhiant 
yn dymuno, bydd y Cyngor felly’n derbyn brodyr a chwiorydd iau i'r hen 
ysgol ddalgylch.

Page 681



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 10 o 22

b) Lle derbyniwyd brawd neu chwaer hŷn ac maent yn parhau i fynychu ysgol 
gymunedol sydd newydd ei sefydlu heb ddalgylch penodedig, os bydd y 
rhiant yn dymuno, bydd y Cyngor yn derbyn brawd neu chwiorydd iau i'r 
ysgol hon.

6. Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth 
luosog. *

*Pan fo mwy o ddewisiadau  na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael,
gweler paragraff ‘7.8 Agosrwydd’.

7. Disgyblion y mae rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol cymhellol dros eu 
derbyn i ysgol benodol, ym marn y Cyngor. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na nifer y 
lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. 
*

8. Disgyblion sydd â brawd neu chwaer oed ysgol fydd ar gofrestr yr ysgol pan 
fyddant yn cael eu derbyn. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar 
gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. *

9. Wrth benderfynu ar geisiadau i’w derbyn o ran disgyblion eraill, bydd y Cyngor 
yn rhoi blaenoriaeth i’r plant sy’n byw agosaf at yr ysgol fel y mesurir yn ôl y llwybr 
cerdded ymarferol byrraf.

4.2 Ceisiadau Hwyr
Bydd y Cyngor yn ystyried ceisiadau hwyr gydag ymgeiswyr ‘ar amser’ 
aflwyddiannus pan fo lleoedd gwag yn codi mewn ysgol gynradd gymunedol sydd 
â mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a defnyddio’r meini prawf uchod a nodwyd gan y 
Cyngor (fel yr uchod).

4.3 Apeliadau Statudol
Os yw plentyn heb gael lle mewn ysgol gynradd gymunedol, gallwch gyflwyno 
apêl i’r Panel Apeliadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Statudol Annibynnol.

4.4 Mynediad Hwyr
Nid oes rhaid i blentyn ddechrau mewn ysgol gynradd tan ddechrau’r tymor ar ôl 
ei ben-blwydd yn 5 oed, fodd bynnag, nid oes modd gohirio’r dyddiad dechrau 
tan ar ôl dechrau’r tymor ar ôl ei ben-blwydd yn 5 oed. Mae’r lle gohiriedig yn cael 
ei gadw i’r plentyn, a ni fydd ar gael i unrhyw blentyn arall. Argymhellir bod unrhyw 
ystyriaeth i ohirio’n cael ei drafod gyda Phennaeth yr ysgol gynradd benodol 
honno.

4.5 Ysgol Gynradd Wirfoddol a Reolir
Yn achos Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Llaneirwg (ysgol gynradd 
wirfoddol a reolir), mae’r Cyngor wedi cytuno i ddirprwyo cyfrifoldeb dros 
dderbyniadau i’r Corff Llywodraethu. Dylid cyflwyno ceisiadau am leoedd yn 
uniongyrchol i’r ysgol. 

Nid yw mynychu Dosbarth Meithrin yn golygu bod gan y plentyn hwnnw hawl 
awtomatig i gael lle mewn dosbarth derbyn yn yr un ysgol. Rhaid gwneud cais 
newydd am le mewn dosbarth derbyn.

Page 682



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 11 o 22

5. DERBYNIADAU I YSGOLION UWCHRADD CYMUNEDOL

Cyngor Caerdydd yw’r Awdurdod Derbyn ar gyfer yr holl Ysgolion Uwchradd 
Cymunedol a gynhelir yn Ninas a Sir Caerdydd.

Bydd disgyblion yn trosglwyddo i Flwyddyn 7 yn ystod mis Medi ar ôl eu pen-
blwydd yn 11 oed yn ystod y rownd dderbyn arferol.

Gall plant gael eu derbyn neu drosglwyddo i ysgol uwchradd cymunedol y tu allan 
i’r rownd dderbyn arferol yn amodol ar argaeledd (oni bai am ddisgyblion sydd 
wedi’u gwahardd ddwywaith [cyfeirio at 3.58 – 3.60 Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion 
Llywodraeth Cymru rhif dogfen 005/2013]).

Pan nad yw’r holl leoedd mewn ysgol uwchradd gymunedol wedi’u llenwi, mae 
modd cynnig lle i bob ymgeisydd (heblaw am ddisgyblion sydd wedi’u gwahardd 
ddwywaith [cyfeirio at 3.48 – 3.60 Cod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru rhif 
dogfen 005/2013]).

5.1 Meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd

Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd mewn ysgol uwchradd gymunedol, bydd 
blaenoriaethau a dderbyniwyd erbyn y dyddiad cau cyhoeddedig yn cael eu 
hystyried yn unol â’r meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a nodir gan 
y Cyngor yn nhrefn blaenoriaeth [1 yn uchaf] hyd at y capasiti cymeradwy a fel 
arfer ni fydd yn uwch na Nifer Derbyn Cyhoeddedig yr ysgol:

1. Plant sy’n derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu Lloegr neu blant 
oedd yn arfer derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu Lloegr. *

2. Plant sy’n destun Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir. *

3. Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffinedig ysgol ac y mae rhesymau meddygol 
neu gymdeithasol cymhellol dros eu derbyn i ysgol benodol, ym marn y Cyngor. 
Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i 
frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. *

4. Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol a sydd â brawd neu chwaer 
oed ysgol fydd ar gofrestr yr ysgol pan fyddant yn cael eu derbyn. Pan fo mwy o 
geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd 
genedigaeth luosog. * 

5. Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth 
luosog. *

6. Disgyblion y mae rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol cymhellol dros eu 
derbyn i ysgol benodol, ym marn y Cyngor. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na nifer y 
lleoedd sydd ar gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. 
*

*Pan fo nifer y blaenoriaethau’n fwy na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar gael,
gweler paragraff ‘7.8 Agosrwydd’.

Page 683



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 12 o 22

7. Disgyblion sydd â brawd neu chwaer oed ysgol fydd ar gofrestr yr ysgol pan 
fyddant yn cael eu derbyn. Pan fo mwy o geisiadau na nifer y lleoedd sydd ar 
gael, rhoddir blaenoriaeth i frodyr/chwiorydd genedigaeth luosog. *

8. Wrth benderfynu ar geisiadau i’w derbyn o ran disgyblion eraill, bydd y Cyngor 
yn rhoi blaenoriaeth i’r plant sy’n byw agosaf at yr ysgol fel y mesurir yn ôl y llwybr 
cerdded ymarferol byrraf.

5.2 Ceisiadau Hwyr 
Bydd y Cyngor yn ystyried ceisiadau hwyr gydag ymgeiswyr ‘ar amser’ 
aflwyddiannus pan fo lleoedd gwag yn codi mewn ysgol uwchradd gymunedol a 
defnyddio’r meini prawf uchod a nodwyd gan y Cyngor (fel yr uchod).

5.3 Apeliadau Statudol
Os yw plentyn heb gael lle mewn ysgol uwchradd gymunedol, gallwch gyflwyno 
apêl i’r Panel Apeliadau Derbyn i Ysgolion Statudol Annibynnol.

Nid yw bod ar gofrestr ysgol gynradd gymunedol yn yr un dalgylch ag ysgol 
uwchradd gymunedol yn awtomataidd yn gwneud plentyn yn gymwys i gael lle yn 
yr ysgol. Rhaid gwneud cais newydd i drosglwyddo o’r ysgol gynradd i’r ysgol 
uwchradd.

6. DERBYNIADAU I’R CHWECHED DOSBARTH

Mae’r Cyngor wedi cytuno i ddirprwyo’r cyfrifoldeb am bennu trefniadau derbyn i 
chweched dosbarth i Gyrff Llywodraethu Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol.  Dylid 
cyflwyno ceisiadau am leoedd yn uniongyrchol i’r ysgol.

Page 684



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 13 o 22

7. EGLURO’R MEINI PRAWF PAN FO MWY O GEISIADAU NA LLEOEDD

7.1 Manylion y Plentyn - Cyfeiriad
Mae’n rhaid defnyddio cyfeiriad cartref y plentyn ar y cais; y lle y mae’r plentyn 
yn byw am fwyafrif yr wythnos ysgol. Gweler ‘Cyflwyno dogfennau’n ymwneud â 
Chyfeiriad Cartref Plentyn’ (8.2). Efallai na fydd y Cyngor yn derbyn y cyfeiriad a 
roddir os nad oes tystiolaeth bod rhiant y plentyn yn byw yn yr eiddo.

Er mwyn bod yn gymwys fel ‘cyfeiriad cartref plentyn’, at ddibenion derbyn, rhaid 
nodi’r lle y mae’r plentyn yn byw ynddo ar ddyddiad cyflwyno’r cais. Os yw’r 
plentyn yn symud cyfeiriad ar ôl ymgeisio a chyn y dyddiad y byddai’r plentyn yn 
derbyn yn yr ysgol, mae’n rhaid i’r rhiant roi gwybod i’r Cyngor yn ysgrifenedig (e-
bost neu lythyr) gan nodi’r cyfeiriad newydd, fel arall bydd unrhyw gynnig ysgol a 
wnaed yn cael ei dynnu yn ôl a bydd angen cais newydd.

Os yw’r plentyn yn symud yn agosach at ysgol ddewis sydd â mwy o geisiadau 
na lleoedd (neu’n symud i’r dalgylch o’r tu allan i’r dalgylch) ar ôl ymgeisio, os 
roedd cynnig i’r ysgol â mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd eisoes wedi’i wneud, ni fydd 
hyn yn effeithio ar y cynnig.

Os yw’r plentyn yn symud ymhellach i ffwrdd o ysgol ddewis sydd â mwy o 
geisiadau na lleoedd (neu’n symud o’r dalgylch o’r tu mewn i’r dalgylch) ar ôl 
ymgeisio, os roedd cynnig i’r ysgol â mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd eisoes wedi’i 
wneud, efallai y bydd y cynnig hwn yn cael ei dynnu yn ôl a phenderfyniad 
ysgrifenedig newydd yn cael ei anfon (e-bost neu lythyr).

7.2 Plant sy’n Derbyn Gofal (PDG) / Plant oedd yn Arfer Derbyn Gofal (PADG)
Mewn achos plentyn sy’n derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu 
Loegr (fel y’i diffinnir yn Rhan 22 Deddf Plant 1989 a Rhan 74 Deddf 
Gwasanaethau a Llesiant [Cymru] 2014), mae’n rhaid i’r Awdurdod Lleol (y rhiant 
corfforaethol) wneud cais a chyflwyno tystiolaeth ategol (megis Gorchymyn Gofal 
neu Orchymyn Gofal Dros Dro) gyda’r cais. Yn dilyn ymgynghoriad ar briodoldeb 
yr ysgol a enwyd o ystyried cefndir ac anghenion y plentyn, mae dyletswydd ar 
y Cyngor i dderbyn y plentyn i’r ysgol a rhoi blaenoriaeth uchaf yn y meini prawf 
pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd.

Yn achos plentyn oedd yn derbyn gofal gan Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru neu 
Loegr (fel y’i ddiffinnir gan God Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru rhif dogfen 
005/2013), rhaid cyflwyno tystiolaeth ddogfennol (llythyr gan yr Awdurdod Lleol 
perthnasol [cyn-rhiant corfforaethol]) gyda’r cais. Yn dilyn ymgynghoriad ar 
briodoldeb yr ysgol a enwyd o ystyried cefndir ac anghenion y plentyn, mae 
dyletswydd ar y Cyngor i roi blaenoriaeth uchaf yn y meini prawf pan fo mwy 
o geisiadau na lleoedd.

7.3 Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (CGIUA)
Mae CIUAau wedi eu neilltuo i blant y dyrannwyd cyllid meithrin ar eu cyfer gan 
Banel  Asesu’r Blynyddoedd Cynnar neu’r Panel Cynghori ar Achosion.  Mae 
paneli aml-asiantaeth yn dyrannu cyllid i blentyn ag anghenion sylweddol a/neu 
gymhleth, drwy Gynllun Datblygiad Unigol er mwyn sicrhau y gall y plentyn 
dderbyn cymorth i gael mynediad at eu hawl i ysgol.

Page 685



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 14 o 22

7.4 Disgyblion sy’n byw yn nalgylch diffiniedig yr ysgol
Gallwch weld dalgylchoedd diffiniedig ysgolion cynradd ac uwchradd ar wefan y 
Cyngor (www.caerdydd.gov.uk).

7.5 Rhesymau Meddygol/Rhesymau Cymdeithasol Cryf
Er mwyn bod yn gymwys ar gyfer rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol, rhaid i argymhelliad ysgrifenedig gan feddyg ymgynghorol neu 
weithiwr cymdeithasol dyddiedig ddim mwy na 6 (chwech) mis cyn dyddiad 
cyflwyno’r cais roi resymau manwl dros dderbyn y plentyn i ysgol benodol.

7.6 Brodyr a chwiorydd
Caiff cais ei ystyried dan y meini prawf brodyr a chwiorydd os byddai’r 
brawd/chwaer, a’r ymgeisydd wrth gael ei dderbyn, yn mynychu’r un ysgol ar yr 
un pryd. 
Bydd y Cyngor ond yn ystyried brodyr a chwiorydd oed ysgol gofynnol (ar gyfer 
ceisiadau ysgol feithrin a chynradd mae hyn yn cyfeirio at Ddosbarth Derbyn tan 
Blwyddyn 6 ac ar gyfer ceisiadau i ysgolion uwchradd mae hyn yn golygu o 
Flwyddyn 7 i Flwyddyn 11):
 Sydd wedi’u henwi’n glir ar y cais ac
 Sy’n byw yn yr un cyfeiriad â’r plentyn y mae’r cais yn ymwneud ag ef ac
 Sy’n mynychu’r ysgol gynradd ddewis (nid meithrin) neu
 Sy’n mynychu’r ysgol uwchradd ddewis (nid y chweched dosbarth).
Diffinnir brawd neu chwaer, at ddibenion derbyn, fel a ganlyn: brawd/chwaer; 
hanner-brawd/hanner-chwaer (plant sydd ag un rhiant cyffredin); llys-frawd/llys-
chwaer (pan fo plant yn perthyn gan fod eu rhieni wedi priodi, yn byw gyda’i gilydd 
neu mewn partneriaeth sifil); plentyn wedi’i fabwysiadu neu ei faethu.

7.7 Ysgol Fwydo
Byddai gweithredu Derbyn i Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol – Meini Prawf pan fo 
mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd Opsiwn Dau (2), yn blaenoriaethu ymgeiswyr y mae 
eu plant yn mynd i ysgol gynradd benodol yn uwch na’r rheiny y mae eu plant yn 
mynd i ysgol gynradd nad yw’n cael ei hystyried yn ysgol fwydo. (Gweler atodiad 
2 am fanylion ar ysgolion bwydo).

7.8 Agosrwydd
*Y maen prawf yma yw’r olaf fydd yn cael ei ddefnyddio o’r holl feini prawf pan fo 
mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd.  Os yw nifer y blaenoriaethau’n fwy na nifer y lleoedd 
sydd ar gael mewn unrhyw faen prawf uwch, bydd agosrwydd yn cael ei 
ddefnyddio er mwyn penderfynu pa ddisgyblion fydd yn cael eu derbyn.

Mae’r Cyngor wedi datblygu System Wybodaeth Ddaearyddol (SWD), y cyfeirir 
ati fel ‘Rhwydwaith Trafnidiaeth Integredig’ (RTI), wedi’i greu yn unol â 
Gorchymyn Mesur Teithio gan Ddysgwyr (Cymru) 2008 a’r meini prawf pennu 
llwybrau yn Narpariaeth Statudol Teithio gan Ddysgwyr a Chanllawiau 
Gweithredol 2014. Bydd y llwybr mwyaf diogel byrraf sydd ar gael (fel y’i diffinnir 
yn ‘Darpariaeth Statudol Teithio Dysgwyr a Chanllawiau Gweithredol Mehefin 
2014’ Llywodraeth Cymru) yn cael ei gyfrifo (i 4 pwynt degol) o gyfesurynnau 
cartref ymgeisydd (a gaiff ei bennu gan ddefnyddio’r Rhestr Tir ac Eiddo Lleol 
[RhTELl] data pwynt cyfeiriad), i’r gât ysgol agored agosaf gan ddefnyddio data 
llwybr Arolwg Ordnans.

Page 686



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 15 o 22

a) Pan nad oes llwybr diogel ar gael, defnyddir y pwynt agosaf ar yr RTI i 
gyfeiriad cartref yr ymgeisydd i gyfrifo’r llwybr gyrru byrraf i’r gât ysgol agored 
agosaf.

b) Dyrannu’r Lleoedd Olaf: Yn achos fflatiau penderfynir ar y llwybr asesu o 
fynedfa flaen pob fflat.

Ar gyfer ceisiadau i ddisgyblion sy’n byw o fewn tir mawr y DU ond y tu allan i 
ardal y rhwydwaith trafnidiaeth integredig, caiff pellteroedd preswylfa i’r ysgol eu 
cyfrifo fel y pellter gyrru byrraf yn ôl mapiau google.   

Pan fo ymgeiswyr yn y byw y tu allan i dir mawr Prydain, caiff pellteroedd llwybrau 
eu pennu fel y llwybr byrraf yn ôl mapiau google gan ddefnyddio’r mathau o 
drafnidiaeth sydd ar gael. 

8. TYSTIOLAETH DDOGFENNOL ALL FOD EI HANGEN GAN YMGEISWYR  

Efallai y bydd y Cyngor yn gofyn i ymgeiswyr gyflwyno dogfennaeth glir ac eglur 
(e-bost: derbyniadauysgolion@caerdydd.gov.uk) fel prawf o’u cymhwysedd 
ar gyfer un neu fwy o feini prawf derbyn. Pan nad yw tystiolaeth ddogfennol 
foddhaol yn cael ei derbyn, ni fydd lle yn cael ei gynnig mewn ysgol sydd â mwy 
o geisiadau na lleoedd yn seiliedig ar y rhesymau derbyn.

Yn ddibynnol ar ganiatâd ymgeisydd wrth gyflwyno cais, gall asiantau llywodraeth 
eraill wirio’r dystiolaeth gan gynnwys (os yw’n briodol) ysgol bresennol y plentyn.

8.1 Cyflwyno dogfennau sy’n ymwneud â phlentyn Personél Gwasanaeth y DU 
neu Weision eraill y Goron
Bydd plant personél gwasanaeth y DU (Lluoedd Arfog y DU) neu Weision eraill y 
Goron yn cael eu trin fel eu bod yn byw mewn cyfeiriad i’r dyfodol os yw’r cais yn 
cynnwys llythyr swyddogol gan y Weinyddiaeth Amddiffyn neu’r Swyddfa Dramor 
a’r Gymanwlad yn datgan dyddiad dychwelyd sicr a chadarnhad o’r cartref 
newydd neu’r cyfeiriad post newydd.

Bydd ceisiadau ar gyfer plant cyn-bersonél gwasanaeth y DU neu Weision y 
Goron eraill yn cael eu trin fel pob cais arall.

8.2 Cyflwyno dogfennau’n ymwneud â Chyfeiriad Cartref Plentyn
Er mwyn profi preswylfa mewn ‘Cyfeiriad Cartref Plentyn’ honedig, bydd angen y 
ddogfennaeth ganlynol.

Prawf Preswylfa yn y Cyfeiriad Presennol

Cytundeb tenantiaeth:
 Mae’n rhaid i Ddyddiad Dechrau’r Tenantiaeth fod ar neu cyn dyddiad 

cyflwyno’r cais ac mae’n rhaid i Ddyddiad Gorffen y Tenantiaeth fod ar neu 
cyn y dyddiad y byddai’r plentyn yn dechrau yn yr ysgol.

Datganiad Morgais:
 Rhaid i ddyddiad y datganiad fod yn ddim mwy na 6 (chwech) mis cyn dyddiad 

cyflwyno’r cais.

Page 687



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 16 o 22

Gohebiaeth y Dreth Gyngor (bil/llythyr/datganiad):
 Yn cyfeirio at daliadau a wnaed yn y flwyddyn ariannol ddiwethaf ar gyfer yr 

eiddo sydd wedi’i nodi fel cyfeiriad cartref y plentyn.

Gohebiaeth gan Gyflenwyr Gwasanaethau (bil/llythyr/datganiad 
trydan/nwy/dŵr): 
 Yn cyfeirio at daliadau a wnaed yn y flwyddyn ariannol ddiwethaf ar gyfer yr 

eiddo sydd wedi’i nodi fel cyfeiriad cartref y plentyn;
 Mae’n rhaid i ddyddiadau biliau Trydan a Nwy (neu Danwydd Deuol) fod â 

dyddiad ddim mwy na 6 mis cyn dyddiad cyflwyno’r cais.

Gohebiaeth am Fudd-daliadau Plant:
 Rhaid i ddyddiad yr ohebiaeth fod ddim mwy na 6 mis cyn dyddiad cyflwyno’r 

cais.

Prawf Preswylfa yn y Cyfeiriad Newydd

Os bydd plentyn yn symud i gyfeiriad newydd ar ôl dyddiad cyflwyno’r cais a chyn 
y dyddiad y bydd y plentyn yn dechrau yn yr ysgol:

Eiddo ar Les:
 Bydd angen cytundeb tenantiaeth newydd sy’n gorfod nodi dyddiad diwedd ar 

neu ar ôl y dyddiad y byddai’r plentyn yn dechrau yn yr ysgol;

Eiddo a Berchnogir: 
 Bydd angen derbyn dogfen gontractau â dyddiad ddim mwy na 6 (chwech) mis 

cyn dyddiad cyflwyno’r cais.

Yn ddibynnol ar ganiatâd ymgeisydd wrth gyflwyno cais, bydd y dystiolaeth yn 
cael ei gwirio yn erbyn cofnodion gan y Dreth Gyngor, y Gofrestr Etholiadol, 
plentyn yr ysgol (os yw’n briodol) a sefydliadau allanol gan gynnwys asiantaethau 
gwirio credyd. Os nad yw’r Cyngor yn fodlon ar y dystiolaeth a gyflwynwyd, ni 
fydd ‘cyfeiriad cartref y plentyn’ honedig yn cael ei dderbyn at ddibenion y cais 
am le.

8.3 Cyflwyno dogfennau’n ymwneud â Rhesymau Meddygol Cymhellol neu 
Resymau Cymdeithasol Cymhellol
Er mwyn bod yn gymwys ar gyfer rhesymau meddygol neu gymdeithasol 
cymhellol, rhaid i argymhelliad ysgrifenedig gan feddyg ymgynghorol neu 
weithiwr cymdeithasol dyddiedig ddim mwy na 6 (chwech) mis cyn dyddiad 
cyflwyno’r cais roi resymau manwl dros dderbyn y plentyn i ysgol benodol.

Yn ddibynnol ar ganiatâd ymgeisydd wrth gyflwyno’r cais, efallai y bydd asiantau 
llywodraeth eraill yn gwirio’r dystiolaeth a ddarperir gan gynnwys ysgol bresennol 
y plentyn (os yw’n briodol).

Page 688



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 17 o 22

9. Y BROSES GYNIGION

9.1 Cynigion Ysgol
Os oes modd cynnig mwy nag un lle i blentyn, bydd blaenoriaeth uchaf yr 
ymgeisydd yn cael ei gynnig. Bydd unrhyw le ysgol arall all gael ei gynnig yn cael 
ei gynnig i blentyn arall.

Ni fydd penderfyniadau nac ymatebion yn cael eu datgan dros y ffôn. Byddwch 
yn derbyn cadarnhad ysgrifenedig (e-bost neu lythyr).

Bydd unrhyw gynnig nad yw’n cael ei dderbyn erbyn y dyddiad a nodir ar yr 
hysbysiad penderfyn’n cael ei dynnu yn ôl a’i gynnig i blentyn arall.

Os caiff cynnig i flaenoriaeth ysgol gymunedol uwch ei wrthod gan yr ymgeisydd 
ar sail yr ymgeisydd yn nodi bod ysgol wahanol wedi dod yn ysgol ddewis, mae’n 
rhaid i ymgeiswyr gyflwyno cais newydd er mwyn ystyried blaenoriaeth ysgol 
gymunedol.

9.2 Dim Cynigion Ysgol
Bydd ymgeiswyr sy’n derbyn cadarnhad ysgrifenedig (e-bost neu lythyr) yn rhoi 
gwybod nad yw’r plentyn wedi cael cynnig mewn unrhyw un o’u blaenoriaethau 
ysgol, yn derbyn ffurflen ddewis arall, manylion am ysgolion cymunedol gyda 
lleoedd gwag ac (ar gyfer ceisiadau derbyn i grŵp oedran ysgol gorfodol) 
gwybodaeth ynghylch eu hawl i apelio yn erbyn penderfyniad y Cyngor.

9.3 Tynnu Cynnig i Ysgol yn ôl
Cyn y dyddiad y byddai’r plentyn yn dechrau yn yr ysgol, byddai unrhyw le posibl 
yn gallu cael ei dynnu yn ôl os yw’n dod i’r amlwg bod amgylchiadau’r plentyn yn 
wahanol i’r amgylchiadau pan gynigiwyd lle iddo. Bydd penderfyniad ysgrifenedig 
newydd (e-bost neu lythyr) yn cael ei anfon.

9.4 Rhestrau Aros
Os nad yw ymgeisydd yn cael lle mewn ysgol feithrin, cynradd nac uwchradd 
cymunedol, bydd yr ymgeisydd yn cael ei roi ar restr aros ar gyfer yr ysgol 
flaenoriaeth oni bai bod yr ymgeisydd yn rhoi gwybod i’r Cyngor bod angen 
tynnu’r plentyn oddi ar y rhestr aros.

Bydd ymgeiswyr sydd heb gael lle mewn Dosbarth Meithrin ar ddechrau’r tymor 
ar ôl eu pen-blwydd yn 3 oed yn aros ar restr aros tan diwedd Tymor yr Haf 2020.

Bydd ymgeiswyr ‘ar amser’ aflwyddiannus ar gyfer lle mewn Dosbarth Derbyn 
neu Flwyddyn 7 i ddechrau yn yr ysgol ar ddechrau’r flwyddyn academaidd (y 
cyfeirir ato hefyd fel y ‘rownd dderbyn arferol’), yn dal i fod ar restr aros tan diwedd 
Tymor yr Hydref 2019.

Bydd ymgeiswyr aflwyddiannus sydd heb gael lle o Ddosbarth Derbyn i Flwyddyn 
11 (cynhwysol) lle derbyniwyd y cais y tu allan i’r rownd dderbyn arferol (y cyfeirir 
ato hefyd fel ‘cais yn y flwyddyn’), yn dal i fod ar y rhestr aros tan diwedd y tymor 
pan fyddai’r plentyn yn dechrau yn yr ysgol.

Sylwch nad ydym yn blaenoriaethu lleoedd ar sail y cyfnod y mae’r plentyn wedi 
bod ar y rhestr aros. Mae’r flaenoriaeth yn amrywio yn unol â’r meini prawf 
cyhoeddedig pan fo mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd. Caiff eich cais ei ystyried yn Page 689



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 18 o 22

unol â’r meini prawf a chaiff unrhyw leoedd sy’n dod ar gael eu dyrannu ar y sail 
honno. Gallai safle plentyn ar y rhestr aros newid, gan y gallai ceisiadau ddod i 
law sydd â blaenoriaeth uwch dan y meini prawf pan fo mwy o geisiadau na 
lleoedd.

Os yw plentyn yn cael ei ddyrannu oddi ar y rhestr aros, byddai’r Cyngor yn 
cysylltu â’r ymgeisydd ac yn gofyn iddynt gadarnhau a ydynt yn derbyn lle. Ar ôl 
derbyn, bydd unrhyw le ysgol arall y gallai’r plentyn fod wedi’i gael yn cael ei 
ryddhau a’i gynnig i blentyn arall.

Unwaith y mae dyddiad gorffen y rhestr aros wedi mynd heibio, os yw plentyn am 
i’w plentyn barhau i gael ei ystyried am le, bydd angen cyflwyno cais newydd.

Ni allwn warantu lle i blentyn yn ei ysgol ddalgylch nac yn yr ysgol y mae ei frodyr 
neu chwiorydd yn ei mynychu.

Page 690



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 19 o 22

Atodiad 1 

Niferoedd Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20
 
Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Gynradd Adamsdown 60
Ysgol Gynradd Albany 60
Ysgol Gynradd Allensbank 45
Ysgol Gynradd Baden Powell 60
Ysgol Gynradd Llwynbedw 58
Ysgol Gynradd Bryn Celyn 30
Ysgol Gynradd Bryn Deri 30   (1)

Ysgol Gynradd Bryn Hafod 60
Ysgol Gynradd Coed Glas 75
Ysgol Gynradd Coryton 30   (1)

Ysgol Gynradd Creigiau (Saesneg) 29
Ysgol Gynradd Danescourt 60
Ysgol Gynradd y Tyllgoed 40 
Ysgol Gynradd Gabalfa 30
Ysgol Gynradd Gladstone 30
Ysgol Gynradd Glan-yr-Afon 41
Ysgol Gynradd Glyncoed 60
Ysgol Gynradd Grangetown 60
Ysgol Gynradd Greenway 30
Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth Primary School 
(Saesneg)

7

Ysgol Gynradd Hawthorn 30
Ysgol Gynradd Herbert Thompson 60
Ysgol Gynradd Howardian 60
Ysgol Gynradd Hywel Dda 60
Ysgol Gynradd Kitchener 60
Ysgol Gynradd Lakeside 60
Ysgol Gynradd Lansdowne 60
Ysgol Gynradd Llanedern 55
Ysgol Gynradd Llanisien Fach 60
Ysgol Gynradd Llysfaen 60
Ysgol Gynradd Marlborough 60
Ysgol Gynradd Meadowlane 45
Ysgol Gynradd Millbank 30

Page 691



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 20 o 22

Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Gynradd Moorland 60
Ysgol Gynradd Mount Stuart 60
Ysgol Gynradd Parc Ninian 90
Ysgol Gynradd Oakfield 60
Ysgol Gynradd Pencaerau 30
Ysgol Gynradd Pentre-baen 30
Ysgol Gynradd Pentyrch 20
Ysgol Gynradd Pen-y-Bryn 30
Ysgol Gynradd Peter Lea 45
Ysgol Gynradd Pontprennau 60
Ysgol Gynradd Radnor 45
Ysgol Gynradd Radur 60
Ysgol Gynradd Rhiwbeina 75
Ysgol Gynradd Rhydypenau 60
Ysgol Gynradd Parc y Rhath 58
Ysgol Gynradd Tredelerch 60
Ysgol Gynradd Severn 60
Ysgol Gynradd Springwood 60
Ysgol Gynradd Stacey 30   (1)

Ysgol Gynradd Draenen Pen-y-graig 60
Ysgol Gynradd Tongwynlais 28
Ysgol Gynradd Ton-Yr-Ywen 60
Ysgol Gynradd Trelái 60
Ysgol Gynradd Trowbridge 30
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys Newydd 90
Ysgol Gynradd Willowbrook 60
Ysgol Gynradd Windsor Clive 60
Ysgol Bro Eirwg 60   (1)

Ysgol Gymraeg Coed-y-Gof 60
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Creigiau 29
Ysgol Glan Ceubal 30
Ysgol Glan Morfa 60
Ysgol Gynradd Gwaelod Y Garth 26
Ysgol Hamadryad 60
Ysgol Gymraeg Melin Gruffydd 60
Ysgol Mynydd Bychan 30   (1)

Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol Nifer Derbyn
Page 692



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 21 o 22

Ysgol Pencae 30   (1)

Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Pen-y-Groes 30
Ysgol Gymraeg Pwll Coch 60
Ysgol Gymraeg Treganna 90
Ysgol y Berllan Deg 60   (1)

Ysgol Y Wern 75

Ysgol Gymraeg Nant Caerau 30
Ysgol Pen-y-Pil 30
Ysgol Gynradd Wirfoddol a Reolir Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Llaneirwg  15
Ysgolion Cynradd Gwirfoddol a Gynorthwyir Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru yr Holl Saint  30
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Bishop Childs  30   (1)

Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Crist y Brenin  30
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig y Teulu Sanctaidd  35
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Llandaf  60
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Alban  30
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig y Santes Bernadette  30
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sain Cadog  45
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Cuthbert  22
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Dewi Sant  30
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Sain Ffagan  30
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Ffransis  55
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Ioan Llwyd 45
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Joseff   30
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig y Forwyn Fair  60
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig y Santes Fair  37
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru y Santes Monica  20
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Padrig  45
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Sant Paul  30   (1)

Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Pedr  75
Ysgol Gynradd Gatholig Sant Philip Evans  52
Ysgol Gynradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Tredegarville  30
Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian 181
Ysgol Uwchradd Caerdydd 240
Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol Nifer Derbyn

Page 693



CYNGOR CAERDYDD: POLISI DERBYN I YSGOLION
 ADDYSG A DYSGU GYDOL OES:  2019/2020

Tud. 22 o 22

Ysgol Uwchradd Gymunedol Gorllewin Caerdydd 240
Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Uwchradd Cathays 165
Ysgol Uwchradd y Dwyrain 240
Ysgol Uwchradd Fitzalan 300 (Bln 7-8) a 286 

(Bln 9-11)
Ysgol Uwchradd Llanisien 300
Ysgol Gyfun Radur 210   
Ysgol Uwchradd Willows 224
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Glantaf 240
Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Plasmawr 180
Ysgol Bro Edern 180
Ysgolion Uwchradd Sefydledig Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys Newydd 390
Ysgolion Uwchradd Gwirfoddol a Gynorthwyir Nifer Derbyn
Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Esgob Llandaf  180
Ysgol Uwchradd Gatholig Corpus Christi   186
Ysgol Uwchradd Gatholig y Fair Ddihalog   159
Ysgol Uwchradd Gatholig Illtud Sant  176
Ysgol Uwchradd yr Eglwys yng Nghymru Teilo Sant  240

Dylid nodi ei bod yn bosibl y bydd angen newid rhai niferoedd derbyn wrth 
ymdrin â chynigion ad-drefnu ysgolion. 

 (1) Bwriedir cadw’r nifer derbyn presennol ar gyfer 2019 fel y caniateir gan reoliadau 
LlC, yn dilyn trafodaethau helaeth â’r Pennaeth a’r Llywodraethwyr i gytuno ar ffordd 
briodol ymlaen yn unol â’r galw am leoedd a chapasiti’r safle. 

Page 694



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 1

Atodiad 5
Teitl y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth:
Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion Cyngor Dinas Caerdydd 2019/20

Newydd/Bodoli’n barod/Diweddaru/Diwygio

Pwy sy’n gyfrifol am ddatblygu a gweithredu’r 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/ 
Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth?

Enw: Janine Nightingale Teitl Swydd: Pennaeth Trefniadaeth 
Ysgolion, Mynediad a Chynllunio

Tîm Gwasanaeth: Trefniadaeth 
Ysgolion, Mynediad a Chynllunio

Cyfarwyddiaeth: Addysg a Dysgu 
Gydol Oes

Dyddiad Asesu: 07/03/2018

1. Nodau ac Amcanion

Beth yw amcanion y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogae
th?            

I sefydlu trefniadau derbyn nad oes ganddynt feini prawf gwahaniaethol yn 
unol â Chod Derbyn yr Ysgol a gweinyddu'n deg derbyn plant cymwys i 
ddosbarthiadau/ysgolion meithrin, cynradd ac uwchradd yn seiliedig ar 
ddewis rhiant/gwarcheidwaid yn unol â'r meini prawf derbyn a fanylir ym 
Mholisi Derbyniadau Ysgol 2019/20 Cyngor Caerdydd.

2. Gwybodaeth Gefndirol

Rhowch wybodaeth gefndirol am y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth ac 
unrhyw waith ymchwil sydd wedi’i wneud [e.e. data 
defnyddwyr gwasanaeth yn erbyn ystadegau demograffig, 
AEGau tebyg wedi'u gwneud ayyb.]

Mae Cyngor Caerdydd wedi ymrwymo i gyfle cyfartal ac i ddileu 

Page 695



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 2

gwahaniaethu.
O ran derbyn i ysgolion cymunedol, caiff pob disgybl a darpar ddisgybl eu 
trin yn gydradd waeth beth fo’u rhywedd, hil, ethnigrwydd, diwylliant, 
cenedligrwydd, iaith, gallu/anabledd neu gred grefyddol.  
Y Cyngor yw Awdurdod Derbyn y canlynol:

 Ysgolion Meithrin Cymunedol/Dosbarthiadau Meithrin mewn Ysgolion 
Cymunedol

 Ysgolion Cynradd Cymunedol

 Ysgolion Uwchradd Cymunedol
Er mwyn hwyluso’r broses dderbyn, rhaid i’r Awdurdod Lleol ystyried y 
canlynol: 

 Mae gan blant yr hawl i le meithrin rhan amser o ddechrau’r tymor yn 
dilyn eu pen-blwydd yn dair oed a rhaid iddynt ei fynychu am bum 
hanner diwrnod.

 Caiff plant eu derbyn i ddosbarthiadau derbyn yn y mis Medi'n dilyn eu 
pen-blwydd yn bedair oed.

 Mae plant yn trosglwyddo i addysg uwchradd ym mis Medi yn dilyn eu 
pen-blwydd yn un-ar-ddeg oed.

 Rhaid i bob ysgol a gynhelir dderbyn disgyblion hyd at eu Nifer Derbyn 
cyhoeddedig.

Mae gan rieni’r hawl i fynegi dewis ysgol, caiff rhain eu hystyried yn unigol, 
ac chydymffurfir â hwy lle bynnag y bo’n bosibl. Bydd rhai ysgolion yn 
derbyn mwy o geisiadau am leoedd nag sydd o leoedd ar gael. Pan fo hyn 
yn digwydd, ystyrir y dewis ysgol o hyd ond bydd y meini prawf pan fo 
mwy o geisiadau na lleoedd a bennir gan y Cyngor yn cael eu gweithredu. 
Wrth benderfynu pa plant i’w derbyn i ysgol, mae’r Cyngor yn defnyddio’r 
meini prawf a osodwyd yn ei Ddogfen Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion ac yn 
archwilio’r rhinweddau i gefnogi pob achos drwy ystyried unrhyw resymau 
a gyflwynir yn cefnogi unrhyw ddewis a nodir.
Os yw rhieni’n anfodlon ar ganlyniad cais am Ysgol benodol, gallant apelio i’r 
Panel Apeliadau Statudol Annibynnol. Bydd unrhyw benderfyniad a wna’r 
Panel yn rhwymo’r Cyngor, yr ysgol a’r apelydd. Os na fydd yr apêl yn 
llwyddiannus, ni fydd ceisiadau pellach i apelio am le yn yr un ysgol yn cael 
eu hystyried tra bod y disgybl ar y rhestr aros, oni bai bod y Cyfarwyddwr 
Addysg a Dysgu Gydol Oes yn penderfynu bod newidiadau sylweddol a 
materol yn amgylchiadau'r disgybl/rhieni neu ysgol.
Nid oes hawl i apelio derbyn i Ysgol Feithrin Gymunedol/Dosbarthiadau 
Meithrin mewn Ysgolion Cymunedol.
Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwyddi draw a chan gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth 
Cymru E.3 sy’n nodi:

Page 696



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 3

“Ni chaiff awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 
rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw na 
chyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a'r penderfyniadau 
a wna o ran pwy a gaiff gynnig lle fel disgybl."
Yn unol ag Adran 89 Deddf Safonau a Fframwaith Ysgolion 1998 a 
Rheoliadau Addysg (Penderfynu ar Drefniadau Derbyn) (Cymru) 2006, 
mae gofyn i’r Awdurdodau Derbyn adolygu eu Trefniadau Derbyn i 
Ysgolion bob blwyddyn.
Rhaid i’r Cyngor hefyd gyflawni ei ddyletswyddau sector cyhoeddus dan 
Ddeddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 (gan gynnwys dyletswyddau sector 
cyhoeddus sy’n benodol i Gymru). Yn unol â’r dyletswyddau cyfreithiol 
hyn, rhaid i’r Cyngor, wrth wneud penderfyniadau, roi ystyriaeth briodol i'r 
angen i (1) osgoi gwahaniaethu anghyfreithlon; (2) hybu cyfle cyfartal a (3) 
meithrin perthnasau da ar sail y nodweddion a ddiogelir. 
Rhaid i’r Cyngor hefyd beidio â gwahaniaethu’n uniongyrchol nac yn 
anuniongyrchol yn erbyn unrhyw ddisgybl yn ei drefniadau derbyn, golyga 
hyn na fydd unrhyw ddisgybl na grŵp o ddisgyblion yn cael ei drin yn llai 
ffafriol yn seiliedig ar nodwedd a ddiogelir.
Y nodweddion a ddiogelir yw:

 Oedran
 Anabledd
 Ailbennu Rhywedd
 Priodas a Phartneriaeth Sifil 
 Beichiogrwydd a Mamolaeth 
 Hil – gan gynnwys tarddiad ethnig neu genedlaethol, lliw neu 

genedligrwydd
 Crefydd neu gred – gan gynnwys diffyg cred
 Rhyw 
 Cyfeiriadedd rhywiol 

Page 697



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 4

3 Asesu Effaith ar y Nodweddion a Ddiogelir

3.1 Oedran

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
dan sylw yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [gadarnhaol/negyddol] ar 
bobl iau/hŷn? 

                                                                                                       Bydd Na 
Fydd

Dd/B

Hyd at 18 oed 
18 – 65 oed 
Dros 65 oed 

Rhowch fanylion/canlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 
diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori 
Ar Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri 
dadl gydag agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl 
o fewn pob un o’r meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn 
y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir. 

Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd 
gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir 
oherwydd byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer 
derbyniad mis Medi 2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini 
prawf eraill.

Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r 
maen prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn 
erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu 
ar gyfer unrhyw ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.

Yn y bôn, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol, yn effeithio ar y 
nodwedd warchodedig hon, o ganlyniad i weithredu’r Polisi Derbyniadau 
Ysgolion.

Rhaid i rieni wneud cais i’w plentyn cael ei dderbyn/ei derbyn i'w grŵp oed 
cronolegol.

Natur y polisi yw y bydd yn gymwys yn gynhenid i’r grŵp oedran 3-16 oed 
oherwydd ei fod yn berthnasol i blant oedran ysgol a meithrin ac oedolion 

Page 698



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 5

ifanc. 

Er y byddai gweithredu’r polisi hwn felly’n cael effaith wahaniaethol, ni châi 
ei ystyried yn rhagfarnol i grwpiau oedran hŷn gan nad ydynt yn rhan o’r 
broses darparu lle addysgol hon.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
Dd/B

3.2 Anabledd

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
hon yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [cadarnhaol/negyddol] ar bobl 
anabl? 

Bydd Na 
Fydd

Dd/B

Nam ar y clyw 
Nam Corfforol 
Nam ar y Golwg 
Anabledd Dysgu 
Salwch neu Gyflwr Iechyd Hirdymor 
Iechyd Meddwl 
Dibyniaeth ar Sylwedd 
Arall 
 

Rhowch fanylion/canlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 
diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori 
Ar Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri 
dadl gydag agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl 
o fewn pob un o’r meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn 
y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir. 
Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd 
gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir 
oherwydd byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer 
derbyniad mis Medi 2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini 
prawf eraill.
Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r 

Page 699



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 6

maen prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn 
erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu 
ar gyfer unrhyw ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.
Yn y bôn, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol, yn effeithio ar y 
nodwedd warchodedig hon, o ganlyniad i weithredu’r Polisi Derbyniadau 
Ysgolion.
Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwyddi draw a chan gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth 
Cymru E.3 sy’n nodi:
“Ni chaiff awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 
rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw na 
chyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a'r penderfyniadau 
a wna o ran pwy a gaiff gynnig lle fel disgybl."
Gallai fod effaith wahaniaethol gan y byddai rhoi’r Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 
ar waith yn caniatáu i flaenoriaeth gael ei rhoi i ymgeiswyr pan fo’r 
ddeddfwriaeth a’r mesurau diogelu’n rhagnodi cynnwys meini prawf 
penodol o ran Anghenion Addysgol Arbennig sy’n cefnogi disgyblion ag 
anableddau sydd hefyd yn anawsterau dysgu.
Mae deddfwriaeth AAA yn rhoi blaenoriaeth absoliwt i'r disgyblion hyn 
mewn perthynas â derbyniadau ac mae ganddi broses apelio annibynnol 
ar wahân i dribiwnlys AAA Cymru.  Byddai hyn yn effaith bositif os oedd y 
radd angen cymaint fel bod lleoli ffafriol yn berthnasol.
Mae gan bob ysgol ymrwymiad i wneud darpariaeth ar gyfer disgyblion ag 
AAA ac i wneud addasiadau rhesymol o dan Ddeddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 i 
adeiladau'r ysgol ac ym mhob maes arall ar gyfer disgyblion ag 
anableddau.
Yn yr un modd gallai fod effaith wahaniaethol gan y byddai rhoi’r Polisi 
Derbyn i Ysgolion ar waith yn caniatáu rhoi blaenoriaeth i ymgeiswyr y 
gellid profi bod ganddynt anghenion penodol am resymau meddygol a/neu 
gymdeithasol cymhellol. Câi effaith gadarnhaol petai maint yr angen yn 
gofyn am leoliad ffafriol.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
Diweddaru yn ôl yr angen pan fydd deddfwriaeth ADY newydd yn dod i 
rym neu os yw Polisi Cludiant Ysgol yn newid.

Page 700



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 7

3.3 Ailbennu Rhywedd

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
dan sylw yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [gadarnhaol/negyddol] ar 
bobl drawsryweddol? 

Bydd Na 
Fydd

Dd/B

Pobl Drawsryweddol
(Pobl sy’n cynnig mynd trwy, yn mynd trwy neu sydd 
wedi mynd trwy broses [neu ran o broses] i ailbennu 
eu rhyw trwy newid nodweddion seicolegol neu 
nodweddion eraill o ryw)



Rhowch fanylion/canlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 
diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori 
Ar Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri 
dadl gydag agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl 
o fewn pob un o’r meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn 
y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir. 
Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd 
gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir 
oherwydd byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer 
derbyniad mis Medi 2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini 
prawf eraill.
Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r 
maen prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn 
erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu 
ar gyfer unrhyw ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.
Yn y bôn, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol, yn effeithio ar y 
nodwedd warchodedig hon, o ganlyniad i weithredu’r Polisi Derbyniadau 
Ysgolion.
Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwyddi draw a chan gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth 
Cymru E.3 sy’n nodi:
“Ni chaiff awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 

Page 701



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 8

rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw na 
chyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a'r penderfyniadau 
a wna o ran pwy a gaiff gynnig lle fel disgybl."
Mae  pob ysgol y mae'r Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion yn gymwys iddynt heb fod 
yn benodol i rywedd mewn perthynas â’u meini prawf derbyn.
Gallai effaith wahaniaethol ddigwydd gan fyddai gweithredu’r Polisi 
Derbyniadau Ysgol yn caniatáu i flaenoriaeth gael ei rhoi i ymgeiswyr y 
gellid rhoi tystiolaeth am seiliau meddygol a/neu gymdeithasol cymhellol 
gan ddangos anghenion penodol. Byddai hyn yn effaith gadarnhaol pe 
byddai’r fath  graddau’r angen fel y byddai lleoliad ffafriol yn berthnasol. 

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
Dd/B

3.4. Priodas a Phartneriaeth Sifil

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
hon yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [cadarnhaol/negyddol] ar briodas 
a phartneriaeth sifil?

Byd
d

Na 
Fyd
d

Dd/
B

Priodas 
Partneriaeth Sifil 

Rhowch fanylion/canlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Ni fyddai effaith wahaniaethol gan na fyddai rhoi’r Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 
ar waith yn effeithio ar y nodwedd a ddiogelir hon.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
Dd/B

3.5 Beichiogrwydd a Mamolaeth

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
dan sylw’n cael effaith wahaniaethol [gadarnhaol/negyddol] ar 
feichiogrwydd a mamolaeth? 

Page 702



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 9

Byd
d

Na 
Fyd
d

Dd/
B

Beichiogrwydd 
Mamolaeth 

Rhowch fanylion/canlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwyddi draw a chan gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth 
Cymru E.3 sy’n nodi:
“Ni chaiff awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 
rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw na 
chyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a'r penderfyniadau 
a wna o ran pwy a gaiff gynnig lle fel disgybl."
Ni fyddai effaith wahaniaethol gan na fyddai rhoi’r Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion 
ar waith yn effeithio ar y nodwedd a ddiogelir hon.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
Dd/B

3.6 Hil

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
dan sylw yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [gadarnhaol/negyddol] ar y 
grwpiau canlynol? 

Byd
d

Na 
Fyd

d

Dd/
B

Gwyn 
Grwpiau Cymysg / Aml-ethnig 
Asiaidd / Asiaidd Prydeinig 
Du / Affricanaidd / Caribïaidd / Du Prydeinig 
Grwpiau Ethnig Eraill 

Rhowch fanylion/canlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth ategol, 
os yw ar gael. 

Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 

Page 703



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 10

diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori Ar 
Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl gydag 
agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl o fewn pob un o’r 
meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a 
ddiogelir. 

Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd gael 
unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir oherwydd 
byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer derbyniad mis Medi 
2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini prawf eraill.

Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r maen 
prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y 
nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu ar gyfer unrhyw 
ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.

Cafodd y cynnig hwn ei ddatblygu yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwyddi draw ac yn cydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion E.3 Llywodraeth 
Cymru sy’n dweud: “Mae’n rhaid i awdurdod derbyniadau beidio â gwahaniaethu 
ar sail anabledd; ailbennu rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu 
gredo; rhyw; neu cyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn person o ran y trefniadau a'r 
penderfyniadau mae'n eu gwneud ynglŷn ag i bwy y cynigir ei dderbyn fel 
disgybl.”
Yn y bôn, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol, yn effeithio ar y 
nodwedd warchodedig hon, o ganlyniad i weithredu’r Polisi Derbyniadau 
Ysgolion.
Cesglir data Cyfrifiad Ysgolion Blynyddol ar Lefel Disgyblion bob blwyddyn ac mae 
wedi dangos yn gyson fod gan bob ysgol ddisgyblion o wahanol hil.
Mae yna botensial o ran effaith yn y dyfodol, fodd bynnag mae'r polisi derbyn yn 
cael ei adolygu, yr ymgynghorir arno a'i benderfynu bob blwyddyn.
Fel y cytunwyd yn y cyfarfod Cabinet ar 16 Tachwedd 2017, mae swyddogion 
wedi cael awdurdod i ystyried ymhellach sut gall meini prawf derbyn eraill 
effeithio'n bositif ar amrywiaeth a/neu ddisgyblion sydd dan anfantais 
gymdeithasol neu economaidd.
Mae copi o'r adroddiad ar gael i'w weld ar wefan y Cyngor trwy'r ddolen isod
http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=3078&Ver=4

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?

Monitro data CYBLD a chynllunio ysgolion i sicrhau bod unrhyw effaith yn cael ei 
nodi.

Page 704

http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=151&MId=3078&Ver=4


CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 11

3.7 Crefydd, Cred neu Ddi-gred 

A fydd y Polisi/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth hwn yn cael effaith 
wahaniaethol [cadarnhaol/negyddol] ar bobl â chrefyddau, 
credoau neu ddiffyg-cred gwahanol? 

Bydd Na 
fydd

Dd/B

Bwdhydd 
Cristion 
Hindŵ 
Dyneiddiwr 
Iddew 
Mwslim 
Sîc 
Arall 

Rhowch fanylion/ganlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 
diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori 
Ar Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri 
dadl gydag agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl 
o fewn pob un o’r meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn 
y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir. 
Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd 
gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir 
oherwydd byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer 
derbyniad mis Medi 2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini 
prawf eraill.
Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r 
maen prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn 
erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu 
ar gyfer unrhyw ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.
Cafodd y cynnig hwn ei ddatblygu yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 
2010 drwyddi draw ac yn cydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion E.3 
Llywodraeth Cymru sy’n dweud: “Mae’n rhaid i awdurdod derbyniadau 
beidio â gwahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu rhywedd; beichiogrwydd 
a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gredo; rhyw; neu cyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn 
erbyn person o ran y trefniadau a'r penderfyniadau mae'n eu gwneud 
ynglŷn ag i bwy y cynigir ei dderbyn fel disgybl.”

Page 705



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 12

Yn y bôn, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol, yn effeithio ar y 
nodwedd warchodedig hon, o ganlyniad i weithredu’r Polisi Derbyniadau 
Ysgolion.
Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwy gydol ac wrth gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion E.3 Llywodraeth 
Cymru sy’n nodi:
“Ni chaiff awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 
rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw na 
chyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a'r penderfyniadau 
a wna o ran pwy a gaiff gynnig lle fel disgybl."
Mae nifer o ysgolion ffydd gwirfoddol a gynorthwyir yng Nghaerdydd sydd 
naill ai’n Gatholig neu’n rhai’r Eglwys yng Nghymru sy’n delio â’u 
derbyniadau eu hunain ac yn derbyn plant o’r crefyddau hynny. Mae hefyd 
3 ysgol Fwslim annibynnol sy’n delio â’u trefniadau derbyn eu hunain. O 
ganlyniad gallai fod llai o ddisgyblion o’r crefyddau  hyn mewn ysgolion 
cymunedol.  Ond nid yw trefniadau derbyn y Cyngor yn gwahaniaethu 
rhwng ymgeiswyr o systemau cred gwahanol sy’n gwneud cais i fynychu 
Ysgolion Cymunedol.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith 
wahaniaethol?
Bydd y Cyngor yn parhau’n sensitif i anghenion cymunedau crefyddol sy’n 
ceisio darpariaeth ffydd.

3.8 Rhyw

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddoga
eth yma yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [cadarnhaol/negyddol] ar 
ddynion a/neu ferched? 

Byd
d

Na 
fyd
d

Dd/
B

Dynion 
Menywod 

Rhowch fanylion/ganlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Page 706



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 13

Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 
diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori 
Ar Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri 
dadl gydag agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl 
o fewn pob un o’r meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn 
y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir. 

Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd 
gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir 
oherwydd byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer 
derbyniad mis Medi 2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini 
prawf eraill.

Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r 
maen prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn 
erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu 
ar gyfer unrhyw ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.

Yn y bôn, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol, yn effeithio ar y 
nodwedd warchodedig hon, o ganlyniad i weithredu’r Polisi Derbyniadau 
Ysgolion.

Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwy gydol ac wrth gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion E.3 Llywodraeth 
Cymru sy’n nodi:

“Ni ddylai awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 
rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw; neu 
gyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a’r penderfyniadau a 
wna o ran cynnig derbyn disgybl.”
Mae  pob ysgol y mae'r Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion yn gymwys iddynt heb fod 
yn benodol i ryw mewn perthynas â’u meini prawf derbyn 
Ni fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol gan na fyddai gweithredu'r Polisi 
Derbyn i Ysgolion yn effeithio ar y nodwedd a ddiogelir hon.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
Dd/B

Page 707



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 14

3.9 Cyfeiriadedd rhywiol

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
dan sylw yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [cadarnhaol/negyddol] ar 
y bobl ganlynol? 

Bydd Na 
fydd

Dd/B

Deurywiol 
Dynion hoyw 
Menywod Hoyw/Lesbiaid 
Heterorywiol/Strêt 

Rhowch fanylion/ganlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Datblygwyd y cynnig hwn yn unol â gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 
drwy gydol ac wrth gydymffurfio â Chod Derbyn i Ysgolion E.3 Llywodraeth 
Cymru sy’n nodi:
 “Ni chaiff awdurdod derbyn wahaniaethu ar sail anabledd; ailbennu 
rhywedd; beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth; hil; crefydd neu gred; rhyw; neu 
gyfeiriadedd rhywiol, yn erbyn rhywun yn y trefniadau a’r penderfyniadau 
a wna o ran cynnig derbyn disgybl.”
Ni fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol gan na fyddai gweithredu'r Polisi 
Derbyn i Ysgolion yn effeithio ar y nodwedd a ddiogelir hon.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith 
wahaniaethol?
Dd/B

Page 708



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 15

3.10  Iaith Gymraeg

A fydd y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Weithdrefn/Gwasanaeth/Swyddogaeth 
dan sylw yn cael effaith wahaniaethol [cadarnhaol/negyddol] ar y 
Gymraeg? 

Byd
d

Na 
fyd
d

Dd/
B

Iaith Gymraeg 

Rhowch fanylion/ganlyniadau'r effaith wahaniaethol, a rhowch dystiolaeth 
ategol, os yw ar gael. 

Mae Cyngor wedi ymrwymo i ddatblygu Caerdydd Ddwyieithog.  Bydd 
Cynllun Strategol Cymraeg mewn Addysg (CSCA) 2017-2020 y Cyngor yn 
helpu Caerdydd i gefnogi gweledigaeth Llywodraeth Cymru i weld miliwn o 
siaradwyr Cymraeg yng Nghymru erbyn 2050.
Mae CSCA yn rhan greiddiol o Strategaeth Ddwyieithog 5 mlynedd y 
Cyngor.  Mae’r Cyngor yn cydnabod bod sector addysg Gymraeg gref a 
chynhwysol yn hanfodol os yw Caerdydd i ddatblygu fel dinas 
gwirioneddol ddwyieithog lle bydd y Gymraeg yn iaith fywiog a byw.
Nod Strategaeth Caerdydd ddwyieithog yw cynyddu nifer y siaradwyr 
Cymraeg yn y ddinas a chynyddu’r defnydd o’r iaith ledled y ddinas.  Mae’r 
Cyngor yn cydnabod bod y system addysg yn elfen allweddol er mwyn 
sicrhau bod plant yn gallu datblygu eu sgiliau Cymraeg, ac i greu 
siaradwyr newydd.
Ni ddisgwylir i gynnwys Cynllun Gofal Iechyd Unigol a Ariennir (FIHP) fel 
diwygiad i'r Panel Asesu'r Blynyddoedd Cynnar (EYAP)/ Panel Cynghori 
Ar Achosion (CAP) a disodli defnydd meini prawf is fel rhywbeth i dorri 
dadl gydag agosrwydd yr ysgol i’r cyfeiriad gartref fel rhywbeth i dorri dadl 
o fewn pob un o’r meini prawf, i gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn 
y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir. 
Ni ddisgwylir i ail-raddio’r maen prawf brodyr a chwiorydd a gyfarwyddwyd 
gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir 
oherwydd byddai’r rhai a dderbyniwyd o dan y maen prawf hen ar gyfer 
derbyniad mis Medi 2017 (7 o ddisgyblion) wedi cael eu derbyn o dan feini 
prawf eraill.

Page 709



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 16

Ni ddisgwylir i ddileu’r maen prawf o ran yr un bellaf o ysgol amgen a’r 
maen prawf ar dderbyn cyn amser gael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol yn 
erbyn y nodwedd hon a ddiogelir - ni chafodd y naill na'r llall ei weithredu 
ar gyfer unrhyw ymgeisydd a ystyriwyd ar gyfer derbyniad Medi 2017.
I grynhoi, disgwylir na fyddai unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol o ganlyniad i 
weithredu’r Polis Derbyniadau Ysgolion.
Ar gyfer plant nad oeddent wedi mynychu Ysgol Feithrin / Ysgol Gynradd 
cyfrwng Cymraeg ar ddechrau eu haddysg ac sy'n dymuno trosglwyddo i 
addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg, mae'r Cyngor wedi sefydlu Uned Drochi 
Cymraeg oedran ysgol gynradd ac ysgol uwchradd, sy'n darparu dysgu 
Cymraeg dwys gan alluogi plant i ennill lefel rhuglder i drosglwyddo i 
addysg mewn ysgol cyfrwng Cymraeg.
Bydd swyddogion yn parhau i fonitro cyfraddau geni, ffrwyth tai newydd 
arfaethedig a’r patrymau mabwysiadu darpariaeth Gymraeg ar oed 
cynradd ac uwchradd gyda golwg i ddwyn cynlluniau priodol ger bron i 
ateb unrhyw gynnydd yn y galw.
Mae dysgu’r Gymraeg o fewn sefyllfa addysg Saesneg yn amodol ar 
ofynion y Cwricwlwm Cenedlaethol.  Ni fyddai hyn yn newid.

Pa gam(au) gallwch chi eu cymryd i fynd i’r afael â’r effaith wahaniaethol?
 Parhau i adolygu'r ymrwymiad i hyrwyddo addysg cyfrwng Cymraeg trwy'r 
Cynllun Strategol y Gymraeg mewn Addysg.

Page 710



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 17

4. Ymgynghori a Chysylltu
Pa drefniadau sydd wedi eu gwneud i ymgynghori/cysylltu â’r amryw Grwpiau 
Cydraddoldeb? 

Cyflwynwyd Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion drafft 2019/2020 y Cyngor a dogfen 
ymgynghori'n nodi’r newidiadau a gynigwyd (gweler Atodiad 1 ac Atodiad 
2) yn Gymraeg ac yn Saesneg ar gyfer ymgynghoriad ar 12 Rhagfyr 2017 
gyda phawb y mae angen i'r Cyngor ymgynghori â nhw fel y nodir yng 
Nghod Derbyn i Ysgolion Llywodraeth Cymru (Penaethiaid, Cyrff 
Llywodraethu, Cyfarwyddwyr Esgobaethol, Awdurdodau Addysg Lleol 
cyfagos).  Cyfarfu'r ymgynghoriad â'r amserlen statudol a chaeodd ar 30ain 
Ionawr 2018.
Cyhoeddwyd y Polisi, y ddogfen ymgynghori a ffurflen ymateb ar-lein ar 
wefan y Cyngor a'i hysbysebu trwy'r wasg yn ogystal â llwyfannau 
cyfryngau cymdeithasol ysgolion, a roddodd gyfle i rieni a phartïon eraill 
oedd â diddordeb i wneud sylwadau. Gofynnwyd am ddychwelyd 
ymatebion erbyn 30ain Ionawr 2018.
Cynhaliwyd deng sesiwn galw heibio fel rhan o’r ymgynghoriad, lle'r oedd 
swyddogion ar gael i ateb cwestiynau.
Yn ogystal, cyflwynwyd arolwg disgyblion ar-lein i ysgolion ar gyfer 
disgyblion cynradd ac uwchradd yn gofyn iddynt nodi beth sy’n bwysig 
iddynt wrth feddwl am fynd i’r ysgol. 
Hyrwyddwyd manylion yr ymgynghoriad trwy gyfryngau cymdeithasol ac 
ysgolion.
Bydd manylion ar y Polisi Derbyn i Ysgolion ar gael ar wefan y Cyngor:
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/CYM/preswylydd/Ysgolion-a-
dysgu/Ysgolion/Caerdydd-yn-Erbyn-Bwlio/gwobrau-
ysbrydoli/Pages/default.aspx

Page 711

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/CYM/preswylydd/Ysgolion-a-dysgu/Ysgolion/Caerdydd-yn-Erbyn-Bwlio/gwobrau-ysbrydoli/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/CYM/preswylydd/Ysgolion-a-dysgu/Ysgolion/Caerdydd-yn-Erbyn-Bwlio/gwobrau-ysbrydoli/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/CYM/preswylydd/Ysgolion-a-dysgu/Ysgolion/Caerdydd-yn-Erbyn-Bwlio/gwobrau-ysbrydoli/Pages/default.aspx


CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 18

5. Crynodeb o Gamau  Gweithredu i’w cymryd [o’r 
Camau Gweithredu a nodir yn yr Adrannau 
uchod]

Dylai’r camau gweithredu hyn gael eu cynnwys yng Nghynllun Gweithredu 
Cydraddoldeb eich Cyfarwyddiaeth eleni. Dylent gael eu monitro’n rheolaidd 
a’u hadrodd yn Adroddiad Blynyddol ar Gydraddoldeb eich Cyfarwyddiaeth.

Grwpiau Camau Gweithredu
Oedran Dim
Anabledd Dim
Ailbennu Rhywedd Dim
Priodas a 
Phartneriaeth Sifil

Dim

Beichiogrwydd a 
Mamolaeth

Dim

Hil Bydd y Cyngor yn ystyried buddion/anfanteision posibl 
cymharol i grwpiau ethnig penodol wrth benderfynu ar y 
cynnig hwn a ph’un ai i gynnwys meini prawf ysgolion 
bwydo.

Crefydd/Cred Bydd y Cyngor yn parhau’n sensitif i anghenion 
cymunedau crefyddol wrth geisio darpariaeth lleoedd 
ffydd.

Rhywedd Dim
Cyfeiriadedd Rhywiol Dim
Yr Iaith Gymraeg Dim
Cyffredinol [yn 
berthnasol i'r holl 
grwpiau uchod]

Dim

Page 712



CYNGOR CAERDYDD
Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Gydraddoldeb

Templed Asesu Corfforaethol

4.C.400 Issue 1 Jan 13 Process Owner:  Lynne David Authorised: Lynne David Page 19

6. CAMAU GWEITHREDU I’W HYSTYRIED YN Y DYFODOL

Rhestrwch yma unrhyw gamau gweithredu na allwch eu cymryd yn unionsyth 
ond sydd wedi codi fel materion i’w hystyried i ddatblygiadau gwasanaeth yn y 
dyfodol.

7.       Awdurdodi

Dylai'r Templed gael ei gwblhau gan Swyddog Arweiniol y 
Polisi/Strategaeth/Project/Swyddogaeth a nodir a’i gymeradwyo gan y 
Rheolwr priodol ym mhob Gwasanaeth. 

Cwblhawyd gan: Rosalie Phillips Dyddiad: 07/03/2018
Dynodiad: Uwch Swyddog Llywodraethu a 
Chydymffurfio Trefniadaeth Ysgolion
Cymeradwywyd Gan: Michele Duddridge Hossain
Dynodiad: Rheolwr Gweithredol, Cynllunio a 
Darpariaeth
Gwasanaeth: Gwasanaeth Addysg a Dysgu Gydol Oes

7.1 Ar ôl cwblhau'r Asesiad hwn anfonwch ef i 
timcydraddoldeb@caerdydd.gov.uk a fydd yn ei gyhoeddi ar wefan y 
Cyngor.

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth neu gymorth, cysylltwch â’r Tîm Cydraddoldeb 
drwy ffonio 029 2087 2536 neu e-bostiwch 
timcydraddoldeb@caerdydd.gov.uk

                        

Page 713

mailto:timcydraddoldeb@caerdydd.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2018/19

FINANCE, MODERNISATION AND PERFORMANCE (COUNCILLOR 
CHRIS WEAVER)

                                                                      AGENDA ITEM: 8

REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES  

Reason for this Report 

1. To ask the Council to agree a Pay Policy Statement for 2018/19, in 
accordance with the requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

Background

2. The Council understands the importance of having a clear written policy on 
pay for employees. The Pay Policy Statement (Appendix 1) provides a 
framework to ensure that employees are rewarded fairly and objectively 
without discrimination.

3. This Pay Policy Statement complies with the statutory requirement under the 
Localism Act 2011, which has led to the Council adopting annual pay policy 
statements since 2012. Agreement to (and subsequent publication) of this 
seventh annual Pay Policy Statement will ensure continued compliance with 
this legislation.

4. The focus of the legislation is about transparency of pay for Chief Officers 
and how their pay compares with lower paid employees in the Council.  
However, in the interests of transparency and accountability the Council has 
chosen since 2011 to take a broader approach and produce a Pay Policy 
Statement covering all employee groups, with the exception of teachers (as 
the remuneration for this latter group is set by the Secretary of State and 
therefore not in local authority control).  This Pay Policy Statement excludes 
Members of the Council as they are not employees and are governed by 
separate legislation via the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

5. The legislation also requires the Council to provide information about 
redundancy payments that are made to employees who leave the 
organisation. The current Voluntary Redundancy Policy has been in place 
since 3rd April 2015, and annual reviews since then have resulted in no 
further changes.

Page 715

Eitem Agenda 8



Page 2 of 6

6. Redundancy payments made under the Policy are calculated with reference 
to a week’s pay up to a maximum of £489.00. It should be noted that due to 
a ruling by an Employment Appeal Tribunal EAT) in the case of University of 
Sunderland v Drossou, in June 2017, employers must ensure that a week’s 
pay includes remuneration ‘payable by the employer under the contract of 
employment’ and that this this value should not be limited by what the 
employee directly receives. The rationale offered by the EAT was that 
employer’s pension contributions formed part of the overall package of 
‘remuneration’ offered to an employee in return for their services. The result 
of this is that retrospective to 13 June 2017, where appropriate, the 
employer’s pension contributions have been included in the calculation of an 
employee’s weekly pay, subject to the £489 maximum stated in the 
Voluntary Redundancy Policy.  There will be no change to the Voluntary 
Redundancy Policy for 2018/19.

Chief Officer Pay

7. The Standing Orders (Wales) Amendment Regulations 2014 introduced a 
requirement that: “The relevant authority [i.e. full Council] must determine 
the level, and any change in the level, of the remuneration to be paid to a 
Chief Officer”.

8. Chief Officers of this Authority are employed under JNC terms and 
conditions which are incorporated into their contracts of employment.  They 
are therefore contractually entitled to any JNC pay rises and the withholding 
of such increases, pending agreement by full Council, could result in claims 
against the Authority of ‘unlawful deduction from wages’ or ‘breach of 
contract’. 

9. Due to the practical implications of this requirement, Welsh Government, 
agreed that the requirement could be met by full Council voting on a 
resolution to pay the nationally agreed pay awards, as and when determined 
by the JNC for Chief Officers.  Such a resolution was made by full Council 
and a clause has been included to this effect in the 2015/16 and subsequent 
Pay Policy Statements.  This clause can only be revoked by full Council, 
and if such a decision was taken, the Pay Policy Statement would need to 
be amended accordingly.

NJC Local Government Services Pay Award 2018 

10. The National Employers for Local Government Services are currently 
consulting the trade unions on the pay offer for the period 1st April 2018 to 
31st March 2020.  The Council’s current pay scale is attached in Annex 2, 
and details of the NJC pay offer are set out in Annex 3.

11. The proposals effective from 1 April 2018 seek to ensure that the gap with 
the National Living Wage is closed by bottom loading on the lower spine 
points to Point 19.  For all other Spine Points a flat rate increase of 2% is 
proposed. The National Employers for Local Government Services estimate 
that the first year of the pay offer would increase the national pay bill by 
2.707%. 

Page 716



Page 3 of 6

12. The proposals effective from 1st April 2019 would result in a review of the 
national range of spine points which would include the merging of spine 
points at the lower end of the range.  The full implications of this will be 
assessed and reported once the national position is confirmed.

Redundancy Packages

13. Currently, Welsh Government guidance on Pay Policy Statements states 
that where a Chief Officer will be in receipt of a redundancy package above 
£100,000 this must be agreed by full Council. In Cardiff, the cap on 
redundancy payments is £22,005 from 6th April 2017 (current weekly 
maximum is £489, and the April 2018 increase is yet to be confirmed by the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills). Therefore, a redundancy 
payment alone will not need to go to full Council.  However, as salary paid in 
lieu and the full cost of early release of pension must be included in the total 
cost of a redundancy package there may be instances where the agreement 
of full Council will be required.  This is incorporated into the proposed Pay 
Policy Statement in paragraph 58.

UK Government Changes

14. Alongside the position set out in paragraph 9 above, the UK Government is 
in the process of introducing a number of changes which impact on public 
sector exit payments.  These changes, which have not progressed further 
since they were reported to Cabinet in 2017, are as follows:

(i) Introduction of a £95k Exit Payment Cap
As a result of the Enterprise Act 2016, the UK Government 
introduced legislation which included provisions to cap the total value 
of public sector exit payments, (including payment of compensation 
and pension strain) at £95,000. HM Treasury are yet to finalise the 
regulations and therefore the cap is not yet in place.  Welsh 
Government will have the power to relax the cap in relation to exit 
payments made by authorities that wholly or mainly exercise 
devolved functions, which includes local authority staff. Until the 
regulations are finalised it is unclear as to how Welsh Government 
will operate the waiver in practice.

(ii) Wider Review of the Public Sector Exit Payment Schemes
Concurrently, the UK Government intend to introduce a framework of 
changes to the terms of public sector exit payment schemes which 
will affect local government employees, including teachers. Although 
it was expected that changes will be made to the relevant schemes 
by June 2017 the UK Government has not provided details on their 
proposed approach to date.

(iii) Recovery of Exit Payments (Clawback)
The final change will be the ability to recover exit payments made to 
employees earning over £80,000 who leave the public sector but are 
then re-engaged in the public sector within a 12 month period.

Page 717



Page 4 of 6

15. There is a clear link between the changes outlined in (i) and (ii) above. 
Indications are that the changes to the terms used to calculate exit 
payments will (most likely) be less beneficial to the employee, and the 
consequence of this is that the cap of £95,000 is less likely to be breached 
in future.

Gender Pay Gap

16. The Equality Act 2010 (Specific Duties and Public Authorities) Regulations 
2017, which relate to public sector employers in England and Wales, 
requires the publication of gender pay gap data based on a ‘snapshot’ date 
of 31st March.

17. Since the publication of the regulations it has been clarified that local 
authorities in Wales are not covered by the requirement to formally publish a 
Gender Pay Gap report, but instead must manage gender pay differences.  
On this basis, there is no requirement on the Council to publish anything 
other than the data we have published to date.

18. With more public sector employers being required to report on their Gender 
Pay Gap, and with increasing media and public interest, the Council has 
been in receipt of requests for information under the Freedom of Information 
Act.  It is anticipated that such requests will further increase, and line with 
the Council’s commitment to fairness and transparency, it is proposed that 
the Council voluntarily publishes its Gender Pay gap report as part of the 
annual Pay Policy Statement, effective from the proposed 2018/19 
statement, which will be published by 31st March 2018.

Non-Guaranteed Working Hours

19. In December 2016 the Welsh Government issued principles and guidance 
on the appropriate use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements in the 
devolved public services in Wales.  These principles and guidance were 
developed by the Public Services Staff Commission in social partnership 
with the Welsh Government’s Partnership Council and its sector groups.  
The Council is committed to the principles determined by Welsh 
Government which apply to those employees who are employed on a relief, 
casual or sessional basis.  These employees are used in services within the 
Council where there is either a need to bring in an additional workforce in 
order to cover peaks in workload, such as in the Emergency Duty Team, or 
where the workload is on a one off basis, such as Events.

Reason for Recommendations

20. To comply with the legal requirement under the Localism Act 2011 to 
produce a Pay Policy Statement, and at the same time to provide 
transparency and accountability in the Council’s arrangements for rewarding 
its staff. 

Page 718



Page 5 of 6

Legal Implications

21. Under Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011 the Council must prepare a Pay 
Policy Statement for each financial year before the commencement of that 
year. The Pay Policy Statement for 2018/19 must therefore be approved by 
31st March 2018.

22. The Act requires that the Pay Policy Statement covers certain specific 
matters and the Welsh Government has issued statutory Guidance in 
relation to Pay Policies.

23. The proposed Pay Policy Statement for 2018/19 meets the requirements of 
the Act and Welsh Government Guidance.

24. The Pay Policy Statement must be published on the Council’s website.

25. The Council’s pay structures are considered to be compliant with Equalities 
legislation.

Financial Implications

26. The rates of pay and conditions set out in the Pay Policy Statement are 
reflected in the Council’s budget for 2018/19.

Human Resource Implications

27. The recommendation will not impact on employees across the Council as it 
merely outlines in one policy, existing and agreed arrangements for pay and 
remuneration of employees. 

28. The implications of the Local Government Services 2018/20 national pay 
award will be assessed once the position national employers conclude 
negotiations. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to approve the attached Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 
(Appendix 1) for consideration by Council on 22 March 2018 and notes:

(i) the employer’s pension contributions have been included in the 
calculation of an employee’s weekly pay, where appropriate

(ii) that the Council will need to take steps to implement changes arising 
from the NJC for Local Government Pay for 2018/20

(iii) the inclusion of the Gender Pay Gap report

(iv) the commitment to the principles and guidance on the appropriate 
use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements in the devolved public 
services in Wales, as developed by the Public Services Staff 

Page 719



Page 6 of 6

Commission in social partnership with the Welsh Government’s 
Partnership Council and its sector groups.  

CHRISTINE SALTER
Corporate Director Resources 
9 March 2018

The following appendices are attached:

Appendix 1 – Pay Policy Statement 2018/19 
Annex 1 – Salary scales documents detailing all Council grades.
Annex 2 – NJC for Local Government Services: Pay Award Proposal 
2018/20

Page 720



1

Appendix 1
CARDIFF COUNCIL

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2018/19

INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE

1. Cardiff Council recognises the importance of managing pay fairly and consistently in a 
way that motivates employees to make a positive contribution to the Council’s 
business. The decisions that are taken regarding pay are crucial to maintaining 
equality across the Council. The production of a Pay Policy Statement supports this 
approach and will provide transparency. 

SCOPE

2. The Localism Act 2011 requires authorities to develop and make public a pay policy 
statement on all aspects of Chief Officer remuneration (including on ceasing to hold 
office), and that pertaining to the ‘lowest paid’ in the authority, explaining their policy 
on the relationship between remuneration for Chief Officer and other groups. 
However, in the interests of transparency and accountability the Council has chosen 
to take a broader approach and produce a policy statement covering all employee 
groups with the exception of teachers (as the remuneration for this latter group is set 
by the Secretary of State and therefore not in local authority control). This policy does 
not apply to Members of the Council as they are not employees and are governed by 
separate legislation via the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. 

LEGISLATION

3. In determining the pay and remuneration of all its employees, the Council will comply 
with all relevant legislation. This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time 
Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, Agency 
Workers Regulations 2010 and where relevant the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006. With regard to the Equal Pay 
requirements contained within the Equality Act, the Council will ensure there is no pay 
discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay differentials can be objectively 
justified through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation mechanisms which 
directly relate salaries to the requirements, demands and responsibilities of the role.

4. This policy statement incorporates the Cardiff Council’s Pay Policy Statement as 
required by the Localism Act 2011.

RESPONSIBILITY AND SCOPE

5. The Council is directly responsible for a budget of £587 million (2017/18) and for the 
employment of 13,268 employees (as at December 2017). The Council provides 
services to a total population of 361,500 (rounded to the nearest 100) according to 
Nomis, a service within the Office of National Statistics. In the 2016-21 Cardiff 

Page 721



2

Housing Strategy report, the Council was recorded as having a Council housing stock 
of 13,657 and in September 2017 there were 53,997 pupils enrolled in our schools. 

DEFINITIONS

6. Chief Officer – the Localism Act 2011 defines Chief Officer as: 
 Head of Paid Service - in Cardiff this is the Chief Executive
 Monitoring Officer – in Cardiff this is the Director of Governance & Legal Services
 Statutory Chief Officers – in Cardiff these are -

o Director for Education and Lifelong Learning, 
o Director of Social Services 
o Corporate Director Resources who undertakes the role of Section151 Officer

 Non-statutory Chief Officers – this refers to non-statutory posts that report directly 
to the Head of Paid Service so in Cardiff this would be – 
o Corporate Director for People and Communities
o Director for Economic Development 
o Director for Planning, Transport and Environment

 Deputy Chief Officers – this refers to officers that report directly to statutory or 
non-statutory Chief Officers. In Cardiff this includes – 
o Assistant Director for Education and Lifelong Learning
o Assistant Director for Children’s Services
o Assistant Director for Corporate Landlord
o Assistant Director for Housing and Communities
o Assistant Director for Customer Services 
o Assistant Director for Street Scene
o Head of Service for Finance
o Head of Performance and Partnerships
o Head of Democratic Services – statutory role which reports to the Monitoring 

Officer
o Chief Officer for HR People Services
o Chief Digital Officer

 There are also some Operational Managers that report directly to statutory or 
non-statutory Chief Officers (Corporate Director Resources, Directors of 
Economic Development; Governance and Legal Services; Social Services) and 
so for the purposes of this policy these posts are included within this definition. 
Operational Managers are employed on the same terms and conditions as the 
Council’s Heads of Service and Chief Officers as indicated in paragraph 17. 

7. Lowest Paid Employees – the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to define its 
‘lowest paid employee’ within the pay policy statement. Within the Council the lowest 
paid employees are those appointed on SCP6 of the NJC nationally agreed pay 
spine. However, with effect from 1st September 2012 the Council adopted the 
Voluntary Living Wage for its employees. Therefore, the minimum pay is currently 
£8.45 per hour. This is to rise to £8.75 per hour from 1st April 2018.
 

8. The Voluntary Living Wage paid by the Council is higher than the Government’s 
compulsory National Living Wage for over 25 year olds which currently is £7.50 per 
hour (from April 2017).  

Page 722



3

9. Pay – the Localism Act 2011 defines remuneration as ‘salary, bonuses, charges, fees 
or allowances payable, any benefits in kind, increase or enhancement of pension 
entitlement. This definition is adopted for the term pay used in this policy.

KEY PRINCIPLES

10. This policy statement aims to ensure that all employees are rewarded fairly and 
without discrimination for the work that they do. It reflects fairness and equality of 
opportunity, the need to encourage and enable employees to perform to the best of 
their ability and the commitment to operate a transparent pay and grading structure. 

11. The Council recognises that pay is not the only means of rewarding and supporting 
employees and offers a wider range of benefits, such as flexible working 
arrangements, access to learning and development, a Health and Wellbeing Charter 
and an Employee Assistance Programme, etc.

12. To ensure these principles are embedded the Council will ensure that there are clear 
and rational processes for setting and reviewing salaries for all employees, and that 
there is sufficient flexibility to take into account the pay market and recruitment and 
retention factors. 

13. Any policy statement on pay has to be affordable and support the provision of high 
quality public service. 

PAY DETAILS 

Pay Ranges – previous ‘NJC Green Book’ and ‘JNC Craft’ Employees 

14. All former NJC Green Book and JNC Craft positions within the Council went through a 
job evaluation (JE) process using the Greater London Provincial Council (GLPC) 
scheme, and the Council has Collective Agreements in place with UNISON, GMB and 
Unite.(NJC Green Book) and UNISON, GMB, Unite and UCATT (JNC Craft).  The JE 
process is also used to determine the grades for all new posts in these employee 
groups and ensures that men and woman receive equal pay for work of equal value.

15. The Council’s pay and grading structure links the scores from the job evaluation 
process directly to the NJC pay structure. This national pay structure ranges from 
spinal column point (SCP) 6 to 49 which equates to £15,014 to £43,821 at 1st April 
2017.  Within Cardiff we have in place 10 grades that span across SCPs 6-46 which 
equates to £15,014 to £41,025, at 1st April 2017. Each grade has a number of 
incremental points. More information about the GLPC Scheme and the grades of the 
Council can be found in the Council’s Single Status Collective Agreement. The 
agreed grades can be seen at Annex1. 

16. As a result of the Single Status Collective Agreement the Council ceased to use the 
lowest point of SCP4 from 1st April 2012, and SCP5 was deleted from 1st October 
2015.  This had a positive impact on the lowest paid employees of the Council. 

Page 723



4

However, it is important to note that as set out in paragraph 8, since September 2012 
the Council has paid the Voluntary Living Wage. 

17. From 1st April 2018 the National Employers for Local Government Services are 
proposing a two year pay offer, which is fully set out in Annex 2, and summarised as 
follows:

Year One – 1st April 2018
Bottom Loading on SCPs 6 to 19 inclusive - resulting in a new bottom rate of £8.50 
per hour.  It must be noted that the Council will continue to pay the Voluntary Living 
Wage where applicable.

Increase on SCPs 20 and above – resulting in a flat rate increase of 2.0%

Year Two – 1st April 2019
The ‘pairing off’ of the bottom twelve pay points into six new pay points, starting with a 
bottom rate (merged SCP 1 and SCP2 of £9.00.  In addition. The proposal is to ‘iron 
out’ the random gaps between pay points and have increments of 2.0% between the 
new SCP1 and SCP 22.

From SCP 23 onwards, a flat increase of 2.0% is proposed, with the retention of the 
current random differentials.

18. If agreement is reached on the above proposals there may be a need to realign some 
the Council’s pay and grading structure with the new national scale.

Pay Ranges – Chief Officers and Operational Managers

19 Posts at Operational Manager and above are employed on JNC Chief Officer terms 
and conditions, and pay levels for these posts have been evaluated using the Korn 
Ferry Hay (formerly Hay) Job Evaluation Scheme since 1999. 

20. The JNC for Chief Officers negotiates on national (UK) annual cost of living pay 
increases for this group, and any award of same is determined on this basis. Chief 
Officers employed under JNC terms and conditions are contractually entitled to any 
national JNC pay rises. This Council will therefore pay these nationally agreed pay 
awards as and when determined, unless full Council decides otherwise.

21. The following table shows the pay for the Senior Management structure:

Level Salary*
Chief Executive £173,417
Corporate Director for Resources  
and Corporate Director for People 
and Communities

£132,613

Directors £122,412

Chief Digital Officer £98,270

Page 724



5

Chief Officers, Assistant Directors £83,240

Operational Managers Level 1
5 points from £54,673 - £66,625
Level 2
5 points from £44,744 - £54,049

* Effective from 1st April 2017 in line with JNC for Chief Officers and JNC Chief Executive national pay 
agreement.

22. When evaluating Chief Officer posts, Korn Ferry Hay are asked to provide information 
on salary levels based on their assessment of relative job sizes and benchmarking 
against market comparisons for posts of similar size and complexity. Any report from 
Korn Ferry Hay on changes to salary levels would be presented to the Council’s 
Employment Conditions Committee (ECC) which has the following functions 
delegated to it under the Council’s Constitution: 

(i) To consider and determine policy and issues arising from the organisation, terms 
and conditions of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (as defined in the Local 
Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006), together with any other 
category of employee specified in Regulation from time to time where this is 
necessary, subject to the approval of Council in respect of any determination or 
variation of the remuneration of Chief Officers. 

(ii) To decide requests for re-grading of Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (as 
defined in the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) Regulations 2006), 
together with any other category of employee specified in Regulation from time to 
time, whether by way of appeal by an employee against a decision to refuse a re-
grading application or to decide applications for re-grading which are supported, 
subject to the approval of Council in respect of any determination or variation of 
the remuneration of a Chief Officer. 

23. Since 2009/10 the Council has published pay details for Chief Officer posts on its 
website.  Previous to this, the number of officers at each salary band over £60,000 
were set out. The information can be found in the ‘Statement of Accounts’ which is 
accessed via the tab ‘Your Council’ and then the link to ‘Council Finance’. The Chief 
Executive pay has been published on the website since 2010.

24. The current pay levels within the Council define the multiple between the lowest paid 
(full time equivalent) employee (£16,302) and the Chief Executive (£173,417) as 
[1:11] and; between the lowest paid employee (£16,302) and median Chief Officer 
(£83,240) as [1:5].

The multiple between the median full time equivalent earnings (£22,658) and the 
Chief Executive (£173,417) is [1:7] and; between the median full time equivalent 
earnings (£22,658) and median Chief Officer (£83,240) is [1:4].

These figures are based on basic salary on 1st April 2017.

25. The Council does not use performance related pay or bonuses for Chief Officers.

Page 725



6

Pay Ranges – Employees other than Chief Officer and previous ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ 
employees 

26. The Council also has employees on other national terms and conditions, i.e. JNC 
Youth and Community, Soulbury and Teacher terms and conditions. Pay for these 
employees is based on the relevant nationally agreed rates of pay.  Pay rates are 
included in Appendix 4 for information.

Incremental Progression – all employees

27. Incremental progression for ‘Green Book’, ‘Craft’ employees and Operational 
Managers is not automatic but is dependent upon a successful performance review. 
Following a successful performance review, increments are normally effective from 
the 1st April each year. For ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ employees, this requirement is 
detailed in the relevant Single Status Collective Agreement, and for Operational 
Managers this is contained within their terms and conditions.

Salary on Appointment – all employees

28. Posts are advertised on the agreed grade and the minimum and maximum salary is 
stated. In practice, most appointments are made at the bottom of the range, but there 
is discretion to appoint at a higher point on the range. This would usually be to match 
a candidate’s current level of pay or in particular circumstances. 

Pay Review – all employees

29. All pay is reviewed in line with the national pay awards negotiated by the Local 
Government Employers in conjunction with the recognised Trade Unions at a national 
level. Please see paragraph 20 in relation to JNC for Chief Officer national pay 
awards.

Market Supplements – all employees

30. It is recognised that there will be exceptional occasions where the market rate for 
certain key jobs is higher than that provided for by the new pay and grading structure. 
In these circumstances, the grading of the post will be reviewed in accordance with 
the new Market Supplement Scheme agreed as part of the Council’s single status 
package. The scheme is applicable to all those covered by the green book, Craft 
employees, JNC for Chief Officers, JNC for Youth & Community Workers and those 
on Soulbury terms and conditions.  Proposals to pay a Market Supplement must be 
supported by a full evidence based business case, and follow the agreed decision 
making processes of the Council.

ADDITIONAL PAYMENTS

31. Employees employed under the previous ‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ terms and 
conditions are paid on the same terms and conditions and pay scales through Single 
Status. However, a tool allowance has been retained for relevant craft posts. 

NJC ‘Green Book’ and JNC ‘Craft’ Employees

Page 726



7

32. Additional payments are made as detailed in their respective Collective Agreements. 
The types of additional payments made include: overtime and Saturday and Sunday 
working at time and a half, recalls to work attract a minimum payment of 2 hours 
payment, public holiday payments, car allowances, motorcycle and bicycle 
allowances, stand by and call out payments, night /evening /unsocial hours payments, 
shift work allowance, sleeping in duty payment, first aid allowance, relocation 
payment and payment for professional subscriptions. In order to manage an ongoing 
budgetary pressure, in the financial year 2018/19 payments for interview expenses, 
relocation expenses and professional subscriptions (which are not legal requirements 
of a post) will not be made. This has consistently been applied since the 2016/17 
financial year. 

Chief Officers and Operational Managers  
 

33. Additional payments made include car, motorcycle and bicycle allowances which 
have been harmonised for all Council employees using the single rate based on the 
HMRC arrangements paid for business mileage, i.e. currently 45p per mile.

34. Interview Expenses and Relocation Assistance – Consistent with a decision applied 
since the 2016/17 financial year, these payments will not be made for the 2018/19 
financial year. 

35. Professional Subscriptions – For the financial year 2018/19 these will continue to only 
be paid by the Council where it is an essential requirement of the post.  

36.  Returning Officer Fees - The appointment of Electoral Registration Officer is required 
by S8 Representation of the People Act 1983, and the appointment of Returning 
officer by S35 Representation of the People Act, 1983. In Cardiff, whilst the role of 
Electoral Registration Officer and Returning Officer is part of the job description of the 
Chief Executive, it continues to be carried out by the Corporate Director Resources.  
The fee for parliamentary, European Union, Welsh Government, Police and Crime 
Commissioner elections and all referenda are set by legislation.  For these externally 
sponsored elections the fee is funded through grant awarded by the Welsh 
Government in respect of its election, and by Central Government in respect of the 
other elections.  Local authorities have the discretion to set the fee for local elections. 
In the Council the fee for local elections (including ordinary and casual) is set in line 
with the fee agreed for the Welsh Government elections. 

Other Employees

37. The Council is looking to negotiate with trade unions to harmonise the additional 
payments for JNC Youth and Community and Soulbury employees with those paid to 
‘Green Book’ and ‘Craft’ employees. The Council’s intention is to commence 
negotiations in the next financial year.

HONORARIA AND ACTING UP SCHEMES

38. The Council has schemes for payment where an employee acts up into a post at a 
higher level of pay (Acting Up Scheme) or where they undertake additional duties at a 

Page 727



8

higher level of responsibility (Honoraria Scheme). These schemes are applicable for 
all Council employees, excluding teachers, however for the financial year 2018/19 use 
of the Honoraria Scheme will continue to be withdrawn in order to manage an ongoing 
budgetary pressure.

ANNUAL LEAVE

Green Book and Craft employees, Chief Officers and Operational Managers

39. The annual leave entitlement is 27 days, rising to 32 days after 5 years’ service. Plus 
8 bank holidays. 

Other Employees

40. The annual leave entitlement for JNC Youth & Community is 30 days, rising to 35 
days after 5 years’ service.  The Soulbury entitlement is 25 days rising to 30 days 
after 5 years’ service. Plus 8 bank holidays and 4 extra statutory days for both groups.

41. The entitlements to annual leave are pro rata for part time employees.

42. The Council has in place an Annual Leave Purchase scheme, whereby employees 
can purchase up to 10 days annual leave, which is then payable by monthly 
deductions during the leave year.  As at January 2018, 192 employees had accessed 
the scheme in the 2017/18 annual leave year.

GENDER PAY GAP REPORT

43. The Council has published a Gender Pay Gap report as part of its Annual Equalities 
Monitoring Report.  The Council has a Job Evaluation process to determine the 
grades for all posts which ensures that men and woman receive equal pay for work of 
equal value.  The following Gender Pay Gap information sets out the differences in 
the average pay between men and women as at 31st March 2017: 

 
Mean Hourly 

Rate
Median Hourly 

Rate
Male 13.40 12.01
Female 12.97 11.27
Pay Gap 3.21% 6.16%

44. The mean average involves adding up all of the hourly rates and dividing the result by 
how many numbers were in the list.  The median average involved listing all of the 
hourly rates in numerical order.  If there is an odd number of results, the median 
average is the middle number. If there is an even number of results, the median will 
is the mean of the two central numbers. 

45. The quartile table below shows the proportion of male and female full-pay relevant 
employees in four quartile pay bands, which is calculated by dividing the workforce 

Page 728



9

into four equal parts.  If there are number of employees on the same hourly rate of 
pay crossing two of the quartiles, males and females are split as evenly as possible 
across the quartiles. 

Quartiles
No of 
Male %

No of 
Female % Total

Q1 648 33.4 1295 66.6 1943
Q2 708 42.1 975 57.9 1683
Q3 863 47.9 937 52.1 1800
Q4 805 44.1 1019 55.9 1824

TOTAL 3024 41.7 4226 58.3 7250

PENSIONS AND REDUNDANCY/ SEVERANCE PAYMENTS

46. All Council employees (with the exception of teachers) are entitled to join the local 
government pension scheme (LGPS) which is offered by the Local Government 
Employers. If employees are eligible they will automatically become a member of the 
scheme (to join they must have a contract for at least 3 months duration and be under 
the age of 75). Employees can decide to opt out of the scheme. The benefits and 
contributions payable under the Fund are set out in the LGPS regulations. 

47. The current level of contribution to the scheme by employees is:

Contribution table since 2017/18
Band Actual pensionable 

pay for an 
employment 

Contribution rate for that 
employment 

                            Main                50/50 section 
1 Up to £13,700 5.5% 2.75% 
2 £13,701 to £21,400 5.8% 2.9% 
3 £21,401 to £34,700 6.5% 3.25% 
4 £34,701 to £43,900 6.8% 3.4% 
5 £43,901 to £61,300 8.5% 4.25% 
6 £61,301 to £86,800 9.9% 4.95% 
7 £86,801 to £102,200 10.5% 5.25% 
8 £102,201 to 

£153,300 
11.4% 5.7% 

9 £153,301 or more 12.5% 6.25% 

48. Teachers are entitled to join the Teachers’ Pensions scheme. As the Teachers 
Pensions scheme is operated externally further information can be found on 
www.teacherspensions.co.uk.

49. The Council’s current published statement relating to pensions was agreed by the 
Cabinet on 12th June 2014 for implementation in 30th June 2014 and the relevant 
document is available on the Council’s website. A change to the way redundancy 

Page 729

http://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/


10

payments are calculated was agreed by Cabinet on 26th January 2015 as part of the 
Voluntary Redundancy Policy, and is detailed below in paragraph 51.

50. The document provides details of the Council’s policy on making discretionary 
payments on early termination of employment under Regulation 7 of the Local 
Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2006. The document also provides details of the 
Council’s policy on increasing an employee’s total pension scheme membership and 
on awarding additional pension under Regulation 66 of the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008. 

51. The arrangements set out in the document referred to in paragraph 49 apply to all 
employees of the Council irrespective of grade or status. The most relevant sections 
are detailed below:

(i) The power to pay lump sum compensation of up to 104 weeks - the Council’s 
policy for utilising this discretion is that the statutory redundancy table is multiplied 
by a factor of 1.5 subject to a maximum of 45 weeks from 3rd April 2015.

(ii) The power to Increase a Statutory Redundancy Payment – the Council’s 
policy for utilising this discretion is that redundancy payments to be based on 
actual week’s pay up to a maximum of £489 per week (as at 3rd April 2017) or 
actual pay whichever is the lesser. The maximum figure to be adjusted by the 
statutory amount for a week’s pay, as announced annually by the Department of 
Business Innovation and Skills. 

52. The policy effective since 5 April 2015 has been amended to take account of the 
decision of an Employment Appeal Tribunal (EAT) in the case of University of 
Sunderland v Drossou (13 June 2017). The EAT ruled that employer’s pension 
contributions should be included in the calculation of a week’s pay for calculations 
made under the Employment Rights Act 1996 (ERA). Sections 220-229 of the ERA 
set out the rules regarding the ‘week’s pay provisions’ and the way a week’s pay is 
used, which includes the calculation of redundancy pay. 

53. The EAT held that a week’s pay should include remuneration ‘payable by the 
employer under the contract of employment’ and that this this value should not be 
limited by what the employee directly receives. The rationale offered by the EAT was 
that employer’s pension contributions formed part of the overall package of 
‘remuneration’ offered to an employee in return for their services. The result of this is 
that retrospective to 13 June 2017, where appropriate, the employer’s pension 
contributions have been included in the calculation, subject to the £489 maximum.

RE-EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF

54. Since 1st April 2015, the Council has had a policy regarding re-employment of 
employees (at any level) who take voluntary redundancy from the Council which was 
agreed at Cabinet on 26th January 2015.

Page 730



11

55. The Council’s agreed policy is that employees requesting voluntary redundancy have 
to agree to the condition that given the Council’s obligation to safeguard public funds, 
they will be precluded from returning to employment (which includes permanent, 
temporary, casual and agency) within the Council (including schools) for a period of 
12 months from the date of their termination. 

53. The Council does not believe that it employs any individual in a manner that seeks to 
avoid tax.

54.  Within the Council, under the pension fund discretionary policies there is generally no 
abatement of pension following re-employment except under the following 
circumstances: 

 
(i) Where a person has been awarded compensatory added years (CAY's) under the 

LGPS Compensation Regulations the pension may be abated. This is a 
requirement of the compensation regulations but these will be historical cases as 
CAY's can no longer be granted. 

(ii) Where a person has retired under tier 1 ill health provisions and is subsequently 
re-employed. This is because the certification for tier 1 supposes that the person 
is permanently unfit for all work. Other tiers of ill health or other retirements would 
not lead to abatement on re-employment. 

 
55. Abatement, where it applies, would be based on non betterment that is the pension 

together with the pay in the new employment should not exceed the pay at the point 
of retirement (adjusted for pension increases). Under (a) the abatement would only 
apply to the pension from CAY's. 

NON GUARANTEED WORKING HOURS

56. In December 2016 the Welsh Government issued principles and guidance on the 
appropriate use of non-guaranteed hours arrangements in the devolved public 
services in Wales.  These principles and guidance were developed by the Public 
Services Staff Commission in social partnership with the Welsh Government’s 
Partnership Council and its sector groups.  The Council is committed to the principles 
determined by Welsh Government which apply to those employees who are 
employed on a relief, casual or sessional basis.  These employees are used in 
services within the Council where there is either a need to bring in an additional 
workforce in order to cover peaks in workload or where the workload is on a one off 
basis.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND DECISION MAKING

57. In accordance with the Constitution of the Council the Cabinet are responsible for 
decision making in terms of pay, terms and conditions and redundancy arrangements 
in relation to employees of the Council. The exception to this is that the Employment 
Conditions Committee is responsible for posts at Chief Officer level and above.

Page 731



12

58. In accordance with the Localism Act 2011redundancy packages above £100,000 for 
Chief Officers must be agreed by full Council. The redundancy package includes any 
redundancy payment (from 3 April 2015, statutory redundancy pay of 30 weeks plus 
an additional 15 weeks), contractual notice period and full cost of early release of 
pension (as required under Regulation 68(2) of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme).  

59. An updated Pay Policy Statement will be agreed by the full Council annually in line 
with the legislation and full Council will ensure compliance with the Pay Policy 
Statement.

REVIEW OF THE POLICY

60. This Pay Policy Statement will be kept under review and developments considered in 
the light of external best practice and legislation. The Pay Policy Statement may also 
be reviewed as part of the Council’s existing Scrutiny arrangements. The Council will 
ensure the Pay Policy Statement is updated on an annual basis in line with the 
requirement of the Localism Act 2011. The annual Pay Policy Statement will be 
submitted to Cabinet, and then full Council by March of each year.

Page 732



3.HR.006 - Salary Scales  - April 2017

Salary Scales Appendix 1 Annex 1

SCP

Job Evaluation
Scores (GLPC

scheme)
FTE

SALARY MONTHLY

HOURLY
(National Living
Wage £7.50 from

1/4/2017)

Living Wage
Hourly Rate

(as at 1st
April 2017) SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY

NJC for Local Government (as at 1st April 2017) £16,302 JNC CHIEF OFFICERS (as at 1st April 2017)

GRADE 1 OM2
6 1 - 247 15014 1251.17 7.78 8.45 1 44744 3728.67 23.19
7 15115 1259.58 7.83 8.45 2 47097 3924.75 24.41

3 49146 4095.50 25.47
GRADE 2 4 51596 4299.67 26.74

8

248 - 286

15246 1270.50 7.90 8.45 5 54049 4504.08 28.02
9 15375 1281.25 7.97 8.45

10 15613 1301.08 8.09 8.45 OM1
11 15807 1317.25 8.19 8.45 1 54673 4556.08 28.34

2 57710 4809.17 29.91
GRADE 3 3 60748 5062.33 31.49

11

287 - 327

15807 1317.25 8.19 8.45 4 63620 5301.67 32.98
12 16123 1343.58 8.36 8.45 5 66626 5552.17 34.53
13 16491 1374.25 8.55
14 16781 1398.42 8.70 Chief Officer/Assistant Director
15 17072 1422.67 8.85 1 83240 6936.67 43.15
16 17419 1451.58 9.03

Chief Digital Officer
GRADE 4 1 98270 8189.17 50.94

16

328 - 369

17419 1451.58 9.03
17 17772 1481.00 9.21 Director
18 18070 1505.83 9.37 1 122412 10201.00 63.45
19 18746 1562.17 9.72
20 19430 1619.17 10.07 Corporate Director
21 20138 1678.17 10.44 1 132613 11051.08 68.74

GRADE 5
21

370 - 409

20138 1678.17 10.44 JNC CHIEF EXECUTIVE (as at 1st April 2017)
22 20661 1721.75 10.71 Chief Executive
23 21268 1772.33 11.02 1 173417 14451.42 89.89
24 21962 1830.17 11.38
25 22658 1888.17 11.74
26 23398 1949.83 12.13 NATIONAL MINIMUM WAGE (as at 1st April 2017)

GRADE 6 NMW - Point 1 (16 to 17 years of age)
26

410 - 454

23398 1949.83 12.13 1 7814 651.17 4.05
27 24174 2014.50 12.53
28 24964 2080.33 12.94 NMW - Point 2 (18 to 20 years of age)
29 25951 2162.58 13.45 2 10804 900.33 5.60
30 26822 2235.17 13.90
31 27668 2305.67 14.34 NMW - Point 3 (21 years and above) 

3 13601 1133.42 7.05
GRADE 7

31

455 - 499

27668 2305.67 14.34 Apprentice Rate
32 28485 2373.75 14.76 1 6752 562.67 3.50
33 29323 2443.58 15.20
34 30153 2512.75 15.63
35 30785 2565.42 15.96
36 31601 2633.42 16.38

GRADE 8
36

500 - 544

31601 2633.42 16.38
37 32486 2707.17 16.84
38 33437 2786.42 17.33
39 34538 2878.17 17.90
40 35444 2953.67 18.37

GRADE 9
40

545 - 589

35444 2953.67 18.37
41 36379 3031.58 18.86
42 37306 3108.83 19.34
43 38237 3186.42 19.82

GRADE 10
43

590 +

38237 3186.42 19.82
44 39177 3264.75 20.31
45 40057 3338.08 20.76
46 41025 3418.75 21.26

Other 0 0.00 0.00

Page 733



3.HR.006 - Salary Scales  - April 2017

TEACHERS (as at 1st September 2017)

Teacher (Main Pay Range)
Daily Rate (195ths)

1 22,917 1909.75 117.52
2 24,486 2040.50 125.57 Leadership Pay Range
3 26,454 2204.50 135.66
4 28,490 2374.17 146.10 1 39,374
5 30,735 2561.25 157.62 2 40,360
6 33,824 2818.67 173.46 3 41,368

4 42,398
Teacher (Upper Pay Range) 5 43,454

Daily Rate (195ths) 6 44,544
1 35,927 2993.92 184.24 7 45,743
2 37,258 3104.83 191.07 8 46,799
3 38,633 3219.42 198.12 9 47,967

10 49,199
Unqualified Teacher 11 50,476

Daily Rate (195ths) 12 51,639
1 16,626 1385.50 85.26 13 52,930
2 18,560 1546.67 95.18 14 54,250
3 20,492 1707.67 105.09 15 55,600
4 22,427 1868.92 115.01 16 57,077
5 24,362 2030.17 124.93 17 58,389
6 26,295 2191.25 134.85 18* 59,264

18 59,857
19 61,341

Leadership Group Range 20 62,863
21* 63,778

Min  Max 21 64,417
Group 1 44,544 59,264 22 66,017
Group 2 46,799 63,778 23 67,652
Group 3 50,476 68,642 24* 68,642
Group 4 54,250 73,875 24 69,330
Group 5 59,857 81,478 25 71,053
Group 6 64,417 89,874 26 72,810
Group 7 69,330 98,100 27* 73,875
Group 8 76,466 109,366 27 74,615

28 76,466
29 78,359

* Scale points to be applied only to head teachers at the top of 30 80,310
the school group range in the academic year 2015/16, indicating 31* 81,478
no uplift for 2016/17. 31 82,293
e.g 32 84,339
Headteacher on Grade 12-18 (moves to sp18 on Sept 2016) 33 86,435
Salary Range £51,127 - £58,677 (no uplift on point 18) 34 88,571

35* 89,874
Headteacher on Grade 15-21 (moves to sp18 on Sept 2016) 35 90,773
Salary Range £55,049 - £63,779 (sp18 = £59,264) 36 93,020

37 95,333
38 97,692

Leading Practitioner Range 39* 98,100
39 100,072

LP01 - LP05 LP02 - LP06 LP03-LP07 40 102,570
1 39,374 2 40,360 3 41,368 41 105,132
2 40,360 3 41,368 4 42,398 42 107,766
3 41,368 4 42,398 5 43,454 43* 109,366
4 42,398 5 43,454 6 44,544
5 43,454 6 44,544 7 45,743
LP04-LP08 LP05-LP09 LP06-LP10
4 42,398 5 43,454 6 44,544
5 43,454 6 44,544 7 45,743
6 44,544 7 45,743 8 46,799
7 45,743 8 46,799 9 47,967
8 46,799 9 47,967 10 49,199
LP07-LP11 LP08-LP12 LP09-LP13
7 45,743 8 46,799 9 47,967
8 46,799 9 47,967 10 49,199
9 47,967 10 49,199 11 50,476

10 49,199 11 50,476 12 51,639
11 50,476 12 51,639 13 52,930
LP10-LP14 LP11-LP15 LP12-LP16

10 49,199 11 50,476 12 51,639
11 50,476 12 51,639 13 52,930
12 51,639 13 52,930 14 54,250
13 52,930 14 54,250 15 55,600
14 54,250 15 55,600 16 57,077
LP13-LP17 LP14-LP18

13 52,930 14 54,250
14 54,250 15 55,600
15 55,600 16 57,077
16 57,077 17 58,389
17 58,389 18 59,857

Page 734



3.HR.006 - Salary Scales  - April 2017

JNC YOUTH AND COMMUNITY (as at 1st September 2016)

SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY

Living Wage
Hourly Rate

(as at 1st
April 2017)

CE2 £16,302
02 15507 1292.25 8.04 8.45
03 17241 1436.75 8.94
04 17828 1485.67 9.24
05 23445 1953.75 12.15
06 23445 1953.75 12.15
07 25194 2099.50 13.06
08 28852 2404.33 14.95
09 28852 2404.33 14.95
10 34129 2844.08 17.69

SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY SCP
T00 1

11 21467 1788.92 11.13
12 22441 1870.08 11.63 02 FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
13 23445 1953.75 12.15 03
14 24485 2040.42 12.69 04 T00 HRLY

05 15507 1292.25 8.04
T00 2 06 16117 1343.08 8.35

18 27396 2283.00 14.20 07 16681 1390.08 8.65
19 28123 2343.58 14.58 08 17241 1436.75 8.94
20 28852 2404.33 14.95 09 17828 1485.67 9.24
21 29672 2472.67 15.38 10 18450 1537.50 9.56

11 19069 1589.08 9.88
T00 3 12 19856 1654.67 10.29

20 28852 2404.33 14.95 13 20472 1706.00 10.61
21 29672 2472.67 15.38 14 21467 1788.92 11.13
22 30601 2550.08 15.86 15 22441 1870.08 11.63
23 31505 2625.42 16.33 16 23445 1953.75 12.15

17 24485 2040.42 12.69
T00 4 18 25194 2099.50 13.06

22 30601 2550.08 15.86 19 25935 2161.25 13.44
23 31505 2625.42 16.33 20 26662 2221.83 13.82
24 32413 2701.08 16.80 21 27396 2283.00 14.20
25 33329 2777.42 17.28 22 28123 2343.58 14.58

23 28852 2404.33 14.95
T00 4A 24 29672 2472.67 15.38

24 32413 2701.08 16.80 30601 2550.08 15.86
25 33329 2777.42 17.28 31505 2625.42 16.33
26 34243 2853.58 17.75 32413 2701.08 16.80
27 35159 2929.92 18.22

T00 5
27 35159 2929.92 18.22
28 36085 3007.08 18.70
29 37005 3083.75 19.18
30 37924 3160.33 19.66

Page 735



3.HR.006 - Salary Scales  - April 2017

SOULBURY (as at 1st September 2017) 

SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
EAI

01 34067 2838.92 17.66
02 35287 2940.58 18.29
03 36439 3036.58 18.89
04 37606 3133.83 19.49 SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
05 38767 3230.58 20.09 EDPSY A
06 39928 3327.33 20.70 01 35731 2977.58 18.52
07 41148 3429.00 21.33 02 37545 3128.75 19.46
08 42321 3526.75 21.94 03 39359 3279.92 20.40
09 43689 3640.75 22.65 04 41171 3430.92 21.34
10 44908 3742.33 23.28 05 42984 3582.00 22.28
11 46112 3842.67 23.90 06 44797 3733.08 23.22
12 47277 3939.75 24.50 07 46504 3875.33 24.10
13 48597 4049.75 25.19 08 48211 4017.58 24.99
14 49773 4147.75 25.80 09 49810 4150.83 25.82
15 51073 4256.08 26.47
16 52248 4354.00 27.08
17 53426 4452.17 27.69
18 54582 4548.50 28.29 SCP FTE SALARY MONTHLY HOURLY
19 55775 4647.92 28.91 EDPSY B
20 56391 4699.25 29.23 01 44797 3733.08 23.22
21 57575 4797.92 29.84 02 46504 3875.33 24.10
22 58607 4883.92 30.38 03 48211 4017.58 24.99
23 59744 4978.67 30.97 04 49810 4150.83 25.82
24 60762 5063.50 31.49 05 51411 4284.25 26.65
25 61851 5154.25 32.06 06 52903 4408.58 27.42
26 62914 5242.83 32.61 07 53516 4459.67 27.74
27 64001 5333.42 33.17 08 54661 4555.08 28.33
28 65102 5425.17 33.74 09 55795 4649.58 28.92
29 66207 5517.25 34.32 10 56950 4745.83 29.52
30 67309 5609.08 34.89 11 58081 4840.08 30.10
31 68402 5700.17 35.45 12 59235 4936.25 30.70
32 69512 5792.67 36.03
33 70623 5885.25 36.61
34 71761 5980.08 37.20
35 72895 6074.58 37.78
36 74062 6171.83 38.39
37 75210 6267.50 38.98
38 76371 6364.25 39.59
39 77515 6459.58 40.18
40 78659 6554.92 40.77
41 79809 6650.75 41.37
42 80958 6746.50 41.96
43 82106 6842.17 42.56
44 83259 6938.25 43.16
45 84410 7034.17 43.75
46 85562 7130.17 44.35
47 86719 7226.58 44.95
48 87865 7322.08 45.54
49 89016 7418.00 46.14

Page 736



3.HR.006 - Salary Scales  - April 2017

ALLOWANCES

Single Status Contractual Allowances - NJC 37 Hours

Wage Type Wage Type Text £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 Travel Allowance £

Cash
Amount.
Payments
will be not
considered
unless the
additional
expenditure
exceeds
£3.03 per
week and
payments
should
continue for
a period of 1
year from the
date of
transfer,
whichever is
the shorter

1306 Protected Allowance £ SOP Protected Allowance
1324 Dress Allowance £ Cash

Amount
£21.81

1403 Secondment allowance £ Cash
Amount for
External
Secondment

1405 Acting Up Allowance £ Cash
Amount1421 AMHP Payment £ £1800 PA pro rata , amount auto populates

1510 Term Time Only Wks Units 44 Weeks
Max1515 Term Time Leave Ent Days Units 27 or 32
Days1600 Contractual Overtime Hours SCP * 1.5

1605 Night Allowance Hours SCP * 1/3
1610 Shift Allowance 10% £ 10% of

Annual
Salary,
amount auto
populates

1615 Standby Duty Units £28.96 per
session1620 Weekend Work Hours SCP * 1/2

1625 SEN £ £466.16 PA,
£338.85
monthly
amount auto
populates

1630 First Aid Allowance £ £174.44 PA,
£14.54
monthly
amount auto
populates

1632 Living Wage Supplement £ Cash amount
and only
payable for
scp 6-12Single Status Contractual Allowances - JNC Craft/Assoc

Wage Type Wage Type Text £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 Travel Allowance £

Cash
Amount.
Payments
will be not
considered
unless the
additional
expenditure
exceeds
£3.03 per
week and
payments
should
continue for
a period of 1
year from the
date of
transfer,
whichever is
the shorter

1403 Secondment allowance £ Cash
Amount for
External
Secondment

1405 Acting Up Allowance £ Cash
Amount1510 Term Time Only Wks Units 44 Weeks
Max1515 Term Time Leave Ent Days Units 27 or 32
Days1600 Contractual Overtime Hours SCP * 1.5

1605 Night Allowance Hours SCP * 1/3
1610 Shift Allowance 10% £ 10% of

Annual
Salary,
amount auto
populates

1615 Standby Duty Units £28.96 per
session1620 Weekend Work Hours SCP * 1/2

1630 First Aid Allowance £ £174.44 PA,
£14.54
monthly
amount auto
populates

1632 Living Wage Supplement £ Cash amount
and only
payable for
scp 6-12

1634 Tool Allowance 1 £ £177.29 PA,
£14.77
monthly
amount auto
populates

1636 Tool Allowance 2 £ £377.51 PA,
£31.46
monthly
amount auto
populates

Contractual Allowances - Chief Officers

Wage Type Wage Type Text £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 Travel Allowance £

Cash
Amount.
Payments
will be not
considered
unless the
additional
expenditure
exceeds
£3.03 per
week and
payments
should
continue for
a period of 1
year from the
date of
transfer,
whichever is
the shorter

1403 Secondment allowance £ Cash
Amount for
External
Secondment

1405 Acting Up Allowance £ Cash
Amount1510 Term Time Only Wks Units 44 Weeks
Max1515 Term Time Leave Ent Days Units 27 or 32
Days1630 First Aid Allowance £ £174.44 PA,
£14.54
monthly
amount auto
populatesContractual Allowances - JNC Youth & Comm   

Wage Type Wage Type Text £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 Travel Allowance £

Cash
Amount.
Payments
will be not
considered
unless the
additional
expenditure
exceeds
£3.03 per
week and
payments
should
continue for
a period of 1
year from the
date of
transfer,
whichever is
the shorter

1403 Secondment allowance £ Cash
Amount for
External
Secondment

1405 Acting Up Allowance £ Cash
Amount1510 Term Time Only Wks Units 44 Weeks
Max1515 Term Time Leave Ent Days Units 34 or 39
Days (Actual
AL are 30 or
35)

1630 First Aid Allowance £ £174.44 PA,
£14.54
monthly
amount auto
populates

1632 Living Wage Supplement £ Cash amount
and only
payable for
CE2 scp 1-2

Page 737



3.HR.006 - Salary Scales  - April 2017

Contractual Allowances - Soulbury

Wage Type Wage Type Text £/Hours/Units Comments

1253 Travel Allowance £

Cash
Amount.
Payments
will be not
considered
unless the
additional
expenditure
exceeds
£3.03 per
week and
payments
should
continue for
a period of 1
year from the
date of
transfer,
whichever is
the shorter

1403 Secondment allowance £ Cash
Amount for
External
Secondment

1405 Acting Up Allowance £ Cash
Amount1510 Term Time Only Wks Units 44 Weeks
Max1515 Term Time Leave Ent Days Units 29 or 34
Days (Actual
AL are 25 or
30)

1630 First Aid Allowance £ £174.44 PA,
£14.54
monthly
amount auto
populatesContractual Allowances - Teachers   

Wage Type Wage Type Text £/Hours/Units Comments
1313 Pay Supplement £ Cash

Amount1360 SEN - Teacher £ Cash
Amount -
please refer
chart below

1375 First Aid - Teachers £ £174.44 PA,
£14.54
monthly
amount auto
populates

1376 TLR1 £ Cash
Amount -
please refer
chart below

1377 TLR2 £ Cash
Amount -
please refer
chart below

1378 Safeguard Payment £ Fixed term
cash amount
- normally
ends after 3
years

1386 TLR3 £ Fixed term
cash amount
- requires an
end, please
refer to chart
below

1388 Discretionary Payment HT £ Cash
Amount

Start Date End Date Allowance Min Max
01/09/2013 31/08/2014 SEN - Teacher £2,022 £3,994
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 SEN - Teacher £2,043 £4,034
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 SEN - Teacher £2,064 £4,075
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 SEN - Teacher £2,085 £4,116
01/09/2017 SEN - Teacher £2,106 £4,158
01/09/2013 31/08/2014 TLR 1 £7,397 £12,517
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 TLR 1 £7,471 £12,643
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 TLR 1 £7,546 £12,770
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 TLR 1 £7,622 £12,898
01/09/2017 TLR 1 £7,699 £13,027
01/09/2013 31/08/2014 TLR 2 £2,561 £6,259
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 TLR 2 £2,587 £6,322
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 TLR 2 £2,613 £6,386
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 TLR 2 £2,640 £6,450
01/09/2017 TLR 2 £2,667 £6,515
01/09/2013 31/08/2014 TLR 3 £505 £2,525
01/09/2014 31/08/2015 TLR 3 £511 £2,551
01/09/2015 31/08/2016 TLR 3 £517 £2,577
01/09/2016 31/08/2017 TLR 3 £523 £2,603
01/09/2017 TLR 3 £529 £2,630

Page 738



National Employers for Local Government Services 

Page 1 of 9 

To: Chief Executives in England, Wales and N Ireland 
(additional copies for HR Director and Finance Director) 

Members of the National Employers’ Side 
Regional Directors 

5 December 2017 

Dear Chief Executive, 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PAY 2018 

I am writing to update you on the work we have been doing on your behalf on the local 

government national pay negotiations for 2018. 

The National Employers have today made a final pay offer covering the period 1 April 

2018 to 31 March 2020. A letter sent to the trade unions setting out the detailed offer is 
attached at Annex A and a copy of the Employers’ press release is attached at Annex 

B. 

The Pay Offer 

1 April 2018 (‘Year One’): 

Bottom-Loading on SCPs 6-19 incl 
The Employers considered it was necessary for higher increases on the lower pay points 

in order to continue to close the significant gap with the National Living Wage (NLW). 
Therefore this part of the offer would result in a new bottom rate of £8.50 per hour on 

SCP6 

Increase on SCPs 20 and above 

A flat-rate increase of 2.0% 

This first year of the pay offer would increase the national paybill by 2.707% 

1 April 2019 (‘Year Two’): 

The Employers agreed that the bottom rate of the new pay spine should not be pegged to 

the NLW rate but should allow for some ‘headroom’. Therefore the offer is for a bottom 
rate of £9.00 per hour 

In order to deal with the compacting of differentials at the lower end of the spine it is 
proposed that the existing bottom twelve pay points are ‘paired off’ into six new pay 

points, ie. current SCPs 6 & 7 become the new SCP1; current SCPs 8 & 9 become the 
new SCP2 etc until you reach current SCPs 16 & 17 which become the new SCP6 

Appendix 1 - Annex 2

Page 739



 

 

 
Page 2 of 9 

 

To further dilute the impact of compacting the lower pay points, the offer includes ‘ironing 

out’ the current random gaps between pay points and having even increments of 2.0% 
between new SCPs 1 to 22 incl (equivalent to SCPs 6 to 28 on the current spine). This 
portion of the pay spine covers approximately 60% of NJC employees 

 
From new SCP23 onwards, a flat-rate increase of 2.0% and retention of the current 

random differentials 
 
This second year of the pay offer would increase the national paybill by 2.802% 

 
The total increase to the national paybill over the two-year period would be 5.584% 

 
Background 

 

This pay offer is much more complex than any offer since the Single Status agreement in 
the mid-1990s, so I want to set out in detail the reasons behind it. 

 
The introduction of the National Living Wage (NLW) was announced by George Osborne 
in his July 2015 Budget. He indicated that its target level was to reach 60% of median 

hourly earnings by 2020. At the time of the announcement, the forecast for 2020 was 
£9.35 per hour and in his speech Mr Osborne referred to it being “at least £9.00”, 

although the most recent (November 2017) Office of Budgetary Responsibility forecast 
was £8.56. 
 

At the time of the Chancellor’s statement in 2015 the minimum hourly rate on the ‘Green 
Book’ pay spine was £7.00. That meant that it would have to increase by approximately 

£2.00 in five years if the initial ‘target’ for the NLW in 2020 of £9.00 was to be reached. 
By way of context, the increase in the bottom rate from £5.00 to £7.00 had taken thirteen 
years to achieve (2002-15).  

 
The current two-year pay agreement covering 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2018, made 

some headway in bridging that gap and introduced minimum hourly rates of £7.52 (1 
April 2016) and £7.78 (1 April 2017). This agreement included some further bottom-
loading in each of the two years to assist in maintaining differentials and then annual pay 

awards of 1.0% further up the pay spine. This two-year deal added 2.40% to the national 
pay bill. The two-year increase for the lowest pay point was 10.28%. These rates 

provided some headroom in relation the NLW which was £7.20 (1 April 2016) and £7.50 
(1 April 2017). The 1 April 2018 rate announced in the Budget is £7.83. 
 

The 2016-18 pay deal included a commitment for the NJC to review its pay spine. To 
support the development of an employers’ position, a sounding board of about a dozen 

officers from councils across the country was established. This included a balance in 
terms of: types of council; geography; those paying / not paying the voluntary living wage; 
and it also included councils that have local pay bargaining and representation from the 

regional employers’ organisations.  
 

The NJC set up a pay spine review working group to look at what could be done from a 
technical point of view. It was not a negotiating group and on the Employers’ Side 
included three or four members of our sounding board.   

Page 740



 

 

 
Page 3 of 9 

 

The working group initially agreed to concentrate on potential models that covered one, 

two and three year options. A one-year settlement assimilating on to a new pay spine in 
2018 could not realistically be implemented by councils in the time available. It would 
also be too costly if it were to start at a level that could ensure compliance with the likely 

levels of the NLW in 2019 and 2020, without further significant changes to its structure. A 
three-year settlement, whilst potentially attractive to councils from a financial planning 

aspect, would involve too much second-guessing of the broader economic position in 
2020 and would be much more difficult for the unions to sell to their members. 
 

All the work highlighted above was undertaken in the context of the Government’s public 
sector pay policy remaining at 1.0% until 2020.  

 
The unions’ claim was lodged in mid-June. It was for one year and sought a 5.0% 
increase on all NJC pay points, plus the deletion of the bottom four NJC pay points. The 

unions made clear in private conversations that in the current climate it would not be 
possible for them to agree any offer that included 1.0% as the headline rate. 

 
Regional pay consultation briefings took place between late June and August. There was 
widespread recognition that the work on the pay spine was a necessity as a result of the 

introduction of the NLW. It was also recognised that this could not be delivered within 
1.0% increases to the overall pay bill and there was no suggestion that the additional 

costs be funded through providing for increases of less than 1.0% for better paid 
employees. 
 

There was broad consensus on the need to have some ‘headroom’ from the statutory 
minimum NLW rate and for a two-year agreement. It was recognised that achieving a 

collective agreement with 1.0% as the headline rate would be nearly impossible. It was 
acknowledged that any agreement was likely to add between 4.5%-6.0% to the national 
pay bill over two years. It was also recognised that costs locally could vary significantly 

from this depending on a council’s workforce profile and that it would have a significant 
impact on schools’ budgets.  

 
The political deliberations over the past few months have been difficult and while there 
was broad political consensus on issues such as the length of any deal, the need for 

headroom from the NLW and the need to reconfigure the lower end of the pay spine, this 
was not the case regarding the headline rate within a potential offer, which meant that in 

the end the only way to make a decision was to hold a vote in a meeting of the 
Employers’ Side of the National Joint Council, which is the body that is ultimately 
responsible for these decisions. This is only the second vote on a pay offer since 1997 

when the Local Government Services NJC was established. 
 

Therefore whilst the decision to make a headline offer of 2.0% was not reached through 
consensus, it was achieved in line with the clear voting arrangements set out in the 
Employers’ Side Constitution. 

 
For colleagues in London Boroughs, you will be aware that there are separate pay spines 

for inner and outer London and in normal circumstances the nationally agreed 
percentage increases would be applied to the London pay points. However, given the 
proposed significant changes to the national pay spine, discussions are currently taking 

Page 741



 

 

 
Page 4 of 9 

 

place between London employers and trade unions and further updates will be issued by 

them in due course. 
 
Finally, there has been a huge amount of technical work involving many colleagues from 

councils and Regional Employer Organisations from across England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland that has brought us to this point and we would like to thank them for the 

advice and assistance that they have provided to the national Secretariat. 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

Simon Pannell 

 
Simon Pannell 
Employers’ Secretary 
  

Page 742



 

 

 
Page 5 of 9 

 

ANNEX A 

 
 

Heather Wakefield, Rehana Azam, Jim Kennedy 

Trade Union Side Secretaries 
NJC for Local Government Services 

c/o UNISON Centre 
130 Euston Road 
London  NW1 2AY 

 
 

5 December 2017 
 
 

Dear Heather, Rehana and Jim, 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT PAY 2018 

 
I am writing on behalf of the Employers’ Side of the NJC to respond formally to the Trade 

Union Side’s pay claim. 
 

The National Employers wish to make the following final offer: 
 
 From 1 April 2018: 

 

 On SCP 6, £1,380  (equivalent to 9.191%) 

 On SCP 7, £1,380  (equivalent to 9.130%) 

 On SCP 8, £1,380  (equivalent to 9.052%) 

 On SCP 9, £1,380  (equivalent to 8.976%) 

 On SCP 10, £1,250  (equivalent to 8.006%) 

 On SCP 11, £1,200  (equivalent to 7.592%) 

 On SCP 12, £1,050  (equivalent to 6.512%) 

 On SCP 13, £900  (equivalent to 5.458%) 

 On SCP 14, £900  (equivalent to 5.363%) 

 On SCP 15, £900  (equivalent to 5.272%) 

 On SCP 16, £900  (equivalent to 5.167%) 

 On SCP 17, £900  (equivalent to 5.064%) 

 On SCP 18, £800  (equivalent to 4.427%) 

 On SCP 19, £700  (equivalent to 3.734%) 

 On SCPs 20 and above, 2.0% 
 

The Employers acknowledge the constructive way in which the NJC Pay Spine Review 
Group has worked together over the past eighteen months and therefore propose that a 
revised pay spine be introduced with effect from 1 April 2019. The Employers’ detailed 
offer in regard to this is attached as Annex 1. 

 

Page 743



 

 

 
Page 6 of 9 

 

The proposed 2019 pay spine is based on the following: 

 

 A bottom rate of £9.00 per hour (£17,364) on new SCP1 (equivalent to old SCP6) 

 ‘Pairing off’ old SCPs 6-17 incl to create new SCPs 1-6 incl 

 Equal steps of 2.0% between each new SCPs 1 to 21 incl (equivalent to old SCPs 
6-28 incl) 

 By creating equal steps between these pay points new SCPs 10, 13, 16, 18 and 
21 are generated to which no old SCPs would assimilate. This would mean that in 

some organisations the current number of pay points in a grade would change. 
The Employers therefore suggest that we work together to consider appropriate 

advice as such issues arise 

 On new SCPs 23 and above (equivalent to old SCPs 29 and above), 2.0%  
 

 
We hope that you will now put this offer to your members for consultation and understand 

that you will be considering this over the next few days. 
 
 

Yours sincerely, 
 

Simon Pannell 
 

Simon Pannell 
Employers’ Secretary 

Page 744



 

 

 
Page 7 of 9 

 

ANNEX 1 

 

1 April 2018 1 April 2019 

SCP 
£ per 

annum 
£ per 
hour* 

New 
SCP 

£ per 
annum 

£ per 
hour* 

Old 
SCP[s] 

6 £16,394 £8.50 
1 £17,364 £9.00 6/7 

7 £16,495 £8.55 

8 £16,626 £8.62 
2 £17,711 £9.18 8/9 

9 £16,755 £8.68 

10 £16,863 £8.74 
3 £18,065 £9.36 10/11 

11 £17,007 £8.82 

12 £17,173 £8.90 
4 £18,426 £9.55 12/13 

13 £17,391 £9.01 

14 £17,681 £9.16 
5 £18,795 £9.74 14/15 

15 £17,972 £9.32 

16 £18,319 £9.50 
6 £19,171 £9.94 16/17 

17 £18,672 £9.68 

18 £18,870 £9.78 7 £19,554 £10.14 18 

19 £19,446 £10.08 8 £19,945 £10.34 19 

20 £19,819 £10.27 9 £20,344 £10.54 20 

 10 £20,751 £10.76  

21 £20,541 £10.65 11 £21,166 £10.97 21 

22 £21,074 £10.92 12 £21,589 £11.19 22 

 13 £22,021 £11.41  

23 £21,693 £11.24 14 £22,462 £11.64 23 

24 £22,401 £11.61 15 £22,911 £11.88 24 

 16 £23,369 £12.11  

25 £23,111 £11.98 17 £23,836 £12.35 25 

 18 £24,313 £12.60   

26 £23,866 £12.37 19 £24,799 £12.85 26 

27 £24,657 £12.78 20 £25,295 £13.11 27 

 21 £25,801 £13.37   

28 £25,463 £13.20 22 £26,317 £13.64 28 

29 £26,470 £13.72 23 £26,999 £13.99 29 

30 £27,358 £14.18 24 £27,905 £14.46 30 

31 £28,221 £14.63 25 £28,785 £14.92 31 

32 £29,055 £15.06 26 £29,636 £15.36 32 

33 £29,909 £15.50 27 £30,507 £15.81 33 

34 £30,756 £15.94 28 £31,371 £16.26 34 

Page 745



 

 

 
Page 8 of 9 

 

35 £31,401 £16.28 29 £32,029 £16.60 35 

36 £32,233 £16.71 30 £32,878 £17.04 36 

37 £33,136 £17.18 31 £33,799 £17.52 37 

38 £34,106 £17.68 32 £34,788 £18.03 38 

39 £35,229 £18.26 33 £35,934 £18.63 39 

40 £36,153 £18.74 34 £36,876 £19.11 40 

41 £37,107 £19.23 35 £37,849 £19.62 41 

42 £38,052 £19.72 36 £38,813 £20.12 42 

43 £39,002 £20.22 37 £39,782 £20.62 43 

44 £39,961 £20.71 38 £40,760 £21.13 44 

45 £40,858 £21.18 39 £41,675 £21.60 45 

46 £41,846 £21.69 40 £42,683 £22.12 46 

47 £42,806 £22.19 41 £43,662 £22.63 47 

48 £43,757 £22.68 42 £44,632 £23.13 48 

49 £44,697 £23.17 43 £45,591 £23.63 49 

 
*hourly rate calculated by dividing annual salary by 52.143 w eeks (which is 365 days divided by 7) and then divided by 37 

hours (the standard w orking w eek in the National Agreement ‘Green Book’) 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 746



 

 

 
Page 9 of 9 

 

ANNEX B 

 
PRESS RELEASE: 5 DECEMBER 2017 
 

 
Council employees’ pay offer announced 

 
Council employees have been offered a two-year pay increase from 1 April 2018. The 
majority of employees - those on salaries starting at £19,430 per annum - would receive 

an uplift of 2 per cent on 1 April 2018 and a further 2 per cent on 1 April 2019, with those 
on lower salaries receiving higher increases. 

 
The offer also includes the introduction of a new national pay spine on 1 April 2019. 
 

The National Employers, who negotiate pay on behalf of 350 local authorities in England, 
Wales and Northern Ireland, made the offer to unions today. It will affect over 1 million 

employees. 
 
 
Notes to editors 

 

The total increase to the national paybill resulting from this offer is 5.6% over two years 
(covering the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2020). 
 

This pay offer does not apply to council chief executives, senior officers, teachers or 
firefighters, who are covered by separate national pay arrangements. 

 
The National Joint Council negotiates the pay, terms and conditions of staff in local 
authorities. It agrees an annual uplift to the national pay spine, on which each individual 

council decides where to place its employees. Each council takes into account a number 
of factors such as job size and local labour market conditions when deciding an 

employee’s salary. There are no nationally determined jobs or pay grades in local 
government, unlike in other parts of the public sector. 
 

-ENDS-  
 

 
  
 

Page 747



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 2

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

NATIONAL NON-DOMESTIC RATES - WRITE OFFS

FINANCE, MODERNISATION AND PERFORMANCE 
(COUNCILLOR CHRIS WEAVER)

AGENDA ITEM: 9   

 
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES

Appendices A and B  to this report are exempt from publication by virtue 
of paragraph 14 of Part 4 and paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 12A of 

the Local Government Act 1972

Reason for this Report

1. The purpose of this report is to obtain formal authorisation to write off 
Non-Domestic Rate debts which exceed £100,000 in value. This request 
is made in accordance with Part 3, section 2, of the Cardiff Council 
Constitution, Executive Decision making function number 20.

Background

2. Cardiff Council has a statutory obligation to levy and collect business 
rates from all relevant non-domestic properties in its area. There are 
around 12,500 rating assessments currently shown in the Rating List 
leading to rate liabilities varying in size from £250 to over £1.75 million 
per year. All business rate income collected is paid into a National Pool 
for Wales and redistributed back to local authorities on a per capita basis. 
This year Cardiff Council is responsible for billing and collecting 
approximately £200 million worth of business rates and inevitably there 
are occasions where collection of the full tax is not possible resulting in 
the writing off the outstanding debt. This course of action is taken only 
after all possible recovery options have been exhausted.  These include 
sending reminders, final notices, and the obtaining of liability orders from 
the Magistrate’s Court, which then entitles the authority to instigate 
further action such as bankruptcy/liquidation proceedings or the ability to 
levy distress, (the distraining and selling of taxpayer’s goods, the 
proceeds then being used to offset against the debt).

Page 749

Eitem Agenda 9



Page 2 of 2

Issues

3. The confidential appendices provide details of an account which has an 
outstanding rate liability in excess of £100,000 and gives a brief history of 
the case. The liability relates to empty property rate charges and despite 
the best efforts of officers it is highly unlikely that the outstanding debt will 
ever be recovered. (If any money is subsequently received the accounts 
will be adjusted accordingly).

Reason for Recommendation

4. It is recommended that the debts are written off as they are irrecoverable.

Financial Implications

5. Business rates are collected on behalf of the Welsh Government.  All 
collections are pooled and redistributed back to local government on a 
per capita basis. The cost of all write offs are borne by the pool and not 
directly by the Council.

Legal Implications

6. Authorisation is required from the Cabinet to write off the debts as they 
exceed the level that Officers have delegated powers to write off.

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is recommended to authorise the write off of debts amounting to 
£508,959.09.

CHRISTINE SALTER
Corporate Director 
9 March 2018

The following confidential appendices are attached: 

Confidential Appendix A – Summary of debts to be written off.
Confidential  Appendix B – Details of the case

Page 750



Document is Restricted

Page 751

Yn rhinwedd paragraff (au) 14, 21 Rhan (nau) 4 a 5 o Atodlen 12A
 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Document is Restricted

Page 753

Yn rhinwedd paragraff (au) 14, 21 Rhan (nau) 4 a 5 o Atodlen 12A
 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 8

CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018           

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN

HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE)
      

AGENDA ITEM: 10        

 
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR PEOPLE & COMMUNITIES

Reason for this Report

1. To present the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2018-
2019 for Cabinet approval.

Background

2. All Local Authorities in Wales have the responsibility to plan for the 
housing needs of their population in their role as Strategic Housing 
Authority. However only 11 of the of the 22 authorities in Wales have 
retained their council housing stock and consequently a role in the direct 
delivery of affordable, good quality homes as a social housing landlord.

3. The Council’s landlord functions are managed within a ring-fenced 
Housing Revenue Account. Since 2015 stock retaining authorities have 
operated on a self-financing basis following a “buy-out” from the previous 
HRA subsidy system. A borrowing cap was imposed by UK Treasury as 
part of the buy-out arrangements but Cardiff was successful in obtaining 
borrowing capacity for new build homes having already achieved the 
Welsh Quality Housing Standard (WHQS) for its existing properties.
 

4. The 11 stock remaining authorities in Wales are required to present an 
“acceptable” Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan (including 
a 30 year financial model) to the Welsh Government each year in order 
that the Welsh Government can assess the progress of local authorities 
towards meeting and/or maintaining the WHQS and be eligible for the 
Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) Grant (currently £9.5m).  

5. The Plan must conform to a structure and include business plan 
parameters set out by the Welsh Government.

 
6. This plan also provides the link with the Communities, Housing and 

Customer Services Delivery Plan.

Page 755

Eitem Agenda 10



Page 2 of 8

Issues

Housing Revenue Account Business Plan

7. The HRA Business Plan attached in appendix 1 aims to;

 set out Cardiff’s purpose and vision as a social housing landlord;

 set out it’s objectives and standards for the service;

 plan how the service aims to achieve the objectives and standards 
set out (the strategies);

 plan resource and financial requirements;

 provide a framework for monitoring and evaluating the progress of 
the housing ‘business’;

 communicate Cardiff’s plans to its tenants, members, the Welsh 
Government, other key stakeholders, partners and the wider 
community.

8. The Business Plan ensures;

 efficient use of housing assets;

 increased transparency of the HRA;

 precise planning of our housing management strategy;

9. The Welsh Government set a recommended rent increase for 2018/19 of 
4.5%, with the option to add an additional £2 per week to raise further 
rental income to invest in new build council housing and improving 
existing council housing and neighbourhoods.  Cardiff will apply the full 
increase to all tenants for 2018/19 and this was agreed at Budget Council 
on 22nd February 2018.

10. Cardiff Council was the first authority in Wales to declare achievement of 
the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS), almost two months ahead 
of the Welsh Government deadline date of December 2012. 

11. Following the completion of the WHQS for existing council housing, the 
Business Plan ensures the maintenance of the WHQS and sets out the 
Council’s objective to deliver high quality and sustainable housing.  The 
individual component details of every council property is held on a stock 
condition database which includes date it was installed or upgraded with 
an associated component lifespan e.g. kitchen lifespan 15 years.  This 
enables planned programmes of work to be developed for future works 
and the setting aside of sufficient financial budgets.

Page 756



Page 3 of 8

12. A new build housing programme is being undertaken which will deliver 
2,000 new council housing units, of which 1,000 will be completed by 
2022. It is anticipated that the first phase will be structured as per the 
table below over the next four years.

13. The speed of delivery for the second phase of the programme to 
complete the 2,000 unit total is subject to increasing the flexibility around 
the management of the current All Wales cap on borrowing. Discussions 
are underway with the Welsh Government regarding this issue.

14. A partnership with a national housing developer is already in place via 
the Cardiff Living innovative building partnership. 3 schemes are 
already on site and the first handovers are planned for autumn 2018.  
This 10 year development programme will deliver around 1,500 new 
homes in total with a minimum of 40% being affordable housing.  These 
homes will be built over 40 sites across Cardiff split into 3 phases of 
development.  

15. Other new build housing projects (outside of Cardiff Living) are being 
developed in order to achieve the overall target of building 1,000 new 
council homes by 2022.  A number of delivery methods  are being used 
including: 

 Buying property from the open market.
 Conversion of buildings for housing – (both general needs and 

supported housing schemes).
 Innovative housing solutions such off-site modular systems.
 Package deals (where the Council buys new properties straight from 

a developer). 

16. As part of the overall strategy to build 2,000 new homes work is 
underway to identify suitable council owned land or property for council 
house development. In the case where council land or property is 
identified as being suitable for development consideration will be given to 
the appropriation of this land/property from the General Fund into the 
Housing Revenue Account. Each case will be considered on its merits 
and if approved an assessed price representing a market value will be 
transferred. 

17. The Council’s buy-back policy sets out the criteria for the purchase of 
properties (both flats and houses) from the market. Often these 
properties will be ex-council properties, although this will not always be 
the case. In determining which properties to purchase there is a focus on 
those in high demand and where the new build programme is unlikely to 
meet the need, such as larger 3 or 4 bedroomed family homes, which 

Year New units
2018/19 200
2019/20 400
2020/21 700
2021/22 1000

Page 757



Page 4 of 8

would be costly to build, as well as adapted properties and ground floor 
flats suitable for tenants who are less mobile. It is planned that 
approximately 20 properties will be bought each financial year subject to 
affordability. Properties will also be purchased where necessary to 
deliver redevelopment or improvement schemes and to meet social care 
needs. The properties are all surveyed and valued by an independent 
surveyor before purchase to ensure value for money. 

18. The application to suspend the Right to Buy in Cardiff was approved by 
the Welsh Government in July 2017 which means that any properties 
purchased or built will remain available for those in housing need in 
Cardiff. 

19. Delivering energy efficiency has been a key part of the HRA Business 
Plan in recent years with the upgrading of boilers in the housing stock 
being a key focus.  98.4% of all council homes have “A” rated energy 
efficient boilers delivering energy cost savings for tenants.  The energy 
efficiency of a property is assessed using a government approved 
Standard Assessment Rating (SAP). Cardiff’s average SAP rating is 70.7 
which is well above the Welsh Government good practice level of 65.   

20. The Business Plan also sets out plans for:

 The Remodelling and Refurbishment of existing homes over the life 
of the plan.  Following a review of the suitability of the Council’s 
sheltered housing accommodation a phased plan to upgrade the 
schemes has been agreed.  One sheltered block (Sandown Court) 
was refurbished and rebranded as the Council’s first Community 
Living Scheme.  The official opening was in June 2017, and the 
scheme offers a modern and welcoming environment which allows 
older persons living outside of the scheme to access the health care 
and social activities on site.  Improvements to individual flats included 
removal of bedsits, wheelchair accessibility and upgraded kitchen and 
bathrooms which are more flexible for residents.  Similar works are 
programmed in three further sheltered blocks; Brentwood Court, 
Nelson House and Clos Y Nant.  

 Major Estate Regeneration, works are underway at Anderson Place, 
Belmont Walk & Alice Street.  Other smaller scale projects are 
planned throughout the city and include garage sites, courtyard 
improvements, gullies and alley gating schemes.

 Large scale Capital Improvement Works, including the  upgrading 
of communal heating systems in sheltered accommodation and high-
rise blocks; the re-commencement of the fire door installation 
programme and the remaining lift upgrades in the last 4 high-rise 
blocks in the city.  The biggest single capital investment in 2018/19 is 
the high-rise upgrade work at the Maelfa high-rise flats which 
fundamentally improve the block through major ground floor 
modernisation works combined with window and balcony upgrades 
which will dovetail with the surrounding neighbourhood 
redevelopment.  

Page 758



Page 5 of 8

 Fire Safety works following the recent tragic events in London all 
high rise blocks in Cardiff will be fitted with sprinklers and 60 minute 
fire doors will also be installed in all blocks.  

 The current and future investment in Neighbourhood Regeneration 
and Area Improvement Strategies included garage site & courtyard 
improvement projects. 

 The continued delivery of Community Benefits in partnership with 
our external building contractors, delivery apprenticeships for people 
living in Cardiff communities and the volunteering of staff time.

21. The Business Plan also sets out how the Council manages its homes as 
effective housing management is a key part of WHQS.  This includes:

 Using key Performance Indicators and Tenant Satisfaction 
Surveys to measure the success of services.

 Focusing on improving Tenant Participation and Consultation 
including examples of community projects and information on grants 
available and advice on how to make a difference in a community.

 Supporting vulnerable tenants, assisting the elderly with 
independent living services or housing vulnerable homeless people 
through hostels and rough sleeping projects. 

22. Providing advice and information to tenants is a key focus of the 
Business Plan. Community Hubs are designed to bring together 
services, share resources and enable integrated investment in better 
quality facilities. Services delivered through the community hubs are 
responsive to the needs and priorities of individual neighbourhoods with 
housing services being a key component. During 2017/18 the following 
Hubs were delivered:

 Powerhouse Hub (Llanedeyrn)
 Llanishen Hub 

Building on this success, during 2018 we will further rollout the Hub 
Programme through the development of:

 St Mellons (Phase 2 Hub).

23. The impact of Welfare Reform has been taken into account in developing 
the business plan. Financial modelling has been carried out to account 
for potential increases in rent arrears and the additional costs of 
collection. The service has put in place various measures to minimise 
this impact: tenants have been provided with detailed information about 
the changes that may affect them and their options have been set out 
including home swapping and property transfers for those tenants who 
need to downsize.  Assistance has been made available to tenants who 
transfer to Universal Credit and there has been an increase in staffing to 

Page 759



Page 6 of 8

assist and advise tenants with debt management and budgeting, 
minimising the impact of the change as far as possible.

Scrutiny

24. The draft HRA Business Plan was presented at Communities and Adult 
Services Scrutiny Committee on 14 March 2018. The letter from Scrutiny 
is tabled and considered as part of the Cabinet meeting.

Reason for Recommendations  

25. To comply with the requirement to forward the HRA Business Plan to the 
Welsh Government.

Legal Implications

26. There are no direct legal implications but the requirement for a plan is set 
out in the body of the report.  The approval of the business plan is an 
executive function which does not have to be referred to Council.

Financial Implications

27. The financial model includes many assumptions, particularly in respect of 
expenditure forecasts, capital financing, projected income levels and 
inflation rates.  Due to the long term nature of the forecasts within the 
Business Plan, the uncertainty of the economic climate and the demands 
on the housing environment generally, these assumptions are extremely 
sensitive to change.

28. A number of crucial assumptions are, as follows:

 Rent increases of 3% are forecast for the financial years 2019/20 
through to 2021/22 and at 2.5% thereafter.  

 Service charges are increased for future years in line with inflation 
for full cost recovery. 

 Void rent loss projections vary within a range of 1.46% to 2.96%. 
 Bad debts vary within a range of 1.06% and 3% over the life of the 

plan.  This takes into account the potential impact of Welfare Reform 
and the transfer to Universal Credit on rent arrears and void 
properties, particularly as a result of the continuing reductions in 
Housing Benefit due to property rent/size restrictions.  Any increase 
above this level is likely to impact on available revenue resources 
and may necessitate further offsetting operational savings.

 CPI is estimated to be at 2% and RPI at 2.9% throughout the model.
 The Welsh Government Major Repairs Allowance receivable is 

assumed to remain at previous levels of £9.5 per annum over the 
course of the Business Plan.  Any allowance less than this will have 
an impact on the sustainability of the plan and the ability to maintain 
investment already incurred in the housing stock.  The allocation of 
Major Repairs Allowance to Cardiff in 2018/19 will be communicated 
by WG following submission of this business plan. 

Page 760



Page 7 of 8

29. The Business Plan details the capital and revenue funding implications of 
the proposed Capital Programme.  The Programme assumes additional 
borrowing to be undertaken in order to build new housing and support 
investment in the existing stock.  This will result in additional revenue 
implications in terms of interest payments and provision of repayment for 
borrowing. Viability or payback assessments should be undertaken 
before approval of new developments or acquisitions. This should be 
against set benchmarks to ensure value for money for rent payers and to 
ensure investment is repaid over a prudent period.

30. Any financial deficit and liabilities of the HRA are ultimately liabilities of 
the Council.   As part of the agreement to exit from the subsidy system, 
the Council must adhere to a debt cap of £316 million based on its 
Capital Financing Requirement.  Discussions are taking place with WG to 
determine how the cap can be increased in the medium term to allow 
further development of new council houses. 

31. Subject to remaining within any approved Cap over the life of the plan, 
consideration will be given to bringing budgets forward for dwellings 
construction as well as for the acquisition or appropriation of other 
suitable Council owned sites. This would only be after consideration of 
viability and affordability.  Any increase in costs of capital schemes must 
be managed within the medium term HRA Capital Programme approved 
by Council in February 2018.

32. The 30 year business plan should be subject to regular review to ensure 
new expenditure to be paid for by borrowing is for essential 
improvements or for schemes that have an element of pay back so that 
there are no long term issues of affordability and sustainability in respect 
of borrowing.  Any plans for additional borrowing should also consider the 
impact that future regulation changes can have on income levels and 
therefore the proposals included in the plan.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Approve the HRA Business Plan 2018-2019.

2. Note that the approved Plan will be submitted to the Welsh Government.

SARAH MCGILL
Corporate Director for People and Communities
9 March 2018

The following Appendix is attached:-

Appendix 1   - HRA Business Plan 2018-2019

Page 761



Page 8 of 8

The following Background Papers have been taken into account:-

 Communities, Housing and Customer Services Directorate Delivery Plan 

 30 Year Business Plan for Welsh Housing Revenue Accounts - Financial 
Model

Page 762



Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Business Plan 

2018-19 

Appendix 1

Page 763



 

 2 

Contents Page Number
Foreword 3
Housing and Communities Notice Board 4

Welsh Housing Quality Standard and Beyond 6
WHQS Attainment Tracker 7
Capital Ambition 8
Local Development Plan 10
Typology of the Housing Stock 12

Building New Homes 14
Cardiff Living 16

Performance Indicators 20
Maintaining our Homes 22
Developing the Workforce 23
Managing Anti-Social Behaviour 24
Tenancy management 25
Caretaker Services 26

Hubs:Working For You 28
Community Hub Development Programme 29
Community Hubs 32
Money Advice Team 35
Volunteering Scheme 26
Into Work Service 37
Impact of Welfare Reform 38

The Scale of Rough Sleeping in Cardiff 40
Common Housing Waiting List 42
Number of Properties and Availability 44

Helping Tenants Take Control 46
Effective Consultation and Communication 48
Keeping in Touch 50

Independent Living 52

Land and Asset Schemes 54
Programmes of Work 60
Planned Maintenance Works 62
Broadlands House 63
New Domestic Building Maintenance Framework 64
Equalities 66
Compliments and Complaints 68
Community Benefits 71

Resource Planning 72
Capital and Revenue Budgets 78

Financial Planning

Tenant Participation

Welsh Housing Quality Standard

New Homes Ambition

Managing Our Homes

Advice and Information

Homelessness and Housing Need

Independent Living Services

Land and Asset Improvement

Page 764



 

 3 

I understand that having a good-quality home, in a community where people feel safe 
and connected, is important to each and every one of our citizens. I know that, for 
many people, finding and securing the right home is a real cause of concern.  

Cardiff Council is one of only a handful of local authorities who have committed to 
building new Council homes, and as your member for Housing and Communities I 
have set a target to build 1,000 new Council homes by 2022. 

I also want to make sure that our housing waiting list is fair, that people understand 
why we have to prioritise some people over others, and that we act quickly to help the 
homeless.  

A focus on job creation must go hand in hand with effectively removing the barriers to 
work – whatever they may be - helping people into good jobs and good careers. I will 
work with partners to help remove the barriers people face to getting 
and keeping a job, joining up our into-work services, whilst also 
supporting every person and family affected by Welfare Reform and 
the roll-out of Universal Credit. 

Cardiff Council is committed to building new Council homes 

Councillor Lynda Thorne 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Communities  

How we support vulnerable people is important to me and is one of the Council’s key priories.   
 
We have invested heavily in developing integrated service provision particularly  to older 
persons through our sheltered housing redevelopment strategy.  

 
I will be implementing additional strategies to enable potentially vulnerable 
people to develop the skills they need to live on their own where they are 
supported and have access to the services they need. 

Sarah McGill 
Corporate Director People and Communities 

Helping People to Live Independently 

Foreword 

Page 765



 

 4 

As at October 2017 
the Council 

housing stock 
consisted of 13,449 

properties. 

Applying for housing, 

the Cardiff Housing website 
www.cardiffhousing.co.uk 
has been developed to help 
applicants look at all the 

options available.  

Hub Contact Details: 

Central Library Tel: 029 2087 1000 

The Hub at Butetown Tel: 029 2053 7060 

The Hub at St Mellons Tel: 029 2078 0992 

The Hub at Llanrumney Tel: 029 2078 0994 

Rumney Partnership Hub Tel: 029 2233 0661 

Ely and Caerau Hub Tel: 029 2087 3800 

Grangetown Hub Tel: 029 2078 0966 

The Powerhouse Tel: 029 2233 0201 

Fairwater Hub Tel: 029 2078 5583 

Llandaff North and Gabalfa Hub Tel: 029 2078 5588 

STAR Hub Tel: 029 2078 8505 

Llanishen Hub Tel: 029 2078 1060 

Tenancy 
Management 

officers completed 

over 2,200 proactive 
visits to assess 

property conditions 
in 2016/17.  

Housing and 
Communities 
Notice Board 

4 

The Independent 
Living Team 

implemented over 
£160k in savings on 
Packages of Care.  

Page 766

http://www.cardiffhousing.co.uk/


 

 5 

Into Work 
Advice Services 

have given career 
related advice to over 

40,000 people. 

The Antisocial 
Behaviour 

Team  
 received over 2,800 

referrals.  

The Caretaking 
Services Team  
100% of offensive 
graffiti is removed 
within 24 hours. 

Responsive 
Repairs Unit 
completed over 

12,300 emergency 
repairs. 

The Welfare Liaison 
Team dealt with 

over 3,600 cases in 
2017 helping gain 
access to £1.8m in 

benefits 

The Allocations Team 

manages the common 
waiting list of over 7,800 
households for both the 
Council and its partner 

Housing Associations.  

5 

Cardiff has two 
Homeless Hostels, 
Greenfarm and Ty 

Tresillian 

The Tenant 
Participation website 

www.cardifftenants.co
.uk provides lots of 
information about 

events in 
communities. 

Page 767

http://www.cardifftenants.co.uk
http://www.cardifftenants.co.uk


 

 6 

Introduction to the Welsh Housing Quality Standard (WHQS) 
 
The WHQS arose from the National Housing Strategy for Wales ‘Better Homes for 
People in Wales’. The Standard was developed by the Welsh Government to provide a 
common target standard for the condition of all housing in Wales.  
 
The Welsh Housing Quality Standard states that all households should have the 
opportunity to live in good quality homes that are: 
 

 In a good state of repair. 
 Safe and secure. 
 Adequately heated, fuel efficient and well insulated. 
 Contain up-to-date kitchens and bathrooms. 
 Well managed.  
 Located in attractive and safe environments. 
 As far as possible suit the specific requirements of the household, (e.g. 

specific disabilities).  
 

The Welsh Government has recognised that the standard cannot always be reached 
because of issues outside of the control of the Council. It has therefore introduced the 
concept of “Acceptable Fails” into the Welsh Housing Quality Standard revised 
guidance in order to recognise legitimate areas which would restrict a Council from 
reaching the required standard. We have a number of acceptable fails, (largely due to 
Resident’s Choice) and have implemented measures in order to re-visit and maximise 
achievement of the Standard.  
There are four elements: 

 
We review the standard when properties become vacant and are working closely with 
the Tenants Participation Team to enable tenants that have not received WHQS works 
or have changed their minds to contact us. 
 

 
 Cost of remedy 
 

 Timing of remedy 

 
 Resident’s choice 
 

 
 Physical constraint 
 

The Welsh Housing Quality Standard and Beyond  

6 
Page 768



 

 7 

Welsh Housing Quality Standard Attainment Tracker 

WHQS Standard 
achieved 

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Roofs           

Windows 97% 99% 99% 100%       

External 

Doors 
93% 98% 100%        

Door Entry 

Systems 
99% 100%         

Kitchens 23% 26% 43% 71% 100%      

Bathrooms 24% 28% 44% 72% 100%      

Energy 
Efficiency 

Pass 

0% 0% 48% 52% 100%      

Central 

Heating 
100%          

Electrical 

Systems 
0% 0% 50% 73% 100%      

Smoke 

Detectors 
99% 99% 98% 100%       

Environmental 

Works 
51% 52% 67% 79% 100%      

Page 769



 

 8 

 
 

Cardiff Council’s ‘Capital Ambition’ sets out a programme of action to 
continue to drive Cardiff forward whilst ensuring that the benefits of success 
are felt by all residents.  
 
In delivering its Capital Ambition, the administration propose to focus on four 
main areas: 
 
 Working for Cardiff – Making sure that everyone who lives here can 

contribute to and benefit from, the city’s success. 
 
 Working for Wales – A successful Wales needs a successful capital city. 
 
 Working for the Future – Managing the city’s growth in a sustainable 

way. 
 
 Working for Public Services – Making sure public services are 

delivered efficiently, effectively and sustainably in the face of rising 
demand and reducing budgets. 

 

 
 
 
 

Capital Ambition 

Page 770



 

 9 

Capital Ambition—Housing and Communities 

Capital Ambition 

Page 771



 

 10 

Cardiff experiences some significant social needs, with particularly high 
housing demand projected to continue over the Local Development Plan period 
2006-2026. 
 
The Cardiff Context: 
 

 Largest urban area in Wales with a population of 345,400. 

 Key driver of city-region economy in South East Wales. 

 1.4 million live within a 45 minute drive time of the city. 

 Capital city of Wales, seat of Welsh Government. 

 Cardiff’s population has risen steadily over the past 20 years -  3,500+ 
each year since 2001. 

 Official projections indicate continued population growth over the Plan 
period. 

 Significant need for affordable housing– over 8,000 people currently on 
combined housing waiting list. 

 A need for 108 permanent Gypsy and Traveller pitches and a regional 
need for a 10 pitch transit site have been identified over the Plan period to 
2026. 

 Cardiff Council commissioned DCA in January 2015 to carry out a Local 
Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) including a Housing Needs Survey. 

 The Local Housing Market Assessment (2015) indicates a need for 5,637 
affordable dwellings over the next 3 years to address need.  

 

 

 

Cardiff Local Development Plan 2006-2026 

* Source Local Housing Market Assessment (2015)  

* Source Local Housing Market Assessment (2015)  10 
Page 772



 

 11 

Cardiff Living, Willowbrook West Site October 2017 

11 Page 773



 

 12 

Typology of the Housing Stock 

Building Type 
1900-1944 

(3,146) 
1945-1964 

(4,931) 
 1965-1989 

 (5,237) 
1990-Date 

(135) 
Date-2022 

( Target of 1,000) 

Detached House 
(20) 

     

Semi-Detached 
House 
(3,342) 

     

Terraced 
(4,506) 

     

Flats and 
Maisonettes 

(5,581) 

     

Page 774



 

 13 

Building Type 
1900-1944 

(3,146) 
1945-1964 

(4,931) 
 1965-1989 

 (5,237) 
1990-Date 

(135) 
Date-2022 

( Target of 1,000) 

Detached House 
(20) 

     

Semi-Detached 
House 
(3,342) 

     

Terraced 
(4,506) 

     

Flats and 
Maisonettes 

(5,581) 

     

Page 775



 

 14 

Housing Development, New Homes 

 

Cardiff Council has set a target of building at least 1,000 new Council 
homes by 2022 to meet the increasing demand for good quality, 
affordable social housing. The need for housing is increasing year on year 
and the Council is committed to delivering new Council housing schemes 
and finding new and innovative ways of doing this. Of the 1,000 new 
homes that we will build at least 150 of these will be from innovative 
solutions which will enable new homes to be built quicker. 
 

Our aspiration to build Council homes directly complements the Welsh 
Governments target of delivering 20,000 affordable homes throughout 
Wales over this term of government. Furthermore, the Welsh Government 
has recently launched an Innovative Housing Programme (providing £20 
million over the next 2 years) to help fund innovative building solutions. 
We want to be part of this and have successfully been awarded funding 
for 2 innovative housing schemes using shipping containers to help 
provide temporary accommodation for homeless families.  

Proposed shipping container scheme at Greenfarm Hostel, Ely.  

14 
Page 776



 

 15 

In addition to building 1,000 homes by 2022 we are developing further 
plans with the aim of delivering a further 1,000 homes over the longer 
term. 
 
Our ambitious plans for building new homes will require an increase in 
the borrowing cap. Discussions are underway with the Welsh 
Government about this. 
 
The diagram below identifies the different routes we intend to use to 
meet our target:  

Page 777



 

 16 

 

Cardiff Living is an innovative partnership with national developer Wates 
Residential. The 10 year development programme will deliver around 1500 
new homes in total (of which at least 600 will be Council homes) across 40 
mixed tenure sites. All properties will be built to high sustainability and 
energy efficiency standards, helping to tackle fuel poverty and creating 
places where people want to live.  
 

The programme is split into three phases of development with work on 
phase 1 having commenced earlier this year. There are three Development 
schemes actively on site at Willowbrook West, Braunton Crescent and on 
our former depot at Mount Pleasant Lane Llanrumney. These 3 schemes 
alone will deliver 130 new Council homes with the first handovers planned 
for Autumn 2018. Not only will Cardiff Living deliver high quality, much 
needed new homes, it will also provide a wide ranging community benefits 
package providing training opportunities, apprenticeships, local jobs and 
promoting the use of local supply chains.  
 

 

Cardiff Living Willowbrook West site being surveyed 

16 

Cardiff Living 

Page 778



 

 17 

Image of proposed flats at Courtney Road (Package Deal)  

 

Cardiff Council’s Cabinet recently approved a proposal to enter into a 
‘package deal’ arrangement with Cadwyn Housing Association for the 
delivery of 30 flats at Courtney Road – it is anticipated this scheme will be 
on site in Spring 2018.  

 

‘Package deals’ are a way of generating new affordable housing 
developments where the scheme proposal, site layout and unit designs are 
led by the developer or landowner who then agree to sell the completed 
units directly to us. 
 

Remodelling of the former children’s home at Thornhill Road, Llanishen, 
creating 8 ‘Independent Living’ flats for older people is complete, we are 
looking for other refurbishments opportunities.  
 

Finally, we are buying homes from the market – targeting larger family 
homes and former Council properties. We aim to complete 20 buy-backs 
each year until 2022.  

Page 779



 

 18 

Cardiff Living - Phase 1 List of Sites  

Page 780



 

 19 
Page 781



 

 20 

In addition to the  Cardiff Living Project we are taking forward a second 
ambitious build programme. We have been assembling land for this 
project and are actively working on a further 12 sites capable of delivering 
at least 400 additional Council homes.  

 

Work is well underway to take forward new development schemes in order 
to meet our overall target of additional new build. Schemes vary in density 
from 16 units to 60 units and through this programme we are able to 
deliver a complete mix of council properties, targeting the specific housing 
needs that we have.  
 

Working as a traditional development team, The Housing Development 

Team based in county hall identifies suitable development sites, runs 

viability options to determine the best mix of units for the site, manages 

the planning process and then appoints a contractor to develop the 

scheme out.  

Capital Ambition – New Homes  

Proposed Trenchard Drive development 

20 Page 782



 

 21 

Performance Indicators 

The performance of the Housing Management Service is monitored through 
a range of performance indicators. Results for December 2017 in a range of 
key areas are shown below:  

Indicator Target Result 

Percentage of general clean and clears 

completed within 10 working days. 
95% 99% 

The percentage of emergency repairs 

completed within target time (24 hrs). 
90% 99% 

Vacant Council stock as a percentage of 

overall stock. 
1.5% 1.3% 

% of Into Work Service users who complete 
an accredited course who gain a 

qualification. 
85% 92% 

Managing Our Homes 

22 21 

Residents visiting the recycling centre in Lamby Way 

Page 783



 

 22 

Maintaining Our Homes 

The whole process from 
reporting an issue with the 
seal to the front door right 

up to the finish of the 
works went ahead 

smoothly. 

Very happy the 
operative worked all 

day in the rain to 
complete the work . 

The operative was on time, 
did a great job and cleaned 

up afterwards, it was 
excellent, great job, 10/10! 

The Responsive Repairs Unit have arranged for more repairs to be undertaken 
by in-house operatives instead of external contractors. This means the service is 
able to retain more oversight of the jobs reported and take ownership of 
reported issues. These changes have reduced costs and improved the service 
to our tenants, which is clearly demonstrated by a significantly reduced number 
of complaints.  
 
 95% of appointments kept (94% March 16) -  Target 95% 
 99% of emergency repairs completed in 24hrs  - Target 95% 
 86% of planned Gas servicing completed ahead of year target 
 Customer Satisfaction 98% April-December 2017. 

Responsive Repairs Unit operative Andy using the mobile working solution 

22 
Page 784



 

 23 

 

Cardiff Council is committed to developing its workforce. The Responsive 
Repairs Unit currently has 5 apprentices. The Council work closely with the 
Cardiff and Vale College in Dumballs Road to give learners opportunities to 
work for the unit. The Responsive Repairs Unit has a long history of 
apprenticeships going back almost 30 years, both RRU managers and a lot 

of the team were former Cardiff Council apprentices. 
Owain is 16 and started his apprenticeship with the Council straight from 
school. Owain is a full time apprentice and is able to have one day in college 
to complete his NVQ level 2 course in plumbing. Owain has been placed with 
experienced plumber and mentor Paul to recieve full on the job training. 
Owain’s work mainly consists of fitting taps, repairing broken guttering and 
working in kitchens and bathrooms. 
 

“The work is really good, very enjoyable, Paul shows me how to do the job 
and then lets me get on with it. If I get stuck he gives me a hand. Its really 
practical work, very hands on, and there are no two jobs the same.” 
 

Mentor Paul with apprentice Owain 

Developing the Workforce 

The work is really good, very enjoyable 

Page 785



 

 24 

 

As a landlord we will take firm action to eliminate ASB. We have a dedicated 
Antisocial Behaviour Team. Our response will be: 
 

 To provide support to victims. 

 To be proportionate. 

 To work with perpetrators to help them change their behaviour. 

 To act against perpetrators who continue to be anti-social. 

 To work with the police to share and gather evidence. 

 To take the most appropriate action to solve the problem. 
 

Council action from April to September 2017: 
 

 8 injunctions for abusive behaviour, domestic violence and threats to life. 

 39 target Notices seeking possession for ASB offenders. 

 1 prison sentence. 
 

Between July and December 2017, in 100% of urgent cases tenants were 
contacted within 24 hours. (Target 95%). 
 

In this coming year we will be reviewing our ASB Service to ensure it is 
meeting the needs of our tenants, particularly those with complex needs. We 
will take a psychologically informed approach recognising the impact of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES).  
Officers enjoying a smoothie at St Mellons community day 

Managing Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)  

24 

Page 786



 

 25 

Tenancy Management 
We aim to ensure that our tenants and leaseholders have the advice and 
information they need to maintain their tenancy or lease conditions, ensuring 
that properties are kept in good condition; preventing tenancy fraud and 
ensuring any pets are appropriate and well controlled.  The team carry out 
proactive visits to provide advice and remind tenants of their obligations.  
Where necessary the team gather evidence and take appropriate action 
including obtaining orders and carrying out evictions where necessary.  
 
Action from April to December 2017: 
  
 1,062 Tenancy Audit visits were carried out - inspecting all the flats for 

property condition, checking identity to the tenant to prevent tenancy 
fraud, reviewing pets, and identifying any general issues.  

 2,268 Proactive visits were carried out - inspecting houses for property 
and garden condition.  

 347 Abandoned Properties were reported and investigated  
 816 overdue gas service cases dealt with and access obtained 
 686 property and garden condition problems were addressed  
 
The tenancy team also provide additional help to vulnerable people such as 
hoarders and young people leaving care and others who need more help to 
maintain their tenancies.  

Tenants at the Tenants Conference 

Page 787



 

 26 

Caretaking Services 

Caretaking Services provides cleaning and caretaking services for 

tenants and leaseholders. This includes:  

 Cleaning and safety inspections for the communal areas of 852 low-

rise blocks and 9 High-rise blocks. All blocks are cleaned fortnightly 

 Clearances of empty properties, garden and overgrowth clearance, 

including tree cutting.  

 Cleaning of courtyards by high pressure water to provide a deep 

clean once a year.  

 Graffiti removal over the whole of Cardiff. Abusive or offensive graffiti 

is removed within 24 hrs and other graffiti in 10 working days.  In 

2017 the team dealt with over 800 cases of graffiti.   

  

26 

Graffiti Team removing graffiti in an underpass 

Page 788



 

 27 

Artists Impression of the Braunton Crescent and Clevedon Road finished development 

27 
Page 789



 

 28 

Hubs: Working For You 
Snapshot of the Hubs 
working for you in 
November 2017 

Advisor who dealt 
with me was very 

pleasant, polite and 
kind. Very rarely 

seen these days but 

Good effort by all 
library staff keeping 

library open for 
public whilst new 

hub refurbishment.  

Hubs are so more 
pleasing than going 

to town. Staff are 
fabulous 

Staff are 
always helpful 
and pleasant 

Page 790



 

 29 

Hub Development Programme 
A network of 12 Hubs in priority neighbourhoods has been established through the 

Community Hubs programme, providing joined-up customer services by investing in high 

quality community buildings. In 2017/18, two Hub projects were completed both of which 

involved partnership working with South Wales Police and the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 

Powerhouse Hub, Llanedeyrn: A 2-storey extension was added to the existing 

Powerhouse building, providing accommodation for South Wales Police on the first-floor 

and a Community Hub on the ground-floor. The bright, colourful Hub includes a modern 

library with a children’s corner, drop-in PC’s, an IT training room, advice desks, a 

community café, private interview rooms and new reception area. The Hub opened in 

July, 2017 and has received positive feedback from customers. 

 

Llanishen Hub: The ground-floor of Llanishen police station has been converted into a 

Community Hub, through an extensive refurbishment programme. The new facility 

includes a library space, IT suite, community room and interview rooms. Located in the 

heart of Llanishen village, the Hub has proved popular with the local community since it 

opened in November, 2017.  

 

A major extension to the St Mellons Hub is currently under construction. This will bring 

all neighbourhood services together in an integrated facility, providing a multi-purpose 

community hall, activity rooms, youth den, community café and child-care provision, in 

addition to the advice, information and library facilities on offer in the existing Hub. The 

extended Hub is due to open in summer, 2018. 

Newly opened Powerhouse Hub  

Page 791



 

 30 

Community Hub Development Programme 

Page 792



 

 31 
Page 793



 

 32 

The Powerhouse in Llanedeyrn is Cardiff’s latest Hub bringing services and facilities to 
the heart of the community, it opened its doors in July 2017. The building has been 
extended and underwent major refurbishment to provide a wide range of services and 
improved facilities to local people. 

 
Cllr Lynda Thorne said, “Another new hub for the city is great news, especially for the 
communities of Llanedeyrn and Pentwyn. Our other hubs have proved very popular and 
have helped us increase the take up of services. I’m sure this new hub will be no 
different – it’s going to be a real asset for local people.” 
The opening of the new Powerhouse is part of the wider development of the Maelfa 
estate in Llanedeyrn and work is well underway on the project that will deliver new 
modern shops, community facilities and a mix of social rented and private housing on the 
current site. 
 
South Wales Police, who previously had a local station in the Maelfa Centre, have now 
relocated to the Powerhouse and will have self-contained offices on the first floor. 

Community Hubs 

It’s going to be a real asset for local people 

16 

Powerhouse Hub free internet access points 

34 
Page 794



 

 33 

“The Maelfa regeneration will breathe new life into this part of the city and the 
Powerhouse is an important part of the redevelopment, bringing services people 
need into the heart of the community.” 
 
Trained staff are on hand to help access a wide range of facilities and services 
including: 
 
 Library service including quiet area and space for children’s events 
 Housing, benefit and advice services 
 Free internet and Wi-Fi access 
 Free phones to contact council and other services 
 Into Work Advice and training courses 
 IT Training Suite/ Private interview rooms 
 Rooms for community meetings and events 
 Modern Community Café 
 Partner organisations providing specialist help and 

advice 
 Community Hall 
 Job Club 
 Wellbeing Tuesday services for over 50’s 
 Dementia Friendly Archives 
 Youth Activities 
 Fitness Classes 
 
All the Hubs activities are on their Facebook pages—@StarcommHub, 
@GrangetownHub, @RumneyHub, @StMellonsHub, @LlanrumneyHub, 
@CentralLibraryHub, @ElyandCaerauHub, @LlanedeyrnHubPowerhouse, 
@FairwaterHub, @LlandaffNorthHub 

Friendship Club coffee morning at the Powerhouse Hub  

Page 795

https://www.facebook.com/STARCOMMHUB/?ref=page_internal
https://www.facebook.com/grangetownhub/?ref=py_c
https://www.facebook.com/rumneyhub/?ref=py_c
https://www.facebook.com/StMellonsHub/?ref=py_c
https://www.facebook.com/LlanrumneyHub/?ref=py_c
https://www.facebook.com/centrallibraryhub/?ref=py_c
https://www.facebook.com/ElyandCaerauHub/?ref=py_c
https://www.facebook.com/LlanedeyrnHubPowerhouse/
https://www.facebook.com/FairwaterHub/?hc_ref=PAGES_TIMELINE
https://en-gb.facebook.com/llandaffnorthhub/


 

 34 

Powerhouse Hub refurbishment 

34 Page 796



 

 35 

Money Advice Team  
The Money Advice Team are based in Central Library Hub and also provide outreach 
services from Hubs across the city. The team can help with budgeting and debt, 
completing welfare benefit forms and can help clients to claim all the grants and 
discounts they are entitled to. They can also assist clients to open a basic bank 
account. 
 

The Money Advice Team are experts in giving advice to those who have been affected 
by the Welfare Reform changes. Including helping those who have been affected by 
the Benefit Cap or need support as they are now claiming Universal Credit. For clients 
that have had a negative decision about their benefit claims, the team can also help 
with mandatory reconsiderations, which is the first stage in the appeal process.  
 

Central Library Hub also offers services from partner organisations including, Cardiff 
Advice Service (made up of Citizens Advice and the Speakeasy Advice Centre), 
Cardiff and Vale Credit Union, Shelter, and NEST.  

18 

Central Library Hub staff 

35 

9200

6500

Number of Clients

2017 2016

£12m

£9.7m

£ Previously unclaimed benefits claimed

2017 2016

Page 797



 

 36 

Working with Into Work Advice Services, the Volunteer Coordinator with the 
support of the Volunteer Mentor have grown the volunteering opportunities in 
the Hubs throughout the city. There are approximately 65 volunteers at any 
one time.  
 

There are many volunteering roles– these include;  
 

 Digital Champion volunteers 
 Money Advice volunteers 
 Administration volunteers 
 Reception volunteers 
 Library volunteers 

 

People volunteer for a variety of reasons but the main reason is that they are 
looking to return to work and volunteering significantly improves the chances 
of getting a job. The Council will provide the volunteers with job references 
too – which sometimes is the biggest barrier to finding work for inexperienced 
job seekers. In fact 5 former volunteers are now paid members of staff 
working in various teams in the Council.  
 

Last year 68 volunteers who left volunteering did so because they returned to 
work.  
 

 

36 

HUB’s provide a multitude of activity opportunities for the community and have attracted 

Royal  approval 

Volunteering Scheme 

Page 798



 

 37 

Into Work Advice Service 
 

The Into Work Advice Service can help anyone living in Cardiff who is unemployed or 
looking to upskill from their current job. Job Club and digital sessions are held at 14 
different locations across the city with a 5 day presence in Central Library Hub, Ely / 
Caerau Community Hub, St Mellons Hub and Grangetown Hub. 

 
The job club is a drop in service where an advisor is available to help the individual with 
CV’s, job applications, job searching, Universal Job Match, helping to claim Universal 
Credit, and also helping to write cover letters. An advisor will provide a detailed bespoke 
action plan to return to work, ensuring they are tailored to meet the individual needs of 
the client.  

 
The Digital Inclusion officers can also support people to get on-line, create social media 
accounts, use the internet and set up e-mails. On average the job clubs see over 3,600 
clients a month.  

 
The Into Work Advice scheme also delivers a range of accredited and non accredited 
training courses. A range of 1 or 2 day training courses including Emergency First Aid, 
Food Safety, Manual Handling and Health and Safety training courses can be accessed 
across the city in various Hubs. On average over 270 individuals complete work skills 
training per month with Into Work Advice Service and the service helps to support over 
390 clients into employment annually. 
 

Hub welcome desk 

Page 799



 

 38 

Impact of Welfare Reform  
The Business Plan has given consideration to the impact of Welfare Reform. Financial 
modelling was carried out in an attempt to consider likely scenarios, particularly in 
respect of potential increases to rent. In addition, the modelling considered the 
potential additional costs of collection and arrears recovery. 
 

Universal Credit Full Service is due to arrive in Cardiff in early 2018. Universal Credit is 
a working age benefit that is replacing 6 means tested benefits and tax credits now 
termed “legacy” benefits. Once Universal Credit Full Service arrives, if a new claim 
would need to be made for one of the benefits listed below and the household has less 
than three children, a claim for Universal Credit will be required instead.  
 
Changes to circumstances could also mean that a claim for Universal Credit will need 
to be made.  These include (but are not limited to): 
 
 

To help with these challenges we are rolling out online access across the city, giving 
budget advice in all the Hubs and we have enhanced our Welfare Liaison Team. 

 Move into or out of work  Becoming a carer 

 Becoming sick  Having a first child 

 Becoming fit for work  Youngest child turning 5 

 Gaining or losing a partner  Child leaving school / household 

Page 800



 

 39 

866 children in     

affected households.  

Average of  3.47  
children per 

household 192 (77% ) of the 

affected households are 

Lone Parents 

249 £0.56 
Lowest 

£131.8
Highest Cap 

Benefit Cap 

Universal Credit Key Changes  

Universal Credit key changes How can Cardiff Council Help? 

Universal Credit will be claimed and 

maintained online 

New self-service section in Central Library Hub – 
scan stations and increased phone lines to promote 
self-service customers. 

Universal Credit will be paid in 

arrears 

Money Advice Team can assist with accessing 
emergency local welfare provision such as issuing 
foodbank vouchers and making claims from 
Discretionary Assistance Fund. 

Universal Credit will be paid into a 

bank account 

Support available across the city to open a 
transactional bank account. 

Universal Credit will include any help 

towards rent 

Trained staff can assist with setting up direct debits 
and standing orders to pay rent and can liaise with 
landlords to agree rent payments whilst waiting for 
first Universal Credit payment . 

Universal Credit will be paid monthly 

and as a single payment to the 

household 

Money Advice Team can help with monthly budgeting 
and basic debt advice. 

Universal Credit payments may be 

reduced or stopped through a 

sanction 

Into work advisors can help create Universal Job 
match accounts, update CV’s, arrange training and 
volunteering to help claimants prepare for work or 
apply for jobs . 

The Benefit Cap is a limit placed on the total amount of benefits a working age 

Example of Financial Support: Mr John was affected by the benefit cap. 

He attended a local Hub and was given financial help towards his rent 

while he engaged with the Into Work Advice Service. This meant the 

shortfall in his rent was paid by a Discretionary Housing Payment. 

He is now in work and is over £130 a week better off and no longer 

affected by the benefit cap. Page 801



 

 40 

The Scale of Rough Sleeping in Cardiff 
The amount of people sleeping rough in Cardiff has approximately doubled 
since 2014.  
 
Figures for the last 3 single night counts show an upward trend in the 
number of rough sleepers actually observed, with 26 individuals recorded 
in 2014, 30 in 2015 and 53 in 2016.  
  
Ty Tresillian Pods 
Ty Tresillain is a council run hostel for single people. The hostel has 24 
hostel beds for some of the most vulnerable homeless people. In addition 
the hostel has 8 internal pods (emergency rooms).  
 
An additional 3 pods were added in 2017 and there are plans to develop 
more in the coming year.  

The Scale of Rough Sleeping in Cardiff Homelessness and Housing Need 

42 

Rough Sleeper Pods Ty Tresillian 

40 
Page 802



 

 41 

  

Frontline Services 
Cardiff has a comprehensive range of frontline services working with its rough 
sleepers: The Council’s Homeless Outreach Team undertakes day-time and 
evening outreach 7 days a week, engaging with people sleeping rough or who 
are at risk of sleeping rough.  
 
The team has recently been expanded and trained to undertake statutory 
homelessness assessments on the streets. 
  
Rough Sleeper Project 
Cardiff Council’s Rough Sleeper Project offers an alternative accommodation 
model based on Housing First principles. Direct referrals are made into self-
contained accommodation, without preconditions or the need to move through 
a staged approach to independent living. Since its establishment, 26 clients 
who had previously failed to engage or maintain other homeless provision 
have been positively resettled.  
 
The project uses council flats and the number of properties made available  
been expanded from August 2017 to help address the growing issue of rough 
sleeping. 
  

Early morning breakfast run 

Page 803



 

 42 

There is a high demand for social housing in Cardiff and a limited number of 
properties become available to let each year. Cardiff Council, Cadwyn, 
Cardiff Community, Hafod, Linc Cymru, Newydd, Taff, United Welsh and 
Wales & West Housing Associations operate a Common Housing Waiting 
List for social housing, from which suitable applicants are identified to be 
offered available properties. 
 
In order to offer applicants the widest choice of accommodation applicants 
are considered for suitable properties regardless of landlord. All applicants 
are given the opportunity to express preferences about the areas of the city 
in which they want to live and will be offered up to date information about 
likely waiting times for social housing in their preferred areas. Applicants 
who choose to join the Housing Waiting List based on the information they 
have been given will be able to register for as many preferred areas as they 
wish. 
 
The partners aim to assist applicants who are in housing need before those 
without identified need. The level of housing need is used as one of the 
measures to determine an applicant’s position on the Waiting List : 
 
 Immediate, urgent, high and medium levels of housing need are 

recognised and used to inform applicants’ position on the Waiting List. 
 
 Applicants with no identified housing need may be admitted to the 

Housing Waiting List, but will be registered in a lower Band than those 
with identified housing need.  

 
Where it becomes apparent during the application / assessment process 
that the applicant may be homeless / threatened with homelessness a 
referral is made to the Housing Options Service. 
 

 No of applicants on Common Housing waiting List: 7856 (Jan 2018) 

 No of applicants identified as homeless:584 (Jan 2018) 

 Number of properties let in 2017:1405, (711 Council and 714 partner).   

 

 

Common Housing Waiting List 

42 
Page 804



 

 43 

 

1 

4 bed parlour 

House 

 

14 

3 bed parlour 

Houses 

 5 

3 bed  

non-parlour 

Houses 

 

3 

2 bed  

non-parlour 

Houses 

 

1 

1 bed 

retirement 

Bungalow 

 

229 

Sent out in 

2017 

 

70 

Responses 

 

179 

Downsizing 

 

95 

Oldest cases  

 

Visits 

1 

tenant joined 

downsizing  

list 

 

Questionnaires 

Properties 

freed up 

25 

 

220 

Sent out 

19/01/18 

 

4 

Following 

questionnaire 

response 

Total 

Incentives 

Given 

 

£4,400 

 

1 

2 bed 

first floor 

flat 

 

Accommodation Solutions Team  
The Accommodation Solutions team was set up to provide assistance for 
those who are looking to downsize from large family accommodation. 
Particularly those who  wish to move to more appropriate accommodation 
for their needs and who may find the whole process a bit daunting.                                                                                                                                                               
The Team are available to assist from the time a tenant joins the waiting list 
until after they have moved in, ensuring they have settled in comfortably. 
The aim is to give people the peace of mind of having one single contact 
and a face they know when taking on the task of moving from their current 
accommodation.  
Accommodation Solutions officers understand that moving can be a big 
decision for tenants, especially if this has been their long term family home. 
The aim is to make the process as easy as possible. 
The Accommodation Solutions team can help tenants think about how they 

will move, what to do with any unwanted items and give the support the 

tenant may need following the move. They can also offer financial 

assistance to help towards moving costs or to decorate their new home. 

This is the best 
decision I have 
made, and the 
fact that I had 
help all along 
the way made 
everything so 

Without the 
Accommodation 

Solutions team moving 
would never have been 

possible.  

I would definitely 
recommend the 
Accommodation 

Solutions Team. I don’t 
know what I would have 

done without you. 

Page 805



 

 44 

Number of Properties and Availability During 2017 - 2018 

© Crown copyright and database rights (2011)

Ordnance Survey 100023376

Ward 
Number of 
properties 

Vacants 
2017/2018 

Adamsdown 134 13 

Butetown 620 52 

Caerau 1005 69 

Canton 176 15 

Cathays 70 6 

Creigiau and St. Fagans 11 0 

Ely 2548 196 

Fairwater 1131 109 

Gabalfa 174 5 

Grangetown 501 40 

Heath 80 5 

Lisvane 8 0 

Llandaff 1 0 

Llandaff North 634 33 

Llanishen 623 44 

Llanrumney 1261 75 

Pentwyn 1147 100 

Pentyrch 104 8 

Penylan 2 0 

Plasnewydd 129 10 

Pontprennau and Old St. Mellons 26 3 

Radyr and Morganstown 20 2 

Rhiwbina 20 3 

Riverside 322 64 

Rumney 482 31 

Splott 686 41 

Trowbridge 1022 82 

Whitchurch and Tongwynlais 512 32 

Grand Total 13449 1038 

44 
Page 806



 

 45 

Council property 

100+  

50-100 

1-50 

0 

Number of Properties and Availability During 2017 - 2018 

Number of Vacant Properties 

45 
Page 807



 

 46 

Tenant Participation 

 
Growing Together and Blooming Marvellous 
The Tenant Participation Team’s city-wide gardening project ‘Growing 
Together’ encourages tenants and residents to start community gardens, 
Tenants are given expert advice, access to tools and equipment through our 
special project grant.  
 
Gardens have now been set up in different areas across the city to be used 
by council tenants and leaseholders including in residential areas, sheltered 
living complexes and schools.  
 
As part of the Growing Together theme we also ran our largest ever Blooming 
Marvellous competition, a gardening competition open to all tenants and 
leaseholders of Cardiff Council. This competition has proved very popular 
and has encouraged our tenants to look after their gardens and add colour to 
their communities.  
 
The winners are announced at our annual tenant’s conference where 
different teams in the Council and other council tenants get to hear about 
each garden’s background and story.  
 

 
Special Project Grants 
The Tenant Participation Team offer a grant of up to £1000 for constituted 
groups of council tenants and leaseholders to support community projects or 
activities such as street parties, crafting groups and other community led 
events.  
 
 
Working with Schools 
The Tenant Participation Team recognises that parents can be pressed for 
time due to childcare commitments so has started to run outreach sessions 
and community gardens in schools such as Hywell Dda in Ely to encourage 
council tenants and leaseholders to get involved within their communities. 
Examples of courses include First Aid, Food Safety and Customer Service. 
The community garden at Hywell Dda was also used for a gardening action 
day where council tenants and leaseholders got to speak to experts about 
bees, fruit and veg and ways to improve their own gardening spaces. 

46 
Page 808



 

 47 

Let us know 
The Tenant Participation Team have organised several Community Let Us 
Know events in 2017, and more are planned for 2018. With lots of fun events 
for families and children, an opportunity to speak with council officers and 
external partner organisations, these events have been a big success. 
 

A Community Action Day was held in Whitchurch at the Hollybush estate in 
June. It was an opportunity for residents to address any issues with council 
officers as well as an opportunity to plant a herb garden within the estate with 
the help of Tenant Participation Team.  
 

The team works with different departments such as Land and Assets and 
Antisocial Behaviour, (ASB) to hold workshops and surgeries related to 
issues that communities are facing city wide. 
 

Passport to work 
The Tenant Participation Team work alongside Into Work Services, Job 
Centre, the Hub and the Money Advice Team to provide and fund courses for 
council tenants to find work. The Tenant Participation Team places emphasis 
on the importance of the tenant sourcing the course themselves so they can 
pick a career path which suits them in the future. The council tenant only 
needs to attend a week long course with Into Work Services to prove their 
commitment to the training.  
 

Tenants have gone onto courses for forklift licences, HGV Licences, Asbestos 
Removal, Carpet fitting courses and many more.  

Community garden in Shelly Walk Plansnewydd 

Page 809



 

 48 

Effective Consultation and Communication 
 

 

Tenant Participation 
2017 has been a busy, productive and successful year for Tenant 
Participation. The team now has five members of staff dedicated to 
engaging with the tenants and leaseholders of Cardiff Council, on all the 
issues affecting them.  
 
Bus Tour 
The team organised the annual Tenants’ Bus Tour during which tenants 
and leaseholders were taken around the city to be shown examples of 
capital investment projects. Examples of these were the Llandaff North 
and Gabalfa Hub and the regeneration of Trenchard Drive before 
residents of the community living complexes were shown the newly 
renovated Sandown Court community living complex.  
 
Aging Well in community living  
Officers from the Tenant Participation Team have been attending 
sheltered housing complexes across Cardiff in order to hold different 
types of community led events. These include Christmas card crafting, 
coffee mornings, lunch clubs and choir sessions which offer the tenants 
and leaseholders an opportunity to socialise and get together. The Tenant 
Participation Team has also facilitated healthy living days in schemes 
such as Sandown court, with stalls from Independent Living, Telecare and 
other organisations such as Specsavers to give tenants and leaseholders 
advice and answer any queries.  

22 

The annual Tenants’ Bus Tour  

48 
Page 810



 

 49 

Tenants Conference 

A very successful Tenants Conference was held in November 2017. The 
theme of this year’s conference was ‘Tenants Together’ and focused on 
working with tenants and leaseholders to find ways to improve communities 
across Cardiff. Tenants and leaseholders were also shown presentations on 
recycling, Independent Living Services as well as a presentation by a council 
tenant on our mystery shopping programme. Over 20 organisations came 
from within the Council and outside to take questions and inform council 
tenants of the services available as well as hosting workshops throughout on 
a variety of subjects including; First Aid, volunteering, tips from waste 
management and upcycle garden crafts. 
 

Tenants’ Voice 

A series of Tenants’ Voice meetings were held, which allow tenants and 
leaseholders the opportunity to meet with cabinet members, senior officers 
and managers.   

Tenants and leaseholders are kept up to date with the work being carried out 
by the Housing Service, and also ask questions and put forward their own 
concerns. At the latest meeting, a brief presentation was given on the major 
housing improvements planned in the city over this next financial year. 

2017 Tenants Conference 

Page 811



 

 50 

We aim to keep our residents informed of all issues and campaigns that may 
affect them by making use of different methods of communication in the most 
effective way possible. 
 

Tenants’ Times is produced and delivered to all council tenants on a quarterly 
basis. It is used to provide tenants with information about community 
services, campaigns and initiatives. Tenants’ Times is also the main way that 
we inform our tenants about major works and general improvements to 
housing stock. A reading group made up of tenants and council officers 
makes sure that the articles are relevant to our customers. 
  

The Cardiff Tenants website, (www.cardifftenants.co.uk) and Facebook 
pages, (www.facebook.com/TPCardiff) are continually evolving and 
developing to reflect information that is up-to-date and relevant. They are 
aimed at all communities within Cardiff.  

Keeping in Touch 

28 

Cardiff Tenants Reading Group with Winter 2017 Tenants Times 

50 
Page 812

http://www.cardifftenants.co.uk
http://www.facebook.com/TPCardiff


 

 51 51 

Prize winner at Tenants Conference 

Page 813



 

 52 

Independent Living 
 
Mr Omar had lived in Sandown court for 15 years, when he moved into the complex 
he was living in a bedsit, he has now moved to a flat and since the recent 
refurbishment the size of his flat has increased. “I was over the moon, I now have a 
flat and a half! “I can’t fault the finish, It’s gone from the dark ages to the 21st 
century.” 
 
Mr Omar said that there have been new people moving in, they are welcomed into 
the community “we have breakfast club, the afternoon movie club it helps people gel, 
I’m hoping we do some bingo as well.” 
 
Each flat is connected to the CCTV cameras and Tunstall Care-line intercom system, 
the system is also connected to smoke and heat detectors. “If someone knocks my 
door I can quickly check on the CCTV who they are. If I don’t know them I’m not 
letting them in!”  
 
There is a community spirit in the complex and Mr Omar is very well known , “I 
painted the benches in the gardens for when the “royalty” arrived, (when the complex 
refurbishment was officially opened) and if someone needs help with a flat pack 
building or change a lightbulb I’m always happy to help.” 

25 

Mr Omar in his newly refurbished flat 

52 
Page 814



 

 53 

Independent Living Services 
Focusing on the elderly and disabled people, our Independent Living 
Services can help residents to access a wide range of support to help them 
live as independently as possible.  
  
Independent Living Services has a team of multi-skilled visiting officers who 
complete holistic assessments in the client’s home. They provide help and 
advice on benefits to maximise the client’s income. The team also help 
reduce outgoings by advising on how to make homes more energy-efficient 
and informing about any grants or discounts residents may be entitled to. 
The offices can also advise about equipment and adaptations and provide 
options to help prevent social isolation.    
 
Adaptations to the home can help the tenant improve their movement in 
and around your home. The types of adaptations provided include: 
  
 Better heating and lighting system and controls 
 Additional bathing facilities, e.g. a level access showers 
 Easier cooking facilities, e.g. Providing low level units 
 Improved movement around the house and access to rooms and 

facilities, e.g. widening doors, installing ramps or stair lift  
  
In 2016/17 - 416 preventative works and 250 disabled adaptations were 
carried out to Council homes to help our tenants stay independent at home. 
  

Performance Figures 2017: 
 
 2,469 visits undertaken.  
 
 £2.2 million of unclaimed benefits 

identified.  
 
 150 clients referred for assistive technology.  
 
 144 clients provided with Fire Safety support.  
 
 293 Clients received general Life 

Page 815



 

 54 

The Land and Asset Team develops strategies and delivers effective 
management of housing land, assets and sustainable housing solutions for 
mainstream and specialist accommodation. These include: 

 Sheltered housing refurbishment schemes 

 Garage site improvement projects 

 Courtyards and defensible space improvement projects 

 

Future Schemes 

As part of the Council’s commitment to improving all of the Sheltered 
Accommodation. Brentwood Court, Clos-y-Nant and Nelson House will have 
large scale refurbishments to the communal areas. The refurbishments to 
these schemes will encompass the same principles that we have used in the 
communal areas of Sandown Court. 

30 

Asset and Regeneration Schemes 

Nelson House proposed design 

54 
Page 816



 

 55 

Sandown Court, Community Living 
 
The refurbishment and rebranding of Sandown Court was completed and 
officially opened in June 2017 and is the first Community Living Scheme in 
Cardiff. 
 

The scheme has under gone a complete internal refurbishment and has 
allowed us to remove bedsits and use the space to create more fully 
wheelchair accessible flats and more two bedroom flats. All flats have also 
benefitted from updated kitchens and all now have wet rooms which are more 
flexible for residents. 
 

The communal facilities have also been upgraded to provide a modern and 
welcoming environment that enhances the resident experience and improves 
the community living feeling. Activities have been arranged to allow older 
persons living outside of the scheme to share these activities and the 
improvements have allowed us to do this in a safe and welcoming environment 
for all. To allow us to arrange these varied activities the communal rooms have 
been upgraded and improved and wellness suites have been created.  
 

We have also completed the scheme to RNIB Visibly Better standards which 
ensures that the scheme is refurbished in a way that is suitable for people with 
sight loss and dementia. We will soon be receiving accreditation that the 
scheme is of a RNIB Platinum standard. 

Sandown Court  community room 

Page 817



 

 56 

Edinburgh Court and South Morgan Place Regeneration  
 
The regeneration of Edinburgh Court and South Morgan Place housing 
estate was completed in November 2017. 
  
Both estates have benefited from the delivery of sustainable building and 
associated infrastructure improvements to address poor estate design, 
improve accessibility and combat anti-social behaviour. 
  
Increased vehicle and bicycle parking provision and improved pedestrian 
routes, improved lighting, resurfacing, landscaping and wayfinding have 
enhanced accessibility and safety. 
  
New bin stores have been created to meet the requirements of the Councils 
future waste management strategy. 
  
The creation of new boundary walls, defensible space, secure shared 
amenity spaces, together with a community garden has reduced anti-social 
behaviour and engendered a new community spirit amongst residents. 
 

Edinburgh Court Regeneration 

56 
Page 818



 

 57 57 

Powering Pollination  
As part of the Edinburgh Court regeneration residents had a desire to 
brighten up the natural and built environment. 
  
The Mural is part of a wider ‘Powering Pollination’ community scheme that 
has been inspired and delivered by volunteers in Riverside and Canton, 
alongside artists from Peaceful Progress, with an aim to enhance the quality 
of the built and natural environment and improve school walking routes by 
providing colour and interest to the neighbourhood in a public space, with 
this site having the highest footfall of school bound groups in the area.   
  
The project has included community clean up events and installed 
numerous planters, trees and bushes across the area, with over 1000 
participants involved. 

Edinburgh Court Mural  

Page 819



 

 58 

Sycamore Place Courtyard Improvement 
As this courtyard was in poor condition, it was on the courtyard improvement 
scheme for this year. The courtyard surface was improved, and facilities 
improved including  rotary lines, a bin store, new shed doors and handrails. 
 
The improvements provided the residents with additional privacy and 
security.  
 

Defensible Space  

The aim of these schemes is to create defensible space to a number of 

properties that do not benefit from adequate front boundaries between the 

public and private space.  

  

One such scheme was for 22 designated elderly bungalows in Llangranog 

Road and Llangranog Place that had no defensible space to the front 

gardens.  

  

All bungalows had new railing and gates, while some were provided with new 

driveways to create off street parking. Another property was given level 

access by having the steps up to the front door removed. The scheme was 

very successful and the residents living in the bungalows now have privacy 

and security. 

Garage improvement scheme Sudcroft Street 

44 

Anderson Place residents consultation 

58 
Page 820



 

 59 

An external refurbishment scheme is also in progress at Maelfa House, 

Llanedeyrn to enhance the quality of this high-rise block and to complement 

the surrounding redevelopment.  

 

Further redevelopment of the Maelfa shopping centre and surrounding land 

in Llanedeyrn is a key regeneration priority for the Council and phase 1 of 

the redevelopment is now under construction. This includes a new shopping 

parade with 9 new retail units on the ground-floor and 38 one and two-bed 

apartments above, together with off-street parking and attractive public 

realm. It is anticipated that the new shops will open late 2018. New private 

homes have also been completed as part of the redevelopment. 

 

 

Neighbourhood Redevelopment  

Proposed refurbishment to Maelfa High Rise 

Page 821



 

 60 

Programmes of Work Spend 2018/19 

Housing 
Capital Spend 
£42,025,000

Regeneration 
and Area 

Improvement 
Strategies
£2,400,000

Garages and 
Asset 

Improvement

£500,000

External and 
Internal 

Improvements 
to Buildings 
£15,000,000

Disabled 
Adaptations 
£2,300,000

New Build 
Housing

£21,975,000

HUB’s  - St 
Mellons
£350,000

Boi lers
£500,000

High Rise 
Upgrades
£3,800,000

Roofs
£1,500,000

Whole Estate 
Regeneration

£1,500,000

Kitchens & 
Bathrooms
£1,500,000

Rewiring 
£500,000

Courtyard 
Improvements

£200,000

Defensible 
Space

£150,000

Gul lies
£150,000

Garage 
Sites

£150,000

Front Door 
Upgrade Flats

£1,700,000

Lift 
Upgrades
£600,000

Door 
Entry 

System
£500,000

BISF 

Refurbishme

nts

£1,000,000
Fencing
£500,000

Sheltered 
Accommo-

dation
Upgrades
£1,250,000

Structural 
Works

£250,000

Belmont 
Walk 
/Alice 
Street

£700,000

Anderson 
Place

£800,000

Braunton & 
Clevedon

Willowbrook
West

Windows
£1,000,000

Llanrumney
Depot

Innovative 
Housing 
Schemes

Caldicot
Road

Energy 
Efficiency
£250,000

Cardiff Living

£11,450,000

Snowden 
and 

Wilson 

Roads

Highfields

Open 
Market 

Acquisitions

Package 
Deals

Ty-To 
Maen

Page 822



 

 61 

Housing 
Capital Spend 
£42,025,000

Regeneration 
and Area 

Improvement 
Strategies
£2,400,000

Garages and 
Asset 

Improvement

£500,000

External and 
Internal 

Improvements 
to Buildings 
£15,000,000

Disabled 
Adaptations 
£2,300,000

New Build 
Housing

£21,975,000

HUB’s  - St 
Mellons
£350,000

Boi lers
£500,000

High Rise 
Upgrades
£3,800,000

Roofs
£1,500,000

Whole Estate 
Regeneration

£1,500,000

Kitchens & 
Bathrooms
£1,500,000

Rewiring 
£500,000

Courtyard 
Improvements

£200,000

Defensible 
Space

£150,000

Gul lies
£150,000

Garage 
Sites

£150,000

Front Door 
Upgrade Flats

£1,700,000

Lift 
Upgrades
£600,000

Door 
Entry 

System
£500,000

BISF 

Refurbishme

nts

£1,000,000
Fencing
£500,000

Sheltered 
Accommo-

dation
Upgrades
£1,250,000

Structural 
Works

£250,000

Belmont 
Walk 
/Alice 
Street

£700,000

Anderson 
Place

£800,000

Braunton & 
Clevedon

Willowbrook
West

Windows
£1,000,000

Llanrumney
Depot

Innovative 
Housing 
Schemes

Caldicot
Road

Energy 
Efficiency
£250,000

Cardiff Living

£11,450,000

Snowden 
and 

Wilson 

Roads

Highfields

Open 
Market 

Acquisitions

Package 
Deals

Ty-To 
Maen

Page 823



 

 62 

High Rise Upgrades: £3.8m 

Front Door to Flats: £1.7m 
Kitchens & Bathrooms: 

£1.5m 

Roofs: £1.5m 
Sheltered 

Accommodation: 
£1.25m 

Windows: 
£1m 

BISF: £1m 

Lift Upgrades: 
£1m 

Fencing: 
£0.5m 

Boilers: 
£0.5m 

Door Entry 
Systems: 

£0.5m 

Rewiring: 
£0.5m 

Structural 
Works: 
£0.25m 

Planned Maintenance Works 2018/19 

62 

Braunton Crescent construction site 

Planned Maintinence Works 2018/19 

Page 824



 

 63 

Capital work:Delivering Warmer Homes 

Broadlands House is a sheltered housing complex in St Mellons with 33 flats. 
The complex has a communal central heating system providing heating and hot 
water to all the flats. 
 

The old system was ineffective with poor circulation throughout the complex. 
The boilers became unreliable and at one point stopped working for 5 days.  
 
It was decided to upgrade the central heating system with work beginning in 
2017. The new boiler system was installed with workers being sensitive to keep 
disruption down to a minimum. The whole installation took 12 weeks to 
complete.  
 

Regarding the central heating Marilyn said, “Before it was really bad, I didn’t 
need to put the heating on at all because the pipes were always so hot, 
sometimes it reached 25c in my flat without the radiators on, in the communal 
areas it was reaching 30c. Now everything is on a thermostat and I can set the 
room to a comfortable temperature. The workers could not have been more 
helpful, they were friendly and they even moved my radiator for me, it was a bit 
of upheaval but worth it.” 
 

Marilyn said about the complex, “It’s a lovely place in a good location, there are 
bus stops around the corner and Tesco over the road, the warden Chantelle is 
great, she’s a real pocket rocket, very helpful, fair and accommodating.“ 
 

Marilyn with her pet cat Asia 

Page 825



 

 64 

New Domestic Building Maintenance Framework 

A new Domestic Building Maintenance Framework was put in place in 2017. The city has 
been divided into 3  geographical districts, with a different contractor in each district. 
Each contractor will be delivering a similar mix of work, to include responsive repairs, 
vacant repairs and minor planned works. The estimated annual value is £9.5m (£3.16m 
per Lot / District). 

Desired Outcomes: 

 Deliver a high quality service that focuses on the customer. 

 Deliver a Building Maintenance Service that works alongside the in-house workforce 
to improve and maintain flexibility of provision. 

 Deliver value for money. 

 Reduce costs for the Council and Contractors alike, through electronic ordering, 
confirmation and payment processing. 

 Improve the quality of management and performance information in relation to the 
provision of Building Maintenance Services. 

 Improve our demand management for Building Maintenance Services. 

 Take a partnership working approach to delivering and improving services. 

 Support the Council’s Open Doors Charter and Sustainable Policy. (Maximising 
access to opportunities to Small and Medium-sized Enterprises, (SME’s) and local 
supply chain.) 

 Support the Council’s Sustainable Development Agenda by maximising the tender 
opportunities to local providers and opportunities to provide training and skill 
development to the local work-force. 

 
Lot 1 - District 1 (West Cardiff)  

Contractor for this Lot is R & M Williams Limited 
 

Estimated annual spend £3,166,666 
 

Responsive Repairs - £900,000 
 

Minor Planned Works - £1,300,000 
 

Vacant Repairs - £1,166,666 

 
Lot 2 – District 2 (North Cardiff) 

Contractor for this Lot is Wates Construction 
 

Estimated annual spend £3,166,666 
 

Responsive Repairs - £900,000 
 

Minor Planned Works - £1,300,000 
 

Vacant Repairs - £1,166,666 

 
Lot 3 – District 3 (South Cardiff)  

Contractor for this Lot is LCB Construction 
Estimated annual spend £3,166,666 

 

Responsive Repairs - £900,000 
 

Minor Planned Works - £1,300,000 
 

Vacant Repairs - £1,166,666 Page 826



 

 65 

RESPONSIVE REPAIRS -This work will generally comprise of: 
 

 Work in occupied properties, communal areas, garage sites, traveller sites 
and hostels. 

 Work is generally instigated at the request of the tenant / occupier. 
 Predominantly this will be singular activity work (for example – renew 

ceiling including painting on completion) but may involve associated works 
(for example – removal or replacement of a radiator for plastering a wall). 

 This work could also comprise of annual gas service or periodic electrical 
testing on request. 

 

There are three main priorities of work: 
 Emergency: Response within 2 hours and completion within 24 hours 
 Urgent: Response and completion within 5 working days. 
 Routine: Response and completion within 25 working days. 

 
 

VOID PROPERTIES -This work will generally comprise of: 
 

 Work in un-occupied properties and occasionally garage sites, traveler 
sites and hostels. 

 Work is generally instigated at the request of the Council, (Void 
Management Unit). 

 Predominantly this will be multiple activity work. However, on occasion it 
may be singular activity work such as electrical / gas checks or changing of 
locks for example. 

 

There are five main priorities of work: 
 Urgent Quick Turnaround (Urgent QT): Completion within 2 working days.  
 Minor Works Quick Turnaround (QT Minor Works): Completion within 5 

working days. 
 Pre-works: Completion within 5 working days. 
 Minor Works Vacant: Completion within 10 working days. 
 Major Works Vacant: Completion within 20 working days. 

 
 

PLANNED WORKS - This work will generally comprise of: 
 

 Work in occupied properties, communal areas, courtyards, Traveler sites 
and Hostels. 

 Work is generally instigated at the request of council officers. 
 Predominantly this work will be programmed and scheduled and will be 

multiple activity work (for example including, but not limited to – Kitchen 
and bathroom upgrades, painting, electrical upgrades, fencing). 

 The timescales for completion will be dependent on the scale and 
complexity of the work, but will be 1 month, 2 months, 3 months, 6 months, 
9 months, 12 months or 12 months+. 

65 
Page 827



 

 66 

Equalities 

66 

In June 2017 Cardiff Council and the RNIB signed a partnership agreement 
which aims to provide a structured approach to the achievement of Visibly 
Better Standards in Cardiff’s Community Living Schemes (former Sheltered 
Schemes) and in doing so closing the gap between policy and practice to 
promote independence and safety for the tenants.  
 

Sandown Court 

All flats have had a kitchen and bathroom upgrade that achieves the RNIB 

colour contrast standards. In addition to this wide colour pad switches and 

sockets which provide colour contrast will be installed.  

 

The internal doors have a colour contrasted strip that stands out from the 

surrounding walls and lever style handles.  

 

In communal areas, accent walls have been colour contrasted to the main 

walls in the communal areas. This visibly indicates changes of direction and 

supports hallway depths, wayfinding, turns and zonal recognition by the use 

of its colour. In addition the following changes have been made:  

 RNIB Compliant signage 

 Appropriate daylight controls (vertical blinds as one example) in south 

and west facing windows as a minimum 

 Communal rooms have contrasted light and socket switches.   

 Lighting – whether sensor or switch activated will reach optimum 

lighting level immediately and have sufficient range so that tenants will 

approach a lit environment before they are within the respective 

area.  Lighting will be fully diffused and provide an even spread of light. 

Page 828



 

 67 

Central Library Hub Translations 2017 

Kitchen with colour and tonal contrast 

Officers working with the Hubs can speak a wide 
range of languages, ensuring all customers get the 
help they need. 

Language
Number of 

Translations

Arabic 3633

Czech 815

Polish 716

Somali 444

Other 413

Italian 370

Portuguese 294

Chinese Mandarin 185

Farsi 176

Spanish 168

French 148

Urdu 80

Welsh 77

Page 829



 

 68 

Customer feedback is important to us, it helps provide valuable information 
about how we are performing and what our customers, Cardiff citizens and 
communities think about our services. We use this information to improve our 
services, strengthen our relationships with other customers and make better 
use of our resources. 
 

We are pleased to report that our complaints and compliment figures are 
showing a healthy improvement. We deliver a number of different services 
and during the period from April 2016 to the end of March 2017, the Housing 
and Communities section received a total of 404 complaints, which is a 
decrease of 5% on the previous year. Housing and Communities also 
received 508 compliments in 2017 for staff and services provided. 
 

All the feedback received does make a difference, helping us improve our 
services. Any lessons that can be learned from a complaint are used to 
deliver service improvements. 

Compliments and Complaints 

A tenant wanted to thank the 
housing department for moving 
them into above disabled 
adapted address sooner than 
e pected. He advises it s 
improved his and his partners 
life massively and they cannot 
thank us enough for sorting 
this. They are very appreciative 
and they wanted their gratitude 
to be passed along.  

A customer sent a card to thank 
 inance Officer, Tracy.  he 
wrote,  thank you very much 
for your care and concern... 
your time is precious and you 
are very helpful.  

 ollowing his visit to the 
Central  ibrary Hub, the 
customer wrote  Thank 
you for the safe receipt 
of my bus pass.  our 
understanding of and 
a ention given to my 
problem was 
outstanding.   

Compliment received for Chris 
the gas engineer who a ended 
the commission test at 
property on Harlech  oad on 
 onday morning.  He was very 
patient with customer who was 
a new tenant in a bungalow 
a er living in the same house 
for the last 40 years.  He 
walked her through how the 
boiler worked, told her how it 
would function differently from 
the boiler in her old property 
and was very comfortable and 
confident which   felt put her at 
ease.   m very grateful for all 
the help he provided. 

 A customer 
complimented C   on 
the  e cellent service  
the team always 
provides.  he added that 
the C   Operatives who 
recently carried out work 
at her home were very 

68 

 A customer complimented 
C   on the  e cellent 
service  the team always 
provides.  he added that 
the C   Operatives who 
recently carried out work 
at her home were very 
polite and efficient. 

Page 830



 

 69 

 
Housing & Communities continue to adopt a positive, constructive approach to 
complaints.  Each case is investigated thoroughly to establish exactly what has gone 
wrong; the primary aim being to resolve the matter for the individual and improve 
future service delivery. 
 

Categories of Complaints for Housing & Communities 
 
 

Making a difference: Scheme Manager Leigh at Sandown Court 

46%

13%

21%

8%

12%
Poor quality of service

Complaint about staff

Delay in providing service

Dissatisfaction with policy

Other

Page 831



 

 70 

One of the Council’s main success stories with regards to complaints is the 
repeated annual decrease in complaints received by the Responsive Repairs 
Unit. It is of great importance that the Council attempts to get repairs ‘right 
first time’ and the service has conducted regular reviews on the number and 
type of complaints received. The improvements implemented speak for 
themselves as the service has received a consecutive decrease in the 
number of complaints for four years in a row. 

 
A common theme amongst complaints received has been about delays to 
the work taking place. The Responsive Repair Unit are now able to keep our 
customers informed about potential delays as customers will now receive a 
text message notifying them of their appointment and a reminder text 24 
hours before the appointment and a further reminder when the operative is 
on his way.  All Responsive Repairs Unit operatives have also been issued 
with smart phones to enable mobile working and scheduling.  This change 
has allowed the Responsive Repairs Unit to start offering morning or 
afternoon appointments to customers, or a slot to avoid the school run.   
 

 

Learning from complaints – Responsive Repairs Unit 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

RRU Complaints 

Page 832



 

 71 

  

The Wates Team and partners from Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust 
(GGAT) were delighted to welcome pupils from Oakfield and Meadowlane 
Primary Schools for an archaeology workshop. Following a safety talk from the 
team they showed pupils through how they work to uncover and preserve 
archaeological finds. The children were given the opportunity to handle and 
clean example finds and learn about the history and original purpose of each 
object.  
 
Pupils from these two schools also took part in our hoarding design competition, 
creating character-driven posters inspired by Roald Dahl’s stories. The winning 
entries are now on display and the  site name is derived from one of Dahl’s books. 
Winners were announced and awarded with prizes at a school assembly.  
 

Roald Dahl competition winners with their entries: 

71 

Community Benefits 

Page 833



 

 72 

Resource Planning 
Financial Resources 
Now that Cardiff has met the Welsh Housing Quality Standard it is important to ensure the 
standard is maintained and investment is planned accordingly. The level of actual 
investment required will vary year on year and consequently detailed programmes of work 
require adjustment on a yearly basis. A detailed draft programme of works for the next five 
financial years is included on the Five Year Capital and Revenue Budgets pages. 
  
The Business Plan includes a provision for kitchens and bathrooms that are deemed as 
acceptable fails, e.g. tenant refusal. These will be improved as properties become vacant 
or tenants change their minds. Despite publishing articles in the local press there has 
been limited take up in respect of acceptable fails. 
  
A 30-year financial Business Plan model has been produced for the Housing Revenue 
Account. Most of the day-to-day income and expenditure estimates within the Business 
Plan model are based on historic trends and/or reflect current HRA budgets.  
 
Estimated data has been incorporated from 2018/19 onwards with the key assumptions 
as set out in the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan parameters and as advised by 
the Welsh Government.   
 
Therefore, for 2018/19, the model assumes that rent increases will be 4.5% per annum 
plus the maximum £2 per week.  For the financial years 2019/20 through to 2021/22, the 
model assumes rent increases of 3% per annum and 2.5% for future years.  With respect 
to service charges, these are increased for future years in line with inflation for full cost 
recovery.  Voids and bad debts are currently 1.46% and 1.06% respectively.  These have 
been increased to 2.96% and 3.00% by year 7 of the plan, and are fixed at this level over 
the remainder 30 year period.  Consumer and retail prices indexes are estimated to be 
within a range of 2% and 2.9% throughout the model.        
 

The Council’s stock condition database provides details of the improvements carried out 
to each individual property, block of flats or maisonette within the Council. This will provide 
more accurate forecasts and will allow for the programmed works to be planned and 
costed accordingly. The Council will seek to achieve value for money in all respects by the 
most efficient, effective and economic use of resources. 
 

People 
  
The Council recognises that its employees are the single most important part of its 
capability to successfully deliver its aims and aspirations, and to deliver the best services 
possible for the citizens and communities of Cardiff. The Personal Performance and 
Development Reviews (PPDR) are a crucial aspect in developing, maintaining and 
motivating the workforce. As such the Directorate is committed to ensuring that, where 
possible, all employees receive a PPDR and know exactly how they are doing in their jobs 
and how their role relates to the overall objectives and vision of the Council. 

Page 834



 

 73 

Capital Resources 
  
The capital resources assumed for future years and the planned expenditure using those 
resources are identified in this section. The Business Plan assumes that the Council 
continues to receive the Major Repairs Allowance (MRA) Grant from the Welsh 
Government at existing levels of £9.5m per year for the term of the Plan. Any reductions 
to this will have an impact on affordability and the level of borrowing required if the 
improvements made in achieving WHQS are to be maintained. No provision for Council 
house sales has been included in the financial plan post 2019/20. A prudent provision of 
£500k pa has been made for land receipts within the financial model from 2020/21 
onwards. 

Component Lifespan 

 

£0

£1,000,000

£2,000,000

£3,000,000

£4,000,000

£5,000,000

£6,000,000

£7,000,000

£8,000,000

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

2
0

2
2

2
0

2
3

2
0

2
4

2
0

2
5

2
0

2
6

2
0

2
7

2
0

2
8

2
0

2
9

2
0

3
0

2
0

3
1

2
0

3
2

2
0

3
3

2
0

3
4

2
0

3
5

2
0

3
6

2
0

3
7

2
0

3
8

2
0

3
9

2
0

4
0

2
0

4
1

2
0

4
2

2
0

4
3

2
0

4
4

2
0

4
5

C
o

st

30 Year Programme Smoothed

Sum of Boiler Replacements

Sum of Bathroom Cost

Sum of Kitchen Cost

Sum of Smoke Detectors Cost

Sum of Door Entry Cost

Sum of Painting Cost

Sum of Roofing Cost

Sum of Window Cost

Sum of SBD Doors Cost

Values

Property Element

Sum of SBD Doors Cost Sum of Window Cost Sum of Roofing Cost Sum of Painting Cost Sum of Door Entry Cost Sum of Smoke Detectors Cost Sum of Kitchen Cost Sum of Bathroom Cost Sum of Boiler Replacements

30 Year Plan 
 
The 30 year plan incorporates life cycles of property elements and budgetary 
commitments. Due to the high amount of work completed on properties in the run up 
becoming WHQS compliant a large number of elements become due for renewal in a 
short space of time. To ease budget constraints and improve efficiency of renewal the 30 
year plan goes through a smoothing process.  

Typical 

Components
Roof

Wiring 

systems
Bathroom Windows Boiler Doors

Door 

entry 

systems

Kitchen
Smoke 

alarms
Painting

Average Lifespan 

(Years)
40 30 25 25 20 20 15 15 10 8

Average cost of 

replacement
£7,000 £1,300 £1,000 £2,500 £3,000 £1,500 £5,000 £1,500 £250 £400

Page 835



 

 74 

Sensitivity Analysis 
  

The projections within the financial model are extremely sensitive to changes in forecast 
expenditure levels, capital financing assumptions, and the projected income levels and 
inflation rate changes. The table below shows the impact of changes to cost/income 
assumptions. 

Sustainability 
  

The Council works in partnership with suppliers and contractors to acquire the best 
quality materials for the best value. We ensure that environmental criteria are used in 
the award of contracts, when assessing value we consider the whole life cycle of a 
material, including installation, maintenance and final disposal. The Council will source 
green energy wherever possible and consider suppliers environmental credentials. This 
means that the cheapest product does not necessarily deliver the best value.  

Sensitivity Analysis of the Business Plan 2018-19 

  

Operating Account / HRA 

Balance 

Change to 30 

yr model 

compared to 

base model 
Year 10 Year 30 

£m £m £m 

Base Model 25.217  67.967  -  

Additional 1% revenue repairs 

expenditure from year 5 
20.104   (75.000) (142.967) 

Additional 1% management expenditure 

from year 5 
 21.363 (59.080)  (127.047)  

Additional 1% void rent loss and 

additional 1% bad debts from year 5 
13.370  (3.860) (71.827)  

CPI 1% from year 5 7.139   (354.370) (422.337)  

Reduction in new build programme 40.846 87.721 19.754 

HRA Limit of Indebtedness 
  

The Housing Revenue Account Capital Finance Requirement, (£273.9m at 31 March 
2017) remains within the Councils borrowing cap, (£316.5m set by Welsh Government) 
over the period of the business plan and is compliant with the minimum annual interest 
payments. 

Page 836



 

 75 

The items above are in accordance with relevant legislation and other guidance 
including the Welsh Office Circular 33/95. 

Analysis of Items Included in the HRA 

55 

Willowbrook proposed  Cardiff Living properties 
75 

Page 837



 

 76 

Braunton Crescent construction site 

76 Page 838



 

 77 

Borrowing
£21.4m

Major Repairs 
Allowance - Welsh 

Government
£9.5m

Direct Revenue 
Financing

£5m

Other
£5.2m

 

How do we fund our Capital improvements programme 2018/19? 

77 

£8m 

£4.5m 

£20m 

Cyngor Caerdydd 
Cardiff Council 

Page 839



 

 78 

Capital and Revenue Budgets 
Capital Spend  

Scheme Title 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget 

PUBLIC SECTOR HOUSING -  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

Regeneration and Area Improvement Strategies  2,400 2,000 2,000 2,000 900 

External and Internal Improvements to Buildings      

  Central Heating Boilers 500 500 500 500 1,150 

  Roofs 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 

  Rewiring & Emergency Lighting 500 500 500 500 500 

  Fencing & Defensible Space 500 500 500 500 500 

  Door Entry Systems 500 500 500 200 200 

  Front Door Upgrades to Flats 1,700  0 0 0 0 

  Lift Upgrades & Renewals 1,000  0 0 500  0 

  Windows & Door Upgrades 1,000 1,000 1,500 1,500 1,500 

  Highrise Upgrades - (inc. fire safety works) 3,800 750 300 0 0 

  Kitchens & Bathrooms  1,500 1,500 2,500 2,500 2,750 

  B.I.S.F. Refurbishments 1,000 0  0 0 0 

  C.C.T.V. 0  0 250 0   

  Structured Works Underpinning 250 100 100 0  0  

  Sheltered Accommodation Improvement Strategy 1,250 750 500 250 0  

HUBs 350 0 0 0 0 

New Build 21,975 17,622 26,250 30,280 23,500 

Disabled Facility Works 2,300 2,300 2,300 2,300 2,300 

Total Programme 42,025 29,522 39,200 42,530 34,800 

      

Funded       

Prudential Borrowing - New Build (20,490) (16,322) (25,250) (24,980) (21,500) 

Additional Borrowing 707 5,682 3,182 3,932 4,882 

Major Repairs Allowance (9,532) (9,532) (9,532) (9,532) (9,532) 

Direct Revenue Financing (4,650) (3,650) (2,700) (2,750) (2,750) 

Direct Revenue Financing - (HRAS Reform) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) (3,400) 

Earmarked Revenue Reserves (725) 0 0 0 0 

Known External Grants (450)  0  0  0  0 

S106 and other Conts (1,485) (1,300) (1,000) (5,300) (2,000) 

Capital Receipts - Right To Buy (2,000) (1,000) 0 0 0 

Capital Receipts - Other Land 0 0 (500) (500) (500) 

Total Funding (42,025) (29,522) (39,200) (42,530) (34,800) 

Subject to inflation and timing of spend  

Page 840



 

 79 

Revenue Spend  

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Budget Budget Budget Budget 

  £,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

Employees 15,502 15,967 16,446 16,939 

Premises - Council House Repairs 17,600 18,227 18,864 19,557 

Premises - Other Repairs and Maintenance 1,064 1,096 1,129 1,163 

Premises - Other Premises Costs 2,643 2,722 2,804 2,888 

Transport  148 152 157 162 

Supplies & Services 3,193 3,289 3,388 3,490 

Support Services 6,461 6,675 6,891 7,105 

Interest on Borrowing & other Capital 
Charges 

23,534 25,977 26,390 27,266 

Funding for Capital Schemes 8,050 7,050 6,100 6,150 

Contribution to Reserves 0 0 1,400 1,900 

          

Gross Expenditure 78,195 81,155 83,569 86,620 

          

Rents 
         

(75,768) 
         

(78,707) 
         

(81,101) 
         

(84,135) 

Interest 
                 

(41) 
                 

(41) 
                 

(41) 
                 

(41) 

Other Income 
           

(2,386) 
           

(2,407) 
           

(2,427) 
           

(2,444) 

          

Total Income (78,195)        (81,155)        (83,569)        (86,620) 

          

Revenue (Surplus)/Deficit 0 0 0 0 

     

Balance Brought Forward        (8,874)         (8,874)        (8,874)         (8,874) 

          

Revenue (Surplus)/Deficit       (8,874)        (8,874)        (8,874)         (8,874) 

Page 841



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 6

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

TARGETED REGENERATION INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

HOUSING & COMMUNITIES (COUNCILLOR LYNDA THORNE)

AGENDA ITEM: 11  

 
REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR PEOPLE & COMMUNITIES

Reason for this Report

1. To outline opportunities under the Welsh Government’s new Targeted 
Regeneration Investment Programme and seek approval for priority 
themes and projects. 

Background

2. The Welsh Government has announced a new funding programme to 
support economic regeneration projects. Guidance on the new Targeted 
Regeneration Investment Programme (TRIP) was issued in October, 
2017.  TRIP is the successor programme to the Vibrant & Viable Places 
(VVP) programme, under which grant funding was secured for 
improvements to Clare Rd/ Penarth Rd District Centre, Grangetown Hub, 
and the St Mellons Hub extension.

3. The overarching aim of TRIP is to support projects which promote 
economic regeneration, with activities focussed on individuals and areas 
most in need. Local authorities are invited to submit capital investment 
proposals aimed at widening prosperity and improving community well-
being.

4. The aim is to support ‘regionally significant’ investment in defined 
‘Regeneration Areas’, where a programme of projects will tackle the 
complex range of challenges facing the area and reverse this decline.

5. The programme begins in April, 2018 initially for a 3-year period, 
although the guidance also encourages authorities to identify projects 
which could feature in a rolling programme for future years.

6. The all-Wales budget for the 3-year period 2018/19 – 2020/21 is £100 
million, with a notional allocation to the South-East Wales region of £44 
million. The maximum intervention rate is 70%, and all projects must 

Page 843

Eitem Agenda 11



Page 2 of 6

have a minimum contribution of 30% from non-Welsh Government 
sources.

7. A break-down of the £44 million regional allocation on a ‘per capita’ basis 
would equate to some £10 million for Cardiff. While this provides an 
indication of the level of resources available, actual funding awards are 
based on the merits of individual project applications from across the 
region.  

8. Based on preliminary work, funding of £1.3 million over the 3 year period 
is included in the Council’s capital programme. Match-funding 
requirements will be further reviewed as projects are worked up, and 
other sources of funding identified.

Regional Framework

9. A requirement of the new programme, as set out by the Welsh 
Government, is that it is aligned regionally. This includes the 
development of an overall regional regeneration strategy and 
establishing a means for regional endorsement of project proposals.  All 
project proposals put forward for consideration under the programme will 
need to demonstrate how they align with regional priorities. A regional 
regeneration plan is currently being drafted based on contributions from 
the ten local authorities of the Cardiff Capital Region. This will be a high-
level framework document, identifying key regeneration themes and 
priority areas for TRIP funding. 

10. Only projects which link to the regional plan and have been endorsed by 
the region may be submitted for Welsh Government assessment. There 
is however no current mechanism in place for regional approval of 
projects, therefore there will need to be further work undertaken to 
develop appropriate governance. It should be noted that the Cardiff 
Capital Region Joint Committee does not currently have the authority to 
approve or endorse projects regionally. 

11. Any governance established to provide formal regional approval for TRIP 
funded projects would require the prior approval of all ten participating 
local authorities. 

Target Regeneration Area

12. The majority of the city’s most deprived wards are located in the 
‘Southern Arc’ of the city, which if it were considered a single local 
authority would be far and away the poorest area of Wales. Employment 
rates and earnings in the area lag behind the city-region average by 
some distance, whilst unemployment and inactivity are significantly 
greater than the Cardiff Capital Region figure. 

Page 844



Page 3 of 6

13. For the purposes of TRIP, the ‘Southern Arc,’ stretching from Trowbridge 
in the east to Ely in the west, is proposed as Cardiff’s Regeneration Area.  
This target area has been proposed for inclusion the draft regional plan. 
Regeneration investment in these communities has potential to deliver 
significant economic outcomes which will help address inequalities, 
enhance community well-being, and promote inclusive growth. The aim 
would be to develop a comprehensive phased programme of schemes 
within this ‘Southern Arc’.

Project Themes 

Business Corridors

14. The Southern Arc contains a number of District and Local Centres which, 
together with adjoining residential/mixed use areas, are in need of 
investment if their economic role is to be sustained and further 
developed.  Two specific ‘Business Corridors/Areas’ have been identified 
which are significant locations of economic activity and employment, as 
well as regionally important access routes into the city centre.

15. The South Riverside Business Area, which focusses on Tudor Street, 
Wellington Street and Cowbridge Road East, and interconnecting areas, 
is proposed as the initial focus for targeted investment under TRIP. As 
well as serving a wide catchment area in the west of the city, it functions 
as a key gateway into the city centre and  includes communities which 
are amongst the most deprived in Wales.

16.  A package of regeneration measures will be brought forward under 
TRIP, linking in to the regional theme of urban centre regeneration. 
These could include :

 commercial property enhancement scheme to uplift  retail 
frontages and facilitate business development;

 gateway improvements leading to key city centre destinations 
including the Central Square redevelopment; 

 improvements to the commercial environment, including public 
realm and community safety improvements;

 bringing vacant and under-used floor-space into beneficial use 
including  opportunities for low-cost, flexible business start-up 
units;

 active travel measures to link with major new infrastructure 
proposals including measures (walking, cycling and public 
transport) which encourage access to, and through the corridor;

 identification of new residential/mixed use and wider investment  
opportunities.

17. To factor in effective partner engagement and community consultation, 
and to have fully worked up and deliverable project proposals, it is 
anticipated that Year 1 (2018/19)  will be devoted to planning and bid 
preparation, with project implementation starting in Year 2 (2019/20).

Page 845



Page 4 of 6

18. A further inner city economic corridor, the Adamsdown/Roath Business 
Area– which could include City Road, Clifton Street and surrounding 
areas – has been identified as a potential future target area. It is 
proposed that a feasibility assessment for this target area is undertaken 
in 2019/20,with the aim of commencing project delivery in 2020/21. 
Investment themes could include:

 improvements to the eastern gateway to the city centre.
 active travel measures to link with major new infrastructure 

proposals and promote safe cycling and walking routes to, and 
within the Corridor;

 improvements to commercial frontages and the public realm, 
building on previous District Centre investments;

 measures to bring longer-term vacant properties into beneficial 
use and opportunities for business start-up accommodation;

 enhancements to the setting of Cardiff Royal Infirmary, which is 
being converted into a locality health and well-being centre. 

19. Further phases tackling the key regeneration issues in other areas of the 
Southern Arc will be programmed for subsequent years and will be based 
upon the good practice developed in these two initial phases.

Community & Well-Being Hubs

20. Community Hubs serve as a focus for economic and social well-being for 
individuals and areas in need. Working closely with partner 
organisations, the Council has delivered a highly successful Community 
Hubs programme, bringing together community services in a sustainable 
and customer-focussed way and investing in better quality facilities. A 
network of 11 Community Hubs has now been established, 8 of which 
are located in the Southern Arc. ‘Into work’, training, advice and 
employability services are a key element of the Hubs core service offer.

21. Opportunities have been identified for further embedding Hub services, 
based on the experience of developing and operating Hubs to date and 
responding to the particular needs of individual communities. These 
include investment in reshaping existing Hubs as well as integrating Hub 
services in other community buildings, with a particular focus on 
employability services and economic outcomes for young people.

22. Proposals for new health and well-being hubs in Llanedeyrn, Ely and at 
the Cardiff Royal Infirmary are the subject of partnership working with 
Cardiff & Vale University Health Board. In view of the multi-agency, multi-
service nature of well-being hubs, support from a number of funding 
streams, such as TRIP, is likely to be required.

23. Equality Impact Assessments will be undertaken for specific regeneration 
proposals put forward under the programme.

Page 846



Page 5 of 6

24. The proposed investments in Business Corridors and Hubs outlined 
above formed the basis of a preliminary submission for the regional plan, 
and this is attached at Appendix 1. 

Local Member Consultation 

25. Local Members, as key community stakeholders, will be fully consulted 
on any projects taking place in their Wards.   

Reason for Recommendations

26. To ensure that priority themes and projects in Cardiff are included in the 
Capital Region regeneration plan, which will form the framework for 
Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme bids to the Welsh 
Government.

Financial Implications

27. The report proposes priority themes and areas as the basis for making 
capital grant funding bids. Welsh Government Guidance for the bid 
process sets out the key outputs and assessment criteria against which 
bids will be assessed on a regional basis. The terms and conditions of 
grant require that match funding must come from non Welsh Government 
sources. This would need to come from any approved Council funding or 
other public and privates sources with achievability considered before 
commitments are entered into. The Council’s capital programme for 
2018/19 to 2022/23 includes £1.3 million as Council match funding to 
support towards eligible grant expenditure as well as funding towards 
development of further hubs projects as outlined in the report.

28. Any funding bids should be considered at an early stage with financial 
services and clearly set out the project brief and estimates of cost, 
including consideration of any ongoing revenue implications of delivering 
the schemes and managing the grant process as well as in relation to 
operating and maintaining any improvements made from any successful 
grant bid.

Legal Implications 

29. No direct legal implications arise from this Report. The Council should, 
however, be aware that it will have to abide by the conditions attached to 
any grants that are awarded

HR Implications

30. There are no Human Resources implications to this report.

Page 847



Page 6 of 6

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Note the funding opportunity presented by the Welsh Government’s 
Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme and associated match-
funding requirements;

2. Agree the priority themes and projects for the Targeted Regeneration 
Investment Programme set out in the report;

3. Delegate authority to the Corporate Director, People and Communities, 
Director of Economic Development, and Director of Planning, Transport 
and Environment, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Housing & 
Communities, Cabinet Member for Investment and Development and 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and  Transport, to finalise details 
of the Council’s contribution to the Regional Regeneration Plan and 
prepare funding bids for consideration under the Targeted Regeneration 
Investment Programme.

SARAH McGILL
Corporate Director for People and Communities.
9 March 2018

The following appendix is attached:

Appendix 1: Draft Submission for Regional Plan.

The following background paper have been taken into account

Targeted Regeneration Investment: Guidance for Local Authorities & Delivery 
Partners - Welsh Government: October, 2017. 

Page 848



Page 1 of 3

Appendix 1 

Draft Submission for Regional Regeneration  Plan

CARDIFF TARGETED REGENERATION INVESTMENT PROGRAMME

Introduction

1. A simple overview of city performance suggests that Cardiff is performing well economically. 
However, significant and entrenched inequalities exist in Cardiff. Over 60,000 people in 
Cardiff live in the 10% most deprived communities in Wales. Almost a third of Cardiff 
households are living in poverty with a high percentage of children living in workless and low 
income households.

2. The majority of the city’s most deprived wards are located in the ‘Southern Arc’ of the city, 
which if it were considered a single local authority would be far and away the poorest area 
of Wales. Employment rates and earnings in the area lag the city-region average by some 
distance, whilst unemployment and inactivity are significantly greater than the Cardiff 
Capital Region figure. Targeted regeneration investment in these communities can therefore 
deliver significant results in addressing poverty, given the large numbers, high population 
density and the proximity to regionally-significant economic development projects. Cardiff’s 
Regeneration Area is, therefore, defined as the ‘Southern Arc’ stretching from Trowbridge in 
the east to Ely in the west.

3. The Council and it’s partners are committed to a range of interventions and investments to 
improve the quality of life and expand opportunities in the Southern Arc communities. 
Major investment is taking place in 21st-century schools, including the new Eastern High in 
Trowbridge and Cardiff West High in Caerau, which will be centres of learning excellence. 
New affordable housing is being brought forward through the Cardiff Living partnership 
programme, including sites in St Mellons and Llanrumney. A network of 8 Community Hubs 
have been delivered, providing a range of advice, support and training from customer-
focussed facilities and tailored to the needs of individual communities.

4. The Council is also taking forward major regeneration activity around Central Station. This 
development has the potential for creating over 30,000 jobs for the entire city-region, and 
leveraging £2bn of private sector investment. It will also provide business opportunities for 
the areas to the immediate West, East and South of the station, primarily areas of high 
deprivation. It is important that local regeneration activities can maximise the potential of 
this opportunity. 

5. The Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme (TRIP) offers the opportunity to 
complement, and build on other interventions, with a specific focus on economic 
regeneration projects which support job creation, enhance employability and create the 
right environment for businesses to prosper.

Project Proposal – Business Corridors

6.  The Southern Arc contains a number of District Centres and Local Centres which are in need 
of investment if their economic role is to be sustained and further developed.  These 
Business Corridors/ Areas are important urban centres of economic activity and employment 
and form key entrance routes in to the city centre.

Page 849



Page 2 of 3

7. The South Riverside Business Corridor, which focusses on Tudor Street, Lower Cathedral 
Road and Cowbridge Road East, and interconnecting areas, is proposed as the  initial target 
area  for investment under the TRIP programme. It includes a major district centre serving a 
wide catchment area from Ely to Riverside; it represents a regionally significant gateway to 
the city centre; and includes communities which are amongst the most deprived in Wales.

8. A package of regeneration measures will be brought forward under the TRIP programme, 
linking in to the regional theme of urban centre regeneration. These will include :

o building enhancement scheme to uplift  commercial frontages and facilitate business 
development;

o improvements to the commercial environment, including public realm and 
community safety improvements;

o bringing vacant and under-used floor-space into beneficial use;
o active travel measures ( walking, cycling and public transport) which encourage 

access to, and through the corridor;
o gateway improvements  leading to Central Square redevelopment and other key city 

centre destinations.

9. To factor in effective partner engagement and community engagement and to have fully 
worked up and deliverable project proposals, it is anticipated that Year 1 ( 18/19)  will be 
devoted to development activity, with project implementation starting in Year 2 ( 19/20).

10.A further inner city economic corridor, the Adamsdown/Roath Business Area – which could 
include City Road, Clifton Street and surrounding areas – has been identified as a potential 
future target area. It is proposed that a feasibility assessment for this target area is 
undertaken in  19/20,with the aim of commencing project delivery in 20/21. 

11. Cardiff is lacking centrally located, cost competitive business starter units offering a mix of 
uses and providing flexible easy-in easy-out lease terms. A lack of affordable local units in 
areas of deprivation close to the city centre therefore inhibits the ability to provide a range 
and choice of employment opportunities in the places where they are most needed. 
Opportunities to address this need will be investigated as part of the business corridor 
plans. 

12.  Further phases tackling the key regeneration issues in other areas of the Southern Arc will 
be programmed for subsequent years and will be based upon the good practice developed 
in the two initial phases.

Project Proposal – Community & Well-Being Hubs

13. Working closely with partner organisations, the Council has delivered a highly successful 
Community Hubs programme, bringing together community services in a sustainable and 
customer-focussed way and investing in better quality facilities. 11 Community Hubs have 
now been completed, 8 of which are located in the Southern Arc.  ‘Into work’, training, 
advice and employability services are a key element of the Hubs core service offer.

14. Further opportunities have been identified for expanding Hub service delivery, which will 
contribute to economic regeneration objectives and link to one of the key regional themes. 
These include :

Page 850



Page 3 of 3

o Cardiff Royal Infirmary Chapel – The converted CRI chapel will provide a range of 
information, advice and community services as part of a regeneration master-plan 
for the site.

o City Centre Youth Hub – Investment in the Grassroots Centre will provide a one-stop 
shop advice centre for young people, with partners delivering housing, health,  
employment, training and lifestyle  advice for vulnerable young people.

o Butetown Pavilion – Remodelling part of the Pavilion to incorporate a wider range of 
employability and community services.

o Llanrumney Hub – Remodelling one of the early pilot hubs, to improve and extend 
the customer offer.

15. Partnership working is also taking place with the Health Board to bring forward proposals for 
new health and well-being centres in Ely and Llanedeyrn which are physically joined and 
integrated with Community Hubs. Timescales are, at this stage, still to be determined, but 
draw-down of finances from a number of funding streams including TRIP may be required in 
view of the multi-agency, multi-service nature of the projects.

  Conclusion  

16. As capital city and the largest urban area in Wales, Cardiff has a broad range of regeneration 
challenges. Targeted investment in the Southern Arc will support the efforts and 
commitments of the Council and its partners to address long-standing and deep-seated 
inequalities within the city, and improve the life chances of those in greatest need.

17. Capital investment in these project proposals will help deliver positive, regionally-significant 
economic regeneration outcomes in an area of recognised need.  

18. The project proposals outlined are subject to agreement and approval by the Council’s 
Cabinet.

Page 851



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING:  15 MARCH 2018

CARDIFF INTERNATIONAL SPORTS VILLAGE LAND 
ACQUISITION

INVESTMENT & DEVELOPMENT (COUNCILLOR RUSSELL 
GOODWAY)

AGENDA ITEM:     
 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Appendix 3 is not for publication as it contains exempt information of the 
description contained in paragraphs 14 of part 4 and paragraph 21 of part 5 of 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Reason for this Report 

1. To seek authority for the Council to acquire the leasehold interests in the 
property at Cardiff International Sports Village currently occupied by Toys 
‘R’ Us. 

Background

2. Capital Ambition, the Administration’s overarching policy document, 
contains a commitment to :

“Set a refreshed vision for Cardiff Bay as a leisure destination, by securing 
a new visitor attraction, with the possible creation of a permanent “beach 
style” facility and revitalising the strategy for the International Sports 
Village”

3. The Council’s involvement in the regeneration of the peninsula at the 
International Sports Village commenced in 1999.  It has proved to be a 
complex long-term project involving significant land reclamation works and 
remediation works and significant investment in infrastructure. During that 
period the Council has secured the delivery of the Cardiff International 
Pool, the Cardiff International White Water Rafting Centre and Ice Arena 
Wales. Prior to the 2012 County Council elections, the Council entered 
into a development agreement with Greenbank Partnership who are also 
the developers of the adjacent Cardiff Pointe Housing Scheme. 

4. The Council retains a significant land holding on the peninsula as 
illustrated by the plan attached at Appendix 1.  The Toys ’R’ Us property 
(shaded blue on the plan) currently divides the two principal Council 

Page 853

Eitem Agenda 12



Page 2 of 4

owned development land holdings parcels, namely the Waterfront site and 
the Retail 3 site.

Issues

5. On 28 February 2018, Toys ‘R’ Us announced that their UK operations 
had been placed in administration which has given rise to an opportunity 
for the Council to acquire the leasehold interest in the site (the Council 
already owns the freehold interest) and thereby consolidate its land 
ownership. The leasehold interest comprises two parts: an interim lease 
owned by a private investor; and a sub-lease owned by Toys ’R’ Us both 
of which were signed in 2006 and expire in 2256. The property occupies 
4.32 acres and consists of a modern retail/warehouse building totalling 
37,130 sq ft, a large service yard and circa 300 car parking spaces. 
Further details are provided in the property particulars attached at 
Appendix 2. 

6. The interim lease contains a number of covenants that affect the 
development potential of the Council’s adjoining Retail 3 site. In particular, 
the covenants constrain land use and limit access arrangements. This in 
turn constrains the potential value the Council can realise through the 
development or disposal of its Retail 3 site. The interim lease also has a 
ground rent obligation details of which are set out in the confidential paper 
attached at Appendix 3.  The location of the property directly in between 
the Waterfront site and the Retail 3 site further constrains the broader 
development potential of the International Sports Village. This has resulted 
in the Council having to develop plans for the delivery of its Sports Village 
leisure destination on the Waterfront site rather than the Retail 3 site, 
when the Waterfront site, given its location, can potentially generate higher 
value uses and therefore enhanced capital receipts to support completion 
of a consolidated leisure destination. 

Disposal Process 

7. Toys ’R’ Us appointed property agents Morgan Williams to dispose of their 
leasehold interest prior to going into administration. Interested parties 
were invited to submit bids by 23 February 2018. The Council submitted a 
conditional bid, subject to Cabinet approval. The Council has been 
informed that despite being the third highest bidder the Administrator has 
decided to take forward the bid from the Council.

Terms

8. The proposed terms for the acquisition of the property are set out in 
Confidential Appendix 3. In order to secure the full freehold reversion the 
Council has also agreed terms to acquire the interim lease from the private 
investor. Details of this proposed transaction is also set out in Confidential 
Appendix 3.  Both transactions will need to be supported by independent 
valuations to demonstrate value for money. 

Page 854



Page 3 of 4

Holding Costs

9. Until the Council has agreed how the property will fit in to its wider plans 
for delivery of a leisure destination, it is intended to cover any holding 
costs such as rates payable and through short term lettings and potential 
car parking income from the 300 spaces available on the site.

Scrutiny

10. The Economy & Culture and Environmental Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 8 March 2018 considered this report and were supportive of 
the recommendation to Cabinet.  A copy of the committee’s letter is 
attached at Appendix 4.

Reason for Recommendation

11. To support delivery of one of Cardiff’s key regeneration projects.

Financial Implications

12. The issues section of this report states that the acquisition of the 
Toys’R’Us site will provide the Council with an opportunity to consolidate 
its land ownership and potentially generate higher value uses and 
enhanced capital receipts. The cost of acquisition therefore will be funded 
initially from forthcoming capital receipts and fully recovered at a later date. 

13. The report sets out that the transactions will be supported by independent 
valuations, which demonstrate value for money. The independent 
valuations will need to be received and considered value for money before 
the purchase can be completed. The costs of acquisition do not include 
additional costs for stamp duty, VAT and associated costs of securing the 
site until a future use is determined and will need to be fully understood 
before committing to the purchase.

14. The Council will need to consider the proposed short-term uses of the site 
in order to ensure the costs of holding the site (security, management and 
maintenance) are minimised or covered by income until any longer terms 
plans are realised.

Legal Implications

15. The Council has power to acquire land for the benefit, improvement or 
development of its area pursuant to section 120 of the Local Government 
Act 1972. The Council’s Procedure Rules for the Acquisition of Land 
require the advice of a professional valuer to be taken.  The Council also 
has economic, social and environmental well-being powers in relation to 
matters contained within its community plan, subject to value for money 
being achieved.

Page 855



Page 4 of 4

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is recommended to delegate authority to the Director of Economic 
Development in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Investment and 
Development and statutory officers to acquire the leasehold interests in the 
Toys ’R’ Us site shaded blue on the plan attached at Appendix 1, on the terms 
set out in Confidential Appendix 3 and subject to a full independent valuations.  

NEIL HANRATTY
Director of Economic Development
9 March 2018

The following appendices are attached:

Appendix 1 – Plan
Appendix 2 – Property Sales Details
Confidential Appendix 3 – Terms and Funding
Appendix 4 – Economy & Culture and Environmental Scrutiny Committee Letter

Page 856



Appendix 1

P
age 857



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



lot 11

www.acuitus.co.uk

Rent
£65,076
p.a.x. rising
to a minimum
of £70,405
p.a.x. in 2016

Toys ‘R’ Us, International Sports Village, Olympian Drive
Cardiff CF11 0SP

Retail Ground Rent Investment • Entirely let to Toys ‘R’ Us Properties (UK) Limited 
until 2256 (no break)

• Located within Cardiff International Sports Village, one
of the largest regeneration projects currently in the UK

• Five yearly fixed rental increases to higher of 2.5%
compounded annually or RPI

• Nearby occupiers include Morrisons, Cardiff Ice Arena
and Cardiff International Pool

• Substantial on-site car parking

• Eight Week Completion Period Available

page 26

Appendix 2

Page 859



lot 11

www.acuitus.co.uk

Rent
£65,076
p.a.x.
rising to a
minimum
of £70,405
p.a.x. in
2016

Location
Miles: 1.5 miles south west of Cardiff Bay

3 miles south of Cardiff City Centre
Roads: A48, A4232, M4 (Junctions 32/33)
Rail: Cogan Rail, Cardiff Bay Rail
Air: Cardiff International Airport

Situation
The property is situated in a prominent location on the western side of
Olympian Drive within Cardiff International Sports Village, one of the largest
regeneration projects currently in the UK located approximately 3 miles south
of Cardiff city centre. Nearby occupiers include Morrisons, Cardiff Ice Arena and
Cardiff International Swimming Pool, and Cardiff Whitewater Canoeing and
Kayaking Centre. 
Upon completion, the Sports Village will also have an indoor snow centre and a
hotel. See www.internationalsportsvillage.com for more details.

Description
The property comprises a site of approximately 1.75 hectares (4.32 acres), upon
which has been erected a single storey retail warehouse unit of approximately
3,446.95 sq m (37,103 sq ft) and substantial on-site car parking.

Tenure
Long Leasehold. Held from The County Council of the City and County of
Cardiff for a term of 250 years from and including 19 April 2006 until 2256 at a
peppercorn rent.

VAT
VAT is applicable to this lot.

page 27The Special Conditions of Sale and a legal package are available from the Vendor’s Solicitors or available on-line at www.acuitus.co.uk

For further details please contact:
Gwen Thomas
Tel: +44 (0)20 7034 4857.
Email: gwen.thomas@acuitus.co.uk
Jo Seth-Smith
Tel: +44 (0)20 7034 4854.
Email: jo.seth-smith@acuitus.co.uk
www.acuitus.co.uk

Solicitors:
Solomon Taylor & Shaw
3 Coach House Yard, Hampstead High Street,
London NW3 1QD.
Tel: +44 (0)20 7431 1912.
Email: ari@solts.co.uk
Ref: Ari Bloom.

Tenancy and accommodation

(1) The property is sublet to Toys ‘R’ Us Limited for a term of 30 years from 8th February 2007 at a rent of £734,550 p.a.x. Both Toys ‘R’ Us Properties (UK) Limited
and the sub-tenant, Toys ‘R’ Us Limited are subsidiary companies of Toys ‘R’ Us Holdings Limited. For the year ending 28th January 2012, Toys ‘R’ Us Holdings
Limited reported a turnover of £476,314,000, pre-tax profits of £11,435,000 and a total net worth of £192,730,000. (Source: www.riskdisk.com 15/02/2013)

(2)The rent is reviewed five yearly to the higher of 2.5% compounded annually or the increase in the Retail Price Index from the beginning of the term until the
month of the rent review date, whichever is greater. The rent will therefore rise to a minimum of £70,405 p.a.x. in 2016 and £79,656 p.a.x. in 2021.

Floor Use Floor Areas (Approx) Tenant Term Rent p.a.x. Reviews

Ground Retail
Warehouse

3,446.95 sq m (37,103 sq ft) TOYS ‘R’ US
PROPERTIES (UK)
LIMITED (1)

250 years from 19/04/2006
until 15/04/2256

£65,076
19/04/2016 and
five yearly
thereafter (2)

Totals 3,446.95 sq m (37,103 sq ft)
£65,076 rising to a minimum of
£70,405 p.a.x. in 2016 (2)

Extract reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of The Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office
©Crown Copyright 100020449. For identification purposes only.

NN

The Property

CARDIFF 
INTERNATIONAL
SWIMMING POOL

CARDIFF 
INTERNATIONAL
SWIMMING POOL

ICE
RINK

MORRISONS

MORRISONS

Page 860



Document is Restricted

Page 861

Yn rhinwedd paragraff (au) 14, 21 Rhan (nau) 4 a 5 o Atodlen 12A
 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Cardiff County Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

My Ref: T: Scrutiny/Correspondence/Cllr NH 

Date: 9 March 2018 

Public Letter: 

Councillor Russell Goodway  
Cabinet Member, Investment and Development 
Cardiff Council  
County Hall 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 

Dear Councillor Goodway, 

Economy & Culture and Environmental Scrutiny Committee:  8 March 2018 

Members have asked that I pass on their thanks to you and Neil Hanratty for bringing 

the report to Cabinet regarding International Sports Village (ISV) to our meeting for 

pre-decision scrutiny.  

Having considered the information shared in the confidential session, Members are 

supportive of the recommendation to Cabinet.  

Members wish to undertake further scrutiny of the proposals for revitalising the ISV, 

as these come forward, and will schedule time for this at our summer committee 

meetings. We look forward to these including details on proposed improvements to 

pedestrian and cycle routes in the Bay, thus enhancing the visitor and resident 

experience. 

Yours sincerely, 

COUNCILLOR NIGEL HOWELLS 
CHAIR, ECONOMY & CULTURE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

cc  Members of the Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee 
Neil Hanratty  Clair James Cabinet Support Office 

Appendix 4

Page 863



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 4

CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR CAERDYDD

CABINET MEETING: 15 MARCH 2018

CARDIFF AND VALE OF GLAMORGAN AREA PLAN FOR CARE 
AND SUPPORT NEEDS 2018-2023

SOCIAL CARE, HEALTH & WELL-BEING (COUNCILLOR SUSAN 
ELSMORE) 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES (COUNCILLOR GRAHAM HINCHEY)

AGENDA ITEM:   13

 
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES

Reason for this Report

1. To seek Cabinet approval of the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Plan and 
Area Action Plan for Care and Support Needs 2018-2023.

Background

2. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 inserted section 14A 
into the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 which requires local 
authorities and local health boards to prepare and publish a plan (the Area 
Plan) setting out the range and level of services they propose to provide, or 
arrange to be provided, in response to the Population Needs Assessment 
(PNA).

3. The Area Plan and supporting Action Plan provides the response of the 
Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board (CVGRPB) to the 
findings of the regional Population Needs Assessment (PNA), published on 
31st March 2017. 

4. The Plan has been prepared on the basis of a 5 year period in line with the 
requirements for the preparation of a PNA.

Issues

Development of the Plan

5. In response to the findings of the Population Needs Assessment, a review 
was undertaken by the CVGRPB in relation to all suggested areas for action.  
This was done against existing or planned activity in current partnerships or 

Page 865

Eitem Agenda 13



Page 2 of 4

organisational delivery mechanisms across the region to identify where this 
work is already being progressed.  The mapping work also reviewed where 
accountability lies (e.g. Public Service Board, Community Safety Partnership, 
Youth Progression Board, Safeguarding Board etc) as it is recognised that not 
everything identified within the PNA falls under the auspices of the CVGRPB.  

6. The mapping also identified the existing Strategies and Plans in place to 
respond to these priorities; resources and pooled/aligned budgets; and 
current performance management/reporting arrangements.  

7. Two documents have been produced as a result of this review. The first is the 
Area Plan (Appendix 1) which sets out the key needs identified within the 
PNA, along with the priority areas for action in response to the findings. In 
addition an Area Action Plan (Appendix 2) has also been developed, which 
provides the detail of how these priorities will be delivered. Both documents 
also set out the contributions to Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan's Well-being 
Objectives and the National Social Services Outcomes Framework.

Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board Priorities

8. The main focus of the Area Plan and Area Action Plan is the CVGRPB’s 
responsibilities for the integration of services in relation to:

 Older people with long term conditions, including people with dementia;
 Children with complex needs;
 Learning disability and autism;
 Integrated Family Support Services;
 Adult and young carers.

9. The identified priorities for the CVGRPB will be incorporated into the RPB’s 
future work programme from 2018/19 and progress will be reported as part of 
the CVGRPB’s Annual Report.  Priorities and actions will also be reviewed on 
an annual basis as part of this process and updated/amended as required.

10. Where there are other care and support themes identified, which are led by 
other Partnerships and planning arrangements across the region, both Plans 
signpost to existing reporting mechanisms to enable progress to be 
monitored.

11. The development of the Plans has been undertaken alongside the production 
of the Well-being Plans in both Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan to ensure 
alignment.  Similarly, the development of Cardiff and Vale University Health 
Board’s Integrated Medium Term Plan has included appropriate consideration 
of the key findings and proposed actions in the Action Plan. The CVGRPB 
also recognises the need to work closely with the two Public Service Boards 
in the region to ensure that there is alignment of objectives and actions, along 
with clear accountability arrangements for taking lead responsibility on issues.

Consultation and Engagement

12. The production of the PNA involved a number of engagement mechanisms 
including public surveys tailored to the audience; focus group interviews with 

Page 866



Page 3 of 4

local residents; and a survey of local professionals and organisations 
providing care or support, including the third sector.

13. Building on this engagement, a stakeholder workshop was held on 5th October 
2017 where people involved in the production of the PNA were invited to 
provide input to the draft Area Plan and Area Action Plan prior to consultation.

14. Whilst there is no requirement to undertake formal consultation on the Area 
Plan, an on-line public survey was developed to give people an opportunity to 
provide comments between Monday 23rd October and Sunday 3rd December 
2017.  Work has also taken place with Public Service Board colleagues to 
participate in the engagement on the Well-being Plans and to enable 
discussion to occur on care and support needs.

15. Over 115 responses were received in a range of formats as part of the 
consultation, including survey responses, completed ‘postcards’ at events and 
comments captured from facilitated focus groups. The key themes emerging 
from the consultation included: 

 Positive feedback regarding the draft content, such as both reports being 
people focused and targeting the main (vulnerable) population groups 
across the region.

 Requests for greater reference to the issue of homelessness and how the 
Plans propose to address this issue – this has been shared with the leads 
in both local authorities to be considered in relation to greater partnership 
working and as part of the ongoing delivery of the Housing Strategies and 
Supporting People Plans.

 Requests for some additional relevant strategies/areas of work not 
previously included in the draft Area Action Plan to be added, such as 
‘Ageing Well in Wales’ and the remodelling of learning disability services - 
these have been included.

 Requests for some additional specific actions to be added, including a 
focus on falls prevention in relation to older people – these have been 
included.

16. All feedback received as part of the development of the Plans and subsequent 
consultation has been considered and reflected in the final documents as 
appropriate. 

Next Steps

17. The final drafts of the Area Plan and Area Action Plan were approved by the 
CVGRPB on 1st February 2018 for consideration by the Cabinets of Cardiff 
Council and Vale of Glamorgan Council, and the Board of Cardiff and Vale 
University Health Board in March 2018.

18. Following approval of the Area Plan and Area Action Plan by statutory 
partners the documents must be published by 1st April 2018 and submitted to 
Welsh Ministers at the time of publication, in line with the Statutory Guidance.  
The Plans will also be published on the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership’s website at www.cvihsc.co.uk.

Page 867

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/


Page 4 of 4

Reason for Recommendations

19. To enable the Cabinet to approve the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area 
Plan and Area Action Plan for Care and Support Needs 2018-2023.

Financial Implications

20. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

Legal Implications

21. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 inserted section 14A 
into the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 which requires local 
authorities and local health boards to prepare and publish a plan (the Area 
Plan) setting out the range and level of services they propose to provide, or 
arrange to be provided, in response to the Population Needs Assessment 
(PNA).

22. An Equality and Health Impact Assessment has been completed for the Area 
Plan and Area Action Plan and is available on the Partnership’s website at 
www.cvihsc.co.uk.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to:

1. approve the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Plan (as set out in Appendix 1)

2. approve the Area Action Plan (as set out in Appendix 2) for Care and Support 
Needs 2018-2023.

TONY YOUNG
Director of Social Services 
9 March 2018

Appendix 1 – Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Plan for Care and Support Needs 
2018-2023

Appendix 2 – Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan for Care and Support 
Needs 2018-2023

The following background papers have been taken into account

Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 - Statutory guidance in relation to 
area plans under section 14A

Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Population Needs Assessment 2017
 

Page 868

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/


Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan
Area Plan for Care and Support Needs

2018-2023

Shaping Our Future Well-being:
'Me, My Home, My Community'

Appendix 1

Page 869



         2. Children and Young People, including Children with Complex Needs
 

         3. Learning Disability and Autism
 

15
 

18
 

Contents
 

2
 

What is the Purpose of the Area Plan?
 

What is the Population Needs Assessment?
 

3
 

3
 

Addressing the Identified Care and Support Needs
 

Monitoring and Review
 

5
 

7
 

         1. Older People, including People with Dementia
 

6
 

12
 

         4. Integrated Family Support Services
 

21
 

         5. Adult and Young Carers
 

         6. Health and Physical Disabilities
 

24
 

27
 

         7. Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment
 

30
 

         8. Sensory Loss and Impairment
 

         10. Asylum Seekers and Refugees
 

33
 

39
 

         11. Offenders
 

42
 

         12. Veterans
 

45
 

         9. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence
 

36
 

         13. Substance Misuse
 

48
 

Contributing towards Local Well-being Objectives 
 

6
 

7
 

Contributing towards the Social Services National Outcomes Framework
 

6
 

8
 

Overview of Key Regional Priorities
 

Developing the Area Plan
 

5
 

Page 870



What is the Purpose of the Area Plan?

What is the Population Needs Assessment?

This Area Plan provides the response of the Cardiff and Vale of
Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board to the findings of the
regional Population Needs Assessment published on 31st March
2017. 

 

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 introduced a duty on local authorities
and local health boards to prepare and publish an assessment of the care and support needs
of the population, including carers who need support.  
 
Partners from the public and voluntary sectors in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan joined
forces under the banner ‘Let’s Talk’ to identify the key care and support needs, prevention
issues and assets (such as people, buildings, organisations or services which contribute to
enhancing or maintaining well-being) in the region. 
 
An assessment was undertaken between February 2016 and January 2017. Over this time,
information was brought together from a number of sources: public surveys tailored to the
audience; focus group interviews with local residents; a survey of local professionals and
organisations providing care or support, including the third sector; service and population
data; key documents; and previous work. 

 

In our region, we also identified the following groups/themes as priorities to review:
 

3
 

Children & Young People
 

Older People, including
People with Dementia

 

Learning Disability
& Autism

 
Adult & Young Carers

 

Health & Physical
Disabilities

 

Sensory Loss &
Impairment

 

Adult Mental Health &
Cognitive Impairment

 

Violence Against
Women, Domestic Abuse

& Sexual Violence
 

Asylum Seekers &
Refugees

 
Veterans

 
Offenders

 
Substance Misuse

 

Detailed findings on the assessment of the care and support needs across a number of population groups as set out by
Welsh Government are presented in the report, which include:

 

It has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Statutory
Guidance in relation to Area Plans under section 14A of the Social
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. The Act requires a
description of the range and level of services proposed to be
provided or arranged in response to care and support needs,
including the support needs of carers, identified in the population
assessment reports.

  
This Plan has been prepared on the basis of a 5 year period in line
with the requirements for the preparation of a Population Needs
Assessment. 

 

Page 871

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Population-Needs-Assessment-1.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Statutory-guidance-in-relation-to-area-plans-under-Section-14A.pdf


The Population Needs Assessment highlighted a number of cross-cutting key care and support needs for the Cardiff
and Vale of Glamorgan population. These include:

 

4
 

Key Care and Support Needs Identified

Key Finding 3 (KF3)
 Further support the

development of
opportunities that
enable social and

economic well-being 
 

Key Finding 4 (KF4)
 Strengthen links

between schools,
vocational opportunities,
apprenticeships, further

education and adult
learning

 

Key Finding 8 (KF8)
 

Key Findings

Key Finding 2 (KF2)
 Promote and improve

access to high quality and
accessible information

and advice
 

Key Finding 1 (KF1)
 Increase citizen

involvement in shaping
both preventative and
reactionary services

 

Key Finding 5 (KF5)
 

Support people to make
healthier lifestyle choices
to reduce the prevalence
of unhealthy behaviours 

 

Key Finding 10 (KF10)
 Develop services to

respond to existing and
future care and support
needs, including those

for carers
 

Improve public transport,
to enable better access to

services, employment
and social activities

 

Key Finding 9 (KF9)
 Develop services that

prevent the need for
more intensive care and

support 
 

Key Finding 11 (KF11)
 Improve support for

people as they transition
between services

 

The response of the Regional Partnership Board and other Partnerships/delivery mechanisms to these key findings is
reflected in each of the relevant population/theme chapters included in this Plan. 

 

Key Finding 7 (KF7)
 

Key Finding 6 (KF6)
 

Improve access to low
level and specialist

mental health care and
support 

 

Key Finding 12 (KF12)
 Improve organisational

working practices, to
ensure that services help

people to achieve the
outcomes they seek 

 

Provide appropriate and
safe housing and

community environments,
to enable people to

remain independent 
 

Page 872



Addressing the Identified Care and Support Needs
 

In response to the findings of the Population Needs Assessment, a review was undertaken in relation to all suggested
areas for action in the report. This review was done against existing or planned activity in current Partnerships or
organisational delivery mechanisms to identify where this work is already being progressed.

  
Two reports have been produced as a result of this review. The first is this Area Plan, which sets out the key needs
identified within the Population Assessment, along with the priority areas for action in response to the findings. In
addition, an Area Action Plan has also been developed, which provides the detail of how these priorities will be
delivered. Both reports also set out the contributions to Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan's Well-being Objectives and the
National Social Services Outcomes Framework.

  
The main focus of both Plans will be the Regional Partnership Board’s responsibilities for the integration of services in
relation to:

 

5
 

Where there are other care and support themes identified which are led by other Partnerships and planning
arrangements across the region, both Plans will signpost to existing reporting mechanisms to enable progress to be
monitored.

  
The Area Plan and Area Action Plan are both available at: www.cvihsc.co.uk/about/what-we-do/cardiff-vale-glamorgan-
area-plan/

 

Children with Complex
Needs

 

Older People, including
People with Dementia

 

Learning Disability
& Autism

 

Adult & Young Carers
 

Integrated Family
Support Services

 

Developing the Area Plan
 

The development of the Area Plan and Area Action Plan has been informed by a number of sources, including public
surveys, focus group interviews with local residents, a survey of local professionals and organisations providing care
or support, service and population data, key documents, and current work being undertaken by partner organisations.

 
Whilst there is no requirement to undertake formal consultation on
the Area Plan, those people involved in the production of the
Population Needs Assessment were invited to comment on the draft
document and to provide input to the Action Plan.  

  
In addition, an online public survey was developed to give people
an opportunity to provide comments. Work also took place with
Public Service Board colleagues to participate in the engagement
on the Well-being Plans and to enable discussion to occur on care
and support needs.

  
As part of the process to develop the Plan, the Partnership has
undertaken an Equality and Health Impact Assessment. The Cardiff
and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board serves a very
diverse population and takes into account the requirements of the
Equality Act 2010 and Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 to progress
equal opportunities for all. The Partnership  is committed, through
the delivery of this Plan, to promoting positive measures that
address inequalities in health and eliminate all forms of unlawful or
unfair discrimination on the grounds of age, marriage and civil
partnership, disability, race, gender, religion/belief, sexual
orientation, gender reassignment or gender identity and
pregnancy/maternity. 

  
All feedback received as part of the development of the Plan and
subsequent consultation has been considered and reflected in the
final documents, as appropriate. 

 

Page 873

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/FINAL-DRAFT-Area-Action-Plan-2018-2023.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/about/what-we-do/cardiff-vale-glamorgan-area-plan/


6
 

Contributing towards Local Well-being Objectives 
 

Safe,
confident and
empowered
communities

 

Enable people to get involved,
participate in their communities

and shape local services
 

The development of this Plan has been undertaken in close synergy with the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Public
Service Boards, in recognition that many of the priorities in this Area Plan will represent the care and support elements
of each of the two Well-being Plans.

  
Well-being Assessments and Plans are a statutory requirement under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act
2015, which is about improving the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales through
sustainable development. 

  
The Act places a well-being duty on public sector bodies to take action to achieve 7 well-being goals in accordance with
a ‘sustainable development principle’. The 7 well-being goals are:

 

Each of the population/theme chapters in the Area Plan outlines which of the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Well-being
Objectives the key actions contribute to as part of a wider understanding of a shared contribution to well-being
outcomes. Many of the key actions taken forward in this Plan will contribute to more than one well-being objective
given the cross-cutting impact of care and support services: 

 

Integration
 

Focus on prevention
by looking at the

root causes of issues
 

Prevention
 

Deliver services
using an integrated

approach
 

Collaborate
 

Work in collaboration
to find shared,

sustainable solutions
 

Involvement
 

Involve others in the
achievement of the

well-being goals
 

Long-term
 

Look at both
short-term and
long-term needs

 

WBC1
 

WBC2
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

A Capital City
that works for

Wales 
 

Cardiff’s
population
growth is

managed in a
resilient way

 

Cardiff is a
great place to

grow up
 

Supporting
people out of

poverty
 

Cardiff is a
great place to

grow old
 

Modernising and
integrating our
public services

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

WBV4
 

Reduce poverty and
tackle inequalities

linked to deprivation
 

Give children the
best start in life

 

Protect, enhance and
value our environment

 

Cardiff's Well-being Plan Objectives
 

Vale of Glamorgan's Well-being Plan Objectives
 

To demonstrate application of the ‘sustainable development principle’, public sector bodies need to:
 

A prosperous Wales
 

A resilient Wales
 

A healthier Wales
 

A more equal Wales
 

A Wales of cohesive communities
 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language
 

A globally responsible Wales
 

Page 874

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Local-Wellbeing-Assessment/Draft-Local-Well-being-Plan/Documents/Wellbeing%20Plan%202017.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Public-Services-Board/Well-being-Plan-Consultation-Draft-ENGLISH.pdf


Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

7
 

Contributing towards the Social Services National Outcomes
Framework 

 
The Social Services National Outcomes Framework was developed to fulfil a requirement in the Social Services and
Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 to describe well-being for people and carers who need care and support, and provide a
consistent approach to measuring well-being.

  
The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 defines well-being as:

 

Each chapter details which aspects of well-being the listed key priorities are expected to contribute towards. Further
information on the outcomes can also be found in the Action Plan which accompanies this Area Plan
at: www.cvihsc.co.uk/about/what-we-do/cardiff-vale-glamorgan-area-plan/

 

National outcomes for each of the 8 aspects of well-being that are to be achieved by people and carers needing care
and support have been developed. For example:

 

My voice is
heard and
listened to

 

I am happy
and do things
to make me

happy
 

I am safe and
protected from

abuse and
neglect

 

I can learn and
develop to my
full potential

 

I belong
 

I engage and make
a contribution to my

community
 

I am supported
to work

 

I live in a home
that best supports

me to achieve
my well-being

 

Progress against the delivery of Regional Partnership Board’s priorities will be monitored and reviewed within the Board's
annual report, which will be published in early 2018/19. The Area Action Plan will be updated and amended as appropriate
to reflect the changing policy context, demographics or service pressures. 

  
The priorities being progressed by other Partnerships will be reported via other mechanisms, such as the Public Service
Board, or by organisational planning mechanisms, such as the local authority Corporate/Improvement Plans and Cardiff
and Vale University Health Board’s Integrated Medium Term Plan. 

 

Monitoring and Review
 

Page 875

http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/well-being/?lang=en
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/about/what-we-do/cardiff-vale-glamorgan-area-plan/


8
 

Overview of Regional Priorities 
 

Older People, including People with Dementia
 

OP1.2. Develop resilient communities with local services, infrastructure and strong community networks
to meet local needs where older people live

 

OP1.1. Building on the First Point of Contact and Single Point of Access services, further develop digital
services along with easily accessible telephone, online and face-to-face access points for the region, for
both professionals and the public  

 

OP1.4. Develop improved assessment, diagnosis and care planning practices which are built upon genuine
collaboration with older people and their carers and families, so that their plan reflects what is important to
them and achieves the outcomes they seek

 

OP1.3. Develop and provide a range of future accommodation options to meet demand and
enable people to remain at home for as long as possible 

 

OP1.5. Develop Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan as a dementia friendly region
 

Children with Complex Needs
 

CYP1.2. Improve integrated provision for children with complex needs, including transition between
children's and adult's services    

 

CYP1.1. Improve provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs  
 

Regional Partnership Board Priorities
 

Regional Partnership Board Priorities
 

Children and Young People
 

CYP2.1. Increase the role of children and young people in decision making and service delivery
 

Other Partnership Board Priorities
 

CYP2.2. Improve educational outcomes
 

CYP2.3. Increase the successful transition into employment, education or training of children and young
people

 

CYP2.4. Increase access to appropriate services for looked after children and children in need, recognising
increased rates of emotional and mental health issues

 
CYP2.5. Increase support for children and young people affected directly or indirectly by parental
relationship breakdown and domestic violence

 

CYP2.6. Prevent child sexual exploitation
 

CYP2.7. Enable children and young people to be happy and healthy
 

CYP2.8. Develop the Welsh skills of children and create new Welsh speakers, to support the Welsh
Government’s vision of having a million Welsh speakers by 2050

 Page 876



AYC1.6. Raise awareness around caring and carers among the public and health and social care professionals,
(e.g. adopting an approach similar to Making Every Contact Count), to ensure that carers are identified 

 as early as possible and all involved are aware of their rights as a carer
  

 
 9

 

Overview of Regional Priorities 
 

Learning Disability and Autism
 

LDA1.2. People with learning disabilities are supported to play an active role in society and engage in
meaningful day time activities and employment or volunteering

 

LDA1.1. People with learning disabilities are supported to maximise their independence  
 

LDA1.4. People with learning disabilities are enabled to stay healthy and feel safe  
 

LDA1.3. People with learning disabilities are valued and included, supported to have a voice,
and able to exercise choice and control over their lives  

 

LDA1.5. People with learning disabilities are supported to become lifelong learners  
 

Regional Partnership Board Priorities
 

LDA1.6. Develop a new Integrated Autism Service which all agencies working in integrated, multi-
disciplinary ways will provide appropriate services for children, young people and adults with an autism
spectrum disorder, addressing their education, health, employment, social interaction and emotional needs

 

Integrated Family Support Services
 

IFSS1.2. Explore the extension of the Integrated Family Support Service model to include other parental
additional needs (e.g. learning disability) and consider how it can help tackle adverse childhood experiences  

 

IFSS1.1. Continue to provide an intensive intervention with families referred by Children’s Services where
there are serious child protection concerns as a result of parental / carer substance misuse, domestic abuse
or mental health  

 

Regional Partnership Board Priorities
 

Adult and Young Carers
 

Regional Partnership Board Priorities
 

AYC1.2. Improve physical and emotional support for young carers, including emergency and pre-planned
respite and reducing the risk of adverse childhood experiences

 

AYC1.1. Identify and implement a carer engagement model based on best practice  
 

AYC1.4. Involve carers, including young carers, in the planning of hospital admission and discharge if the
person they care for is in hospital

 

AYC1.3. Improve physical and emotional support for adult carers, including emergency and pre-planned
respite 

 

AYC1.5. Provide easily accessible information to carers and relatives in a range of formats and languages
through existing information points, such as primary care and libraries    

 

Page 877



10
 

Overview of Regional Priorities 
 

Health and Physical Disabilities
 

HPD1.1. Promote healthy lifestyles and improve and protect the health and well-being of Cardiff and Vale
of Glamorgan residents    

 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

Sensory Loss and Impairment 
 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

SLI1.2. Develop and implement a health board wide action plan to meet the All Wales Standards for
Accessible Information and Communication for People with Sensory Loss, in order to improve provision
across Primary Care, Secondary Care and Emergency and Unscheduled Care     

 

SLI1.1. Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Eye Care Plan in conjunction with Primary Care,
Secondary Care, Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan University Health Board and Welsh Government    

 

SLI1.3. Explore the establishment of a partnership delivery mechanism to meet the wider needs of people
with sensory loss and impairment   

 

Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment
 

AMHCI1.1. Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan ‘Together for Mental Health’ Plan  
 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

  Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence  
 

VAWDASV1.1. Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and
Sexual Violence Strategy (under development)  

 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

  Asylum Seekers and Refugees
 

ASR1.1. Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Community Cohesion Delivery Plan 2017/2020  
 (under development)  

  
 
 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

Page 878



11
 

Overview of Regional Priorities 
 

Substance Misuse
 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

SM1.2. Increase the safety of our communities by delivering multi-agency responses in locations where
discarded injecting equipment and other drug paraphernalia is prevalent  

 

SM1.1. Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Substance Misuse and Wellbeing Commissioning
Strategy 2016/2020 with a focus on prevention, education, treatment, support and sustainable long-term
recovery 

 

Veterans
 

V1.1. Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Armed Forces Community Action Plan 2017/2019  
 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

Offenders
 

O1.1. Ensure that the local criminal justice system works effectively and efficiently, meeting the needs of
victims and challenging offenders

 

Other Partnership Priorities
 

Page 879



1: Older People, including People with Dementia
 

12
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Maintain sustainability of

key services supporting
older people

 

Need 2 (N2):
 Improve access to

information and advice  
(e.g. 'one stop shop' model)

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Improve integrated

management of mental
health and physical issues

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Reduce social isolation

and loneliness while
maintaining independence

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Increase support to

access practical help with
day-to-day tasks such as
shopping and gardening

 

Need 7 (N7):
 Improve support and

information for people
with dementia and their

family and carers
 

Need 9 (N9):
 Promote accessible built

environments (including
good lighting and toilets)

 

Need 10 (N10):
 Improve the commissioning

of care home places to
enable consistent and high

quality care
 

Need 11 (N11):
 Improve public transport

services to enable access
to activities promoting
health and well-being

 

Need 13 (N13):
 Increase digital inclusion

to enable access to
information and services

 

Need 14 (N14):
 Promote inter-generational  

opportunities in
communities

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Provide appropriate

housing to meet individuals'
needs and enable them to

remain independent
 

Need 12 (N12):
 Improve access to

different types of
advocacy

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Increase integration of

health, housing and
social care

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

12
 

13
 

14
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

In general, Cardiff has a younger population, while the Vale of Glamorgan has a larger older age

population more in line with the Wales average. Both areas however, are anticipated to see a continued

increase in the number of people over the ages of 65 and 85. 
 

The Vale of Glamorgan is projected to see the largest increase across both age groups, with 20.5% of

their population in 2025 expected to be aged 65-84 (compared to 17.5% in 2015), and 3.8% aged 85

years and above (compared to 2.8% in 2015). Both of these figures are above the projected Wales

average of 19.1% and 3.5%, respectively. 
 

The number of people living with dementia is also projected to rise significantly, with 1 in 3 expected to be

affected by dementia in the future. The driver for this is mostly the increase in the over 85 population.
 

Page 880



1: Older People, including People with Dementia
 

13
 

What are our Key Priorities in Response?
 

The key priorities to be delivered by the Regional Partnership Board are:
 

Building on the First Point of Contact and Single Point of Access
services, further develop digital services along with easily
accessible telephone, online and face-to-face access points for
the region, for both professionals and the public

 

Develop resilient communities with local services, infrastructure
and strong community networks to meet local needs where older
people live

 

Develop and provide a range of future accommodation options
to meet demand and enable people to remain at home for as
long as possible

 

Develop improved assessment, diagnosis and care planning
practices which are built upon genuine collaboration with older
people and their carers and families, so that their plan reflects
what is important to them and achieves the outcomes they seek

 

Develop Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan as a dementia friendly
region

 

1.
 

2.
 

3.
 

4.
 

5.
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 881

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


1: Older People, including People with Dementia
 

14
 

Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?

 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?

 

WBC3
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBV2
 

WBC5
 

WBC2
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 
Securing rights and entitlements

 
Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 882



2: Children and Young People, including Children with
Complex Needs

 

15
 

Need 1 (N1):
Improve support for
children and young
people affected by

parental relationship
breakdown and domestic

violence
 

Need 2 (N2):
Improve access to appropriate
services in a timely fashion,

including primary care and mental
health services, and support for

young people with Attention Deficit
Hyperactivity Disorder and Autism

 

Need 3 (N3):
Improve access to

appropriate services for
looked after children and

children in need, recognising
increased rates of emotional

and mental health issues
 

Need 4 (N4):
 Increase support for young

carers, including respite,
and raise awareness of

what they do
 

Need 5 (N5):
 Increase involvement of

children and young
people in decisions

affecting them
 

Need 6 (N6):
 Enable smoother

transitions between
children's and adult's

services
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Provide appropriate and

safe accommodation
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Further develop vocational

educational opportunities
and apprenticeships

 

Need 9 (N9):
 Respond to the increasing

numbers and complexity of
needs of children and young

people with a disability
 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

2
 

1
 

3
 

5
 

4
 

6
 

7
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

The population of Cardiff is relatively young compared with the rest of Wales, with the proportion of

infants (0-4yrs) significantly higher than the Wales average. In the next 10 years, there will be an

increase in the number of people aged 5-16. The proportion of young people in the Vale of Glamorgan is

similar to the Wales average.
 

In March 2016, there were 340 children on the child protection register in Cardiff, and 100 in the Vale. 
 

In 2015, in both Cardiff (91%) and the Vale of Glamorgan (90%), school attendance rates of children in

need were marginally below the all-Wales average of 92%. Across Wales, 35% of children in need achieve

5 or more A*-G GCSE passes. In Cardiff, the rate was 31% and in the Vale it was 37%. 
 

In the Vale of Glamorgan, the percentage of year 11 pupils who go on to be not in education, employment

or training (NEET) continues to decrease year on year, and is below the Welsh average. Levels in Cardiff

have also declined but remain high compared with the rest of Wales.
 

At the 2011 Census, 1,579 young carers were identified in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, although

the Census is recognised as underestimating the number of young carers.
 

8
 

9
 

Page 883



2: Children and Young People, including Children with
Complex Needs  

 

16
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response?  
 

The key priorities to be delivered by the Regional Partnership Board for children with
complex needs are:

 

Improve provision for children and young people with Additional
Learning Needs

 

Improve integrated provision for children with complex needs,
including transition between children's and adult's services

 

Increase the role of children and young people in decision
making and service delivery

 

Improve educational outcomes
 

Increase the successful transition into employment, education or
training of children and young people

 

1.
 

2.
 

1.
 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region for children and young people are:

 

Increase access to appropriate services for looked after children
and children in need, recognising increased rates of emotional
and mental health issues

 

Increase support for children and young people affected directly
or indirectly by parental relationship breakdown and domestic
violence

 

Prevent child sexual exploitation
 

5.
 6.
 

Enable children and young people to be happy and healthy
 

Develop the Welsh skills of children and create new Welsh
speakers, to support the Welsh Government’s vision of having
a million Welsh speakers by 2050

 

7.
 

8.
 

2.
 

3.
 

4.
 

Zero
 

1,000,000
 

NB: Key priorities relating to young carers can be found in the 'Adult and Young Carers' section
of this plan. 

 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 
Page 884

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


2: Children and Young People, including Children with
Complex Needs  

 

17
 

  Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?  

 

Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

WBC1
 

WBC2
 

WBC7
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 885



3: Learning Disability and Autism
 

18
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Increase the accessibility

of information and
services

 

Need 2 (N2):
 

Improve public transport
services to enable access
to activities promoting
health and well-being

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Provide respite to

those in need
 

Need 4 (N4):
 

Improve access to day
opportunities

 

Need 5 (N5):
 

Increase involvement of
people requiring

services in decisions
affecting them

 

Need 6 (N6):
 

Recognise and support
people who fall between

learning disability and mental
health service provision

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

2
 

1
 

3
 

5
 

4
 

6
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

There were 1,426 people registered with a learning disability in Cardiff in 2015/16, and 542 in the Vale

of Glamorgan. 
 

These numbers have stayed roughly stable in the Vale over the last 10 years, but have risen

significantly in Cardiff, by around 40%. 
 

A significant increase is projected in the number of older people with a learning disability in both Cardiff

and the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 

UK research on Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) suggests that around 1.2% (116 per 10,000) of

children and young people have ASD. However, not all these people will be formally diagnosed. 
 

Applied to the population of Cardiff gives an estimate of 553 children aged 5-16 with ASD, and 2,778

people aged 17-64 with ASD. 
 

In the Vale of Glamorgan, this gives an estimate of 210 children aged 5-16 with ASD, and 887 people

aged 17-64 with ASD. 
 

Page 886



3: Learning Disability and Autism
 

19
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response?  
 

The key priorities to be delivered by the Regional Partnership Board are:
 

People with learning disabilities are supported to maximise their
independence.

 

People with learning disabilities are supported to play an active
role in society and engage in meaningful day time activities and
employment or volunteering.

 

People with learning disabilities are valued and included,
supported to have a voice, and able to exercise choice and
control over their lives.

 

People with learning disabilities are enabled to stay healthy and
feel safe.

 

People with learning disabilities are supported to become lifelong
learners.

 

1.
 

2.
 

3.
 

Develop a new Integrated Autism Service which all agencies
working in integrated, multi-disciplinary ways will provide
appropriate services for children, young people and adults with
an autism spectrum disorder, addressing their education, health,
employment, social interaction and emotional needs.

 

4.
 

5.
 

6.
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 887

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


3: Learning Disability and Autism
 

20
 

  Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?  

 

    Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBV1
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 
Securing rights and entitlements

 
Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 888



4: Integrated Family Support Services
 

21
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve support for

children and young
people affected by

parental relationship
breakdown and domestic

violence
 

Need 2 (N2):
 Improve access to

appropriate services in a
timely fashion, including
primary care and mental

health services, and
support for young people
with ADHD and Autism

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Improve access to

appropriate services for
looked after children and

children in need, recognising
increased rates of emotional

and mental health issues
 

Need 5 (N5):
 Increase involvement

of people requiring
services in decisions

affecting them
 

Need 6 (N6):
 Increase timely access to low

level mental health services
(including counselling and

family support)
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Improve support for

the families of
people with mental

health issues
 

Need 9 (N9):
 Ensure approaches

are both needs-led
and risk-led

 

Need 10 (N10):
 Improve co-ordination

between substance
misuse services

 

Need 11 (N11):
 Improve offender access to

mental health and
substance misuse services,
and counselling post-release

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Prevent and reduce

the incidences of
adverse childhood
experiences (ACEs)

 

Need 12 (N12):
 Improve support to

offenders and their
families to enable

family stability
 

Need 4 (N4):
 Provide

appropriate
and safe

accommodation
 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

12
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

The aim of the Integrated Family Support Team (IFST) is to provide an intensive intervention by a

highly skilled, multi-disciplinary team to intervene with families referred by Children’s Services from

Cardiff Council and Vale of Glamorgan Council social workers, to reduce the level of risk and ensure

positive outcomes for the most vulnerable children wherever possible.  
 

Referrals are made due to there being serious child protection concerns as a result of parental / carer

substance misuse. In line with Part 9 of the SSWb Act, the referral criteria has been expanded to now

also include families presenting with issues around domestic violence or abuse and mental disorder.  
 

Since 2012, a joint service has operated across Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, with a pooled budget

and formal agreement in place between the City of Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council and

Cardiff & Vale UHB. Cardiff Council acts as the lead authority for the IFST hosted within the single team.

Other partners including Cwm Taf Local Health Board (for CAMHS), South Wales Police, National

Probation Service, Barnardo’s and Action for Children are also signatories to the agreement. 
 

The Population Needs Assessment separately considered issues relating to families, substance misuse

and domestic violence, which have been brought together to inform the RPB priorities for the IFST.  
 

Page 889



4: Integrated Family Support Services
 

22
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response?  
 

The key priorities to be delivered by the Regional Partnership Board are:
 

Continue to provide an intensive intervention with families
referred by Children’s Services where there are serious child
protection concerns as a result of parental / carer substance
misuse, domestic abuse or mental health.

 
1.

 

Explore the extension of the Integrated Family Support Service
model to include other parental additional needs (e.g. learning
disability) and consider how it can help tackle adverse childhood
experiences. 

 

2.
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 890

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


4: Integrated Family Support Services
 

23
 

  Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?  

 

    Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect 
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society 
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 891



5: Adult and Young Carers
 

24
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve access to

information (including
financial support and
services available)

 

Need 2 (N2):
 Improve public transport

services to enable access
to health and well-being

activities
 

Need 3 (N3):
 Ensure the discharge

planning process involves
consultation with carers

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Provide accessible

respite care (including
emergency respite) for

those in need
 

Need 6 (N6):
 Improve the availability

of mental health
support to carers

 

Need 7 (N7):
 Reduce loneliness

and social isolation
 

Need 9 (N9):
 Improve access to

carers' assessments
 

Need 10 (N10):
 Enable smoother

transitions between
children's and adult's

services
 

Need 11 (N11):
 Address perceptions of

carers feeling judged by
services

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Identify carers and

provide support to
those in need

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Provide appropriate

housing, to meet
individual's needs and

enable people to
remain independent

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

At the 2011 Census, 50,580 carers were recorded in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. This

represented a 12% rise over the number in the previous Census 10 years earlier. The percentage of

people in the population in each region who identify as carers is below the Wales average.
 

A survey of adult carers in Cardiff and the Vale was undertaken in 2011, with 292 respondents. Of the

respondents, the majority were female (72%) and caring full time (72%). Most people cared for one

person (87%) although over one in ten (13%) cared for two or more people. Two thirds of carers (67%)

had been caring for more than 5 years, including nearly half (46%) caring for over 10 years. Three

quarters (77%) were aged 40 or over, including a quarter (24%) who were 75 or over. 
 

A young carer is someone aged 18 or under who helps look after a relative who has a condition, such as

a disability, illness, mental health condition, or a drug or alcohol problem. 
 

At the 2011 Census, 1,579 young carers were identified in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan, although

the Census is recognised as underestimating the number of young carers when compared with surveys

of school children across the UK in which they are asked if they have caring responsibilities. Young adult

carers (aged 18-25) are particularly vulnerable to transition on leaving school, and are more likely to be

not in education, employment or training (NEET).
 

Page 892



5: Adult and Young Carers
 

25
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response?  
 

The key priorities to be delivered by the Regional Partnership Board are:
 

Identify and implement a carer engagement model based on
best practice

 

Improve physical and emotional support for adult carers,
including emergency and pre-planned respite

 

Involve carers, including young carers, in the planning of
hospital admission and discharge if the person they care for is
in hospital

 

1.
 

2.
 

3.
 

4.
 

6.
 

5.
 

Improve physical and emotional support for young carers,
including emergency and pre-planned respite and reducing the
risk of adverse childhood experiences

 

Provide easily accessible information to carers and relatives in a
range of formats and languages, through existing information
points, such as primary care and libraries

 

Raise awareness around caring and carers among the public
and health and social care professionals, (e.g. adopting an
approach similar to Making Every Contact Count), to ensure
that carers are identified as early as possible and all involved
are aware of their rights as a carer

 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 893

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


5: Adult and Young Carers
 

26
 

  Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?  

 

    Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 894



6: Health and Physical Disabilities
 

27
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve access to

information and
services

 

Need 2 (N2):
 Maintain and improve the

provision and sustainability
of community services

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Improve the flexibility of

services, including offering
provision closer to home

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Increase integration of

health, housing and  
social care

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Promote and target

services to meet the
needs of vulnerable

groups
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Improve public transport

services to enable access
to activities which promote

health and well-being
 

Need 9 (N9):
 Provide appropriate

housing to meet individuals'
needs and enable people to

remain independent
 

Need 10 (N10):
 Reduce the prevalence of

unhealthy behaviours
 

Need 11 (N11):
 Respond to the increasing

prevalence of long-term
conditions

 

Need 13 (N13):
 Reduce the number

of people living in
food poverty

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Improve the use of

public buildings to join-
up services and

maximise resources
 

Need 12 (N12):
 Reduce the levels of

air pollution
 

Need 4 (N4):
 Improve transitions

between children's and
adult's services

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

12
 

13
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

Over 30,000 people in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan classified themselves in ‘bad’ or ‘very bad’

health, a rate of 6.4%. This compared to a Welsh average of 7.4%. 
 

1 in 7 of the adult population (15%) considered that their day-to-day activities were limited a lot by a

long-term health problem or disability.
 

Unhealthy behaviours which increase the risk of disease are endemic among adults in Cardiff and the

Vale, although tobacco and alcohol use are showing signs of improving. Many (but not all) of the most

common chronic conditions and causes of death may be avoided by making changes in health-related

behaviours, e.g. two fifths drink above alcohol guidelines (42% Cardiff, 42% Vale), around two thirds

don’t eat sufficient fruit and vegetables (64% Cardiff, 68% Vale), over half are overweight or obese (52%

Cardiff, 53% Vale), and three quarters don’t get enough physical activity (72% Cardiff, 71% Vale).
 

Page 895



6: Health and Physical Disabilities
 

28
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response?  
 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are:

 

Promote healthy lifestyles and improve and protect the health
and well-being of Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan residents

 1.
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 896

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


6: Health and Physical Disabilities
 

29
 

  Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?  

 

    Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC2
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

WBV4
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 897



7: Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment
 

30
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Increase timely access

to low level mental
health services

(including counselling
and family support)

 

Need 2 (N2):
 Improve the join up

of information,
advice and services

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Reduce loneliness and

isolation (especially
among people with
dementia, asylum

seekers and refugees)
 

Need 5 (N5):
 Continue partnership

approach between
statutory services and
with the third sector

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Improve support for the

families of people with
mental health issues

 

Need 7 (N7):
 Improve access to

services such as
community hubs and

one-stop shops
 

Need 9 (N9):
 Improve support for

people with dementia,
their families and carers

 

Need 10 (N10):
 Improve peer support and

mentoring to guide people
through the system

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Improve information

and support for GPs to
inform decisions
around referrals

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Provide appropriate

housing, to meet
individual’s needs
and enable people

to remain
independent

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

Self-reported mental well-being in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is in line with the Wales average,

although this masks a slightly lower score in Cardiff compared with the Vale of Glamorgan.   
 

A recent health needs assessment of people with dementia in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan

highlighted that dementia had overtaken heart disease as the leading cause of death among women in

England and Wales. 
 

There are estimated to be 5,000 people with dementia in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, nearly 6 in 10

(58%) of whom have a diagnosis. 
 

Page 898



7: Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment
 

31
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response?  
 

People in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan are more resilient and
better able to tackle poor mental well-being when it occurs 

 

The quality of life for people is improved, particularly through
addressing loneliness and unwanted isolation. 

 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are to deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan ‘Together for Mental Health’
Plan, which includes ensuring that:

 

Services meet the needs of the diverse population of Cardiff and
Vale of Glamorgan 

 

People with mental health problems, their families and carers are
treated with dignity and respect 

 

All children have the best possible start in life, which is enabled
by giving parents / care givers the support needed 

 

4.
 

5.
 

All children and young people are more resilient and better able
to tackle poor mental well-being when it occurs  

 

Children and young people experiencing mental health
problems get better sooner 

 

6.
 

7.
 

1.
 

2.
 

3.
 

People with a mental health problem have access to
appropriate and timely services 

 
8.

 
People of all ages experience sustained improvement to their
mental health and well-being through access to positive life
chances 

 

Cardiff & Vale of Glamorgan is a dementia-friendly region
 

9.
 

10.
 

+
 

+
 

=
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 Page 899

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


7: Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment
 

32
 

  Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards?  

 

    Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 900



8: Sensory Loss and Impairment
 

33
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve accessible

communication and
provision of information

on services available
 

Need 2 (N2):
 Improve

opportunities for
increasing mobility
and rehabilitation

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Review purpose and

use of registers for
sensory impairment

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Improve the provision of

person centred equipment
and technology

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Ensure appropriate

housing to meet
individual’s needs and

enable independent living
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Improve access to

appropriate specialist
services and assessments

 

Need 9 (N9):
 Identify people with

complex needs and sensory
impairment who require

additional support
 

Need 10 (N10):
 Improve planning for

increase in prevalence
of people with sight

loss
 

Need 11 (N11):
 Recognise and address

diagnosed hearing
impairment among older

people in care homes
 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Continue partnership

approach between
statutory services and
with the third sector

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Increase

opportunities to
improve social

interaction, mental
health and well-being

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

There are an estimated 9,430 people living with some degree of sight loss in Cardiff and 4,560 people in

the Vale of Glamorgan. Of these, 1,230 are living with severe sight loss in Cardiff and 610 in the Vale.
 

In Cardiff, there are 11,980 people with early age-related macular degeneration (AMD) and 6,030 in the

Vale. In addition, there are 2,870 people living with cataracts in Cardiff and 1,450 in the Vale, along

with 7,230 people in Cardiff and 2,560 in Vale with diabetic retinopathy. Numbers of people with

diabetic retinopathy are expected to rise significantly in Cardiff (17% compared to the Wales average of

6%), and 5% in the Vale. 
 

It is estimated that 28,900 people have moderate or severe hearing impairment in Cardiff, and 14,100

in the Vale.
 

In Cardiff, it is estimated that 1,840 people are living with dual sensory loss (i.e. sight and hearing) of

any severity, along with 860 people with the Vale.  
 

T

Page 901



8: Sensory Loss and Impairment
 

34
 

What are our Key Priorities in Response? 
 

Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Eye Care Plan in
conjunction with Primary Care, Secondary Care, Cardiff and Vale
of Glamorgan University Health Board and Welsh Government

 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are:

 

2.
 

1.
 

Develop and implement a health board wide action plan to
meet the All Wales Standards for Accessible Information and
Communication for People with Sensory Loss, in order to
improve provision across Primary Care, Secondary Care and
Emergency and Unscheduled Care   

 

3.
 

Explore the establishment of a partnership delivery mechanism
to meet the wider needs of people with sensory loss and
impairment 

 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 902

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


8: Sensory Loss and Impairment
 

35
 

    Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 
Securing rights and entitlements

 
Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 903



9: Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual
Violence

 

36
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Undertake awareness

raising in schools to
promote healthy

relationships
 

Need 2 (N2):
 Promote the use

of positive male
role models

 

Need 3 (N3):
 Provide support and

safeguarding to children
in households where

there is domestic abuse
 

Need 5 (N5):
 Ensure approaches

are both needs-led
and risk-led

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Increase the

accountability of
perpetrators 

 

Need 7 (N7):
 Promote early reporting

and the implementation
of 'Ask and Act'

 

Need 9 (N9):
 Improve access to

information on existing
services and support

 

Need 10 (N10):
 Raise awareness in

communities of how they can
identify and support people

experiencing domestic abuse
and sexual violence

 

Need 11 (N11):
 Provide appropriate,

safe and secure
accommodation 

 

Need 13 (N13):
 Reduce incidences of

child sexual exploitation
 

Need 14 (N14):
 Reduce incidents of

'honour'-based violence
 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Improve transparency

in family courts
 

Need 12 (N12):
 Improve the

availability of age-
appropriate counselling

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Prevent and reduce

adverse childhood
experiences (ACEs)

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

12
 

13
 

14
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

In Cardiff, there were 2,362 incidents of violence against the person (either gender), 2,263 domestic

incidents and 57 sexual offences reported to South Wales Police during 2015/16. In the Vale of

Glamorgan, the corresponding figures were 2,279 incidents of violence against the person, 1,936

domestic incidents and 204 reported sexual offences.
 

In Cardiff, 3,145 referrals relating to domestic abuse were made by the Police, including 1,060 high risk

referrals. In the Vale, 1,936 referrals were made by the Police, including 63 high risk referrals. 
 

 Of children in need and protection in Cardiff, 15% in 2015 had a record of domestic abuse being a

factor. In the Vale, this was much higher at 51% compared to a Wales average of 23%. 
 

? !
 

Page 904



37
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response? 
 

9: Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual
Violence

 

Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence against
Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy (under
development)

 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are:

 

1.
 

Violence
 

Cardiff and Vale of
Glamorgan

Violence against
Women, Domestic
Abuse and Sexual
Violence Strategy

 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 905

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


38
 

9: Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual
Violence

 
    Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities

Contribute Towards? 
 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 
Securing rights and entitlements

 
Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 906



10: Asylum Seekers and Refugees
 

39
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve access to

English for Speakers of
Other Languages (ESOL)

and interpretation for
public services

 

Need 2 (N2):
Improve access to

information on education,
hate crime, health and

service provision
 

Need 3 (N3):
 Improve access to the

labour market
 

Need 4 (N4):
 Provide support to

help establish links in
the community

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Increase involvement of

children and young people
in decisions affecting them

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Improve public transport

services, to enable
access to health and

social activities
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Improve engagement

with schools
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Improve access to

community mental
health services

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

2
 

1
 

3
 

5
 

4
 

6
 

7
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

Cardiff is both an initial accommodation centre and dispersal centre for UK asylum seekers. Asylum

seekers are located across Cardiff, but with the highest concentration in South Cardiff. The Syrian

Resettlement Programme operates in both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan.
 

At the time of the 2011 Census, 15% of people living in Cardiff were non-UK born, compared with 6% in

the Vale and 7% in Wales as a whole. In 2015, Cardiff had the highest positive net level of immigration

compared to the rest of Wales, with around 1,900 net international immigrants.  
 

8
 

Page 907



40
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response? 
 

10: Asylum Seekers and Refugees
 

Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Community Cohesion
Delivery Plan 2017/2020 (under development)

 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are:

 

1.
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 908

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


41
 

10: Asylum Seekers and Refugees
 

    Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

WBC2
 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC6
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV1
 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 909



11: Offenders
 

42
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve access to

mental health and
substance misuse

services, and
counselling post

release
 

Need 2 (N2):
 Respond to the

increase in use of
new psychoactive

substances
 

Need 3 (N3):
 Improve support to

enable family support
and stability

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Improve access to

information on
employment and

welfare benefits support
 

Need 6 (N6):
 Provide youth support

services and activities
and increase youth

engagement
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Promote healthy

lifestyles (including
sexual health)

 

Need 9 (N9):
 Improve

communication and
partnership working

between services
 

Need 10 (N10):
 Promote opportunities

for continued adult
learning and

development of life skills
 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Increase engagement

in education and
community actiivities

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Provide appropriate

housing and support
 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

HM Prison Cardiff is a local prison serving the courts and holding offenders serving sentences of up to 2

years. In December 2016, HM Prison Cardiff held 771 men and had an operational capacity of 820. 
 

The prison has an average of 384 new prisoners per month and an estimated 4,602 annually.
 

Around half of all offenders at HMP Cardiff give a home address in the Cardiff area, with fewer than 5%

from the Vale of Glamorgan.  
 

Over half the offenders are aged 21-39, and all are male. A small number of female offenders from

Cardiff are held in HMP Eastwood Park, with a few from the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 

During 2015/16, 510 offences were committed by young people seen in the Youth Offending Service in

Cardiff, compared to 164 offences in the Vale. In Cardiff, the most common offences were theft,

violence against the person and motoring offences. In Vale, they were violence against the person,

criminal damage and public order offences. 
 

25 + 42 = 77
 

Page 910



43
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response? 
 

11: Offenders
 

Ensure that the local criminal justice system works effectively and
efficiently, meeting the needs of victims and challenging offenders

  

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are:

 

1.
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 911

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


44
 

11: Offenders
 

    Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Page 912



12: Veterans
 

45
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Improve mental health

diagnosis and care
 

Need 2 (N2):
 Reduce social

isolation
 

Need 3 (N3):
 Improve access to

housing
 

Need 5 (N5):
 Improve the provision of

services for all conditions
affecting veterans, not

just post-traumatic
stress disorder

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Reduce substance misuse

and self medication
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Increase early diagnosis

and preventative
treatment to reduce
long-term limiting

illnesses
 

Need 9 (N9):
 Improve access to

information and
services

 

Need 10 (N10):
 Reduce safeguarding

issues relating to
domestic violence

 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Improve transition

between active service
and civilian life

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Improve the

availability of
financial advice

 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

There are around 5.61 veterans per 1,000 residents in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan, below the Wales

average of 6.24 and the second lowest rate in Wales.
 

This rate masks a very low rate in Cardiff (3.29) compared to 11.96 in the Vale of Glamorgan – the

highest rate in Wales.
 

Page 913



46
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response? 
 

Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Armed Forces
Community Action Plan 2017/2019

 1.
 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements across
the region are:

 

12: Veterans
 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 914

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


47
 

12: Veterans
 

    Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 915



13: Substance Misuse
 

48
 

Need 1 (N1):
 Respond to the

increased number of
people buying illicit
substances online

 

Need 2 (N2):
 Respond to the growing

‘hidden population’
misusing prescription
and over the counter

medication
 

Need 3 (N3):
 Reduce the misuse of

neuropathic medications
with alcohol and drugs

 

Need 5 (N5):
 Improve the

identification, service co-
ordination and delivery

for individuals with a dual
diagnosis (co-occurring
substance misuse and
mental health issues)

 

Need 6 (N6):
 Respond to the

increasing prevalence of
alcohol related brain

damage (ARBD)
 

Need 7 (N7):
 Respond to the growing

impact of ‘legal highs’
on emergency services

 

Need 9 (N9):
 Reduce the number of

older people (50+ years)
misusing alcohol through
loneliness and boredom

 

Need 10 (N10):
 Review access to

substance misuse services
(including opening hours)

 

Need 11 (N11):
 Improve co-ordination

between services
 

What were the Key Care and Support Needs Identified?
 

Need 8 (N8):
 Respond to the

increased distribution
of more potent heroin

 

Need 4 (N4):
 Reduce the use of

synthetic
cannabinoids and

nitrous oxide
 

2
 

1
 

3
 

4
 

6
 

5
 

7
 

8
 

10
 

9
 

11
 

What did the Population Needs Assessment Tell Us?
 

The number of males referred to substance misuse services in Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan is

consistently higher than the number of females, despite there being slightly more women in the region

than men. 
 

Alcohol is the most misused substance for which referrals are made to substance misuse services in

Cardiff and the Vale, followed by heroin, cannabis and cocaine. 
 

Page 916



49
 

  What are our Key Priorities in Response? 
 

Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Substance Misuse
and Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy

 

2.
 

1.
 

The key priorities to be led by other Partnerships and planning arrangements
across the region are:

 

13: Substance Misuse
 

Increase the safety of our communities by delivering multi-
agency responses in locations where discarded injecting
equipment and other drug paraphernalia is prevalent  

 

Please refer to the 'Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area Action Plan 2018/23' for details on
how these key priorities will be achieved 

 

Page 917

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/DRAFT-Action-Plan_English-191017.pdf


50
 

13: Substance Misuse
 

    Which Well-being Objectives do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

  Which National Outcomes do these Priorities
Contribute Towards? 

 

WBC3
 

WBC4
 

WBC5
 

WBC7
 

Cardiff well-being
objectives

 

WBV2
 

WBV3
 

Vale of Glamorgan
well-being objectives

 

Securing
rights and

entitlements
 

Physical and
mental health
and emotional

well-being
 

Protection
from abuse
and neglect

 

Education,
training and
recreation

 

Domestic,
family and
personal

relationships
 

Contribution
made to
society

 

Social and
economic
well-being

 

Suitability 
 of living

accommodation
 

The key priorities are expected to contribute
towards the following aspects of well-being:

 

Securing rights and entitlements
 

Physical and mental health and

emotional well-being
 

Protection from abuse and neglect
 

Education, training and recreation
 

Domestic, family and personal

relationships
 

Contribution made to society
 

Social and economic well-being
 

Suitability of living accommodation
 

Page 918



Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership 
 

For further information, please contact:
 

02920 335 071  
  

 
hsc.integration@wales.nhs.uk  

  
 
www.cvihsc.co.uk  

  
 
@CVIHSCPartnership  

  
 
@CV_ihscpship

 

Page 919



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan  
Area Action Plan for  

Care and Support Needs 2018-2023 

Appendix 2

Page 921



 

2 
 

 
 
 

Contents 

            Page  

  
  

Introduction 3 
  

1. Older People, including People with Dementia 5 
2. Children and Young People (Including Children with Complex 

Needs) 
13 

3. Learning Disability and Autism 21 
4. Integrated Family Support Services 28 
5. Adult and Young Carers 30 
6. Health and Physical Disabilities 37 
7. Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment 39 
8. Sensory Loss and Impairment 41 
9. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 43 
10. Asylum Seekers and Refugees 45 
11. Offenders 47 
12. Veterans 48 
13. Substance Misuse 49 

 

Appendices  

1. Overview of Population Needs – by Population Group 51 
2. Well-being Objectives 56 
3.     National Social Services Outcomes Framework 57 
4.  Glossary 58 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 922



 

3 
 

Introduction 
 

 

This Action Plan should be read in conjunction with the ‘Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Area 
Plan for Care and Support Needs 2018-2023’ which sets out the Key Population Needs 
identified in the Population Assessment and the priorities developed in response by the Cardiff 
and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board (RPB).  This document can be found at 
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/about/what-we-do/cardiff-vale-glamorgan-area-plan/ 
 

 

How was the Area Plan and Area Action Plan developed? 
 
The development of the Area Plan and Area Action Plan have been informed by a number of 
sources including public surveys; focus group interviews with local residents; consultation at 
community events and venues; a survey of local professionals and organisations providing 
care or support; stakeholder workshops; service and population data; key documents, and 
current work being undertaken by partner organisations. 
 
Two reports have been produced as a result of this review. The first is the Area Plan, which 
sets out the key needs identified within the Population Assessment, along with the priority 
areas for action in response to the findings. In addition, this Area Action Plan has also been 
developed, which provides the detail of how these priorities will be delivered. Both reports 
also set out the contributions to Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan's Well-being Objectives and 
the National Social Services Outcomes Framework. 
 
The main focus of the Area Plan and Action Plan will be the Regional Partnership Board’s 
responsibilities for the integration of services in relation to: 

 

 
Where there are other care and support themes identified which are led by other 
Partnerships and planning arrangements across the region, both Plans will signpost to existing 
reporting mechanisms to enable progress to be monitored. 
 
Consultation and Engagement 
 

Whilst there is no requirement to undertake formal consultation on the Area Plan, those 
people involved in the production of the Population Needs Assessment were invited to 
comment on the draft document and to provide input to the Action Plan.   
 
In addition, an online public survey was developed to give people an opportunity to provide 
comments. Work also took place with Public Service Board colleagues to participate in the 
engagement on the Well-being Plans and to enable discussion to occur on care and support 
needs. 
 

Page 923

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/about/what-we-do/cardiff-vale-glamorgan-area-plan/
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Area-Plan_FINAL_English.pdf


 

4 
 

 

As part of the process to develop the Plan, the Partnership has undertaken an Equality and 
Health Impact Assessment.  The Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Regional Partnership Board 
serves a very diverse population and takes into account the requirements of the Equality Act 
2010 and Public Health (Wales) Act 2017 to progress equal opportunities for all. The 
Partnership  is committed, through the delivery of this Plan, to promoting positive measures 
that address health inequalities and eliminate all forms of unlawful or unfair discrimination on 
the grounds of age, marriage and civil partnership, disability, race, gender, religion/belief, 
sexual orientation, gender reassignment or gender identity and pregnancy/maternity.  

 
All feedback received as part of the development of the Plan and subsequent consultation has 
been considered and reflected in the final documents as appropriate. 
 

 
Monitoring and Review 

 
The Action Plan will be reviewed and updated as required by the Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan RPB, and progress will be reported within the Board’s Annual Report. 

 
 
 

 

This Action Plan is available in Welsh upon request 
 
 

Page 924



 

5 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Action Plan 2018-2023 

1. Older People, including People with Dementia 

How are we addressing the care and support needs of older people?  

1. Regional Partnership Board Priorities 

OP1.1: Building on the First Point of Contact and Single Point of Access services, further develop digital services along with easily accessible 
telephone, online and face-to-face access points for the region, for both professionals and the public.  

Response to PNA Needs: N1-N2, N4, N6-N7, N12-N13 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3, WBC6-WBC7, WBV1 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1, 7.2. 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 ‘Me, My Home, My Community’ – Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Market Position Statement 2017-2022 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Regional Statement of 
Strategic Intent – Services for Older People 

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 2017-
2027 

 Care and support at home in Wales Five-year strategic plan 

2017-2022 

 Cardiff Council Ageing Well in Wales Local Delivery Plan  

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Service Board Ageing Well Plan 

 Welsh Government Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-
2023 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, Third 
Sector, Dewis, GPs, Veteran 
Organisations, SWFRS, SWP, 
WAST, Public Health Wales, RSLs 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Director of Social Services’ Annual Reports 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources   IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Ongoing development of Dewis Cymru’s content and functionality as an online care 
and support resource to ensure information is comprehensive, up-to-date and 
accessible 

Short-
term 

 ICF Written 
Agreement 

 Core budgets 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 Build greater public and workforce awareness of information and advice services, Short-

P
age 925

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Equality-diversity-and-cohesion/Strategic-Equality-Plan-and-Policies/Documents/strategic%20equality%20plan/Ageing%20Well%20In%20Cardiff%20Local%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Partnerships,%20Policies%20&%20Plans/Local%20Service%20Board/LSB%20Reports%20and%20Documents/Ageing-Well-Plan-2016-18-Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en


 

6 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

particularly for those who are not currently accessing services  term  Community 
assets 

 Volunteers 

 Carers 

 Third sector 
support 

 Community 

groups 

 Develop intelligence to understand the potential unmet demand for assessment and 
services. Considerations to include: 
- Where demand is currently being generated and/or diverted 
- Development of an evidence base to measure the impact of preventative services 
- Understanding the cost-benefits of investment in intermediate care and other 

services that help people return earlier to a better state of health and 
independence, e.g. Community Resource Team/Service 

Medium
-term 

 

OP1.2: Develop resilient communities with local services, infrastructure and strong community networks to meet local needs where older people 
live. 

Response to PNA Needs: N1-N2, N4-N9, N11-N14 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3, WBC5-WBC7, WBV1-WBV2 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1, 7.2. 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 ‘Me, My Home, My Community’ – Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Market Position Statement 2017-2022 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Regional Statement of 
Strategic Intent – Services for Older People 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 2017-
2027 

 Care and support at home in Wales Five-year strategic plan 
2017-2022 

 Cardiff Council Ageing Well in Wales Local Delivery Plan  

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Service Board Ageing Well Plan 

 Welsh Government Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-
2023 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, Third 
Sector, Dewis, GPs, Veteran 
Organisations, SWFRS, SWP, 
WAST, RSLs, Care Providers, 
Transport Providers, Community 
and Faith Groups, Sensory Loss 
organisations. 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Director of Social Services’ Annual Reports 
 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources   IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Development of strategies for preventative services to support their long-term Medium  ICF Written    

P
age 926

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Equality-diversity-and-cohesion/Strategic-Equality-Plan-and-Policies/Documents/strategic%20equality%20plan/Ageing%20Well%20In%20Cardiff%20Local%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Partnerships,%20Policies%20&%20Plans/Local%20Service%20Board/LSB%20Reports%20and%20Documents/Ageing-Well-Plan-2016-18-Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en


 

7 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

sustainability, in the context of financial pressures on all agencies. Considerations to 
include: 
- Sustainable funding 
- The use of community assets to promote community resilience 
- Library and adult education provision  
- Promoting community engagement 
- Tackling social isolation and loneliness 
- Development of digital skills, potentially through skill exchanges with young people 

in college 
- Falls prevention 
- Day opportunities 
- Assistive technology 
- Rapid response adaptations 
- Healthy lifestyles, including knowledge and skills on healthy diet 
- Access to public transport 
- Dental services 
- Housing related support 
- Occupational health  

- term Agreement 

 Core budgets 

 Community 
assets 

 Volunteers 

 Carers 

 Third sector 
support 

 Community 

groups 

√ √ √ 

 Further develop the social value sector, including social enterprises, through greater 
delivery of community based services. 

Short -
medium 

term 

 Further develop locality working. Considerations to include: 
- Clarification on the definition and scope 
- Mapping of existing locality resources in each neighbourhood/cluster. 
- Development of future multi-disciplinary locality teams. 
- The active use of well-being and community hubs to tackle social isolation.  
- The use of ‘Community Navigator/Connector’ roles. 

Short -
medium 

term 

 

 

 

P
age 927



 

8 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

OP1.3: Develop and provide a range of future accommodation options to meet demand and enable people to remain at home for as long as possible. 

Response to PNA Needs: N1-N2, N4-N6, N8-N11, N14 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC2, WBC6, WBV1 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 7.2, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 ‘Me, My Home, My Community’ – Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Market Position Statement 2017-2022 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Regional Statement of 
Strategic Intent – Services for Older People 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 2017-
2027 

 Care and support at home in Wales Five-year strategic plan 
2017-2022 

 Cardiff Council Ageing Well in Wales Local Delivery Plan  

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Service Board Ageing Well Plan 

 Welsh Government Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-
2023 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, Third 
Sector, RSLs, Private Sector, Care 
Providers 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Local Authority Housing Strategies 
 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources   IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Review local housing strategies in light of current provision and develop joint regional 
‘accommodation with care and support’ strategies (where appropriate/feasible). 
Considerations to include: 
- Evaluation of the level of accommodation with care provision required now and in 

the future 
- Conducting a pilot on intergenerational housing 
- A joint agreement on the eligibility criteria for social housing 
- A greater understanding of Local Development Plans and how to influence what 

housing gets built on development sites.  
- New building developments are fit for a growing older population, including 

Medium
- term 

 ICF Written 
Agreement 

 Core budgets 

 JES Pooled Fund 

 Older People 
Care 
Accommodation 
Pooled Fund 

 RSLs 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 928

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Equality-diversity-and-cohesion/Strategic-Equality-Plan-and-Policies/Documents/strategic%20equality%20plan/Ageing%20Well%20In%20Cardiff%20Local%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Partnerships,%20Policies%20&%20Plans/Local%20Service%20Board/LSB%20Reports%20and%20Documents/Ageing-Well-Plan-2016-18-Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en


 

9 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

accessibility requirements  Supporting 
People 

 Care Providers 

 Community 
assets 

 Volunteers 

 Carers 

 Third sector 
support 

 Community 
groups 

 Develop a regional approach for domiciliary care and residential and nursing home 
care, with the aim of stabilising the market. Considerations to include: 
- Opportunities for joint commissioning 
- Sharing good commissioning practices across the region 
- How to further develop good working relationships with providers 
- Outcome based commissioning 
- Joint forums/shared learning 
- The use of care homes to tackle social isolation and loneliness 
- How to converge costs 
- How to improve quality and achieve consistency across the sector 
- How to manage the growth (and decline) of the three markets 
- Demands placed on the sectors by regulatory bodies 
- Needs of self-funders  

Medium 
– long 
term 

 Develop effective tools to enable older people to engage in the self-assessment of their 
own care and support requirements and health conditions. Considerations to include: 
- IT systems 
- Development of Health ‘CVs’ for every older person across the region 
- Training for older people on chronic condition self-management 
- Balanced diet education, including cooking skills 

Medium
-term 

 Review effectiveness of Joint Equipment Store and explore commercial opportunities. Short-
medium 

term 
 

OP1.4: Develop improved assessment, diagnosis and care planning practices which are built upon genuine collaboration with older people and their 
carers and families, so that their plans reflect what is important to them and achieves the outcomes they seek. 

Response to PNA Needs: N1-N4, N7-10, N12 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC6-WBC7, WBV1  
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1- 2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.2, 7.1, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 ‘Me, My Home, My Community’ – Cardiff and Vale of Local Authorities, CVUHB, GPs,  RPB Annual Report 

P
age 929

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf


 

10 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Glamorgan Market Position Statement 2017-2022 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Regional Statement of 
Strategic Intent – Services for Older People 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 2017-
2027 

 Care and support at home in Wales Five-year strategic plan 
2017-2022 

 Cardiff Council Ageing Well in Wales Local Delivery Plan  

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Service Board Ageing Well Plan 

 Welsh Government Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-
2023 

Third Sector, Care Providers, 
WAST 

 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Further explore opportunities to establish Discharge to Assess models of care.  Short-
medium 

term 

 ICF Written 
Agreement 

 Core budgets 

 Carers 

 JES Pooled Fund 

 Older People 
Care 
Accommodation 
Pooled Fund 

 Heath and social 
care workforce 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 Rationalise, refine and unify assessment, diagnosis and planning pathway. 
Considerations to include: 
- The application of a strength- and not deficit-based approach.  
- Outcomes based commissioning 
- Issues negotiating the crossover points in the transition process. 
- Undertaking integrated assessments in partnership with older people and their 

families and carers, and that the options available – including the consequences of 
those options such as financial commitments – are taken into account. 

- The proportionate level of assessment required – i.e. what is the least we need to 
do to meet an individual’s needs – is undertaken in the most appropriate location, 
and clarity that proportionate assessments apply to all ages, not just older people. 

- Practices similar to the successful ‘family conference’ model 
- Mechanisms that enable providers to respond to sudden changes in circumstances 

and the different outcomes required 

Medium 
– long 
term 

 Enable ongoing, systematic engagement as a way of understanding what matters to Short-

P
age 930

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Equality-diversity-and-cohesion/Strategic-Equality-Plan-and-Policies/Documents/strategic%20equality%20plan/Ageing%20Well%20In%20Cardiff%20Local%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Partnerships,%20Policies%20&%20Plans/Local%20Service%20Board/LSB%20Reports%20and%20Documents/Ageing-Well-Plan-2016-18-Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en


 

11 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

older people. Considerations to include: 
- Engaging older people who are typically harder to reach, including home owners 

medium 
term 

 In line with Part 10 Code of Practice, arrange provision of Independent Professional 
Advocacy, and ensure access to other forms of advocacy where required.  

Short-
term 

 Undertake collective workforce planning across health, housing and social care sectors 
to support integration. Considerations to include: 

- Ageing workforce/succession planning 

- Supply of professional workforce, including GPs, nursing and therapy staff   
- Developing the quality and skills of workforce  
- Impact of domiciliary care registration (Regulation and Inspection of Social Care Act) 
- Joint recruitment campaigns to attract workforce in the care sector 
- Terms and conditions across health and social care 

- Development of integrated teams/joint posts/joint recruitment  
- Training in commissioning, procurement and performance management to support 

the development of effective services 

Short-
medium 

term 

 

OP1.5: Develop Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan as a dementia friendly region 

Response to PNA Needs: N1-N14 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC6-WBC7, WBV1 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.2, 5.2 ,6.1, 7.1, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 2017-
2027 

 ‘Me, My Home, My Community’ – Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Market Position Statement 2017-2022 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Joint Regional Statement of 
Strategic Intent – Services for Older People 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Care and support at home in Wales Five-year strategic plan 

2017-2022 

Local authorities, CVUHB, Third 
Sector, Alzheimer’s Society, 
Dementia friendly Groups, 
Community and faith groups, 
Care providers, Private Sector, 
SWP, SWFRS, Public Health 
Wales, WAST, Businesses 

 RPB Annual Report 
 

P
age 931

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/PSB-Draft-Market-Position-Statement-July-2017.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/DRAFT-Joint-Regional-Strategic-Statement-of-Intent.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf


 

12 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Cardiff Council Ageing Well in Wales Local Delivery Plan  

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Service Board Ageing Well Plan 

 Welsh Government Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-
2023 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Further promote the development of ‘dementia friendly’ communities and achieve 
‘dementia friendly’ status on a regional level. Considerations to include: 
- Availability of support services for people with dementia, including early on-set 

dementia 
- Increasing the number of dementia friends 
- Workforce development 
- Awareness raising with children and young people 
- Development of dementia friendly accommodation  

 

Short-
medium 

term 

 ICF Written 
Agreement 

 Core budgets 

 Community 
assets 

 Dementia 
Friends 

 Volunteers 

 Carers 

 Third sector 
support 

 Community 
groups 

 Older People 
Care 
Accommodation 
Pooled Fund 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 932

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Equality-diversity-and-cohesion/Strategic-Equality-Plan-and-Policies/Documents/strategic%20equality%20plan/Ageing%20Well%20In%20Cardiff%20Local%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Partnerships,%20Policies%20&%20Plans/Local%20Service%20Board/LSB%20Reports%20and%20Documents/Ageing-Well-Plan-2016-18-Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/socialcare/strategies/older/?lang=en


 

13 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

2. Children and Young People (Including Children with Complex Needs) 

How are we addressing the care and support needs of children and young people?  

1. Regional Partnership Board Priorities – Children with Complex Needs 
*Nb Actions relating to young carers can be found in the ‘Adult and Young Carers’ section of the Plan* 

CYP1.1: Improve provision for children and young people with Additional Learning Needs 

Response to PNA Needs: N2-N3, N5-N9 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 ALN and Education Tribunal (Wales) Bill and 
Transformation programme 

 WG Autism Spectrum Disorder Strategic Action Plan 

 Integrated Autism Service 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Index of children and 
young people with disabilities or additional needs 

 Disabilities Futures Programme  

WG, Local Authorities, 
Schools, CVUHB, Third 
Sector, WLGA 

 Disability Futures Programme  

 Quarterly reporting to WG/WLGA on IAS 
implementation 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Increase collaboration between health, social services and education to 
ensure a joined up approach to support and care. 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Education budgets 

 WG/WLGA/Public Health 
Wales – IAS  

 ICF – IAS Funding 

 Central South Consortium 
Joint Education Service 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan's Index of 
children and young people 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 Increase the emphasis on early intervention support in schools though 
closer working with Welfare services and provision of additional training for 
all staff in primary schools 

Medium- 
term 

 Improve transition between early years education providers, schools and 
post-16 education for children and young people with complex needs 

Medium-
term 

 Increase participation of children and young people with complex needs in Short-

P
age 933

http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/additional-learning-special-educational-needs/transformation-programme/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/additional-learning-special-educational-needs/transformation-programme/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/161205asd-strategic-en.pdf
http://www.asdinfowales.co.uk/integrated-autism-service
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/children_with_additional_needs/the-index/The-index.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/children_with_additional_needs/the-index/The-index.aspx
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/


 

14 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

the planning and assessment process term with disabilities or 
additional needs 

 Families First 
 

CYP1.2: Improve integrated provision for children with complex needs, including the transition between children and adult services 

Response to PNA Needs: N2-N3, N5-N8 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Disabilities Futures Programme  
 National Integrated Autism Service 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Index of children and 
young people with disabilities or additional needs 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal 
(Wales) Bill 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
Third Sector, WLGA, WG, 
Schools 

 Disability Futures Programme  

 Quarterly Reporting to WG/WLGA on IAS 
implementation 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

Implement the Disabilities Futures Programme to include: 

 Regional joint commissioning of services for disabled children – to include 
a focus on Families First and regional opportunities to commission within 
the Disability Focus element of services. 

Short-
medium 

term 

 ICF – part of a Written 
Partnership Agreement 

 Local authority/CVUHB core 
budgets 

 National Integrated Autism 
Service 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan's Index of 
children and young people 
with disabilities or 
additional needs 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 Integrating services for children with complex needs – to include 
development of pilot projects to demonstrate integrated practice and 
inform future delivery methods 

Medium- 
term 

 Development of a regional transition protocol for disabled young people 
to improve the experience of young people transitioning to adult services 
from children’s services and early identification of needs to support 
planning into adulthood. 

Medium-
term 

P
age 934

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/
http://www.asdinfowales.co.uk/integrated-autism-service
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/children_with_additional_needs/the-index/The-index.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/children_with_additional_needs/the-index/The-index.aspx
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/additional-learning-special-educational-needs/transformation-programme/legislation-and-statutory-guidance/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/additional-learning-special-educational-needs/transformation-programme/legislation-and-statutory-guidance/?lang=en


 

15 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Arrange provision of Independent Professional Advocacy and ensure 
access to other forms of advocacy for everyone who requires it (in line with 
Part 10 Code of Practice). 

Short-
term 

 

2. Other Partnership Activity 

A number of care and support needs for children and young people were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these lie with other 
Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to address the care and 
support needs identified: 
 

CYP2.1: Increase the role of children and young people in decision making and service delivery 

Response to PNA Need: N5 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC4, WBC7, WBV1, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes; 1.1-1.6, 3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff Youth Council 

 Cardiff Sprout 

 Vale of Glamorgan Youth Cabinet 

 Vale Youth Forum 

 Cardiff Child Rights Partner 
Programme and UNICEF ‘Child 
Friendly City’ 

 UN Convention on the Rights of the 
Child 

Public Service 
Boards 
Local 
Authorities, 
CVUHB, Schools, 
Third Sector, 
Youth Councils, 
SWP 

 PSB Annual Reports  Local authorities 

 Schools 

 CVUHB 

 Third Sector 

 Youth Councils 

 Families First 

 Meic 

 Young Commissioners 
(Families First) 

 SNAP 
 
 
 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 935

https://cardiffyouthcouncil.com/
http://thesprout.co.uk/
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/youth_service/Youth-Participation/Youth-Cabinet.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/youth_service/Youth-Participation/Youth-Cabinet.aspx
http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=10217&Opt=3&LLL=0
http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=10217&Opt=3&LLL=0
http://childfriendlycities.org/
http://childfriendlycities.org/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/
https://www.unicef.org.uk/what-we-do/un-convention-child-rights/


 

16 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

CYP2.2: Improve educational outcomes 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N8 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC4-WBC5, WBV2-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 4.1- 4.2, 6.1, 7.3-7.4 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff 2020 – A renewed vision for 
education and learning in Cardiff 

 Cardiff Commitment Youth 
Engagement and Progression 
Strategy 

 Vale of Glamorgan Achievement for 
All Service Plan 2017-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Children and 
Young People Service Plan 2017-
2021 

 Central South Consortium Business 
Plan 2017-2020 

Local 
Authorities, 
Schools, Central 
South Education 
Consortium 
(CSC), Flying 
Start, Families 
First, Third 
Sector 

 Examination results 

 WG/Local authority Key 
Stage Performance Reports 

 Local authority 
Corporate/Improvement 
Plan Quarterly Reports 
 

 Education budgets 

 Central South 
Consortium Joint 
Education Service 

 Youth Support 
Services 

 Flying Start 

 Families First 

 Third Sector Support 
 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 

CYP2.3: Increase the successful transition into employment, education or training of children and young people 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N8 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC4-WBC5, WBV2-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 4.1- 4.2, 6.1, 7.3-7.4 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff 2020 – A renewed vision for 
education and learning in Cardiff 

 Cardiff Commitment Youth 
Engagement and Progression 

Local 
authorities, 
Schools, Central 
South Education 

 Examination results 

 Local authority 
Corporate/Improvement 
Plan Quarterly Reports 

 Education budgets 

 Central South 
Consortium Joint 
Education Service 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 936

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-and-learning/Documents/Cardiff%202020.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-and-learning/Documents/Cardiff%202020.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Education/Documents/Youth%20Engagement%20and%20Progression%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Education/Documents/Youth%20Engagement%20and%20Progression%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Education/Documents/Youth%20Engagement%20and%20Progression%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Achievement-for-All-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Achievement-for-All-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Achievement-for-All-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Achievement-for-All-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/af1f7c5b-9fcf-40dc-b4ca-912d70b8b6c3?preview=true
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/af1f7c5b-9fcf-40dc-b4ca-912d70b8b6c3?preview=true
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-and-learning/Documents/Cardiff%202020.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-and-learning/Documents/Cardiff%202020.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Education/Documents/Youth%20Engagement%20and%20Progression%20Strategy.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Education/Documents/Youth%20Engagement%20and%20Progression%20Strategy.pdf


 

17 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Strategy 

 Vale of Glamorgan Achievement for 
All Service Plan 2017-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Children and 
Young People Service Plan 2017-
2021 

 Central South Consortium Business 
Plan 2017-2020 

 Vale of Glamorgan Aspire to Achieve 
and Inspire to Work Programmes 

Consortium 
(CSC), Careers 
Wales, Third 
Sector, Training 
Organisations, 
CAVC 

 Public Service Boards 

  
 

 Youth Support 
Services 

 Flying Start 

 Families First 

 Third Sector Support 

 

CYP2.4: Increase access to appropriate services to children in need of care and support, recognising increased rates of emotional and mental health 
issues 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N3, N5-N9 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBV1-WBCV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff and Vale LSCB Business Plan 

 Cardiff Early Help Strategy 

 Cardiff and Vale Integrated Family 
Support Service 

 Vale of Glamorgan Corporate 
Strategy for Children in Need of 
Care and Support  

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 

Local 
Authorities, 
CVUHB, Third 
Sector, Schools 

 Cardiff and Vale Local 
Safeguarding Board 

 Public Service Boards 
 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Integrated 
Family Support 
Services (Partnership 
Agreement) 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Regional 
Safeguarding Children 
Board 

 Families First Team 
around the Family 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 937

http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Achievement-for-All-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Achievement-for-All-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/af1f7c5b-9fcf-40dc-b4ca-912d70b8b6c3?preview=true
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/af1f7c5b-9fcf-40dc-b4ca-912d70b8b6c3?preview=true
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/af1f7c5b-9fcf-40dc-b4ca-912d70b8b6c3?preview=true
https://www.cscjes-cronfa.co.uk/api/storage/af1f7c5b-9fcf-40dc-b4ca-912d70b8b6c3?preview=true
https://www.cardiffandvalelscb.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Business-plan-outline-2016-17-FINAL.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Social-care-and-Housing/Early-Help-Strategy/Documents/Early%20Help%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.ifstcandv.org/
http://www.ifstcandv.org/
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

18 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 
 
 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan 
Information, Advice 
and Assistance 

 Cardiff Multi-agency 
Safeguarding Hub 

 CAMHS/Emotional 
Well-being Services 

 Cardiff Council LAC 
Traineeship Scheme 

 

CYP2.5: Increase support for children and young people affected directly or indirectly by parental relationship breakdown and domestic violence 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N3, N5, N7 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives:, WBC3-WBC5, WBV1-WBCV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Welsh Government VAWDASV 
Strategy 2016-2021 

 Cardiff Child Sexual Exploitation 
Strategy 

 Vale of Glamorgan Child Sexual 
Exploitation Strategy 

 The National Training Framework on 
violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
VAWDASV Strategy - under 
development 

Local 
Authorities, 
CVUHB, SWP, 
Probation, Third 
Sector, Schools, 
WG 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan VAWDASV 
Strategy – reporting to PSBs, 
Cardiff Safer and Cohesive 
Communities Programme 
Board and Safer Vale  
 

 Core budgets 

 IFSS 

 Supporting People 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

P
age 938

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/161104-national-strategy-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/161104-national-strategy-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/safety/domesticabuse/publications/national-training-framework/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/safety/domesticabuse/publications/national-training-framework/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/safety/domesticabuse/publications/national-training-framework/?lang=en


 

19 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Roll out of IRIS 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Reduction Plan 2017-21 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 

CYP2.6: Prevent child sexual exploitation 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N3, N5, N7 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBV1-WBCV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.2, 2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 National Action Plan to Tackle Child 
Sexual Exploitation (Wales) 

 Cardiff and Vale LSCB Business Plan 

 CSE Prevention Strategy for the NHS 
2016-2019 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Reduction Plan 2017-21 

Local 
Authorities, 
CVUHB, SWP, 
Probation, Third 
Sector 

 Cardiff and Vale Local 
Safeguarding Board 
 

 LSCB 

 Third Sector 

 WG 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 

CYP2.7: Enable children and young people to be happy and healthy 

Contribution to PNA Priorities and Well-being Objectives:, N2, WBC2, WBC4, WBC7, WBV2, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.2, 2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff Families First and Vale of 
Glamorgan Families First 

Local 
Authorities, 

 PSB Well-being Plans 

 Local Authority Corporate 

 Local authority – 
play/leisure 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

P
age 939

http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/police-crime-plan/violence-women-girls/iris-identification-and-referral-to-improve-safety/
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160225childseapen.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160225childseapen.pdf
https://www.cardiffandvalelscb.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Business-plan-outline-2016-17-FINAL.pdf
http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/childprodocs.nsf/61c1e930f9121fd080256f2a004937ed/407e1b519fe6279580257fb20038ecb6/$FILE/CSE%20Strategy%20for%20the%20NHS%20in%20Wales%202016-2019%20Final.docx
http://www2.nphs.wales.nhs.uk:8080/childprodocs.nsf/61c1e930f9121fd080256f2a004937ed/407e1b519fe6279580257fb20038ecb6/$FILE/CSE%20Strategy%20for%20the%20NHS%20in%20Wales%202016-2019%20Final.docx
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/partnership-delivery/families-first/packages/
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/families_first/Families-First.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/families_first/Families-First.aspx


 

20 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Cardiff Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment 2017 

 Vale of Glamorgan Childcare 
Sufficiency Assessment 2016/17 

 Vale of Glamorgan Family 
Information Service 

 Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health 
Plan 2016/17-2018/19 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

CVUHB, Public 
Health Wales, 
Third Sector, 
Schools 

Plans 

 Annual Report of the Director 
of Public Health 

 Third Sector 

 Families First 

 Schools 

 Family Information 
Service 

 Dewis Cymru 

 Flying Start 

 

CYP2.8: Develop the Welsh skills of children and create new Welsh speakers, to support the Welsh Government’s vision of having a million Welsh 
speakers by 2050 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N2, N6  
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC1, WBC4, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.2, 2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff Welsh in Education Strategic 
Plan 2017-2020 

 Vale of Glamorgan Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan 2017-2020 

 

Local 
Authorities, 
Schools, WG, 
Central South 
Education 
Consortium, 
CVUHB, Third 
Sector  

 Local authority corporate 
reporting 

 Education and early 
years budgets 

 Third Sector 

 Flying Start 

 Families First 

 
√ 

 
 

 

P
age 940

http://cardiff-fis.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Cardiff-Childcare-Sufficiency-Assessment-SUBMITTED-DRAFT-v3.pdf
http://cardiff-fis.info/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Cardiff-Childcare-Sufficiency-Assessment-SUBMITTED-DRAFT-v3.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Social%20Care/Care/Family-Information-Service/Childcare%20Audit%20Report/CSA-2016-17-Full-report-Final-Feb-2017-with-cover.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Social%20Care/Care/Family-Information-Service/Childcare%20Audit%20Report/CSA-2016-17-Full-report-Final-Feb-2017-with-cover.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/Family-Information-Service/Family-Information-Service.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/children_and_young_people/Family-Information-Service/Family-Information-Service.aspx
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/key-publications
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/key-publications
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Documents/Welsh%20in%20Education%20Strategic%20Plan.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Documents/Welsh%20in%20Education%20Strategic%20Plan.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2016/16-11-14/Appendices/Draft-Welsh-Medium-in-Education-Strategic-Plan-2017-2020-Appendix-A.PDF
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2016/16-11-14/Appendices/Draft-Welsh-Medium-in-Education-Strategic-Plan-2017-2020-Appendix-A.PDF


 

21 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

3. Learning Disability and Autism 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Regional Partnership Board Priorities 

LDA.1.1  People with learning disabilities are supported to maximise their independence 

Response to PNA Needs: N1-N6 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff Council Learning Disability Strategy 2012-2017 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning Disability Strategy 
2014-2017 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB IMTP 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB Health Inspectorate Wales 
Learning Disability Action Plan 

 Disabilities Future Programme 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
Third Sector, Colleges, RSLs, 
Care Providers, Cardiff 
People First, Vale of 
Glamorgan People First, 
ABMU Health Board, 
Learning Disability Wales, 
SWP 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Director of Social Services’ Annual Report  

 Corporate Plans/CVUHB IMTP 
 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Develop a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy. Considerations to include: 
- Domiciliary care 
- Access to information and advice 
- The uptake of Direct Payments 
- Range of respite opportunities 

Short-
medium 

 Core budgets 

 ICF 
 

 
√ 
 
 

 
√ 
 
 

 
√ 
 
 

P
age 941

https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120920/Agenda/Learning%20Disability%20Commissioning%20Strategy%202012%20%E2%80%93%202017%20(1.50M).pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/cav-imtp/
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

22 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

- Remodelling of specialist learning disability services 
- Housing needs over next 5-10 years  
- Commissioning new Supported Living schemes  
- Transition commissioning of services for young people moving to adult 

services 
- Provision of Independent Professional Advocacy and access to other 

forms of advocacy for everyone who requires it (in line with Part 10 
Code of Practice) 

- Development of regional services for adults with learning disabilities (as 
part of the Disabilities Futures Programme) to enable those with more 
complex needs to access services closer to home  

- Implementation of the Orange Wallet Scheme and development of 
support networks for independent travel 

 

LDA.1.2 People with learning disabilities are supported to play an active role in society and engage in meaningful day time activities and employment 
or volunteering. 

Response to PNA Need: N1-6 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3, WBC4, WBC5, WBC7, WBV1, WBV2, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff Council and Vale of Glamorgan Council Adult 
Learning Disability Day Opportunity Strategy 2014-
2017 

 Disabilities Future Programme 

 Cardiff Council Learning Disability Strategy 2012-2017 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning Disability Strategy 
2014-2017 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
Third Sector, Colleges, RSLs, 
Care Providers, Cardiff 
People First, Vale of 
Glamorgan People First, 
ABMU Health Board, 
Learning Disability Wales, 
Shaw Trust, Private Sector 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Corporate Plans 

 Director of Social Services’ Annual Report 

P
age 942

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120920/Agenda/Learning%20Disability%20Commissioning%20Strategy%202012%20%E2%80%93%202017%20(1.50M).pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf


 

23 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB IMTP 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB Health Inspectorate Wales 
Learning Disability Action Plan 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Develop a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy. Considerations to include: 
- Training staff to respond to changing service user needs, aspirations and 

priorities. 
- Provision of Independent Professional Advocacy and access to other 

forms of advocacy for everyone who requires it (in line with Part 10 
Code of Practice) 

- Implementation of the Orange Wallet Scheme and development of 
support networks for independent travel 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Core budgets 

 ICF 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

LDA.1.3 People with learning disabilities are valued and included, supported to have a voice, and able to exercise choice and control over all aspects 
of their lives 

Response to PNA Need: N1-N2, N4-N5 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff Council Learning Disability Strategy 2012-2017 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning Disability Strategy 
2014-2017 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB IMTP 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB Health Inspectorate Wales 
Learning Disability Action Plan 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
Third Sector, Colleges, RSLs, 
Care Providers, Cardiff 
People First, Vale of 
Glamorgan People First, 
ABMU Health Board, 
Learning Disability Wales, 
Public Transport Providers 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Corporate Plans/IMTP 

 Director of Social Services Annual Report 

P
age 943

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/cav-imtp/
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120920/Agenda/Learning%20Disability%20Commissioning%20Strategy%202012%20%E2%80%93%202017%20(1.50M).pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/cav-imtp


 

24 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Disabilities Future Programme 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Develop a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy. Considerations to include: 
- The uptake of Direct Payments 
- Provision of Independent Professional Advocacy and access to other 

forms of advocacy for everyone who requires it (in line with Part 10 
Code of Practice) 

- Implementation of the Orange Wallet Scheme and development of 
support networks for independent travel 

- Raising awareness and development of opportunities for service users 
to form social networks within the community and peer groups 

- The development of peer mentoring and volunteering opportunities 
for people with learning disabilities 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Core budgets 

 ICF 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

LDA.1.4 People with learning disabilities are enabled to stay healthy and feel safe. 

Response to PNA Need: N1-N6 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health Plan 2016/17-
2018/19 

 Cardiff Council Learning Disability Strategy 2012-2017 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning Disability Strategy 
2014-2017 

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 
2017-2027 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
Third Sector, Schools/ 
Colleges, RSLs, Care 
Providers, Cardiff People 
First, Vale of Glamorgan 
People First, ABMU Health 
Board, Learning Disability 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Corporate Plans/IMTP 

 Director of Social Services Annual Report 

 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 

P
age 944

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf


 

25 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB IMTP 

 Cardiff and Vale UHB Health Inspectorate Wales 
Learning Disability Action Plan 

 Disabilities Future Programme 

 Care and support at home in Wales Five-year strategic 
plan 2017-2022 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020 

Wales, Public Health Wales, 
SWP, SWFRS, Public 
Transport Providers 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Develop a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Learning Disability 
Commissioning Strategy. Considerations to include:  
- Commissioning of specialist LD residential and dementia services 
- Housing needs over next 5-10 years  
- Remodelling of specialist learning disability services 
- Range of respite opportunities 
- Improving pathways into primary and secondary healthcare 
- Provision of Independent Professional Advocacy and access to other 

forms of advocacy for everyone who requires it (in line with Part 10 
Code of Practice) 

- Training and support in safety when using technology 
- Ensuring that commissioned services have appropriate regard to 

safeguarding 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Core budgets 

 ICF 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 Raise awareness of personal safety and work with the Neighbourhood 
Police and PACT meetings to raise awareness of hate crime directed at 
service users 

Short-
medium 

term 

 

P
age 945

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/cav-imtp
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://socialcare.wales/cms_assets/file-uploads/204-0217-SCW-ENG-5-year-strategic-plan-report_v11.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

26 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

LDA.1.5 People with learning disabilities are supported to become lifelong learners. 

Response to PNA Need: N1-N2, N4-N5 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.2-7.5 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff Council Learning Disability Strategy 2012-
2017 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council Learning Disability 
Strategy 2014-2017 

 Cardiff Council and Vale of Glamorgan Council Adult 
Learning Disability Day Opportunity Strategy 2014-
2017 

 Disabilities Future Programme 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
Third Sector, Colleges, Care 
Providers, RSLs, Cardiff 
People First, Vale of 
Glamorgan People First, 
Libraries 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Corporate Plans 

 Director of Social Services Annual Report 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Develop a Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Learning Disability Commissioning 
Strategy. Considerations to include: 
- Commissioning of college placements for post 16 education   
- Ensuring community education classes are accessible to people with 

learning disabilities in terms of cost  

Short – 
medium 

term 

 Core budgets  
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

LDA.1.6  Develop a new Integrated Autism Service which all agencies working in integrated, multi-disciplinary ways will provide appropriate services 
for children, young people and adults with an autism spectrum disorder, addressing their education, health, employment, social interaction and 
emotional needs 

Response to PNA Need: N1-N6 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

P
age 946

https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120920/Agenda/Learning%20Disability%20Commissioning%20Strategy%202012%20%E2%80%93%202017%20(1.50M).pdf
https://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/Data/Cabinet/20120920/Agenda/Learning%20Disability%20Commissioning%20Strategy%202012%20%E2%80%93%202017%20(1.50M).pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/_Committee%20Reports/Cabinet/2014/14-06-30/Services-for-People-with-Learning-Disabilities-Commissioning-Strategy-2014---2017---Appendix-1.PDF
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/our-priorities/disability-futures-programme/


 

27 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Council ASD Strategy 
2016-2020 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

CVUHB, Local Authorities, 
Schools, WG, WLGA, Third 
Sector 

 RPB Annual Report 

 Quarterly reporting to WG 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Increase awareness of the pathway to diagnosis Short – 
medium 

term 

 Integrated Autism Service 

 Core services 

 ICF 

 Third Sector 

 Diagnostic Toolkits 

 Together for Children and 
Young People Framework: 
Neurodevelopmental Work 
stream 

 Education Training 
Programmes 

 Parenting Programmes 

√ √  

 Improve support and interventions including support for: 
- emotional and behavioural issues 
- issues relating to core symptoms of Autism and daily living skills 
- access to leisure and social opportunities 

Short – 
medium 

term 

 Improve support to individuals and businesses to enable access 
employment opportunities 

Short – 
medium 

term 

 Enable family and carers to access information and training in 
understanding Autism and how to support the individuals that they care for 

Short – 
medium 

term 

 Implement a new Integrated Autism Service Short-  
term 

 

  

P
age 947

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf


 

28 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

       4.     Integrated Family Support Services 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Regional Partnership Board Priorities 

IFSS1.1 Continue to provide an intensive intervention with families referred by Children’s Services where there are serious child protection concerns 
as a result of parental / carer substance misuse, domestic abuse or mental health. 

 
IFSS1.2 Explore the extension of the Integrated Family Support Service model to include other parental additional needs (e.g. learning disability) and 
consider how it can help tackle adverse childhood experiences.  

Response to PNA Need: N1-N12 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.3, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Family 
Support Service 

 Cardiff and Vale LSCB Business Plan 

 Cardiff Early Help Strategy 

 Vale of Glamorgan Children and Young People Service 
Plan 2017-2021 

 Substance Misuse and Well-being Commissioning 
Strategy 2016-2020 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing Strategy 2015-2020 

Local Authorities, CVUHB, 
SWP, Probation, Third Sector, 
Family members and 
community 

 IFSS Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Provide a volunteer programme that helps parents to practice the skills 
they learn from social services intervention, within a supportive community 

Medium- 
term 

 IFSS Core Budget (Pooled 
Fund) 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

P
age 948

http://www.ifstcandv.org/
http://www.ifstcandv.org/
https://www.cardiffandvalelscb.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Business-plan-outline-2016-17-FINAL.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Social-care-and-Housing/Early-Help-Strategy/Documents/Early%20Help%20Strategy.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Our%20Council/Achieving%20our%20vision/Service%20Plans/Service-Plans-2017-18/Children-and-Young-People-Services-Service-Plan-201718.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

29 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

setting.  This may involve helping with bedtime routine, playing with the 
children while the parent makes a meal or being on the end of a phone if a 
crisis hits.  Support at this level can keep families together, improve 
parenting outcomes, safeguard children and ultimately reduce substance 
misuse. 

 Families First 

 Flying Start 

 Core Budgets 

 Area Planning Board 

 VAWDASV funding 
 Offer parents training and support in leading healthy lifestyles, including 

accredited ‘Get Cooking’ courses 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Explore greater collaborative working in relation to the work on Adverse 
Childhood Experiences via the National Ace Hub.  

Short-
term 

 IFST training development - to deliver IFST training to social work students 
who are in the second year of the Masters program.  

Short-
medium 

term 

 Ongoing work regarding the delivering of IFST Safety Planning training to 
social work practitioners in the Vale of Glamorgan. 

Short-
medium 

term 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 949



 

30 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

5. Adult and Young Carers 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Regional Partnership Board Priorities 

AYC1.1: Identify and implement a carer engagement model based on best practice 

Response to PNA Need: N1, N8-N10 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3, WBC5, WBV1, WBV2 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority Carers 
Workstream 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 

 Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information 
Network Group (CSING) 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Carers Strategy for Wales 

CVUHB, Local Authorities,  
Carers, CS3C, GVS, Carers 
Trust Wales/SE Wales 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy – 
Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report 
 

Key Actions 
 

Time 
frame 

Resources   IAA Preventative Alternative 

models 

 Support and monitor the delivery of Phase 2 of the Carers Engagement 
Project to build on Phase 1 findings which considered potential carer forum 
models and barriers to engagement. 

 

Short- 
term 

 Core budgets 

 Third Sector  
 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 
  

P
age 950

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Information-and-Consultation-Strategy.pdf
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130613strategyen.pdf


 

31 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

AYC1.2  Improve physical and emotional support for young carers, including emergency and pre-planned respite and reducing the risk of Adverse 
Childhood Experiences (ACEs)  

Response to PNA Need: N1-N2, N4-N9 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC7, WBV1-WBCV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Young Carers Action Plan 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority Carers 
Workstream 

 Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information 
Network Group (CSING) 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Carers Strategy for Wales 

CVUHB, Local Authorities, 
YMCA, Carers, Schools, CS3C, 
GVS, Carers Trust Wales/SE 
Wales 
 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy – 
Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report  
 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternativ

e models 

 Improve information sharing and recording concerning known/identified 
Young Carers 

Short-
term 

 Core budgets 

 Cardiff East Young Carers 
Project 

 Cardiff West Young Carers 
Project 

 Vale of Glamorgan Young 
Carers Project 

 Cardiff and Vale Young 
Carers Club 

 Carers Trust South East 
Wales 

 Young Carers Toolkit 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 Improve the Identification of “hidden” Young Carers Short-
medium 

term 

 Work with Wellbeing and Mental Health Services to ensure appropriate 
identification of Young Carers and referrals to support 

Medium- 
term 

 Identify and support Young Carers Champions in secondary schools as good 
practice 

Short-
term 

 Develop a Young Carers ID card Medium-
term 

 Develop GP Carer Accreditation Scheme Short-

P
age 951

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Information-and-Consultation-Strategy.pdf
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130613strategyen.pdf


 

32 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

term  Young Carers Network 

 Families First 

 WG Carer Respite Funding 

 Support the development of a Pharmacy Carer Accreditation Scheme Short-
term 

 Plan and deliver actions to provide additional respite  in response to WG 
Carers Respite Funding 

Short-
term 

 Explore greater collaborative working in relation to the work on Adverse 
Childhood Experiences via the National Ace Hub 

Short-
term 

 Develop accredited programmes for Young Carers to recognise their skills 
and experience 

Medium-
term 

 Review Carers Pathway Short-
term 

 Other actions to be considered by Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authority Carers Workstream. Considerations to include: 
- Support for young carers who work 
- Advocacy that is proactively offered, explained and independent from 

the advocacy for the person they care for 

Short- 
medium 

term 

 

AYC1.3: Improve physical and emotional support for adult carers, including emergency and pre-planned respite 

Response to PNA Need: N1, N5, N8-N9  
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC4, WBC6-WBC7, WBV1, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 5.2, 6.1-6.2 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority Carers 
Workstream 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 

 Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information 
Network Group (CSING) 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

CVUHB, Local Authorities, 
Carers, CS3C, GVS, CAVAMH 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy – 
Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report 
 

P
age 952

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Information-and-Consultation-Strategy.pdf
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf


 

33 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Nexus 

 Carers Strategy for Wales 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Carers Workstream to identify required 
physical and emotional support needs. Considerations to include: 
- Support for adult carers who work 
- Counselling, other talking therapies and mental health support 
- Provision of training to carers to help them undertake their caring role 
- Intergenerational and mixed support groups 
- Advocacy that is proactively offered, explained and independent from 

the advocacy for the person they care for 

Medium-
term 

 Core budgets 

 WG Carer Respite Funding 

 ICF 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Carers Directory 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 Plan and deliver actions to provide additional respite  in response to WG 
Carers Respite Funding 

Short-
term 

 

AYC1.4: Involve carers, including young carers, in the planning of hospital admission and discharge if the person they care for is in hospital 

Response to PNA Need: N1, N3, N8-N9, N11 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC4, WBC6, WBV1, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority Carers 
Workstream 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 

 Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information 
Network Group (CSING)  

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 
 Cardiff and Vale Unscheduled Care Transformation 

CVUHB, Local Authorities, 
Carers, CS3C, GVS, Age 
Connects, Carers Trust 
Wales/SE Wales 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy – 
Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report 
 

P
age 953

http://www.cavamh.org.uk/nexus/about-nexus
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130613strategyen.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Information-and-Consultation-Strategy.pdf
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf


 

34 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Programme 

 Carers Strategy for Wales 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Ensure the inclusion of Carers within hospital admission and discharge 
planning as part of the Cardiff and Vale UHB Unscheduled Care 
Transformation Programme. Considerations to include: 

- Provision of training/showing carers what needs to be done to support 
the person being cared for at home 

- Provide carers information to take home in a language and format 
which is accessible to them 

- Provide follow up support to carers after the person they care for has 
returned home  

- Ensure the availability of medication from the pharmacy to enable 
discharge, and support for carers to understand the medication and 
that it is taken appropriately 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Core budgets 

 ICF 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Carers Directory 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 

AYC1.5: Provide easily accessible information to carers and relatives in a range of formats and languages, through existing information points, such as 
primary care and libraries. 

Response to PNA Need: N1, N8-N9 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC4, WBC6-WBC7, WBV1, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority Carers 
Workstream 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 

 Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information Network 
Group (CSING) 

CVUHB, Local 
Authorities, Carers, 
CS3C, GVS, YMCA, 
Carers Trust Wales/SE 
Wales 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy – 
Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report 
 

P
age 954

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130613strategyen.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Information-and-Consultation-Strategy.pdf
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group


 

35 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Carers Strategy for Wales 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Actions to be considered by Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority 
Carers Workstream. Considerations to include: 

- Culturally appropriate information in a variety of formats and 
languages aimed specifically at carers and family members on what 
they need to know about an individual’s health condition, as well as 
meeting their own care and support needs 

- Available on- and off-line in a variety of formats and easily accessible in 
such places as GPs, clinics, hospitals, community centres, libraries and 
a wide-range of community services 

Short-
term 

 Core budgets 

 WG Carer Transitional 
Funding 

 Families First 

 ICF 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Carers Directory 

 Dewis 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

 

AYC1.6: Raise awareness around caring and carers among public and health and social care professionals, (e.g. adopting an approach similar to 
Making Every Contact Count), to ensure that carers are identified as early as possible and all involved are aware of their rights as a carer 

Response to PNA Need: N8-N9, N11 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC4, WBC6-WBC7, WBV1, WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6 

How will we Deliver? Partner Agencies  Reporting Mechanism 

 Young Carers Action Plan 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local Authority Carers 
Workstream 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 

 Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information Network 
Group (CSING) 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Strategy 

 Carers Strategy for Wales 

CVUHB, Local 
Authorities, Carers, 
CS3C, GVS 

 Carers Information and Consultation Strategy – 
Annual Report 

 RPB Annual Report 
 

P
age 955

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130613strategyen.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Information-and-Consultation-Strategy.pdf
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.gvs.wales/support-for-groups/health-social-care-wellbeing/carers-information/carers-support-information-network-group
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/130613strategyen.pdf


 

36 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Key Actions 
Time 
frame 

Resources IAA Preventative 
Alternative 

models 

 Development of a generic Young Carers training package, including e-
learning, involving young carers in the process 

Short-
medium 

term 

 Core budgets 

 Families First 

 Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Carers Directory 

 Dewis Wales 

√ √  

 Other actions to be considered by Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Authority Carers Workstream. Considerations to include: 
- More awareness amongst professionals of the different needs and 

experiences of carers from diverse communities 
- More awareness in diverse communities of what being a carers is and 

the support available  
- Easier access to carers’ assessments  
- Greater awareness that all carers are entitled to a carer’s assessment 
- Asking adult and young carers whether they are willing and able to care 

Short- 
medium 

term 

P
age 956

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Carers-Directory.pdf


 

37 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

6. Health and Physical Disabilities 

 
How are we addressing health and physical disability care and support needs? 
1. Other Partnership Activity 
 

A number of care and support needs in relation to health and physical disabilities were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these 
lie with other Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to 
address the care and support needs identified: 
 

HPD1.1: Promote healthy lifestyles and improve and protect the health and well-being of Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan residents. 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N13 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC2-WBC7, WBV1-WBV4 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.2, 2.1-2.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.2, 7.2-7.4, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Shaping our Future Well-being Plan 
2015-2025 

 Cardiff and Vale Integrated 
Medium Term Plan 

 Cardiff and Vale Local Public Health 
plan 2016/17-2018/19 

 Cardiff Well-being Plan and Vale of 
Glamorgan Well-being Plan 

 Primary Care Plan/GP Cluster Plans 

 Wellbeing 4U Service 

 Cardiff Independent Living Service 

 Strategic Equality Plans 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-

CVUHB, GPs, 
Public Health 
Wales, Local 
Authorities, 
Third Sector, 
Food Cardiff, 
Summer 
Holiday 
Enrichment 
Programme 
(SHEP), RSLs, 
Transport 
Providers 

 CVUHB IMTP 

 Annual Report of the 
Director of Public Health 

 Well-being Plan Annual 
Reports 

 Core budgets 

 Primary Care Fund 

 ICF 

 Dewis 

 Public health  

 Housing  

 Transport  

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 957

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/IMTP%20summary%2017-18.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/IMTP%20summary%2017-18.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/C%26V%20local%20PH%20plan%2016-17%20final%20revised%20160401.pdf
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/our_council/consultation/Lets-Talk-about-Well-being.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/our_council/consultation/Lets-Talk-about-Well-being.aspx
http://www.primarycareone.wales.nhs.uk/cardiff-vale-university-hb
http://www.unitedwelsh.com/wellbeing-4u
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Independent-Living-Services/About-Independent-Living-Services/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/our-equality-objectives
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf


 

38 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 Cardiff Local Development Plan 
2006-2026 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local 
Development Plan 2011-2016 

 Cardiff Transport Strategy – Keep 
Cardiff Moving 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Transport 
Strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 958

https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Planning/Local-Development-Plan/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Planning/Local-Development-Plan/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/planning_and_building_control/planning_policy/local_development_plan/Local-Development-Plan.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/planning_and_building_control/planning_policy/local_development_plan/Local-Development-Plan.aspx
http://www.keepingcardiffmoving.co.uk/transport-strategy.html
http://www.keepingcardiffmoving.co.uk/transport-strategy.html
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/planning_and_building_control/planning_policy/Local-Transport-Plan.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/planning_and_building_control/planning_policy/Local-Transport-Plan.aspx


 

39 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

7. Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Other Partnership Activity 
 

A number of care and support needs in relation to adult mental health and cognitive impairment were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for 
addressing these lie with other Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies 
in place to address the care and support needs identified: 
 

 
AMHCI 1.1:   Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan ‘Together for Mental Health’ Plan, which includes ensuring that: 

 People in Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan are more resilient and better able to tackle poor mental well-being when it occurs 

 The quality of life for people is improved, particularly through addressing loneliness and unwanted isolation 

 Services meet the needs of the diverse population of Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 

 People with mental health problems, their families and carers are treated with dignity and respect 

 All children have the best possible start in life, which is enabled by giving parents / care givers the support needed 

 All children and young people are more resilient and better able to tackle poor mental well-being when it occurs  

 Children and young people experiencing mental health problems get better sooner 

 People with a mental health problem have access to appropriate and timely services 

 People of all ages experience sustained improvement to their mental health and well-being through access to positive life chances 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan is a dementia friendly region 
 

 
Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N11 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes:  1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 
 
 

P
age 959



 

40 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff and Vale Local Mental 
Health Partnership Board  

 Draft Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan Dementia Strategy 
2017-2027 

 WG Together for Mental Health 
Delivery Plan 2016-2019 

 Shaping our Future Well-being 
Strategy 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-
2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

CVUHB, Local 
Authorities, 
SWP, GPs, 
WAST, 
CAVAMH, 
Third Sector 

 Cardiff and Vale Local 
Mental Health Partnership 
Board Annual Report 
 

 Core Budgets 

 ICF Capital 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 

P
age 960

http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://www.cvihsc.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/02/Draft-Dementia-Strategy-C-and-V-2017-2027.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/161010deliveryen.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/161010deliveryen.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/10%20-%20UHB%20Shaping%20Our%20Future%20Wellbeing%20Strategy%20Final.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

41 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

8. Sensory Loss and impairment  

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Other Partnership Activity 
 

A number of care and support needs in relation to sensory loss and impairment were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these 
lie with other Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to 
address the care and support needs identified: 
 

SLI 1.1: Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Eye Care Plan in conjunction with Primary Care, Secondary Care, Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
University Health Board and Welsh Government 
 

SLI 1.2  Develop and implement a health board wide action plan to meet the All Wales Standards for Accessible Information and Communication for 
People with Sensory Loss, in order to improve provision across Primary Care, Secondary Care and Emergency and Unscheduled Care    
 
SLI 1.3 Explore the establishment of a partnership delivery mechanism to meet the wider needs of people with sensory loss and impairment  

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N11 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC4, WBC5-WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Eye Care 
Plan 

 CVUHB Strategic Equality Plan 

 All Wales Standards for Accessible 
Communication and Information for 
People with Sensory Loss 

 CVUHB ‘Standards for Accessible 

CVUHB, GP 
Clusters, 
Health board 
Eye Care 
Collaborative 
Groups and 
public health 

 Eye Care Steering Board 

 CVUHB IMTP 

 CVUHB Strategic Equality 
Plan 

 Sensory Loss Steering Group 

 Core Resources 

 Eye Care Wales 

 Low Vision Service 
Wales 

 Dewis 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 961

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Strategic%20Equality%20Plan%20Fair%20Care%202016-20.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Sensory%20Loss%20Standards.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Sensory%20Loss%20Standards.pdf
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/documents/1143/Sensory%20Loss%20Standards.pdf


 

42 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Information and Communication for 
People with Sensory Loss’ Action Plan 

 Deaf and Hard of Hearing Mental 
Health Network 

 Cardiff Council Sensory Service 

 Vale of Glamorgan Council Sensory 
Service 

 

lead, School 
Nurses, 
Orthoptists, 
Optometrists, 
Optometry 
Wales,  
Third Sector, 
Local 
authorities,  
Older Person’s 
Commissioner 

 

 

  

P
age 962

http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/deaf-and-hard-of-hearing-mental-health
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/deaf-and-hard-of-hearing-mental-health
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Social-Services-and-Wellbeing/Disability/Sensory-service/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/adult_services/Sensory-Service.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/social_care/adult_services/Sensory-Service.aspx


 

43 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

9. Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

How are we addressing care and support needs? 

1. Other Partnership Activity 
 

A number of care and support needs in relation to violence against women and men, domestic abuse and sexual violence were raised in the PNA, 
whereby responsibilities for addressing these lie with other Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery 
mechanisms and strategies in place to address the care and support needs identified: 
 

VAWDASV 1.1  Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 
 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N14 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
VAWDASV Strategy – under 
development 

 WG National Strategy on Violence 
Against Women, Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence – 2016-2021 

 The National Training Framework on 
violence against women, domestic 
abuse and sexual violence 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Reduction Plan 2017-21 

 IRIS (Identification and Referral to 
Improve Safety) Project 

Local 
Authorities, 
CVUHB, GPs, 
SWP, National 
Probation 
Service, PCC, 
Wales 
Community 
Rehabilitation 
Company, LSCB, 
Cardiff 
Women’s Aid, 
Atal Y Fro, Safer 
Wales, BAWSO, 

 Public Service Boards 

 Cardiff and Vale VAWDASV 
Board (from April 18) 

 Cardiff Safer and Cohesive 
Communities Programme 
Board  

 Safer Vale Partnership 

 Local Safeguarding Children 
Board 

 Core Budgets 

 Welsh 
Government/PCC 
VAWDASV funding 

 Supporting People 

 IFSS 

 Cardiff Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) 

 Families First 

 Flying Start 

 Area Planning Board 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 

P
age 963

http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/161104-national-strategy-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/161104-national-strategy-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/161104-national-strategy-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/160317-national-training-framework-guidance-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/160317-national-training-framework-guidance-en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dsjlg/publications/commsafety/160317-national-training-framework-guidance-en.pdf
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/police-crime-plan/violence-women-girls/iris-identification-and-referral-to-improve-safety/
http://commissioner.south-wales.police.uk/en/police-crime-plan/violence-women-girls/iris-identification-and-referral-to-improve-safety/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
http://safervale.co.uk/
https://www.cardiffandvalelscb.co.uk/
https://www.cardiffandvalelscb.co.uk/


 

44 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

 White Ribbon Campaign 

 Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

Prevention Strategy for the NHS in 
Wales 2016 – 2019 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 

Third Sector  Cardiff Signs of Safety 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 964

https://www.whiteribbon.org.uk/
https://www.cardiffandvalelscb.co.uk/adults-parents-carers/help-and-advice/
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/news/42276
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/news/42276
http://www.cardiffandvaleuhb.wales.nhs.uk/news/42276
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

45 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

10. Asylum Seekers and Refugees 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Other Partnership Activity 

A number of care and support needs in relation to asylum seekers and refugees were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these 
lie with other Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to 
address the care and support needs identified: 
 

ASR1.1  Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Community Cohesion Delivery Plan 2017-2020 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N8,  
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC2-WBC7, WBV1-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Welsh Government National 
Community Cohesion Delivery Plan 
2017-2020 

 Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan 
Community Cohesion Delivery Plan 
2017-2010 (under development) 

 Welsh Government Refugee & Asylum 
Seeker Delivery Plan 2016-2019 

 Cardiff Well-being Plan and Vale of 
Glamorgan Well-being Plan 

 Cardiff City of Sanctuary 

 Inclusive Cardiff Network: Inclusive 
Cities Project (under development) 

 Local Strategic Framework on New and 

Local 
authorities, 
CVUHB, GPs, 
Public health 
Wales, Welsh 
Refugee 
Coalition, 
Third Sector, 
RSLs, 
Displaced 
People in 
Action 

 Public Service Boards  

 Cardiff Safer & Cohesive 
Communities 
Programme Board  

 Syrian Resettlement 
Leadership & 
Operational Groups 

 Core budgets 

 WG Community 
Cohesion Funding 

 Home Office Syrian 
Resettlement 
Programme 
Funding  

 CVUHB Cardiff 
Health Access 
Practice (CHAP) 
Service 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 
 

P
age 965

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/communitycohesion/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/communitycohesion/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/communitycohesion/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/communitycohesion/asylum-seekers-and-refugees/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/communities/communitycohesion/asylum-seekers-and-refugees/?lang=en
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/our_council/consultation/Lets-Talk-about-Well-being.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/our_council/consultation/Lets-Talk-about-Well-being.aspx
https://cardiff.cityofsanctuary.org/about-the-networks
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/


 

46 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

Emerging Communities 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 

 

  

P
age 966

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

47 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

11. Offenders 

How are we addressing care and support needs? 

1. Other Partnership Activity 

A number of care and support needs in relation to offenders were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these lie with other 
Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to address the care and 
support needs identified: 

O1.1 Ensure that the local criminal justice system works effectively and efficiently, meeting the needs of victims and challenging offenders 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N10 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV2-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1, 2.3, 3.1, 3.3, 4.1, 5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.3 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 South Wales Police and Crime 
Reduction Plan 2017-21 

 Transforming Summary Justice 
Programme 

 Cardiff and Vale Substance Misuse 
and Wellbeing Commissioning 
Strategy 2016-2020 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 

SWP, SWP PCC, 
National 
Probation 
Service, HMP 
Cardiff,  Wales 
Community 
Rehabilitation 
Company, Local 
Authorities, 
CVUHB, Third 
Sector, Ministry 
of Justice, 
Welsh 
Government, 
Housing, RSLs 

 Public Service Boards 

 Cardiff Safer and 
Cohesive Communities 
Programme Board  

 Safer Vale Partnership 
 

 Core Budgets 

 Police and Crime 
Commissioner / 
National Offender 
Management Service 
budget for the Offender 
Intervention Service 
(Cardiff and Vale 
component) 

 IFSS 

 Cardiff Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) 

 Families First 

 Area Planning Board 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 
 

P
age 967

https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://pcclivewww.blob.core.windows.net/wordpress-uploads/2017/03/Crime-Reduction-Plan-2017-Eng_Final.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/agencies/transforming_summary_justice_introduction_may_2015.pdf
https://www.cps.gov.uk/publications/agencies/transforming_summary_justice_introduction_may_2015.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
https://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/cardiff-public-services-board/
http://safervale.co.uk/


 

48 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

12. Veterans 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Other Partnership Activity 

A number of care and support needs in relation to veterans were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these lie with other 
Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to address the care and 
support needs identified: 
 

V1.1 Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Armed Forces Community Action Plan 2017/2019 
 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N10 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV2-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1, 2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA 

Preventati

ve 

Alternativ

e models 

 Cardiff and Vale Armed Force 
Community Covenant Action Plan 
2017/2019 

 Veterans Mental Health Support Group 

 Cardiff Armed Forces Community 
Covenant 

 Vale of Glamorgan Armed Forces 
Community Covenant 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 
 

CVUHB, Local 
authorities, GPs, 
Public Health, 
Veterans’ NHS 
Wales, Royal 
British Legion 
160 Brigade 
Serving 
Personnel & 
Veterans’ 
Agency, Third 
Sector, Housing, 
RSL 

 Cardiff and Vale Armed 
Forces Forum 

 CVUHB IMPTP 

 Veterans’ NHS Wales 
Hub 

 Veterans Population 
Needs Assessment 

 Call to Mind : Wales 
 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 
 

P
age 968

http://www.cavamh.org.uk/directories/directions/local-services-directory-cardiff-the-vale-of-glamorgan/veterans-mental-health-support-group
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Armed-Forces-Covenant/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Armed-Forces-Covenant/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/armed_forces/Armed%20Forces%20Covenant.aspx
http://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/en/living/armed_forces/Armed%20Forces%20Covenant.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
http://www.fim-trust.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/20160513-Call-to-Mind-Wales-Final-Report.pdf


 

49 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

13. Substance Misuse 

How are we addressing care and support needs?  

1. Other Partnership Activity 

A number of care and support needs in relation to substance misuse were raised in the PNA, whereby responsibilities for addressing these lie with 
other Partnerships than the Regional Partnership Board.  This Plan provides links to other delivery mechanisms and strategies in place to address the 
care and support needs identified: 
 

SM1.1 Deliver the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Substance Misuse and Wellbeing Commissioning Strategy with a focus on prevention, education, 
treatment, support and sustainable long –term recovery. 
 
SM1.2 Increase the safety of our communities by delivering multi-agency responses in locations where discarded injecting equipment and other drug 
paraphernalia is prevalent 

Contribution to PNA Priorities: N1-N11 
Contribution to Well-being Objectives: WBC3-WBC5, WBC7, WBV2-WBV3 
Contribution to National Outcomes: 1.1-1.6, 2.1-2.3, 3.1-3.3, 4.1-4.2, 5.1-5.2, 6.1-6.2, 7.1-7.5, 8.1 

How will we Deliver? 
Partner 

Agencies 
Reporting Mechanism Resources IAA Preventative 

Alternative 

models 

 Cardiff and Vale Substance Misuse 
and Wellbeing Commissioning 
Strategy 

 Cardiff Housing Strategy 2016-2021 

 Vale of Glamorgan Local Housing 
Strategy 2015-2020 

 

CVUHB, Local 
Authorities, 
SWP, Third 
Sector, NOMS, 
Wales 
Community 
Rehabilitation 
Company, 
National 
Probation 
Service 

 Cardiff and Vale Substance 
Misuse Area Planning Board 
(APB) 

 APB Annual Report 

 APB Quarterly Welsh 
Government Dashboard 

 £3.46m Substance 
Misuse Grant Funding 

 £2.52m NHS ring-
fenced allocation for 
substance Misuse 

 Cardiff and Vale local 
authorities social 
services substance 
misuse teams 

 Cardiff and Vale local 
authorities community 

 
√ 

 
√ 

 
√ 
 

P
age 969

http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
http://cardiffandvaleapb.org/download/apb-documents/FINAL-Substance-Misuse-and-Wellbeing-Commissioning-Strategy-2016-20.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Housing/Cardiff-Housing-Strategy/Documents/CardiffHousingStrategy.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf
https://www.valeofglamorgan.gov.uk/Documents/Living/Housing/Housing%20Strategy/Local-Housing-Strategy/Vale-of-Glamorgan-Council---Local-Housing-Strategy---2015-20.pdf


 

50 
 

Short-term = 1 year Medium term = 2-3 years Long-term = 4+ years 

 

care budgets for 
residential 
rehabilitation 
placements 

 Police and Crime 
Commissioner / 
National Offender 
Management Service 
budget for the 
Offender Intervention 
Service (Cardiff and 
Vale component) 

 P
age 970



 

51 
 

 

Overview of Population Needs – by Population Group 

1. Older People 
 
 

 

N1 – Maintain sustainability of key services supporting older 
people 

N2 – Improve access to information and advice (e.g. one 
stop shop model) 

N3 – Improve integrated management of mental health and 
physical issues 

N4 – Increase integration of health, housing and social care 

N5 – Reduce social isolation and loneliness while maintaining 
independence  

N6 – Increase support to access practical help with day-to-
day tasks such as shopping and gardening 

N7 – Improve support and information for people with dementia, 
their family and carers 

N8 – Provide appropriate housing to meet individuals’ needs 
and enable people to remain independent 

N9 – Promote accessible built environments (including good 
lighting and toilets) 

N10 – Improve the commissioning of care home places to 
enable consistent and high quality care 

N11 – Improve public transport services to enable access to 
activities promoting health and well-being 

N12 – Improve access to different types of advocacy 

N13 Increase digital inclusion to enable access to information and 
services 

N14 Promote inter-generational opportunities in 
communities 

2. Children and 
Young People 

 

 

N1 – Improve support for children and young people affected by 
parental relationship breakdown and domestic violence 

N2 – Improve access to appropriate services in a timely 
fashion, including primary care and mental health services, 
and support for young people with ADHD and Autism 

N3 – Improve access to appropriate services for looked after 
children and children in need, recognising increased rates of 
emotional and mental health issues 

N4 – Increase support for young carers, including respite, 
and raise awareness of what they do 

N5 – Increase involvement of children and young people in 
decisions affecting them 

N6 Enable smoother transitions between children’s and 
adult’s services 

N7 – Provide appropriate and safe accommodation N8 – Further develop vocational educational opportunities 
and apprenticeships 

N9 – Respond to the increasing numbers and complexity of needs 
of children and young people with a disability 

 

 

  

Appendix 1 

P
age 971



 

52 
 

 

3. Learning 
Disability and 
Autism 

 

N1 – Increase the availability of information and services N2 – Improve public transport services to enable access to 
activities promoting health and well-being 
 

N3 – Provide respite to those in need 
 

N4 – Improve access to day opportunities 

N5 – Increase involvement of people requiring services in 
decisions affecting them 

N6 – Recognise and support people who fall between 
learning disability and mental health service provision 

4. Integrated 
Family Support 
Services 
 

 
 

N1 – Improve support for children and young people affected by 
parental relationship breakdown and domestic violence 

N2 – Improve access to appropriate services in a timely 
fashion, including primary care and mental health services, 
and support for young people with ADHD and Autism 

N3 – Improve access to appropriate services for looked after 
children and children in need, recognising increased rates of 
emotional and mental health issues 

N4 – Provide appropriate and safe accommodation 

N5 – Increase involvement of people requiring services in 
decisions affecting them 

N6 – Increase timely access to low level mental health 
services (including counselling and family support) 

N7 – Improve support for the families of people with mental 
health issues 

N8 -  Prevent and reduce the incidences of adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs) 

N9 – Ensure approached are both needs-led and risk-led N10 – Improve co-ordination between substance misuse 
services 

N11 – Improve offender access to mental health and substance 
misuse services, and counselling post-release 

N12 – Improve support to offenders and their families to 
enable family stability 

5. Adult and 
Young Carers 

  

N1 – Improve access to information (including financial support 
and services available) 

N2 – Improve public transport services to enable access to 
health and well-being activities 

N3 – Ensure the discharge planning process involves consultation 
with carers 

N4 – Provide appropriate housing to meet individuals’ needs 
and enable people to remain independent 

N5 Provide accessible respite  care (including emergency respite) 
for those in need 

N6 – Improve the availability of mental health support to 
carers 

N7 – Reduce loneliness and social isolation N8 – Identify carers and provide support to those in need 

N9 – Improve access to carers’ assessments N10 – Enable smoother transitions between children’s and 
adult’s services 

P
age 972



 

53 
 

 

N11 – Address perceptions of carers feeling judged by services  

6. Health and 
Physical 
Disabilities 
 

 

N1 – Improve access to information and services N2 – Maintain and improve the provision and sustainability 
of community services 

N3 – Improve the flexibility of services, including offering 
provision closer to home 

N4 – Improve transitions between children’s and adult’s 
services 

N5 – Increase integration of health, housing and social care N6 – Promote and target service to meet the needs of 
vulnerable groups 

N7 – Improve public transport services to enable access to 
activities which promote health and well-being 

N8 – Improve the use of  public buildings to join-up services 
and maximise resources 

N9 – Provide appropriate housing to meet individuals’ needs and 
enable people to remain independent 

N10 – Reduce the prevalence of unhealthy behaviours 

N11 – Respond to the increasing prevalence of long-term 
conditions 

N12 – Reduce the levels of air pollution 

N13 – Reduce the number of people living in food poverty  

7. Adult Mental 
Health and 
Cognitive 
Impairment 

 

N1 – Increase timely access to low level mental health services 
(including counselling and family support) 

N2- Improve the join-up of information, advice and services 

N3 – Reduce loneliness and isolation (especially among people 
with dementia, asylum seekers and refugees) 

N4 – Provide appropriate housing to meet individuals’ needs 
and enable people to remain independent 

N5 – Continue partnership approach between statutory services 
and with the third sector 

N6 – Improve support for the families of people with mental 
health issues 

N7 – Improve access to services such as community hubs and 
one-stop-shops 

N8 – Improve information and support for GPs to inform 
decisions around referrals 

N9 – Improve support for people with dementia, their families 
and carers 

N10 – Improve peer support and mentoring to guide people 
through the system 

8. Sensory Loss 
and Impairment 

N1 – Improve accessible communication and provision of 
information on services available 

N2 – Improve opportunities for increasing mobility  and 
rehabilitation 

N3 – Review purpose and use of registers for sensory impairment N4 – Increase opportunities to improve social interaction, 
mental health and well-being 

N5 – Improve the provision of person centred equipment and 
technology 

N6 – Ensure appropriate housing to meet individuals’ needs 
and enable independent living 

P
age 973



 

54 
 

 

 

N7 – Improve access to appropriate specialist services and 
assessments 

N8 – Continue partnership approach between statutory 
services and with the third sector 

N9 – Identify people with complex needs and sensory impairment 
who require additional support 

N10 – Improve planning for increase in prevalence of people 
with sight loss 

N11 – Recognise and address diagnosed hearing impairment 
among older people in care homes 

 

9. Violence 
Against Women, 
Domestic Abuse 
and Sexual 
Violence 

 
 

N1 – Undertake awareness raising in schools to promote healthy 
relationships 

N2 – Promote the use of positive male role models 

N3 – Provide support and safeguarding to children in households 
where there is domestic abuse 

N4 – Prevent and reduce the incidences of adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs) 

N5 – Ensure approaches are both needs-led and risk-led N6 – Increase the accountability of perpetrators 

N7 – Promote early reporting and the implementation of “Ask 
and Act” 

N8 – Improve transparency in family courts 

N9 – Improve access to information on services and support that 
is available 

N10 – Raise awareness in communities of how they can 
identify and support people experiencing domestic abuse 
and sexual violence 

N11 – Provide appropriate, safe and secure accommodation N12 – Improve the availability of age-appropriate 
counselling  

N13- Reduce incidences of child sexual exploitation N14 – Reduce incidences of ‘honour’-based violence 

10. Asylum 
Seekers and 
Refugees 

 

N1 – Improve access to ESOL and interpretation for public 
services 

N2 – Improve access to information on education, hate 
crime, health and service provision. 

N3 – Improve access to the labour market N4 – Provide support to help establish links in the 
community 

N5 – Increase the availability of childcare N6 – Improve public transport services to enable access to 
health and social activities 

N7 – Improve engagement with schools N8 – Improve access to community mental health services 

11. Offenders N1 –Improve access to mental health and substance misuse 
services, and counselling post release 

N2 – Respond to the increase in use of new psychoactive 
substances 

N3 – Improve support to enable family stability N4 – Provide appropriate housing and support 

N5 – Improve access to information on employment and welfare N6 – Provide youth support services and activities 

P
age 974



 

55 
 

 

 

benefits support 

N7 – Promote healthy lifestyles (including sexual health) N8 – Increase engagement in education and community 
activities 

N9 – Improve partnership working and communication between 
services 

N10 – Promote opportunities for continued adult learning 
and development of life skills 

12. Veterans 

 
 

N1 – Improve mental health diagnosis and care N2 – Reduce social isolation 

N3 – Improve access to housing N4 – Improve the availability of financial advice 

N5 – Improve the provision of services for all conditions affecting 
veterans, not just post-traumatic stress disorder 

N6 – Reduce substance misuse and self-medication 

N7 – Increase early diagnosis and preventative treatment to 
reduce long-term limiting illnesses 

N8 – Improve transition between active service and civilian 
life 

N9 – Improve access to information and services N10 – Reduce safeguarding issues relating to domestic 
violence 

13. Substance 
Misuse 

 

N1 – Respond to the increased number of people buying illicit 
substances online 

N2 – Respond to the growing ‘hidden population’ misusing 
prescription and over the counter medication 

N3 – Reduce the misuse of neuropathic medications with alcohol 
and drugs 

N4 – Reduce the use of synthetic cannabinoids and nitrous 
oxide 

N5 – Increase awareness of dual diagnosis (substance misuse and 
mental health issues in one individual) 

N6 – Respond to the increasing prevalence of alcohol related 
brain damage (ARBD) 

N7 – Respond to the growing impact of ‘legal highs’ on 
emergency services 

N8 – Respond to the increased distribution of more portent 
heroin 

N9 – Reduce the number of older people (50+ years) misusing 
alcohol through loneliness and boredom 

N10 – Review access to substance misuse services (including 
opening hours) 

N11 – Improve co-ordination between services  

  

P
age 975



 

56 
 

 

Appendix 2 

Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Well-being Objectives 

 

Cardiff Well-being Objectives Vale of Glamorgan Well-being Objectives 

WBC1 - A Capital City that works for Wales  WBV1 - Enable people to get involved, participate in their communities 
and shape local services 

WBC2 - Cardiff’s population growth is managed in a resilient way WBV2 - Reduce poverty and tackle inequalities linked to deprivation 

WBC3 - Safe, confident and empowered communities WBV3 - Give children the best start in life 

WBC4 - Cardiff is a great place to grow up WBV4 - Protect, enhance and value our environment 

WBC5 - Supporting people out of poverty 

WBC6 - Cardiff is a great place to grow old 

WBC7 - Modernising and integrating our public services 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 976



 

57 
 

 

Appendix 3 

Social Services: The National Outcomes Framework for People who Need Care and Support, and Carers who need Support 

(http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/well-being/?lang=en) 
 

What well-being means National well-being outcomes 

1. Securing rights and entitlements. 
Also for adults:  control over day-to-day life. 

1.1    
 
1.2 
    
1.3    
1.4     
1.5     
1.6    

I know and understand what care, support and opportunities are  available and use 
these to help me achieve my well-being 
I can access the right information, when I need it, in the way I want it and use this to 
manage and improve my well-being  
I am treated with dignity and respect and treat others the same  
My voice is heard and listened to 
My individual circumstances are considered 
I speak for myself and contribute to the decisions that affect my life, or have someone 
who can do it for me 

2. Physical and mental health and emotional well-being 
Also for children:  physical, intellectual, emotional, social 
and behavioural development. 

2.1    
2.2    
2.3    

I am healthy and active and do things to keep myself healthy 
I am happy and do the things that make me happy 
I get the right care and support, as early as possible. 

3. Protection from abuse and neglect. 3.1   
3.2   
3.3   

I am safe and protected from abuse and neglect 
I am supported to protect the people that matter to me from abuse and neglect 
I am informed about how to make my concerns known. 

4. Education, training and recreation. 4.1   
4.2   

I can learn and develop to my full potential  
I do the things that matter to me. 

5. Domestic, family and personal relationships. 5.1   
5.2   

I belong 
I contribute to and enjoy safe and healthy relationships. 

6. Contribution made to society. 6.1   
6.2   

I engage and make a contribution to my community 
I feel valued in society. 

7. Social and economic well-being. 
Also for adults:  participation in work. 

7.1   
7.2   
7.3   
7.4   
7.5   

I contribute towards my social life and can be with the people that I choose 
I do not live in poverty 
I am supported to work 
I get the help I need to grow up and be independent 
I get care and support through the Welsh language if I want it. 

8. Suitability of living accommodation. 8.1 I live in a home that best supports me to achieve my well-being. 

P
age 977

http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/well-being/?lang=en


 

58 
 

 

Appendix 4 

Glossary 

A 

ABMU Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board  

ACEs Adverse Childhood Experiences 

ACEs Hub National Hub set up by Cymru Well Wales to tackle the negative impact of Adverse Childhood Experiences 

ADHD Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder 

ALN Additional Learning Needs 

AMD Age-related Macular Degeneration 

AMHCI Adult Mental Health and Cognitive Impairment 

APB Area Planning Board 

ARBD Alcohol Related Brain Damage 

ASD Autism Spectrum Disorder 

ASR Asylum Seekers and Refugees 

AYC Adult and Young Carers 

B 

BAWSO Black Association of Women Step Out 

C 

C3SC Cardiff Third Sector Council 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services 

CAVAMH Cardiff and Vale Action for Mental Health 

CAVC Cardiff and Vale College 

CHAP Cardiff Health Access Practice  - Healthcare Services operating from Cardiff Royal Infirmary for people who find it difficult to visit 
mainstream GP services 

CSC Central South Education Consortium 

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation 

P
age 978



 

59 
 

 

CSING Cardiff and the Vale Carers Support and Information Network Group  

CVIHSC Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan Integrated Health and Social Care Partnership 

CVUHB  Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 

CYP Children and Young People 

E 

ESOL English for Speakers of Other Languages 

G 

GCSE General Certificate of Secondary Education 

GPs General Practitioners 

GVS Glamorgan Voluntary Service 

H 

HMP Her Majesty’s Prison 

HPD Health and Physical Disabilities 

I 

IAA Information, Advice and Assistance 

IAS Integrated Autism Service 

ICF Integrated Care Fund 

ID Identification 

IFSS Integrated Family Support Service 

IFST Integrated Family Support Team 

IMTP (Cardiff and Vale UHB) Integrated Medium Term Plan 

IT Information Technology 

J 

JES Joint Equipment Service 

K 

KF Key Finding 

L 

LAC Looked After Children 

P
age 979



 

60 
 

 

LD Learning Disabilities 

LDA Learning Disabilities and Autism 

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children's Board 

N 

NEET Not in Education, Employment or Training 

NEXUS Nexus is delivered via CAVAMH and involves those who use older people’s mental health services and their carers to have say in the 
way that those services are planned, run and developed 

NOMS  National Offender Management Service  

O 

O Offenders 

OP Older People 

P 

PACT Police and Communities Together 

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner 

PNA Population Needs Assessment 

PSB Public Service Board 

R 

RPB Regional Partnership Board 

RSL Registered Social Landlord 

S 

SE Wales South East Wales 

SLI Sensory Loss and Impairment 

SM Substance Misuse 

SSWb Social Services and Wellbeing 

SWFRS South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 

SWP South Wales Police 

T 

TBC To be confirmed 

P
age 980



 

61 
 

 

The Vale The Vale of Glamorgan 

V 

V Veterans  

VAWDASV Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse & Sexual Violence 

W 

WAST Welsh Ambulance Services NHS Trust 

WBC Well-being Cardiff 

WBV Well-being Vale 

WG Welsh Government 

WLGA Welsh Local Government Association 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 981



 

62 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 982


	Agenda
	1 Cofnodion y cyfarfod cabinet a gynhaliwyd ar 15 Chwefror 2018
	2 Cynllun Corfforaethol 2018-2021
	CAB 15 March 2018 Corporate Plan 18-21 Appendix A- Corporate Plan 2018-21
	CAB 15 March 2018 Corporate Plan 18-21 Appendix B-Policy Review and Planning Committee- Correspondences

	3 Cynllun Llesiant Lleol Caerdydd
	CAB 15 March 2018 Wellbeing Plan Appendix A - Cardiff Local Well-being Plan Final
	Well-being Plan 2018 Spread 7 March 2018 Eng
	Appendix 1 - PSB member strategic plans
	Appendix 2 - Well-being in Cardiff Feedback Report - February 2018 a
	Appendix 3 - Timescales and Contribution to National Goals - Eng
	Appendix 4 - Well-being Indicators Technical Document English

	CAB 15 March 2018 Wellbeing Plan Appendix B - PSB Membership January 2018
	CAB 15 March 2018 Wellbeing Plan Appendix C - Advice from the Future Generations Commissioner - Cardiff PSB
	CAB 15 March 2018 Wellbeing Plan Appendix D - PRAP letters
	Appendix 4a - PRAP Letter - 18 July 2017
	Appendix 4b - PRAP Letter - 15 November 2017

	CAB 15 March 2018 Wellbeing Plan Appendix E - Timetable WBP Approval
	CAB 15 March 2018 Wellbeing Plan Appendix F - EqIA - Cardiff Well-being Plan

	4 Prifddinas-Ranbarth Caerdydd – Cynllun Busnes Cytundeb Gweithio ar y Cyd
	CAB 15 March 2018 City Deal JWA Appendix A
	CAB 15 March 2018 City Deal JWA Appendix B
	CAB 15 March 2018 City Deal JWA Appendix C

	5 Man Claddu Newydd
	CAB 15 March 2018 New Burial Space Appendix 1 Location Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	CAB 15 March 2018 New Burial Space Appendix 2 Site Plan & Phases
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	CAB 15 March 2018 New Burial Space Appendix 3 Design Layout Plan
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1



	6 Rhaglen Rheoli Risg Arfordirol
	7 Trefniadau Derbyn i Ysgolion 2019/20
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 1 School Admissions Policy 2019-20
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 2 Consultation Document
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 3 Formal responses
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 4 Summary analysis
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 5 Pupil Survey summary
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 6 Feeder school impact analysis
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 7 School Admissions Policy 2019-20
	CAB 15 March 2018 Admission Arrangements Appendix 8 EqiA

	8 Datganiad Polisi Tâl 2018/19
	CAB 15 March 2018 Pay Policy Appendix 1
	CAB 15 March 2018 Pay Policy Appendix 1 Annex 1 Salary Scales - March 2018
	CAB 15 March 2018 Pay Policy Appendix 1 Annex 2 Emp Circ Pay Offer 05Dec17

	9 Ardrethi Annomestig Cenedlaethol – Dilëwyd
	CAB 15 March 2018 NNDR Write Offs CONFIDENTIAL Appendix A
	CAB 15 March 2018 NNDR Write Offs  CONFIDENTIAL Appendix B

	10 Cynllun Busnes Cyfrif Refeniw Tai (CRT) 2018-19
	CAB 15 March 2018 HRA Appendix 1

	11 Rhaglen Buddsoddi Adfywio Wedi ei Dargedu
	CAB 15 March 2018 Targeted Regeneration Investment Programme App 1 Regional Plan draft Submission

	12 Caffael Tir Pentref Chwaraeon Rhyngwladol Caerdydd
	CAB 15 March 2018 ISV Appendix 1
	CAB 15 March 2018 ISV Appendix 2
	CAB 15 March 2018 ISV CONFIDENTIAL Appendix 3
	CAB 15 March 2018 ISV Appendix 4

	13 Cynllun Ardal Caerdydd a Bro Morgannwg ar gyfer Anghenion Gofal a Chymorth 2018-2023
	CAB 15 March 2018 Area Plan Appendix 1
	CAB 15 March 2018 Area Plan Appendix 2




